
 
 

West Northamptonshire Joint 
StrategicPlanningCommittee 

 
Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held at the The Great 
Hall, Guildhall, Northampton on Monday, 31 January 2011 at 6:00 pm. 

D. Kennedy 
Chief Executive 

Contact: Frazer McGown, Democratic Services Manager 
fmcgown@northampton.gov.uk or tel;01604 837101  

 
 Agenda 

     
 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE    
   

 2. MINUTES    
   

 3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

  • Personal 
• Prejudicial  

 

   

 4. MATTERS OF URGENCY   

  To consider any issues that the Chairman is of the opinion are 
Matters of Urgency.  

 

   

 5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION (IF ANY)    
   

 6. WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE PRE-SUBMISSION JOINT 
CORE STRATEGY   

  (copy attached)  

 

   

 7. THE CHAIRMAN TO MOVE:   

  “THAT THE PUBLIC BE EXCLUDED FROM THE REMAINDER 
OF THE MEETING ON THE GROUNDS THAT THERE IS 
LIKELY TO BE DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF SUCH 
CATEGORIES OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED BY 
SECTION 100(1) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
(AS AMENDED) AS ARE LISTED AGAINST SUCH ITEM OR 
ITEMS OF BUSINESS BY REFERENCE TO THE 
APPROPRIATE PARAGRAPH OF SCHEDULE 12A TO SUCH 
ACT.”  

 

   



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 26 October 2010 

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE JOINT STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 26 October 2010 at Towcester 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor  Chris Millar (Chair); Councillor Mary Clarke  (Deputy Chair); 

Councillors Wendy Amos, Robin Brown, Richard Church, Stephen Clarke, 
Andrew Grant, Brian Hoare, Brian Markham, Chris Over, Colin Poole, John 
Townsend and Tony Woods.   

 
 
  

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from County Councillor Andre Gonzalez de Savage.  
 

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting of the Joint Planning Committee held on 26 July 2010 were 
agreed as a true record and signed by the Chair.  
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillors Church, Millar and Woods declared Personal interests in item 7- West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy, in so far as the discussion referred to WNDC of 
which they were Board Members.     
 

4. MATTERS OF URGENCY 

There were none.  
 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION (IF ANY) 

The Chair noted that Messrs Convery, Hawkins and Kingston had registered to speak.  
 

6. DRAFT JPU BUDGET 2011/12 

The Head of the JPU submitted a report that set out a proposed budget for the JPU for 
2011/12 and noted that the word “provisional” should be inserted into the first 
recommendation before “2011/12”. In answer to a question he commented that the 
proposed Site Allocations DPD and Developer Contributions DPD would be dealt with in 
different ways that would allow a saving to be made on the Budget. In answer to another 
question he stated that some generic costs had been calculated on the basis of each 
partner authority producing it’s own Joint Core Strategy. These costs were higher than the 
current arrangement.  
 
County Councillor Robin Brown queried the situation if South Northamptonshire were to 
withdraw from the current arrangements and whether the JPU would continue and therefore 
was consideration of next year’s budget, premature. The Head of the JPU commented, and 
the Chief Executive of South Northamptonshire Council confirmed, that South 
Northamptonshire had agreed, at a Council meeting, to write to the Secretary of State 
expressing their wish to withdraw from the Joint Committee but that they wanted the JPU to 
continue and to continue to work jointly towards the production of a Joint Core Strategy that 
would have common elements but that in which there would be elements identifiable to each 
partner Council. Next year’s budget had been predicated on this basis. 
 
County Councillor Robin Brown queried whether the County Council would need to continue 
to be involved if the Joint Committee was dissolved. Councillor Church commented that 
once the Secretary of State had received the letter from South Northamptonshire Council he 

Agenda Item 2



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 26 October 2010 

would have to consult the other partner councils and make a decision. If he agreed to 
dissolve the Joint Committee then the Order that set it up would need to be revoked and that 
had to be done through a Parliamentary process. None of this was likely to happen quickly. 
Councillor John Townsend commented that South Northamptonshire envisaged that the 
Joint Committee would be replaced by a working party of something similar: they just wished 
to see sovereignty returned to each Council. The Head of the JPU observed that the County 
Council would continue to need to be involved because of the transportation issues that 
were fundamental to the Joint Core Strategy. 
 
Councillor Mary Clarke confirmed South Northamptonshire’s desire to work co-operatively 
with the partner Councils and believed that good progress was being made. The abolition of 
the RSS helped considerably. Her Council would suggest to the Minister a Joint Core 
Strategy as described earlier but that there should be a single Examination in Public. She 
referred to a similar situation in Nottingham and was seeking a similar solution. She agreed 
that it was appropriate for a budget for 2011/12 to be considered. 
 
Comment was made that if South Northamptonshire wished to co-operate then it needed to 
be part of the Joint Committee. All the partner Councils concurred about the sovereignty 
issue however the real issue was about timing. The effect on the public and developers also 
needed to be considered.   
 
County Councillor Brown commented that Northampton had synergies with Kettering and 
Wellingborough and would benefit from the improvements to the A43: the Secretary of State 
would welcome Councils working together. The Head of the JPU commented that the 
proposed Northamptonshire Arc was being taken account of in the JCS. 
 
County Councillor Brown suggested that in the first recommendation the word “ratified” 
should be substituted by the word “considered”. 
 
RESOLVED:    1. That the provisional 2011/12 reduced base budget of     
                             £921,970 for the JPU be approved to be forwarded on to 
                             partner Council’s for their consideration. 
 

2. That the carrying forward of some £140,000 from 2010/11 
To the 2011/12 financial year subject to further review at the end of the 
financial year be approved in principle.                

 

7. WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE JOINT CORE STRATEGY 

Mr Convery commented that the MP for South Northamptonshire had indicated that the 
existing methodology for calculating housing figures was to be replaced shortly and that the 
figures should be derived from the bottom up. He asked what methodology the JPU had 
used. 
 
Peter Hawkins, Chair of Great Houghton Action Group, broadly welcomed the revised 
housing figures, however he requested that the policy of Sustainable Urban Extensions 
(SUEs) be abandoned. He was disappointed that this request previously presented to the 
Joint Committee in a petition had not been responded to. The housing figures in the report 
now seemed more realistic which he believed made the idea of SUEs more absurd. 
 
The Head of the JPU commented that the Joint Committee was not being asked to make 
any policy decisions at this meeting; that would take place on 31 January 2011. He 
submitted a report that set out recent changes to the planning system, their implications for 
the preparation and content of the JCS and set out the next stages of the process. He 
referred to the letter from the Secretary of State dated 6 July 2010 and appended to the 
report and confirmed that local authorities should continue to produce a JCS, that existing 



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 26 October 2010 

tests of soundness still applied, how housing numbers were to be determined following 
abolition of the RSS and the need to be able to justify those figures. Further information may 
become available when the Localism Bill was published in November. He also noted that the 
Joint Committee had agreed in July that a revised JCS should be presented to it’s meeting 
on 31 January 2011 and that the evidence base needed to be revised as a consequence of 
reduced housing numbers.  
 
The Head of the JPU commented that their advice was that there should not be a root and 
branch review of housing numbers as to do so would mean that the process would have to 
start from the beginning again and such a delay was unacceptable to everyone. It was clear 
that the former RSS housing figures were neither achievable or deliverable. The revised 
figures were based on natural growth, and in turn based on 2008 demographic data  that 
was now available, and in turn based on what could be delivered.  From population 
forecasting and labour market testing a figure of 47,000 had been arrived at. Discussions 
with Daventry District Council had led to the figure being revised upwards to 50,000 to meet 
their aspiration to grow Daventry Town and regeneration of Daventry Town Centre. He 
noted that the predictions were that although the number of households would grow, the 
proportion of those who were economically active would actually reduce. It was expected 
that a report on the A45 link road would be published in January 2011. Consideration of 
alternatives for Daventry would be included in the same report. 
 
The Head of the JPU referred to Appendix 3 of the report and noted that the figures set out 
therein were indicative at this stage and in particular drew attention to the residual figures 
set out in line F as being those that sites would be needed for, the remainder having either 
been already built or received permission for. 
  
Councillor Woods commented that there were only two options to deal with an increasing 
population to either increase densities or grow around the edge of urban areas. It would be 
inappropriate to limit options at this stage by abandoning SUEs. Northampton was likely to 
grow naturally from 210,000 now to 245,000 by 2026. Consideration should not be 
constrained by “achievable and deliverable”. Need also should be considered. If the area 
became economically  and socially successful then it was likely to draw people to it. 
 
The publication of the Northampton Central Area Action Plan for consultation was welcomed 
as a major adjunct to the JCS. 
 
County Councillor Brown welcomed the consideration given to the A45 link road and 
commented that the Isham By pass and the Corby Link Road had been delayed as evidence 
needed to be reworked. 
 
RESOLVED:        1. That the recent and emerging changes to the planning   
                                 system as a result of the new Government being elected   
                                 in May 2010 be noted. 
 
                             2. That the resultant approach taken to the preparation, 
                                 scope and content of the Joint Core Strategy principally 
                                 set out in paragraph 5.3 of the report be agreed and that   
                                 it be noted that the annualised housing target  would be   
                                 substantially revised downwards and that the headline RSS housing 

figure of 62,125 would be replaced with a much reduced figure of 
around 50,000.      

 
    
 

8. COMMUNICATION AND CONSULTATION STRATEGY FOR THE PRE 



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 26 October 2010 

SUBMISSION JOINT CORE STRATEGY 

Roger Kinston stated that the MP for South Northamptonshire had commented that the Joint 
Planning Committee should stop what it was doing as the process was to be ended. To 
continue would be a waste of money. The public had objected last year. It was vital that all 
the necessary infrastructure was put in first before any development of homes took place. 
The public might be convinced by this. He commented that Northamptonshire had a low 
need for housing and that much affordable housing had not yet been bought. If development 
was not properly thought out then the deprivation that had occurred in Northampton East 
was likely to result. 
 
The Head of the JPU commented that an infrastructure development plan formed part of the 
JSC and would be reported in January 2011. He submitted a report that set out the 
communication and consultation strategy  to support the pre submission version of the JCS. 
He noted that Appendix 1 set out the detail of the strategy. 
 
In answer to questions the Head of JPU commented that at no stage had the JPU  been 
advised that work on the JCS should be abandoned and referred to the Secretary of State’s 
letter dated 6 July 2010 and appended to the previous agenda item that work should 
continue. 
 
It was noted that the general public would be able to input into the consultation and that the 
language in the consultation documents should be as simple as possible. 
 
RESOLVED:    That the Communication and Consultation Strategy set out in 
                         Appendix 1 of the report be approved.     
 

The meeting concluded at 20.03 hours. 
 
 



Item No: 6

Date:  31 January 2011

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE 

JOINT STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE

Pre-Submission West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF THE JOINT PLANNING UNIT

1. Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the publication of the Pre-
Submission version of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy, as 
attached at Appendix 1, for the statutory six weeks representation period in 
accordance with Regulations 27 and 28 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Joint Strategic Planning Committee:

1. Notes and approves the officer responses to the representations received 
to the West Northamptonshire Emergent Joint Core Strategy, July 2009, as 
attached at Appendix 2;

2. Approves the Pre-Submission version of the West Northamptonshire Joint 
Core Strategy for the statutory six weeks representation period in 
accordance with Regulations 27 and 28 of the Town and Country Planning
(Local Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008, to run 
from 17th February to 31st March 2011;

3. Authorises the Chair of the Joint Strategic Planning Committee to agree any 
editorial changes required to the Pre-Submission version of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy; and 

4. Formally resolves to rescind the West Northamptonshire Emergent Joint 
Core Strategy published in July 2009 on the basis that it has been replaced 
by the Pre-Submission version of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core 
Strategy.

3. Background

3.1 There is a real need for an up-to-date strategic spatial development plan for the 
West Northamptonshire area that is based on robust evidence and takes 
account of and responds positively to local development needs and aspirations. 
The publication of the Pre-Submission version of the West Northamptonshire 

Agenda Item 6



Joint Core Strategy (JCS) for statutory representations is a significant step 
towards this overriding and long held objective.

3.2 Publication of the Pre-Submission version of the JCS also brings certainly to 
the area regarding the management of development in a plan-led way thereby 
removing uncertainty about where development should go, how much will be 
permitted and how it will be accessed, serviced and supported by infrastructure.

3.3 It is also been identified that there is a pressing need for the West 
Northamptonshire area to move on from the Emergent Joint Core Strategy that 
was published for public consultation in July 2009, in view of the changed 
national political and economic landscape.  A significant number of responses 
were made to this document during the twelve week consultation period and 
these have been carefully considered in the preparation of the draft Pre-
submission edition of the document before the Committee this evening.  Officer 
responses to the representations made on the Emergent Joint Core Strategy 
are referred to under Section 4 below and are set out in full in Appendix 2.  In 
the light of the large community response there is a clear need to press-on with 
the Joint Core Strategy but in a different strategic direction: it is considered that 
the Pre-Submission achieves this.

3.4 In the light of the recent High Court ruling regarding the status of Regional
Strategies still being part of the development plan, there is a current statutory 
requirement for the Joint Core Strategy to still be in general conformity.
However, significantly, the Government have made it clear that in national 
planning policy making terms Regional Strategies are to be abolished and 
replaced with a system based more on a culture of local communities having a 
more direct involvement in the formulation of planning policy. The intentions
behind this approach are set out in the Localism Bill published in December 
2010. The Government’s aim is to deliver the final provisions of the Localism 
Bill into law around summer of 2011, if this challenging timescale can be 
adhered to it will ensure that certainty regarding the ‘direction of travel’ for 
planning policy making will be provided as soon as possible. In the light of this 
changing statutory scenario and the reality that RSS figures simply cannot be 
delivered, it is not considered prudent or sound to pursue a Joint Core Strategy 
that would be in general conformity with the Regional Strategy. The Pre-
Submission version Joint Core Strategy brought to the Committee is grounded 
in local need and deliverability.

3.5 There will be implications for the West Northamptonshire Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) by not complying fully with the Regional Strategy route and it will 
be necessary to produce and give effect to a revised LDS prior to the 
submission of the Joint Core Strategy for its public examination. The revised 
LDS will need to give consideration to the date it is anticipated that the Localism 
Bill will receive Royal Assent, and will therefore become law. This date is not 
known at present and more detail on this matter will be brought back to the 
Committee when more is known.

3.6 In the light of the Government’s clearly stated intent to change the planning 
policy system in the ways described in paragraph 3.5 above, the approach 
being taken to the preparation of the Joint Core Strategy fits well with the 
evolving national changes to the planning policy system. Therefore, it is 



important and appropriate to continue to make progress towards a Joint Core 
Strategy for West Northamptonshire as soon as possible.

3.7 A further reason for maintaining the momentum on progress towards an 
adopted Joint Core Strategy is to ensure that the West Northamptonshire area 
is safeguarded, as much as the policy planning system will permit, from 
predatory planning appeals which are often expensive to fight, in both financial 
and human resource terms, as one partner authority experienced recently. The 
most effective way of doing this is to ensure that an up-to-date, sound and 
adopted development plan is in place: the first and most important element of 
which is the Joint Core Strategy as this document sets the strategic spatial 
planning scene and context within which all subsequent development planning 
documents will be in general conformity with. Such an approach will ensure that 
development is managed in a plan-led way in that, sites or areas that are 
suitable for development of whatever kind are set out and statutorily adopted in 
the Joint Core Strategy. By following this approach developers, of whatever 
type, will have a clear understanding at a strategic spatial level of where 
development will be acceptable to partner Councils and where it will not. The 
West Northamptonshire area has been lacking such clear spatial planning 
policy for to long and by pressing on with the preparation of the Joint Core 
Strategy will ensure that such an undesirable scenario does not continue.

3.8 Related to the last paragraph, by publishing the Pre-Submission Joint Core 
Strategy for public engagement now we provide more certainty to all users of 
the plan regarding acceptable locations for development. In addition certainty is 
provided regarding the development land supply position, in all its forms, 
including, land for homes, jobs and other commercial activity. 

3.9 By publishing the Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy at this time the area as a 
whole will have greater certainty regarding bidding for supporting infrastructure 
funding, in all its forms. This will bring significant associated benefits to West 
Northamptonshire and the partner Councils within it relating, for example, to 
regeneration and the integration of new development with existing settlements 
in sustainable ways. The strength and robustness of bids made for funding 
through new and pre-existing funding mechanisms, such as through the Local 
Investment Plan, Regional Growth Funds, the Local Economic Partnership and 
other such funding routes, will increase significantly once a Pre-submission 
plan is available to bolster and support these bids.

3.10 By way of a summary of this section of the report approving, the Pre-
Submission Joint Core Strategy for publication represents a ‘win-win’ scenario 
for the whole West Northamptonshire area and the partner Councils with in it. 
Not only will a more advanced edition of the Joint Core Strategy be available 
with more ‘weight’ able to be attached to in technical planning terms but,
additionally, this document will have significant local support and buy-in from 
across the partnership with local development needs addressed in a 
proportionate, evidenced and manageable way. Pressing-on to the Pre-
submission stage is a significant statutory step forward in plan-making certainty 
for the West Northamptonshire area and is simply the best and most effective 
use of the resources that have been made available to the Joint Planning Unit 
on behalf of partner Councils.



4. Overview of the Joint Core Strategy Process to Date 

4.1 The Joint Core Strategy will be the long term strategic plan for the development 
of Daventry District, Northampton Borough and South Northamptonshire 
administrative areas – it deals with the big picture of what will happen in the 
future.  It is a spatial policy document, which means it deals with places and the 
activities that happen within and between them.  The Joint Core Strategy is the 
priority planning policy document and all subsequent documents must reflect 
what it says.

4.2 At its meeting on 6 July 2009 the West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic 
Planning Committee approved the publication of the West Northamptonshire 
Emergent Joint Core Strategy for consultation.  The Emergent Joint Core 
Strategy was published on 31 July 2009 for a six week consultation period 
which was subsequently extended.  The content of the Emergent Joint Core 
Strategy was informed by the Joint Core Strategy Issues and Options and 
Regulation 25 consultations in 2007 and 2009 respectively, as well as the 
collection of a wide ranging evidence base and on-going work with technical 
bodies.

4.3 The responses to the Emergent Joint Core Strategy consultation were 
considered by the West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee 
at its meetings on 30 March 2010 and 26 July 2010.  At its meeting on 26 July 
2010 the Committee formally received the summary of the consultation 
responses to the Emergent Joint Core Strategy

4.4 The representations received to the Emergent Joint Core Strategy consultation 
in 2009 have been taken into account in the preparation of the Pre-Submission 
version of the Joint Core Strategy.  Joint Planning Unit Officers have prepared 
recommended responses to the Emergent Joint Core Strategy consultation 
representations, attached as Appendix 2, for the Committee to note and 
approve at this meeting.   

4.5 A report of the community engagement and consultation undertaken to date on 
the Joint Core Strategy, including details of previous consultation stages and 
the responses received, has been prepared and will be available alongside the 
Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy when it is published for the statutory six 
weeks representations period commencing in February 2011.

5. The Pre-Submission version of the Joint Core Strategy – An Introduction 

5.1 The Pre-Submission version of the Joint Core Strategy sets out the long-term 
vision and objectives for the whole of the West Northamptonshire area for the 
period up to 2026, including strategic policies for steering and shaping 
development.  It identifies specific locations for strategic new housing and 
employment and changes to transport infrastructure and other supporting 
community facilities, as well as defining areas where development will be 
limited.  It helps to ensure the co-ordination and delivery of other services and 
related strategies.



5.2 The format of the Joint Core Strategy is as follows:

Section 4 is the spatial portrait which gives an overview of West 
Northamptonshire’s characteristics, the issues that arise from this and which
lead to the identification of the Vision and 15 Objectives for this Plan, i.e. The 
Joint Core Strategy.

Section 5 sets out the Spatial Strategy for the Plan – the big picture of 
“where” and “when” we want activity, development and investment to be over 
the period to 2026.  This includes the roles and relationships of the 
settlements, the hierarchy of centres and the distribution of development.

Sections 6 – 11 set out the policies that apply to the whole of the Plan area -
the West Northamptonshire-wide policies.  These policies cover: connections, 
regenerating and building communities, economic advantage, housing, built 
and natural environment, and, infrastructure and delivery.

Sections 12 – 16 set out the policies and proposals for the places in West 
Northamptonshire.  These policies cover: the towns of Northampton, 
Daventry, Towcester and Brackley; and the rural areas. 

Section 17 sets out the Implementation and Monitoring Framework – outlining 
“how” the Plan will be monitored and reviewed to ensure that its objectives 
are met.  

The Context Map, Key Diagram and the Proposals Map are included at the 
end of the Joint Core Strategy.  The purpose of the Key Diagram is to present 
the spatial policies in the Plan in a diagrammatic form.  The purpose of the 
Proposals Map is to identify areas of protection, areas at risk of flooding and 
sites allocated for particular land use and development proposals to which 
specific policies apply.  

5.3 The Spatial Strategy outlines the hierarchy of places and centres within these 
places (i.e. the towns of Northampton, Daventry, Towcester and Brackley, and 
the rural areas) and the principles for the distribution of development between 
the places.  This includes maximising the use of land and buildings within the 
existing urban areas of the towns as well as developing new sustainable urban
extensions to the towns.  The Spatial Strategy identifies how much new 
development will be provided and when, i.e. the overall phasing of 
development.  The Spatial Strategy also sets out the principles of sustainable 
development that all development will follow in order to achieve the vision of 
West Northamptonshire, particularly in response to climate change.

5.4 The Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy makes provision for 50,150 new 
homes to be built between 2001 and 2026.  This is a substantial reduction 
from the Regional Spatial Strategy requirement of 62,125 homes. Over 
15,500 have already been built in the period up to 31 March 2010, and 
planning permission has already been granted for a further 13,000 homes.  
This means that the Joint Core Strategy is planning for a further 21,500 to be 
granted planning permission and be built before 2026.  This level of provision is 
based on what can be delivered and supported by infrastructure and that will 
meet the needs of the existing population.



5.5 The Joint Core Strategy also makes provision for a minimum net increase of 
16,000 jobs 2010-2026 in the Plan area and aims to maintain a broad balance 
between homes and jobs over time.  Policies will support the creation a more 
diverse economic base.

5.6 The key strategic site allocations, referred to in the Joint Core Strategy as 
Sustainable Urban Extensions, are listed below:

Northampton Kings Heath (3,500 dwellings, 10 ha employment)
Northampton

Northampton North (2,000 dwellings, 7 ha employment)
Northampton North of Whitehills (1,000 dwellings, local employment 
opportunities) [also known as Buckton Fields]
Northampton South (1,000 dwellings, local employment opportunities)
Northampton South of Brackmills (1,000 dwellings, local employment 
opportunities) [also known as North of Hardingstone]
Northampton Upton Park (1,000 dwellings, local employment opportunities)
Northampton West (1,500 dwellings, local employment opportunities)

Daventry North East (2,500 dwellings, local employment opportunities)
Daventry

Towcester South (1,500 dwellings, 1,500 jobs)
Towcester

Brackley East (380 dwellings, 1,000 jobs)
Brackley

Brackley North (1,380 dwellings, local employment opportunities)

5.7 The Joint Core Strategy is supported by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan which 
will ensure that the services and facilities required by new development and 
existing communities will be funded and delivered alongside the development 
proposals. The development will be managed and phased alongside the 
delivery of infrastructure and the plan proposals will be subject to rigorous 
monitoring and review.

5.8 The preparation of the Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy has been informed 
by the previous consultations on the Joint Core Strategy and the collection of a 
wide ranging evidence base which is listed in Appendix 2 of the Pre-Submission 
Joint Core Strategy.

5.9 The Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy has been the subject of a 
sustainability appraisal and an appropriate assessment by independent 
environmental consultants Environ. Environ’s reports will be published 
alongside the Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy to allow respondents to the 
Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy to reflect on Environ’s appraisal and
assessment in preparing their representations and to make any observations on 
the appraisal and the assessment themselves.



5.10 The Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy is subject to an on-going Equalities 
Impact Assessment (EqIA). The purpose of the EqIA process is to identify 
whether the plan has an adverse impact on equality of opportunity on the basis 
of a person’s race, gender, disability, sexuality, religion or belief or age or on 
relations between or within those groups, and how this can subsequently be 
addressed. The EqIA will be published alongside the Pre-Submission Joint 
Core Strategy to allow respondents to the Strategy to reflect on this
assessment in preparing their representations and to make any observations on 
the assessment itself.

6. The Communication and Consultation Strategy

6.1 Members will recall that at its meeting on 26 October 2010 the Joint Strategic 
Planning Committee approved the Communication and Consultation Strategy 
for the Pre-Submission version of the Joint Core Strategy. For ease of 
reference a copy of the approved Communication and Consultation Strategy is 
attached to this report as Appendix 3.

6.2 The purpose of the Communication and Consultation Strategy is to ensure that 
the approach to the Pre-Submission statutory representations period meets the
requirements of the relevant Regulations and the Statements of Community 
Involvement (SCI) adopted by Daventry District, Northampton Borough and 
South Northamptonshire Councils.

6.3 The Strategy sets out a three stage approach which is detailed in Appendix 3 to 
this Committee Report:

1. Information and Engagement – This stage was completed in December 
2010;

2. Pre-Submission Publicity – This stage was completed in January 2011; and

3. Pre-Submission Statutory 6 Weeks Representations Period – This is the 
next stage.

6.4 In order to minimise postage costs and make the most efficient use of staff 
resources Actions 1.6 and 2.1 in the Strategy have been rolled forward to form 
part of the third stage.  These actions are not requirements of ether the 
regulations or the SCIs and so this change has no legal implications.

6.5 Details of the nature of Pre-Submission Statutory 6 Weeks Representations 
Period are set out in Actions 3.1 – 3.8 under Stage 3 of the Strategy in 
Appendix 3 to this Committee Report.  The Actions listed reflect the 
requirements of the relevant Regulations and the three adopted SCIs.

6.6 The statutory 6 weeks representation period will be from Thursday 17 February 
to Thursday 31 March 2011.  

7. Next Steps

7.1 All representations to the Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy will be 
considered and the Submission version of the Joint Core Strategy prepared by 
June 2011. The Submission version will be published for comment at the same 



time as being submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for consideration at an
independent Public Examination.  This Examination will test the soundness of 
the Joint Core Strategy and consider representations on the basis of whether 
the plan is sound.  

7.2 Subject to the timing of the enactment of the Localism Bill, which may change,
the nature of the Inspector’s Report and the final stages of plan preparation, 
the Inspector, appointed by the Secretary of State to conduct the Examination,
will produce a report with recommendations which will be binding. Any changes 
required by the Inspector will be incorporated and then the Joint Core Strategy 
will be adopted. The adoption of the Joint Core Strategy will be advertised. It is 
expected that the Joint Core Strategy will be adopted in May 2012 and 
published shortly afterwards.

8. Conclusions

8.1 It is of critical importance to the well-being of the West Northamptonshire area 
to continue to progress the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy in the 
way outlined in this report without delay for a number of reasons. Not least, to 
safeguard partner local planning authorities from predatory planning appeals 
that are expensive to fight. The Joint Core Strategy will also give certainty and 
confidence to all with a spatial interest in the West Northamptonshire area, as 
well as providing focus regarding regeneration aspirations across the 
partnership area.

8.2 Simply, by pursing the Joint Core Strategy to the next stage it assumes greater 
‘weight’ in planning application and associated decision making processes. This 
is a valuable asset for the local planning authorities to have at their disposal in 
terms of implementing a plan-led approach to the delivery of development and 
environmental safeguarding across the West Northamptonshire area.

David Atkinson
Head of the West Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit
Telephone: 01604 838412

Claire Berry
Development Plans Team Leader
West Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit
Telephone: 01604 838030

David Hemmett
Information and Programme Manager
West Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit
Telephone: 01604 838037



West Northamptonshire 

Joint Core Strategy

Pre-Submission Version

Committee Draft

West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning 
Committee

31 January 2011

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

1



The importance of “Strategic Planning” which shapes and makes the places in which 
people live, work and play cannot be underestimated.  The alternative would, in all 
likelihood, result in an uncoordinated approach through speculative developer-led
planning and related applications.  This Pre-Submission West Northamptonshire 
Joint Core Strategy is a key document in ensuring places are shaped and made in a 
way which meets the needs of the people of today whilst ensuring the needs of 
future generations are safeguarded.

Foreword

This document is the first one to be produced in the West Northamptonshire Local 
Development Framework, a suite of planning policy and related documents that will, 
together, guide the evolution of Northampton, Daventry and South Northamptonshire 
in the years that lie ahead. It provides a long-term vision for the area with an overall 
framework in which more detailed plans will be drawn up and decisions made. It
contains a broad planning strategy aimed at meeting that vision, and contains core 
strategic policies, which the Partner Councils – Daventry District, Northampton 
Borough, South Northamptonshire and Northamptonshire County Councils – believe 
will provide sound guidance in the years ahead. This Pre-Submission Joint Core
Strategy has been prepared in such a way so as to enable it to be disaggregated into 
three separate local plans, one for each of the partner Borough and District Councils, 
if that is considered appropriate in the future. The Pre-Submission Joint Core 
Strategy replaces the Emergent Joint Core Strategy that was published for 
consultation in July 2009.

The whole community has had a real opportunity to positively and collectively 
influence and improve the way we do things in the future – in the way we use land, 
we build, and how we shape our environment. Further opportunity to get involved in 
the planning of our areas is now available through the publication of this Pre-
Submission Joint Core Strategy. 

The involvement of the local community and many other organisations and groups to 
date has helped the Partner Councils to shape this Pre-submission Joint Core 
Strategy document. All involved in the preparation of it are very grateful for these 
contributions that have been made throughout the lengthy period the document has 
been in the making and here is a further opportunity for more input. 

The Councils consider that the scale of development set out in this Plan to meet the 
local needs of the area is both realistic and deliverable.  We recognise the 
importance of ensuring the appropriate levels of strategic and local community 
infrastructure requirements are delivered alongside any future housing growth. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

2



The Localism Bill includes a duty to co-operate to ensure that local authorities and 
public bodies co-operate with each other.  The duty is seen by Government as a key 
element of its proposals for strategic working once Regional Strategies are 
abolished. The dynamic partnership of Councils and other stakeholders that make 
up the West Northamptonshire planning partnership are delighted that we have 
reached this stage in order to protect our communities whilst at the same time 
meeting future local housing demand and encouraging future economic growth, 
which is so important to all of us. It strikes the right balance between ensuring the 
area is planned as a whole whilst also celebrating the diversity of the distinctive 
places across the constituent Councils’ areas.  The Councils remain committed to 
this co-operative working and where appropriate this will extend to other local 
authority areas. 

Photo here

Councillor Chris Millar,

Chair of the West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

3



2.0 Contents Page and List of Policies

Contents Page Page 
Number

1 Foreword – Chair of the Joint Strategic Planning Committee 2
2 Contents Page & List of Policies 4
3 Introduction 7
4 Spatial Portrait, Spatial Vision and Objectives 11
5 Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram 24

West Northamptonshire Wide Policies: 48
6 Connections 49
7 Regenerating and Developing Communities 61
8 Economic Advantage 71
9 Housing 80
10 Built and Natural Environment 90
11 Infrastructure and Delivery 109

Places Policies: 118
12 Northampton 119
13 Daventry 143
14 Towcester 153
15 Brackley 162
16 Rural Areas 170
17 Monitoring and Implementation Framework 178

18 Appendices: 182
Appendix 1 – Plans and Other Strategies Taken into 
Account in the Preparation of the Joint Core Strategy

183

Appendix 2 – Evidence Base for the Joint Core Strategy 186
Appendix 3 – West Northamptonshire Housing Trajectory 189
Appendix 4 – West Northamptonshire Infrastructure 
Schedule

192

Appendix 5 – Saved Local Plan Policies to be Replaced by 
Joint Core Strategy Policies

213

Appendix 6 – West Northamptonshire Monitoring Framework 218

19 Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations 240

20 Maps and Key Diagram: 249
Figure 1 – West Northamptonshire Context Map 250
Figure 2 – West Northamptonshire Key Diagram 252
Figure 3 – West Northamptonshire Key Diagram 
Enlargement

253

Figure 4 – Northampton Related Development Area Map 254
Figure 5 – West Northamptonshire Proposals Map & Insets 255
Figure 6 – West Northamptonshire Green Infrastructure 
Networks Map

256

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

4



List of Policies by Section Page 
Number

5. Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram
Policy S1 – The Distribution of Development 27
Policy S2 – Hierarchy of Centres 29
Policy S3 – Scale and Distribution of Housing Development 32
Policy S4 – Northampton Related Development Area 33
Policy S5 – Sustainable Urban Extensions 34
Policy S6 – Phasing of Housing Development 35
Policy S7 – Provision of Jobs 36
Policy S8 – Distribution of Jobs 37
Policy S9 – Distribution of Retail Development 42
Policy S10 – Sustainable Development Principles 46
Policy S11 – Renewable Energy 47
West Northamptonshire Wide Policies:
6. Connections
Policy C1 – Changing Behaviour and Achieving Modal Shift 53
Policy C2 – New Developments 54
Policy C3 – Strategic Connections 55
Policy C4 – Connecting Urban Areas 57
Policy C5 – Enhancing Local and Neighbourhood Connections 59
Policy C6 – High Speed Rail 2 60
7. Regenerating and Developing Communities
Policy RC1 – Delivering Community Regeneration 65
Policy RC2 – Community Needs 69
8. Economic Advantage
Policy E1 – Existing Employment Areas 71
Policy E2 – New Office Floorspace 72
Policy E3 – Technology Realm, Northampton North 73
Policy E4 – Daventry International Rail Freight Terminal (DIRFT) 74
Policy E5 – Silverstone Circuit 77
Policy E6 – Education, Skills and Training 78
Policy E7 – Tourism, Visitor and Cultural Industries 79
9. Housing
Policy H1 – Housing Density and Mix and Type of Dwellings 82
Policy H2 – Affordable Housing 84
Policy H3 – Rural Exception Sites 85
Policy H4 – Specialised Accommodation 85
Policy H5 – Sustainable Housing 86
Policy H6 – Managing the Existing Housing Stock 86
Policy H7 – Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 88
10. Built and Natural Environment
Policy BN1– Green Infrastructure Connections 93
Policy BN2 – Biodiversity 95
Policy BN3 – Woodland Enhancement and Creation 96
Policy BN4 – Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits Potential Special 
Protection Area 97
Policy BN5 – The Historic Environment 99

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

5



Policy BN6 – Weedon Depot 101
Policy BN7 – Flood Risk 104
Policy BN8 – The River Nene Strategic River Corridor 106
Policy BN9 – Planning for Pollution Control 107
Policy BN10 – Ground Instability 108
11. Infrastructure and Delivery
Policy INF1 – Approach to Infrastructure Delivery 111
Policy INF2 – Contributions to Infrastructure Requirements 114
Places Policies:
12. Northampton
Policy N1 – The Regeneration of Northampton 121
Policy N2 – Northampton Central Area 123
Policy N3 – Northampton North Sustainable Urban Extension 125
Policy N4 – Northampton West Sustainable Urban Extension 127
Policy N5 – Northampton South Sustainable Urban Extension 129
Policy N6 – Northampton South of Brackmills Sustainable Urban 
Extension 130
Policy N7 – Northampton King’s Heath Sustainable Urban 
Extension 132
Policy N8 – Northampton North of Whitehills Sustainable Urban 
Extension 133
Policy N9 – Northampton Upton Park Sustainable Urban Extension 135
Policy N10 – Shopping Needs Outside Northampton Town Centre 138
Policy N11 – Supporting Areas of Community Regeneration 140
Policy N12 – Northampton’s Transport Network Improvements 142
13. Daventry
Policy D1 – The Regeneration of Daventry Town 146
Policy D2 – Daventry Town Centre 147
Policy D3 – Daventry North East Sustainable Urban Extension 149
Policy D4 – Supporting Areas of Community Regeneration: 
Southbrook 151
Policy D5 – Daventry’s Transport Network Improvements 152
14. Towcester
Policy T1 – Spatial Strategy for Towcester 154
Policy T2 – The Town Centre and Moat Lane Regeneration Area 156
Policy T3 – Towcester South Sustainable Urban Extension 157
Policy T4 – Transport Improvements for Towcester 159
Policy T5 – Towcester Racecourse 160
15. Brackley
Policy B1 – Spatial Strategy for Brackley 165
Policy B2 – Brackley East Sustainable Urban Extension 166
Policy B3 – Brackley North Sustainable Urban Extension 168
Policy B4 – Transport Improvements for Brackley 169
16. Rural Areas
Policy R1 – Spatial Strategy for the Rural Areas 173
Policy R2 – Rural Economy 176
Policy R3 – A Transport Strategy for the Rural Areas 177

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

6



3.0 Introduction

3.1 This section sets out the introduction to the West Northamptonshire Pre-
Submission Joint Core Strategy document.  The section explains: 

 What the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy is;
The format of the Joint Core Strategy; and
The next stages in the Joint Core Strategy preparation process.

What is the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy?

3.2 West Northamptonshire is the area covered by Daventry District, Northampton 
Borough and South Northamptonshire Councils.  It includes the towns of 
Northampton, Daventry, Towcester and Brackley and all the villages and rural 
areas within the three Councils’ administrative areas.

3.3 The West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee was 
established by Statutory Instrument1 in 2008. The Committee is responsible for 
plan-making in West Northamptonshire.  The Committee is supported by the 
West Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit (JPU).  

3.4 This Joint Core Strategy (JCS) has been prepared by the JPU on behalf of the 
three Councils of Daventry District, Northampton Borough and South 
Northamptonshire working together with Northamptonshire County Council.

3.5 The JCS sets out the long-term vision and objectives for the whole of the West 
Northamptonshire area for the plan period up to 2026, including strategic 
policies for steering and shaping development.  It identifies specific locations for 
strategic new housing and employment and changes to transport infrastructure 
and other supporting community facilities, as well as defining areas where 
development will be limited.  It helps to ensure the co-ordination and delivery of
other services and related strategies (these strategies are identified in 
Appendix 1).

3.6 In many areas existing infrastructure is at, or near capacity.  The JCS is 
designed to deliver significant growth in housing and employment but this is 
dependent on necessary investment being available in a timely way to 
overcome the deficiencies in supporting infrastructure.  The JCS cannot be 
delivered without key infrastructure as set out in section 11 of this Plan.  Public 
sector finance is likely to be limited, at least in the early phases of the Plan 
period which means that the effectiveness of the approach to developer 
contributions set out in this JCS will be fundamental to the successful 
achievement of the spatial vision and objectives through the spatial strategy.
The monitoring and implementation section (Section 17) of the JCS sets out 
how the JCS will be monitored and reviewed to ensure its objectives are met.  

1The West Northamptonshire Joint Committee Order 2008 No 1572 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

7



3.7 The Local Strategic Partnerships have identified the aspirations and needs of 
local people in their Sustainable Community Strategies2, which together create 
a long-term vision for the area and set the agenda for the priorities in the Joint 
Core Strategy. 

3.8 The Joint Core Strategy forms part of the West Northamptonshire Local 
Development Framework (LDF): a folder of documents that will guide future 
development and use of land in West Northamptonshire for the Plan period up 
to 2026.  

3.9 The LDF will replace old-style Local Plans and will be used to assess all 
planning applications.  Subsequent parts of the LDF will provide more detailed 
development management policies and will also allocate smaller, non-strategic 
sites for new developments.  The West Northamptonshire Local Development 
Scheme (LDS)3 approved in February 2010 sets out the full list of Local 
Development Documents (LDDs) that will be produced in West 
Northamptonshire, who will produce them and when. All Development Plan 
Documents (DPDs) and Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) produced 
in West Northamptonshire will have to be in conformity with the JCS. 

3.10 European and national legislation requires local planning authorities to 
undertake a Sustainability Appraisal, a Strategic Environmental Assessment 
and a Habitats Regulations Assessment (also known as an Appropriate 
Assessment) of the JCS.  These documents form part of the evidence base that 
supports this Plan. All the Sustainability Appraisal/ Strategic Environmental 
Assessment and Appropriate Assessment documents for West 
Northamptonshire are listed in Appendix 2 of this Joint Core Strategy.

3.11 The JCS is required to comply with national and regional policies but should not 
repeat them. References are provided to Government policy documents, the 
evidence base, technical papers and the spatial objectives throughout the 
document.  The list of Plans and Other Strategies Taken into Account in the 
Preparation of the Joint Core Strategy is included in Appendix 1 and the list of 
the Evidence Base for the Joint Core Strategy is included in Appendix 2 of this 
Joint Core Strategy.

2 Daventry District Local Strategic Partnership: 2010. Sustainable Community Strategy for Daventry 
District 2010-2026
Northampton Local Strategic Partnership: 2008. Northampton Sustainable Community Strategy 2008-
11
South Northamptonshire Local Strategic Partnership: 2010. South Northamptonshire Sustainable 
Communities Strategy 2010-2015
3 West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme: February 2010

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

8



3.12 The JCS is a high level strategy and most of the policies in the currently 
adopted Local Plans4 will continue to apply.  However, some of the policies in 
these plans are of a more strategic nature and will no longer be relevant
following the adoption of this JCS.  Although this strategy will have limited effect 
on the adopted Local Plans’ proposals maps, there are a few instances where 
these maps will change.  The superseded policies and the changes to 
proposals maps are listed in Appendix 5. 

3.13 As of 27 September 2007, some Local Plan policies ceased to be “saved” (see 
Appendix 5 for details). Eventually, all the policies of the Local Plans will be 
replaced by the DPDs that make up the WN LDF. Policies will not be replaced 
all at once, as the WN LDF is a series of separate DPDs.  Thus, as each 
document is produced, further existing Local Plan policies will, if appropriate, be
replaced and, therefore, will no longer be “saved”.  Planning decisions will 
continue to be made in accordance with “saved” Local Plan policies until such 
time as they are replaced or revoked. 

The Format of the Joint Core Strategy

3.14 The format of this JCS is as follows:

Section 4 is the spatial portrait which gives an overview of West 
Northamptonshire’s characteristics, the issues that arise from this and lead 
to the identification of the Vision and Objectives for this Plan.

Section 5 sets out the Spatial Strategy for the Plan – the big picture of 
“where” and “when” we want activity, development and investment to be 
over the period to 2026.  This includes the roles and relationships of the 
settlements, the hierarchy of centres and the distribution of development. 

Sections 6 – 11 set out the policies that apply to the whole of the plan area - 
the West Northamptonshire-wide policies.  These policies cover: 
connections, regenerating and building communities, economic advantage, 
housing, built and natural environment, and, infrastructure and delivery. 

Sections 12 – 16 set out the policies and proposals for the places in West 
Northamptonshire.  These policies cover: the towns of Northampton, 
Daventry, Towcester and Brackley; and the rural areas.

Section 17 sets out the Implementation and Monitoring Framework – 
outlining “how” the plan will be monitored and reviewed to ensure that its 
objectives are met.

4 Daventry District Council: Adopted Daventry District Local Plan (June 1997) and Saved Policies 
(September 2007) 
Northampton Borough Council:  Adopted Northampton Local Plan (June 1997) and Saved Policies 
(September 2007) 
South Northamptonshire Council: Adopted South Northamptonshire Local Plan (October 1997) and 
Saved Policies (September 2007)

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

9



The Context Map, Key Diagram and the Proposals Map are included in 
Section 20 of the JCS.  The purpose of the Key Diagram is to present the 
spatial policies in the JCS in a diagrammatic form.  The purpose of the 
Proposals Map is to identify areas of protection, areas at risk of flooding and 
sites allocated for particular land use and development proposals to which 
specific policies apply.

3.15 Every effort has been made to make the document as clear as possible with 
little reference to planning guidance and policy statements.  However, it does 
contain some technical language so there is a Glossary of Terms and
Abbreviations in Section 19 to help readers with the range of new terms that 
have been introduced. Where appropriate footnotes are also included at the 
bottom of each page of the JCS.  

3.16 The JCS should be read as a whole.  All policies are interrelated and must be 
read together to understand their combined effect as a strategy.  Unless 
otherwise stated, they apply across the whole plan area and are designed to 
encourage, facilitate and manage development that makes a positive 
contribution to West Northamptonshire and its component areas.

The Next Stages in the Joint Core Strategy Preparation Process

3.17 The outcome of this Pre-Submission JCS consultation will lead to the 
preparation of the Submission JCS by June 2011. The Submission JCS will be 
published for comment at the same time as being submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate for consideration at a Public Examination.  The independent Public 
Examination will test the “soundness” of the JCS and consider representations 
on the basis of whether the plan is sound.  Subject to the timing of the 
enactment of the Localism Bill which may change the nature of the Inspector’s 
Report and the final stages of plan preparation, the Inspector appointed by the 
Secretary of State to conduct the Examination will produce a report with 
recommendations which will be binding.  Any changes required by the 
Inspector will be incorporated and then the JCS will be adopted.  The adoption 
of the JCS will be advertised.  It is expected that the JCS will be adopted in
May 2012 and published shortly afterwards.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

10



4.0 Spatial Portrait, Vision and Objectives

4.1 This section sets out the spatial portrait of West Northamptonshire, the vision 
we have for the future of the area and the objectives we will follow to achieve 
that vision.

4.2 The spatial portrait describes where we are now – it gives an overview of West 
Northamptonshire’s characteristics and the challenges that arise from those 
characteristics. 

4.3 The vision describes what we want for the area in the future and how we see 
the area will develop and move forward.  The objectives set out how we will 
achieve our vision and provide specific direction to the policies of this Joint 
Core Strategy (JCS).

Spatial Portrait - Where we are now 

          
  

The Spatial Context

4.4 Figure 1 in Section 20 at the end of this Plan shows the West 
Northamptonshire Context Map.  

4.5 West Northamptonshire is located within the southern part of central England.  
It covers a large geographical area and encompasses the administrative areas
of Northampton Borough Council, Daventry District Council and South 
Northamptonshire Council in the County of Northamptonshire.  The area 
includes four towns: Northampton, Daventry, Towcester and Brackley and the 
extensive rural areas within South Northamptonshire and Daventry Districts 
incorporating over 190 villages. 

4.6 There are strong connections between Daventry, South Northamptonshire and 
Northampton areas, reflected in significant household and travel to work 
movements between the settlements in these areas.  To the east, travel links 
to Kettering and Corby are weaker although Wellingborough has strong links 
with the Northampton area.  There are also significant commuter flows into 
Milton Keynes from Northampton and South Northamptonshire.   

4.7 West Northamptonshire has excellent connections to the rest of the country 
and to mainland Europe.  The area benefits from key strategic transport 
infrastructure including linkages to the M1, M40, M6, the Haven Ports and the 
West Coast Mainline, Chiltern and Midland Mainline railways.  The area is 
often described as being at the crossroads of the M1 north-south route and the 
A14/ M6 east-west route. 

4.8 West Northamptonshire is within the influence of Greater London and 
Birmingham, the country’s two largest cities.  Travel times from Northampton to 
both London and Birmingham by train are only one hour. For air travel most 
passenger journeys by residents and businesses in West Northamptonshire 
are made from major gateway airports at London and smaller regional airports 
at East Midlands, London Luton or Birmingham International.  Whilst both East 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

11



Midlands Airport and London Luton Airport are accessible by car within one 
hour’s journey time from Northampton there are limited rail connections to both 
destinations.      

4.9 For shopping, Northampton town centre together with its retail parks is the 
main attractor for the majority of West Northamptonshire residents and for 
some residents of areas beyond.   However, there is a pull from Milton Keynes 
in the southern part of the West Northamptonshire area for town centre 
shopping and likewise from Banbury and Rugby for the western parts of the 
West Northamptonshire area.  Northampton, as the County town, is also the 
focus for major services and facilities for the surrounding towns including those 
beyond West Northamptonshire such as Wellingborough, Kettering and 
Rushden.

The West Northamptonshire Area  

4.10 West Northamptonshire has an overall population of 377,900 people (Office of 
National Statistics 2009 mid-year estimate).  Whilst the land area is 
predominately rural, 55% of this population live within the urban area of 
Northampton.  The majority of residents from South Northamptonshire and 
Daventry districts live in the rural areas outside the market towns of Brackley, 
Daventry and Towcester.  

4.11 The area presently has an above average youth population and a below 
average older population, however population projections indicate that the 
proportion of elderly people within the population is likely to rise.

Northampton
4.12 Northampton, as the County town for Northamptonshire, is the area’s main 

employment, retail and cultural centre.  It has a population of over 210,500
people (Office of National Statistics 2009 mid-year estimate). In 1965 
Northampton was designated as a New Town and planned expansion was 
carried out between 1968 and 1985 by Northampton Development 
Corporation. Consequently the population of the town steadily grew from about 
100,000 in the early 1960s.

4.13 The town is home to well known companies such as Carlsberg, Avon Products, 
Barclaycard, Nationwide Building Society and Panasonic.  Northampton is also 
the focus for learning in the area and is the home of University of Northampton 
and Northampton College, with Moulton College lying immediately to the north 
of the town. Northampton town centre provides the main services and facilities, 
health care and retail offer for the wider population of Northamptonshire.     

Daventry 
4.14 Daventry is a market town with a population of around 25,000.  The town 

experienced significant expansion in the 1960s and 1970s as a result of its 
designation as an overspill town for Birmingham, although the level and speed 
of growth did not occur as expected in this period. 

  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

12



Towcester 
4.15 Towcester is the oldest town in Northamptonshire with a population of about 

10,000.  The town experienced significant housing expansion in the 1980s.  
Towcester residents predominantly travel to either Northampton or Milton 
Keynes for work and shopping (other than food shopping).  Towcester has an 
historic and attractive town centre but is adversely affected by congestion and
poor air quality on the A5. 

Brackley
4.16 Brackley is an attractive historic market town.  It has a population of about 

14,000 and has experienced extensive housing expansion over the last 20 
years.  Brackley residents are increasingly travelling to the neighbouring larger 
towns of Banbury, Oxford and Milton Keynes for employment and shopping
and the town centre is declining.  Brackley does however have major 
motorsport employment.  

Jobs 
4.17 West Northamptonshire, being a diverse area, has a broad economic base.  

Historically the economy of the area was agriculturally based with 
manufacturing predominantly at the towns, particularly Northampton.  Whilst 
farming still accounts for much of the land use it represents a very small 
percentage of the employed population.  However, the agricultural sector 
remains an essential part of the local economy and it is important that farming 
and farmers are encouraged to be more competitive and more sustainable.  
Today manufacturing is in decline and jobs are largely in the office, technology, 
warehousing and service industries.  

4.18 Outside the urban areas rural diversification is significant in supporting the 
economy of the rural communities, with small industrial units often containing 
high occupancy rates. The visitor and tourism economy is also a strong 
source of employment, particularly in South Northamptonshire District.

4.19 Northampton accounts for nearly 70% of jobs in West Northamptonshire, whilst 
Daventry town and its district account for a further 18%.  The remaining 12% is 
generated from South Northamptonshire district.  Silverstone Circuit plays an 
important role in South Northamptonshire’s economy.  Internationally 
renowned for motor racing it straddles the boundary with Aylesbury Vale and is 
both a year round tourist attraction and a significant employer with a focus on 
knowledge based research and high technology motorsport related industry.  
Motorsport and high performance engineering has broadly influenced the 
economy of the whole area.

4.20 Given West Northamptonshire’s central position in the country and its excellent 
rail and road network (particularly north-south and less so east-west) there has 
been a strong growth in the warehouse sector.  In particular Daventry 
International Rail Freight Terminal (DIRFT) serves as a strategic location for 
storage and distribution.  Further demand for storage and distribution premises 
remains high.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

13



4.21 Creation of office jobs in West Northamptonshire has been high in the last 10 
years or so and has largely been associated with Northampton.  Between 2001 
and 2008 Northampton Borough added just over 3,000 new office sector jobs, 
South Northamptonshire 2,300 new office sector jobs (largely related to 
Grange Park which is located on the southern edge of Northampton) and 
Daventry District 1,300 new office sector jobs. 

4.22 The growth in office jobs has mainly been through growth in the public sector 
rather than in the private commercial sector and much of this growth is centred 
on Northampton as the principal town for the area.  Between 2001 and 2008 
public sector office jobs in Northampton grew from just under 3,000 to 5,000.  
The anticipated reduction in public sector spending in 2010 could have a 
significant impact on the number of public sector office jobs within the local 
economy for the next few years.

Homes 
4.23 The four main towns in West Northamptonshire have all experienced 

considerable housing growth over the years in order to support viable, 
sustainable and mixed communities. Housing stock varies greatly from older, 
traditional housing to modern, contemporary forms.  Some specific 
neighbourhoods in Northampton and Daventry are in need of housing 
improvement.  

4.24 Whilst there are some areas of high house prices within the West 
Northamptonshire area, affordability is relatively good in comparison with 
national house prices.  Between April 2008 and March 2009 48.3% of all 
properties sold were priced between £125,000 and £200,0001. Average house 
prices in Northampton Borough are below the national average, peaking at 
around £175,000 in 2007 and dropping to £130,000 in 2009.  Daventry and
South Northamptonshire Districts have above the national average house 
prices with both areas peaking at around £270,000 in 2007 and dropping to 
£200,000 in Daventry District and £230,000 in South Northamptonshire in 
2009. 

4.25 The West Northamptonshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2009 
identified that nearly 20,000 households across West Northamptonshire are 
unsuitably housed, amounting to 13.8% of all households (which compares 
closely to the national average).  Unsuitably housed households occur more 
predominantly in the urban areas whereas the rural areas and villages show 
very low levels of unsuitably housed residents.  In terms of over-crowding in 
2001 4.8% of all households in West Northamptonshire were over-crowded2.
Although this was slightly higher than average for the East Midlands at around 
4.4% it was lower than the average for England and Wales at 6.9%.    

1 West Northamptonshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment, 2009
2 2001 Census of Population (Office for  National Statistics)

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

14



Movement 
4.26 In Northampton, 80% of people both live and work within the Borough, with the 

majority of trips being less than 5km.  However, 61% of these journeys are 
made by car adding almost 59,000 trips on the road network.  The trips made 
outside of the Borough are to a number of locations, including Milton Keynes, 
with public transport presently only making up 4% of these inter-urban trips.

4.27 In Daventry District 48% of residents live and work within the District. Whilst 
many residents commute to Northampton only 4% of these trips are made by 
bus.

4.28 Both South Northamptonshire and Daventry Districts are largely rural and the 
predominant mode of transport is by private car with public transport being 
limited in the rural areas.  Almost 90% of trips generated from Daventry and 
Northampton are contained within the County of Northamptonshire, whereas 
32% of people travel outside of the County from South Northamptonshire for 
either employment or other services and facilities.  Key destinations include 
Banbury and Milton Keynes.  Only 1% of trips to Milton Keynes are by public 
transport.

4.29 The West Northamptonshire area is one of generally high car ownership and 
residents appear to use the private car as the preferred mode of travel.  This is 
reinforced by a poor public transport network in terms of destination choice, 
frequency, vehicle comfort, interchanges and signs.  This over-reliance on the 
private car is leading to increased congestion on many of the area’s roads.   

Community Regeneration 
4.30 The West Northamptonshire area is generally an affluent one; however, there 

are pockets of deprivation.  Northampton Borough contains significant pockets 
of deprivation in central and eastern areas, with 16 wards that are among the 
most deprived 20% in the country.  There is also a small pocket of deprivation 
in Daventry town.  Consequently there are a number of social and economic 
issues facing some neighbourhoods and communities where regeneration 
intervention is required.  Towcester and Brackley do not have any localised 
areas of deprivation in their urban areas.

4.31 In the rural areas many traditional rural jobs no longer exist and residents are 
increasingly commuting long distances to urban areas for work.  In addition, 
access by public transport to services and facilities in larger towns is often 
limited.  House prices have risen dramatically in the last ten years, which has 
meant that many village properties are now unaffordable for local people.  The 
overall appearance of wealth in the rural areas masks pockets of rural 
deprivation.

Town Centres 
4.32 Northampton town centre has many good attributes, not least its historic 

buildings, but is in need of regeneration and new investment to improve the 
town centre experience.  Regeneration of the Beckett’s Park area is already 
underway with the creation of a recreation and leisure development to include 
a marina at the centre of two navigations, the River Nene and the Grand Union 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

15



Canal.  The project will bring access to the riverside environment close to the 
town centre and create a tourist attraction in its own right. 

4.33 Redevelopment of the town centre and its increasingly out-dated Grosvenor 
Centre and Greyfriars Bus Station is seen as key to Northampton town centre’s 
future performance as a regional destination of choice.  The programme for the 
Grosvenor Centre redevelopment and expansion is underway and a planning 
application is anticipated in Autumn 2011. 

4.34 Northampton town centre is the location for higher level services and facilities.   
There is a long held view that the provision of some services and facilities in 
West Northamptonshire has not kept pace with a growing population.  
Residents are concerned that new development should come hand in hand 
with the necessary supporting infrastructure.

4.35 Daventry town centre is in need of some regeneration but not on the same 
scale as Northampton.  Daventry has seen recent investment and new 
buildings (such as the iCon)  which have brought a renewed vitality, but 
continued improvement to the environment and the quality of its town centre 
experience is required so it can fully achieve its potential and compete more 
directly and successfully with the town centres of Rugby and Banbury.  
Daventry District Council is developing a Daventry Masterplan which will cover 
the whole town and facilitate the regeneration of the town centre.  

4.36 Towcester and Brackley function as rural service centres for their large rural 
areas and operate well within this role.  There are well advanced plans for the 
regeneration of the Moat Lane part of Towcester’s town centre that will assist 
in enhancing its vitality and viability in the future.  Town centre revitalisation for 
Brackley will be required to ensure the town’s continued improvement as local 
service provider.  Masterplans for both Towcester and Brackley town centres 
are being prepared by South Northamptonshire Council to direct regeneration 
proposals.

Sport and Leisure 
4.37 As the hub of West Northamptonshire Northampton is home to a range of high 

quality professional sports clubs (including rugby union, football and county 
cricket) and cultural facilities (including two theatres, museums and gallery 
space).  Northampton’s extensive network of parks and open spaces provides 
an important resource for both residents and visitors. 

4.38 Daventry is proud of its country park and the greenspace at Borough Hill, 
whilst Towcester can boast the nationally protected Easton Neston Historic 
Park and Towcester Racecourse.  Brackley has local facilities for leisure and 
recreation, but would benefit from additional open space, play areas and sports 
pitch provision. 

4.39 The River Nene flows through West Northamptonshire and close to the 
southern edge of Northampton town centre.  It provides a rich resource for 
water sports, nature conservation and informal recreation.  The area also 
benefits from the historic Grand Union Canal as a cultural, recreational and 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

16



wildlife asset.  The countryside around the West Northamptonshire towns is 
itself a wider recreational resource.  

4.40 Silverstone Circuit is a year round international sporting attraction and the 
home of Formula 1 until at least 2026.  It draws motorsport enthusiasts from all 
over the country and beyond and reinforces the area’s long tradition in the 
motor sports industry.  It has potential to be a  major economic driver through 
sport based tourism and high technology companies.  

  
4.41 The towns and rural areas within West Northamptonshire have a rich heritage.  

There is a wealth of listed buildings and conservation areas within the towns 
and villages as well as numerous archaeological sites.  The many historic 
houses and associated historic parks and gardens are a significant feature of 
the countryside and in many cases provide a valuable tourism asset.

Future Opportunities   

4.42 West Northamptonshire clearly has much to commend it but there are 
regeneration opportunities for our town centres and the potential to create 
successful and sustainable communities and a high quality living environment 
fit for the 21st century and beyond.

4.43 The key policy directions and strategic development proposals within the JCS
will be the drivers to focus new development to the best advantage of the area 
for its existing resident population and also for future residents, businesses 
and visitors. 

Climate Change 
4.44 Development that aims to secure sustainable communities is designed to 

minimise its impact on the environment and so combat climate change. A 
realistic and serious response to meeting climate change objectives must be 
made through the JCS direction on policies.  Larger scale developments, 
including Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs), provide the opportunity to 
secure exemplary standards of design, renewable or low carbon energy 
generation and through the location of development reduce the need to travel.
All development proposals will need to fully consider climate change adaption 
to meet the vision of sustainable development.   

Infrastructure and Development 
4.45 Historically the provision of infrastructure within West Northamptonshire has

failed to keep pace with and fully support a growing population. Elements of 
the existing infrastructure in the area are already at or close to capacity.  

4.46 Accommodating planned development in the area will require an increase in 
the capacity of the existing infrastructure.  Significant investment is needed in 
public transport, new roads, utilities (including trunk sewer improvements and 
increasing the capacity of water treatment facilities), health, education and 
emergency services.  There is also a requirement for investment in social 
infrastructure such as cultural and community facilities, children’s play spaces 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

17



and libraries, in order to build sustainable communities. It is critical that 
necessary infrastructure is provided in a timely manner. 

Connections
4.47 It is important for economic prosperity and quality of life that people can easily

reach important facilities such as education, employment, healthcare facilities, 
shops and leisure attractions.  At present there are high numbers of car 
journeys within and between urban areas, leading to increasing road 
congestion. 

4.48 Traffic congestion must be addressed and new developments must be well 
connected to towns and services by a choice of transport options, giving 
priority to public transport, walking and cycling.  Connections between 
settlements in West Northamptonshire should also be reinforced.      

Protecting and Building Communities
4.49 Within the rural areas sustainable communities must be maintained, enhanced 

and protected as vital places providing homes and jobs balanced against the 
need to protect the built and natural environments that are so highly valued.

4.50 In the larger urban areas the policies within the JCS must address issues of 
inadequate accessibility to employment and services as well as poor social 
environments.  

Supporting Town Centres 
4.51 The Central Area Action Plan, produced by Northampton Borough Council, 

together with the JCS must work together to ensure that planning policies for 
Northampton central area actively support regeneration projects. The 
Grosvenor Centre/ Greyfriars project in particular, amongst a range of 
redevelopment opportunities, is key to Northampton town centre’s regeneration 
and will ensure Northampton takes its place as the county town and 
destination of choice.  

4.52 There are strong aspirations for Daventry’s town centre to grow and develop to 
support regeneration allied to the town’s growth and as supported through 
Daventry District Council.  Town centre revitalisation at Towcester and 
Brackley are also firmly supported by South Northamptonshire Council to 
ensure they continue to develop as successful town centres delivering services 
and facilities to their communities and surrounding villages.  These aims must 
be supported and policies within the JCS must ensure they can be delivered.     

The Economy 
4.53 The area is attractive to the warehouse and storage industry due to the 

excellent road and rail connections.  However, it is important that the area 
does not become over-reliant on one employment sector and continues to 
provide diverse employment opportunities for its residents.  Provision must be 
made through the JCS to ensure a range of job opportunities can be delivered.   

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

18



4.54 The economy of the rural areas must be supported and rural diversification 
encouraged whilst respecting the environmental quality and character of the 
rural areas. The JCS will help to secure a diverse and vibrant economy, with 
dynamic town centres that support rural economic development through a 
range of local employment opportunities to meet the needs of the existing and 
new population.  

Educational Attainment 
4.55 Northampton and Daventry anticipate a growing student population in their 

schools and colleges.  The University of Northampton also anticipate more 
students.  

4.56 Excellent educational provision for our resident population must be supported 
to encourage high educational attainment within our schools and allowing 
school leavers the opportunity to take advantage of higher learning at the 
University of Northampton and vocational colleges.  In addition, it is noted that 
many graduates presently leave the West Northamptonshire area for jobs 
elsewhere.  Job opportunities within West Northamptonshire must be provided 
to meet aspirations and retain graduates and those with higher qualifications
as a vital part of our economy.

Housing
4.57 Quality and affordable housing must be delivered to create balanced 

communities and to meet the current and future needs of our communities, 
taking into account mix, size and tenure and including the requirements for 
specialised accommodation.  Housing should be sustainable, flexible and well 
designed. 

Green Infrastructure 
4.58 West Northamptonshire has a large rural area and its urban areas have 

important parks and gardens and an existing green infrastructure including 
valuable wetlands. Polices within the JCS are required to protect and enhance 
the existing green infrastructure network and add to it wherever possible.  A
positive response to green infrastructure will improve levels of biodiversity and 
help to progressively reduce the impact of climate change. 

Design 
4.59 West Northamptonshire has a strong cultural heritage shown in its built form 

and its landscape context.  There are numerous conservation areas and listed 
buildings in both the rural and urban areas. 

4.60 This valued historic character must be protected without stifling new and 
innovative design. Our aim is to create an inspiring place to live and work in 
both urban and rural places. Design must also incorporate sustainable building 
techniques to help combat climate change and community safety principles to 
help reduce the opportunity for crime and make our places safer.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

19



Spatial Vision - Where we want to be  

4.61 The Spatial Vision is a vision of where we want to be.  Our vision for West 
Northamptonshire is to embrace new development and the benefits it can bring 
for regeneration, whilst retaining and improving what is good about the area.   

The Joint Core Strategy Vision  

In our vision of the future…

……the area will form an outstanding UK location of choice for diverse employment 
opportunities, high academic and vocational educational attainment, high quality 
housing for all and a superb quality of life for its communities.  The area will blend 
the best of modern cultural urban living with an enhanced network of green spaces 
and high quality parks and gardens.  The rural areas will include vital and tranquil 
villages within its rolling landscapes.  The area’s proximity to London and 
connections to other parts of the UK and beyond will continue to be a great 
economic strength.  The area will be a national example of low environmental impact 
development in response to climate change and high biodiversity and habitat 
protection. 

With new development focused on the four towns of Northampton, Daventry, 
Towcester and Brackley regeneration initiatives and successful and expanded 
economies will flourish. Communities will be diverse and sustainable and social 
cohesion and integration will be strong. Services, facilities and infrastructure will 
support the communities adding to the quality of life, and supporting their residents 
and visitors.

Northampton as the principal urban area will be a beacon of high quality urban 
design with an outstanding public realm. It will successfully blend its distinctive 
historic character with innovative new development both of which will enhance its 
riverside setting. It will be repositioned as the key economic driver at the cultural 
heart of Northamptonshire.  It will enhance its role as the leading retail, 
entertainment, employment, health and learning centre, based upon a thriving mixed 
economy and the services it offers, with continuing pride in its theatres, museums 
and professional sports teams. Northampton will provide the focus and heart for its 
well integrated neighbourhood communities.  Northampton will be linked with the 
reinvigorated towns of Daventry, Towcester and Brackley.  

Daventry will be a vibrant historic market town with a population approaching 
40,000.  It will offer a thriving town centre which values its historic assets, with
attractive retail and leisure opportunities, high quality public realm and a robust 
commercial core moving strongly towards a well developed office sector. Local 
economic strengths in engineering and sustainable construction will have been 
developed. It will provide an enhanced walking and cycling environment throughout 
the town and it will have strong connections with Northampton.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

20



Towcester will have a successful historic town centre that is the focus of its rural 
catchment.  The town will retain its visual and physical connections to the landscape 
through Easton Neston Park, nearby watermeadows and Towcester Racecourse.  It 
will provide a diverse economy based on high technology, tourism and leisure.  

Brackley will be the major service provider for the residents of the town and the 
surrounding countryside.  It will provide knowledge based, research and high 
technology based jobs and leisure facilities as well as a distinctive and vibrant 
historic town centre which will offer both retail opportunities and community services
and facilities. 

Silverstone Circuit will continue to be at the pinnacle of international motor sport 
venues. It will foster high technology motor sport business at the forefront of 
technology with a motorsport cluster located nearby. 

Daventry International Rail Freight Terminal (DIRFT) will maintain its role as an 
internationally significant centre for rail connected strategic distribution.  It will be 
exemplary in the field of sustainable logistics with links to the University of 
Northampton.  It will be well connected by public and sustainable transport to the 
surrounding workforce.

Our rural areas will support a network of vibrant rural communities.  Villages will 
retain their local distinctiveness and character, providing affordable homes for local 
people set within a beautiful landscape.  The countryside will support a diverse rural 
economy including leisure and tourism through its waterways, country houses, parks 
and woodlands.
  

Spatial Objectives – How we get there 

4.62 To ensure our vision is achieved, the following 15 Spatial Objectives have 
been identified and provide specific direction to the policies of the JCS.

4.63 To enable us to monitor how effectively the objectives (and therefore the 
vision) is being achieved; specific targets have been set for each objective.  
More detail regarding the targets can be found in the Monitoring and 
Implementation Framework in section 17 of this JCS.  

Objective 1 - Climate Change 
To minimise demand for resources and mitigate and adapt to climate change, 
by:  

Promoting sustainable design and construction in all new development;
Ensuring strategic development allocations are located and designed so as 
to be resilient to future climate change and risk of flooding;
Encouraging renewable energy production in appropriate locations; and
Ensuring new development promotes the use of sustainable travel modes.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

21



Objective 2 - Infrastructure and Development 
To protect and enhance existing local services and to ensure social, physical 
and green infrastructure is adequately provided to meet the needs of people 
and business in a timely and sustainable manner in response to regeneration 
and new development in West Northamptonshire. 

Objective 3 - Connections
To reduce the need to travel, shorten travel distances and make sustainable 
travel a priority across West Northamptonshire by maximising the use of 
alternative travel modes.  In so doing, combat congestion in our main towns 
and town centres, reduce carbon emissions and address social exclusion for 
those in both rural and urban areas who do not have access to a private car. 

Objective 4 – Protecting and Building Urban Communities 
To ensure new development in urban areas effectively supports and links new 
and existing communities physically and socially, to achieve social cohesion 
and address the areas of deprivation identified in parts of Northampton and 
Daventry.  

Objective 5 – Supporting Northampton Town Centre
To support the regeneration of Northampton’s town centre by making it the 
focus of high quality retail, employment, leisure and cultural development at the 
heart of Northamptonshire and to support the delivery of the Northampton
Central Area Action Plan.

Objective 6 – Supporting Daventry Town Centre
To support the regeneration of Daventry town centre through planned growth 
and infrastructure delivery.   

Objective 7 – Supporting Towcester and Brackley’s Town Centres
To support Towcester and Brackley in their rural service centre roles to ensure 
their communities are self-sufficient sustainable places and the towns are the 
focus of services and facilities for surrounding villages.

Objective 8 - Economic Advantage 
To strengthen and diversify West Northamptonshire’s economy by taking 
advantage of our internationally well-placed location, strategic transport 
network and proximity to London and Birmingham.   

Objective 9 – Specialist Business Development
To support and develop opportunities for specialist employment clusters and 
business development focused on a low carbon economy.  

Objective 10 - Educational Attainment 
To raise educational achievement and the skills base of our communities 
through supporting the development of West Northamptonshire’s learning 
infrastructure and strengthening the link between local businesses and local 
schools, Moulton and Northampton Colleges and the University of 
Northampton.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

22



Objective 11 - Housing 
To provide a range of housing in sustainable locations to ensure all residents 
have access to a home that they can afford and that meets their needs.  
Housing development will be focused at the most sustainable location of 
Northampton, supported by Daventry and Towcester and Brackley in their roles 
as rural service centres with limited development in the rural areas to provide 
for local needs and support local services. 

Objective 12 – Protecting and Supporting Rural Communities
To protect and support rural communities to ensure they thrive and remain vital. 

Objective 13 – Rural Diversification and Employment
To support rural diversification and rural employment opportunities, in particular 
those related to agriculture, horticulture and forestry.

Objective 14 - Green Infrastructure 
To protect natural species present in West Northamptonshire and enhance the 
existing strategic green infrastructure network, including biodiversity corridors, 
by incorporating and designing these into Sustainable Urban Extensions 
(SUEs) at Northampton, Daventry, Towcester and Brackley. 

Objective 15 - High Quality Design  
To achieve high quality design in both rural and urban areas that takes account 
of local character and heritage and provides a safe, healthy and attractive place 
for residents, visitors and businesses.

4.64 The next chapter sets out the Spatial Strategy and gives the scale and 
distribution of development across the West Northamptonshire area. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

23



5.0 Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram

Introduction

5.1 The spatial strategy flows from the spatial portrait, vision and objectives in 
Section 4 and provides the framework for the spatial policies in the rest of the 
Joint Core Strategy (JCS) and presented on the Key Diagram.

5.2 The spatial strategy outlines the hierarchy of places and centres within these 
places (i.e. the towns of Northampton, Daventry, Towcester and Brackley, and 
the rural areas) and the principles for the distribution of development between 
the places.    This includes maximising the use of land and buildings within the 
existing urban areas of the towns as well as developing new sustainable urban 
extensions to the towns.  The spatial strategy identifies how much new 
development will be provided and when, i.e. the overall phasing of 
development.  The spatial strategy also sets out the principles of sustainable 
development that all development will follow in order to achieve the vision of 
West Northamptonshire, particularly in response to climate change. 

5.3 The delivery mechanisms that will be used in order to fulfil the spatial strategy 
are set out in Section 11. 

The Key Diagram

5.4 Figure 2 in Section 20 at the end of this Joint Core Strategy shows the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Key Diagram and Figure 3 shows an 
enlargement of part of that Key Diagram.

5.5 The Key Diagram for West Northamptonshire provides:
a strategic picture of the distribution and scale of development within West 
Northamptonshire including regeneration priorities in the towns and the 
location of the sustainable urban extensions;
new public transport and road linkages; and
the future pattern of green infrastructure. 

Hierarchy of Places

5.6 Before determining the principles for the distribution of development between 
the places in West Northamptonshire it is important to establish the roles of the 
places and the relationship of those places to each other and other places 
outside the area.  The spatial portrait in Section 4 of this JCS has already 
described the characteristics of the four towns and the rural areas in West 
Northamptonshire and their relationship to other areas.  In the future the 
existing roles of the towns will continue as described below but in all cases the 
emphasis will be on enhancing and strengthening these roles to achieve the 
spatial vision set out in Section 4.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

24



Northampton – Principal Urban Area

5.7 As the largest urban area and the main commercial, administrative, cultural and 
retail centre for Northamptonshire, Northampton has an important influence 
across the whole of the county and beyond. Northampton has a particular 
influence in the western half of the county.  Due to its size, function and location 
in the national context, the town will continue to generate economic growth and 
attract in-migration.  Northampton’s Central Area, as the heart of the 
Northampton Principal Urban Area and the county of Northamptonshire, will 
enhance its existing role so that by 2026 it performs a city centre role.

Daventry – Sub-Regional Centre

5.8 As the second largest urban area in West Northamptonshire Daventry town 
provides a range of services to support its own needs as well as the rural areas 
around it.  It also provides opportunities for economic growth and 
diversification.  Daventry town will continue to provide this complimentary role 
to Northampton without prejudicing Northampton’s role as the principal urban 
area.   

Towcester and Brackley – Rural Service Centres  

5.9 Both Towcester and Brackley towns’ current roles are to provide local services 
and facilities for their own populations and the rural areas around them.  These 
roles will continue and will be strengthened and enhanced.

The Rural Areas

5.10 It is recognised that many of the villages in the rural areas play an important 
role in providing local services and facilities, including employment 
opportunities, both for the village itself and the wider rural areas.  Furthermore, 
some villages also provide facilities and services for the nearby urban 
population too.  Clearly these roles will continue but the emphasis will be on 
providing for local needs and basic services and facilities rather than serving a 
higher order function that should be the role of the Rural Service Centres or 
even the Sub-Regional Centre or the Principal Urban Area.

Development in the Towns and Adjoining the Towns

5.11 The primary choices with respect to the distribution of development in West 
Northamptonshire must be made in the context of the challenges the area faces 
and with a view to capitalising upon its strengths.  In order to deliver vibrant and 
vital towns, together with sustained rural areas, the pattern of development 
must be supportive of these objectives and have regard to the hierarchy of 
places.  Piecemeal development spread around the edges of the urban areas
would increase the load to the current road and utilities infrastructure, without 
bringing forward the economies of scale that would make the provision of 
further infrastructure cost effective and therefore deliverable.  Such incremental 
development is more difficult to serve with the range of community facilities 
needed to support the increase in population.  Consequently, the spatial 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

25



strategy is one of concentrating additional development within the existing 
towns as far as possible and in a small number of large development areas, 
called sustainable urban extensions.  This will maximise the use of previously 
developed land and vacant and under-used buildings within West 
Northamptonshire’s urban areas, whilst also enabling managed greenfield land 
releases where they meet the Plan’s objectives.  In all circumstances high 
quality design will be required that reflects the local character.  Policy S1 below 
sets out the strategy for the broad distribution of development across West 
Northamptonshire.

Making the Best Use of Previously-Developed Land and Vacant and 
Under-Used Buildings 

5.12 In meeting development needs opportunities to reuse suitable previously 
developed land and vacant and under-used buildings within the existing urban 
areas and other sustainable locations should be maximised without 
undermining the quality of the environment within the urban areas and having 
regard to the nature of previous uses, such as contamination, which can restrict 
re-use.  Significant progress has already been made in the plan area to identify 
and re-use previously-developed land and vacant and under-used buildings for 
housing and other uses including leisure, retail and offices.  Northampton, in 
particular, has already successfully brought substantial areas of previously 
developed land and buildings back into use in recent years including the 
Northampton Cattlemarket, Simpson Barracks and Manfield Hospital.  
Opportunities to re-use previously-developed land and vacant and under-used 
buildings will continue to be supported in West Northamptonshire, particularly in 
the town centres including Northampton’s Central Area.  Specific policies that 
promote regeneration and revitalisation of the urban areas, particularly the town 
centres, are included in each of the town sections in the Places part of this 
JCS. High quality design, including higher densities where appropriate, can 
also contribute to making efficient use of greenfield land as well as previously 
developed land and vacant and under-used buildings.  Policy H1 in the Housing 
section of this JCS provides more guidance on housing density and mix and 
type of dwellings.

5.13 Analysis of past development and potential sources of housing land suggests 
that between 2001 and 2026 around 30% of new housing in West 
Northamptonshire could be built on previously-developed land.  This target will 
be annually reviewed.

Development in the Rural Areas

5.14 The JCS recognises that there is a need for limited development in the rural 
area, but aims to ensure that the scale of this development is consistent with 
the objective of meeting local needs and supporting local services.  To this end 
the overall housing provision set out in Policies S3 and S7 in this Spatial 
Strategy includes an allowance for development in the rural areas.  Section 16 
of this JCS provides for a rural settlement hierarchy which will enable the 
provision of new homes, jobs and services needed in rural areas, whilst 
ensuring that new development is focused in sustainable settlements whilst 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

26



protecting the overall rural character of the area including the tranquillity of 
areas1.

POLICY S1 – THE DISTRIBUTION OF DEVELOPMENT

DEVELOPMENT AND ECONOMIC ACTIVITY WILL BE DISTRIBUTED ON 
THE FOLLOWING BASIS:

A) DEVELOPMENT WILL BE CONCENTRATED PRIMARILY IN AND 
ADJOINING THE PRINCIPAL URBAN AREA OF NORTHAMPTON

B) APPROPRIATE DEVELOPMENT OF A LESSER SCALE WILL BE 
LOCATED IN AND ADJOINING THE SUB-REGIONAL CENTRE OF 
DAVENTRY TOWN

C) THE DEVELOPMENT NEEDS OF THE RURAL SERVICE CENTRES 
OF TOWCESTER AND BRACKLEY AND THE RURAL AREAS WILL 
ALSO BE PROVIDED FOR

D) NEW DEVELOPMENT IN THE RURAL AREAS WILL BE LIMITED 
WITH THE EMPHASIS BEING ON:

MAINTAINING THE DISTINCTIVE CHARACTER AND VITALITY 
OF RURAL COMMUNITIES; 
SHORTENING JOURNEYS AND FACILITATING ACCESS TO 
JOBS AND SERVICES;
STRENGTHENING RURAL ENTERPRISE AND LINKAGES 
BETWEEN SETTLEMENTS AND THEIR HINTERLANDS; AND
RESPECTING THE QUALITY OF TRANQUILITY.

IN ASSESSING THE SUITABILITY OF SITES FOR DEVELOPMENT 
PRIORITY WILL BE GIVEN TO MAKING BEST USE OF PREVIOUSLY 
DEVELOPED LAND AND VACANT AND UNDER-USED BUILDINGS IN 
URBAN OR OTHER SUSTAINABLE LOCATIONS CONTRIBUTING TO THE 
ACHIEVEMENT OF A WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE TARGET OF 30% OF 
ADDITIONAL DWELLINGS ON PREVIOUSLY DEVELOPED LAND OR 
THROUGH CONVERSIONS.

The Hierarchy of Centres within the Places

5.15 Planning Policy Statement 42 requires local planning authorities to define a 
network and hierarchy of centres that are resilient to anticipated future 
economic changes and that meet the needs of their catchment population.  
Within the West Northamptonshire area there is already a clear hierarchy of 
centres at the upper tiers with Northampton town centre as the largest, followed 
by Daventry town centre, and then Towcester and Brackley as smaller town 
centres.

1 Campaign to Protect Rural England (2007) – Tranquillity Map for Northamptonshire
2 PPS4 – Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth 2009 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

27



5.16 The scale of retail, leisure and office development within the centres must be 
appropriate to the role and function of the centre and the catchment area it 
serves.  District and local centres serve more local needs and consequently 
their catchment areas will be much smaller than that of a town centre.  District 
and local centres should only support a scale of development that serves an 
appropriate catchment area, and should not have a detrimental impact on other 
centres. PPS4 gives a definition of district and local centres. 

5.17 Northampton town centre has suffered greatly from a decentralisation of retail, 
leisure and employment uses and there is a need to redress this imbalance as 
a critical strategic issue for the JCS to ensure the vision for Northampton is not 
jeopardized.  Policy S2 seeks to focus new town centre development firmly 
back to Northampton town centre and the central area and Policy S9 seeks to 
focus retail development on the town centre.

5.18 Town centre, district centre and local centre boundaries will be provided in 
subsequent Development Plan Documents (DPDs).  The Northampton Central 
Area Action Plan proposals map will identify the town centre boundary for 
Northampton, the Daventry Town DPD proposals map will identify the town 
centre boundary for Daventry and the West Northamptonshire Site Allocations 
DPD proposals map will identify town centre boundaries for Towcester, 
Brackley.  District and Local Centre boundaries for Northampton will be 
identified in the West Northamptonshire Site Allocations DPD.  District and 
Local Centre identification for Daventry, Towcester and Brackley will be made 
in the West Northamptonshire Site Allocations DPD.    

5.19 Whilst town centres must be the focus for new retail, office, leisure and cultural 
development there is also a need to ensure that local convenience shopping, 
services and facilities are met within the wider urban areas to deliver 
sustainable patterns of development, reduce the need to travel by car, shorten 
distances travelled and so respond positively to climate change.   

5.20 Policy R1 in Section 16 sets out a spatial strategy for the rural areas where 
development will be guided by a rural settlement hierarchy with the specific 
villages in each level of the hierarchy determined in future DPDs. Policy R1 
advises that the detailed hierarchy must consider existing service provision and
any opportunities to improve service provision to enhance the sustainability of 
the settlement.   

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

28



POLICY S2 – HIERARCHY OF CENTRES 

THE FOLLOWING HIERARCHY OF CENTRES IS IDENTIFIED:

REGIONAL TOWN  
CENTRE

NORTHAMPTON 

SUB REGIONAL 
TOWN CENTRE 

DAVENTRY

RURAL SERVICE 
TOWN CENTRES 

TOWCESTER,
BRACKLEY

DISTRICT CENTRES NORTHAMPTON
WESTON FAVELL,
KINGSTHORPE

LOCAL CENTRES NORTHAMPTON
ST JAMES END,
FAR COTTON,
WELLINGBOROUGH ROAD (ABINGTON), 
KETTERING ROAD (KINGSLEY) , AND 
LOCAL CENTRES TO BE PROVIDED 
WITHIN SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
EXTENSIONS

THE VITALITY AND VIABILITY OF THESE CENTRES SHOULD BE 
MAINTAINED AND ENHANCED COMMENSURATE WITH THEIR ROLE AND 
FUNCTION.  

THE SCALE OF NEW DEVELOPMENT AT CENTRES BELOW 
NORTHAMPTON TOWN CENTRE IN THE HIERARCHY MUST NOT PUT AT 
RISK FUTURE INVESTMENT IN NORTHAMPTON TOWN CENTRE OR THE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE NORTHAMPTON CENTRAL AREA ACTION 
PLAN. 

The Amount of Housing Required

5.21 The East Midlands Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) sets out a housing 
provision for West Northamptonshire of 62,125 dwellings to be provided 
between 2001-2026.  Even before the economic downturn in 2008 the RSS 
targets were challenging.  Housing completions compared with the RSS targets 
were approximately 4,500 dwellings less than the RSS targets for the period 
2001-2010.  Furthermore, the RSS target is due to increase by 325 per annum 
from 2011.  The current economic situation has rendered the achievement of
the RSS housing rates unattainable despite on-going endeavours locally to 
increase the housing supply.  Even the meeting of predicted housing “need” 
based on the natural increase of the existing population will be extremely 
challenging, and will be dependant upon the development of new funding and 
delivery mechanisms nationally.  In preparing this Plan it has been assumed 
that such new funding and delivery mechanisms will come forward, even 
though at this time it is not possible to say what form they will take.  In this 
context work has been undertaken to establish an achievable and reasonable 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

29



level of housing provision.  Full details of the methodology used are set out in 
the housing provision technical paper.  As a result of this work the housing 
provision total of 50,153 dwellings for West Northamptonshire has been 
identified.

5.22 Table 1 below sets out the housing requirement by Borough/ District, the 
housing completions between 2001 and 2010, outstanding planning 
permissions and approvals in principle at 1 April 2010 and the remaining 
requirement between 2010 and the end of the Plan period, 2026.  Table 1 
shows the housing requirement rounded to the nearest 10 dwellings.

Table 1 - Housing Requirement 2001-2026 (Rounded)

Borough/ District Total Housing
Requirement
2001-2026

Completions 
2001-2006

Completions 
2006-2010

Outstanding 
Planning 
Permissions 
and Approvals 
in Principle at 
1 April 2010

Remaining 
Requirement 
2010-2026

Daventry District 11,880 1,720 970 1,830 7,360

Northampton 
Borough

26,220 5,180 3,850 9,190 8,000

South 
Northamptonshire
District

12,050 2,980 980 2,080 6,010

Total 50,150 9,880 5,800 13,100 21,370

5.23 Of the new housing provision requirement of 50,153 dwellings, 31.3% was 
completed between 2001 and 2010; 26.1% is already committed through 
planning consents, or “Approved in principle” and 42.6% remains to be 
provided – this is shown as the remaining requirement.

5.24 Overall, the annualised housing completion for 2001-2010 was 1,743 dwellings, 
and the requirement for the remainder of the Plan period is 2,154 dwellings per 
year.

5.25 Northampton Borough is unable to physically accommodate its own housing 
needs.  This has been identified since January 1992 when the 
Northamptonshire County Structure Plan Alteration No 1 was approved.  This
showed 1,000 dwellings to be provided in both Daventry District and South 
Northamptonshire related to the growth of Northampton.  Significant levels of 
development have continued to be provided for and built within Northampton 
Borough’s administrative area.  However, the Borough’s housing needs are
being, and will increasingly be, met outside its administrative area with the 
development of Grange Park in South Northamptonshire, the allocation in 
Daventry District’s Adopted Local Plan (now a Saved policy) of North of 
Whitehills (also known as Buckton Fields) and the planning consents at 
Wootton Fields Extension and Norwood Farm in South Northamptonshire 
district.  The housing requirement for Northampton shown in Table 1 above is 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

30



essentially the minimum housing requirement needed.  This means that there is 
a clear need for Northampton Borough Council and its neighbouring authorities 
to work together to ensure Northampton’s housing needs can be planned and 
provided in a sustainable way for all. This joint approach is also important as 
the residents of those areas adjoining Northampton will be largely reliant on 
Northampton’s services placing an extra burden on it.

5.26 Since 2001 9,030 dwellings have been built in Northampton Borough 
administrative area and at 1 April 2010 a further 9,190 dwellings had an 
outstanding planning permission or were approved in principle.  Evidence 
shows that a further 1,500 dwellings can be provided using previously-
developed land and buildings, sometimes referred to as urban capacity.  This 
means that 18,220 dwellings are already built or identified for development in 
Northampton Borough.  In addition a further 2,963 dwellings have been built
since 2001 or have outstanding planning permission or approval in principle at 
1 April 2010 in South Northamptonshire District to meet the needs of 
Northampton. In addition this JCS allocates four Sustainable Urban Extensions 
within Northampton Borough providing a total of 6,500 dwellings.  In total 
Northampton Borough can provide 26,220 dwellings of its total requirement 
which along with the already built or consented 2,963 dwellings in South 
Northamptonshire leaves a shortfall of 4,500 dwellings that needs to be 
provided outside the Borough boundary.  This JCS has allocated three 
Sustainable Urban Extensions adjoining Northampton’s urban area but in 
Daventry and South Northamptonshire Districts to meet this requirement. In 
recognition of the importance of ensuring that Northampton’s housing needs 
are provided in a sustainable way the extent of the area in which Northampton’s 
housing needs, including affordable housing, will be accommodated is identified 
in this JCS as the Northampton Related Development Area.  

5.27 The Northampton Related Development Area is defined as:

the whole of Northampton Borough Council’s administrative area;
those neighbouring parts of Daventry District and South Northamptonshire 
Councils’ administrative areas where development ‘related to the growth of 
Northampton’ has already been completed or has planning permission or an 
approval in principle; and 
those neighbouring parts of Daventry District and South Northamptonshire 
Councils’ administrative areas that are allocated for Sustainable Urban 
Extensions. It is recognised that some essential infrastructure, for example 
parts of the North-West Bypass, will take place outside the Northampton 
Related Development Area. 

5.28 The Northampton Related Development Area is identified on the Proposals 
Map, Figure 5 in Section 20 of this JCS. It is also illustrated on Figure 4 in 
Section 20.  Policy S4 sets out the scale of housing development to be 
provided in the Northampton Related Development Area. 

5.29 Policy S3 below sets out the scale of housing development to be provided in 
West Northamptonshire by district and below district level over the Plan period 
2001-2026.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

31



POLICY S3: SCALE AND DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

PROVISION WILL BE MADE FOR 50,150 NET ADDITIONAL DWELLINGS IN
THE PLAN AREA DURING THE PLAN PERIOD TO 2026.  

THIS PROVISION WILL BE DISTRIBUTED BETWEEN THE BOROUGH AND 
DISTRICT COUNCILS AS FOLLOWS:

DAVENTRY DISTRICT 11,880

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH 26,220

SOUTH NORTHAMPTONSHIRE 
DISTRICT

12,050

BELOW THE BOROUGH AND DISTRICT LEVEL HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 
WILL BE DISTRIBUTED IN THE FOLLOWING WAY:

DISTRICT/ 
BOROUGH

SETTLEMENT/ 
AREA

NET ADDITIONAL 
HOUSING 
REQUIREMENT 
2001-2026

OF WHICH 
HOUSING 
COMPLETIONS 
2001-2010

DAVENTRY
TOWNS DAVENTRY 5,820 1,310

RURAL AREAS DAVENTRY 
RURAL

2,310 1,380

NORTHAMPTON 
RELATED 
DEVELOPMENT

NORTHAMPTON 3,750 -

DAVENTRY TOTAL 11,880 2,690
NORTHAMPTON
TOWNS NORTHAMPTON 26,220 9,030

NORTHAMPTON 
TOTAL

26,220 9,030

SOUTH NORTHAMPTONSHIRE
TOWNS BRACKLEY 2,460 420

TOWCESTER 2,260 480

SOUTH NORTHANTS 
RURAL AREAS

SOUTH 
NORTHANTS

3,620 1,630

NORTHAMPTON 
RELATED 
DEVELOPMENT

NORTHAMPTON 3,710 1,430

SOUTH NORTHANTS 
TOTAL

12,050 3,960

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE
WEST NORTHANTS 
TOTAL

50,150 15,680

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

32



POLICY S4: NORTHAMPTON RELATED DEVELOPMENT AREA 

PROVISION WILL BE MADE FOR 33,680 NET ADDITIONAL DWELLINGS 
WITHIN THE NORTHAMPTON RELATED DEVELOPMENT AREA IN THE
PERIOD 2001 TO 2026.  NO FURTHER DEVELOPMENT BEYOND THE 
NORTHAMPTON RELATED DEVELOPMENT AREA WILL BE PERMITTED 
IN THE PLAN PERIOD THAT RELATES TO NORTHAMPTON’S HOUSING 
NEEDS.  

THE NORTHAMPTON RELATED DEVELOPMENT AREA WILL BE 
REVIEWED AS PART OF ANY REVIEW OF THE HOUSING REQUIREMENT 
FOR WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE OR ANY OF ITS CONSTITUENT 
ADMINISTRATIVE AREAS.

THE NORTHAMPTON RELATED DEVELOPMENT AREA IS SHOWN ON 
THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5). 

Sustainable Urban Extensions

5.30 It is not physically possible or appropriate to accommodate all of West 
Northamptonshire’s needs within the existing urban areas of the four towns of 
Northampton, Daventry, Towcester and Brackley.  Dispersing significant 
development to the rural areas would also not be appropriate as it would 
increase pressure on the rural environment overall and particularly as a result 
of the increased need to travel, usually by car, without addressing the needs of 
the towns themselves.  Consequently the JCS focuses development that 
cannot be accommodated within the existing urban areas or towns in 
sustainable urban extensions.  Sustainable urban extensions are defined as 
planned expansion of a city or town that can contribute to creating more 
sustainable patterns of development when located in the right place, with well-
planned infrastructure including access to a range of facilities and when 
developed at appropriate densities.  Full details of the locations, form and 
requirements for the 11 Sustainable Urban Extensions allocated in this Plan are 
set out in the Places section of this JCS.  The full list of the 11 Sustainable 
Urban Extensions is set out in Policy S5 below. The planned amount of 
housing and employment provision is also set out in Policy S5.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

33



POLICY S5 – SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSIONS

OUTSIDE THE EXISTING URBAN AREAS DEVELOPMENT WILL BE 
FOCUSED ON SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSIONS TO THE URBAN 
AREAS. 
  
SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSIONS WILL BE PROVIDED AT:

NORTHAMPTON
NORTHAMPTON KINGS HEATH (3,500 DWELLINGS, 10 HA 
EMPLOYMENT)
NORTHAMPTON NORTH (2,000 DWELLINGS, 7 HA EMPLOYMENT)
NORTHAMPTON NORTH OF WHITEHILLS (1,000 DWELLINGS, LOCAL 
EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES)
NORTHAMPTON SOUTH (1,000 DWELLINGS, LOCAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES) 
NORTHAMPTON SOUTH OF BRACKMILLS (1,000 DWELLINGS, LOCAL 
EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES) 
NORTHAMPTON UPTON PARK (1,000 DWELLINGS, LOCAL 
EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES) 
NORTHAMPTON WEST (1,500 DWELLINGS, LOCAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES) 

DAVENTRY
DAVENTRY NORTH EAST (2,500 DWELLINGS, LOCAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES)

TOWCESTER
TOWCESTER SOUTH (1,500 DWELLINGS, 1,500 JOBS)

BRACKLEY
BRACKLEY EAST (380 DWELLINGS, 1,000 JOBS)
BRACKLEY NORTH (1,380 DWELLINGS, LOCAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES)

THE BROAD LOCATION OF EACH SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION IS 
SHOWN ON THE KEY DIAGRAM (FIGURES 2 AND 3).  THE BOUNDARY OF 
EACH SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION IS SHOWN ON THE 
PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5). 

The Phasing of Housing Development

5.31 Achievement of the housing provision is dependant upon necessary supporting
infrastructure coming forward in a timely manner.  Again, some of this will be 
challenging in the current economic climate, and phasing has been set out
below in Policy S6 which will permit this to happen providing the economy 
improves as the Government expects.  The housing trajectory in Appendix 3 of 
this JCS sets out the phasing of the housing development identified in this Plan 
on an annual basis over the period 2010-2026.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

34



POLICY S6 – PHASING OF HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

PROVISION WILL BE MADE FOR THE FOLLOWING TOTAL 
REQUIREMENT AND RATES OF HOUSING DEVELOPMENT:

DISTRICT 2010-
2011

2011-
2016

2016-2021 2021-2026

DAVENTRY 200 1,410 3,950 3,630
NORTHAMPTON 510 4,800 6,610 5,270
SOUTH
NORTHANTS

200 2,000 3,640 2,260

TOTAL 910 8,210 14,200 11,160

The Number of Jobs Required

5.32 The East Midlands Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS)3 sets out a ‘reference 
value’ for jobs growth of 37,200 jobs for the period to 2001 to 2021. This figure 
is to be used for monitoring and review and not as a jobs target.  The reference 
value for jobs was provided to support the level of housing growth as set out in 
the RSS for the same period. 

5.33 For the period 2001 to 2008 West Northamptonshire showed strong 
employment growth against the RSS reference value.  This reflected a picture 
of strong economic growth nationally at that time. The area delivered jobs 
slightly in excess of this annualised target largely in the B1 office sector and the 
B8 warehouse/distribution sector  both of which made up for job losses in the 
B2 manufacturing sector, again mirroring the national decline in this sector.

5.34 The housing provision of 50,150 dwellings for the period 2001 to 2026 allows 
for a more limited housing growth than that suggested in the RSS based on an 
achievable delivery of housing within the plan period.  The housing provision 
accounts largely for the natural growth of the existing resident population.  As a 
consequence the economically active element of the population will not be as 
extensive as anticipated if the full delivery of the RSS housing requirement be 
delivered. With a reduced housing provision the labour force associated with 
the population to 2026 will be reduced and consequently the number of jobs 
required will be reduced from the RSS reference value. 

5.35 In order to maintain a broad balance between the provision of homes and jobs 
a new level of jobs increase has been calculated on the basis of the level of 
population increase and the likely profile of that population the details of which 
are included in a technical paper entitled ‘Labour Force and Job Numbers for 
West Northamptonshire’. A jobs reference value of 16,000 net new jobs to be 
delivered across the West Northamptonshire area has been identified for the 
period 2010 - 2026.  It is considered that this reference value, if used as a 
guide for monitoring purposes, will provide a sustainable balance in relation to 

3 East Midlands Regional Plan, March 2009

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

35



the proposed housing delivery and jobs provision. However, with anticipated 
job losses due to the economic recession, in the short term, provision of 
additional jobs over and above this target is likely to be required to make up for 
jobs lost.

5.36 The Councils within the plan area are working closely with a variety of 
organisations such as West Northamptonshire Development Corporation, 
(WNDC), Northamptonshire Enterprise Limited (NEL) and with the South East 
Midlands Local Enterprise Partnership (SEMLEP) to support the growth of new 
and existing businesses and the creation of new jobs.

5.37 West Northamptonshire has an existing potential supply of employment 
provision in the form of planning applications and available sites to cover the 
first five years of the plan period following adoption and probably beyond4.  In 
addition to which sites of national importance such as Daventry International 
Rail Freight Terminal (DIRFT) and Silverstone Circuit have the potential to bring 
forward further jobs growth over the plan period to 2026 but which are related 
to a wider as well as local area for employment catchment.

5.38 For the period 2016 to 2026 jobs are likely to be created through renewal and 
regeneration of existing employment areas for B use, and jobs growth in the 
office and non-B sector jobs (such as health within the central areas of 
Northampton and Daventry). In addition DIRFT Phase 2 extension will 
commence delivery of jobs (approximately 2,000) as will Silverstone Circuit 
(approximately 2,500 jobs).  It is anticipated that the first five years of the plan 
from adoption (2010 to 2016) will still be in a recessionary mode but leading in 
to economic recovery.  Housing provision is likely to be subdued in this period 
and therefore jobs growth will similarly be suppressed.  

POLICY S7 – PROVISION OF JOBS   

PROVISION WILL BE MADE FOR A MINIMUM NET INCREASE OF 16,000
JOBS IN THE PERIOD 2010 - 2026 IN ORDER TO MAINTAIN A BROAD 
BALANCE OVER TIME BETWEEN HOMES AND JOBS AND TO MAINTAIN
A DIVERSE ECONOMIC BASE.

The Distribution of Jobs 

5.39 West Northamptonshire incorporates contrasting districts in terms of 
employment. Northampton is a key employment location which attracts
workers from the surrounding districts of South Northamptonshire, Daventry,
Kettering, Wellingborough and beyond. However, the creation of large out-of-
town employment areas has left Northampton town centre with fewer 
employment opportunities, especially in the office sector.  The policies within 
this JCS and the Northampton Central Area Action Plan are focused on 
securing new office, retail and leisure development within Northampton town 
centre and its central area in order to boost its economy, vitality and vibrancy.

4 Roger Tymn (July 2010) West Northamptonshire Employment Land Study  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

36



5.40 Daventry has traditionally attracted the manufacturing and warehouse 
employment sectors and has remained reasonably resilient to the recent 
economic down-turn. Daventry District Council is seeking a step change in its 
town centre and central area offer in order to support housing growth, reverse 
some of the out commuting, boost the town centre and widen the office sector 
job opportunities.  Through the Daventry Masterplan and Daventry Vision 
proposals Daventry District Council envisage a revitalisation of office, retail and 
leisure uses within Daventry town’s central area.  

5.41 South Northamptonshire, like Daventry, is a largely rural district and struggles 
with the level of out commuting and has a low job density. South 
Northamptonshire has stated in their Economic Development Strategy that they 
wish to address the issue of out commuting and the impact this has on the 
sustainability of its urban and rural settlements. South Northamptonshire 
therefore needs to address the level of out commuting by providing 
employment opportunities which meet the professional profile of their resident 
workforce. 

5.42 With Northampton as the key economic driver for West Northamptonshire and 
beyond the town is rightly the focus for jobs growth.  These will be generated 
primarily through the town centre redevelopment, through local employment 
provision at the Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs) and through a new 
Technology Realm allocation.

5.43 Daventry will experience growth within the plan period although growth is 
dependent on infrastructure provision.  Housing growth for Daventry will come 
forward primarily through the Daventry North East Sustainable Urban Extension 
allocated for 2,500 dwellings within the plan period.  Employment provision will 
take place through town centre regeneration and for local employment at 
Monksmoor and Daventry North East SUE.  

5.44 South Northamptonshire will experience a fall in its labour force due to an aging 
population and therefore its job requirements are likewise affected.  However, 
to reverse trends of out commuting the district is seeking to support its existing 
high performance engineering and motor sport clusters and support further 
growth in home working and leisure and tourism. 

POLICY S8 – DISTRIBUTION OF JOBS 

THE MAJORITY OF NEW JOB GROWTH WILL BE CONCENTRATED 
WITHIN THE PRINCIPAL URBAN AREA OF NORTHAMPTON THROUGH: 

RENEWAL AND REGENERATION OF EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
SITES AS SET OUT IN POLICY E1;
OFFICE AND LEISURE DEVELOPMENT IN THE CENTRAL AREA 
FOLLOWING A SEQUENTIAL APPROACH AS SET OUT IN POLICY 
E2;
PROVISION OF A TECHNOLOGY REALM AS SET OUT IN POLICY 
E3; AND  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

37



LOCAL EMPLOYMENT PROVISION WITHIN SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
EXTENSIONS AS SET OUT IN THE NORTHAMPTON SUSTAINABLE 
URBAN EXTENSION POLICIES.  

EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES IN DAVENTRY WILL BE BROADENED 
BY PROVISION OF:  

RENEWAL AND REGENERATION OF EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
SITES AS SET OUT IN POLICY E1; 
OFFICE AND LEISURE DEVELOPMENT IN THE CENTRAL AREA AS 
SET OUT IN POLICY E2; AND 
LOCAL EMPLOYMENT PROVISION WITHIN DAVENTRY NORTH 
EAST SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION.

EMPLOYMENT PROVISION WITHIN SOUTH NORTHAMPTONSHIRE 
DISTRICT COMPRISING:  

RENEWAL AND REGENERATION OF EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
SITES AS SET OUT IN POLICY E1; 
HIGH TECHNOLOGY MOTORSPORT CLUSTER AT SILVERSTONE 
CIRCUIT AS SET OUT IN POLICY E5;
LOCAL EMPLOYMENT PROVISION WITHIN SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
EXTENSIONS AS SET OUT IN THE SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
EXTENSION POLICIES; AND
TOURISM AND VISITOR DEVELOPMENT IN THE RURAL AREAS AS 
SET OUT IN POLICIES E7 AND R2. 

Jobs Growth by Sector 

5.45 Given the uncertainty inherent in the economic position at present it is 
considered impractical to give individual targets for job growth by sector.  For 
the early years of the JCS from adoption (expected in 2012) jobs growth is 
likely to be challenging as the economy emerges from recession.  For the later 
stages of the JCS the impact of the town centre regeneration proposals will 
begin to impact significantly on jobs growth.   

Offices 
5.46 There is sufficient land already committed for office development to last the 

whole plan period of this JCS to 2026; however this depends upon regeneration 
within Northampton’s Central Area and for qualitative reasons additional office 
development in Daventry central area.  Towcester and Brackley will need to 
maintain, renew and replace their stock of office development.  On a 
quantitative basis no new office development sites are required to be allocated 
at a strategic level through the JCS.

Manufacturing 
5.47 The jobs growth in the manufacturing sector is in decline, however this does not 

necessarily mean that less land is required for this sector.  The sector 
continues to manufacture but with a lower number of employees due to 
successful mechanisation.  Land requirements remain and may even require 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

38



expansion.  The land reservoir of existing and available employment land 
across the West Northamptonshire area will accommodate the needs of this 
sector over the plan period through the ‘churn’ (reuse, redevelopment and 
renewal) of employment land and development.

Warehousing
5.48 The area remains attractive to the warehouse industry and indications are that 

it is likely to remain so for the life time of the plan.   However, delivering new 
space to cater for the warehousing sector on a trend based trajectory would not 
be desirable nor sustainable in the long term. 

5.49 West Northamptonshire already has a large supply of warehouse development 
with planning consent in the pipeline.  No new warehousing sites are allocated 
in this JCS, and any new warehousing will be accommodated on existing 
employment sites through the churn of employment land.

5.50 DIRFT is a logistics site of national importance and is covered in the Economic 
Advantage Section 8 of this JCS under Policy E4.

Research and Development 
5.51 The Northamptonshire Technology Realm Strategy5 seeks to focus high growth 

business innovation and development within Northamptonshire with 
Northampton at the hub and at ‘spokes’ within the three growth towns of Corby, 
Kettering and Wellingborough in North Northamptonshire.  Its ethos is to 
provide a ladder of high quality connected and flexible work places founded on 
collaboration with learning and skills partners to create a highly skilled and 
knowledge based workforce.

5.52 West Northamptonshire is driving up its educational standards across  all of its 
towns and seeking new partnerships between higher educational providers and 
established businesses sectors for example at Silverstone Circuit.  

5.53 A new strategic land allocation at Northampton is proposed (Policy E3 refers) 
for a Technology Realm to provide the hub for business development and 
flexible workplaces to foster innovation and entrepreneurship. 

Non B Class Jobs 
5.54 Non B Class jobs include those jobs in health care, retail, leisure, tourism, 

sport, education and cultural development.  The non B jobs sector has grown 
in West Northamptonshire and the focus on town centres to provide more retail 
and service development to cater for the growing population will see this sector 
grow further.  In addition the tourism and leisure industries are important to both 
the rural and urban economies.   

Green Economy 
5.55 The theme of sustainable development and addressing climate change to 

secure a lower carbon live/ work area runs throughout the JCS’ policy 
approach.  These objectives are supported by the development of high 

5 Northamptonshire Technology Realm : Forward Strategy  2007 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

39



technology networking through the use of superfast broadband, increasing 
accessibility and use of public transport.  Supporting innovation and working 
with industry in the use and development of alternative energy sources and 
through design and build to ensure effective and efficient sustainable 
workplaces are also important initiatives.    

Distribution of Retail Development 

5.56 A key theme and critical issue for the JCS is the regeneration of Northampton 
town centre in order for it to fully secure its influence and function towards a city 
centre role.  Retail development is an important town centre function and its 
quality and attractiveness will strengthen, support and encourage further town 
centre regeneration.  Northampton has suffered from a decentralisation of retail 
and other town centre uses which has over time adversely affected the vitality 
and viability of the town centre. Further inappropriate retail development ahead 
of town centre regeneration proposals would further harm the town centre, 
undermine its necessary role and put at serious risk new investment.    

5.57 Policies within the JCS direct the retail requirement to be accommodated at the 
most appropriate centres. Policy N2 in the Northampton Section of this JCS, 
Section 12, sets out the retail floorspace requirement to be accommodated 
firstly in Northampton town centre and then within the Central Area.  The 
Northampton Central Area Action Plan (NCAAP) identifies available, achievable 
and deliverable sites to accommodate 45,000sqm net of comparison (non-food) 
retail development, first within the town centre boundary followed by identified 
edge of town centre sites in accordance with a sequential approach set out in 
Policy S9 below.

5.58 The comparison retail requirement for Northampton is for the period 2010 to 
2021.  During this period it is anticipated that the Grosvenor Centre 
redevelopment, a key investment in the town centre Primary Shopping Area, 
will be delivered. Other town centre retail proposals and leisure and office 
development in the central area will also come forward in this period.  Further 
capacity for comparison retail development beyond 2021 will be assessed 
following the commencement of these key town centre regeneration schemes.

5.59 Regeneration proposals are expected to lead to the transformation of the town 
centre and central area and will have a positive impact on economic recovery 
for Northampton and the wider area.  Seeking to identify the amount and
location of comparison floorspace beyond 2021 in advance of the regeneration 
proposals would not be appropriate. Reinvestment in the town centre once 
secured may lead to potential new redevelopment sites within the central area 
coming forward to which new retail development should be directed under 
PPS4.  In addition any further comparison retailing at out of town locations will 
further exacerbate the present decentralisation and is likely to severely 
jeopardise the town centre retail investment. Further guidance will be issued 
on the comparison retail requirement for Northampton for the period for the final 
five years of the plan 2021 to 2026.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

40



5.60 Policy S9 also applies an impact assessment for retail development.       The 
lower threshold for impact assessment for retail proposals outside Northampton 
town centre is a reflection of the need to ensure town centre development is not 
put at risk by out of town centre development.  This is critical to rebalance the 
retail position in Northampton from dispersed to town centre focused.

5.61 For Northampton’s convenience (food) retailing there is a requirement for a 
more significant convenience retailing presence within the town centre together 
with a spread of convenience retailing provision within the urban area 
associated with new areas of housing growth.  Specific Sustainable Urban 
Extension (SUE) policies give a requirement for local centre provision and a 
quantum of convenience floorspace to be provided in each SUE.   

5.62 For Daventry retailing provision follows a similar picture with the focus of 
Daventry’s new floorspace requirement directed to within Daventry’s town 
centre and central area.   Whilst Daventry has not suffered from 
decentralisation as Northampton has, the town centre is subject to strong 
competition from other town centres such as Banbury and Rugby.  In addition 
the town has a lack of appropriate floorspace configured to meet modern 
retailing format requirements. Consequently, Daventry is under represented by 
national retailers in comparison with other towns. 

5.63 To meet a growing population and to secure an increased market share by 
drawing back trade leakage to the west, Daventry needs to improve the quality 
of its retail offer both as a niche retailing destination and for larger high street 
stores.  With the town centre and central area regeneration proposals identified 
in the Daventry Master Plan6 and Daventry Town Centre Vision7 the town is set 
to transform its retail offer. 

5.64 Policy D2 in the Daventry section, Section 13 of this JCS, sets out floorspace 
requirements for retail development to be located in Daventry town centre and 
edge of centre sites and retail development will be required to follow the 
sequential approach set out in Policy S9.

5.65 The towns of Towcester and Brackley operate at a local level providing for the 
service and convenience retailing needs of the residents of the towns and 
surrounding villages.  There is limited floorspace capacity for both towns for 
retailing needs in either the convenience or comparison sectors.

5.66 For comparison retailing the South Northamptonshire Retail Study8

6 Daventry Master Plan– Interim Draft December 2006   

advises that 
there is scope for both Towcester and Brackley to improve their vitality and 
viability. The study sets a range of environmental improvements and other 
actions suggesting how this can be achieved.  Even with the new housing 
growth within Towcester and Brackley there is only a modest increase in the 
requirement for comparison floorspace and this can be accommodated within 
the existing town centres and which could be accommodated as extensions to 

7 Daventry Town Centre Vision - 2004 
8South Northamptonshire Retail Study March 2010 Chase and Partners  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

41



existing stores.  The extent of the floorspace requirement would not 
fundamentally alter the nature of the towns in retail terms.

5.67 For convenience retailing there is a relatively limited amount comprising some 
750 sqm net convenience retailing to 20269 for Towcester which will be 
accommodated within the Towcester South Sustainable Urban Extension
(Policy T3 – Towcester South Sustainable Urban Extension refers).  For 
Brackley a small convenience store of up to 500 sqm net floorspace associated 
with housing growth would accommodate Brackley’s retail needs to 2026 
(Policy B3 – Brackley North Sustainable Urban Extension refers). 

5.68 South Northamptonshire Council is preparing master plans for both Towcester 
and Brackley town centres and which will provide the detailed strategy to 
improve their service centre roles.  The Towcester and Brackley sections in this 
JCS, Sections 14 and 15, set out the scope of the master plans for these 
towns.  

Table 2 – Retail Requirement 2001-2026 (Rounded)

Town Comparison (sqm net) Convenience (sqm net)
Northampton 45,000

(to 2021)
7,000 

Daventry 7,000 2,000

Towcester Limited town centre 
provision 

750

Brackley Limited town centre 
provision 

500

POLICY S9 – DISTRIBUTION OF RETAIL DEVELOPMENT 

RETAIL FLOORSPACE WILL BE ACCOMMODATED FIRSTLY WITHIN 
THE TOWN CENTRES.

THEREAFTER UNLESS IDENTIFIED BY FLOORSPACE IN SUSTAINABLE 
URBAN EXTENSIONS PROPOSALS FOR NEW RETAIL DEVELOPMENT 
FOR WHICH THERE IS AN IDENTIFIED NEED AND WHICH CANNOT BE 
ACCOMMODATED WITHIN THE TOWN CENTRE WILL BE:

SUBJECT TO SEQUENTIAL APPROACH WHERE FIRST 
PREFERENCE IS GIVEN TO WELL CONNECTED EDGE OF TOWN 
CENTRE SITES, THEN DISTRICT/ LOCAL CENTRES WITH 
PREFERENCE GIVEN TO THOSE THAT ARE WELL SERVED BY 
LOCAL TRANSPORT; AND 

9 South Northamptonshire Retail Study March 2010 Chase and Partners  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

42



SUBJECT TO IMPACT ASSESSMENT FOR PROPOSALS OVER 
1,000SQM GROSS IN ORDER TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THEY DO 
NOT HAVE AN ADVERSE IMPACT ON THE VITALITY AND VIABILITY 
OF THE TOWN CENTRE.  

Climate Change and Sustainable Development Principles

5.69 The overall aim of this JCS is to deliver sustainable development.  Sustainable 
development ensures that the economic, social and environmental needs of the 
area are delivered in a balanced way.  Fundamental to achieving this aim is the 
contribution West Northamptonshire can make to achieving global sustainability 
through addressing the local causes and potential impacts of climate change.  
This will be undertaken through a combination of measures that, taken 
together, will enable the area to adapt to the challenges it will face through the 
plan period brought about by climate change.  Such measures will also ensure 
mitigation measures, such as measures to reduce our greenhouse gas 
emissions, are put in place to minimise the area’s future contribution to climate 
change.

5.70 The effects of climate change can take a variety of forms, including:

a rise in temperatures;
more extreme weather events; and
unfamiliar seasonal patterns in the wider environment.

5.71 Such effects can have serious consequences, which may take diverse forms, 
including: 

surface water flooding;
damage to property;
risk to people; and
damage to the economy.

5.72 Climate change adaptation and mitigation, together with wider sustainability 
goals are fundamentally integrated into this Joint Core Strategy.  They inform:

locations for new development; 
the way we will travel in the future;
new employment opportunities; and 
strategies for the adaptation and enhancement of our built and natural 
environment. 

5.73 It is recognised that a response to climate change is something that runs 
through all areas of policy. It is therefore important to reiterate that all new 
development will need to take account of all the relevant policies within the 
JCS, for example Connections Policies to help reduce the carbon emissions 
from travel; Flood Risk, Water Quality in the Built and Natural Environment 
section in terms of adaptation and mitigation; Biodiversity policies to protect 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

43



flora and fauna; policies to enhance the opportunities from the historic 
environment in terms of the re-use of existing buildings in addition to the overall 
strategy that seeks to direct development to the most sustainable locations. 

5.74 Achieving sustainability is a core objective in all proposals for development and 
this approach will underpin the commitments made by partner Councils to 
tackling climate change (for example, as outlined in the Northamptonshire 
Climate Change Strategy10 the South Northamptonshire Climate Change 
Strategy11 and the Sustainable Community Strategies).  This JCS sets out the 
strategic spatial planning policy framework needed to:

make the places where we live, shop and work more accessible by means 
that minimise the environmental burden of travel; 
make such places resilient to future flood events;
protect and enhance natural habitats; 
minimise the use of energy and water;
manage the water environment; and 
ensure natural resources are used prudently - including those used in 
construction. 

5.75 The scale of development planned across the area will place pressure on the 
environment.  It is therefore important to ensure prudent use is made of natural 
resources and that buildings are constructed to the highest standards possible, 
both in terms of the materials used in their construction and their overall 
performance during their lifetime. This includes the re-use of materials during 
construction as part of the maximisation of recycling, as well as minimising any 
waste either during the construction or the lifetime of the building, as set out 
within the Development and Implementation Principles SPD12, prepared by
Northamptonshire County Council.  Development viability testing for the area13

has demonstrated that sites can deliver standards set out in Code for 
Sustainable Homes Level 4 (or equivalent) at present with some areas, 
particularly within South Northamptonshire, able to exceed this target.  Code 
Level 4 is, therefore, a minimum policy standard for residential developments 
until 2016, with the requirements increasing throughout the plan period in line 
with national policy.  Non-residential developments, over 500m2 gross internal 
floorspace, will achieve a rating of at least BREEAM (BRE Environmental 
Assessment Method Very Good (or equivalent).

5.76 Proposals for new developments and regeneration opportunities, should 
consider ways of enabling energy to be generated at source and in ways that
both minimise the carbon emissions and ensure on-going energy security.  In 
line with national policy objectives14

10 Northamptonshire County Council (2010) Climate Change Strategy 2010-2014

, there is a requirement to increase the use 

11 South Northamptonshire Council (2010) South Northamptonshire Climate Change Strategy 2010-
2014 
12 Northamptonshire County Council - Development Implementation Principles DPD (Adopted March 
2007) 
13 Three Dragons (2010) Viability Appraisal of Affordable Housing Provision and Developer 
Contributions in West Northamtponshire 
14 DCLG (2009) Supplement to Planning Policy Statement 1: Climate Change

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

44



of decentralised, renewable, low or zero-carbon technologies.  Where viable 
and feasible, these technologies should provide a minimum of 10% of the 
predicted energy demand of the total development. In the event that providing 
such technologies proves unviable, as demonstrated through open book 
analysis carried out by the relevant local planning authority, contributions will be 
sought towards the delivery of off-site carbon reduction opportunities: examples 
of such opportunities are set out within the Planning Obligations Strategy and 
will be included within the Developer Contributions SPD. 

5.77 Other factors that will need to be considered in ensuring developments are 
sustainable include:

ensuring the orientation of dwellings to maximise solar gain;
ensuring development densities that are high enough to support local 
services, facilities and sustainable transport;
creating layouts that maximise opportunities for walking and cycling;
locating new development close to services, such as education and retail; 
and
the creation of places, open spaces and green infrastructure that support 
community well being. 

5.78 In addition to climate change, another important aspect of sustainable 
development that the JCS will need to consider is community safety and 
cohesion. Community safety, including crime reduction relates to different 
aspects of the plan and has been considered alongside the criteria set out 
within the Safer Places guidance15.  Measures to assist with counter terrorism, 
community safety and security will need to be incorporated into the design of 
buildings and spaces, particularly public spaces that are likely to attract crowds. 

5.79 Further information and advice on how to design sustainable developments in 
both the rural and urban areas will be provided within a Sustainable 
Development Principles Supplementary Planning Document and Urban Design 
Frameworks as prepared by the relevant local planning authorities. All new 
development will be expected to conform to the principles of Building for Life 
and the guidance contained within the West Northamptonshire Sustainability 
Manual16.  In order to maximise community safety there will also be the 
requirement to seek to adhere to the guidelines set out in the Safer Places and 
Secured by Design17 documents as well as the Planning out Crime in 
Northamptonshire Supplementary Planning Guidance18. 

15 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister/ Home Office - Safer Places: The Planning System and Crime 
Prevention (April 2004)
16 West Northamptonshire Development Corporation - West Northamptonshire Sustainability Manual 
(March 2010)
17 Association of Chief Police Officers – Secured by Design Initiative (www.securedbydesign.com)
18 Northamptonshire County Council, Northamptonshire Police, Northamptonshire Borough and 
District Councils – Planning out Crime in Northamptonshire Supplementary Planning Guidance (2004)

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

45



POLICY S10 - SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PRINCPLES

IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE THE OVERARCHING GOALS OF 
SUSTAINABILITY DEVELOPMENT WILL: 

ACHIEVE THE HIGHEST STANDARDS OF DESIGN INCLUDING IN 
RELATION TO SAFETY AND SECURITY;
MAKE USE OF SUSTAINABLY SOURCED MATERIALS;
MINIMISE THE GENERATION OF WASTE AND MAXIMISE 
OPPORTUNITIES FOR RECYCLING;
BE LOCATED WHERE SERVICES AND FACILITIES CAN BE EASILY 
ACCESSED BY WALKING, CYCLING OR PUBLIC TRANSPORT;
MAXIMISE USE OF SOLAR ENERGY, PASSIVE HEATING AND 
COOLING, NATURAL LIGHT AND VENTILATION;
GENERATE A MINIMUM OF 10% OF ITS ENERGY NEEDS FROM 
DECENTRALISED AND RENEWABLE OR LOW CARBON SOURCES;
MAXIMISE WATER EFFICIENCY.

UNLESS IT CAN BE DEMONSTRATED THAT IT WOULD NOT BE VIABLE,
THE MINIMUM CODE FOR SUSTAINABLE HOMES LEVEL FOR ALL 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENTS WILL BE:

2011 TO 2016: LEVEL 4
2016 TO 2021: LEVEL 5
2021 TO 2026: LEVEL 6

NON-RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENTS IN WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE
OVER 500M2 GROSS INTERNAL FLOORSPACE WILL BE REQUIRED TO 
ACHIEVE A RATING OF AT LEAST BREEAM (BRE ENVIRONMENTAL 
ASSESSMENT METHOD) VERY GOOD (OR EQUIVALENT).

5.80 To minimise the demand for resources and mitigate and adapt to climate 
change, Objective 1 states that the JCS should encourage renewable energy 
production in appropriate locations.  The Government has been working 
towards a target of 20% of electricity in the UK coming from renewable sources 
by 2020, though the recent Renewable Energy Strategy (2009) has suggested 
that this figure should rise to around 30%.  The Government therefore promotes 
rather than restricts such development, and it encourages renewable energy 
development across England where the technology is viable and 
environmental, economic and social impacts can be addressed satisfactorily.

5.81 As a consequence, both offshore and inshore wind turbines are being promoted 
as a method of generating low carbon generation in the UK.   This has led to 
considerable recent interest in proposing wind turbines in and around the rural 
areas of West Northamptonshire. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

46



5.82 Wind energy and other renewable energy development could have a range of 
positive or negative effects on nearby communities.  They could provide 
landowners with the opportunity for rural diversification, local jobs and 
opportunities for community based schemes and benefits.  However, such 
schemes can raise a range of concerns including landscape and visual effects, 
noise, shadow flicker and effects on the local economy.  Although the negative 
effects may be localised in nature or could be mitigated against, local planning 
authorities need to consider both positive and negative impacts of such 
schemes in reaching development management decisions.

POLICY S11 – RENEWABLE ENERGY

APPLICATIONS FOR PROPOSALS TO GENERATE ENERGY FROM 
RENEWABLE SOURCES (INCLUDING ANY ASSOCIATED 
TRANSMISSION LINES, BUILDINGS AND ACCESS ROADS) WILL BE 
EXPECTED TO: 

1. BRING WIDER ENVIRONMENTAL, ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL 
BENEFITS AND CONTRIBUTE TO NATIONAL RENEWABLE ENERGY 
PRODUCTION TARGETS IN TERMS OF ADDRESSING CLIMATE 
CHANGE;

2. HAVE NO SIGNIFICANT ADVERSE IMPACT ON THE HISTORIC AND 
NATURAL LANDSCAPE, LANDSCAPE CHARACTER, TOWNSCAPE 
OR NATURE CONSERVATION INTERESTS; 

3. HAVE NO SIGNIFICANT ADVERSE IMPACT ON THE AMENITY OF 
THE AREA IN RESPECT OF FLICKER, GLARE, NOISE, DUST, 
ODOUR AND TRAFFIC GENERATION; AND

4. PROVIDE FOR THE REMOVAL OF THE FACILITIES AND 
REINSTATEMENT OF THE SITE, SHOULD THEY CEASE TO BE 
OPERATIONAL.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

47



West Northamptonshire Wide Policies

Introduction 

The following sections set out the policies that apply to the whole of the plan.  
These policies cover:

Connections; 

Regenerating and Developing Communities; 

Economic Advantage; 

Housing; 

Built and Natural Environment; and

Infrastructure and Delivery.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

48



6.0 Connections 

Introduction

6.1 Transport links and connections between places are vital.  They allow people 
to access healthcare, education, retail and leisure facilities; they assist in 
opening up new opportunities for employment and economic growth; and, as 
a result of increased access, encourage regeneration and revitalisation of 
towns, villages and neighbourhoods.  Connections operate at different levels 
that interact with each other:

Strategic Connections - connecting West Northamptonshire to key 
regional centres and transport gateways of international or national 
importance, e.g. road and rail connections to London and Birmingham,  
rail connections for freight to Europe, and road connections to airports 
such as London Luton or Birmingham International;

Area Connectivity - connecting the towns and villages within West 
Northamptonshire and connecting key locations within towns e.g. 
residential areas to town centres and principal employment areas, and; 

Local and Neighbourhood Connectivity – connecting rural and urban 
neighbourhoods to key facilities, such as healthcare or local retail 
services, and improving movement around neighbourhoods, particularly 
by public transport, walking or cycling.

6.2 West Northamptonshire is often described as having “good connectivity” 
especially by road. This is due to its location at the heart of the country and 
its access to nationally significant routes including the M1 motorway and the 
A14 that link it to sea ports and airports.  The central location, together with 
connectivity to strategic transport networks, has brought significant economic 
benefits to the area, particularly from the distribution industry, including 
Daventry International Rail Freight Terminal (DIRFT).

6.3 However, it is the easy access to the road network together with the 
interdependencies of the rural hinterlands, the towns within Northamptonshire
(such as Northampton, Wellingborough and Kettering) and surrounding 
centres, such as Milton Keynes, which has created challenges that this Joint 
Core Strategy will need to address including:

How to provide effective services that cross administrative boundaries;
Congestion on our local and strategic transport networks; 
Reducing the distances we travel, particularly for work;
The reliance on private cars, even for short trips; 
Economic and regeneration issues, where transport factors may act as a 
barrier to investment;
Air Quality and other environmental issues, particularly around congested 
junctions in the towns and routes with high traffic volumes;
Health issues, such as increasing obesity as a result of less active 
lifestyles; 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

49



Increasing social exclusion faced by those without a car, within urban and 
rural areas especially in light of rising fuel costs.

  
6.4 Some of these issues are much wider than “transport” and creating more self 

contained communities, both rural and urban, with the right levels of housing,
employment and easy access to essential services, for example, will be vital.  

6.5 There is no single reason why West Northamptonshire has higher than 
average levels of car use or ownership, or why traffic growth has been higher 
than the national average. The area’s existing travel behaviour is a result of a 
number of different factors including:  

 Social changes such as greater affluence and greater numbers of families 
moving to the rural areas; 

 Investment in national road infrastructure around the urban areas that has 
not been matched with investment in public transport; and
Land use choices, particularly in Northampton itself, such as the dispersal 
of employment and retail development around the edges of the towns, 
and new developments that do not make walking and cycling easy.

6.6 As a result, many communities within West Northamptonshire have entered 
into a “cycle of car dependency”, which makes it difficult to change behaviour.
This is shown on Diagram 1: Cycle of Car Dependency below.

Diagram 1: Cycle of Car Dependency

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

50



6.7 Since the early 1990s there have been on-going attempts, both nationally and 
locally, to break the cycle of dependency and to alter the way that we travel so 
development becomes more sustainable. The changes required will take a 
long time and may not be fully realised in the life of this plan.  However, it is 
vital to increase the emphasis on achieving more sustainable travel through: 

 Improvements to public transport, cycling and walking infrastructure;
Locating development where people can access facilities such as retail, 
education and employment without using the car; 

 Ensuring that developments are well designed to minimise the need to 
use cars for shorter trips;
Reducing the need to travel, for example through home working;
Restricting unnecessary car usage, by providing necessary measures 
such as limited car parking, where appropriate;
Managing the demand for travel, such as introducing charging;
Managing traffic access to strategic routes:
Managing road space to give priority to public transport or cycling and to 
reduce environmental impacts of traffic, and;
Encouraging cycling and walking for short journeys. 

6.8 As well as addressing wider emerging issues for the area, such as:

Rising fuel and energy costs;
Supporting regeneration initiatives, both community and economic 
regeneration; and 
The desire to protect the historic character of our towns and villages from 
traffic.  

6.9 Effective local transport policies can help to tackle these issues, whilst 
ensuring that transport infrastructure retains and continues to benefit West 
Northamptonshire’s economic competitiveness. The Regional Transport 
Strategy (RTS)1, which is included within the East Midlands Regional Spatial 
Strategy, contains a clear set of over-arching objectives and policies to 
achieve the step-change in behaviour required to meet the changing needs of 
the area. Whilst it is the intention of the Government to abolish the regional 
plan tier, the framework helps to demonstrate that, particularly for transport, a 
co-ordinated approach across larger areas is required and that many of the 
issues require co-ordination between different authorities to deliver.

6.10 This section of the JCS sets out ways that the changes required can be 
delivered. It firstly deals with how we will go about changing the way we 
travel, before dealing with the improvements to connections at a strategic, 
sub-regional, local and individual development level.  It is recognised that
there is not a “one size fits all” when defining the issues or for dealing with the 
traffic and travel problems and so specific policies relating to each of the 
towns and the rural areas are set out within the Places section of this JCS.
Large infrastructure projects, such as the North West Bypass for 

1 East Midlands Regional Plan, March 2009

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

51



Northampton, are also set out within the Infrastructure and Delivery section,
Section 11, and in the Infrastructure Schedule in Appendix 4 of this Plan. 

Changing the way we travel

6.11 The transport evidence base shows that there are significant parts of the road 
network, especially around the four towns of Northampton, Daventry, 
Towcester and Brackley which cannot cope with the expected number of trips 
as a result of traffic growth from the existing residents or new development if 
travel behaviour does not alter. It also demonstrates that there are areas, 
both rural and urban, that are unable to access key services by public 
transport, such as health facilities, education and employment centres.

6.12 In order to achieve wider sustainability goals and meet future travel needs of 
visitors and residents, this JCS recognises that a change in travel behaviour 
will be required. This is sometimes known as “Modal Shift”. This approach 
does not mean that people will be prevented from using their cars altogether; 
it encourages people to use alternatives to the car where this is possible and 
seeks to provide a viable alternative.  It is acknowledged that for some 
residents, the car is seen to be the only option and will be for the foreseeable 
future.  Public transport, particularly in the rural areas, is incomplete, 
infrequent or unreliable.  Cycling networks vary significantly in quality and the 
walking environment can be perceived as unsafe. However, there are also 
solutions to altering our travel behaviour that are focused on reducing our 
need to travel, for example superfast broadband access to enable people to 
work from home where possible.  All of these elements must be improved as 
part of the overall strategy.

6.13 This plan is based on the Modal Shift Targets set out in  Northamptonshire 
County Council’s Transport Strategy for Growth2. These are: 5% Modal Shift 
away from Private Car Trips across existing developments and a 10% shift 
away from Private Car Trips from all new development. Our analysis shows 
that it may be possible to achieve more. These targets are, therefore, viewed 
as minima in this plan, and all travel interventions should be designed to 
achieve the highest modal shift possible, with some new developments,
particularly the Sustainable Urban Extensions, aspiring to achieve a modal 
split of no more than 40% of trips being made by car. This target, and 
progress towards it, will be reviewed jointly as part of the monitoring and 
implementation of this JCS and the Local Transport Plan.

6.14 In addition to the provision of “physical infrastructure3

2 Northamptonshire County Council: Transport Strategy for Growth (September 2007)

”, measures such as 
improvements to ticketing and the pricing of public transport, promotion of 
public transport and provision of travel information services will play an 
essential part in the development of future strategies; these measures are 
often known as “soft measures” or “smarter choices”. The formation of quality 
partnerships between the relevant local authorities, public transport operators 

3 See the Glossary for further information

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

52



and other key stakeholders will be supported to ensure that the necessary 
improvements to the services can be delivered. 

POLICY C1: CHANGING BEHAVIOUR AND ACHIEVING MODAL SHIFT

PROPOSED TRANSPORT SCHEMES WILL BE REQUIRED TO 
DEMONSTRATE HOW THEY WILL CONTRIBUTE TO BEHAVIOURAL 
CHANGE BY: 

PROVIDING ACCESS BY WALKING, CYCLING AND PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT TO KEY FACILITIES AND SERVICES; 
PROMOTING THE USE OF WALKING, CYCLING AND PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT OVER AND ABOVE PRIVATE CAR TRIPS;
MAXIMISING THE USE OF EXISTING CAPACITY WITHIN 
TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE;
MANAGING THE DEMAND FOR CAR-BASED TRAVEL WITHIN 
URBAN AREAS

IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE BEHAVIOURAL CHANGE THE FOLLOWING 
MEASURES WILL BE INTRODUCED ACROSS WEST 
NORTHAMPTONSHIRE:

THE DELIVERY OF A COMPREHENSIVE PUBLIC TRANSPORT 
NETWORK
THE FORMATION OF FORMAL PARTNERSHIPS TO DELIVER 
IMPROVEMENTS TO THROUGH TICKETING AND PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT INFORMATION
THE  PROVISION OF EFFECTIVE CYCLING NETWORKS ACROSS 
THE EXISTING URBAN AND RURAL AREA LINKED TO KEY 
TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES

INFORMATION COMMUNICATION NETWORKS, SUCH AS SUPERFAST
BROADBAND, WILL BE SUPPORTED ACROSS THE WHOLE OF WEST 
NORTHAMPTONSHIRE TO REDUCE THE NEED TO TRAVEL AND BE A
REQUIREMENT FOR NEW DEVELOPMENTS. 

New Developments

6.15 The location of housing, employment, retail, education, health and other 
facilities, is one of the most important influences on travel behaviour in terms 
of  the distance, where and how people chose to travel.  The 
Northamptonshire Transport Strategy for Growth modal shift targets will be 
expected to be delivered as part of Policy C1 above. 

6.16 The design of new developments is an important factor in influencing travel 
behaviour.  New developments should be legible, safe and provide an 
attractive, healthy environment.  The design, density and location of services 
within new developments should maximise the opportunity for trips by non-car 
modes.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

53



6.17 There is growing evidence to support the success of travel plan measures, 
such as personalised travel plans and dedicated travel centres as an integral 
part of the development. In order to alter travel behaviour, new public 
transport services need to be made available as soon as new developments 
are being inhabited.  Further guidance on the production of travel plans will be 
provided by a separate Supplementary Planning Document.

POLICY C2: NEW DEVELOPMENTS

ALL NEW HOUSING, EMPLOYMENT, COMMERCIAL AND RETAIL 
DEVELOPMENT IN THE FOUR TOWNS OF NORTHAMPTON, DAVENTRY, 
TOWCESTER AND BRACKLEY AND PRIMARY SERVICE VILLAGES
WILL BE EXPECTED TO ACHIEVE THE MODAL SHIFT TARGETS BY 
MAXIMISING TRAVEL CHOICE FROM NON-CAR MODES. 

DEVELOPMENT WILL BE REQUIRED TO BE SUPPORTED BY A 
TRANSPORT ASSESSMENT AND TRAVEL PLAN PREPARED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH CURRENT BEST PRACTICE GUIDELINES AS 
ISSUED BY THE DEPARTMENT FOR TRANSPORT OR THE RELEVANT 
LOCAL AUTHORITY. 

SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSIONS, AS ALLOCATED WITHIN THIS 
PLAN, WILL ADDITIONALLY BE REQUIRED TO: 

PROVIDE ACCESS VIA WALKING, CYCLING AND PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT ROUTES TO A MIX OF USES INCLUDING LOCAL 
EMPLOYMENT, HOUSING AND RETAIL FACILITIES;

ENSURE THAT NEW OR ENHANCED PUBLIC TRANSPORT 
SERVICES ARE SECURED ON OCCUPATION OF THE FIRST 
DWELLING; 

SECURE THE MOST EFFICIENT NETWORKS FOR WALKING,
CYCLING AND PUBLIC TRANSPORT WITHIN THE DEVELOPMENT;  

ENSURE SUFFICIENT DENSITY ACROSS THE SITE IN ORDER TO 
SUSTAIN PUBLIC TRANSPORT AND OTHER LOCAL SERVICES.

Strategic Connections

6.18 West Northamptonshire’s strategic road and rail connections have made the 
area economically attractive for distribution and other industries which rely on 
national and, increasingly, international connections. However, these 
connections are attractive for more local trips and an increasing number of 
people are using the national road network (such as the M1) for local journeys 
around urban areas. This increases congestion particularly around the 
junctions on the strategic road network and compromises its ability to function 
efficiently. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

54



6.19 In order to ensure that the road network remains efficient and can serve the 
strategic demand, it will be important to make improvements to carefully 
manage more local movements (see Area Connections) to enhance capacity.  
At the strategic level the Government has plans to introduce Managed 
Motorways including Hard Shoulder Running on a number of sections of the 
national Motorway network.  This has included the M1 between J14 and J19 
and, although this scheme is not currently programmed, it may come forward 
during the plan period.  In the case of the A45 and A43 trunk roads in the 
area, the Highways Agency are proposing to implement traffic management 
measures and related junction modifications in conjunction with development 
coming forward in these corridors.

6.20 The West Coast Mainline provides the key north-south rail link, but is 
particularly congested around Northampton where freight and passenger 
services share the same lines.  As both passenger and freight demands on 
the line increase there may be a conflict between users.  Whilst the area 
benefits from this strategic rail link, via the West Coast Mainline, the range of 
destinations available, the frequency and speed of connections is weaker than 
nearby towns such as Coventry, Rugby and Milton Keynes and journey times 
to London are less from Kings Sutton, a smaller station on the Chilterns line, 
which serves the more rural areas in the west of the plan area. This places 
Northampton at a disadvantage, in terms of rail access to major centres, as it 
is further away in terms of journey time from key cities and towns.  This may 
prove to be a hindrance to its future economic development.

6.21 The business case put forward by the Department for Transport for the High 
Speed 2 rail link between London and Birmingham, states that one of the key 
advantages for West Northamptonshire will be the relief to the capacity of the 
existing lines through the removal of some of the long distance trains and 
opening up lines for enhanced passenger services from the stations on the 
West Coast Line within West Northamptonshire.  It will be vital to ensure that 
any release in capacity is capitalised upon in order to improve the area’s 
connections to major transport interchanges and that the area is not left at a 
disadvantage. These benefits will also have to be balanced against the 
environmental costs of the High Speed Rail proposal and this section contains 
a specific policy (Policy C6) to ensure that the most affected communities are 
protected, particularly during construction.

POLICY C3: STRATEGIC CONNECTIONS

THE PRIORITIES TO RETAIN AND ENHANCE WEST 
NORTHAMPTONSHIRE’S STRATEGIC CONNECTIONS FOR ECONOMIC 
ADVANTAGE ARE TO WORK IN PARTNERSHIP WITH, AND SUPPORT
THE RELEVANT TRANSPORT PROVIDERS IN ORDER TO SECURE THE 
FOLLOWING INITIATIVES: 

AN ENHANCED SERVICE IN TERMS OF JOURNEY TIME AND 
FREQUENCY OF PASSENGER RAIL SERVICES BETWEEN LONDON 
AND BIRMINGHAM (VIA NORTHAMPTON CASTLE STATION);  

RAIL

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

55



THE INTRODUCTION OF ADDITIONAL RAIL SERVICES TO THE 
WIDER NORTH WEST FOR PASSENGER AND FREIGHT 
MOVEMENTS ALONG THE M6 CORRIDOR TO RELIEVE 
CONGESTION ON THE ROAD NETWORK;
IMPLEMENTATION OF AN INTER-URBAN COACH SERVICE TO 
CONNECT TO THE MIDLAND MAINLINE ALLOWING PASSENGERS 
TO ACCESS THE EAST MIDLANDS AIRPORT;
THE ENHANCEMENT OF RAIL CONNECTIONS TO THE DAVENTRY 
INTERNATIONAL RAIL FREIGHT TERMINAL TO ENCOURAGE THE 
MOVEMENT OF GOODS BY RAIL.

THE NECESSARY ROAD IMPROVEMENTS TO SUPPORT STRATEGIC 
CONNECTIVITY ARE THE IMPLEMENTATION OF: 

ROAD

M1 JUNCTION 14-19 MANAGED MOTORWAY INCLUDING HARD 
SHOULDER RUNNING
TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT MEASURES AND RELATED JUNCTION
MODIFICATIONS ON THE A45 AND A43 TRUNK ROADS IN 
CONJUNCTION WITH DEVELOPMENT COMING FORWARD IN THE 
CORRIDORS

SUPPORT WILL BE GIVEN TO PROPOSALS TO USE THE CANAL 
NETWORK FOR FREIGHT MOVEMENTS.  

WATER

Connecting Urban Areas

6.22 Journeys between the towns in West Northamptonshire and to surrounding
centres, such as Milton Keynes, Rugby and Banbury are dominated by the 
private car, particularly for trips to work.  The inter-urban bus network does 
not currently provide an attractive alternative to the private car for many 
journeys, with services operating at 30 minute intervals during the peak period 
and less frequent in the early mornings and evenings.  The Rural Service 
Centres of Towcester and Brackley will be expected to form a vital part of the
rural public transport network, providing key inceptors to allow passengers to 
change to faster inter-urban routes.

6.23 As indicated in the spatial portrait in section 4, a significant proportion of 
commuting is within Northamptonshire with residents in neighbouring towns 
such as Wellingborough travelling to Northampton to work. The 
Northamptonshire Arc Report4

4 Northamptonshire County Council - Northamptonshire Arc Report (2010)

, prepared by the County Council, indicates that 
there is significant potential for improvements to the inter-urban bus network 
within Northamptonshire.  One of the biggest challenges is to overcome the 
negative perception of road based public transport and ensure that it is seen 
as a reliable and efficient alternative to the car.  The Arc Report proposes the 
development of a high quality Northamptonshire Arc Transit (NAT) network to 
provide mass transit links between the main urban centres which could be 
extended to other important centres such as Milton Keynes.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

56



6.24 There are presently three rail stations within the plan area: Northampton 
Castle Station and Long Buckby Station, which are both on the West Coast 
line, and Kings Sutton station which is on the Chilterns line. All of the stations 
in the plan area have services to London and Birmingham, providing 
important services for commuters to both these cities and intermediate 
stations. For Northampton and Long Buckby this includes towns such as 
Milton Keynes to the south and Rugby to the north, whereas Kings Sutton 
serves towns such as Bicester. However, for shorter journeys to neighbouring 
areas the train is not always seen as a practical option due to issues such as 
the accessibility of the station, waiting facilities and the costs associated with 
travel particularly at peak times.

6.25 Whilst walking and cycling will play an important role for shorter trips, road 
improvements will be required to connect new development into the network 
and also to relieve some existing congestion issues. In addition to our 
strategic priorities, additional improvements are required to ensure West 
Northamptonshire’s continued economic prosperity include the effective 
management of junctions on the A45 around Northampton, which are an 
integral part of the town’s road network.  Other road improvements may be 
required where they will help to deliver improvements to air quality or relieve 
villages of unsuitable amounts of traffic.  These improvements will need to be 
carefully managed to ensure that they also help to prioritise public transport, 
walking and cycling and meet the principles set out in Policy C1.  These 
improvements are set out within the Places sections along with additional
physical infrastructure requirements, such as A45 Northampton to Daventry 
corridor improvements, which are required to support the development of the 
area. 

POLICY C4: CONNECTING URBAN AREAS

A: PUBLIC TRANSPORT CORRIDORS

AN EFFECTIVE, RELIABLE INTER-URBAN PUBLIC TRANSPORT 
NETWORK LINKING MAJOR TOWNS AND CITIES, INCLUDING THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF A HIGH QUALITY NORTHAMPTONSHIRE ARC 
TRANSIT NETWORK, WILL BE PRIORITISED ON THE FOLLOWING 
PRINCIPAL JOURNEY TO WORK CORRIDORS:   

A508 NORTHAMPTON TO MILTON KEYNES; 
A45 NORTHAMPTON TO WELLINGBOROUGH; 
A5 TOWCESTER TO MILTON KEYNES; 
A45 DAVENTRY TO NORTHAMPTON;
A45 DAVENTRY TO RUGBY; 
A43 BRACKLEY TO NORTHAMPTON; 
A43/ A361 BRACKLEY TO CHERWELL DISTRICT (BANBURY/ 
BICESTER)
A43 NORTHAMPTON TO KETTERING

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

57



IMPROVEMENTS WILL BE REQUIRED TO:

INCREASE THE ACCESSIBILITY OF INTER-URBAN PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT;
REDUCE JOURNEY TIMES BY PUBLIC TRANSPORT;
IMPROVE THE FREQUENCY OF SERVICES BETWEEN KEY 
CENTRES; 
PROVIDE MECHANISMS TO ENABLE MORE FLEXIBLE TICKETING 
OPTIONS ACROSS MODES AND ADMINISTRATIVE BOUNDARIES.

B: PUBLIC TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES

TO COMPLEMENT AN INCREASED FREQUENCY IN SERVICE 
PROVISION, IMPROVEMENTS WILL BE MADE TO KEY PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES IN ORDER TO RAISE THE PROFILE OF
PUBLIC TRANSPORT. 

PRIORITY INTERCHANGES ARE IDENTIFIED AS FOLLOWS: 

CENTRAL NORTHAMPTON BUS INTERCHANGE
NORTHAMPTON

NORTHAMPTON CASTLE RAIL STATION

DAVENTRY BUS INTERCHANGE
DAVENTRY

LONG BUCKBY RAIL STATION

TOWCESTER BUS INTERCHANGE
SOUTH NORTHAMPTONSHIRE

BRACKLEY BUS INTERCHANGE
KINGS SUTTON RAIL STATION

INTERCHANGES WILL PROVIDE A SAFE AND ATTRACTIVE 
ENVIRONMENT INCLUDING:

SECURE CYCLE PARKING
SHELTERED AND SAFE WAITING FACILITIES; 
SAFE AND CONVENIENT PEDESTRIAN ACCESS; 
INFORMATION INCLUDING SIGNPOSTING, TIMETABLES AND 
TICKETING.

RAIL INTERCHANGES WILL ALSO BE REQUIRED TO PROVIDE TAXI 
WAITING AREAS AND LONG STAY PARKING AT A LOCALLY 
DETERMINED LEVEL.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

58



Enhancing Local and Neighbourhood Connections

6.26 Improved local and neighbourhood connectivity is required to ensure that the 
places within West Northamptonshire, both rural and urban, can become 
more sustainable; this includes the creation and enhancement of local bus, 
cycle and walking routes within the towns as well as and access to facilities.  
Without these changes the amount of traffic will continue to grow and we will 
not secure the changes in behaviour required. Neighbourhood connectivity for 
new developments, including the ability to access services, is addressed 
within the overall transport strategy (see Policies C1 and C2) and the Places 
sections of the JCS. 

6.27 For the rural areas in particular there are challenges that will need to be 
addressed to enhance the range of facilities available to communities, such as 
access to health care, education and retail. The rural areas section, Section 
16, sets out the over-arching policies for securing future services for these 
areas including measures for enhancing rural accessibility.  

POLICY C5: ENHANCING LOCAL AND NEIGHBOURHOOD 
CONNECTIONS

THE CONNECTIONS WITHIN URBAN AREAS, BETWEEN
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND TOWN AND DISTRICT CENTRES, OR THE 
RURAL HINTERLANDS OF WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE WITH THEIR 
MOST ACCESSIBLE SERVICE CENTRE, WILL BE STRENGTHENED BY 
THE FOLLOWING MEASURES: 

IMPROVEMENTS TO THE STRATEGIC AND LOCAL BUS NETWORKS
INCLUDING UPGRADES TO LOCAL INTERCHANGES, SERVICE 
FREQUENCY, RELIABILITY AND QUALITY;
PERSONALISED TRAVEL PLANNING AND VOLUNTARY TRAVEL
PLANS; 
IMPROVEMENTS TO CYCLING NETWORKS AND CYCLE PARKING;
SECURING AND ENHANCING URBAN AND RURAL WALKING 
NETWORKS; 
SUSTAINING OR IMPROVING EXISTING DEMAND RESPONSIVE 
TRANSPORT, PARTICULARLY IN RURAL AREAS, TO FILL KEY 
GAPS TO THE SCHEDULED NETWORK AND ENHANCING THE 
NETWORK WHERE GAPS PRESENTLY EXIST;
PROMOTING PARK AND RIDE FACILITIES FOR NORTHAMPTON. 

High Speed Rail 2 – London to Birmingham

6.28 In December 2010 the Government announced a preferred route option for 
the proposed High Speed Rail link between London and Birmingham, known 
as High Speed 2 (HS2). The preferred route passes through South 
Northamptonshire district, close to Brackley, and will have a major impact on 
the environment and local communities in the plan area.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

59



6.29 HS2 is a national infrastructure project and as such the key planning 
decisions will be taken by the Secretary of State. However the local 
authorities, in particular Northamptonshire County and South 
Northamptonshire Councils, will be key consultees seeking to influence the 
detailed design and construction of the route. Given the significance of the 
proposal for the plan area it is appropriate to include a policy within the JCS
which seeks to minimise the adverse impacts on the environment and 
communities in the area and maximise the benefits that could arise from the 
proposal.

POLICY C6 – HIGH SPEED RAIL 2

THE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF THE HIGH SPEED 2 RAIL LINK 
MUST MINIMISE ADVERSE IMPACTS ON THE ENVIRONMENT, THE 
LOCAL ECONOMY AND LOCAL COMMUNITIES AND MAXIMISE ANY 
BENEFITS THAT ARISE FROM THE PROPOSAL. THE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF HS2 WILL ALSO BE EXPECTED TO:

1. DELIVER HIGH QUALITY DESIGN TO PROTECT COMMUNITIES AND 
THE ENVIRONMENT FROM NOISE AND VISUAL INTRUSION

2. MANAGE THE CONSTRUCTION TO MINIMISE THE IMPACT ON 
COMMUNITIES AND THE ENVIRONMENT

3. ADOPT SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT AND CONSTRUCTION 
METHODS

4. MINIMISE ADVERSE SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACTS, BY 
MAINTAINING ACCESSIBILITY AND AVOIDING THE SEVERENCE OF 
COMMUNITIES AND AGRICULTURAL HOLDINGS

5. ENSURE THAT COMMUNITY AND OTHER BENEFITS, SUCH AS 
IMPROVED SERVICES ON THE WEST COAST MAIN LINE, ARE 
FULLY REALISED 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

60



7.0 Regenerating and Developing Communities 

7.1 Alongside the regeneration of town centres, a key objective of the strategy is to 
reduce disparity between communities by improving opportunities for some of 
the most deprived areas in West Northamptonshire. Developing the social and 
community infrastructure offer of communities is an essential part of providing 
for future sustainability across the plan area. 

Community Regeneration

7.2 Community regeneration comprises a set of activities designed to reverse 
economic, social and physical decline in areas where market forces will not do 
this without the support from public sector intervention. 

7.3 Councils have powers to promote the social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing of their areas. In achieving this role regeneration will need to consider 
four key attributes: 

Economic attributes – relating to employment rates, economic 
opportunities/ skills; 

Social attributes – quality of life, health, crime, community engagement; 

Physical attributes – connectivity, housing condition, neighbourhood 
centres, public realm; and

Environmental attributes – loss of biodiversity, low energy efficiency, 
localised pollution, poor visual appearance. 

7.4 Community regeneration is a key theme for the JCS, focusing on reducing 
disparities between neighbourhoods and creating sustainable places where 
people choose to live and work.

7.5 Regeneration is considered in a wider context within the place sections of the 
JCS, both in terms of the spatial depiction of community regeneration schemes 
and in addressing commercial investment within the town centres of 
Northampton and the supporting towns of West Northamptonshire. It is 
recognised that investing in such opportunities will also create wealth and 
regeneration benefits for residents.

7.6 There will be a need throughout the plan period not only to support both 
existing and new communities through, for example, the provision of education, 
health, community leisure, cultural and social facilities, but also to manage 
change in communities. This will be considered through the development of 
more detailed strategies and intervention measures which will identify how
communities or neighbourhoods can be regenerated, to improve outcomes for 
local residents. Such outcomes will be proposed either to sustain an existing 
purpose or to create a new purpose involving more substantial change and 
reflect local aspirations expressed, for example, through Sustainable 
Community Strategies.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

61



7.7 A key aim of local spatial planning is to create a framework for private 
investment and regeneration that promotes economic, environmental and social 
well being for an area, which in turn provides a robust basis for making bids for 
public funds and for assembling land for projects.

7.8 There is a need for the JCS to set out an overall approach to development 
which includes the regeneration of areas that are showing the highest 
indicators of deprivation as well as ensuring the strategy does not contribute to 
further decline elsewhere.

7.9 Not all regeneration investment needs to be in areas of decline. Factors 
influencing deprivation are often driven by external factors for example 
infrastructure, which improves the strength of the economy and access to 
facilities, or commercial investment in town centres.  

7.10 In maximising investment and providing the right climate for development, the 
public sector will be required to provide a clear delivery role, particularly where 
economic viability or land ownership constraints may provide a challenge to 
regeneration. Further, addressing issues of low accessibility to employment 
and services as well as poor social environments will be seen as a priority.

7.11 In addressing regeneration the JCS encompasses a generic approach, 
referring to specific locations as examples of places which can benefit from 
regeneration initiatives. This approach will provide the opportunity for a more 
detailed implementation of projects and initiatives through accompanying 
Development Plan Documents and strategies. It is envisaged that these 
accompanying documents will address, in more detail, how the regeneration of 
an area can bring benefits to the local population, seeking to reduce economic,
social and physical disparity, through for example, improved connectivity, 
access to jobs and services, urban renewal and physical enhancement.

7.12 This approach provides a baseline for developing strategy, complementing the 
direction of growth and taking forward an approach to regeneration that builds 
capacity and promotes community engagement.

  
Context

7.13 The vast majority of new housing and employment development will be centred 
in and around the main urban areas of West Northamptonshire. This new 
development will be used to bring benefits to existing local communities.

7.14The area incorporates pockets of high deprivation, especially within its larger 
urban areas of Northampton and Daventry, which impacts on life chances 
including access to employment and service provision, such as healthcare, as 
well as a poor physical environment.  By recognising the importance that 
accessible services and facilities have on the quality of people’s lives, the 
strategy will look to consider favourably proposals that support and strengthen 
local services across West Northamptonshire. In particular, encouraging 
development that can help to improve existing deficiencies in services or 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

62



facilities in deprived communities, will require a range of agencies to work 
together and with developers. Partners will be expected to work together with 
local communities to attract and secure funding and to provide a focus for 
objectives and resources.  This will require attention to the key principles 
introduced in Table 3 below. Developers will also need to demonstrate how 
they are working within these expectations.

The Regeneration Strategy for West Northamptonshire

7.15 It is important that regeneration is delivered in a targeted manner that delivers 
measurable outcomes over a set period of time, and that it addresses each of 
the attributes highlighted in paragraph 7.3 above.  It is also important that 
issues can be addressed at the right  level, which allows action to be targeted - 
investing where it will have the most impact - and provided as close to identified 
communities as possible.

7.16 In taking forward these aspirations three key data sets have been considered in 
order to identify the most deprived communities for regeneration in West 
Northamptonshire.   These datasets are:

Indices of Multiple Deprivation  (2007)1 which captures disparities in living 
standards and covers levels of deprivation based on barriers to housing and 
services, living environment, crime and disorder, education training and 
skills, health and disability, employment rates and income; 

Decent Homes Standard and Stock Condition Assessments2 which has 
identified key areas where social housing will not meet the decent homes 
standard; and

Strategic Assessment information compiled by the Safer Partnerships to 
identify and tackle areas where there are more frequent indices of crime and 
anti-social behaviour. 

7.17 In addition to the above datasets there is a clear need to consider deliverability, 
from both funding and community engagement perspectives. So the following 
factor has also been considered:

Areas where funding initiatives and local empowerment may assist 
regeneration; to consider both financial and physical resources available to 
the Councils and other public sector organisations within West 
Northamptonshire that provide a catalyst for the delivery of regeneration and 
change.

7.18 This data has been reviewed at ward level across West Northamptonshire to 
identify the most deprived areas where intervention is required. These wards 

1 Indices of Multiple Deprivation: Information collated by the Office of National Statistics that measure 
an areas deprivation relative to the rest of the UK. The seven criteria are: housing and services, living 
environment, crime and disorder, education and training, health, disability, employment and income.
2 The Decent Homes Standard forms part of legislation. The guidance can be found here: 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/housing/pdf/138355.pdf  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

63



represent the most deprived communities in West Northamptonshire and share 
a number of commonalities for example high levels of crime, poor housing 
standard and low skills attainment.

7.19 The key aims for taking forward a strategy for community regeneration are 
detailed in the policies under the Places section of the JCS for each of the 
respective towns. These aims will be developed through accompanying 
Development Plan Documents (such as the Northampton Central Area Action 
Plan) and reflect the spatial objectives of the JCS. 

7.20 The key principles set out in Table 3 below will also apply in providing the
approach to regeneration priority areas within West Northamptonshire. 

Table 3: West Northamptonshire Regeneration Priority Areas - Key Principles

Key Principles Approach

Embedding community 
engagement ensuring effective 
and inclusive mechanisms in 
decision making. 

Through working with local communities 
encourage active participation of 
residents, to influence local agency 
future decision-making. Devolve 
decision making to neighbourhood level 
where practicable and appropriate.

Ensuring a multi-disciplinary 
partnership approach to 
pooling assets and allocating 
resources. Focus on collective 
investment from agencies.

Develop strategies and provide joined 
up services and outcomes. Agencies 
pooling resources to ensure capital 
assets are used for the benefit of the 
community. This will include school 
sites, shops, community centres, land 
and other capital assets.

Using design codes and 
principles to ensure high 
quality safe, sustainable 
homes and communities 
through partnership working. 

Ensures decent home standards, 
sustainable communities and homes for 
all/  life.  Includes designing out crime, 
access to public realm, sustainable 
technology in homes and businesses, 
decent home standards.  Quality design, 
material, maintenance regimes, improve 
quality of green space and public realm. 
Also creating opportunities for modal 
shift and improved connectivity.

Promoting mixed housing 
types and tenures. 

Ensure policy approach is flexible to 
adapt to changing local needs and 
circumstances. Ensuring a sustainable, 
balanced, social mix and tenure within 
neighbourhoods.

Promoting social and 
economic enterprise, 
employment opportunities and 
lifelong learning.

Encourage inward investment, job 
creation, education and skills 
programmes.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

64



7.21 In providing a strategy for community regeneration, opportunities will need to be 
considered in line with the likely availability of resources.  Proposals will need to 
be focused; otherwise there is the risk of taking forward too many initiatives 
without achieving targets.

7.22 Policy RC1, below, sets out the strategic approach for community regeneration 
activity to be undertaken throughout the plan period. Progress on those 
schemes identified through the Places policies in this JCS will continue to be 
monitored, along with the potential for other opportunities to be addressed as 
they arise.

7.23 It is recognised that regeneration activity will partly be driven by community 
initiatives, the scope for attracting investment and the availability of sites. 
Additional or alternative schemes proposed for community regeneration further 
to those listed in the Places policies will be supported where they can be shown 
to address the principles outlined in Policy RC1 below.

POLICY RC1 - DELIVERING COMMUNITY REGENERATION

EXISTING LEVELS OF SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC DEPRIVATION WITHIN 
WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE WILL BE REDUCED BY ENCOURAGING 
PARTNERSHIP WORKING WITH STAKEHOLDERS AND BY CO-
ORDINATING PLANNING AND REGENERATION STRATEGIES TO 
ENSURE THAT IMPROVED SERVICES, COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE ARE PROVIDED, PARTICULARLY IN THOSE AREAS 
WHERE INDICES OF DEPRIVATION REQUIRE TARGETED 
IMPROVEMENTS.

PROPOSED COMMUNITY REGENERATION SCHEMES WILL BE 
EXPECTED TO SHOW HOW THEY TAKE INTO ACCOUNT:  

THE KEY PRINCIPLES OUTLINED IN TABLE 3, WEST 
NORTHAMPTONSHIRE REGENERATION PRIORITY AREAS; AND

THE KEY DATA SETS RELATING TO: INDICES OF MULTIPLE 
DEPRIVATION, DECENT HOMES STANDARDS AND STOCK 
CONDITION ASSESSMENTS, SAFER PARTNERSHIPS’ STRATEGIC 
ASSESSMENT INFORMATION

  
SCHEMES THAT CAN BE DEMONSTRATED TO EMBRACE THESE 
PRINCIPLES AND SEEK TO REVERSE ECONOMIC, SOCIAL AND 
PHYSICAL DECLINE IN AREAS WHERE MARKET FORCES REQUIRE 
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERVENTION WILL PROVIDE THE FOCUS FOR 
COMMUNITY REGENERATION ACTIVITY WITHIN THE PLAN PERIOD UP 
TO 2026.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

65



Developing Communities

7.24 Social and community infrastructure provides a vital element in creating 
sustainable places where people want to live. Social and community 
infrastructure to meet the needs of new developments (including the
Sustainable Urban Extensions) as well as existing communities are set out in 
the West Northamptonshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan and the relevant 
policies within the Places sections in this JCS. However, community needs 
extend beyond physical infrastructure and buildings. 

Culture

7.25 Culture plays a critical role in making communities sustainable. It brings people 
together through shared interests, helps to develop identity and a sense of 
place. It can also contribute to attractive, well-designed environments that 
incorporate accessible, greenspaces and a distinctive public realm. 

7.26 West Northamptonshire provides a distinctive cultural offer, which ranges from 
its archaeological heritage, extensive canal and inland waterway network and
heritage assets through to its places of worship, sporting facilities, art galleries,
theatres, museums, public houses and restaurants.  A Cultural Mapping Report 
has been produced for West Northamptonshire3, which sets out the role of 
culture and an assessment of cultural infrastructure based on the following 
typology:

Heritage: historic houses and gardens, heritage sites and museums; 
Arts venues: galleries, theatres, live music venues and cinemas; 
Other creative space: creative workspace and commercial exhibition 
spaces; 
Community facilities: libraries, schools and leisure centres; 
Community assets: other community spaces used for cultural activity, 
village halls, community centres, pubs and cafes; 
Parks and Open Spaces: urban, sub urban and rural open spaces, both 
designated parks and public open spaces such as town squares and 
waterways: and
Festivals and events: festivals, events and fairs.

7.27 The Cultural Mapping Report has informed the preparation of A Cultural 
Investment Plan for West Northamptonshire4, which identifies a number of 
investment areas.  The key elements of this Investment Plan have been 
included in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) which accompanies the JCS.

Arts and Entertainment

7.28 The development of arts and entertainment facilities form part of the Cultural 
Investment Plan. Despite the rich cultural offer, other than the Royal and 
Derngate Theatres and live music venues, like the Roadmender, there are 

3 Creative Consultancy (2008) Cultural Mapping Document for West Northamptonshire
4 Creative Consultancy (2008) West Northamptonshire Cultural Investment Plan

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

66



relatively few large centres for the arts and entertainment.  The current level of 
provision does not reflect the active arts community and the desire for 
additional, diverse entertainment facilities, particularly as part of developing the 
evening economy.

7.29 The Central Area Action Plan contains proposals for an enhanced cultural offer 
within Northampton’s town centre. There are additional plans prepared by each 
of the local authorities, Northamptonshire County Council and 
Northamptonshire Enterprise, which aim to develop new facilities, and to 
enhance facilities, for arts and entertainment in order to diversify the existing 
offer. 

Social and Community Infrastructure

7.30 The provision of social and community infrastructure, including the provision of 
facilities for worship, is fundamental to the creation of strong neighbourhoods 
and local identity. Facilities, such as libraries, adult and children’s services, 
emergency services, health centres, community centres and space for the 
voluntary sector services, together with local amenities such as retail, are vital 
to the well-being of residents. 

7.31 The JCS, as part of the LDF, is prepared alongside the Sustainable Community 
Strategies which helps to ensure that these matters are adequately addressed. 

7.32 The Infrastructure and Delivery section of this plan, Section 11, sets out policy 
that determines that needs generated directly from development should be met 
through the provision of financial contributions from developers (Circular 5/055). 
This will include future management and maintenance costs. It may, in some 
circumstances, be more appropriate to co-locate facilities within local centres in 
order to improve overall accessibility, whilst also reducing the numbers of trips 
that are needed, particularly those undertaken by private vehicle.

7.33 In the rural areas, services should be provided where they can be accessed by 
public transport, both for reasons of sustainability and to ensure that residents 
are not excluded if they do not have access to a private vehicle.

Sport, Recreation and Open Space

7.34 Sport, recreation and open space are vital to the community and the local
identity of an area. The plan area contains a wide variety of high-quality public 
open spaces, whilst further new spaces will be incorporated into the 
Sustainable Urban Extensions, providing residents with good quality access. 

5 Department for Communities and Local Government ( 2005) Planning Circular 5/05 – Planning 
Obligations

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

67



7.35 Each of the three Borough and District Councils in West Northamptonshire 
have produced Open Space, Sport and Recreation studies6 which are 
compliant with Planning Policy Guidance 17: Planning for Open Space, Sport 
and Recreation (PPG17)7. The studies provide detailed background information 
and recommendations for local standards of provision for both open space and 
recreation as well specific built facilities. The standards establish the minimum 
amount of space required together with the desired distance for accessing 
different types of facilities for all users. These standards should be 
incorporated into all new development.

7.36 Northampton Borough Council are presently in the process of reviewing their 
Playing Pitch Strategy which will set out standards for the provision of 
recreational open space. Additional local work may also be required to identify 
facilities required for young people, such as playgrounds and multi-use games 
areas.

7.37 Local facilities are important community assets and play a key role in ensuring 
that the residents of the area can lead healthy and active lifestyles. The West 
Northamptonshire Sports Facilities Strategy8 provides details relating to the 
current provision of sports facilities, such as tennis courts, cricket pitches and 
swimming pools and identifies deficiencies in both existing and future levels of
provision.  

7.38 The report highlights that there will need to be improvements to sports facilities 
over the plan period to meet the needs of both the existing and future 
population levels, and must be located where it is accessible to all, including by 
public transport, walking and cycling.  

7.39 The key improvements identified have been incorporated into the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan as follows: 

New swimming facilities within western and northern Northampton;
Rugby pitches and facilities across the plan area;
New sports hall with ancillary facilities such as netball courts in each of the 
authority areas; and
Synthetic turf pitches in each of the towns.

7.40 Mechanisms for achieving improvements in the provision of open space, sport, 
recreation and cultural facilities will be detailed in the Developer Contributions 
Supplementary Planning Document.

6  Northampton: PMP (2009) Open Space, Sport and Recreation Needs Assessment and Audit. 
Daventry District Council: PMP (2009) Open Space, Sport and Recreation Needs Assessment 
South Northamptonshire: South Northamptonshire Council (2007) Open Space Strategy 2007-2021
7 Communities and Local Government (2002):  Planning Policy Guidance 17: Planning for Open 
space, Sport and Recreation (PPG17)
8 Syzergy (2009) Sports Facilities Strategy for West Northamptonshire

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

68



Existing Facilities

7.41 Within the plan area there are many assets that provide recreational and leisure 
opportunities that are highly valued by residents, where possible these assets
should be retained. The loss of such facilities, many of which do not operate 
commercially, is a particular concern, as they often provide vital voluntary 
services for disadvantaged sectors of the community. Meeting community 
needs may therefore require contributions from new development to assist in 
refurbishing, adapting or extending vital community assets; details of this 
approach will be provided within the Developer Contributions SPD, which will 
also specify facilities that are considered to be “at risk”.

7.42 Where proposals for development would result in the loss of a facility, the policy 
approach should be determined by; the availability of alternative or replacement 
facilities nearby (as derived from the relevant PPG17 assessment), whether the 
facility is still required, or whether there may be wider community benefits 
associated with the new proposal. 

7.43 As the area changes through new growth, the demand for cultural and 
community facilities will increase. Some new facilities may be provided locally, 
aimed at meeting the needs of local residents. Others may serve a wider area 
and will need to be delivered more comprehensively serving towns or even the 
whole of the plan area and beyond. New developments will be required to 
meet their own demands in terms of sporting, recreation, cultural and 
community facilities and to meet this demand either through on-site provision or 
through contributions as set out in the Infrastructure Delivery section of this 
plan, Section 11. Development will also be required to contribute towards the 
provision of larger scale facilities through a Community Infrastructure Levy, as 
outlined in the Infrastructure and Delivery section of this plan, where it renders 
existing deficiencies more severe.

POLICY RC2 – COMMUNITY NEEDS

NEW RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT WILL BE 
REQUIRED TO MAKE PROVISION FOR COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND 
PUBLIC OPEN SPACE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STANDARDS SET 
OUT IN THE PLANNING POLICY GUIDANCE 17 STUDIES AND IDENTIFIED 
WITHIN THE WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE SPORTS FACILITY STRATEGY 
AND THE CULTURAL INVESTMENT PLAN.  

THE LOSS OF EXISTING BUILT SPORT FACILITIES AND AREAS OF 
OPEN SPACE WILL BE RESISTED UNLESS IT CAN BE DEMONSTRATED 
THAT:

THERE IS EVIDENCE THAT IMPROVEMENTS CAN BE MADE 
THROUGH THE PROVISION OF A REPLACEMENT FACILITY OF 
EQUAL OR BETTER QUALITY; OR  
THE PROPOSAL WILL BRING ABOUT SIGINIFICANT COMMUNITY 
BENEFITS THAT OUTWEIGH THE LOSS OF THE FACILITY.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

69



PROPOSALS FOR NEW FACILITIES WILL NEED TO BE SUPPORTED BY 
A LONG TERM MAINTENANCE AND MANAGEMENT PLAN.

FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS TOWARDS THE PROVISION OR 
ENHANCEMENT OF, EXISTING COMMUNITY FACILITIES WILL NEED TO 
BE PROVIDED BY NEW DEVELOPMENT. THE EXACT NATURE OF THE 
PROVISION AND TIMING WILL BE SET OUT WITHIN THE DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT AND SITE ALLOCATIONS DPDS AND SUPPORTED BY 
THE DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS SPD.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

70



8.0 ECONOMIC ADVANTAGE 

8.1 A central theme of our vision for West Northamptonshire is to secure 
economic stability and prosperity which itself is a key element to improving the 
quality of life for our residents.  We need to ensure there are a variety of job 
opportunities for local people and that people have access to locally based 
educational facilities that can improve their employment prospects. A vibrant 
economy will strengthen our communities, support sustainable development 
objectives and help reverse areas of decline. 

8.2 The Spatial Portrait sets out the background to the existing employment 
framework in West Northamptonshire and the Spatial Strategy sets out the 
number of jobs required to be delivered across the plan. 

8.3 The following section (and part of the Places sections) includes polices 
relating to specific employment types and allocations.  

Existing Employment Areas 

8.4 The West Northamptonshire Employment Land Study undertook a 
comprehensive review of employment land and industrial estates in the main 
urban areas of West Northamptonshire.  It found that the vast majority of 
employment sites and industrial estates that were assessed were fit for 
purpose, suitably located and viable and should be safeguarded for 
employment development within B class uses. 

8.5 The plan area already has a considerable amount of employment floorspace 
in the planning pipeline already consented through planning applications. 
Many existing employment sites are undergoing redevelopment to modern 
standards and are making efficient use of previously developed land, for 
example Royal Oak industrial estate in Daventry. 

POLICY E1 – EXISTING EMPLOYMENT AREAS

EXISTING AND ALLOCATED EMPLOYMENT SITES AND INDUSTRIAL 
ESTATES ACROSS WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE WILL BE RETAINED 
FOR USES WITHIN USE CLASSES B1, B2 AND NON STRATEGIC B8.  

CHANGE OF USE TO OTHER USES WILL BE RESISTED UNLESS IT CAN 
BE DEMONSTRATED THAT THE SITE IS NO LONGER ECONOMICALLY 
VIABLE FOR EMPLOYMENT PURPOSES IN THE LONG TERM, THERE IS 
A CLEAR CONFLICT WITH ADJOINING USES, OR ITS RELEASE WOULD 
OFFER SIGNIFICANT BENEFITS TO THE LOCAL AREA.  

NEW COMMERCIAL FLOORSPACE AT THE RURAL SERVICE CENTRES 
OF TOWCESTER AND BRACKLEY AND OTHER SMALLER 
SETTLEMENTS WILL BE OF A SCALE THAT IS COMMENSURATE WITH 
THEIR FUNCTION. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

71



Office Development 

8.6 Traditionally a manufacturing area, West Northamptonshire is in the process 
of transition from manufacturing, where job opportunities are in decline, to 
knowledge based industries. However, there is still a need to retain 
manufacturing jobs as part of a mixed economy that offers a diverse range of 
employment opportunities. 

8.7 The JCS in partnership with other DPDs will shift the office focus of major 
office development to Northampton town centre and central area.  The 
Northampton Central Area Action Plan (NCAAP) identifies a range of strategic 
office development sites to reinvigorate the economy within the central area to 
support its regeneration.   

8.8 Office development will also be directed to Daventry central area to support 
Daventry’s regeneration objectives and to support the transition of their
economy from predominantly manufacturing and warehousing to provide more 
diverse employment opportunities.     

8.9 Towcester and Brackley provide service centre roles and are not sustainable 
locations for strategic scale office development as they do not have the extent 
of resident population to support employment growth on a large scale, 
resulting in in-commuting and unsustainable patterns of travel.  However, new 
office development of an appropriate scale will support their economies and 
help alleviate out-commuting to larger centres.

POLICY E2 – NEW OFFICE FLOORSPACE 

MAJOR OFFICE DEVELOPMENT WILL BE LOCATED IN NORTHAMPTON 
FOLLOWING A SEQUENTIAL APPROACH COMPRISING:  

WITHIN THE TOWN CENTRE BOUNDARY; THEN
EDGE OF TOWN CENTRE; FOLLOWED BY 
OTHER SUITABLE OFFICE SITES AS ALLOCATED IN THE 
NORTHAMPTON CENTRAL AREA ACTION PLAN.

OTHER MAJOR OFFICE DEVELOPMENT WILL BE LOCATED IN 
DAVENTRY CENTRAL AREA.

NEW OFFICE FLOORSPACE AT THE RURAL SERVICE CENTRES OF 
BRACKLEY AND TOWCESTER AND OTHER SMALLER SETTLEMENTS 
WILL BE OF A SCALE THAT IS COMMENSURATE WITH THEIR 
FUNCTION. 

Technology Realm

8.10 The Northampton Technology Realm at Northampton North Sustainable 
Urban Extension is a selected and targeted allocation.   The site is located 
near to the University of Northampton and other key Higher and Further 
Education partners.  The concept of the Technology Realm in this location is 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

72



to provide, through collaboration with learning and skills partners, a highly 
skilled and knowledge based workforce that is capable of meeting the needs 
of targeted employers.  Work in partnership with these education institutions 
to promote university-industry collaboration will ensure the skilled workforce 
created has the opportunity to use those skills in an appropriate workplace 
within Northampton creating inward investment, high value added 
employment and opportunities for innovative business development. 

8.11 The Technology Realm will provide start-up and grow-on premises which 
should be designed to allow for expansion as start up firms grow.  The 
development should be designed to maximise formal and informal interaction 
within a high design and landscaped environment.  High standards of 
environmental sustainability will be expected. 

8.12 A key driver of the sustainability and long-term success of the Northampton 
Technology Realm will be the provision of effective and well-resourced 
enterprise support services.  The enterprise support services will focus on 
assisting pre-start, start-up/ emerging and established businesses across 
identified sectors.

POLICY E3 – TECHNOLOGY REALM, NORTHAMPTON NORTH 

A 7 HECTARE SITE FOR A TECHNOLOGY REALM IS ALLOCATED AS 
PART OF THE NORTH NORTHAMPTON SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
EXTENSION.  THE SITE WILL MAKE PROVISION FOR:
  

START UP UNITS WITHIN THE RANGE OF 125-500 SQM  B1 
(OFFICE, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, LIGHT INDUSTRY)  
AND 200-1,000 SQM B2 (INDUSTRIAL)

HIGH QUALITY AND INNOVATIVE DESIGN AND LANDSCAPING 
INCLUDING A GATEWAY FEATURE ON THE A43 FRONTAGE  

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN. 

Daventry International Rail Freight Terminal (DIRFT) - Strategic 
Distribution

8.13 Daventry International Rail Freight Terminal (DIRFT) is a storage and 
distribution centre of national significance.  Although DIRFT is within Daventry 
District it lies immediately east of Rugby and adjoins Rugby Radio Station 
Urban Extension which is proposed for major development in the Submission 
Rugby Core Strategy. 

8.14 The first unit at DIRFT opened in 1997 and comprised business and 
distribution uses in various scales, some are directly rail-linked and others use 
the Intermodal Railport located in what is known as DIRFT South.  In January 
2005, outline planning permission was granted for the westward expansion of

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

73



DIRFT (known as DIRFT 2) to provide some 180,000sqm of additional rail 
linked warehouse distribution and manufacturing buildings.  The floorspace to 
be provided at DIRFT 2 is counted as part of the 2010 to 2021 supply of 
warehouse and distribution provision for the West Northamptonshire area.  

8.15 At a national level both Planning Policy Statement 4 ‘Planning for Sustainable 
Economic Growth’ and Planning Policy Guidance Note 13 ‘Transport’ strongly 
support the movement of freight by rail which supports the modal shift away 
from road based transport. 

8.16 The East Midlands Strategic Distribution Study (EMSDS)1 provides a technical 
study of logistics and the regional economy.  It identifies that in the East 
Midlands logistics accounts for a higher share of jobs and output than in any 
other region in England. In identifying sites for further strategic distribution 
development regional advice is that priority should be given to sites that can 
be served by rail freight and operate as intermodal terminals. At the regional 
level there is strong support for further rail related strategic distribution 
development and that further provision should be made in the West 
Northamptonshire area.   

8.17 The Regional Freight Strategy has set a target of an additional 30 freight 
trains per day which will require around an additional 308 hectares of rail 
connected strategic distribution land to be brought forward in the East 
Midlands region by 2026.  Network Rail is a close consultee on the DIRFT 
proposals and is fully supportive of rail connected freight at this location. 

8.18 In locating strategic distribution priority consideration should therefore be 
given to sites that can be served by rail freight and that can operate an 
intermodal terminal. As an existing location for rail freight DIRFT has a
significant investment in rail existing freight infrastructure in place and DIRFT 
2 proposals will further enhance these intermodal facilities in transferring 
freight from road to rail. 

8.19 Further consolidation of the rail freight facility via expansion at DIRFT, will 
clearly have more than local significance and its labour force catchment area 
will cross the local authority areas of Daventry, Rugby and Northampton and 
extend into Harborough and Coventry.  As such the JCS recognises that the 
DIRFT site has a national and regional context rather than only a local 
significance. 

POLICY E4 – DAVENTRY INTERNATIONAL RAIL FREIGHT TERMINAL
(DIRFT)

FURTHER RAIL CONNECTED STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION USES AND 
ASSOCIATED RAIL AND ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE IS SUPPORTED IN 
PRINCIPLE AT DIRFT.  A HIGH STANDARD OF LAYOUT, LANDSCAPING, 
BUILDING DESIGN AND MATERIALS WILL BE REQUIRED.

1 East Midlands Development Agency – East Midlands Strategic Distribution Study (November 2006)

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

74



Silverstone Circuit – Knowledge Based Cluster

8.20 Silverstone is the home of British Grand Prix and the British motor sport
industry. It has become a popular and important motorsport venue and its 
reputation has become synonymous with excellence, not only in motorsport, 
but also in education, employment and high performance and engineering 
skills. As an iconic destination, it attracts visitors from across the world. This 
level of recognition sets it apart from other sporting facilities within West 
Northamptonshire. The primary aim of the planned expansion of activities at 
the Circuit is to build on the regular events that currently take place on an 
annual and regular basis including the F1 Grand Prix, to maximise its wider 
economic role, local expenditure and its local and national significance.

8.21 Silverstone Circuit is the heart of a motorsport cluster and lies midway 
between Brackley and Towcester. It acts as a lynchpin for high value and 
high skill enterprises in motor sport and automotive development, which 
extends across West Northamptonshire and into Aylesbury Vale in 
Buckinghamshire.  As such it makes an important contribution to the national 
and local economy.   

8.22 Businesses associated with the motorsport industry are noted for their 
relatively small land requirements, high added value and propensity to 
network only with their immediate suppliers and customers. Many of the 
businesses are small or medium sized businesses with highly skilled, mobile 
workers.  The proposed development at the Circuit is considered 
complimentary to that proposed for both Towcester and Brackley.

8.23 Increasing overseas competition within the motorsport industry and intense 
global economic pressures threaten Silverstone Circuit’s dominant position. 
Only by investing in the economic future of the Circuit and its facilities will 
Silverstone retain its leading role and retain the wider cluster located around 
it.

8.24 In February 2009 South Northamptonshire and Aylesbury District Councils 
published a joint Development Brief for Silverstone Circuit. This Brief provides
guidance on the future development of Silverstone Circuit and adjacent areas 
within the ownership of the circuit. It covers land lying in both South 
Northamptonshire and Aylesbury Vale Districts. The Brief proposes a number 
of uses including employment and education and others which will add to the 
attraction of the circuit as a venue for recreation and leisure focused on 
motorsport. 

8.25 The Brief sets out the “Vision for the Circuit” and aims to strengthen 
Silverstone’s international role as a world class motorsport venue and facility 
to ensure it can continue to offer a first class motor racing venue capable of 
hosting international events including grand prix racing.   It is based on the 
principles of sustainable development to maximise the social and economic 
benefits for the local and regional area and minimise the impact on the 
environment.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

75



8.26 The fundamental objectives for Silverstone Circuit are as follows:

The improvement of track related facilities to modern grand prix standards 
and the promotion of Silverstone as the home of British motorsport and 
racing, as well as the development of the land portfolio.

Enhance and strengthen Silverstone Circuit as the centre of automotive 
and high technology excellence for the UK.

Creation of opportunities for the development of employment and 
sustainable economic growth by attracting businesses, education and high 
quality active outdoor tourism.

Providing an attractive venue for leisure and hotel activities to create 
sustainable development in both construction and operation.

Creation of a development which integrates well into its local environment 
and provides an attractive countryside setting to locate and develop high 
value enterprises. This includes both cultural and physical landscape.

Developing sustainable transport proposals. 

Proposing development which will be complementary to the growth plans 
for Towcester and the future growth of Brackley.

8.27 A new employment park is proposed adjoining the Circuit (in Aylesbury Vale) 
which will be developed as a natural extension of the existing development in 
the circuit. The expansion area is around 25ha. This provides for a mix of 
uses, predominantly B8, but with a mix of B1, thus complementing the range 
of uses to be developed in the existing Advanced Technology Park within 
South Northamptonshire Council’s area. 

8.28 Other proposed land uses at the Circuit include a new pit and paddock 
complex, new grandstands, higher education facilities, exhibition, brand 
centre, hotel and function facilities, conference facilities, employment 
development in the form of the business park and advanced technology park 
and the retention of existing motorsport track facilities on the circuit. The 
proposals include enhancement of the tourism and leisure activities at the 
circuit with woodland and outdoor pursuits, public arena facilities, outdoor four 
wheel drive facilities and education campus-related activities. The proposals 
will include the creation of new woodland and nature conservation areas, 
contributing to wider green infrastructure and environmental character 
initiatives.

8.29 Policy E5 below provides a framework for the development of Silverstone 
Circuit and is consistent with the Silverstone Circuit Development Brief 
(January 2009).  The Development Brief and the framework policy below take 
a holistic view of the Circuit’s development and therefore it should be noted 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

76



that some of the development elements set out in the policy are within the 
Aylesbury Vale District Council area.    

POLICY E5 – SILVERSTONE CIRCUIT 

TO SUPPORT THE CIRCUIT AS AN INTERNATIONAL VENUE FOR 
MOTORSPORT FURTHER EMPLOYMENT, TOURISM, EDUCATION AND 
LEISURE DEVELOPMENT AT SILVERSTONE CIRCUIT WILL MAKE 
PROVISION FOR:
  

40 HA ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY PARK COMPRISING B1/ B2 AND 
B8 USES (APPROXIMATELY 50% IN AYLESBURY VALE DISTRICT);   
25 HA OF ADDITIONAL B1 – B8 EMPLOYMENT (ENTIRELY IN 
AYLESBURY VALE DISTRICT);
8 HA OF TOURISM USES COMPRISING UP TO 3 HOTELS; (2 
HOTELS IN AYLESBURY VALE DISTRICT) 
35 HA LEISURE/ CONFERENCING/ EXHIBITION/ SPORTS SPACE 
COMPRISING D1/ D2/ A3/ A1/ B1 AND SUI GENERIS USES; (10 HA IN 
AYLESBURY VALE DISTRICT) AND 
14 HA EDUCATION CAMPUS (ENTIRELY IN AYLESBURY VALE 
DISTRICT).

ALL PROPOSALS WILL NEED TO DEMONSTRATE FUNCTIONAL LINKS 
TO THE TOWNS OF TOWCESTER AND BRACKLEY IN PARTICULAR BY 
STRENGTHENING SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT LINKS BETWEEN THE 
CIRCUIT AND THE TOWNS.

PROPOSALS MUST BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPROVED 
DEVELOPMENT BRIEF FOR SILVERSTONE CIRCUIT (JANUARY 2009) 
DEVELOPMENT AND WILL INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING STUDIES:- 

LANDSCAPE AND VISUAL ASSESSMENT 
DRAINAGE AND FLOOD STUDIES
TRANSPORT STUDIES
ECOLOGICAL SURVEYS 
ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORIC ASSESSMENT 

Education Skills and Training

8.30 Having the right skills is crucial to sustained economic growth and for the 
economy to be able to adapt to change.  Raising student attainment and 
school performance is also critical in attracting prospective employers. New 
housing development will bring with it opportunities for new schools and 
investment in existing schools.  As well as investment in schools, a new 
approach and relationship is needed where trade associations and employer 
representatives work with education providers to help give a business edge to 
training and help make our young people ready for the work place. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

77



8.31 The contribution that the University of Northampton, Colleges and other higher 
education institutes make to the economy of the area, and Northampton in 
particular, should not be underplayed.  These institutions will provide highly 
trained individuals to support the higher quality jobs growth the area seeks to 
attract.   Silverstone Circuit as the hub of the motorsport industry has also 
played a key contribution in vocational learning in partnership with further and 
higher education providers in the county and through their campus plans aim 
to increase this role. The Daventry Learning Partnership (Moulton College, 
Northampton College, Daventry William Parker and Dantree Schools) are 
supporting higher education achievement in Daventry and have aspirations to 
construct a new University Technical College within the Daventry town central 
area as part of the redevelopment proposals. 

8.32 In addition to their value as institutes of learning, education facilities and their 
associated accommodation, when located in town centres, help to improve the 
vitality and viability of town centres.  It is important that the skills of the 
graduates from these centres of learning are retained within the area to foster 
inward investment and economic growth. If the area is to generate more 
innovation, attract new businesses and retain existing businesses employees 
with the right skills and qualification levels are required.

POLICY E6 – EDUCATION, SKILLS AND TRAINING

THE ROLE OF THE UNIVERSITY OF NORTHAMPTON, MOULTON 
COLLEGE, NORTHAMPTON COLLEGE AND OTHER EDUCATIONAL 
INSTITUTIONS WILL BE SUPPORTED.  NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
WILL BE ENCOURAGED AND SHOULD BE DEVELOPED AT SITES 
WHICH ARE ACCESSIBLE BY SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT MODES.  

TRAINING AND EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS WILL BE SUPPORTED TO 
SECURE EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FOR THE LOCAL 
WORKFORCE. 

Tourism, Visitor and Cultural Industries

8.33 Tourism, visitor and cultural industries form an important part of the economy
for both urban and rural areas. The visitor economy in West 
Northamptonshire is bringing in around £500 million in to the economy every 
year and there are opportunities to develop this investment further.  The visitor
economy can benefit the area by drawing people into it which then supports 
local economy and investment opportunities. 

8.34 In the town centres tourism and leisure attractions can be represented by 
museums, theatres and arts and cultural quarters.  The Northampton Central 
Area Action Plan identifies a number of significant sites to accommodate 
leisure and cultural uses largely focused around the River Nene and waterside 
development, as well as a range of sites to accommodate hotels. Leisure and 
tourism development is another key element that will support the regeneration 
of Northampton town centre and Northampton as the key economic driver of 
the area.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

78



8.35 Daventry District Council’s Town Centre Vision2 includes raising the visitor 
attraction and tourism potential of Daventry through the creation of a mixed 
use waterside development associated with the Grand Union Canal that runs 
to the north Daventry.  A site for a hotel is also indicated within Daventry’s 
central area.   

8.36 Tourism is a key sector to South Northamptonshire employing 14% of its 
workforce.  Its tourism is focused around Silverstone Circuit (Policy E5 refers) 
and Towcester Racecourse (Policy T5 refers) and its historic town centres.
Increasing the number of hotel bedspaces would enhance the District‘s 
opportunity as being identified as an established over-night destination. 

8.37 The local economy of villages within the rural areas can be benefited by rural 
tourism associated with countryside recreation including the network of canals 
and historic visitor sites. There is a need to increase opportunities for 
overnight stays in the rural area of an appropriate scale.

8.38 Silverstone Circuit as referred to in Policy E5 above is a tourism and leisure 
destination of national and international significance and sits outwith Policy E7 
below. 

POLICY E7 – TOURISM, VISITOR AND CULTURAL INDUSTRIES 

TOURISM, VISITOR AND CULTURAL DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS WILL 
BE SUPPORTED WHERE:

THEY CONTRIBUTE TO THE ACHIEVEMENT OF REGENERATION 
AIMS AND OBJECTIVES;
THEY STRENGTHEN THE OVERALL TOURISM OFFER; 
THEY BENEFIT LOCAL COMMUNITIES AND BUSINESSES; AND
DEVELOPMENT IS OF A USE, FORM AND SCALE WHICH DOES NOT 
HARM THE QUALITY OF THE NATURAL OR BUILT ENVIRONMENT.

ATTRACTIONS AND FACILITIES OF A SIGNIFICANT SCALE SHOULD BE 
LOCATED FIRSTLY WITHIN TOWN CENTRES, THEN ON THE EDGE OF 
TOWN CENTRES, AND THEN AT OTHER ACCESSIBLE LOCATIONS.  

RURAL VISITOR ATTRACTIONS SHOULD CONFORM TO POLICY R2.

2 Daventry Civic Trust (2004) Daventry Town Centre Vision 2021

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

79



9.0 Housing 

Introduction

9.1 A key objective of this strategy is to provide a range of housing in sustainable 
locations to ensure all residents have access to a home that they can afford 
and that meets their needs.  Housing development will be directed to the most 
sustainable locations in and around Northampton, Daventry, Towcester and 
Brackley with more limited development in the rural areas to provide for local 
needs and support local services.

9.2 In delivering the planned development it is essential that quality housing is 
provided to meet the current and future needs of our communities. The mix, 
size and tenure of the housing delivered by the JCS will contribute to meeting 
the full range of housing needs that exist in West Northamptonshire, including 
those who may have specialised needs such as older people and people with 
disabilities.  The housing delivered through the JCS will be sustainable, flexible 
and well designed.

9.3 The level of housing growth required and where the housing will be provided is 
dealt with in Section 5 in the Spatial Strategy. This section therefore deals with
the type of housing that is required such as the split between market and 
affordable housing, the mix of dwelling types and sizes and the need for 
specialised accommodation to meet the needs of specific sectors of the 
community.  The design of new housing is also included to ensure that it is 
sustainable, flexible and meets the requirements of the people who will occupy 
it.

9.4 A Strategic Housing Market Assessment1 (SHMA) was undertaken for West 
Northamptonshire based on the housing requirement set out in the East 
Midlands Regional Plan. The findings of the SHMA have been reassessed in 
the light of the Joint Core Strategy’s planned housing delivery of 50,150
additional homes for the period 2001-2026.  The revised SHMA assessment 
concludes that the residual housing requirement should be broken down as set 
out in Table 4 below. The residual requirement for the Northampton Related 
Development Area includes those sites which are being allocated for 
Northampton related development, but are located in Daventry and/ or South 
Northamptonshire districts.  The percentage requirements for affordable 
housing specified in Policy H2 below reflect the requirements for intermediate 
and social rented housing set out in Table 4. 

1 Opinion Research Services (2010). West Northamptonshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
2009-Final Report.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

80



Table 4: Housing Requirement by Area 2010-2026 (Note: Figures may not sum 
due to rounding. Source: ORS Housing Market Model)

Housing Type
Housing Requirement 2010-2026

Daventry2 Northampton
Related 

Development 
Area

South 
Northants3

Market housing 3800 15700 3600
Intermediate affordable housing 0 0 1300
Social rented housing 1700 7500 900
Total Housing Requirement 5400 23200 5800
Market housing 69.2% 67.6% 61.9%
Intermediate affordable housing 0.0% 0.0% 21.8%
Social rented housing 30.8% 32.4% 16.2%

9.5 Previous policies in West Northamptonshire required sites of 15 dwellings or 
more to provide affordable housing contributions. The SHMA highlights that in 
recent years only 30% of sites developed in Daventry District and 50% of sites 
developed in South Northamptonshire have contained 15 dwellings or more. In 
order to meet the requirements for affordable housing it will therefore be 
necessary to reduce the site size thresholds or set the affordable housing 
targets on qualifying sites at higher levels than those identified in Table 4 
above.  

9.6 The SHMA also provides evidence on the size mix requirements for new 
housing based on the types of household that are likely to need accommodation 
over the plan period. These requirements vary by tenure and area.  The SHMA 
estimates that an increasing number of smaller households will need affordable 
housing, but this should not automatically be translated into the provision of 1 
bedroom units as many of these households will value the flexibility provided by 
an additional bedroom. For market housing there is a significant requirement 
for larger 3, 4 and 5 bedroom homes.  

9.7 A Viability Appraisal4 has been undertaken to inform the proposed thresholds 
and affordable housing targets.  It must be understood that viability is sensitive 
to changes in market trends, such as house prices and development costs. 
These market trends will be monitored and the policy reviewed as necessary. In 
terms of viability the study suggests that the following are reasonable policy 
options:

In the rural areas of Daventry District an affordable housing target of 40% 
is reasonable and could be set as high as 50%. In Daventry town, a target 
of 25% is appropriate and could be higher with social housing grant.

2 Excluding the Northampton Related Development Area.
3 Excluding the Northampton Related Development Area.
4 Three Dragons (2010) - Viability Appraisal of Affordable Housing Provision and Developer 
Contributions in West Northamptonshire.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

81



In Northampton, a 40% affordable housing target could be sought in the 
SUEs and the Southern Fringe. A lower target of 25% is proposed for 
Suburban, Older Urban Areas and Northampton East.

In South Northamptonshire, 50% affordable housing is achievable in the 
rural areas, whereas a target of 40% is reasonable for Towcester and 
Brackley.  

9.8 The study recommends a site size threshold of 15 dwellings for Northampton, 
where small sites do not play such a significant role in housing provision. In 
Daventry and South Northamptonshire a lower threshold is justified.   

Housing Density and Mix and Type of Dwellings

9.9 Different households require different types and sizes of housing. Policy H1
below seeks to ensure that an appropriate mix of housing is provided which 
reflects the needs of existing and future households having regard to the 
evidence provided by the SHMA. Whilst the SHMA provides the starting point 
for the consideration of size mix, it will also be necessary to have regard to 
specific local circumstances and needs.

9.10 The efficient use of land remains a key principle of national planning policy, but 
current guidance no longer specifies national minimum densities. Policy H1
adopts a design-led approach to determine densities on a site by site basis 
having regard to the objective of securing the efficient use of land and the 
particular characteristics of a site and the area in which it is located.  It is 
ultimately good design that should determine the densities that are adopted for 
a particular site. Notwithstanding this design led approach, it is important that 
minimum densities are achieved within the proposed strategic urban extensions
to reduce the amount of greenfield land that needs to be released for 
development. For this reason Policy H1 expects the allocated SUEs to achieve 
average minimum densities of 35 dwellings per hectare.

POLICY H1 – HOUSING DENSITY AND MIX AND TYPE OF DWELLINGS

ACROSS WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE NEW HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 
WILL PROVIDE A MIX OF HOUSE TYPES, SIZES AND TENURES TO 
CATER FOR DIFFERENT ACCOMMODATION NEEDS.

HOUSING DEVELOPMENTS WILL BE EXPECTED TO MAKE THE MOST 
EFFICIENT USE OF LAND HAVING REGARD TO THE FOLLOWING 
CONSIDERATIONS:

THE LOCATION AND SETTING OF THE SITE;
THE EXISTING CHARACTER AND DENSITY OF THE LOCAL AREA;
ACCESSIBILITY TO SERVICES AND FACILITIES; 
PROXIMITY TO PUBLIC TRANSPORT ROUTES;
THE IMPLICATIONS OF DENSITY FOR AFFORDABILITY AND 
VIABILITY; 
THE LIVING CONDITIONS PROVIDED FOR FUTURE RESIDENTS; AND

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

82



THE IMPACT ON THE AMENITIES OF OCCUPIERS OF 
NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES.

DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE PROPOSED STRATEGIC URBAN 
EXTENSIONS WILL BE EXPECTED TO ACHIEVE MINIMUM AVERAGE 
DENSITIES OF 35 DWELLINGS PER HECTARE.

Affordable Housing 

9.11 Policy H2 below sets out the percentage requirements and site size thresholds 
for affordable housing based on the findings of the SHMA and the Viability 
Appraisal. Whilst there is a clear preference for on site provision it is 
recognised that in the case of very small sites on site provision may not be 
practicable. In these cases financial contributions in lieu of on site provision 
should ensure that at least an equivalent amount of affordable housing can be 
built off site. Further guidance on the operation of the affordable housing policy 
will be provided in the Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document.  

9.12 The findings of the Viability Assessment have informed the percentage 
affordable housing requirements, but it is acknowledged that viability will have 
to be considered on a site by site basis. The thresholds for affordable housing 
proposed in Policy H2 have also been informed by the Viability Assessment.  
For South Northamptonshire the Viability Assessment concluded that the actual 
threshold for seeking affordable housing could be set at zero, but in practice for 
sites of 4 dwellings or fewer a commuted sum would be sought in lieu of on site 
provision.

9.13 Within the Northampton Related Development Area, as defined at paragraph
5.27 in the Spatial Strategy of this JCS and shown on the Proposals Map, the 
local housing authorities will need to agree a mechanism for the allocation of 
affordable housing to ensure that it meets locally derived needs within the plan 
area. The allocation mechanism will need to take account of up to date local 
housing need and viability issues. It is recognised that three sites within the 
Northampton Related Development Area (namely Wootton Fields, Saxon 
Avenue at Grange Park and Norwood Farm) are already at an advanced stage 
in the planning process and it will not be able to apply nomination agreements.  
If any of these three sites are not implemented as approved and revised 
applications need to be considered then this policy approach will be applicable.

9.14 Affordability is a key issue in the rural areas of West Northamptonshire where 
average house prices are significantly higher than the urban areas. For this 
reason Policy H3 below makes provision for rural exception sites to come 
forward where they can be justified by evidence of local needs. In accordance 
with national policy rural exception sites should be small in scale. They must 
also be developed solely for affordable housing, located on land that would not 
normally be released for housing and the homes must remain affordable in 
perpetuity. The SHLAA has identified a number of potential sites that could be 
suitable to meet the needs for affordable housing in rural areas. However the 
suitability of these sites can only be confirmed as specific needs are identified 
and confirmed through local housing needs surveys.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

83



POLICY H2 - AFFORDABLE HOUSING

AFFORDABLE HOUSING WILL BE PROVIDED AS A PROPORTION OF 
THE TOTAL NUMBER OF DWELLINGS TO BE DELIVERED ON 
INDIVIDUAL SITES AS FOLLOWS:

DAVENTRY DISTRICT (EXCLUDING THE NORTHAMPTON RELATED 
DEVELOPMENT AREA): 31% AFFORDABLE HOUSING WILL BE 
REQUIRED ON ALL SITES OF 5 OR MORE DWELLINGS

NORTHAMPTON RELATED DEVELOPMENT AREA: 35% AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING WILL BE REQUIRED ON ALL SITES OF 15 DWELLINGS OR 
MORE

SOUTH NORTHAMPTONSHIRE (EXCLUDING THE NORTHAMPTON 
RELATED DEVELOPMENT AREA): 38% AFFORDABLE HOUSING WILL 
BE REQUIRED ON ALL SITES

IN ALL CASES THE PERCENTAGE REQUIREMENTS IDENTIFIED ABOVE 
ARE SUBJECT TO THE ASSESSMENT OF VIABILITY ON A SITE BY SITE 
BASIS. 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING SHOULD BE PROVIDED ON THE APPLICATION 
SITE AS AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE DEVELOPMENT. 

IN EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES, OFF SITE PROVISION AND/ OR 
COMMUTED PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF ON SITE PROVISION MAY BE 
SUPPORTED WHERE THIS WOULD OFFER AN EQUIVALENT OR 
ENHANCED PROVISION OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING. 

NORTHAMPTON RELATED DEVELOPMENT AREA NEEDS FOR 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING WILL BE SECURED THROUGH NOMINATION 
AGREEMENTS ON SITES WITHIN THE NORTHAMPTON RELATED 
DEVELOPMENT AREA.

WITHIN SOUTH NORTHAMPTONSHIRE DISTRICT THE PROVISION OF 
COMMUTED SUMS WILL BE PREFERRED ON SITES OF 4 OR FEWER 
DWELLINGS.

THE TENURE MIX OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING SHOULD REFLECT 
LOCAL HOUSING NEED AND VIABILITY ON INDIVIDUAL SITES.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

84



POLICY H3 – RURAL EXCEPTION SITES

PERMISSION WILL BE GRANTED FOR THE PROVISION OF AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING ON SMALL RURAL EXCEPTION SITES WHERE THE 
FOLLOWING CRITERIA ARE MET:

THE SITE IS WITHIN OR IMMEDIATELY ADJOINS THE MAIN BUILT-UP 
AREA OF A RURAL SETTLEMENT; 
THE DEVELOPMENT CONSISTS ENTIRELY OF AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING, THE TYPE AND SCALE OF WHICH IS JUSTIFIED BY 
EVIDENCE OF NEED FROM A LOCAL HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY; 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE MANAGEMENT AND OCCUPATION OF 
THE HOUSING MUST ENSURE THAT THE HOUSING WILL BE 
AVAILABLE AND AFFORDABLE IN PERPETUITY FOR LOCAL 
PEOPLE IN HOUSING NEED

  
Specialised Housing 

9.15 The JCS seeks to meet the range of housing needs which exist in our 
communities. Some groups such as older people or those with disabilities may 
require specialised housing. These vary from traditional nursing homes to 
schemes which support independent living, but also offer care packages. The 
Sustainable Urban Extensions, in particular, are of a scale which provides the 
scope to meet the full range of housing needs which exist. All schemes which 
provide self contained units, including sheltered and assisted living housing 
schemes, are expected to provide affordable accommodation in accordance 
with Policy H2 above.

POLICY H4 - SPECIALISED ACCOMMODATION

HOUSING TO CATER FOR THE NEEDS OF OLDER PEOPLE AND 
VULNERABLE GROUPS WILL BE REQUIRED WHERE THERE IS A
PROVEN NEED IN A LOCAL COMMUNITY, REGARDLESS OF TENURE.
DEVELOPMENTS COMPRISING MARKET SPECIALIST HOUSING WILL 
ALSO BE REQUIRED TO INCLUDE AFFORDABLE HOUSING IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH POLICY H2. 

Sustainable Housing 

9.16 In order to be sustainable in the long term new housing should be designed and 
built to a standard that ensures that they can cater for changing household 
needs. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation’s ‘Lifetime Homes’ standard is a 
recognised benchmark for accessibility and flexibility.  The Lifetime Homes 
standard has been incorporated into the Code for Sustainable Homes and new 
housing development should achieve the code levels specified in Policy S10 in 
the Spatial Strategy in Section 5 of this JCS.  Consideration should also be 
given to designing homes which provide the flexibility to work from home and 
those which provide both the internal space and external garden space to meet 
the needs of families.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

85



POLICY H5 - SUSTAINABLE HOUSING

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT MUST BE DESIGNED TO PROVIDE 
ACCOMMODATION THAT MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE 
LIFETIME HOMES STANDARD. NEW HOUSING MUST ALSO MEET THE 
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES SET OUT IN POLICY S10 IN 
THE SPATIAL STRATEGY

Existing Housing Stock 

9.17 The new dwellings that will be constructed over the course of the plan period 
represent only a small proportion of the overall housing stock in the plan area.  
The majority of households will be accommodated in the existing housing stock. 
Effective management of the existing housing stock can play a significant role 
in meeting the housing needs of the area. Policy H6 below seeks to ensure 
that existing dwellings are not lost to other uses unless there is an overriding 
justification and recognises the scope to bring empty homes back into use. The 
Policy also aims to ensure that existing neighbourhoods and individual homes 
are attractive places to live by protecting and enhancing their amenities.

9.18 The Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) 
(No 2) (England) Order 2010 (2010 No. 2134) gave permitted development 
rights for buildings used as dwelling houses, to be used as small scale Houses 
in Multiple Occupation(HiMOs) shared by three to six people without the need 
for a specific planning application. Where there is a local need to control the 
spread of HiMOs the local authorities are be able to use existing powers, in the 
form of Article 4 directions, to require planning applications in their area.

POLICY H6 - MANAGING THE EXISTING HOUSING STOCK

THE EXISTING HOUSING STOCK WILL BE MANAGED AND 
SAFEGUARDED BY: 

RESTRICTING THE LOSS OF EXISTING DWELLINGS TO OTHER 
USES  
SECURING THE RE-USE OF EMPTY DWELLINGS FOR RESIDENTIAL 
USE
ALLOWING HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION (HiMOs) WHERE 
THEY WOULD NOT ADVERSELY AFFECT THE CHARACTER AND 
AMENITY OF EXISTING RESIDENTIAL AREAS.

WHERE REQUIRED THE ENVIRONMENT OF EXISTING RESIDENTIAL 
AREAS WILL BE ENHANCED, INCLUDING THE RENOVATION AND 
REPLACEMENT OF EXISTING HOUSING THORUGH AREA BASED 
RENEWAL.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

86



Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople

9.19 The Local Development Framework is required by national planning policy 
(ODPM Circular 01/2006 and CLG Circular 04/2007) to provide sufficient sites 
to meet identified accommodation needs for gypsies, travellers and travelling 
showpeople. National policy emphasises the importance of assessing needs at 
a sub-regional level, and to identify and make provision for the resultant land 
and accommodation requirements.

9.20 The most recent sub-regional assessment of need is provided by the 
Northamptonshire Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 
(GTAA)(2008).5 The GTAA identifies a need for 51 residential pitches, 10 
transit pitches and 4 travelling showpeople plots for the period 2007-2017 in 
West Northamptonshire. A district breakdown of this requirement taken directly 
from the GTAA is provided in Table 5 below.

Table 5: Accommodation Requirements for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople – District Breakdown 2007-2017 

Area Residential 
Pitches

Transit Pitches Travelling 
Showpeople 
Plots

Daventry 9 3 2
Northampton 32 5 0
South Northants 10 2 2
Total 51 10 4

9.21 Specific sites to meet the needs specified in Policy H7 below will be allocated 
in the West Northamptonshire Site Allocations Development Plan Document
in accordance with the criteria set out in the policy below. The provision of 
small sites which are integral to and planned alongside the Sustainable Urban 
Extensions will be considered where they meet the criteria.  These criteria 
should also be applied to the consideration of planning applications for sites to 
meet unexpected demand.

9.22 Since 2007 one residential pitch for gypsies and travellers, and two plots for 
travelling showpeople have been provided in Daventry District. This provision 
has been discounted from the requirements specified in Policy H7 below.

9.23 Whilst all sites should be reasonably accessible to services and facilities, the 
location of transit sites and temporary stopping places could be more remote. 
A key priority for these sites is the ease of access to the primary road 
network.

5 Fordham Research (2008) Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment in Northamptonshire. 
Prepared for the County, Borough and District Councils in Northamptonshire.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

87



9.24 Policy H7 does not seek to set a specific limit on the size of individual sites, as 
this would be an arbitrary approach. However, it is noted that government 
guidance6 suggests that a maximum of 15 pitches is conducive with providing 
a comfortable environment which is easy to manage. This reflects the 
preference of residents and site managers and larger sites should be avoided 
unless there is a clear need and preference expressed through local 
community consultation including with the gypsy and traveller community.

9.25 The identification of new sites will require effective consultation with the 
settled and the gypsy and traveller communities, addressing issues such as 
the fear of crime.

9.26 The GTAA for Northamptonshire only identifies pitch requirements up to 2017. 
Clearly it will be necessary to review and update the GTAA and any revised 
requirements beyond 2017 will need to be addressed through a future review 
of this JCS. 

  
POLICY H7 – GYPSIES, TRAVELLERS AND TRAVELLING SHOWPEOPLE

THE FOLLOWING PROVISION WILL BE MADE FOR ACCOMMODATION 
OF GYPSIES, TRAVELLERS AND TRAVELLING SHOWPEOPLE IN THE 
PERIOD UP TO 2017:

WITHIN DAVENTRY DISTRICT : 8 RESIDENTIAL PITCHES AND 3
TRANSIT PITCHES; 

  
WITHIN NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH: 32 RESIDENTIAL PITCHES AND 
5 TRANSIT PITCHES; AND

WITHIN SOUTH NORTHAMPTONSHIRE: 10 RESIDENTIAL PITCHES, 2 
TRANSIT PITCHES AND 2 TRAVELLING SHOWPEOPLE PLOTS. 

SITE ALLOCATIONS AND APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION 
MUST MEET THE FOLLOWING CRITERIA:

(I) THE SITE HAS SAFE AND CONVENIENT VEHICULAR ACCESS FROM 
THE PUBLIC HIGHWAY, AND PROVIDES ADEQUATE SPACE FOR 
PARKING, TURNING AND SERVICING ON SITE. 

(II) THE SITE IS REASONABLY ACCESSIBLE TO A RANGE OF 
SERVICES SET OUT IN NATIONAL POLICY, I.E. SHOPS, PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT, PRIMARY HEALTH CARE AND SCHOOLS. 

(III) THE SITE WILL PROVIDE AN ACCEPTABLE STANDARD OF 
AMENITY FOR THE PROPOSED RESIDENTS. SITES WHICH ARE 
EXPOSED TO HIGH LEVELS OF FLOOD RISK AND NOISE AND AIR 
POLLUTION ARE NOT ACCEPTABLE.

(IV) THE SITE WILL BE CAPABLE OF PROVIDING ADEQUATE ON SITE 
SERVICES FOR WATER SUPPLY, POWER, DRAINAGE, SEWAGE 

6 Communities and Local Government (2008)  - Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites: Good Practice 
Guide 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

88



DISPOSAL, WASTE DISPOSAL, COMPOSTING AND RECYCLING 
FACILITIES. 

(V) THE SCALE AND LOCATION OF THE SITE WILL NOT HAVE AN 
UNACCEPTABLE IMPACT ON THE LANDSCAPE, LOCAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND EXISTING COMMUNITIES.

(VI) IN THE CASE OF SITES FOR TRAVELLING SHOWPEOPLE  THERE 
WILL BE SUFFICIENT SPACE FOR THE STORAGE AND 
MAINTENANCE OF EQUIPMENT AND THE PARKING AND 
MANOEUVERING OF ALL VEHICLES ASSOCIATED WITH THE 
OCCUPIERS. ADDITIONAL SCREENING MAY BE REQUIRED HAVING 
REGARD TO THE NATURE OF THE EQUIPMENT THAT IS BEING 
STORED.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

89



10.0 Built and Natural Environment

Introduction

10.1 West Northamptonshire’s landscape is influenced by the unique combination 
of natural and historical features found in the area, for example the underlying 
geology, biodiversity, buildings, structures, and transport connections.  

10.2 These landscapes, both man-made and natural, are what makes the area 
distinctive and there is a pressing need to preserve and enhance many of the 
features, such as the ancient woodlands, buildings of interest, townscapes 
and rural settings.

10.3 In order to help understand Northamptonshire’s landscape the River Nene 
Regional Park Partnership has produced a Landscape Character 
Assessment1 covering the whole of the county.  The Assessment considers 
the different elements that influence the landscape, including: 

Environmental Character;
Historic Landscape Character;
Biodiversity Character Assessment and;
Green Infrastructure

10.4 The Landscape Character Assessment identifies the following 35 character
areas in West Northamptonshire:

Guilsborough Ironstone Uplands
Spratton and Creaton Ironstone Uplands
Eydon Hills
Staverton Hills
Harlestone Heath and the Bramptons
Moulton Slopes
Hanging Houghton
Pitsford Water
Naseby Plateau
Sywell Plateau
The Tove Catchment
Hackleton Claylands
Whittlewood Plateau
Salcey Forest and Yardley Chase
Croughton, Aynho and Farthinghoe Plateau
Middleton Cheney and Woodland Halse
Bugbrooke and Daventry
Long Buckby
Cottesbrooke and Arthingworth 

1 River Nene Regional Park (2008) Northamptonshire Environmental Character and Green 
Infrastructure Suite v.2.2. http://www.rnrpenvironmentalcharacter.org.uk. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

90



Newbold Grounds 
Hothorpe Hills to Great Oxendon
Boddington Hills
River Cherwell Floodplain
River Tove Floodplain
Brampton Valley Floodplain
The Nene – Long Buckby to Weedon Bec
The Nene – Weedon Bec to Duston Mill
The Nene – Duston Mill to Billing Wharf
The Nene – Billing Wharf to Woodford Mill
Boddington Vale Farmland
Vale of Rugby

 Brackley 
Towcester
Daventry
Northampton

10.5 This unique landscape contains significant nationally protected built and 
natural assets, including:

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and Regionally Important 
Geological and Geomorphological Sites (RIGS);
Green infrastructure networks; 
Archaeological remains;
Historic buildings and structures; and
Internationally recognised habitats for wetland birds.   

10.6 The quality of the environment presents a number of challenges that the JCS
must address when delivering new development such as: 

How to minimise the loss of natural habitats and preserve the integrity and 
significance of designated sites; 
The management of water so as to minimise the risk of flooding either from 
river or from surface water; and
The conservation of historic assets. 

10.7 Further Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Studies have also 
been carried out for the towns in West Northamptonshire. These studies 
provide additional broad advice on the overall sensitivity of an area, including 
historic character, green infrastructure, biodiversity and overall landscape
sensitivity. These studies have informed the selection of the areas for 
development identified in this plan. The development of areas highlighted as 
having High Landscape Sensitivity in the study is not precluded, but it does 
mean that additional care and appropriate mitigation will be required when 
planning for new development, including the major proposals for High Speed 
Rail 2, which could have considerable effects on the landscape character, 
natural environment and heritage assets, such as key conservation areas.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

91



Green Infrastructure

10.8 Green Infrastructure (GI) is a network of multi-functional green spaces and 
their connections2. GI is an asset that enables the environment to support 
and maintain ecological processes whilst sustaining land, air and water 
resources and is important within and beyond urban areas.  This particular 
section looks at the connections between different spaces, which includes: 
registered parks and gardens, historic battlefields, woodlands, meadows and 
other amenity spaces.  

10.9 Figure 6 in Section 20 at the end of the JCS shows the sub-regional and local 
green infrastructure corridors in West Northamptonshire.

10.10 The sub-regional green infrastructure corridors are the corridors that provide 
the link between the major areas of population within Northamptonshire and 
beyond into neighbouring counties.  The function of these corridors is to 
connect areas of natural heritage, green space, biodiversity or other 
environmental interest.  Local green infrastructure corridors provide links 
between the sub-regional corridors. 

10.11 Green infrastructure has economic benefits3 and is an essential element in 
helping to manage the environmental impact of continued economic growth. 
The Northamptonshire-wide approach to Green Infrastructure is set out within 
the Landscape Character Assessment4, which is supported by a prioritisation 
and management strategy for the network as well as identifying areas for 
future enhancement. Further work on the economic benefits of green 
infrastructure is currently being undertaken by Northamptonshire County 
Council. The Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Studies 5 for 
each of the four towns within West Northamptonshire identify green 
infrastructure assets and opportunities. These documents provide a more 
detailed framework for planning green infrastructure at the site specific level, 
particularly advising how development can enhance our green infrastructure 
networks.   

10.12 There is an on-going requirement for funding to create, enhance and manage 
our natural and historic assets.  The Developer Contributions Supplementary 
Planning Document will set out the detailed requirements for the creation, 
enhancement and management of green infrastructure corridors and 

2 See: www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/planningtransportlocalgov/greeninfrastructure/default.aspx  
3 Green spaces are a ‘magnet for the highly educated’. Green cities attract skilled workers. (Kahn, 
2006). Significant economic benefits will accrue from having a higher skilled workforce (green growth, 
the economics of green cities) (Kahn, 2006). Green Infrastructure Guidance for the East Midlands, 
(EMGIN, 2009)
4 River Nene Regional Park (2008) Northamptonshire Environmental Character and Green 
Infrastructure Suite v.2.2. http://www.rnrpenvironmentalcharacter.org.uk
5 Living Landscapes: Northampton Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Study (2009). 
Quartet Design: Towcester and Brackley Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Study 
(2009).  West Northamptonshire Development Corporation:  
Daventry Infrastructure Study (2008).

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

92



associated facilities, including the mechanisms for offsite delivery, if 
appropriate.  

POLICY BN1 - GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE CONNECTIONS

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE CORRIDORS OF SUB-REGIONAL AND 
LOCAL IMPORTANCE AS SET OUT IN FIGURE 6 OF THE JOINT CORE 
STRATEGY WILL BE RECOGNISED FOR THEIR IMPORTANT 
CONTRIBUTION TO SENSE OF PLACE AND CONSERVED, MANAGED
AND ENHANCED BY:

INCORPORATING EXISTING AND IDENTIFIED FUTURE NETWORKS 
INTO NEW DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS;

SECURING CONTRIBUTIONS FROM DEVELOPMENT OR OTHER 
SOURCES FOR THE FUTURE MANAGEMENT OF THE GREEN 
INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORKS; 

DELIVERING LONG TERM MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES FOR THE 
SUB-REGIONAL AND LOCAL NETWORK. 

NEW GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE PROVISION WILL: 

1. BE DESIGNED AND DELIVERED SUSTAINABLY WITH PRUDENT 
USE OF NATURAL RESOURCES; 

2. MITIGATE AND ADAPT TO THE EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE 
INCLUDING THROUGH IMPROVED FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND AS A CARBON STORE; 

3. BE DESIGNED TO THE HIGHEST QUALITY IN TERMS OF 
APPEARANCE, ACCESS PROVISION AND WILDLIFE PROVISION; 

4. REFLECT LOCAL CHARACTER THROUGH THE PLANTING OF 
NATIVE SPECIES AND CONSIDERATION OF NATURAL AND 
CULTURAL HERITAGE FEATURES;

5. BE SUPPORTED BY A LONG-TERM MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

Biodiversity 

10.13 West Northamptonshire has a range of sites that are recognised for their 
important contribution to the diversity of species and important habitats, there 
are presently 22 Sites of Special Scientific Interest across the area and over 
139 hectares of land designated as Local Nature Reserves. There are also a 
number of other sites, such as local wildlife sites, and other open space 
designations which provide habitats for wildlife. These range from sites that 
have been designated for their local importance to those that are 
internationally recognised.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

93



10.14 Increasing pressure is being placed on natural habitats, both as a result of 
new development and the wider impacts of climate change. There is a 
pressing need to not only protect, enhance and manage the adaptation of 
existing sites, but also to restore and create habitats, especially those that are 
also important to the wider green infrastructure network to enable wildlife to 
freely move. Functioning ecosystems provide significant beneficial effects 
such as:

flood risk management,
carbon stores; and
crop pollination.  

10.15 New development must take into account existing biodiversity resources and 
contribute to the links between them.

10.16 Within the existing policy hierarchy individual wildlife sites designated at an 
international or national level, e.g. Special Protection Areas (SPA), Regionally 
Important Geological and Geomorphologic Sites (RIGGs) and Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and protected road verges receive statutory 
protection (under specific existing legislation) whilst other sites designated at 
a local level receive less protection e.g. Local Wildlife Sites, potential wildlife 
sites and pocket parks.  Within the plan area there are a number of 
designations, ranging from International, National, Regional and Local level.

10.17 Designated sites form a significant and important part of West 
Northamptonshire’s natural resource by contributing to the connectivity of 
ecological assets, biodiversity linkages and the landscape as a whole. In the 
future these sites will help habitats and species adapt to the effects of climate 
change.

10.18 Plant and animal species recognised by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
(as amended) should receive appropriate protection and should be taken into 
consideration in any proposal which is likely to affect them.

10.19 The Northamptonshire Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP)6 sets out 
Northamptonshire’s targets for the protection and creation of a range of 
habitats and species that have been identified as being important in 
Northamptonshire. These include important habitats such as wet woodlands 
and acid grasslands and protected species such as otters and water voles.  
The BAP describes areas where the identified habitats already exist and those 
areas likely to be most suitable for re-creation.

6 Northamptonshire Biodiversity Partnership (2009): Northamptonshire Biodiversity Action Plan: 
http://www.northamptonshirebiodiversity.org/default.asp_PageID=17.html

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

94



POLICY BN2 - BIODIVERSITY

DEVELOPMENT THAT WILL MAINTAIN AND ENHANCE EXISTING
DESIGNATIONS AND ASSETS OR DELIVER A NET GAIN IN 
BIODIVERSITY WILL BE SUPPORTED.

DEVELOPMENT THAT HAS THE POTENTIAL TO HARM SITES OF 
ECOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE WILL BE SUBJECT TO AN ECOLOGICAL 
ASSESSMENT AND REQUIRED TO DEMONSTRATE:

THE METHODS USED TO CONSERVE BIODIVERSITY IN ITS DESIGN 
AND IMPLEMENTATION

HOW HABITAT CONSERVATION, ENHANCEMENT AND CREATION 
CAN BE ACHIEVED THROUGH LINKING HABITATS

HOW DESIGNATED SITES, PROTECTED SPECIES AND PRIORITY 
HABITATS WILL BE SAFEGUARDED 

IN CASES WHERE IT CAN BE SHOWN THAT THERE IS NO 
REASONABLE ALTERNATIVE TO DEVELOPMENT THAT IS LIKELY TO 
PREJUDICE THE INTEGRITY OF AN EXISTING WILDLIFE SITE OR 
PROTECTED HABITAT APPROPRIATE MITIGATION MEASURES WILL 
BE EXPECTED IN PROPORTION TO THE ASSET THAT WILL BE LOST.
WHERE MITIGATION, COMPENSATION OR OTHER MEASURES CAN 
NOT BE AGREED WITH THE RELEVANT AUTHORITY DEVELOPMENT 
WILL NOT BE PERMITTED.

Woodland Enhancement and Creation

10.20 Woodlands provide a wide range of social, environmental and economic 
benefits.  Sustainable and positive woodland management is the key to 
securing these benefits over the long term.  West Northamptonshire has a 
relatively poor level of tree cover.  Creation of new woodlands, particularly 
with native species can stimulate the economy through tourism, business 
diversification and forestry employment.  Woodlands also deliver benefits 
through the creation of diverse habitats by providing recreation opportunities, 
alleviating flood risk and have the potential to contribute to wider climate 
change issues such as creating carbon sinks or providing fuel for renewable 
energy.  Opportunities to enhance and create woodlands in West 
Northamptonshire as a whole will be supported particularly as part of the 
green infrastructure network referred to in the green infrastructure section 
above and as part of the biodiversity network in the plan area. Ancient 
Woodlands are defined by Natural England as areas where there is believed 
to have been continuous woodland cover since at least 1600 AD.  These 
woodlands can be either ancient semi-natural or ancient replanted woodland.  
They are irreplaceable habitats which contribute towards local distinctiveness, 
amenity and biodiversity and will be protected.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

95



10.21 The following ancient woodlands are all located within South 
Northamptonshire district: Salcey, Whittlewood and Yardley Chase.  These 
woodlands provide the opportunity for woodland enhancement and creation 
linking and extending the existing blocks of woodland and other habitats of 
high biodiversity value.  The creation of new woodland should not be at the 
expense of existing areas of high biodiversity value and should not 
compromise the creation of geographically related habitats such as acid 
grassland and heath land. The conservation of these woodlands and 
continued efforts for habitat restoration will apply regardless or ownership and 
proposals for development that may prejudice the integrity and value of these 
sites, such as golf courses, will be resisted. Further advice relating to the 
consideration of biodiversity in the development management process will be 
provided in the Development Management DPD. 

POLICY BN3 – WOODLAND ENHANCEMENT AND CREATION

MEASURES TO ENHANCE EXISTING WOODLANDS AND CREATE NEW 
WOODLANDS IN WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE WILL BE SUPPORTED.

WOODLAND ENHANCEMENT AND CREATION ALONG THE YARDLEY
WHITTLEWOOD RIDGE FROM THE VILLAGE OF YARDLEY HASTING 
TOWARDS TOWCESTER AND BRACKLEY WILL BE PRIORITISED IN 
RECOGNITION OF ITS IMPORTANCE TO THE CHARACTER AND
BIODIVERSITY OF WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE. DEVELOPMENT THAT 
WOULD LEAD TO FURTHER FRAGMENTATION OR RESULT IN A LOSS 
OF ANCIENT WOODLAND WILL NOT BE PERMITTED. 

Upper Nene Gravel Pits Potential Special Protection Area (pSPA)

10.22 The Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
has been designated as a potential European Special Protection Area (pSPA) 
because of its international importance as a wetland habitat for breeding birds. 
It is also a rare example of wet floodplain woodland.

10.23 Due to the site’s international importance, a Habitats Directive Regulations 
Assessment, often referred to as an Appropriate Assessment, is required 
under European Directive (92/43/EEC) on the conservation of natural habitats 
and wild fauna and flora for plans that may have an impact on European Sites 
(Natura 2000). A Habitats Regulations Assessment considers the impacts of 
land-use planning against the conservation objectives of the European site to 
ascertain whether it would adversely affect the integrity of the site. 
Assessments7 undertaken to inform the Joint Core Strategy have identified 
any potential effects arising from the plan and have identified measures to 
avoid and mitigate these effects, including a buffer zone around the site of 900 
metres. 

7 Environ: West Northamptonshire Habitats Regulation Assessment (Appropriate Assessment) (2009 
and 2010). Environ: Additional work to inform the Appropriate Assessment of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (2009 and 2010)

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

96



10.24 The sensitive nature of some wetland habitats, particularly the Upper Nene 
Gravel Pits Special Protection area, means that it is essential to ensure that 
new development has effective ways of managing water and that this does 
not impact on water levels in the River Nene.  The Phase 1 (Outline) and the 
emerging Phase 2 (Detailed) Water Cycle Strategies for West 
Northamptonshire8 specifically looked at the impacts of the water cycle on the 
Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits Site of SSSI and the pSPA. The findings of 
these reports justify the requirement for all new development within certain 
areas to be built to specific standards to conserve water usage, as detailed 
within the Sustainable Development Principles section in the Spatial Strategy 
of this plan.  The implications of development on the water network as a 
whole, including the potential need for new infrastructure, water quality and 
water related ecology has been addressed in the Phase 1 (Outline) Water 
Cycle Strategy (WCS) and the emerging Phase 2 WCS for West 
Northamptonshire.

POLICY BN4 – UPPER NENE VALLEY GRAVEL PITS POTENTIAL 
SPECIAL PROTECTION AREA

NEW DEVELOPMENT WILL NEED TO DEMONSTRATE THROUGH THE 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PROCESS THAT THERE WILL BE NO 
SIGNIFICANT ADVERSE IMPACTS ON THE POTENTIAL SPECIAL 
PROTECTION AREA AND RAMSAR SITE INCLUDING THE LOSS OF
SUPPORTING HABITAT AND NO SIGNIFICANT ADVERSE IMPACTS ON 
ASSOCIATED EUROPEAN PROTECTED SPECIES DUE TO WATER 
RUNOFF, WATER ABSTRACTION OR DISCHARGES FROM THE FOUL 
DRAINAGE SYSTEM EITHER AS A DIRECT RESULT OF THE 
DEVELOPMENT ALONE OR IN COMBINATION  

NEW DEVELOPMENT WILL NEED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE 
IMPACT OF ANY INCREASED RECREATIONAL ACTIVITY (INDIRECT OR 
DIRECT) ON THE NENE VALLEY POTENTIAL SPECIAL PROTECTION 
AREA AND RAMSAR SITE WILL NOT HAVE A DETRIMENTAL IMPACT 
AND THAT ALL NECESSARY MITIGATION INCLUDING RETENTION OF 
SUPPORTING HABITAT WILL BE INCORPORATED. 

NO NEW DEVELOPMENT (RESULTING IN A NET GAIN OF UNITS) WILL 
BE PERMITTED WITHIN 900 METRES OF THE POTENTIAL SPECIAL 
PROTECTION AREA BOUNDARY.   

8 Halcrow: West Northamptonshire Development Corporation Water Cycle Strategy Phase 1 Outline 
Study 2009). Halcrow: West Northamptonshire Phase 2 Water Cycle Strategy (Expected March 
2010).

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

97



Historic Environment and Landscape

10.25 In addition to natural features, such as green infrastructure networks and 
habitats, the historic environment is an important element of the landscape
and reflects the human relationship with geology, topography and the natural 
environment. 

10.26 There are a variety of different landscapes which have been shaped by a 
range of influences, for example:

the Grand Union Canal; 
the current and past railway or road networks; 
the historical relationship with agricultural industries; and
The area’s position at the heart of the country.  

10.27 These varying influences mean that settlements across the area are very 
different. For example, the growth of the villages and towns on the railway 
lines compared to those more isolated hamlets. The area’s rich history has 
resulted in excess of 300 designated heritage assets spread across the rural 
and the urban landscapes of West Northamptonshire as well as many more 
non-designated assets of national importance or local interest.  

10.28 The historic built environment is one of the plan area’s most valued assets. 
This includes buildings and structures, parks and gardens, and archaeological 
remains that are an important aspect of the area’s past.  There is statutory 
protection of designated historic assets, including scheduled ancient 
monuments, listed buildings and conservation areas, through legislation.
However, there are still assets which are at risk from the impact of major 
change through development or the cumulative loss of smaller features and 
structures, which make the area distinctive.  Many assets are not covered by 
statutory designations; the improvement of our understanding of the 
significance of these non-designated assets, both their historical importance 
and their contribution to the place, together with designated assets is a 
process that will need to continue throughout the plan period to prevent further 
loss.  

10.29 Whilst protection of historic assets is generally good, with relatively few “at 
risk”, there are some larger sites that are of particular importance including 
Weedon Depot and Delapre Abbey.  Weedon Depot is the subject of a 
specific policy (Policy BN6) in this Joint Core Strategy due to its size, location 
and historical importance.  Delapre Abbey is a Grade II* Listed building and
parkland in Northampton.  Northampton Borough Council is currently
preparing a management plan for the site.  Often however the historic assets 
most at risk are those that are “non-designated”. Although assets may be of 
national importance action is often taken locally including understanding of
their importance.  Action is presently being taken by the Councils in West 
Northamptonshire and partner organisations to better understand the issues 
relating to their own assets; such as the retention of “local lists”, the surveying 
of ridge and furrow and the appraisal of the terraced streets and former 
factories that are related to Northampton’s Boot and Shoe industry. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

98



Mechanisms to protect specific assets, including non-designated assets, will 
be strengthened through policies in the Development Management 
Development Plan Document and management strategies where appropriate. 

10.30 The relationship between new development and the existing built form is one 
that requires careful consideration. New development, when designed well, 
can help to enforce the character of an area which makes it unique. Whilst 
there are individual examples of good design, both in the rural and urban 
setting, which take account of local distinctiveness (for example, architectural 
styles, materials, density, scale, hierarchy, massing and layout) the majority of 
recent housing developments or edge of town retailing and leisure complexes 
have compromised the area’s character resulting in areas that are “placeless”.  

POLICY BN5 - THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT

DESIGNATED AND NON-DESIGNATED HERITAGE ASSETS AND THEIR 
SETTINGS WILL BE CONSERVED AND ENHANCED IN RECOGNITION 
OF THEIR CONTRIBUTION TO WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE’S SENSE 
OF PLACE. 

IN ENVIRONMENTS WHERE VALUED HERITAGE ASSETS ARE AT RISK, 
THE ASSET AND ITS SETTING WILL BE CONSERVED AND MANAGED 
IN PROPORTION TO THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE ASSET.

IN ORDER TO SECURE AND RETAIN THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE 
AREA’S HERITAGE ASSETS AND THEIR SETTINGS DEVELOPMENT IN 
AREAS OF KNOWN HISTORIC IMPORTANCE WILL BE REQUIRED TO:

1. SUSTAIN AND ENHANCE THE FEATURES WHICH CONTRIBUTE TO 
THE CHARACTER OF THE AREA INCLUDING:

CONSERVATION AREAS; 
SIGNIFICANT HISTORICAL LANDSCAPES; 
THE SKYLINE AND SETTINGS OF TOWNS AND VILLAGES;
SITES OF KNOWN OR POTENTIAL HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE;
LOCALLY AND NATIONALLY SIGNIFICANT BUILDINGS AND
STRUCTURES

2. DEMONSTRATE AN APPRECIATION AND UNDERSTANDING OF 
DEVELOPMENT ON SURROUNDING HERITAGE ASSETS AND THEIR 
SETTING; 

3. BE SYMPATHETIC TO LOCALLY DISTINCTIVE LANDSCAPE 
FEATURES, DESIGN STYLES AND MATERIALS IN ORDER TO
CONTRIBUTE TO A SENSE OF PLACE

THE RETENTION AND SENSITIVE RE-USE OF DISUSED OR 
UNDERUSED HISTORIC ASSETS AND STRUCTURES IS ENCOURAGED 
IN ORDER TO RETAIN AND REFLECT THE DISTINCTIVENESS OF THE 
ENVIRONMENT, CONTRIBUTE TO THE SENSE OF PLACE AND 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

99



PROMOTE THE SUSTAINABLE AND PRUDENT USE OF NATURAL 
RESOURCES; 

PROPOSALS TO SUSTAIN AND ENHANCE THE AREA’S 
UNDERSTANDING OF HERITAGE ASSETS, FOR TOURISM AND 
HISTORIC INTEREST AS PART OF CULTURAL, LEISURE AND GREEN 
NETWORKS WILL BE SUPPORTED

Weedon Depot

10.31 The former Royal Ordnance Depot lies on the north western edge of the 
village of Weedon near the junction of the A45 and A5, between Daventry to 
the west and Northampton to the east.  The site extends to approximately 7.4 
hectares and contains a number of existing buildings with a potential floor 
space of approximately 18,000 sq metres. 

10.32 Whilst this site is of relatively modest scale, it is appropriate for inclusion in the 
JCS for two principal reasons.  Firstly, its significant heritage value, 
recognised in its Grade II* listing allied to, secondly, the significant challenges 
in achieving viable, sustainable and uses for the site in the context of its 
condition, location and limited access options.  

10.33 Weedon Depot is a unique UK example of a planned military industrial 
complex and the main depot buildings were listed as Grade II* in 1999. Of the 
Depot’s original component parts, the storehouse enclosure, magazine 
enclosure, their buildings and a section of the Ordnance Canal survive today.  

10.34 The site has been largely unused since 1984 and some of the original 
component parts and elements are in poor condition and feature in the 
English Heritage’s Buildings at Risk Register.  It is important that viable 
alternative uses are found for the site which will ensure that the listed 
buildings and their setting are restored and then secured for future 
generations.

10.35 Whilst there are strong heritage reasons to support the re-use of the site, it is 
also important to ensure that the scale and nature of the uses on the site is 
sustainable, particularly in relation to the capacity of the local highway network 
and the need to avoid any adverse impacts on the vitality of existing nearby 
town centres and plans to invest in and revitalise these centres.    

10.36 The purpose of Policy BN6 is to enable a viable re-use of the Weedon Depot 
which secures the long term future of this important cultural heritage site.  A 
Conservation Plan9 for the site was adopted by Daventry District Council in 
2005, and any proposals for the site would be expected to meet the 
requirements of the Conservation Plan, or any subsequent updates.

9 Liv Gibbs, The Historic Environment Consultancy (2005). Weedon Depot Conservation Plan. 
Adopted by Daventry District Council.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

100



10.37 Retail is a potential use, but a balance needs to be struck between enabling a 
viable re-use whilst ensuring that the scale and nature of retail uses would not 
undermine the existing town centres of Northampton, Daventry and 
Towcester. The West Northamptonshire Retail Study 2008-202610 concluded 
that a Factory Outlet Centre would be a potential use for Weedon Depot, as
this form of development would have less impact on the town centres in the 
area than other retail formats.  If retail development forms a significant part of 
the proposal then this should be accompanied by a Retail Impact Assessment 
to gauge the effect on the vitality and viability of existing town centres.  Similar 
impact assessments would be required for significant volumes of office or 
leisure uses.

10.38 Residential uses, whilst challenging to achieve in terms of the conservation 
importance of the site, are likely to generate value assisting with the 
restoration and long-term maintenance of the site.  As such, these are 
included as potentially suitable uses for parts of the complex.

10.39 Having regard to the location of the site in close proximity to the junction of the 
A45/ A5, it is important that the impact of additional traffic associated with the 
development of the site is carefully considered, including consideration of the 
impact of increased traffic on local amenity.  A transport assessment will 
therefore be a key requirement of any proposal.

POLICY BN6 – WEEDON DEPOT

THE RE-USE OF THE FORMER ORDNANCE DEPOT AT WEEDON WILL 
BE SUPPORTED IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE THE RESTORATION OF THIS 
IMPORTANT CULTURAL AND HERITAGE SITE. THE FOLLOWING USES 
WILL BE CONSIDERED: 

MUSEUM (CLASS D1)
EMPLOYMENT (CLASS B1)
RETAIL (CLASS A1)
RESTAURANT / CAFÉ / DRINKING ESTABLISHMENT (CLASS A3, A4 
and A5)
OTHER LEISURE, TOURISM, AND RECREATION USES
RESIDENTIAL

A MIX OF THE ABOVE USES WILL BE THE MOST APPROPRIATE 
SOLUTION FOR THE SITE. FOR ALL FORMS OF DEVELOPMENT 
PROPOSED IN RESPECT OF THE SITE THE FOLLOWING FACTORS 
WILL NEED TO BE ADDRESSED IN ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF A 
PARTICULAR PROPOSAL:

THE NEED TO PRESERVE AND ENHANCE THE CULTURAL AND 
HERITAGE VALUE OF THE SITE BY ENSURING THAT THE RE-USE OF 
EXISTING BUILDINGS AND ANY NEW BUILDING IS UNDERTAKEN IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH AN AGREED CONSERVATION PLAN.

10 CACI (2009). West Northamptonshire Retail Study 2008-2026

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

101



AN IMPACT ASSESSMENT TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE NATURE 
AND SCALE OF LEISURE, RETAIL AND/ OR EMPLOYMENT 
DEVELOPMENT IS APPROPRIATE FOR THE LOCATION AND WOULD 
NOT ADVERSELY AFFECT THE VITALITY AND VIABILITY OF 
EXISTING TOWN CENTRES OR THE ABILITY TO SECURE 
INVESTMENT AND REVITALISATION IN THEM.

A TRANSPORT ASSESSMENT TO ENSURE THAT SUFFICIENT 
CAPACITY EXISTS ON THE STRATEGIC AND LOCAL HIGHWAY 
NETWORKS AND THAT FULL OPPORTUNITIES ARE TAKEN TO 
ACCESS THE SITE BY NON-CAR MODES.

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS SHOULD BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN PREPARED IN CONSULTATION WITH THE DISTRICT 
PLANNING AUTHORITY, LOCAL COMMUNITY AND OTHER INTERESTED 
PARTIES INCLUDING THE HIGHWAY AUTHORITIES FOR THE NEARBY 
ROADS.

Water Resources and Water Quality

10.40 Development can have a significant impact on water resources, from putting 
additional strain on existing supplies, to affecting flood patterns by changing 
the way that water flows across land.  It is essential to protect and enhance 
the quality and quantity of both ground and surface water, ensure necessary 
service provision, conserve water supplies and manage flood risk.

10.41 New developments will need to have the necessary means of water supply
but this must not affect the water levels at the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits 
Potential Special Protection Area (pSPA) or overall water quality. In 
conformity with the Water Framework Directive, specific standards for new 
development in respect of water resources and quality are detailed in the 
Sustainable Development Principles Policy in the Spatial Strategy in Section
5 of this JCS and are reflected within the Infrastructure Schedule in 
Appendix 4; these are essential in ensuring sustainable development and 
protecting the area’s high water quality  

Flood Risk Management and Water Quality

10.42 Flood risk and water quality are significant concerns for West 
Northamptonshire.  The Rivers Nene, Tove and Ouse and their tributaries as 
well as the canal network and reservoirs are prominent features of the 
landscape and important to wider biodiversity and leisure networks. Yet due
to these water bodies and historic patterns of development there are a 
number of areas which are at risk of flooding.  In addition to fluvial flooding 
there is also a risk of surface water flooding following periods of heavy rainfall 
and/ or where drainage is ineffective.  

10.43 Due to the potential effects of climate change there is an increasing need for 
local authorities to appraise, manage and reduce flood risk from all sources. In 
accordance with the sequential test and principles of national Planning Policy 
Statement 25: Development and Flood Risk (PPS25) development will be

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

102



steered away from areas of greatest risk and, where this is not possible, flood 
risk management will be required.

10.44 All new developments will need to demonstrate that they have regard to 
existing and future flood patterns and that the need for effective protection and 
flood risk management measures from all sources, such as sustainable 
drainage systems and opportunities for strategic flood storage have been 
considered, this is particularly important in areas that are vulnerable to 
flooding.

10.45 Some development has historically also had a negative impact on water 
quality, due to run-off from hard surfaces or other changes to the water cycle. 
In order to meet the requirements of the new Water Framework Directive11, a 
statutory duty has been placed on local authorities to ensure that development 
creates no detriment to the water quality and in some cases can create
betterment of quality as well as providing benefits such as flood risk 
management. Given this requirement it is vital that this plan ensures that new 
development is sustainable.  Policy S10 Sustainable Development Principles 
in the Spatial Strategy sets out how it is expected that development will meet 
this objective.

10.46 A Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)12 has been undertaken for 
the plan area. This describes and analyses how the area is affected by flood
risk and the nature of that risk.  More detailed Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessments for Northampton13, South Northamptonshire and Daventry 
District14 have also been completed and provides additional information for 
areas at risk of flooding where development pressures exist or may exist in 
the future. Sitting alongside these documents is the West Northamptonshire 
Water Cycle Strategy for the whole area, which provides the evidence of the 
impact of development on water quality and supply, in addition to a specific 
drainage plan for the Central Area of Northampton, which has particular 
issues due to the age and construction of the infrastructure. 

10.47 In order to assist in the area’s resilience to future flooding events new 
development should help achieve the long-term flood management goals set 
out in the River Nene15, the River Ouse16 and the River Thames17

11 Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for 
the Community action in the field of water policy (known as the Water Framework Directive)

Catchment 
Flood Management Plans (CFMPs), produced by the Environment Agency.
This includes constructing defences to the appropriate standard as required 

12 Scott Wilson (2009) West Northamptonshire Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment
13Scott Wilson (2010), Northampton Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment
14Scott Wilson (2009), Daventry and South Northamptonshire Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment.
15 Environment Agency (2009), River Nene Catchment Flood Management Plan Summary Report: 
Peterborough. 
16 Environment Agency (2010), River Ouse Catchment Flood Management Plan Summary Report: 
Leeds. 
17 Environment Agency (2009), River Thames Catchment Flood Management Plan Summary Report: 
Reading.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

103



by the Environment Agency, which may be greater than the minimum 
requirements, and where appropriate, secured in perpetuity.   

10.48 Development will be required to take account of the classifications of flood risk 
vulnerability. Table 6, below, details the approach that will need to be taken 
for each flood zone. A fuller explanation of what constitutes essential 
infrastructure, water compatible, highly vulnerable, more vulnerable, and less 
vulnerable is set out within the current Planning Policy Statement 25: 
Development and Flood Risk. 

Table 6: Exception Test

Flood Risk 
Vulnerability

Essential 
Infrastructure

Water 
Compatible

Highly 
Vulnerable

More 
Vulnerable

Less 
Vulnerable

Flood 
Zone

Zone 
1

Development 
is appropriate

Development 
is appropriate

Development 
is appropriate

Development 
is appropriate

Development 
is appropriate

Zone 
2

Development 
is appropriate

Development 
is appropriate

Exception 
Test required

Development 
is appropriate

Development 
is appropriate

Zone 
3a

Exception 
Test required

Development 
is appropriate

Development 
should not be 
permitted

Exception 
Test required

Development 
is appropriate

Zone 
3b

Exception 
Test required

Development 
is appropriate

Development 
should not be 
permitted

Development 
should not be 
permitted

Development 
should not be 
permitted

POLICY BN7 - FLOOD RISK

A SEQUENTIAL APPROACH WILL BE APPLIED TO ALL PROPOSALS 
FOR DEVELOPMENT IN ORDER TO DIRECT DEVELOPMENT TO 
AREAS AT THE LOWEST PROBABILITY OF FLOODING UNLESS IT 
HAS MET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SEQUENTIAL TEST AND
EXCEPTION TEST AS SET OUT WITHIN TABLE 6. 

ALL NEW DEVELOPMENT, INCLUDING REGENERATION 
PROPOSALS, WILL NEED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THERE IS NO
INCREASED RISK OF FLOODING TO EXISTING PROPERTIES AND 
SHALL SEEK TO IMPROVE EXISTING FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT. 
ALL PROPOSALS FOR DEVELOPMENT IN FLOOD ZONE 2, 3A OR 3B 
MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT THAT 
SETS OUT THE MITIGATION MEASURES FOR THE SITE AND 
AGREED WITH THE RELEVANT AUTHORITY. 

IN ORDER TO MEET THE EXCEPTION TEST DEVELOPMENT MUST:

DEMONSTRATE THAT THE DEVELOPMENT PROVIDES WIDER 
SUSTAINABILITY BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY THAT 
OUTWEIGH THE FLOOD RISK;

BE LOCATED ON PREVIOUSLY DEVELOPED LAND; AND

BE ACCOMPANIED BY A FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT THAT 
DEMONSTRATES THAT THE DEVELOPMENT WILL BE SAFE 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

104



WITHOUT INCREASING FLOOD RISK ELSEWHERE AND WHERE 
POSSIBLE, REDUCE FLOOD RISK OVERALL

WHERE FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT REQUIRES THE USE OF 
SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE TECHNIQUES TO MANAGE SURFACE 
WATER RUN OFF THESE SHOULD:

SEPARATE SURFACE WATER FROM FOUL AND COMBINED 
SEWERS; AND

BE ACCOMPANIED BY A LONG TERM MANAGEMENT AND 
MAINTENANCE PLAN. 

PROTECT AND ENHANCE WATER QUALITY

ALL DEVELOPMENT LOCATED UPSTREAM OF NORTHAMPTON WILL 
BE REQUIRED TO BE PROTECTED TO A 1:200 YEAR STANDARD. 

River Nene Strategic River Corridor

10.49 All river environments are an important resource for wildlife, leisure and 
recreation and are also an important link to the area’s past.  The river Nene is 
a strategic river that provides an important navigable function, connecting the 
East of England to the rest of the waterway network.  The River Nene 
contributes heavily to the area’s sense of place and the banks of the Nene are 
rich in heritage assets.  The Nene offers opportunities to restore enhance and 
create wetland landscapes and other natural habitats. It also provides a focus 
for regeneration and the provision of accessible open space and green 
infrastructure as it passes through Northampton.

10.50 Across the plan area, there is significant potential to enhance the setting of 
the River Nene, both within the urban and rural context.  Within the town of 
Northampton itself, the river provides opportunities for sport, leisure and 
recreation such as canoeing and rafting, the Northampton Marina facilities at 
the River Nene’s junction with the Grand Union Canal, and access to walks 
and cycle routes.

10.51 As the river opens up into the broad floodplains to the east of Northampton, 
and particularly in the areas that have previously been exploited for gravel 
extraction, there are increased opportunities for habitat creation and 
enhancement, especially those linked to the internationally designated 
potential Special Protection Area and Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) priority 
habitats, such as wet grasslands. These areas also help to meet some of the 
flood risk management requirements, as set out above, by making space for 
water and providing an important resource for helping to provide the area with 
ways to adapt to climate change. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

105



POLICY BN8 - THE RIVER NENE STRATEGIC RIVER CORRIDOR

THE NATURAL AND CULTURAL ENVIRONMENT OF THE NENE 
CORRIDOR THROUGH THE PLAN AREA, INCLUDING ITS TRIBUTARIES, 
WILL BE ENHANCED AND PROTECTED IN RECOGNITION OF ITS 
IMPORTANT CONTRIBUTION TO THE AREA’S GREEN 
INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORK, LANDSCAPE, TOWNSCAPES, 
REGENERATION, RECREATION AND HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT. 

PROPOSALS FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT AND HABITAT ENHANCEMENT 
SHOULD DEMONSTRATE AN UNDERSTANDING OF THE IMPORTANCE
OF THE RIVER NENE FOR BIODIVERSITY BEYOND THE PLAN AREA.

Environmental Quality

10.52 New development can have a negative impact on the environment and 
property through its potential to pollute. Furthermore, opportunities for new 
development, particularly on previously land, can be constrained by existing 
pollution issues. The overall aim of planning and pollution control policies is to 
ensure the sustainable and beneficial use of land.  Within this aim, polluting 
activities that are necessary for society and the economy should be positioned 
and subject to controls in order to minimise their adverse effects and contain 
them within acceptable limits.

10.53 There is already legislation and policy in place to help control pollution, 
including the Environment Act (1995), which gives local authorities’ powers to 
control pollution, including ways to deal with the cumulative impacts of 
development. 

10.54 Air quality, in particular, is a pressing concern for many places within the plan 
area, but is particularly focused on urban areas where there are heavy flows 
of traffic.  There are presently twelve designated Air Quality Management 
Areas: ten within the urban area of Northampton, one along the M1 corridor 
between junctions 15 and 15a and another located within Towcester.  When 
planning for new development, Planning Policy Statement 23: Planning and 
Pollution Control, plays a key role in directing development away from areas 
that may give rise to pollution either directly or indirectly and ensuring that 
other uses and development are not, as far as possible, affected by major 
existing or potential sources of pollution. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

106



POLICY BN9 - PLANNING FOR POLLUTION CONTROL

PROPOSALS FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT WILL NEED TO DEMONSTRATE 
THAT THEY PROVIDE OPPORTUNITIES TO ADDRESS EXISTING 
POLLUTION ISSUES THAT ARE A BARRIER TO ACHIEVING 
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND HEALTHY COMMUNITIES  
INCLUDING:

DETERIORATION OF AIR QUALITY; 
WATER QUALITY; AND
CONTAMINATED LAND. 

DEVELOPMENT SHOULD BE OF THE HIGHEST ENVIRONMENTAL AND 
DESIGN QUALITY INCORPORATING THE BEST AVAILABLE 
TECHNIQUES. DEVELOPMENT THAT WOULD RESULT IN A 
DETERIORATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY, EITHER 
INDIVIDUALLY OR CUMULATIVELY WILL NOT BE PERMITTED.

Ground Instability

10.55 There are areas across the Plan area that are prone to ground instability 
issues due to their underlying geological and geomorphological makeup.   
Northampton Sand occasionally overlays Upper Lias Clay and this 
combination can cause the formation of landslides particularly where slopes 
have angles greater than seven degrees.  A number of the ground stability 
issues encountered in this geological setting formed during the end of the last 
ice age and are considered to be in a state or near to a state of equilibrium.  If 
however these slopes are disturbed, by human activities or the ingression of 
water, these features could be reactivated. 

10.56 The risk of landsliding is increased by the following: 

Local geology; 
Natural springs in the area;
Slopes of over seven degrees; and
Human activity (e.g. building or diversion of water into slope).

10.57 Unfavourable slope conditions can practically be accommodated through 
engineering design.

10.58 The areas in West Northamptonshire where instability is suspected have been 
identified using data available from the British Geological Survey (BGS).  This 
data identifies land on gradients that are greater than seven degrees.

10.59 When preparing planning applications the developer will be required to 
establish if their proposal is in an area of known or potential ground instability 
using the data available from the BGS.  If the proposal is in an area of known 
or potential ground instability the developer will be required to submit a ground 
stability report describing and analysing the issues relevant to ground 
instability and indicating how any issues will be mitigated against including 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

107



remedial works.  The ground stability report will be required to accompany the 
submission of the planning application.

10.60 Further detailed guidance on development affecting unstable land can be 
found in Planning Policy Guidance Note 14 - Development on Unstable Land 
(1990).  

POLICY BN10 - GROUND INSTABILITY

DEVELOPMENT WILL BE PERMITTED ON SITES OF UNSTABLE OR 
POTENTIALLY UNSTABLE LAND PROVIDED THAT:

THE NATURE OF THE GROUND STABILITY OF THE SITE HAS BEEN 
ASSESSED TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE DETERMINING 
PLANNING AUTHORITY AND A GROUND STABILITY REPORT HAS 
BEEN PROVIDED AND AGREED BEFORE THE APPLICATION IS 
DETERMINED; 
THE DEVELOPMENT DOES NOT ADD TO THE INSTABILITY OF THE 
SITE OR SURROUNDING LAND;
ANY REQUIRED REMEDIAL WORKS ARE IMPLEMENTED PRIOR TO 
OCCUPATION OF DEVELOPMENT; AND
THE DEVELOPMENT OF ANY REQUIRED STABILISATION 
MEASURES ARE ENVIRONMENTALLY ACCEPTABLE TO THE 
SATISFACTION OF THE DETERMINING AUTHORITY. 

THE GROUND STABILITY REPORT WILL BE REQUIRED TO 
DEMONSTRATE THAT:

THE DEGREE OF INSTABILITY HAS BEEN ASSESSED;

MEASURES TO MITIGATE AGAINST THE RISK IDENTIFIED IN 1 
(ABOVE) HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED;

A SCHEDULE OF MITIGATION MEASURES IS IN PLACE;

A PROGRAMME FOR ROUTINE MONITORING IS IN PLACE; AND

ANY NEED FOR FORMAL ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT ARISING 
FROM ANY STABILISATION WORKS HAS BEEN IDENTIFIED.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

108



11.0 Infrastructure and Delivery

Introduction

11.1 As outlined in the spatial strategy in Section 5 of this JCS West 
Northamptonshire will accommodate significant development over the period to 
2026.  This development will generate its own infrastructure requirements whilst 
also increasing pressure on the existing infrastructure which is already at, or 
close to, capacity in certain instances, for example the transport network.
  

11.2 This section of the JCS defines: the term infrastructure; explains the approach 
that will be taken to deliver infrastructure including the use of contributions from 
developers in different ways; and introduces the West Northamptonshire 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) and sets out the key primary infrastructure 
projects identified in the IDP.

What is infrastructure?

11.3 Infrastructure can be defined as the facilities and services that allow 
communities to function and develop.  It can be split into three types: 

1) Physical Infrastructure – This type of infrastructure includes utilities
(gas, electricity, telecommunications, water supply, sewerage network, 
drainage), transport services (roads, railways, airports, freight terminals, 
ports, buses and trains, etc); and waste collection and disposal including 
recycling facilities. These are the services and facilities necessary to 
ensure that homes and workplaces are connected to the wider 
environment and have sufficient facilities to ensure that essential day to 
day services can be met.

2) Green Infrastructure – This type of infrastructure is the network of multi-
functional green spaces and their connections that enable the 
environment to support and maintain ecological processes, whilst 
sustaining land, air and water resources and is important within, and 
beyond urban spaces.

3) Community or Social Infrastructure – This type of infrastructure 
provides the essential support for communities to function effectively.  It 
is wide ranging including all types of education, healthcare and cultural 
services and facilities such as places of worship, community centres, 
village halls, libraries, play facilities, etc.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

109



Approach to Infrastructure Delivery

11.4 It is recognised that various elements of the existing infrastructure in the plan 
area are already at, or close to, capacity. Meeting the level of growth proposed 
will require the provision of new physical, green and social infrastructure to 
ensure future development is implemented in a sustainable and timely manner 
to support both new and existing communities.

11.5 In promoting sustainability the JCS does not seek to provide additional capacity 
by extending or providing new infrastructure without a thorough understanding 
of whether existing infrastructure could be used more efficiently and by 
reducing demand through promoting behavioural change. For example 
achieving modal shift targets from car use to other forms of transport to enable 
more efficient use of the road network.

11.6 Future growth will also bring benefits to local communities, such as increased 
economic investment, new and improved infrastructure, and access to a range 
of housing provision.  The timely provision of infrastructure, maximising 
efficiency, reducing demand and ensuring there is adequate investment in 
services and facilities will provide a key component in meeting the spatial 
objectives of the JCS as well as assisting in delivering a sound core strategy.

11.7 The phasing and delivery of the necessary infrastructure, in co ordination with 
the proposed growth for the area, is essential to achieving sustainable 
communities where people will want to live and work. It will be fundamental 
that infrastructure is provided to mitigate any adverse environmental impact. 
For example, appropriate transport infrastructure and services will play a key 
role in creating sustainable travel patterns within the area. 

11.8 It is clear that a major concern of local communities is to ensure that facilities 
and services are provided to meet future growth.  A key requirement of the JCS
is to secure appropriate levels of funding to ensure that supporting 
infrastructure is provided at an appropriate scale where planning permission for 
development is granted. It will seek to maximise all opportunities to secure 
funding both through public and private means.  

11.9 An IDP has been prepared to provide evidence to address these issues and is 
considered in further detail later in this section.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

110



POLICY INF1 - APPROACH TO INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY

NEW DEVELOPMENT WILL BE SUPPORTED BY, AND PROVIDE GOOD 
ACCESS TO, INFRASTRUCTURE, INCLUDING PHYSICAL, GREEN AND 
SOCIAL ELEMENTS. IT SHOULD SEEK TO INTEGRATE WITH AND 
COMPLEMENT ADJOINING COMMUNITIES. 

WHERE DEVELOPMENT GENERATES A NEED FOR NEW 
INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPERS WILL NEED TO DEMONSTRATE  THAT 
ADEQUATE CAPACITY EXISTS, OR THAT PROVISION WILL BE MADE, TO 
MEET THE NECESSARY REQUIREMENTS ARISING FROM THAT 
DEVELOPMENT WITHIN AN APPROPRIATE TIMESCALE.

IN ASSESSING CAPACITY, DEVELOPERS WILL BE EXPECTED TO 
PROVIDE EVIDENCE AS TO WHETHER EXISTING INFRASTRUCTURE 
CAN BE USED MORE EFFICIENTLY, OR WHETHER THE IMPACT OF 
DEVELOPMENT CAN BE REDUCED THROUGH PROMOTING 
BEHAVIOURAL CHANGE.  

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE JOINT CORE STRATEGY WILL REQUIRE A 
CO-ORDINATED APPROACH TO THE ACTIVITIES OF AGENCIES AND 
OTHER SERVICE PROVIDERS TO ENSURE THAT NEW DEVELOPMENT 
WILL BE SUPPORTED BY THE NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE 
PROVISION.

THE PRECISE TIMING OF INFRASTRUCTURE PROVISION WILL BE 
INFORMED THROUGH THE INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY PLAN, AND ITS 
SUBSEQUENT MONITORING AND REVIEW MECHANISMS, WHICH WILL 
IDENTIFY THE RANGE OF INFRASTRUCTURE REQUIRED TO DELIVER 
THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT IN WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE UP TO 
2026.

         Developer Contributions

11.10 Ensuring that all new development proposals address their impact 
appropriately and deliver solutions that allow West Northamptonshire to grow 
in a sustainable manner is essential to the proper planning of the area.

11.11 All forms of development, whether large or small, contribute to demands on 
the existing infrastructure, services and facilities for an area. In identifying 
infrastructure delivery funding, there is a need to provide an overall approach 
outlining how contributions are to be obtained through development.

11.12 When determining planning applications the Local Planning Authorities 
(including West Northamptonshire Development Corporation) will need to be 
assured that existing infrastructure provision can support proposals that come 
forward.  If this is not the case then the necessary additional infrastructure 
should be provided in a timely and sustainable manner.  This could be made 
either through direct provision or through arrangements with the relevant 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

111



Local Planning Authority.  Such arrangements could include the payment of 
financial contributions.

11.13 To ensure thriving sustainable communities reliable mechanisms must be 
established to maintain infrastructure so that it can continue to operate 
effectively.

11.14 Current legislation provides two primary approaches for providing financial 
contributions from new development.  Firstly planning obligations, which are 
largely provided on-site for non-strategic items of infrastructure required to 
mitigate the impact of a particular development through Section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Secondly, the Community 
Infrastructure Levy, which came into force in April 2010 and allows local 
authorities to raise funds from developers, through the pooling of 
contributions, to provide for a wide range of infrastructure projects.

11.15 Where new development creates a need for new or enhanced infrastructure it 
will need to be provided either directly or by a financial contribution towards its 
delivery, depending on both the scale of the development and the level of the 
infrastructure required. 

11.16 Delivering the new development proposed in the JCS has implications on 
infrastructure provision, not just on a site-by-site basis but also in terms of the 
overall cumulative impact across West Northamptonshire.  All developments 
will be required to contribute towards this need in a fair and equitable way.

11.17 The types of infrastructure and services that developments may be required to 
provide, or contribute towards, during the plan period may include, but are not 
limited to, those set out in the appendices to the West Northamptonshire IDP.
The broad types of infrastructure required to service new development will 
include:

Transport
Health
Education
Community and Leisure Facilities
Open space and Green Infrastructure
Utilities
Energy and climate change
Faith and Places of Worship

        Strategic Contributions - Community Infrastructure Levy 

11.18 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) provides Councils with an 
opportunity to raise funds from developers to assist the provision of 
infrastructure investment within an area, including projects such as new 
schools, green infrastructure, community facilities and improvements to the 
transport system needed to cater for future growth.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

112



11.19 Charging authorities are required to apply CIL to funding infrastructure in 
order to support development in the plan area. The range of infrastructure 
required to deliver the growth proposed in the JCS is outlined in the 
accompanying IDP, which will be subject to regular monitoring and updating.

11.20 CIL introduces a standard charge of development, which for applicable 
development, is charged in pounds per square metre on net additional 
increase on floorspace. It allows local authorities to raise funds from 
developers undertaking new development within their area by aggregating 
infrastructure costs and averaging them out across the range of strategic 
projects required to deliver the new development is identified in the JCS.
These projects are listed in the accompanying IDP. 

11.21 The JCS will require significant investment in infrastructure provision to 
ensure that a full range of services and facilities supports major housing and 
commercial developments. Developer contributions will be sought through the 
application of CIL.

11.22 The approach to, and application of, a CIL for West Northamptonshire will be 
set out in a detailed approach to funding, which will also address non strategic 
planning obligations, through a Supplementary Planning Document. 

11.23 The approach to strategic funding will apply to both residential and 
commercial development.  It is the intention that partnership working will be 
undertaken with the local authorities within West Northamptonshire to ensure 
this approach is successful, whilst reflecting the needs of each administrative 
area.  However, it will be for individual authorities to take forward and set out 
the charging schedule.

11.24 The IDP will provide the mechanism for monitoring and reviewing the 
infrastructure needs of the provisions of the JCS, together with the evidence 
to update the charging schedule as necessary.

Planning Obligations

11.25 CIL, as outlined above, is intended to support infrastructure projects relating to 
the wider development of an area, rather than to mitigate the impact of 
individual planning applications.  Therefore, the ability to enter into a 
negotiated planning obligation, using Section 106 of the 1990 Town and 
Country Planning Act will remain.

11.26 Planning obligations will also continue to be used to secure affordable 
housing. However, where development contributions are to be sought via 
planning obligations there is a need to meet the statutory tests set out in 
Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations (2010), which state that a planning 
obligation must be:

Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms:
Directly related to the development: and

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

113



Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed 
development

11.27 Prior to the implementation of CIL coming into effect the provision and 
implementation of infrastructure proposals will be controlled through the 
imposition of conditions on planning permissions, or, alternatively, through the 
use of planning obligation agreements.

11.28  A Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document will be 
produced for West Northamptonshire, to enable further, detailed guidance and 
greater consistency on the operation of the approach to securing developer 
contributions. The approach will need to acknowledge the future implications 
of CIL when it is introduced. 

11.29 It is intended that this guidance will build on existing planning obligations 
strategies produced within West Northamptonshire by providing a 
comprehensive approach to developer contributions based on emerging 
guidance in respect of the future introduction of CIL, evidence of infrastructure 
requirements borne out of the IDP and up to date evidence of site viability.

POLICY INF2 - CONTRIBUTIONS TO INFRASTRUCTURE 
REQUIREMENTS 

NEW DEVELOPMENT WILL ONLY BE PERMITTED IF THE NECESSARY 
ON AND OFF-SITE INFRASTRUCTURE THAT IS REQUIRED TO 
SUPPORT IT, AND MITIGATE ITS IMPACT, IS EITHER ALREADY IN 
PLACE, OR THERE IS A RELIABLE MECHANISM IN PLACE TO ENSURE 
THAT IT WILL BE DELIVERED. 

WHERE IDENTIFIED INFRASTRUCTURE IS REQUIRED PROVISION   
WILL BE ACHIEVED THROUGH CONTRIBUTIONS FROM ALL 
RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT.

PROVISION MADE THROUGH PLANNING OBLIGATIONS MAY SEEK 
POOLED CONTRIBUTIONS WHERE THE COMBINED IMPACT OF A 
NUMBER OF DEVELOPMENTS CREATES THE NEED FOR 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND WHERE A DIRECT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN 
THE DEVELOPMENT AND THE INFRASTRUCTURE HAS BEEN 
DEMONSTRATED IN SUCH INSTANCES, ANY SPARE CAPACITY IN 
EXISTING PROVISION WILL NOT BE CREDITED TO EARLIER 
DEVELOPMENT.

STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE WILL BE PROVIDED THROUGH THE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF A COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY.

FOR OTHER SITE SPECIFIC NEEDS WHICH ARE NOT PROVIDED FOR 
BY CIL, OR THROUGH ANY POOLING OF CONTRIBUTIONS, DIRECT 
PROVISION WILL NEED TO BE MADE, EITHER THROUGH THE 
IMPOSITION OF PLANNING CONDITIONS OR SECURED THROUGH A

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

114



PLANNING OBLIGATION, WITH THE RELEVANT LOCAL PLANNING 
AUTHORITY.

FURTHER GUIDANCE ON THE DETAIL OF ANY FINANCIAL OR OTHER 
CONTRIBUTIONS FROM DEVELOPERS TOWARDS THE PROVISION OF 
INFRASTRUCTURE WILL BE SET OUT IN THE WEST 
NORTHAMPTONSHIRE DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT.

West Northamptonshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan

11.30 To ensure that development is delivered in a sustainable manner and 
supports the area's future needs the JCS is required to identify the range and 
type of infrastructure that is needed to support the Spatial Strategy and how 
that infrastructure will be delivered.

11.31 A range of commercial and public organisations are responsible for providing
infrastructure through differing funding and delivery mechanisms. West 
Northamptonshire’s approach to the funding, phasing and delivery of   
infrastructure, required to support the direction and scale of development
outlined in the JCS, is set out in the West Northamptonshire IDP. 

11.32 The IDP was commissioned in Spring 20101.  It refreshes and supersedes
previous work undertaken by West Northamptonshire Development 
Corporation in 2008. The IDP provides the basis for determining:

the specific local and strategic infrastructure requirements, identified on 
a phased basis; 
costing for this provision; 
the likely scale of public sector funding required for these works; 
the level of contribution from private sector development required; 
any likely funding gaps between infrastructure requirements and the 
availability of funding sources; and
the future monitoring and review process. 

11.33 The IDP has been produced with the close involvement of the bodies 
responsible for infrastructure delivery and provides a clear statement of the 
existing state of infrastructure as well as requirements needed to 
accommodate future development.

11.34 The IDP identifies 12 key primary infrastructure projects that are required to 
ensure the delivery of this JCS by 2026.  These projects are listed in Table 7 
below along with the reason why that specific infrastructure is required and 
the broad phasing of when that specific infrastructure is required.  Further 
detail, including the costs, funding source and who is responsible for providing 
the infrastructure is set out in the IDP.

1 Halcrow (2011) West Northamptonshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

115



Table 7 - Key Primary Infrastructure Projects

Infrastructure 
Required 

Reason for 
Requirement

Broad Phasing

Improvements to the 
Waste Water Network - 
Northampton Town 
Centre

To provide capacity to 
the main sewer allowing 
for increases in waste 
water flows. 

Scale and type of 
solution to be informed 
by Northampton Central 
Area Drainage 
Assessment (May 2011)

Waste Water Treatment
Works - Great Billing, 
Northampton

Increased capacity
required for
development in 
Northampton beyond 
2015

Works to commence in 
2015 and complete by 
mid 2016 

Northern Relief Road 
(A428-A5199) – 
Northampton

Required to serve the
Sustainable Urban 
Extensions of: North of 
Whitehills and King’s 
Heath

Requires completion 
within the first 3 years of 
initial dwelling 
completions at King’s 
Heath

Sandy Lane Relief Road
– Northampton

Required to serve the 
developments of
Norwood Farm and the 
Sustainable Urban 
Extensions of:
Northampton West, 
North of Whitehills and 
King’s Heath

Completion required by 
2013/ 14

A45 Brackmills 
Interchange – 
Northampton

To enable significant 
occupation of Wootton 
Fields Extension and 
Saxon Avenue at 
Grange Park

Commencement in 
2012/13, completion 
required by 2013/14

Waste Water Treatment
Works - Towcester

Capacity impacts on 
development in 
Towcester beyond 
2018/19

Work to extend capacity 
is programmed to be 
completed in 2020/21

Waste Water Treatment
Works - Brackley 

Capacity impacts on 
development in Brackley 
beyond 2018/19

Work to extend capacity 
is programmed to be 
completed in 2020/21

Waste Water Treatment 
Works - Daventry

Whilton Waste Water
Treatment Works 
requires upgrading to 
allow long term 
development to take 
place

Three year scheme due 
to commence in 2013

A45 Northampton –
Daventry Corridor
Improvements

Required to enable  
Daventry North East 
Sustainable Urban 
Extension

Improvements required 
to be completed by
2017/18

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

116



A5/ A45 Weedon
Crossroads

Required to enable 
delivery of Monksmoor

Work requires 
completion by 2012

Grosvenor Centre, 
Northampton Bus 
Interchange – 
Northampton

Required as a key part 
of modal shift measures 
within the town centre

Two year project 
commencing 2012

Castle Station Public 
Transport Interchange - 
Northampton

Required as a key part 
of modal shift measures 
within the town centre

Three year project 
commencing 2012

11.35 The IDP provides evidence that the level of housing growth proposed in the 
JCS can be delivered within the plan period up to 2026, provided that the key 
primary infrastructure requirements outlined in the above table are delivered 
within the broad phasing timelines prescribed.

11.36 Flexibility exists within the overall housing trajectory that allows for 
development to be brought forward to mitigate the impact of delays caused by 
the key primary infrastructure items.

11.37 More detailed work on the provision of infrastructure has been undertaken 
through the IDP which provides an accompanying evidence base to the JCS.
The infrastructure schedule is set out in Appendix 4 of this plan.

11.38 The nature of infrastructure provision means that it will be subject to 
refinement throughout the plan period as providers evolve new ways of 
meeting needs and additional requirements may be identified.  The
infrastructure schedule will be updated on a regular basis, as part of the 
annual monitoring review, to reflect changes to investment programmes, and 
new projects.  Ongoing monitoring will continue to give consideration to the 
level of risk that some of the required infrastructure will not be forthcoming 
and consider ways that this might be mitigated.   

11.39 In preparing the IDP the investment and operational plans of relevant 
infrastructure and public service providers have been taken into consideration, 
ensuring that these bodies recognise their contributions and that the 
resources required to deliver the infrastructure to support the level of 
development proposed in the JCS have been given careful consideration and 
are realistically deliverable within the plan period.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

117



Places Policies

Introduction 

The following sections set out the policies and proposals for the places in West 
Northamptonshire.  These policies cover:

Northampton town;

Daventry town; 

Towcester; 

 Brackley; and

The Rural Areas.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

118



12.0 Northampton    

Introduction

12.1 Northampton traditionally served an extensive rural population as a large 
market town and was a focus for the rural community. In the 19th century 
Northampton became more industrialised and was dominated by shoe
manufacture with nearly half of the male population employed in this industry.  

Northampton Today

12.2 Northampton as the County town is the main centre for employment, housing, 
retail, leisure and services.  

12.3 The town is home to a number of large multi-national companies and the 
University of Northampton which is also major employer. Northampton 
General Hospital provides specialist healthcare for the whole of 
Northamptonshire and caters for patients from north Buckinghamshire and 
north Bedfordshire.  

12.4 Job losses in manufacturing in the town have been compensated by an 
increase in office and service jobs, where growth has mainly been in the 
financial services, public administration, education and health sectors in 
Northampton. There has been a long term levelling off of the unemployment 
rate in West Northamptonshire at about 4%; however the most recent figures 
reflect the economic downturn and unemployment rates have increased to 
5.2%.   

12.5 Northampton has a higher proportion of terraced houses and flats, a higher 
proportion of social rented housing and more single person households than 
other towns within West Northamptonshire. There is a higher proportion of 
younger residents but also a higher incidence of social inequality. 

12.6 One of Northampton’s unique features is its rich variety of natural and built 
environmental assets.  Northampton has many different types of open space 
including private estates (current and former); large public open spaces such 
as the Racecourse; nature reserves and pocket parks which are designated 
as having high landscape sensitivity in the Northampton Landscape Sensitivity 
and Green Infrastructure Study. The distinctive landform, which provides 
views from/ to Northampton including: the Limestone ridge to the south-east 
between Whiston and Hunsbury; the Ecton Ridge; Brampton Valley and the 
rolling hills to the West, are all also areas of high sensitivity.  The Express Lift 
Tower is particularly noted as a prominent landmark in the town providing for 
clear orientation.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

119



12.7 Immediately surrounding the town are important areas of woodland, valued 
landscape and sites of historical importance, all of which are major
contributors to people’s quality of life.  The rural character setting and the 
valley of the River Nene are distinct environmental features1. 

12.8 Movement within Northampton and between the town and surrounding 
settlements is predominately undertaken by car.  Past planning decisions for 
Northampton, particularly the town’s designation as a New Town, have led to 
a decentralisation of key destinations such as retail, employment and leisure.  
Consequently fewer trips are focused on the town centre and opportunities for 
an effective and efficient public transport are reduced. 

The Regeneration of Northampton

12.9 Whilst the country is presently suffering the economic effects of a down turn in 
the economy the JCS is a long term strategic plan that looks to the future.  
Economic growth will return and Northampton will play its part in that 
economic recovery.   

12.10 Northampton will be a major regional and cultural economic driver for the 
wider area with a diverse and competitive economic base and a well housed 
population.  It will have a cultural quarter, riverside development, and will be 
known nationally as a centre for education, with diverse employment 
opportunities, excellent sustainable transport and a tourist destination of 
choice. 

12.11 The Northampton Central Area Action Plan (NCAAP) identifies a number of 
sites in the central area for redevelopment to accommodate a variety of town 
centre uses such as offices retail and leisure as well as identifying capacity for 
3,400 homes.   Further opportunities in addition to those already identified 
could arise in the longer term through rationalisation of sites that are 
acknowledged to not make efficient use of land, such as Northampton 
General Hospital.     

12.12 Hand in hand with regeneration and previously developed land reuse new 
quality development through integrated and sustainable urban extensions will 
add high calibre housing, local services and facilities and sustainable 
transport connections to the town centre, supporting the town centre office, 
retail, leisure and service economies. 

12.13 The JCS through its vision, objectives and policies together with the NCAAP 
provides the mechanism for this vision of Northampton to be realised.  

1 EDAW/AECOM  (March 2007) Northampton Longer term Growth Options Study   

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

120



POLICY N1 – THE REGENERATION OF NORTHAMPTON  

THE REGENERATION OF NORTHAMPTON WILL BE SUPPORTED BY 
THE FOLLOWING MEASURES:

A FOCUS ON NORTHAMPTON’S TOWN CENTRE AND CENTRAL 
AREA FOR OFFICE, RETAIL, LEISURE AND SERVICE DEVELOPMENT 
PROVIDING HIGH QUALITY URBAN DESIGN AND PUBLIC REALM 
AND RETAINING ITS HERITAGE ATTRIBUTES (POLICY N2 REFERS); 

HOUSING DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE EXISTING URBAN AREA 
THROUGH URBAN CAPACITY INFILL, AND SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
EXTENSIONS AT NORTHAMPTON NORTH, NORTHAMPTON WEST, 
NORTHAMPTON SOUTH, NORTHAMPTON SOUTH OF BRACKMILLS,
NORTHAMPTON KINGS HEATH, NORTHAMPTON NORTH OF 
WHITEHILLS AND NORTHAMPTON UPTON PARK (POLICIES N3 TO 
N9 REFER);

EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT BY REGENERATION AND 
REDEVELOPMENT AT EXISTING EMPLOYMENT SITES, WITH MAJOR
OFFICE AND SERVICE DEVELOPMENT FOCUSED ON THE CENTRAL 
AREA AND THE ALLOCATION OF A TECHNOLOGY REALM SITE 
(POLICIES E1, E3 AND N2 REFER);

PROVISION OF LOCAL SHOPPING, SERVICES AND FACILITIES AT 
IDENTIFIED SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSIONS (POLICIES S9, N3
TO N9 REFER);

ADDRESSING FACTORS OF DEPRIVATION AT THE COMMUNITIES 
OF SPRING BOROUGHS, KINGS HEATH/ SPENCER, EASTFIELD AND 
NORTHAMPTON EAST (POLICY N11 REFERS); AND 

IMPROVEMENTS TO PUBLIC TRANSPORT, CYCLING AND WALKING 
FACILITIES WITHIN THE TOWN (POLICY N12 REFERS).

Northampton Central Area  

12.14 The town centre and central area will successfully mix traditional architecture 
with high quality new urban design. Key projects will shape Northampton in 
the future and will create the infrastructure for all the town’s residents.  These  
include:-  

The Grosvenor Expansion - Major expansion of the retail offer in 
Northampton Town Centre doubling the retail space of the Grosvenor 
Shopping Centre.

Angel St/ St Johns - The creation of a major civic hub bringing thousands of 
new and existing workers back into the town centre. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

121



Development at Castle Railway Station – Creating an iconic new gateway 
to Northampton providing better facilities, capacity and service. 

Avon/ Nunn Mills/ Ransome Road – A flagship mixed use development, 
providing up to 2,000 homes and major commercial development.   

Waterside – A long neglected asset, revitalised as a destination for 
employment, living and leisure.

12.15 The NCAAP will define the Town Centre Boundary and the Primary Shopping 
Area for Northampton and will set out a clear vision for the future of the 
Northampton Central Area, in line with the vision for West Northamptonshire 
set out within the JCS. 

Retail Development

12.16 Northampton has an average retail offer but considering it is the largest town 
in the county the offer should be much better.  Most of the top 20 high street 
retailers are present in the town but the size and level of the stores is 
disappointing. With Northampton’s historic streetscapes there is the 
opportunity to create a distinctive and attractive retail environment to attract 
people in and to make a visit to the town centre a more enriching experience. 

12.17 As referred to in the Spatial Portrait and Spatial Strategy Northampton town 
centre has suffered from the decentralisation of retailing activities.  The 
strength of the town’s outer retail parks and Weston Favell District Centre 
provide strong competition for spending on comparison goods displacing 
spending from the town centre. Similarly for convenience spending research2

identifies that four large out-of-town centre superstores dominate this area of 
retailing with convenience retailing within the town centre under-represented. 
Northampton needs to deliver a step change in its retailing performance and 
attractiveness as a higher order comparison shopping destination.   

12.18 The Grosvenor Centre constitutes a significant part of the retail frontage within 
the Northampton Central Area and is one of the biggest and most important 
development sites in the prime shopping area.  Its expansion and 
improvement is vital to the regeneration of the town centre and Northampton’s 
competitiveness as a retail destination.  The site is large enough to 
accommodate a range of other town centre uses to reinforce the role of the 
Town Centre as well as offering potential for significant improvements to the 
townscape. The importance of the Grosvenor Centre redevelopment and the 
focus on retailing within the town centre as a priority within Northampton 
Central Area requires that comparison retail outside the town centre must be 
heavily restricted to ensure that town centre proposals are not jeopardised.   

2 West Northamptonshire Retail Study Update Roger Tym and Partners January 2011

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

122



Office Development 

12.19 Office development in the central area has been suppressed due to lack of 
available, flexible and modern office space to suit the larger office market.  A 
step change in the provision of office space within the centre is underway.  
Northampton Borough Council is working with a range of partners to bring 
forward significant sites to meet modern office requirements for quality 
premises, such as the St Johns, Angel Street and Bridge Street sites.  
Provision of office space within the central area will bring more employment 
into the town centre boosting the lunchtime and evening economy.  Office 
development is a key element of the regeneration of the town and its role as 
the economic driver for the wider area.  

POLICY N2 – NORTHAMPTON CENTRAL AREA   

THE NORTHAMPTON TOWN CENTRE BOUNDARY AND PRIMARY 
SHOPPING AREA WILL BE IDENTIFIED ON THE NORTHAMPTON 
CENTRAL AREA ACTION PLAN PROPOSALS MAP.  

MAJOR OFFICE, LEISURE AND CULTURAL DEVELOPMENT WILL TAKE 
PLACE IN THE NORTHAMPTON CENTRAL AREA.  RETAIL PROVISION 
WILL BE ACCOMMODATED FIRSTLY WITHIN THE TOWN CENTRE 
FOCUSED PRIMARILY ON THE REDEVELOPMENT OF THE 
GROSVENOR CENTRE AND TOWN CENTRE SITES AS SET OUT IN THE
NORTHAMPTON CENTRAL AREA ACTION PLAN AND THEN ON OTHER 
IDENTIFIED CENTRAL AREA SITES.

THE NORTHAMPTON CENTRAL AREA ACTION PLAN WILL MAKE 
PROVISION FOR A NET INCREASE OF:

45,000SQM COMPARISON (NON-FOOD) SHOPPING 
FLOORSPACE FOR THE PERIOD 2010 TO 2021;

3,000SQM CONVENIENCE (FOOD) SHOPPING FLOORSPACE 
FOR THE PERIOD 2010 TO 2026; AND 

OFFICE DEVELOPMENT IN THE REGION OF 100,000SQM OF 
FLOORSPACE   

Northampton Related Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs)

12.20 The SUEs identified at Northampton represent the most sustainable and 
sequentially preferable location for new development beyond the existing 
urban area. There are seven SUEs identified for Northampton which are set 
out in the policies below.  Not all of these SUEs are located within the 
Northampton Borough boundary however they are contiguous with the urban 
area of Northampton and serve Northampton’s housing needs.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

123



Northampton North SUE

12.21 The Northampton North Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) is situated on the 
northern edge of Northampton and on the eastern side of the A43.  The SUE 
is within Daventry District and lies approximately 3.5km from Northampton 
town centre.  The village of Moulton lies immediately to the west, and the 
village of Overstone and Overstone Park lie to the east.  Adjoining the 
southern boundary of the SUE is the urban edge of Northampton and in 
particular Round Spinney Industrial Estate and Southfields residential area.  

12.22 The area is presently intensively farmed arable land and the Northampton 
Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Study identifies the landscape in the area 
as being of low to medium sensitivity and therefore less sensitive to change.  

12.23 Cowpasture Spinney a tree belt some 50m to 60 m wide borders the north 
eastern edge of the SUE and to the south east is a second tree belt 
approximately 35m wide known as Coleman Leys. Billing Brook watercourse 
flows along the eastern and southern boundaries of the SUE passing through 
Cowpasture Spinney and flowing into Overstone Park Lake.  Due to the 
landscape features and topography the SUE has a high level of visual 
containment although this diminishes to the north of the site. 

12.24 To the west of the SUE and to the rear of houses fronting Ashley Lane lies 
Crowfields Common Local Nature Reserve and within the SUE itself 
Cowpasture Spinney forms a Local Wildlife Site and running along the 
southern boundary encompassing Coleman Leys is a Potential Wildlife Site.  
Whilst large parts of the SUE are considered to be of low ecological interest 
there are ecological constraints that must be taken into account including the 
recorded presence of protected species.  The Proposals Map (Figure 5 at the 
end of the JCS) shows structural green space areas to be provided within the 
development. These areas will allow the built form to be assimilated into the 
landscape, as well as providing for and protecting biodiversity and habitat 
corridors from the rural areas into the urban areas.   

12.25 The historic villages of Moulton and Overstone lie either side of the 
Northampton North SUE and their setting and character must not be 
adversely affected by the proposed development.  A full archaeological 
assessment of the site will also be required prior to development taking place.

12.26 The Northampton North SUE is well located in terms of access to existing 
employment areas of Round Spinney and Moulton Park Business Centre.  
The SUE is also well related to centres of learning, namely Moulton College, 
the University of Northampton and Northampton College.

12.27 The Northampton North SUE can capitalise on its position to create high value 
jobs in the technology and research and development sector.  The Proposals 
Map (Figure 5 at the end of the JCS) indicates an area within the SUE of 
about 7ha which will be retained for a Northampton Technology Realm 
located in the northern part of the SUE.  It will provide a ‘gateway’ feature into 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

124



the town from the approach along the A43. (See Policy E3, Economic 
Advantage, in Section 8 of this JCS).  

12.28 The development of the Northampton North SUE provides the opportunity to 
deliver a comprehensively integrated sustainable transport system. Off-site 
highway improvements will be required locally, including at Round Spinney 
roundabout, and improvements to the A43 Northampton to Kettering corridor. 

12.29 It is anticipated that the Northampton North SUE can commence delivery in 
the 2016 to 2021 period. Policy N3 below details the required elements of 
development. A masterplan will be required to be submitted alongside any 
proposal to demonstrate how the land use elements positively respond to 
context, design issues, connectivity and sustainable planning requirements. 

POLICY N3 – NORTHAMPTON NORTH SUE

THE BOUNDARY OF THE NORTHAMPTON NORTH SUSTAINABLE 
URBAN EXTENSION IS SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5).
THE DEVELOPMENT WILL MAKE PROVISION FOR: 

2,000 DWELLINGS;
7HA OF EMPLOYMENT LAND IN THE FORM OF A TECHNOLOGY 
REALM INCORPORATING A GATEWAY FEATURE (POLICY E3
REFERS); 
TWO 420 PLACE PRIMARY SCHOOLS; 
AT LEAST ONE LOCAL CENTRE TO INCLUDE LOCAL RETAIL 
FACILITIES (INCLUDING A CONVENIENCE STORE NOT 
EXCEEDING 1,200 SQM TRADING FLOORSPACE), HEALTH CARE 
SERVICES AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES INCLUDING A LIBRARY;
A CONTRIBUTION TOWARDS THE PROVISION OF A HIGH 
QUALITY PUBLIC TRANSPORT CORRIDOR TO NORTHAMPTON 
TOWN  CENTRE;
A 3HA PARK AND RIDE SITE; 
A43 CORRIDOR MITIGATION MEASURES AND PROVISION OF 
REQUIRED HIGHWAY INFRASTRUCTURE INCLUDING 
IMPROVEMENTS TO ROUND SPINNEY ROUNDABOUT; 
AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK FOCUSED  ON 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT MODES, INCLUDING PUBLIC 
TRANPORT, WALKING AND CYCLING WITH STRONG LINKS TO 
ADJOINING NEIGHBOURHOODS, EMPLOYMENT AREAS AND 
THE TOWN CENTRE; 
STRUCTURAL GREENSPACE AND WILDLIFE CORIDORS  
(INCORPORATING COWPASTURE SPINNEY AND COLEMAN 
LEYS), AS INDICATED ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5);
SPORT AND LEISURE PROVISION;
ARCHAEOLGICAL AND ECOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT OF THE 
SITE AND REQUIRED MITIGATION; 
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD ATTENUATION 
SCHEMES; AND 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

125



FLOOD MITIGATION FROM ALL SOURCES.

NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE IS REQUIRED TO BE PHASED 
ALONGSIDE THE DELIVERY OF THE DEVELOPMENT.  

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN.

Northampton West SUE

12.30 The Northampton West Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) is situated on the 
western side of Northampton.  It adjoins the existing neighbourhoods of 
Duston and New Duston and whilst it adjoins the urban edge of Northampton 
the SUE occurs within both Daventry District and South Northamptonshire.
To the north of the SUE lies Harlestone Firs Plantation and the village of 
Harlestone. To the east is open countryside and to the south is the village of 
Harpole.  

12.31 The Northampton Landscape Sensitivity Study identifies this part of the 
landscape as being of low to medium sensitivity and therefore less sensitive to 
change. The SUE is contained within the lower parts of the topography and 
its development must preserve key landmark views, such as that to St 
Crispin’s Tower to the east. Areas of structural green space to be 
incorporated within the development are shown on the Proposals Map (Figure 
5 at the end of the JCS) and an ecological assessment should identify how 
these areas of structural green space will positively address the enhancement 
of biodiversity within the area of the SUE. 

12.32 Within the SUE area there are no identified heritage constraints and no areas 
of strategic flood plain.  The diversity of ecology within the site can be 
improved through appropriate structural landscaping, open space and creation 
of habitat corridors.   Of particular importance is the protection of the villages 
of Harlestone and Harpole in their countryside settings.  

12.33 Part of the North West Bypass (also known as the Sandy Lane improvements) 
for Northampton is presently under construction on the western edge of the 
town.  The road will be brought forward in its entirety by both public funding 
and developer contributions.  The Northampton West SUE will be required to 
make an appropriate and relative contribution to the construction of the 
remaining elements of the bypass.

12.34 Of importance to the rate of delivery of this SUE is the extent of allocated land 
and existing consents for housing in the western area of the Northampton.  
Saturation of the housing market in the west of Northampton may impact on 
the rate of delivery of the SUE. 

12.35 On the basis of the extent of potential housing development occurring within 
the area a slower build out rate is expected for these developments due to the 
extent of potential housing supply to the west of Northampton.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

126



12.36 Policy N4 below details the required elements of development.  A masterplan
will be required to be submitted alongside any proposal to demonstrate how 
the land use elements positively respond to context, design issues, 
connectivity and sustainable planning requirements.  

POLICY N4 – NORTHAMPTON WEST SUE

THE BOUNDARY OF THE NORTHAMPTON WEST SUSTAINABLE 
URBAN EXTENSION IS SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5).
THE DEVELOPMENT WILL MAKE PROVISION FOR: 

1,500 DWELLINGS; 
ONE PRIMARY SCHOOL TO 420 PLACES;
A LOCAL CENTRE TO INCLUDE LOCAL RETAIL FACILITIES 
(INCLUDING A CONVENIENCE STORE NOT EXCEEDING 500 SQM
TRADING FLOORSPACE), HEALTH CARE SERVICES, AND 
COMMUNITY FACILITIES; 
LAND PROVISION FOR THE SANDY LANE IMPROVEMENT 
(NORTH) FORMING PART OF THE OVERALL NORTH WEST 
BYPASS;  
A FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION TO THE NORTH WEST BYPASS; 
AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK FOCUSED ON 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT MODES, INCLUDING PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT, WALKING AND CYCLING WITH STRONG LINKS TO 
ADJOINING NEIGHBOURHOODS, EMPLOYMENT AREAS AND 
THE TOWN CENTRE; 
STRUCTURAL GREENSPACE AND WILDLIFE CORRIDORS  AS 
SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5);  
ARCHAEOLGICAL AND ECOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT OF THE 
SITE AND REQUIRED MITIGATION; 
SPORT AND RECREATION PROVISION;
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD ATTENUATION 
SCHEMES; AND 
FLOOD MITIGATION FROM ALL SOURCES.

NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE IS REQUIRED TO BE PHASED 
ALONGSIDE THE DELIVERY OF THE DEVELOPMENT.  

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

127



Northampton South SUE

12.37 The Northampton South SUE is situated between the existing urban edge of 
Northampton to the north and the M1 motorway to the south. The village of 
Collingtree and the residential area at Collingtree Park lie to the east of the 
site whilst the western edge is formed by strong field boundaries.

12.38 The allocated site includes the existing Collingtree Park Golf Club which will 
be reconfigured and retained as part of the proposal. Most of the remainder 
of the allocation is agricultural land under pasture and arable cultivation. 
Within the site the land slopes gently down from the south west to the flood 
plain of the Wootton Brook. In terms of landscape the site is well contained 
and is of relatively low landscape and visual sensitivity.  

12.39 Properties in close proximity to the Wootton Brook currently experience 
problems associated with flooding during large storm events.  Through the 
reconfiguration of the golf course (a compatible use within a flood plain area3)
the development of the SUE will provide a positive environmental impact to 
flood alleviation from the Wootton Brook on the surrounding area. 

12.40 An area of the site is designated as a County Wildlife Site, which includes 
Wootton Brook and associated water bodies. The site contains a number of 
mature hedgerows and trees, together with areas of rough and wet grassland. 
These key habitat features, together with the protected species they support, 
should be preserved within the development.

12.41 Due to the proximity of the site to the M1 itself, Junction 15 of the M1 and the 
associated Air Quality Management Areas, mitigation measures will be 
required to address the issues of noise and air pollution.

12.42 There are no designated or known non-designated cultural heritage sites that 
are likely to place constraints on the development of the site. There are 
known remains of prehistoric and Roman date in the vicinity of Wootton Brook 
which indicates that there is a medium to high risk of archaeological remains 
being present in the site. Further assessment of the archaeological potential 
of the site will be required.

12.43 The SUE will provide a contribution towards a two-form entry primary school 
of 420 places to enable educational needs to be addressed in an area where 
there are additional pressures from further residential developments.

12.44 Policy N5 below details the required elements of development. A masterplan
will be required to be submitted alongside any proposal to demonstrate how 
the land use elements positively respond to context, design issues, 
connectivity and sustainable planning requirements.

  

3 Planning Policy Statement 25 – Development and Flood Risk March 2010 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

128



POLICY N5 – NORTHAMPTON SOUTH SUE

THE BOUNDARY OF THE NORTHAMPTON SOUTH SUSTAINABLE 
URBAN EXTENSION IS SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5).
THE DEVELOPMENT WILL MAKE PROVISION FOR : 

1,000 DWELLINGS; 
CONTRIBUTION TOWARDS ONE PRIMARY SCHOOL TO 420 
PLACES; 
A LOCAL CENTRE TO INCLUDE LOCAL RETAIL FACILITIES 
(INCLUDING A CONVENIENCE STORE NOT EXCEEDING 500 SQM 
TRADING FLOORSPACE), HEALTH CARE, SERVICES AND 
COMMUNITY FACILITIES;
AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK FOCUSED ON 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT MODES INCLUDING PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT, WALKING AND CYCLING WITH STRONG LINKS TO 
ADJOINING NEIGHBOURHOODS, EMPLOYMENT AREAS AND
THE TOWN CENTRE; 
STRUCTURAL GREENSPACE AND WILDLIFE CORRIDORS AS 
SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5);
OPEN SPACE AND LEISURE PROVISION; 
ARCHAEOLGICAL ASSESSMENT OF THE SITE AND REQUIRED 
MITIGATION; 
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD ATTENUATION 
SCHEMES; AND
FLOOD MITIGATION FROM ALL SOURCES.

NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE IS REQUIRED TO BE PHASED 
ALONGSIDE THE DELIVERY OF THE DEVELOPMENT.  

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN.

Northampton South of Brackmills SUE

12.45 This SUE is situated to the south of Brackmills employment area adjoining the 
existing neighbourhoods of Hardingstone and Wootton to the south and west. 
The site itself comprises largely arable land sloping generally from north to 
south, occupying part of a limestone ridge which forms a bold and prominent 
feature on the south western side of Northampton.  

12.46 Much of the northern boundary is formed by the intermittent grassland and 
broad leafed woodland planting, known as Brackmills Woods, which in part 
provides a landscape buffer mitigating the employment land to the north.

12.47 The creation of a green corridor running from north-west to south-east across 
the northern site boundary will help protect existing habitats to the north as 
well as providing for a new greenway linking existing and proposed urban 
areas to the wider countryside. The potential for development within the SUE 
to impact on the skyline when viewed from the north must be taken into 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

129



account and addressed within the master plan for the site.  Along part of the 
southern and western boundaries of the site a landscaped buffer will be 
required to provide screening between existing residential development and 
the proposed SUE.

12.48 There are no identified heritage constraints or areas of strategic flood plain 
impacting on the site. The Northampton Landscape Sensitivity and Green 
Infrastructure Study indicates that the majority of the site is of medium 
sensitivity in respect of biodiversity and development potential.

12.49 A public footpath and Landimore Road (providing an access into Brackmills) 
run through the site and should be incorporated into future development.

12.50 The SUE will provide a contribution towards a two-form entry primary school 
of 420 places to enable educational needs to be addressed in an area where 
there are additional pressures from further residential developments.

12.51 Policy N6 below details the required elements of development.  A masterplan 
will be required to be submitted alongside any proposal to demonstrate how 
the land use elements positively respond to context, design issues, 
connectivity and sustainable planning requirements.

POLICY N6 – NORTHAMPTON SOUTH OF BRACKMILLS SUE

THE BOUNDARY OF THE NORTHAMPTON SOUTH OF BRACKMILLS 
SUE IS SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5).  THE 
DEVELOPMENT WILL MAKE PROVISION FOR:

1,000 DWELLINGS; 
CONTRIBUTION TOWARDS ONE PRIMARY SCHOOL OF 420 
PLACES;
A LOCAL CENTRE TO INCLUDE LOCAL RETAIL FACILITIES 
(INCLUDING A CONVENIENCE STORE NOT EXCEEDING 500 SQM
TRADING FLOORSPACE), HEALTH CARE, SERVICES AND 
COMMUNITY FACILITIES; 
AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK FOCUSED ON 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT MODES INCLUDING PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT, WALKING AND CYCLING WITH STRONG LINKS TO 
ADJOING NEIGHBOURHOODS, EMPLOYMENT AREAS AND THE 
TOWN CENTRE; 
STRUCTURAL GREENSPACE AND WILDLIFE CORRIDORS AS 
SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5); 
THE CREATION OF A LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO THE SOUTH 
WEST OF THE SITE AS SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP
(FIGURE 5);
OPEN SPACE AND LEISURE PROVISION; 
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD ATTENUATION 
SCHEMES; AND
FLOOD MITIGATION FROM ALL SOURCES.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

130



NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE IS REQUIRED TO BE PHASED 
ALONGSIDE THE DELIVERY OF THE DEVELOPMENT.  

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN.

Northampton Kings Heath SUE

12.52 The King’s Heath SUE, also known as Dallngton Grange, is located to the 
north of the existing King’s Heath housing development.  It is bounded by 
Lodge Farm employment and Spring Park residential areas to the west, the 
Brampton Branch of the River Nene to the east and the Harlestone Firs 
plantation and arable land to the north.

12.53 The site has for the most part previously been identified for development in 
the Northampton Local Plan 1997.  Work on a masterplan is being progressed 
and once agreed, this will inform the subsequent development of the site.  The 
SUE extends from adjacent to the valley floor to more elevated positions that 
are relatively high compared to the rest of the town.  The position adjacent to
the river valley and the topography offer opportunities for a development that 
complements the valley edge and provides interest up the hill from the valley 
and to its northern boundary in terms of landscape treatment.  Structural 
landscaping as shown on the Proposals Map (Figure 5 at the end of the JCS) 
will be provided between the development and the Harlestone Firs.

12.54 Access to the site will be through a mixture of routes such as King’s Heath, 
land to the south of Spring Park, Mill Lane and also from the proposed North
West Bypass.  The SUE has the ability to assist in the regeneration of King’s 
Heath and adjoining areas, in particular through the provision of infrastructure 
such as a local centre incorporating a wider range of facilities than currently 
exist in the area, additional local employment opportunities and improved 
public transport services to the town centre.

12.55 An area of acknowledged archaeological importance lies to north west of the 
site and further investigation of this area, and any mitigation required, must 
form part of any application submission. 

12.56 The development will incorporate part of the proposed North West Bypass 
within its boundary, with land provision and a relative proportional financial 
contribution as part of pooled contributions with other north-west and western 
development allocations. 

12.57 It is anticipated that the development will provide up to 3,500 dwellings, in 
addition to a dedicated employment area adjacent to Lodge Farm, with 
additional smaller scale employment focussed around the local centre and 
primary routes within the development.  It will also include local retail and 
community facilities, such as schools and doctors’ surgeries consistent with a 
development of this size. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

131



12.58 The Northampton Kings Heath SUE proposals are well advanced and it is 
anticipated that the site can commence delivery in the 2016 to 2021 period.
Policy N7 below details the required elements of development.  A masterplan 
will be required to be submitted alongside any proposal to demonstrate how 
the land use elements positively respond to context, design issues, 
connectivity and sustainable planning requirements.

POLICY N7 – NORTHAMPTON KINGS HEATH SUE 

THE BOUNDARY OF NORTHAMPTON KINGS HEATH SUE IS SHOWN ON 
THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5).  THE DEVELOPMENT WILL MAKE 
PROVISION FOR: 

3,500 DWELLINGS; 
TWO 420 PLACE PRIMARY SCHOOLS;
10HA SITE FOR A SECONDARY SCHOOL;  
A LOCAL CENTRE (APPROXIMATELY 4HA) TO INCLUDE LOCAL 
RETAIL FACILITIES (INCLUDING A CONVENIENCE STORE NOT 
EXCEEDING 1,200 SQM TRADING FLOORSPACE), HEALTH 
CARE, SERVICES AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES; 
A TOTAL OF APPROXIMATLEY 10HA OF LAND FOR LOCAL 
EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES; 
LAND PROVISION FOR PART OF, AND A FINANCIAL 
CONTRIBUTION TO, THE NORTH WESTERN BYPASS;  
AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK FOCUSED ON 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT MODES INCLUDING PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT, WALKING AND CYCLING WITH STRONG LINKS TO 
THE ADJOINING NEIGHBOURHOOD OF KINGS HEATH, 
EMPLOYMENT AREAS AND THE TOWN CENTRE;
A 5HA PARK AND RIDE SITE: 
STRUCTURAL GREENSPACE AND WILDLIFE CORRIDORS AS 
SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5) (TO INCLUDE 
PROVISION OF A COUNTRY PARK AREA);
SPORT AND LEISURE PROVISION; 
ARCHAEOLGICAL ASSESSMENT OF THE SITE AND REQUIRED 
MITIGATION; 
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD ATTENUATION 
SCHEMES; AND
FLOOD MITIGATION FROM ALL SOURCES.

NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE IS REQUIRED TO BE PHASED 
ALONGSIDE THE DELIVERY OF THE DEVELOPMENT.  

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

132



Northampton North of Whitehills SUE 

12.59 Northampton North of Whitehills SUE forms a contiguous extension to the 
Northampton urban area northwards and occurs within Daventry District. The 
SUE is carried over as an allocation from the Daventry District Local Plan.   
Proposals for the development of Northampton North of Whitehills, also 
known as Buckton Fields, are well advanced and it is anticipated that the site 
can commence delivery in the 2016 to 2021 period.    

12.60 The site comprises a rectangular area of agricultural and former agricultural 
land and covers an area of approximately 50 hectares.  It is contained by 
residential development to the south and east, with countryside to the north 
and west. 

12.61 The site straddles the side of a valley rising in an easterly direction from the 
Brampton valley floor to a plateau.  Consequently there is a change of levels 
across the site which will need to be fully addressed in the development 
proposal.  There are no significant water bodies or water courses within the 
SUE and the site lies outside any flood plain.  

12.62 The Northampton Landscape Sensitivity Study identifies this part of the 
landscape as being of low to medium sensitivity and therefore less sensitive to 
change.  There are known archaeological remains both within and beyond 
SUE boundary.  Investigation of the known archaeology and any mitigation 
will be required. Field surveys have established the presence of protected 
animal species including grass snakes, foraging bats and birds and measures 
will be required to protect these species habitats within the development 
proposals.

12.63 The development will be required to make a contribution to the North West 
bypass.  Part of this bypass is presently under construction on the western 
edge of the town.  The road will be brought forward in its entirety by both 
public funding and developer contributions.  The Northampton North of 
Whitehills SUE will be required to make an appropriate and relative 
contribution to the construction of the remaining elements of the bypass.

12.64 A masterplan will be required to be submitted alongside any proposal to 
demonstrate how the land use elements positively respond to context, design 
issues, connectivity and sustainable planning requirements. 

POLICY N8 – NORTHAMPTON NORTH OF WHITEHILLS SUE 

THE BOUNDARY OF NORTHAMPTON NORTH OF WHITEHILLS SUE IS 
SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5).  THE DEVELOPMENT 
WILL MAKE PROVISION FOR:

1,000 DWELLINGS; 
ONE 420 PLACE PRIMARY SCHOOL;
A LOCAL CENTRE (APPROXIMATELY 1HA) TO INCLUDE LOCAL 
RETAIL FACILITIES (INCLUDING A CONVENIENCE STORE NOT 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

133



EXCEEDING 500 SQM TRADING FLOORSPACE), HEALTH CARE, 
SERVICES AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES; 
LOCAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES;
AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK FOCUSED ON 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT MODES INCLUDING PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT, WALKING AND CYCLING WITH STRONG LINKS TO 
THE ADJOINING NEIGHBOURHOODS, EMPLOYMENT AREAS
AND THE TOWN CENTRE;
LAND PROVISION FOR PART OF AND A FINANCIAL 
CONTRIBUTION TO THE NORTH WESTERN BYPASS;
A 1.5HA PARK AND RIDE SITE;  
STRUCTURAL GREENSPACE AND WILDLIFE CORRIDORS AS 
SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5); 
OPEN SPACE AND RECREATION PROVISION; 
ARCHAEOLGICAL ASSESSMENT OF THE SITE AND REQUIRED 
MITIGATION; 
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD ATTENUATION 
SCHEMES; AND
FLOOD MITIGATION FROM ALL SOURCES.

NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE IS REQUIRED TO BE PHASED 
ALONGSIDE THE DELIVERY OF THE DEVELOPMENT.  

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN

Northampton Upton Park SUE 

12.65 The Northampton Upton Park SUE comprises the remaining part of a much 
wider urban extension known as the South West District which covers 670 
hectares of mixed use development comprising 5,800 homes employment 
land and a large area of country park straddling the River Nene to the south 
west of Northampton. All of the development associated with the South West 
District has either been built or has planning approval in principle except for a 
remaining area of land to the south of the A45 Weedon Road and to the north 
of the River Nene and its flood plain, known as Upton Park. This land is still 
partly in arable production and grazing land. 

12.66 The large area of the South West District is divided into several development 
parcels. The Upton Park area of development lies to the west of Upton.  The 
design award winning Upton development is already partly built. Land to the 
north of the A45 Weedon Road opposite Upton Park is sub divided into a 
number of parcels of land including Upton Lodge, Princes Marina and St 
Crispin’s. In the South West Strategic Planning Review (2004) Upton Park 
was intended to be commenced in the later phases of the development of the 
South West District, commencing around 2013. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

134



12.67 The Northampton Upton Park SUE development has an important role to play 
in linking the emerging communities to the north of the A45 Weedon Road 
and the new communities at Upton.  Connectivity through the site particularly 
by sustainable means must be thoroughly considered in the master planning 
of the site.  In addition links within the SUE through adjoining developments to
employment areas and areas of services and facilities must also be fully 
addressed.

12.68 The Northampton Upton Park SUE adjoins the Nene Valley Country Park to 
the south and sympathetic treatment of development at the Country Park 
edge will be required to be demonstrated in any development brief
accompanying proposals.  To the north east of the SUE is an additional area 
of Country Park. This area of Country Park is bounded by Upton development 
to the east, the Upton Park SUE to the south and west and the Weedon Road 
and areas of further development to the north.  The Country Park area 
includes listed buildings, a Scheduled Ancient Monument and a County 
Wildlife Site.  Development at Upton Park must take account of these 
important heritage and ecological designations and their setting and this must 
be demonstrated through a development brief.  Green links through the Upton 
Park SUE connecting the Country Park area to the wider Nene Valley Country 
Park to the north will be required as part of the development.

12.69 The proximity of Northampton Upton Park SUE to flood plain areas must be 
fully considered within any development proposals.  Flood mitigation has been 
addressed strategically through the South West District master planning, 
however there is still a need to ensure that development parcels such as 
Northampton Upton Park SUE appropriately respond to the requirement to 
ensure that surface water management, flood attenuation and flood mitigation 
from all sources is   fully accounted for within the development proposal.              

                           
12.70 It is anticipated that the Northampton Upton Park SUE can commence 

delivery in the 2016 to 2021 period. Policy N9 below details the required 
elements of development.  A masterplan will be required to be submitted 
alongside any proposal to demonstrate how the land use elements positively 
respond to context, design issues, connectivity and sustainable planning 
requirements. 

POLICY N9 – NORTHAMPTON UPTON PARK SUE 

THE BOUNDARY OF NORTHAMPTON UPTON SUE IS SHOWN ON THE 
PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5).  THE DEVELOPMENT WILL MAKE 
PROVISION FOR:

1,000 DWELLINGS; 
ONE 420 PLACE PRIMARY SCHOOL;
A LOCAL CENTRE (APPROXIMATELY 1HA) TO INCLUDE LOCAL 
RETAIL FACILITIES (INCLUDING A CONVENIENCE STORE NOT 
EXCEEDING 500 SQM TRADING FLOORSPACE), HEALTH CARE, 
SERVICES AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES; 
LOCAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES;

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

135



AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK FOCUSED ON 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT MODES INCLUDING PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT, WALKING AND CYCLING WITH STRONG LINKS TO 
THE ADJOINING NEIGHBOURHOODS, EMPLOYMENT AREAS 
AND THE TOWN CENTRE;
STRUCTURAL GREENSPACE AND WILDLIFE CORRIDORS AS 
SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5); 
OPEN SPACE AND RECREATION PROVISION INCLUDING AN 
EXTENSION OF THE NENE VALLEY COUNTRY PARK;
ARCHAEOLGICAL ASSESSMENT OF THE SITE AND REQUIRED 
MITIGATION; 
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD ATTENUATION 
SCHEMES; AND
FLOOD MITIGATION FROM ALL SOURCES.

NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE IS REQUIRED TO BE PHASED 
ALONGSIDE THE DELIVERY OF THE DEVELOPMENT.  

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN

Employment

12.71 The West Northamptonshire Employment Land Study4 shows that there is a
sufficient supply of employment land and development opportunities in 
Northampton to provide new jobs for the period to 2026, taking into account 
existing planning consents, land within existing employment areas and the 
refocusing of office development on the town centre and central area.

12.72 In accordance with Planning Policy Statement 4 ‘Planning for Sustainable 
Economic Growth’ new office development will be focused within the town 
centre and central area. Key sites are identified for office development in the 
Northampton Central Area Action Plan. The provision of office development 
within Northampton will be monitored over the plan period to ensure there is a 
5 year rolling supply. Any further allocations for office floorspace at out of town 
locations could undermine the Northampton town centre strategy and threaten 
market confidence in the Central Area.

12.73 The West Northamptonshire Employment Land Study advises that existing 
and allocated employment sites in Northampton are, for the vast majority, 
appropriate and fit for purpose and should continue to be protected for 
employment use across the range of B class employment sectors (see Policy 
E1 in the Economic Advantage section of this JCS).  These employment sites 
will provide for the general ‘churn’ of employment land and will be renewed 
and redeveloped making better use of land.  

4 West Northamptonshire Employment Land Study Roger Tym and Partners July 2010  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

136



12.74 The existing stock of employment land in Northampton, opportunities for 
employment within the office development sector and non B class jobs in 
retailing and leisure to be generated through the Central Area Action Plan 
proposals and site allocations present substantial opportunities for 
employment growth.  Therefore no further strategic employment sites are 
allocated through the JCS other than the Northampton Technology Realm
associated with the allocation of Northampton North SUE (see Policy E3 in the 
Economic Advantage section of the JCS). Local employment opportunities 
are included within SUE allocations.              

Local Shopping Needs in Northampton 

12.75 Whilst Northampton town centre must be the focus for comparison goods 
(non–food) retailing and main services and facilities there is also a need to 
ensure that local convenience (food) retail provision is addressed within the 
wider urban area. 

12.76 Northampton has two district centres at Weston Favell and Kingsthorpe (see 
Policy S2 Hierarchy of Centres in the Spatial Strategy section of this JCS).
Weston Favell is a purpose built district centre located on the eastern side of 
Northampton. The centre is anchored by a large superstore, includes a range 
of complementary shops and a full range of services and facilities including 
health and leisure centres. The centre presently draws from a catchment area 
far wider than is consistent with a District Centre function and its retailing 
provision impacts adversely on Northampton town centre. There is therefore 
no further opportunity for retail expansion at this centre.   Kingsthorpe District 
Centre is a ‘traditional’ District Centre of a linear form fronting Harborough 
Road. It is anchored by two large food stores and has good range of smaller 
comparison and service goods retailers. Kingsthorpe is a vital and viable 
District Centre5.     

12.77 Local centres contain small shops of a local nature which might include a 
small supermarket, newsagent, small post office, pharmacy, take away and 
laundrette.  New local centres and convenience retail provisions is required
within Northampton’s SUEs and will provide local retailing and services 
associated with new housing growth. 

12.78 The boundaries of District and Local Centres will be defined in the West 
Northamptonshire Site Allocations Development Plan Document.

5 West Northamptonshire Retail Study Update Roger Tym and Partners January 2011

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

137



POLICY N10 – SHOPPING NEEDS OUTSIDE NORTHAMPTON TOWN 
CENTRE 

PROVISION WILL BE MADE FOR LOCAL CONVENIENCE SHOPPING 
NEEDS AT THE NEW LOCAL CENTRES WITHIN THE SUSTAINABLE 
URBAN EXTENSIONS AS SET OUT IN SUE POLICIES.  

NO FURTHER COMPARISON GOODS FLOORSPACE IS REQUIRED 
OUTSIDE NORTHAMPTON CENTRAL AREA OTHER THAN AT AN 
APPROPRIATE SCALE TO SUPPORT THE VITALITY AND VIABILITY OF 
LOCAL CENTRES.

  

Community Regeneration Areas

12.79 The areas proposed for neighbourhood renewal all fall within the top 5% most 
deprived areas in the country identified by the Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
2007, depicting issues of income deprivation, low skills, poor health and 
crime.

12.80 Policy RC1 in Section 7 outlines the JCS’ overarching approach to community 
regeneration.  The key schemes, which will provide the main focus for 
community regeneration within the plan period for Northampton Borough, are 
outlined below.

Spring Boroughs

12.81 The neighbourhood is located immediately to the west of Northampton, 
occupying the area between the town centre and Northampton railway station.  
Much of the existing housing stock is of poor quality and action will also be
required to ensure that the current public sector housing stock meets the 
Government’s Decent Homes Standard.

12.82 Spring Boroughs lies within the area covered by the Northampton Central 
Area Action Plan (NCAAP).  The Borough Council published an emerging
strategy document for consultation in August 2009 to consider how the town 
centre and its adjoining commercial, residential and mixed-use areas would 
develop over the next 20 years.  The policy direction within the JCS aims to 
support a comprehensive, community led approach for the area to address 
the levels of deprivation that currently exist.  In particular the approach will 
focus on redevelopment of the housing stock, which fails to meet the Decent 
Homes Standard, meeting community deficiencies which exist in the area, 
improving connectivity and enhancing the local environment.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

138



King’s Heath and Spencer

12.83 King’s Heath and Spencer form part of an emerging regeneration and 
sustainable communities strategy for Northampton North West.  This strategy 
aims to bring about the regeneration of these areas alongside the 
development of a new community development of 3,500 homes proposed at 
Northampton Kings Heath SUE. 

12.84 The character of the area is largely defined by inter and post war housing 
development. Whilst the King’s Heath is neighbourhood in particular was 
comprehensively planned and provides some well designed housing and 
urban space, over time under investment, neglect and economic decline in the 
area as a whole have resulted in a general state of decline and deprivation.  
Significant levels of poor health, anti-social behaviour and low skill levels have 
compounded this situation.  Additionally the area suffers from poor 
connectivity with the wider urban area including Northampton town centre.

Northampton East

12.85 Northampton East consists of a series of communities and estates largely built 
in the 1970s to early 1980s as part of the New Town expansion.  The estates 
were designed and built to Radburn design principles, separating pedestrian 
and vehicle movements and ensuring residents have good access to local 
facilities.  As the estates were built as separate units, each has its own 
identity.

12.86  Analysis of key data sets indicates broad socio-economic decline across a 
significant proportion of Northampton East.  The area as a whole suffers from 
high crime and anti-social behaviour levels, low educational attainment and 
poor connectivity both to the town centre and between the estates.

12.87 Although Northampton East contains a higher than average provision of 
greenspace, compared to the rest of Northampton, it is the quality of these 
spaces that varies tremendously, with areas being both underused with few 
facilities and a poor physical environment.  In addition there are areas where 
the public housing stock requires significant investment.

12.88  The intention is to provide a regeneration strategy aimed at bringing about 
safe, inclusive, sustainable communities.  The strategy will set out high-level 
principles and actions designed to secure transformational change through 
partnership working.  Subsequently, it is envisaged that supplementary 
planning documents or planning briefs will be produced to outline detailed 
requirements for communities in Northampton East to address issues such as 
layout, design and facilities required.

12.89 Following the announcement by Central Government of the withdrawal of 
Private Finance Investment Credits (PFI) Northampton Borough Council is 
currently exploring other opportunities for future funding. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

139



POLICY N11 - SUPPORTING AREAS OF COMMUNITY REGENERATION  

TO SUPPORT THE REGENERATION OF SPRING BOROUGHS, KING’S 
HEATH/ SPENCER, EASTFIELD AND NORTHAMPTON EAST, 
NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL WILL, WORKING IN 
PARTNERSHIP WITH OTHER SERVICE PROVIDERS, SET OUT A 
STRATEGY APPROACH DESIGNED TO ADDRESS THE KEY 
PRINCIPLES OF DELIVERING INCLUSIVE, SUSTAINABLE 
COMMUNITIES, TO INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING:

ACHIEVING BETTER INTEGRATION BOTH WITHIN THE 
IDENTIFIED COMMUNITIES AND WITH THE REST OF THE TOWN 
IN PARTICULAR IMPROVING PHYSICAL CONNECTIVITY WITH 
ADJOINING DEVELOPMENT, BOTH EXISTING AND PROPOSED, 
AS WELL AS IMPROVING PUBLIC TRANSPORT SERVICES TO 
THE TOWN CENTRE; 

IMPROVING THE PUBLIC REALM AND QUALITY OF DESIGN 
INCLUDING ADDRESSING AREAS OF POOR QUALITY PUBLIC 
SPACE;

IMPROVING THE QUALITY OF THE PUBLIC SECTOR HOUSING 
STOCK;

CREATING SAFE AND SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENTS BY 
DESIGNING OUT OPPORTUNITIES FOR CRIME AND ANTI-SOCIAL 
BEHAVIOUR; 

ADDRESSING THE EXISTING DEFICIENCIES IN THE LEVEL AND 
QUALITY OF LOCAL RECREATIONAL FACILITIES; AND

CREATING LOCAL OPPORTUNITIES FOR EMPLOYMENT AND 
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT.

THE NORTHAMPTON CENTRAL AREA ACTION PLAN WILL SET OUT 
HOW THESE KEY PRINCIPLES WILL BE DELIVERED IN 
REGENERATING SPRING BOROUGHS. 

PROPOSED REGENERATION SCHEMES FOR THE COMMUNITIES OF 
SPRING BOROUGHS, KING’S HEATH/SPENCER, EASTFIELD AND 
NORTHAMPTON EAST WILL BE SET OUT IN SUPPLEMENTARY 
PLANNING DOCUMENTS.

  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

140



Northampton’s Transport Network

12.90 There are a number of issues for Northampton related to transport including:  

Traffic congestion both around the historic core of the town and on 
parts of the outer ring road (A45/A43); 
Balancing the need to keep traffic moving and a desire to change the 
nature of the inner ring road to meet regeneration needs; 
A dispersed pattern of land-use, with large amounts of retail and 
employment located on the town’s periphery; 
The desire to increase accessibility to areas in need of regeneration;
and
Encouraging walking and cycling for shorter trips. 

12.91 Traffic congestion is a particular issue for Northampton and contributes to 
wider air quality problems as well as potentially affecting future economic 
growth. The existing road infrastructure is a combination of historic radial 
routes leading to the town centre and newer ring roads and dual carriageways 
constructed as part of the New Town Expansion. There are no simple 
solutions to solving Northampton’s congestion problems and a package of 
different measures, including those set out within the Connections section,
Section 6 of this JCS will all need to be implemented in addition to measures 
specific to the town itself. 

12.92 The Northampton Central Area Action Plan sets out Northampton Borough 
Council’s aspirations for dealing with traffic and movement within the central 
area including measures to:  

 Increase pedestrian accessibility between residential areas and the town 
centre;
Provide a new central interchange for buses;
Create a Pedestrian and Cycling movement framework; and 
Restrict additional car parking within the town centre boundary and edge 
of centre locations.

12.93 There is a need to deal with many of the wider issues for the whole town, to 
ensure that aspirations can be realised. 

12.94 Improvements to the current bus network within Northampton are required to 
both serve new developments and to improve the extent, frequency and 
quality of the service to existing areas. There are some specific parts of
Northampton’s existing urban area, including the southern residential areas,
which have poor public transport services. Whilst many of these communities 
have the highest car ownership, those without access to a car find themselves 
unable to access healthcare and other essential facilities within a one hour trip 
by public transport. 

12.95 Cycling and walking within Northampton are not presently seen as an 
attractive alternative to the car, even for short journeys and the proportion of 
trips by bicycle is below the average of similar towns. Across Northampton

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

141



there are sections of cycle routes that have not been completed. Cycle 
parking provision is either non-existent or very poor at a number of key 
destinations such as the rail and bus stations, employment locations and the 
town centre.  It is anticipated that the measures set out within Policy C1, in 
Section 6 of this JCS, will address these issues. 

12.96 The recent Parking Strategy for Northampton indicates that there are a 
significant number of spaces outside the central area, including 9,080 for retail 
and a further 24,064 on the major employment sites that are presently not
controlled (i.e. through pricing).  This creates issues for managing demand 
and promoting public transport, especially for trips to work, and could hinder 
the delivery of park and ride facilities.   

12.97 None of these issues should be viewed in isolation, and strategies must seek 
to address the land use implications, as well as wider barriers to accessing 
public transport and other sustainable modes of transport. 

POLICY N12 – NORTHAMPTON’S TRANSPORT NETWORK 
IMPROVEMENTS  

THE FOLLOWING IMPROVEMENTS TO THE TRANSPORT NETWORK IN
NORTHAMPTON WILL BE DELIVERED:

IMPROVED CONNECTIVITY BETWEEN EXISTING AREAS OF 
NORTHAMPTON TO ESSENTIAL SERVICES AND FACILITES SUCH 
AS RETAIL, EDUCATION AND HEALTHCARE; 
  
IMPROVED CONNECTIVITY TO THE TOWN CENTRE FROM ALL 
PARTS OF THE TOWN BY PUBLIC TRANSPORT, WALKING AND
CYCLING; 

IMPROVEMENTS TO THE PRIORITY INTERCHANGES OF CENTRAL 
NORTHAMPTON BUS STATION THROUGH ITS REPROVISION AS 
PART OF THE GROSVENOR CENTRE DEVELOPMENT AND 
NORTHAMPTON CASTLE STATION;

ENHANCED PUBLIC TRANSPORT SERVICES TO AND FROM
PRIORITY INTERCHANGES;  

DEMAND MANAGEMENT MEASURES ON ROUTES IDENTIFIED AS 
THE PUBLIC TRANSPORT CORRIDORS TO IMPROVE PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT RELIABILITY;  AND 

REVISED PARKING STANDARDS ACROSS THE WHOLE OF 
NORTHAMPTON.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

142



13.0 Daventry
        

Introduction  

13.1 Daventry was a small market town until the 1960s when it was identified as a 
location for overspill development from Birmingham.  As a consequence, the 
population of Daventry has grown over the years from about 4,000 in 1950 to 
around 25,000 today.

13.2 In the early 2000s, Daventry District Council supported the further growth of 
the town in order to support the town centre, which was in need of some 
revitalisation and regeneration. A Strategic Development Options Study1 was 
published for Daventry in 2005 to consider options for creating a sustainable 
town of 40,000 population.  

13.3 An interim draft Daventry masterplan was published in 20062 to assist in the 
development of planning policy and strategy. The masterplan included a 
number of proposals for the regeneration and revitalisation of Daventry to 
support the identified growth of the town. 

Daventry Today  

13.4 Abbey Retail Park (located off South Way) became the first phase of 
regeneration plans for the town centre.  Completed in early 2009 it provides 
additional retail floorspace (bulky goods and DIY), car parking and a Working 
Men’s Club. 

13.5 In September 2009 construction of the ‘iCon’ building commenced at a 
gateway into the town centre. The building is an exemplar of energy efficient 
and sustainable construction and provides 60 business incubator units, a 
conference centre and a 300 seat theatre, exhibition space and meeting 
rooms.  

13.6 The redevelopment of a site north of High Street will provide for a 
replacement library, shops, offices, hotel, bars, restaurants, health and fitness 
gym and residential. Phase 1 of this development is expected to commence 
in 2012. 

13.7 Daventry’s Waterspace proposals present an ambitious mixed use project 
including residential, office and leisure uses.  High quality public spaces and 
buildings will be set around water basins which will be used for short and long 
term canal boat moorings and connected to the Grand Union Canal to the 
north.   

1 Atkins (2005) Daventry Strategic Development Options Study 
2Daventry District Council (2006) Daventry Master Plan – Interim Draft December 2006 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

143



13.8 Daventry town retains its historic core, which benefits from conservation area 
designation and includes many listed buildings.   There are also important 
historical and archaeological sites all around Daventry including historic out-
lying villages.  At the eastern edge of Daventry’s urban area lie Borough Hill 
Scheduled Ancient Monument (a Bronze Age Hill fort), and Burnt Walls 
Scheduled Ancient Monument (a possible pre-historic defensive earthwork
enclosure). 

13.9 The urban area surrounding the town is largely of modern mid 20th century 
housing development.  The residential estate of Southbrook immediately to 
the west of Borough Hill has been identified by Northamptonshire County 
Council for neighbourhood regeneration.  

13.10 Daventry town’s employment space is located in a small number of large 
industrial/ commercial estates located to the north-west and south-east of the 
town. These industrial estates are dominated by industrial and warehouse 
floorspace.  Daventry District Council is actively seeking reinvestment and 
renewal in these areas and this is already taking place in industrial estates to 
the west. The Marches Industrial Estate to the east provides an opportunity 
for employment renewal.  There is presently little office floorspace in the town 
although there are current proposal to increase office floorspace through the 
town centre regeneration schemes.  Daventry International Rail Freight 
Terminal (DIRFT) located 6 miles to the north of Daventry also provides some 
employment opportunities for the residents of Daventry Town and the north of 
the District. The Economic Advantage section, Section 8 of this JCS, provides 
further information and a policy approach for DIRFT.

13.11 Daventry’s educational offer, particularly for secondary and tertiary education, 
is not sufficient to meet the needs of the area and significant numbers of 
students are transported to education facilities elsewhere.  Partners, including 
local authorities and all providers of secondary and tertiary education in the 
area are working on means to improve the educational offer at this level.

13.12 Daventry’s planned expansion in the 1960s and 1970s has given rise to a 
relatively compact town.  The existing transport infrastructure within the town 
provides a relatively high capacity road network that makes travelling by car 
the most convenient mode of travel for most trips.  Public transport usage 
within Daventry is currently very low resulting in unsustainable travel habits. It 
is therefore important that any new development at Daventry addresses 
alternative and sustainable modes of transport other than the private car in 
order to support climate change objectives.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

144



13.13 Topographically, the town is generally contained within a natural landscape 
‘bowl’ with land rising to the south-east, south, west and north of the town. 
The Daventry Infrastructure Strategy3 notes the following environmental and 
visual features: The hills surrounding the town; the views over the town and 
the adjoining countryside to the west from Borough Hill; and the ironstone 
villages within the countryside surrounding the town.   

13.14 The main strategic green spaces are Daventry County Park to the east of the 
urban area and the Northern Valley Park to the north, both of which play an 
important part in the quality of life for residents and for visitors of the town as 
a recreational, landscape and wildlife resource. Borough Hill Scheduled 
Monument also offers an additional area of accessible green space.  It is 
owned and managed by Daventry District Council and is called a country park 
(although its usage is much lower than Daventry Country Park) and is a 
historic landmark feature which contributes positively to the towns identity.  

13.15 Daventry District Council is now preparing a new masterplan for Daventry 
entitled Daventry 2040 to support its regeneration in the 21st Century.  The 
District Council’s intention is that the new masterplan will be approved by the 
Council for planning purposes.  It will be subject to full public consultation and 
approved by Daventry District Council as guidance against which to determine 
future planning applications.       

The Regeneration of Daventry Town 

13.16 The growth of Daventry to achieve its vision of a sustainable community with 
a population of 40,000 is supported through the JCS.  The expansion of 
Daventry offers an opportunity to create a more sustainable community, 
regenerate and expand the town centre, revitalise older employment areas 
and support the community regeneration at Southbrook residential area. The 
central area redevelopment proposals, as outlined in paragraphs 13.4 to 13.7
above, will bring forward mixed use schemes incorporating office, leisure and 
some 560 residential units within the JCS period to 2026. Planning consent 
has also been granted (2009) for a mixed use Sustainable Urban Extension 
for 1,000 dwellings and local employment provision at a site known as 
Monksmoor (located north of Daventry Reservoir).  

13.17 A significant issue for Daventry and its growth aspirations is the capacity of 
the A45 to the east of the town to accommodate further traffic. Junction 
improvements at the A45/ A5 Weedon crossroads are to be provided as a 
consequence of the approval of 1,000 homes at Monksmoor.  Whilst this 
junction improvement will provide some limited further highway capacity for 
growth at Daventry additional to the development of the Monksmoor scheme 
and proposed town centre regeneration, further major development can only 
be brought forward once the A45 capacity issues are satisfactorily resolved.

3 Daventry Infrastructure Strategy May 2008   

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

145



13.18 The strategy for Daventry is to provide for further housing growth by the 
allocation of a Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) at Daventry North East to 
comprise a mixed use development including 4,000 dwellings with 2,500 of 
these to be brought forward within the JCS period. This together with existing 
housing commitments for Daventry (including the remaining housing 
development at Middlemoor), the Monksmoor development and housing 
development within the existing urban area will achieve a level of housing 
growth for Daventry consistent with Daventry District Council’s vision. New 
employment development will be focused on the central area and
redevelopment and renewal of the existing employment areas with local 
employment opportunities being provided at Monksmoor and Daventry North 
East SUE.  Services, facilities (such as health care, education, shopping etc) 
and leisure development to support the growing population will be focused on 
the town centre and in the Daventry North East SUE (Policy D2 below refers). 

13.19 The growth at Daventry will be supported by improvements within the A45 
Daventry to Northampton transport corridor.  The extent of the highway 
access requirements for the Daventry North East SUE will result in substantial 
financial contribution towards these transport corridor improvements.  

POLICY D1 – THE REGENERATION OF DAVENTRY TOWN

THE REGENERATION OF DAVENTRY TOWN OVER THE PLAN PERIOD 
AND BEYOND TO PROVIDE FOR A SUSTAINABLE TOWN OF 40,000 
POPULATION IS SUPPORTED IN THIS JOINT CORE STRATEGY. 

WITHIN THE JOINT CORE STRATEGY PLAN PERIOD PROGRESS 
TOWARDS THIS VISION WILL BE ACHIEVED THROUGH THE 
FOLLOWING MEASURES: 

PROVIDING HOUSING DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE EXISTING 
URBAN AREA, REMAINING DEVELOPMENT AT MIDDLEMOOR, 
MONKSMOOR AND THE SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION AT 
DAVENTRY NORTH EAST (AS SET OUT IN POLICY D3);  
RETAINING EXISTING EMPLOYMENT AREAS AND 
ENCOURAGING THEIR REGENERATION AND RENEWAL; NEW 
EMPLOYMENT PROVISION AT THE TOWN CENTRE VIA 
REDEVELOPMENT SCHEMES AND BY LOCAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES PROVIDED AT MONKSMOOR AND DAVENTRY 
NORTH EAST SUES;
ADDITIONAL SERVICES AND FACILITIES PROVIDED THROUGH 
CENTRAL AREA REGENERATION SCHEMES AND AS 
APPROPRIATE AT HOUSING DEVELOPMENTS AND DAVENTRY 
NORTH EAST SUE;
ADDRESSING ISSUES OF NEIGHBOURHOOD REGENERATION IN 
SOUTHBROOK (AS SET OUT IN POLICY D4);  
PROVISION OF ADDITIONAL RETAIL SPACE WITHIN THE TOWN 
CENTRE (AS SET OUT IN POLICY D2) AND LOCAL SHOPPING 
FACILITIES WITHIN THE SUE (AS SET OUT IN POLICY D3);  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

146



IMPROVEMENTS TO PUBLIC TRANSPORT, CYCLING AND 
WALKING FACILITIES WITHIN THE TOWN (AS SET OUT IN 
POLICY D5); 
PROVISION OF A45 CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENTS FROM 
DAVENTRY TO NORTHAMPTON; AND
PROVISION OF LEISURE AND TOURISM DEVELOPMENT WITHIN 
THE TOWN CENTRE VIA REDEVELOPMENT AND INCLUDING AN 
EXTENSION TO DAVENTRY COUNTRY PARK (AS SET OUT IN 
POLICY D3) 

Daventry Town Centre
  

13.20 Daventry has a vital and viable town centre.  The town centre environment is 
good and partly pedestrianised and the town is well placed within the UK 
Retail Rankings, with diversity of uses in line with UK averages.  There is 
representation from a wide range of convenience (food) and comparison (non-
food) multiple retailers in Daventry although national restaurant operators are 
under-represented.  The presence of two strongly-performing food stores
within the town centre (Waitrose and Tesco) aids the viability and vitality of 
the centre as a whole.  However, there is significant leakage of retail 
expenditure out to other town centres.

13.21 There is considerable potential to improve Daventry Town Centre’s 
attractiveness as a leisure, retail and employment destination. Much has 
already been achieved and more is being brought forward through town 
centre regeneration projects and to reclaim the leakage of retail expenditure 
back from other centres. 

13.22 Policy D2 below supports the continuation of focus on Daventry’s central area 
for main town centre uses.  Specific sites to accommodate retail and office 
floorspace and leisure development are being identified by Daventry District 
Council in the development of their Town Centre Vision proposals and master 
planning work, as briefly referred to in paragraphs 13.4 to 13.7 above. 

POLICY D2 – DAVENTRY TOWN CENTRE 

THE TOWN CENTRE BOUNDARY AND PRIMARY SHOPPING AREA FOR 
DAVENTRY WILL BE IDENTIFIED ON THE DAVENTRY TOWN 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT PROPOSALS MAP.

MAJOR RETAIL, OFFICE AND LEISURE DEVELOPMENT WILL TAKE 
PLACE WITHIN AND ADJOINING THE TOWN CENTRE. PROVISION WILL 
BE MADE FOR A MINIMUM INCREASE IN SHOPPING PROVISION OF:

7,600 SQM NET COMPARISION (NON-FOOD) SHOPPING 
FLOORSPACE FOR THE PERIOD 2010 TO 2026; AND 
2,000 SQM NET CONVENIENCE (FOOD) SHOPPING 
FLOORSPACE FOR THE PERIOD 2010 TO 2026.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

147



DEVELOPMENT OF ADDITIONAL RETAIL FLOORSPACE WITHIN THE 
TOWN CENTRE IN EXCESS OF THE ABOVE FIGURES WILL BE 
ACCEPTABLE WHERE IT IS DEMONSTRATED THAT THERE WILL BE 
NO UNACCEPTABLE ADVERSE IMPACT ON THE VITALITY OR 
VIABILTY OF OTHER TOWN CENTRES.  

Daventry North East Sustainable Urban Extension 

13.23 The Daventry North East SUE will be phased over the plan period and beyond 
with the necessary infrastructure also phased as the development progresses. 
The Infrastructure Development Plan sets out the elements of infrastructure 
that will be required to be delivered at stages within the delivery of the 
development.

13.24 The Proposals Map (Figure 5 at the end of the JCS) shows structural green 
space areas to be provided as part of the development. These areas will 
allow the built form to be assimilated into the landscape, as well as providing 
for biodiversity and habitat corridors from the rural areas into the urban areas.  
A net increase in biodiversity from this presently intensively managed 
landscape can be achieved.  

13.25 Structural green space along the western edge of the allocation will allow for a 
green buffer strip and the retention of planting along the eastern margins of 
the Daventry reservoir.  This area includes the corridor for the proposed 
Daventry Canal Arm, which would link the town centre with the Grand Union 
Canal adding significant visitor and tourism interest in the town and supporting
the town centre regeneration objectives.  Greenspace alongside the reservoir 
includes areas of flood zone 2 and 3.  By including these areas within the 
green space ensures that these flood areas remain free from development.   
To the north of the reservoir the structural open space provides for an 
extension to the country park and ensures the dam break area is kept free 
from any development.

13.26 The northern edge of the allocation runs along the Grand Union Canal.  A 
wide buffer of open space is required to be retained along this northern edge 
which includes strong landscape features such as Thrupp Covert.  This 
structural green space will serve to visually contain the built development in 
the wider landscape as well as protecting the setting of the Grand Union 
Canal Conservation Area.  The eastern strategic landscape buffer will ensure 
development is kept to the west of the ridge and within the shallow bowl 
landscape feature.

13.27 The Daventry North East SUE can provide a development that is closely 
related to the existing urban area with the opportunity of establishing good 
connections through the existing highway network  and via connections for 
walking, cycling and public transport provision  to the town centre.  This would 
include the ‘tow path’ of the Daventry Canal Arm, a cycle track/footpath on the 
same alignment as the proposed ‘tow path’.  With these links in place the 
site’s close proximity to the town centre will allow the development to support 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

148



the regeneration proposals already taking place and those planned for the 
town centre by increasing the opportunity, and ease with which, residents can 
visit the town centre for employment, retail and leisure and so support the 
town centre economy.                              

13.28 The Daventry North East SUE also has the opportunity to support the 
communities at Southbrook.  Connections for walking, cycling and public 
transport between the SUE allocation and the Southbrook area can be 
established across the B4036.  These connections can support the 
Southbrook community to access local services and facilities provided within 
the new SUE.  To maximise integration of existing and new communities 
consideration should be given to a local centre serving the SUE closely 
located to the B4036 and Admirals Way.

13.29 It is important to recognise that the approach for the expansion of Daventry is 
a holistic view and the Daventry North East SUE will deliver over time the 
growth of Daventry in concert with regeneration proposals and opportunities 
for further non strategic site allocations through the Site Allocations DPD.

13.30 Due to the demands the Daventry North East SUE will make on the 
surrounding highway network the development will be required to make a 
financial contribution to the A45 Daventry to Northampton transport corridor
relative to its highway impact.       

13.31 The Daventry North East SUE allocation is suitable, available and deliverable 
for up to 2,500 dwellings within the plan period and Policy D3 below sets out 
the land use requirements. The development should commence from the 
south-western edge and infrastructure provision phased accordingly.  

POLICY D3 - DAVENTRY NORTH EAST SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
EXTENSION

THE BOUNDARY OF THE DAVENTRY NORTH EAST SUSTAINABLE 
URBAN EXTENSION IS SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5).
THE DEVELOPMENT WILL MAKE PROVISION FOR:

4,000 DWELLINGS (2,500 OF WHICH WILL BE PROVIDED WITHIN 
THE PLAN PERIOD TO 2026);
THREE 420 PLACE PRIMARY SCHOOLS;
A 10HA SECONDARY SCHOOL SITE; 
THREE LOCAL CENTRES PROVIDING LOCAL SHOPPING 
FACILITIES WITH INDIVIDUAL STORES NOT EXCEEDING 500 
SQM TRADING FLOORSPACE AND TO INCLUDE HEALTH CARE,
SERVICES, COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND LOCAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES; 
AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK FOCUSED ON 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT MODES, WALKING AND CYCLING  
WITH STRONG LINKS TO THE TOWN CENTRE, SOUTHBROOK 
RESIDENTIAL AREA AND LONG BUCKBY  RAIL STATION; 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

149



STRUCTURAL GREENSPACE AND WILDLIFE CORRIDORS 
(INCLUDING A CORRIDOR FOR THE DAVENTRY CANAL ARM) AS 
SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5);
AN EXTENSION TO DAVENTRY COUNTRY PARK TO INCLUDE 
SUSTAINABLE ACCESS LINKS TO DEVELOPMENT TO THE 
WEST; 
A FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION TO THE DAVENTRY TO 
NORTHAMPTON A45 CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENTS AND 
PROVISION OF REQUIRED HIGHWAY INFRASTRUCTURE TO 
SERVE THE DEVELOPMENT; 
ENHANCED SPORT AND LEISURE PROVISION; 
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD ATTENUATION
SCHEMES; AND
FLOOD MITIGATION FROM ALL SOURCES.  

NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE WILL REQUIRE TO BE PHASED 
ALONGSIDE THE DELIVERY OF THE DEVELOPMENT.

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN.

          Community Regeneration Area

13.32 Daventry’s growth since the 1960s has left behind a pattern of   residential 
and commercial development of varying quality, areas of population with 
differing needs and variable access to services. In most areas these 
differences are not so acute as to require particular treatment as regeneration 
priorities. However, one significant exception is that of Hill Ward, lying 
immediately to the east of Daventry town centre, which is identified by the 
Indices of Deprivation (2007) as being within the top 20% most deprived 
nationally.

13.33 Within Hill Ward, Southbrook has been identified as an area which would 
benefit from community regeneration support.  Southbrook is a 1970s 
residential estate constructed to a Radburn layout. The estate has, for 
example, limited local amenities, a poor public realm and suffers from poor 
physical linkages to the rest of the town, pedestrian and cycle access being 
principally through underpasses.  The estate has a history of social problems, 
including lower educational attainment and higher levels of crime and anti-
social behaviour. Work undertaken by Northamptonshire County Council in 
producing a Countywide Renewal Strategy (2005-8) resulted in Southbrook 
being identified as an area requiring additional support focusing on specific 
issues such as the local environment, community safety and the needs of 
young people.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

150



POLICY D4 – SUPPORTING AREAS OF COMMUNITY REGENERATION:
SOUTHBROOK 

TO SUPPORT THE REGENERATION OF SOUTHBROOK THE COUNCIL 
WILL, WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP WITH OTHER SERVICE PROVIDERS 
SET OUT AN APPROACH DESIGNED TO ADDRESS THE KEY 
PRINCIPLES OF DELIVERING INCLUSIVE SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES 
WHICH WILL INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING:

IMPROVING THE PHYSICAL AND SOCIAL INTEGRATION OF 
SOUTHBROOK WITH THE REST OF THE TOWN AND WITH THE 
NORTH EAST SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION;
IMPROVING WALKING, CYCLING AND PUBLIC TRANSPORT 
CONNECTIONS TO SERVICE AND FACILITIES IN THE TOWN 
CENTRE AND ADJOINING NEIGHBOURHOODS;
IMPROVING THE PUBLIC REALM AND QUALITY OF DESIGN; AND 
CREATING SAFE AND SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENTS BY 
DESIGNING OUT CRIME.

THE DAVENTRY MASTERPLAN WILL SET OUT HOW THESE KEY 
PRINCIPLES WILL BE DELIVERED IN REGENERATING SOUTHBROOK. 

  
Daventry’s Transport Network

13.34 As set out in preceding paragraphs in order for Daventry to grow to a 
sustainable town of 40,000 population improvements along the A45 transport 
corridor to the east of the town will be required.  These improvements will be 
delivered as a consequence of the Daventry North East SUE which will be 
required to provide a financial contribution to identified improvements.

13.35 Daventry is a fairly compact town with a large proportion of residents able to 
access the town centre in a walk time of less than 15 minutes, although the 
proportion of employment and central area facilities within a 15 minute walk 
time will decline as the town grows outward. The road infrastructure within 
Daventry is presently adequate, having being constructed for a far greater 
population than has been realised. Development of the scale proposed in this 
JCS will however place some parts of the network under strain. 

13.36 Public transport currently plays a minor role in movement within the town and 
car use is dominant.  This situation needs to be addressed in line with policy 
aspirations for sustainability and to prevent growth reinforcing unsustainable 
patterns of behaviour.  As such transformative improvement to the public 
transport offer is required.  Daventry District Council together with 
Northamptonshire County Council is looking at innovative solutions to 
improving public transport provision for Daventry including options for 
Personal Rapid Transit (PRT) and Group Rapid Transit (GRT) systems.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

151



13.37 The town does not have its own railway station. The nearest station is located 
at Long Buckby, although many residents may also seek to use Rugby and
Northampton stations as these have a more frequent service. Public transport 
connections to the nearest station at Long Buckby are presently poor and
there are limited waiting facilities; these will need to be improved as part of the 
wider public transport policy.

13.38 Walking and cycling are important transport modes in their own right and also 
as links to public transport facilities. As such it is important that new 
development provides an attractive environment for these modes.

13.39 The strategic cycling network across Daventry is largely complete and as such 
only relatively minor improvements are required to complete this network and 
ensure that all new developments are fully connected. Some improvements 
are however required, especially to the employment areas to the north west of 
the town and ensuring that road crossings do not cause inconvenience or 
unnecessary delay to cycle journeys.

POLICY D5 – DAVENTRY’S TRANSPORT NETWORK IMPROVEMENTS  

THE FOLLOWING IMPROVEMENTS TO THE TRANSPORT NETWORK IN 
DAVENTRY WILL BE DELIVERED:

ENHANCED CONNECTIVITY OF THE TOWN TO NORTHAMPTON VIA 
THE A45 CORRIDOR; 
IMPROVED PUBLIC TRANSPORT SYSTEMS;
THE COMPLETION OF THE CYCLING NETWORK TO CONNECT 
RESIDENTIAL AREAS THE TOWN CENTRE, EMPLOYMENT AREAS
AND LONG BUCKBY RAILWAY STATION; AND
IMPROVEMENTS TO PUBLIC TRANSPORT CONNECTIONS TO LONG 
BUCKBY RAIL STATION AND IMPROVED FACILITIES AT THE 
STATION.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

152



14.0Towcester

Introduction

14.1 Towcester is an historic market town with Roman origins. It has a population of 
around 10,000 people and acts as a service centre for a rural catchment of a
further 10,000 people. 

14.2 The town is situated between the A5 and A43, and has experienced significant 
housing growth over the last 20 years which has occurred to the west and 
south of the town centre.   

14.3 The landscape setting of Towcester is considered to be of medium sensitivity 
due to the surrounding historic parks, gardens, ancient woodland and 
topography.1  The areas around Easton Neston and Caldecote are particularly 
sensitive. These landscape constraints have limited development to the east of 
the A5, which has resulted in the town centre being close to the eastern edge of 
the town.

14.4 Towcester Racecourse lies within the registered Historic Parkland to the south 
east of Towcester and is an important site for recreation and tourism. There is 
significant potential to improve the facilities that it offers and boost the role it 
plays in supporting the visitor economy, as well as providing better facilities for 
local people. 

14.5 A range of independent specialist shops, together with the larger retail 
foodstores, are supported by the town centre which retains its historic market 
town character. The town centre contains many attractive listed buildings and
is almost entirely located within a conservation area. 

14.6 The Spatial Strategy set out in Section 5 identifies Towcester as a Rural 
Service Centre.   As such there is an expectation that the town will act as a 
focus for housing and employment growth to meet the requirements for South 
Northamptonshire as set out in Policies S3 and S7. 

Towcester Masterplan

14.7 South Northamptonshire Council has produced a Masterplan2 for Towcester 
which aims to secure Towcester’s position as a market town for the 21st century
by achieving the following key objectives:

A Vibrant Town Centre - A thriving, historic and expanded town centre, a 
hub for employment, shopping, professional and public services with the 
market place at its heart; 

1 Quartet Design (2009) Towcester Landscape and Green Infrastructure Study
2 South Northamptonshire Council (2009) Towcester Masterplan Consultation Draft

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

153



Excellent Connectivity - Fast road connections to a range of other towns, 
cities, stations and airports, a bypass to take strategic traffic away from the 
town, a walkable town with up to the minute virtual connections; 

Successful Local Businesses - Ideal home-working environment, part of 
a high technology corridor, tourism and leisure based business 
opportunities and access to centres of research and learning; 

A Family Environment – Excellent quality, modern education facilities, 
top class sports teams and leisure facilities, safe streets and spaces and 
new residential neighbourhoods; 

Respect for the Landscape – Physical and visual connections to the 
landscape to retain the rural and urban character and a range of quality 
open spaces; 

Determination to Succeed – Proactive and coordinated local partners, an
active Town Council and Towcester Partnership and engaged residents 
that take pride in their town. 

The Spatial Strategy for Towcester

14.8 The Spatial Strategy promotes the role of Towcester as a Rural Service Centre 
by delivering sustainable growth to the south of the town which in turn supports 
the regeneration of the town centre. The Towcester South Sustainable Urban 
Extension (SUE) will deliver of an A5 bypass3, which will enable the re-routing 
of heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) and other through traffic away from the town 
centre, and provide the scope to improve the environmental quality of the town 
centre.  It is expected that up to 1500 dwellings will be delivered during the plan 
period, with a further 1500 being provided post 2026. In addition to the 
proposed SUE, housing development will continue to occur within the existing 
urban area, which an estimated urban capacity of 200 dwellings.  This 
development will be supported by additional services and facilities such 
education, healthcare and enhanced leisure provision.

POLICY T1 – SPATIAL STRATEGY FOR TOWCESTER

THE ROLE OF TOWCESTER AS A RURAL SERVICE CENTRE WILL BE 
SUPPORTED AND ENHANCED BY THE FOLLOWING DEVELOPMENT 
AND OTHER PROPOSALS:

HOUSING DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE EXISTING URBAN AREA 
AND AS PART OF THE TOWCESTER SOUTH SUSTAINABLE 
URBAN EXTENSION; (see POLICY T3) 

EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT AS PART OF THE REGENERATION 
OF THE TOWN CENTRE AND AS PART OF THE TOWCESTER 
SOUTH SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION; 

3 As set out in the West Northamptonshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan (December 2010)

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

154



THE REGENERATION OF TOWCESTER TOWN CENTRE, 
PRINCIPALLY THROUGH THE MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT OF THE 
MOAT LANE AREA; (see POLICY T2)

ADDITIONAL SERVICES AND FACILITIES PROVIDED THROUGH 
THE REGENERATION OF THE TOWN CENTRE AND THE 
TOWCESTER SOUTH SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION; 

DELIVERY OF AN A5 BYPASS AND COMPLEMENTARY 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT MEASURES TO IMPROVE AIR 
QUALITY AND REDUCE CONGESTION IN THE TOWN CENTRE; 

THE PROVISION OF ADDITIONAL COMPARISON (NON FOOD) 
SHOPPING FLOORSPACE WITHIN THE TOWN CENTRE AND 
LOCAL SHOPPING FACILITIES WITHIN THE TOWCESTER SOUTH 
SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION; AND

SUPPORTING THE PROTECTION AND IMPROVEMENT OF THE 
FACILITIES PROVIDED AT TOWCESTER RACECOURSE. (see 
POLICY T5) 

The Town Centre and Moat Lane Regeneration Area

14.9 Supporting the town centre is a key objective and whilst Towcester has a vital 
and viable town centre, it fails to meet its full potential in respect of non food 
(also known as comparison goods) shopping.  This is, at least in part, due to 
the presence of HGVs dominating the High Street and limiting the quality and 
safety of the town centre environment.  Regeneration proposals for the town 
centre and the construction of an A5 bypass will improve the environmental 
quality and provide scope for additional non-food retail floorspace to be 
provided. Recent consents for an extension of floorspace to the Tesco Store 
near the A5/A43 junction east side and a further out of town centre store for 
Aldi near the A5/ A43 junction south side will provide sufficient food shopping 
to serve the town and its future expansion.

14.10 The regeneration proposals for Towcester town centre include the Market 
Square and the Moat Lane area of the town and extend to Queens Road and 
Richmond Road to the west.  The Moat Lane regeneration area (see Policy T2
below), aims to transform the area between the Market Square and Mill 
Stream,  by extending and linking the town centre to the Easton Neston Water 
Meadows. The regeneration area will help to expand the existing town centre 
and provide space for new civic, retail, employment, housing and leisure 
development. At the centre of the regeneration area is Bury Mount, the 
remains of a 12th century motte and bailey castle. The first phase of the Moat 
Lane project restored the monument to provide a high quality new public open 
space and re-establish the site as the heart of the town.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

155



14.11 The vision for the Moat  Lane project is: 

‘To provide the historic market town of Towcester with the level of new 
economic, social and community infrastructure to meet the needs of the 
existing and future population through the comprehensive delivery of 
the highest quality of regeneration that reflects the town’s significant 
cultural and built heritage.’

14.12 The regeneration of the Moat Lane Area is expected to deliver the following 
approximate amounts of development:

41 dwellings; 
1300m2

2400m

A1, A3, and A4 (Retail, food and drink, restaurants and 
drinking establishments);

2

300m
B1 (Office);

2

2400m
B1/B2 (Business Use);
2

2200 D1 (Non residential institutions);
C3 (Hotel);

4000m2

Associated infrastructure.
Car parking spaces; and

POLICY T2 – THE TOWN CENTRE AND MOAT LANE REGENERATION 
AREA

WITHIN THE BOUNDARY OF THE MOAT LANE REGENERATION AREA 
AND THE TOWN CENTRE (AS SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP,
FIGURE 5) MIXED USE DEVELOPMENT INCORPORATING THE 
REGENERATION OF BROWNFIELD LAND DEVELOPMENT WILL 
PROVIDE: 

CIVIC AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES, INCLUDING TOURIST, 
LEISURE AND CULTURAL FACILITIES; 

NEW RESIDENTIAL, EMPLOYMENT, RETAIL AND FOOD AND DRINK 
PREMISES TO ENHANCE THE VITALITY OF THE TOWN CENTRE; 
AND

THE PRESERVATION AND ENHANCEMENT OF BURY MOUNT 
SCHEDULED ANCIENT MONUMENT.

The Towcester South Sustainable Urban Extension

14.13 The Towcester South Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) comprises an area 
of mainly agricultural land with an undulating topography. The northern part of 
the site borders the majority of the southern edge of Towcester and effectively 
encloses the hamlet of Wood Burcote and the woodland area around Besses 
Lane. Part of the western edge of the site runs along the A43 and part of the 
eastern side of the site runs along the A5.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

156



14.14 As a sustainable mixed use urban extension to Towcester, the development 
will deliver a balanced mix of housing and employment with strong links to the 
town centre and surrounding areas. The development will include the full 
range of community infrastructure, as set out in Policy T3 below, to support 
the new residents and also to enhance the provision available to the existing 
community in Towcester.

14.15 The design and layout of the development should ensure that residential 
areas are not subject to unacceptable levels of traffic noise associated with 
the existing A43 and A5 and the proposed bypass.

14.16 The site falls principally within two landscape character areas – Wood Burcote 
and Swinneyford. Wood Burcote is a very attractive landscape and is an area 
of high landscape sensitivity4. The Proposals Map (Figure 5 at the end of the 
JCS) includes structural greenspace areas to be provided within the 
development.  These areas will allow the built form to be assimilated into the 
landscape, as well as providing for biodiversity and habitat corridors from the 
rural areas into the urban areas. The new development will protect the setting 
of Wood Burcote and ensure that appropriate green infrastructure corridors 
and other links are provided.

14.17 There is an opportunity to create a strategic area of open space that would 
form the focus of the development. This park would be central to the 
development and would provide a strong link for both the new and existing 
areas of the town. The park will have the benefit of natural surveillance from 
adjoining dwellings and will link with various green corridors linking the
surrounding neighbourhoods.

14.18 An appropriate level of enabling development, housing and transport access 
will be required to secure the delivery of the park. The provision of the town 
park must be planned as an integral part of the Towcester south expansion.

14.19 The development will be delivered across all three phases of the plan period.
Phasing will be required to ensure that necessary infrastructure is delivered 
alongside the development, particularly the provision of the A5 bypass which
is an essential prerequisite to the development. 
  
POLICY T3 – TOWCESTER SOUTH SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION

THE BOUNDARY OF THE TOWCESTER SOUTH SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
EXTENSION IS SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5).

THE DEVELOPMENT WILL PROVIDE: 

3,300 DWELLINGS (OF WHICH 1,500 SHOULD BE DELIVERED IN 
THE PLAN PERIOD UP TO 2026);

4 Quartet Design (2009) Towcester Landscape and Green Infrastructure Study

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

157



3,000 JOBS (OF WHICH 1,500 SHOULD BE DELIVERED IN THE 
PLAN PERIOD UP TO 2026);
THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE A5 BYPASS;
ESSENTIAL IMPROVEMENTS TO THE A43 JUNCTIONS;
2 PRIMARY SCHOOLS AND 1 SECONDARY SCHOOL; 
2 MIXED USE LOCAL CENTRES TO INCLUDE LOCAL RETAIL 
FACILITIES (UP TO 500 SQM NET FLOORSPACE), HEALTH CARE 
SERVICES AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES; 
STRUCTURAL GREENSPACE AND WILDLIFE CORRIDORS , 
INCLUDING THE PROVISION OF A NEW TOWN PARK, AS SHOWN 
ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5);
DEVELOPMENT THAT RESPECTS THE LANDSCAPE SETTING 
AND NEARBY CONSERVATION AREAS;
AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK WITH SUSTAINABLE 
TRANSPORT MODES INCLUDING ACCESS TO TOWCESTER
TOWN CENTRE; 
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD ATTENUATION 
SCHEMES;
ENHANCED SPORT AND LEISURE PROVISION;
SAFEGUARDING AND ENHANCEMENT OF TOWCESTER’S 
GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORK;
SAFE ROUTES FOR PEDESTRIANS AND CYCLISTS;
FLOOD MITIGATION FROM ALL SOURCES; AND
ENHANCED UTILITIES PROVISION INCLUDING A PRIMARY 
ELECTRICITY SUBSTATION AND REINFORCEMENT OF THE 
ELECTRICITY NETWORK.

NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE IS REQUIRED TO BE PHASED 
ALONGSIDE THE DELIVERY OF THE DEVELOPMENT.  

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN.

   
Towcester Transport Improvements

14.20 The transport improvements for Towcester will support the regeneration of the 
town centre by removing congestion and improving air quality. Proposed 
improvements to the walking and cycling networks will enhance the 
connectivity between the town centre and the existing and proposed 
residential areas.

14.21 Many of Towcester’s residents commute out to work at key destinations such 
as Milton Keynes, Northampton and Silverstone Circuit. Enhancements to the 
inter-urban bus services, particularly along the A43 and A5 corridors between 
Northampton and Milton Keynes, will provide improved public transport links 
for Towcester and more sustainable transport options for commuters.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

158



POLICY T4 – TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENTS FOR TOWCESTER

TO SUPPORT ACCESSIBILITY AND SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT WITHIN 
TOWCESTER THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES WILL: 

SUPPORT IMPROVEMENTS TO  THE CONNECTIVITY OF 
TOWCESTER WITH THE WIDER A43 NETWORK INCLUDING 
ENHANCED PUBLIC TRANSPORT CONNECTIONS WITH 
SILVERSTONE, NORTHAMPTON AND MILTON KEYNES; 

SUPPORT THE EXTENSION OF THE WALKING AND CYCLING 
NETWORK TO CONNECT THE NEW DEVELOPMENT TO THE TOWN 
CENTRE; 

SECURE THE CONSTRUCTION OF AN A5 BYPASS TO THE SOUTH 
OF TOWCESTER AND THE MANAGEMENT OF THROUGH TRAFFIC 
WITHIN THE TOWN CENTRE; 

SECURE JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS TO THE A43;

PROMOTE WALKING AND CYCLING WITHIN THE TOWN AS AN
ALTERNATIVE TO CAR JOURNEYS;  

REVIEW PARKING PROVISION ACROSS THE TOWN; AND

IMPROVE BUS FACILITIES. 

Towcester Racecourse

14.22 Whilst the racecourse is an important feature of the town it is generally 
accepted that it represents a much underused facility as it is only open on the 
few race days each year.  There is therefore considerable potential for an 
intensification of the site for recreation or tourism-related development that will 
be of benefit both to the increasing population of the town itself and as a major 
tourism attraction for the wider area.

14.23 Leisure and recreation is becoming an increasingly important feature of 
modern life and Government policy promotes the development of sport and 
recreation to enable all people to participate in a choice of leisure activities.  
Encouraging leisure and recreation creates a variety of social benefits such as 
improved physical health and inner well being, enhanced social skills and 
sense of community.  It has an important environmental role, particularly 
through maintaining and improving the quality of urban areas, and can also be 
valuable in economic terms through promoting inward investment and tourism.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

159



14.24 The specific objectives for Towcester Racecourse are: 
To give long-term protection to existing leisure and recreational facilities at 
Towcester Racecourse in the interest of amenity for residents and visitors 
to the area; 
To improve the range, quality and standard of provision of the leisure and 
tourism offer at the Racecourse to meet people’s needs; and
To encourage greater participation by local residents in sport and 
recreation.

14.25 In addition to providing employment itself it also has beneficial spin-offs for the 
local economy and tourist trade.  It is therefore recognised that the 
Racecourse's continued success should be encouraged, and supported not 
only for its leisure provision but also for its contribution to the local economy 
and tourism in general.  The facilities have been improved over recent years, 
but there remains a key opportunity to further enhance facilities within the 
Racecourse.

14.26 To become more profitable and secure longer-term viability, the Racecourse 
needs to generate additional sources of revenue through the increased 
utilisation of their facilities.  Development must be designed to respect the 
countryside which has open views in a particularly prominent location. In order 
to protect this important tourist attraction and employment generator any 
proposals for development, either singularly or cumulatively, should not 
prejudice the continued use of the site as a racecourse.

14.27 The South Northamptonshire Economic Development Strategy (2010 – 2014)
commits South Northamptonshire Council to work with the Racecourse to 
better promote and implement development opportunities to increase all year 
round visitor numbers and expenditure.  

POLICY T5 - TOWCESTER RACECOURSE

PROPOSALS FOR THE INTENSIFICATION OF USES AT TOWCESTER 
RACECOURSE INVOLVING THE DEVELOPMENT OF ADDITIONAL 
LEISURE, RECREATIONAL, TOURISM AND EXHIBITION FACILITIES 
WILL BE SUPPORTED, SUBJECT TO PROPOSALS MEETING ALL OF 
THE FOLLOWING CRITERIA:

1. VEHICULAR ACCESS TO THE SITE SHALL BE FROM THE A5 USING 
EITHER OF THE TWO EXISTING ACCESS POINTS.  A TRANSPORT 
ASSESSMENT WILL BE REQUIRED TO ENSURE THAT ANY 
INCREASE IN TRAFFIC GENERATION CAN BE SATISFACTORILY 
ACCOMMODATED; 

2. ANY NEW BUILDINGS SHOULD BE BUILT IN CLOSE PROXIMITY TO 
EXISTING BUILDINGS AND IN A MANNER SYMPATHETIC TO THEIR 
EDGE OF TOWN LOCATION;

3. EXISTING FOOTPATHS SHOULD BE RETAINED;

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

160



4. APPROPRIATE LANDSCAPING SCHEMES WILL BE REQUIRED TO 
BE SUBMITTED AND APPROVED BY THE LOCAL AUTHORITY AS 
PART OF ANY DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL;

5. THE RACECOURSE LIES WITHIN THE HISTORIC PARKLAND OF 
EASTON NESTON AND ANY DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE 
SENSITIVELY DESIGNED;

6. DEVELOPMENT MUST NOT ADVERSELY AFFECT SITES 
CONTAINING ARCHAEOLOGICAL REMAINS OR THE INTEGRITY OF 
THEIR SETTINGS; 

7. THE PROVISION OF AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK WITH 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT MODES INCLUDING ACCESS TO 
TOWCESTER TOWN CENTRE; 

8. THE PROVISION OF SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD 
ATTENUATION SCHEMES; AND

9. SAFEGUARDING AND ENHANCEMENT OF TOWCESTER’S GREEN 
INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORK. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

161



15.0Brackley

Introduction

15.1 The historic market town of Brackley is located at the southern tip of 
Northamptonshire and has excellent road links to the urban centres of 
Northampton, Banbury, Bicester, Oxford and Milton Keynes. The Spatial 
Strategy in Section 5 identifies Brackley as a Rural Service Centre, which 
provides a focus for its own population of 14,500 as well as a wider rural 
catchment of a further 10,000. Whilst the town has experienced significant 
growth over the last twenty years it is still characterised by its market town 
heritage.

15.2 Brackley provides services and facilities for town residents and the surrounding 
villages, but it is evident that the town centre is failing to fulfil its role as a Rural 
Service Centre. The overall range and quality of retailing in the town centre is 
limited and there is a relatively high level of vacant shops. There is significant 
potential for Brackley to strengthen its role as a service centre and the JCS’ 
proposals are central to achieving this.

15.3 Large areas of housing have been developed to the north and north-west of the 
town. Whilst these add to the range of housing choice, some neighbourhoods 
are disconnected from the town centre and have failed to reflect the character 
and quality of Brackley’s built environment Housing growth has not however not 
been matched by employment growth, which has reinforced Brackley as a 
commuter town with 70% out-commuting. 

15.4 Notwithstanding this mismatch Brackley offers a range of employment facilities
and is home to well known companies such as Bronnley and leading 
motorsport companies such as Mercedes GP Petronas. There is significant 
scope to enhance and create new employment opportunities, which the JCS
will help to deliver.

15.5 The landscape setting of the town is important and includes the following areas 
of high landscape sensitivity; the Old Glebe to the north, the Great Ouse area 
to the east and the historic parkland landscapes at Evenley and Steane Park.

Brackley Masterplan

15.6 South Northamptonshire Council has produced a Masterplan1 which sets out 
the following vision for Brackley:

‘Brackley at the very heart of England, a distinctive town that serves the 
surrounding area and enhances the quality of life of residents; providing a 
vibrant town centre, quality housing, schooling and leisure opportunities, 
sustainable transport links and a dynamic economy. Brackley will be the 
destination of choice for people who know what they want in life.’

1 South Northamptonshire Council; June 2010. The Draft Brackley Masterplan (SPD) - Consultation 
Draft. Towcester: South Northamptonshire Council.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

162



15.7 In order to achieve this vision the following objectives have been identified:

Deliver a range of new high quality, sustainable housing opportunities and 
economic development that creates a balanced and sustainable 
community in Brackley; 
Revitalise the town centre through hands on management, public realm 
and linkage improvements, new retail occupiers, social, leisure and 
community facilities and initiatives to improve car parking provision to 
make the town centre attractive and functional for residents and the 
surrounding rural communities; 
Improve accessibility through pedestrian and cycle links from the 
residential and employment areas to the town centre and improved public 
transport links to rural areas, Silverstone and adjacent towns; 
Enhance and expand sports, indoor and outdoor leisure, swimming, 
recreation and open space facilities; 
Revitalise markets and promote festivals to make Brackley a recognised 
regional ‘event’ centre with a range of hotel and conference facilities; 
Ensure development expands housing and economic growth opportunities 
through well designed, high quality and sustainable development that is 
special and relates to the context of Brackley; 
A strengthened ‘Brackley Business District’ that combines the Town 
Centre and adjoining industrial estate. 

15.8 The Masterplan also identifies the following priorities for improvements to 
services and facilities, which new development will be expected to contribute 
towards:

Improvements in the ‘Brackley Business District’, which brings together the 
existing Town Centre and Buckingham Road Industrial Estate to strengthen 
the economy of the town as the town expands; 
Affordable Housing to meet local needs; 

 The redevelopment and expansion of Brackley Leisure Centre; 
Improved health provision including a new primary healthcare centre and 60 
bed unit for elderly care as a replacement cottage hospital; 
Extension and improvement of sewage treatment works serving Brackley; 
Extension or creation of a waste disposal and recycling facility; 

 Improved car and cycle parking provision in Brackley Town Centre; 
New open space and playing pitches to the north west; 
A new primary school within the Brackley North SUE and contributions 
towards secondary school provision; 
Improved pedestrian and cycle links between new development and the 
town centre; 
Provision of upgraded bus facilities within the town centre serving new 
development; and
New road infrastructure to provide effective links between new 
developments and ensure development does not create additional capacity 
problems on the A43. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

163



High Speed Rail 2

15.9 The potential impact of the proposed preferred route for the High Speed Rail
Link (HS2) from London to Birmingham needs to be considered. The original 
route which was published by the government in March 2010 ran in a north, 
north-west direction close to Brackley and Turweston village. 

15.10 In September 2010 a revised proposal by HS2 Ltd for the preferred route 
option around Brackley was published by the Department for Transport. The 
revised proposal moves the proposed route further to the west of the town and 
ensures that the proposed strategic urban extensions identified at Brackley
North and Brackley East are no longer affected by the proposed route.  The 
government confirmed in December 2010 that this is the preferred route that it 
will consult on in Spring 2011. A final route is not expected until passage of a 
proposed Hybrid Bill through Parliament in 2015.

15.11 If HS2 were to be implemented it would affect West Northamptonshire.  
Decisions on this will be taken at national level, but the local authorities would 
be statutory consultees. The timeframe for construction of HS2, were it to go 
ahead, would be within the plan period of this JCS. It is therefore appropriate 
for this JCS to consider the local issues and how these issues should be 
assessed without indicating any support or otherwise for the principle of the 
HS2 development.  It is important that major infrastructure proposals are 
achieved in a manner that integrates economic, environmental and social 
objectives to deliver sustainable development. For this reason a specific 
policy, Policy C6 is included in the Connections section, Section 6, of this 
plan. 

The Spatial Strategy for Brackley

15.12 The Spatial Strategy for Brackley will secure the delivery of new housing and 
employment in Strategic Urban Extensions to the north and east of town and
includes complementary proposals for a Brackley Business District which will 
secure the revitalisation of existing employment areas and the regeneration of 
the town centre.  The Brackley Business District is shown on the Proposals 
Map (Figure 5 at the end of the JCS) and comprises two areas; the ‘Town 
Centre’ which will be the focus for new town centre uses and the ‘Employment 
Area’ which will be the focus for new employment uses.

15.13 Revitalisation of Brackley Town Centre is a key element of the Spatial 
Strategy. Whilst the town centre fulfils the day to day needs of Brackley 
residents and its surrounding hinterland, it experiences a higher than average 
vacancy rate and a reduced presence of independent retailers.  The key 
priority for the town centre is to encourage a greater diversity of uses, services 
and facilities, as well as creating additional retail floorspace.  Greater diversity 
would assist the vitality of the town centre. More detailed policies and 
proposals for the town centre will be provided by the West Northamptonshire 
Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD), the West 
Northamptonshire Development Management Policies DPD and the final 
Brackley Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

164



15.14 The Brackley Masterplan complements the JCS and sets out a range of 
actions to improve town centre vitality, linkages and car parking and to 
promote the town centre for a variety of uses. 

POLICY B1 – SPATIAL STRATEGY FOR BRACKLEY

THE ROLE OF BRACKLEY AS A RURAL SERVICE CENTRE WILL BE 
SUPPORTED AND ENHANCED BY THE FOLLOWING DEVELOPMENT 
AND OTHER PROPOSALS:

HOUSING DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE EXISTING URBAN AREA 
AND AS PART OF THE BRACKLEY EAST AND BRACKLEY NORTH 
SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSIONS. 
EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT THROUGH REGENERATION AND 
RENEWAL WITHIN THE BRACKLEY BUSINESS DISTRICT:
EMPLOYMENT AREA (see Proposals Map, Figure 5) AND AS PART 
OF THE BRACKLEY EAST SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION. 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES AND FACILITIES PROVIDED THROUGH THE 
REGENERATION OF THE BRACKLEY BUSINESS DISTRICT: TOWN 
CENTRE (see Proposals Map, Figure 5) AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF 
THE SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSIONS. 
A COMPREHENSIVE PACKAGE OF MEASURES TO PROMOTE THE 
VITALITY OF THE TOWN CENTRE, ENHANCE LINKAGES AND 
IMPROVE TOWN CENTRE PARKING.
IMPROVEMENTS TO PUBLIC TRANSPORT, CYCLING AND WALKING 
FACILITIES WITHIN THE TOWN (POLICY B4 REFERS).  
HEALTH PROVISION INCLUDING A NEW PRIMARY HEALTHCARE 
CENTRE AND A 60 BED UNIT FOR ELDERLY CARE. 
ENHANCED GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORKS AND 
PROTECTION OF THE VALUED NATURAL FEATURES OF THE 
TOWN.

The Brackley East Sustainable Urban Extension

15.15 The Brackley East Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) is located between the 
A43 and the existing urban edge. The site is divided into two distinct parts by 
Turweston Road.

15.16 The land to the north of Turweston Road is a greenfield site currently in 
agricultural use. It has the potential to be a key gateway site into Brackley 
from the north and the A43. South Northamptonshire Council has resolved to 
grant planning permission for a business park development on the site, 
subject to the completion of a legal agreement. It is expected that the 
development of this part of the site will therefore come forward in the first 
phase of the plan period. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

165



15.17 Any subsequent changes to the design and layout of the existing proposal or 
any new proposal will need to consider the proximity of the A43 to the east 
which may require a landscape buffer to mitigate any noise impacts.

15.18 The land to the south of Turweston Road is predominantly greenfield with 
some previously developed land to the north of the site.  Residential 
development is proposed on this part of the site and is expected to come 
forward in the third phase of the plan period i.e. 2021-26.

15.19 A designated County Wildlife Site is located to the south-west of the site and it 
is essential that an ecological assessment is undertaken prior to development 
on the site, to identify opportunities for ecological enhancement and mitigate 
any negative impacts. The site is located within the Great Ouse landscape 
character area which is considered to be of medium to high landscape 
sensitivity2. It is important therefore that the layout and design of the 
development reflects the existing character, form and pattern of the 
landscape. The development should also contribute to the enhancement of 
local green infrastructure networks. 

POLICY B2 – BRACKLEY EAST SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION

THE BOUNDARY OF THE BRACKLEY EAST SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
EXTENSION IS SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5). THE 
DEVELOPMENT WILL PROVIDE: 

380 DWELLINGS; 
1000 JOBS;  
REALIGNMENT OF AND TRAFFIC CALMING TO TURWESTON 
ROAD; 
IMPROVED PUBLIC TRANSPORT PROVISION, INCLUDING TOWN
AND INTRA-URBAN SERVICES; 
A MIX OF B1(A) OFFICE, B1(C) LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND B8 
STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION. THE PROPORTION OF B8 
FLOORSPACE SHALL NOT EXCEED 40% OF THE TOTAL 
FLOORSPACE; 
A LANDSCAPE BUFFER / NOISE MITIGATION TO THE A43; 
ECOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT OF THE SITE; 
HIGH QUALITY DESIGN AND LAYOUT WHICH RESPECTS THE 
CHARACTER OF THE GREAT OUSE LANDSCAPE CHARACTER 
AREA; 
THE ENHANCEMENT OF LOCAL GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
NETWORKS; 
AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK WITH SUSTAINABLE 
TRANSPORT MODES INCLUDING ACCESS TO BRACKLEY 
BUSINESS DISTRICT; 
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD ATTENUATION 
SCHEMES; 
SAFE ROUTES FOR PEDESTRIANS AND CYCLISTS; AND

2 Quartet Design (2009) Brackley Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Study.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

166



FLOOD MITIGATION FROM ALL SOURCES. 

NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE IS REQUIRED TO BE PHASED 
ALONGSIDE THE DELIVERY OF THE DEVELOPMENT.  

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN.

The Brackley North Sustainable Urban Extension

15.20 The Brackley North SUE is bounded by the existing urban edge of Brackley to 
the south, by Halse Road to the west, and extends to the junction of 
Northampton Road and the A43 in the east. The site slopes down to the 
northern boundary which is defined by a stream corridor and an established 
hedgerow. Radstone Road and the route of the former Great Central Main 
Line run through the site in a north south direction.

15.21 The allocated site also includes the Brackley Sawmills site to the south. The 
inclusion of this site will enable a comprehensive approach to the 
development of this part of Brackley. 

15.22 As a sustainable urban extension to Brackley the site will deliver a new 
neighbourhood of up to 1,380 dwellings, with strong links to the town centre 
and surrounding areas. The development will bring forward a new primary 
school, and new local centre, formal and informal open space and other 
infrastructure for the benefit of existing and future residents.

15.23 Development of the site is expected to take place across all three phases of 
the plan period.

15.24 Part of the Brackley North SUE is located in the Old Glebe landscape 
character area which is considered to be of high landscape sensitivity3. It is 
important therefore that the layout and design of the development reflects the 
existing character, form and pattern of the landscape. The development 
should also contribute to the enhancement of local green infrastructure 
networks.

15.25 The area known as Brackley North comprises a number of adjoining 
interrelated development sites, which will be considered in a comprehensive, 
integrated and planned way. A new access route to Northampton Road to 
connect the sites into a single area of development will be necessary. 

  
15.26 To the north of the allocated site, the former railway corridor is designated as 

a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). The corridor extends south through 
the site and the design and layout of development will therefore need to 
maintain the integrity of this important green infrastructure corridor.  

3 Quartet Design (2009) Brackley Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Study

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

167



POLICY B3 – BRACKLEY NORTH SUSTAINABLE URBAN EXTENSION  

THE BOUNDARY OF THE BRACKLEY NORTH SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
EXTENSION IS SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5). THE 
DEVELOPMENT WILL PROVIDE: 

1380 DWELLINGS;
NEW PRIMARY SCHOOL;
HIGH QUALITY DESIGN AND LAYOUT WHICH RESPECTS THE 
CHARACTER OF THE OLD GLEBE LANDSCAPE CHARACTER 
AREA;
THE ENHANCEMENT OF LOCAL GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
NETWORKS;
DIRECT ROAD ACCESS BETWEEN NORTHAMPTON ROAD AND 
HALSE ROAD;
A LOCAL CENTRE , COMPRISING RETAIL (UP TO 1000 SQM NET 
FLOORSPACE) AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES (UP TO 500 SQM 
NET FLOORSPACE);
STRUCTURAL GREENSPACE AND WILDLIFE CORRIDORS AS 
SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP (FIGURE 5);
AN INTEGRATED TRANSPORT NETWORK WITH SUSTAINABLE 
TRANSPORT MODES INCLUDING ACCESS TO BRACKLEY 
BUSINESS DISTRICT; 
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT AND FLOOD ATTENUATION 
SCHEMES;
ENHANCED SPORT AND LEISURE PROVISION;
SAFE ROUTES FOR PEDESTRIANS AND CYCLISTS; AND
FLOOD MITIGATION FROM ALL SOURCES.

NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE IS REQUIRED TO BE PHASED 
ALONGSIDE THE DELIVERY OF THE DEVELOPMENT.  

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A 
MASTERPLAN.

Brackley Transport Improvements

15.27 The transport improvements for Brackley will support the regeneration of the 
town centre, by improving the pedestrian and cycle links between the centre, 
the existing and proposed residential areas and further afield. Improvements 
will also be made to parking provision in the town centre, together with 
upgraded bus facilities and environmental improvements for pedestrians and 
cyclists.

15.28 Despite substantial development in recent years to the north and west of the
town there has been a lack of investment in cycling infrastructure and the 
retail offer in the town centre has declined. The strategy will combat this lack 
of investment and improve the accessibility and attractiveness of the town 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

168



centre for local residents. Whilst accessibility to the town centre is a key 
priority it is acknowledged that many residents will still chose to work outside 
of the town. This will need to be carefully managed to avoid placing too much 
pressure on the A43, particularly where it joins the M40 in Oxfordshire. 
Proposed improvements to inter-urban bus services will provide a viable 
alternative to the private car for these journeys.

POLICY B4 – TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENTS FOR BRACKLEY

TO SUPPORT ACCESSIBILITY AND SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT WITHIN 
BRACKLEY THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES WILL:

SUPPORT IMPROVEMENTS TO THE CONNECTIVITY OF BRACKLEY 
TO THE WIDER A43 NETWORK INCLUDING ENHANCED PUBLIC 
TRANSPORT CONNECTIONS WITH SILVERSTONE CIRCUIT;
SECURE JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS TO THE A43;
SUPPORT IMPROVEMENTS TO THE CYCLING NETWORK WITHIN 
AND AROUND THE TOWN;  
PROMOTE WALKING AND CYCLING WITHIN THE TOWN AS AN
ALTERNATIVE TO CAR JOURNEYS;
ENSURE PARKING PROVISION MEETS THE NEEDS OF THE TOWN;
AND
IMPROVE BUS FACILITIES. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

169



16.0 Rural Areas

Introduction

16.1 Much of West Northamptonshire is rural in nature with a dispersed network of 
almost 190 villages and hamlets. The rural communities account for 
approximately one-third of West Northamptonshire’s population. In Daventry 
and South Northamptonshire districts the percentage of people living in rural 
communities is as high as 75%. It is evident that the local communities value 
the quality of life offered by the rural areas, in particular the quality of the built 
and natural environments.  For the purposes of this Section of the JCS the rural 
areas are defined as those areas outside the urban areas of Northampton, 
Daventry, Brackley and Towcester. 

16.2 Whilst much of the JCS focuses, necessarily, on the challenges facing the 
growth and regeneration of urban areas, it also recognises that there are key 
issues in the rural areas which need to be addressed. This section of the JCS
sets out the policies that apply specifically to the rural areas in West 
Northamptonshire.

Key Challenges Facing Rural Areas

16.3 The challenges facing rural areas have been well documented at national 
level1. Key issues include the high levels of migration into rural areas, the 
higher costs of housing and lower than average wages and problems 
associated with the delivery of affordable housing.

16.4 The government has indicated that LDFs should enable housing development 
in rural areas and support sustainable economic growth in rural communities. 
A particular emphasis is placed on increasing housing supply especially 
affordable housing. There are early indications that the government is 
determined to ensure that neither people nor enterprise is priced out of the 
countryside. There is a clear commitment to ensure that local communities 
have more power to determine the type of development that is suitable for rural 
areas.

16.5 Many of the challenges identified at national level apply to the rural areas of 
West Northamptonshire. Both Daventry District and South Northamptonshire 
Councils have produced Sustainable Communities Strategies2 for their 
administrative areas which identify the following key challenges facing rural 
areas:

1 For example, Communities and Local Government (2008) Living Working Countryside: The Taylor 
Review of Rural Economy and Affordable Housing
2 Daventry District Local Strategic Partnership; 2010. Sustainable Communities Strategy for Daventry 
District 2010-2026.  
South Northamptonshire Local Strategic Partnership; 2010.  South Northamptonshire Sustainable 
Communities Strategy 2010-2015.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

170



Access to services and facilities for the young, old and economically 
disadvantaged;
The loss of basic services and employment opportunities in villages
leading to the concern that they are becoming ‘commuter dormitories’;
High property prices and the lack of affordable housing to meet local 
needs, which means that young people and families cannot afford to live 
in rural communities; 
The challenge of distance and isolation from key services such as health 
provision; 
The perception of anti-social behaviour and fear of crime; 
The need to improve the biodiversity and climate resilience of the 
landscape; 
Protecting the character of attractive villages, historic sites and unspoilt 
countryside; and
Isolated pockets of deprivation compounded by issues such as the lack of 
public transport.

16.6 As part of the evidence base for this JCS a survey of the Needs and 
Aspirations of Rural Communities3 was undertaken, the findings of which 
have been used to inform the policy approach.  The top three priorities for the 
rural areas were identified as being to meet communities’ needs locally, to 
protect and enhance the environmental heritage and to protect and enhance 
the built environment. There was also some acknowledgment of the need to 
provide affordable housing and to support the rural economy. A constant 
theme is the need to ensure that the scale and nature of development in rural 
areas is consistent with local needs.

16.7 If one issue stands out above all others in rural areas it is accessibility to 
services and facilities.  In the Needs and Aspirations Survey the lack of 
services and the loss of services in rural areas was the greatest concern 
identified by communities when asked about their perception of the area.  Not 
surprisingly in terms of attitudes to development there is considerable support 
where this would help to sustain and improve local services.

Settlement Hierarchy Framework

16.8 This JCS recognises that there is a need for development in the rural area, 
but aims to ensure that the scale of this development is consistent with the 
objective of meeting local needs and supporting local services. To this end 
the overall housing provision set out in the Spatial Strategy in Section 5 of this 
plan includes an allowance for development in the rural areas. This section 
provides for a rural settlement hierarchy which will enable the provision of new 
homes, jobs and services needed in rural areas, whilst ensuring that new 
development is focussed in sustainable settlements and protecting the overall 
rural character of the area. 

3 West Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit (2008) – Village Services Questionnaire

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

171



16.9 The allocation of settlements within the hierarchy (“the detailed hierarchy”) will 
be undertaken through Development Plan Documents (DPDs) which will be
prepared for the rural areas within Daventry and South Northamptonshire 
districts.  This approach provides some flexibility for the hierarchy within each 
area to be tailored to reflect specific local circumstances.  These DPDs will 
consider the need for specific site allocations and also determine whether 
boundaries showing the village confines should be defined. In those cases 
where boundaries are defined they will be shown on the Proposals Map.

16.10 The hierarchy will be based on a robust analysis of village services and 
facilities. This will include an assessment of the following services and 
facilities: 

a) Most Important Services and Facilities: Secondary School, Primary 
School, GP Surgery, General Food Store, Post Office, Village Hall/
Community Centre, and Public Transport (quality of service). 

b) Important Facilities and Services: Other Shops/ Takeaways, Local 
Employment Provision, Libraries/ Outreach Centres and Pre-school 
Provision.

c) Other Facilities: Play Area, Sports Ground and Allotments.

16.11 As part of the evidence base for this JCS an analysis of all the villages in the 
Plan area has been carried out. The full results of this analysis and the 
methodology used are set out in the technical paper4. 

16.12 This analysis will be kept up to date as part of annual monitoring and will 
inform the detailed hierarchy to be prepared for the rural areas, together with 
any particular local constraints and opportunities. 

16.13 The rural hierarchy will have the following three categories:

a) Primary Service Villages – Have the highest level of services and 
facilities within the rural area to meet the day to day needs of residents 
including those from surrounding settlements.  These settlements are the 
most appropriate for accommodating local housing and employment needs 
and would be the focus for service provision in the rural areas; 

b) Secondary Service Villages – These settlements have a more limited 
range of services, but still provide scope to meet some local needs for 
housing, employment and service provision;

c) Other villages – These villages have an even more limited range of 
services and are more reliant on the services of larger centres for day to 
day needs. The scope for development within these villages is likely to be 
limited to windfall infill development, although some housing to provide for 
local needs may be suitable.

4 West Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit (2010) Village Services and Facilities – Technical Paper

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

172



16.14 Beyond villages specified in the above categories there will be settlements 
which are very small and with few or no services and facilities.  Development 
in these villages will be strictly controlled to affordable housing schemes that 
are required to meet identified local needs. 

16.15 The scale of development which will be appropriate in each village will vary 
having regard to the position in the hierarchy.  Policy R1sets out the scale of 
development that will be acceptable in each category of settlement. This level 
of development will be measured as the percentage increase from the existing 
dwelling stock as at the base date of 2006.  This will ensure that the scale of 
development is proportionate to the scale of each village within the hierarchy.  
Once a particular settlement has reached the upper limit of the scale then 
further developments will be resisted unless exceptional circumstances can 
be demonstrated as specified in Policy R1 below.  

16.16 Particular emphasis is given to the role of local communities in identifying and 
meeting their own needs for development.  Documents such as Parish Plans 
provide an appropriate mechanism whereby local communities can identify 
the vision for the future of their village and what is needed to deliver it.  
Provided that they follow the requirements for Supplementary Planning 
Documents, the planning elements of Parish Plans can be adopted and used 
as material considerations in planning decisions.  The local authorities will 
encourage and support the preparation of Parish Plans (or their equivalents) 
by local communities.  It is particularly important that these documents fairly 
reflect the views of the whole community and are also based on robust 
evidence of need. 

POLICY R1 – SPATIAL STRATEGY FOR THE RURAL AREAS

DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE RURAL AREAS WILL BE GUIDED BY A
RURAL SETTLEMENT HIERARCHY THAT WILL COMPRISE THE 
FOLLOWING CATEGORIES:

PRIMARY SERVICE VILLAGES; 
SECONDARY SERVICE VILLAGES; AND
OTHER VILLAGES

THE RURAL HIERARCHY WILL:

ENABLE SMALL SCALE HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT WHERE THIS 
MEETS LOCAL NEEDS AND/ OR SUPPORTS LOCAL SERVICES;
SUPPORT THE RETENTION AND PROVISION OF LOCAL SERVICES 
AND FACILITIES IN RURAL COMMUNITIES; 
SUSTAIN THE RURAL ECONOMY BY RETAINING EXISTING 
EMPLOYMENT SITES WHERE POSSIBLE, BY ENABLING SMALL 
SCALE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, INCLUDING TOURISM,
THROUGH RURAL DIVERSIFICATION AND BY SUPPORTING 
APPROPRIATE AGRICULTURAL AND FORESTRY DEVELOPMENT; 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

173



PROTECT AND ENHANCE THE CHARACTER AND QUALITY OF THE 
RURAL AREA’S HISTORIC BUILDINGS AND AREAS OF HISTORIC 
OR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPORTANCE; AND
ENABLE LOCAL COMMUNITIES TO IDENTIFY AND MEET THEIR 
OWN LOCAL NEEDS. 

IN REFINING AND DETERMINING THE DETAILED HIERARCHY EACH 
DISTRICT COUNCIL WILL TAKE THE FOLLOWING FACTORS INTO 
ACCOUNT:

a) THE PRESENCE OF SERVICES AND FACILITIES TO MEET THE DAY 
TO DAY NEEDS OF RESIDENTS, INCLUDING THOSE FROM 
SURROUNDING SETTLEMENTS;

b) OPPORTUNITIES TO IMPROVE SERVICE PROVISION AND ENHANCE 
THE SUSTAINABILITY OF SETTLEMENTS;

c) ACCESSIBILITY, PARTICULARLY BY PUBLIC TRANSPORT, TO THE 
MAIN TOWNS;

d) EVIDENCE OF LOCAL NEEDS FOR HOUSING, EMPLOYMENT AND 
SERVICES; AND

e) THE SUITABILITY OF SETTLEMENTS TO ACCOMMODATE 
DEVELOPMENT IN TERMS OF ENVIRONMENTAL, 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND OTHER CONSTRAINTS.

WITHIN EACH CATEGORY OF VILLAGE THE FOLLOWING OVERALL 
SCALE OF RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT OVER THE BASE DATE 
POSITION WILL BE APPROPRIATE: 

PRIMARY SERVICE VILLAGES = MODERATE SCALE – 10% - 
12% OF THE EXISTING DWELLING STOCK

SECONDARY SERVICE VILLAGES = SMALL SCALE – 5-7% OF 
EXISTING DWELLING STOCK

OTHER VILLAGES – SMALL SCALE INFILL – UP TO 5 
DWELLINGS

ONCE A PARTICULAR SETTLEMENT HAS REACHED THE UPPER LIMIT 
OF THE SCALE SPECIFIED ABOVE FURTHER HOUSING 
DEVELOPMENT WILL ONLY BE PERMITTED WHERE IT CAN BE 
DEMONSTRATED THAT IT:

WOULD RESULT IN ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENTS ON A 
SITE INCLUDING FOR EXAMPLE THE RE-USE OF PREVIOUSLY 
DEVELOPED LAND AND BEST PRACTICE IN DESIGN ; OR

IS REQUIRED TO SUPPORT THE RETENTION OF OR 
IMPROVEMENT TO ESSENTIAL LOCAL SERVICES THAT MAY
BE UNDER THREAT (IN PARTICULAR THE LOCAL PRIMARY 
SCHOOL OR PRIMARY HEALTH SERVICES) ; AND

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

174



HAS BEEN INFORMED BY A COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT 
EXERCISE5 PRIOR TO THE SUBMISSION OF A PLANNING 
APPLICATION.

UNTIL THE NAMED RURAL SETTLEMENT HIERARCHY HAS BEEN 
DEFINED WITHIN FUTURE DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS 
PREPARED BY INDIVIDUAL LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITIES IN 
CONSULTATION WITH LOCAL COMMUNITIES THE EXISTING SAVED 
LOCAL PLAN POLICIES FOR DAVENTRY DISTRICT AND SOUTH 
NORTHAMPTONSHIRE WILL APPLY.

Supporting the Rural Economy

16.17 Whilst the majority of economic activity will be focussed in sustainable urban 
areas and at strategic sites such as the Daventry International Rail Freight 
Terminal (DIRFT), rural areas play an important role in the economy of West 
Northamptonshire. Evidence indicates that rural areas are attractive to new 
employers and business start-up rates are often higher than in urban areas. 
Providing new employment opportunities in the rural areas can help combat 
the decline of traditional rural employment and address the issue of increased 
out-commuting.  Strategies adopted by both Daventry District Council and 
South Northamptonshire Council seek to strengthen the rural economy and 
support the vitality of villages.6  The challenge which Policy R2 below
addresses is to ensure the economic sustainability of rural communities, whilst 
addressing any potential environmental consequences.

16.18 Agriculture, horticulture and forestry have an important and varied role in 
supporting the rural economy, including the maintenance and management of 
the countryside and most valued landscapes. If the price of agricultural 
commodities continues at the present level then the decline of new investment 
in agriculture may well be reversed. The agricultural sector is an essential part 
of the local economy and it is important that farming and farmers are 
encouraged to be more competitive and more sustainable in order to adapt to 
changing markets and to comply with new legislation and guidance. It is also 
important to encourage diversification into new agricultural and commercial 
ventures in order to ensure a farm's viability and to maximise opportunities to 
strengthen the rural economy, while maintaining the character of the rural 
landscape.

5 Further guidance on community involvement exercises can be found in the adopted Statements of 
Community Involvement for Daventry District and South Northamptonshire.
6 Daventry District Local Strategic Partnership; 2010. Sustainable Communities Strategy for Daventry 
District 2010-2026.  
South Northamptonshire Council; 2010. South Northamptonshire Economic Development Strategy 
2010-2014. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

175



POLICY R2 – RURAL ECONOMY

PROPOSALS WHICH SUSTAIN THE RURAL ECONOMY BY CREATING 
OR SAFEGUARDING JOBS AND BUSINESSES WILL BE SUPPORTED
WHERE THEY ARE OF AN APPROPRIATE SCALE FOR THEIR 
LOCATION, RESPECT THE ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY AND 
CHARACTER OF THE RURAL AREA AND PROTECT THE BEST AND 
MOST VERSATILE AGRICULTURAL LAND. THE FOLLOWING TYPES OF 
DEVELOPMENT ARE CONSIDERED TO BE ACCEPTABLE: 

1. THE RE-USE OF RURAL BUILDINGS; 

2. SCHEMES FOR FARM DIVERSIFICATION INVOLVING SMALL-SCALE 
BUSINESS AND COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT THAT CONTRIBUTE 
TO THE OPERATION AND VIABILITY OF THE FARM HOLDING; 

3. SMALL-SCALE TOURISM PROPOSALS, INCLUDING VISITOR 
ACCOMMODATION; 

4. PROPOSALS THAT RECOGNISE THE ECONOMIC BENEFITS OF THE 
NATURAL AND HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT AS AN ASSET TO BE 
VALUED, CONSERVED AND ENHANCED; 

5. THE EXPANSION OF BUSINESSES IN THEIR EXISTING LOCATIONS, 
DEPENDENT UPON THE NATURE OF THE ACTIVITIES INVOLVED, 
THE CHARACTER OF THE SITE AND ITS ACCESSIBILITY; AND

6. SMALL SCALE EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT TO MEET LOCAL 
NEEDS.

7. THE USE OF LAND FOR AGRICULTURE, FORESTRY AND 
EQUESTRIAN ACTIVITY. 

Improving Accessibility in Rural Areas

16.19 Accessibility to jobs and services is a key issue facing the rural areas of West 
Northamptonshire. Transport is essential for most rural residents to access 
the services and facilities they need. Policy R3 promotes a transport strategy 
for the rural areas which seeks to improve the connectivity of villages with 
local service centres.

16.20 Increased congestion on inter-urban routes can have knock-on impacts for 
villages and the rural areas. Some of the highest traffic growth in recent years 
has been on routes in rural areas; this can have a detrimental impact for 
villages where traffic uses unsuitable routes. Traditional management, such 
as signing and bollards, may detract from the over-all character of the village 
and therefore different approaches for restricting traffic will be required.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

176



16.21 Residents without access to a car in the rural areas are likely to be more 
isolated than those within urban areas, where there are more services. 
Measures will need to be implemented to ensure that residents can access 
services such as health, food shopping and education. Lack of access to 
private car has also been cited as a reason for the limited opportunities for 
young people to find employment in rural areas.

16.22 Whilst public transport is important, for many in rural areas the private car
remains the only realistic transport choice for residents. Not withstanding this 
car dependency there are still opportunities to improve rural transport
services, for example through “demand” operated services that are available 
to all.

16.23 Rural transport issues will be reviewed as part of the preparation of 
Northamptonshire’s Third Local Transport Plan and in any subsequent 
reviews of that document.

POLICY R3 – A TRANSPORT STRATEGY FOR THE RURAL AREAS

IMPROVED ACCESSIBILITY AND SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT WITHIN 
RURAL AREAS AND THE AVOIDANCE OF CONGESTION AND ‘RAT 
RUNNING’ WILL BE SECURED BY: 

SUPPORTING IMPROVED PUBLIC TRANSPORT CONNECTIONS
BETWEEN VILLAGES AND HAMLETS AND THEIR NEAREST 
SERVICES; 

SUPPORTING IMPROVEMENTS TO THE CYCLING NETWORK 
BETWEEN VILLAGES AND THEIR NEAREST SERVICE CENTRE; AND

REVIEWING WALKING CONNECTIONS WITHIN VILLAGES TO 
IDENTIFY SPECIFIC IMPROVEMENTS REQUIRED ENSURING THE 
SAFETY OF PEDESTRIANS.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

177



17.0Monitoring and Implementation Framework

Introduction to Monitoring and Implementation

17.1 There will be many different organisations responsible for implementing and 
monitoring the success of the policies contained within the JCS, both from the 
public sector, for example the Borough and District Councils, Northamptonshire 
County Council, the West Northamptonshire Development Corporation or the 
departments and agencies of Central Government, for example the Highways 
Agency, in addition to the private sector, such as developers or businesses. It
is only by working together in a co-ordinated way that the vision for the area 
can be met.

17.2 This section deals with how the strategy will be delivered, including the delivery 
of infrastructure, how our policies will be monitored and finally the expected 
delivery rates of new homes, jobs and infrastructure referred to as trajectories. 
It is one of the most important aspects of the whole plan as it sets out how the 
overall strategy outlined in the first section of the plan and the Places sections
will be delivered, by who and when. 

Infrastructure

17.3 The co-ordination and delivery of necessary infrastructure alongside (and 
sometimes in advance of) development is crucial to achieving attractive and 
sustainable places where people want to live. In the recent past, West 
Northamptonshire has suffered as some aspects of infrastructure have not kept 
pace with the rate of development that we have experienced. 

17.4 Section 11 of this Plan deals with the delivery of infrastructure including how 
this will be funded and when delivery is required. The key mechanism for 
monitoring and reviewing the infrastructure needs of the JCS is the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).

17.5 The IDP will be monitored as part of the JCS. The improvements programmed 
in the IDP, and their required phasing to support development, are essential to 
ensure the objectives of the JCS are achieved. It is important that projects 
highlighted are committed and delivered as planned to sustainably bring 
forward residential and commercial sites.  This will ensure key social, economic 
and environmental requirements are met through development. Output 
indicators have been included in the monitoring framework of the JCS to 
highlight progress in funding and delivering essential projects i.e. road 
improvement schemes and open space provision. 

Funding and Delivery

17.6 Public funding in the near future is likely to be limited. This Plan has been 
produced to ensure that we can meet the needs of present communities without 
placing an unacceptable burden on our existing infrastructure. However, this 
does not mean that we can simply do nothing. We must work together with the 
delivery agencies, as identified in the delivery plan, to find innovative ways of 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

178



funding our necessary infrastructure or changing the way we use existing 
infrastructure to ensure that it continues to meet our needs. An example of this 
is the approach to transport as outlined within the Spatial Strategy. 

17.7 In addition to public funds, developers contributions will be sought to deliver the 
essential infrastructure required to support new development. Section 11 of this 
JCS sets out the approach to developer contributions including the proposed 
Community Infrastructure Levy and Planning Obligations.  

Monitoring the Plan

17.8 Monitoring will measure the effectiveness of the JCS in achieving the spatial 
vision and objectives.  In line with government guidance, “a systematic and 
dynamic monitoring system will help authorities understand the wider social, 
environmental and economic issues affecting their areas and the key drivers of 
spatial change.”  This is essential to ensure we pick up and record key outputs 
such as the amount of new houses being built, as these were shown to be 
highly sensitive in the recent downturn. These events can necessitate the 
future review of policies in the JCS.  

17.9 A Monitoring Framework has been developed that can record and assess the 
implementation of JCS policies. This uses a series of indicators to show the 
outputs and wider outcomes of development and how the area is changing over 
the plan period.  It is important to check that the JCS is not only delivering the 
amount of development and infrastructure set out in the plan, but also that all 
the plan objectives are being achieved in tandem to support the overall Vision 
of the Strategy. Different types and sources of indicators will be needed to 
cover the full monitoring framework. These include:

a. National Core Output Indicators – A statutory set of indicators 
required nationally from all Authorities reporting key outputs in 
residential, commercial and environmental development. This includes 
monitoring the housing trajectory.

b. Local Output Indicators – These have been developed locally to 
record against specific targets set in Joint Core Strategy Policies. 
These cover matters like creating more open space or meeting design 
standards. 

c. Contextual Indicators – These are often from secondary data sources 
like the Office for National Statistics. They show key features in West 
Northamptonshire like population and income, and how these change 
over time.

d. Significant Effects Indicators – These come from the objectives in 
the Sustainability Appraisal. They check the effects of policies 
designed to meet these objectives, and whether the effects on the area 
are as intended (bringing a positive change). Some of these are 
already developed by the other indicator types recorded. Those 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

179



indicators that measure significant effects will be identified and 
monitored in the Annual Monitoring Report.

17.10 Many of the indicators needed to monitor JCS Policies are important 
characteristics already picked up by our Partners and key organisations. For 
example, the Local Transport Plan has a monitoring framework which deals 
with access to public transport from new development. Where indicators are 
shared, this has been highlighted.  Comprehensive data sharing 
arrangements will support the delivery of the monitoring framework and 
prevent duplication of data collection, following the COUNT (Count Once Use 
Numerous Times) approach approved in government guidance. 

17.11 The policies contained in the JCS aim to deliver the objectives and overall 
vision of the plan. It is important that each policy can follow clear and 
consistent targets about what it should deliver. The Monitoring Framework 
sets out the “SMART” targets developed for each policy. These aim to show 
that the impact of the policy is:
 Specific  

Measureable
Achievable
Realistic 
Time bound

17.12 In addition to reporting the indicators outlined above the Annual Monitoring
Report will also help provide updates to the evidence-base that the JCS is 
based upon.  Planning application information will be updated against lists of 
potential development sites in documents such as the Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA) or the West Northamptonshire Employment 
Land Study (WNELS). These updates will help to establish how the supply of 
deliverable sites is evolving and whether certain locations are still sustainable. 
This evidence will remain crucial in recording the implementation of JCS 
policies and also highlighting where review is necessary.  

17.13 The monitoring of the plan and monitoring framework will be reported annually 
in the Joint Annual Monitoring Report (AMR). This report will cover all the 
indicators required in the monitoring framework as well as additional 
contextual indicators to provide a full portrait of West Northamptonshire. In 
addition, the AMR will allow the Joint Planning Unit and Partner Authorities to 
provide an update on the development and review of documents in the LDF.
The Partner Authorities of Daventry, Northampton Borough and South 
Northamptonshire Councils will also be able to add their own local information, 
including indicators for their own Development Plan Documents or updates on 
Sustainable Communities Strategies or Masterplans.

17.14  As well as reporting the Monitoring Framework, the AMR will identify where 
policies need to be amended or replaced, allowing the LDF to undergo review 
and alteration as necessary. This may be necessary if policies are having 
unintended consequences or if aspects of the plan need to be reviewed in 
light of changing circumstances or national guidance - for example under 
financial constraints or perhaps the development of High Speed Rail 2.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

180



17.15 The tables set out in Appendix 6 provide the following information in respect of 
each of the objectives in the JCS: 

The indicator - what we are measuring; 
Who is responsible for delivery;
The target - what is to be achieved and by when; and 
The source - i.e. if it is local or national.

Housing Trajectory

17.16 The delivery of housing proposed in the joint Core Strategy will be monitored 
against the housing trajectory set out in Appendix 3. Further information 
regarding the trajectory is set out in Section 5, the Spatial Strategy, of this 
plan. 

  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

181



18.0 Appendices

Appendix Page Number

Appendix 1 – Plans and Other Strategies Taken into 
Account in the Preparation of the Joint Core Strategy

183

Appendix 2 – Evidence Base for the Joint Core 
Strategy

186

Appendix 3 – West Northamptonshire Housing 
Trajectory

189

Appendix 4 – West Northamptonshire Infrastructure 
Schedule

192

Appendix 5 – Saved Local Plan Policies to be 
Replaced by Joint Core Strategy Policies

213

Appendix 6 – West Northamptonshire Monitoring 
Framework

218

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

182



Appendix 1: Plans and Other Strategies Taken into Account in the Preparation 
of the Joint Core Strategy

International

Directive 92/43/EEC - Habitats Directive
Directive 2000/60/ EEC - Water Framework Directive 

National

Anglian Water Draft Water Resource Management Plan (2008)
Anglian Water Final Business Plan (2009)
Association of Chief Police Officers Strategic Growth Toolkit (2010)
Codes for Sustainable Homes- Setting the New Standard for New Homes- 
DCLG (2008)
Face to Face Side by Side, A Framework for Partnership in Our Multi Faith 
Society- CLG (2008)
Good Practice Guide on Planning for Tourism (May 2006)
Indices of Multiple Deprivation - DCLG (2007)
Lifetime Homes Standard - Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2006)
Matthew Taylor Review on Rural Economy & Affordable Housing (2008)
National Grid 10 Year Statement (2008)
Planning Policy Statement 1: Delivering Sustainable Development (February 
2005)
Planning Policy Statement 1 Supplement: Planning and Climate Change 
(December 2007)
Planning Policy Statement 3: Housing (June 2010) 
Planning Policy Statement 4: Planning For Sustainable Economic Growth 
(December 2009)
Planning Policy Statement 5; Planning For the Historic Environment (March 
2010)
Planning Policy Statement 7: Sustainable Development in Rural Areas (August 
2004)
Planning Policy Guidance Note 8: Telecommunications (August 2001)
Planning Policy Statement 9: Biodiversity and Geological Conservation (2005)
Planning Policy Statement 10: Planning for Sustainable Waste Management 
(July 2005)
Planning Policy Statement 12: Local Spatial Planning (June 2008)
Planning Policy Guidance Note 13: Transport (March 2001) and update (January 
2011))
Planning Policy Guidance Note 17: Planning for Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation (July 2002)
Planning Policy Statement 22: Renewable Energy (August 2004)

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

183



Planning Policy Statement 23: Planning and Pollution Control (November 2004)
Planning Policy Guidance Note 24: Planning and Noise (October 1994)
Planning Policy Statement 25: Development and Flood Risk (March 2010)
Planning Tomorrow’s Countryside – Natural England (2000)
Rural Strategy- DEFRA (2004)
Safer Places - ODPM (April 2004)
Secured by Design - Association of Chief Police Officers (2008)
Securing the Future: UK Sustainable Development Strategy (2005)
Sustainable Communities Plan – DCLG (2003)
The State of the Natural Environment – Natural England (2008)
UK Biodiversity Action Plan (1994)
UK Renewable Energy Strategy - DECC (2009)
Youth Matters - Department for Skills and Education (2005) 

Regional

A Flourishing Region: Regional Economic Strategy for the East Midlands 2006-
2020 (2006)
East Midlands Cultural Strategy - Culture East Midlands (2001)
East Midlands Integrated Regional Strategy (2005)
East Midlands Regional Employment Land Priorities Study - EMDA (2003)

 East Midlands Regional Environment Strategy (2003)
East Midlands Regional Freight Study (2005)
East Midlands Regional Housing Strategy (2005)
East Midlands Regional Plan (March 2009)
East Midlands Regional Town Centres Study (March 2003)
East Midlands Regional Transport Strategy (2005)
East Midlands Rural Action Plan (2007-2013)
East Midlands Tourism Strategy (2003-2010)
East Midlands Urban Action Plan (2005-2011)
Information and Communications Technology (ICT) Toolkit, produced by 
Analysys Mason Group - EMDA (2006)
Milton Keynes and South Midlands Sub-Regional Strategy (March 2005)
Quality of Employment Land Study (2002)

Local

Daventry District Local Plan (June 1997) and Saved Policies (Sept 2007)
Daventry District Sustainable Community Strategy (2010-2026)

 NHS Northamptonshire CIAMS (2010-2015)
Northampton Borough Local Plan (June 1997) and Saved Policies (Sept 2007)

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

184



Northampton General Hospital Integrated Business Plan - Northampton General
Hospital NHS Trust (2008)
Northampton Sustainable Community Strategy (2008-2011)
Northamptonshire Arc – Northamptonshire County Council (2010)
Northamptonshire Biodiversity Action Plan (2008)
Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment - Northamptonshire County
Council & Northamptonshire PCT (2008)
Northamptonshire Local Transport Plan (2006-2011)
Northamptonshire Transport Strategy for Growth (2006)
Northamptonshire Minerals and Waste Local Development Framework 
Northamptonshire School Organisation: Consultation on Key Principles, Area 
Analyses and Pupil Projections - Northamptonshire County Council 
Planning out Crime in Northamptonshire Supplementary Planning Guidance - 
Northamptonshire County Council et al (2004)
South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Oct 1997) and Saved Policies (Sept 2007)
South Northamptonshire Sustainable Community Strategy (2010-2015)
Sustainable Communities Strategy for Northamptonshire (2008)
The Strategic Plan, 2009 -2014 Five Year Strategy- NHS Northamptonshire 
(2008)

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

185



Appendix 2 West Northamptonshire Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy 
Evidence Base

Evidence
Document Status Date
General
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Sustainability 
Appraisal Scoping Report

Complete 2006

Northampton Longer Term Growth Options Study Complete 2007
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Issues and 
Options Sustainability Appraisal Report

Complete 2007

WNDC Planning Obligations Strategy and Technical Report Complete 2008
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Draft
Sustainability Appraisal Report

Complete 2009

West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Draft
Appropriate Assessment Report

Complete 2009

A Cultural Investment Plan for West Northamptonshire Complete 2009
West Northamptonshire Annual Monitoring Report 2009/10 Submitted 2010
West Northamptonshire Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy  
Sustainability Appraisal

Complete 2011

West Northamptonshire Pre Submission Joint Core Strategy  
Appropriate Assessment

Complete 2011

Transport Related 
Northamptonshire Guidance on Creating Lasting Modal Shift  
(Appendix to Transport Strategy for Growth)

Complete 2006

Northamptonshire Walking Development Plan Complete 2010
Highways Agency A45/ M1 Corridor Study In Progress 2011
Employment Related 
A Technology Realm for Northamptonshire Complete 2006
West Northamptonshire Employment Land Study (WNELS) Complete 2010
Housing Related  
West Northamptonshire Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment Review (SHMA)

Complete 2010

In ProgressWest Northamptonshire Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA) 

Due 2011

Northamptonshire Gypsy and Travellers’ Accommodation 
and Needs Assessment (GTAA)

Complete 2008

Built and Natural Environment Related 
Northamptonshire Environmental Character and Green 
Infrastructure Suite (version 2.2)

Complete 2006

Towcester and Brackley Green Infrastructure and 
Environmental Sensitivity Study

Complete 2009

Northampton Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure 
Study

Complete 2009

West Northamptonshire Emergent Joint Core Strategy 
(Consultation Draft) Sustainability Appraisal

Complete 2009

West Northamptonshire Emergent Joint Core Strategy 
(Consultation Draft) Appropriate Assessment

Complete 2009

West Northamptonshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
Level 1

Complete 2009

West Northamptonshire (Daventry and South 
Northamptonshire) Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 2

Complete 2009

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

186



West Northamptonshire Water Cycle Strategy (Phase 1 -
Outline Study)

Complete 2009

Northampton Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 2-
Living Document

Complete 2010

West Northamptonshire Water Cycle Strategy ( In ProgressPhase 2 -
Detailed Study)

Due 2011

Infrastructure Related 
WNDC Daventry Infrastructure Studies Complete 2009
West Northamptonshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan In Progress Due 2011
Leisure and Retail Related 
Sports Facilities Strategy for West Northamptonshire Complete 2009
West Northamptonshire Retail Study Complete 2009
West Northamptonshire Retail Study Update In Progress Due Feb 2011

Daventry District Council
General 
Daventry Town Centre Vision to  2021 Complete 2004
Daventry Urban Capacity Study Complete 2005
Daventry Strategic Development Options Study Complete 2005
Daventry Masterplan Interim Draft Complete 2006
Daventry District Council Annual Monitoring Report 2004/05 Complete 2005
Daventry District Council Annual Monitoring Report 2005/06 Complete 2006
Daventry District Council Annual Monitoring Report 2006/07 Complete 2007
Daventry District Council Annual Monitoring Report 2007/08 Complete 2008
Daventry Town Design Statement Complete 2008
Norton Village Design Statement Complete 2008
Daventry Infrastructure Studies Complete 2009
Transport Related 
Daventry to Northampton A45 Corridor Study In Progress Due March 2011
Daventry Cycling Development Plan Complete 2010
Daventry Bus Development Plan Complete 2010
Employment Related  
Daventry International Rail Freight Terminal  (DIRFT) 
Expansion Design Guide SPG

Complete 2005

Housing Related  
Daventry Design Codes Complete 2005
Daventry Housing Needs Survey Complete 2006
Built and Natural Environment Related 
Daventry Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities 
Strategy

Complete 2009

Daventry Reservoir Conservation Area Management Plan 
and Appraisal

Complete 2009

Northampton Borough Council
General 
Northampton Urban Capacity Study Complete 2003
South West District, Northampton, Strategic Planning Review Complete 2004
Northampton Annual Monitoring Report 2004/05 Complete 2005
Northampton Annual Monitoring Report 2005/06 Complete 2006
Northampton Annual Monitoring Report 2006/07 Complete 2007
Northampton Annual Monitoring Report 2007/08 Complete 2008
Transport Related 
Northampton Multi Modal Study Complete 2003
Northampton Central Area Design, Development and 
Movement Framework

Complete 2006

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

187



Northampton Cycling Development Plan Complete 2010
Northampton Bus Development Plan Complete 2010
Northampton Multi Modal Study Update (Pre-Submission 
Joint Core Strategy)

In Progress Due February 
2011

Employment Related  
Northampton Employment Land Study Complete 2006
Housing Related  
Northampton Retail Strategy Complete 2008
Northampton Housing Strategy 2006 – 2011 Complete 2006
Northampton Housing Needs Survey Complete 2006
Northampton Housing Needs Survey Update Complete 2008
Northampton Five Year Housing Land Supply Assessment Complete 2009
Leisure Related 
Northampton Playing Pitch Strategy Complete 2005
Northampton Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
Assessment and Needs Audit

Complete 2006

Northampton Allotments Strategy Complete 2007
Northampton Borough Council (Interim) Cultural Strategy 
2008 – 2013 

Complete 2008

South Northamptonshire Council
General 
Towcester and Brackley Urban Capacity Study Complete 2005
South Northamptonshire Annual Monitoring Report  2004/05 Complete 2005
South Northamptonshire Annual Monitoring Report 2005/06 Complete 2006
South Northamptonshire Annual Monitoring Report  2006/07 Complete 2007
South Northamptonshire Annual Monitoring Report  2007/08 Complete 2008
Parish Plans Complete Various
Towcester Masterplan Complete 2010
Brackley Masterplan Complete 2010
Roade Masterplan Complete 2010
Transport Related 
South Northamptonshire Transport Strategy & Associated 
Action Plan 

Complete 2010

Towcester Bus Development Plan Complete 2010
Towcester Cycling Development Plan Complete 2010
Brackley Cycling Development Plan Complete 2010
Towcester Transport Study In Progress Due March 2011
Employment Related  
Approved Development Brief - Silverstone Circuit Masterplan Complete 2009

Housing Related  
Five Year Housing Land Supply Assessment Complete 2008
Housing Growth Report 2008 Complete 2008
Interim Rural Housing Policy Complete 2010
Leisure Related 
Open Space Strategy (2007– 2021) Complete 2007
Playing Pitch Strategy Complete 2007
South Northamptonshire Leisure Study Complete 2010

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

188



Appendix 3 – West Northamptonshire Housing Trajectory

Actual Completions 2001/02 - 2009/10
     

2001/ 
2002 

2002/ 
2003 

2003/ 
2004 

2004/ 
2005 

2005/ 
2006 

2006/ 
2007 

2007/ 
2008 

2008/ 
2009 

2009/ 
2010 

Total
Completions 

DDC 417 435 266 247 360 295 319 183 174 2696
NBC 935 581 753 1353 1554 1802 983 707 360 9028
SNC 647 993 432 595 310 257 248 219 258 3959

WN Total 1999 2009 1451 2195 2224 2354 1550 1109 792 15683

Projected Completions Trajectory
              

Completions 

2010/ 
2011 

2011/ 
2012 

2012/ 
2013 

2013/ 
2014 

2014/ 
2015 

2015/ 
2016 

2016/ 
2017 

2017/ 
2018 

2018/ 
2019 

2019/ 
2020 

2020/ 
2021 

2021/ 
2022 

2022/ 
2023 

2023/ 
2024 

2024/ 
2025 

2025/ 
2026 Totals 

DDC 200 190 225 227 452 313 490 604 903 936 1020 926 957 703 558 483 9187 
NBC 508 687 899 983 1054 1180 1232 1375 1410 1300 1288 1135 1125 1175 1013 825 17189 
SNC 200 220 220 450 530 575 696 665 765 780 734 559 504 504 349 343 8094 

   
Total 908 1097 1344 1660 2036 2068 2418 2644 3078 3016 3042 2620 2586 2382 1920 1651 34470 

The source and underlying assumptions behind this trajectory are set out in the Housing and Population Technical Paper, published as part of 
the Joint Core Strategy evidence base. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

189



Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

190



Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

191



Appendix 4 – West Northamptonshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan Schedule

Introduction to the Schedule

The following Infrastructure Schedule outlines the projects and services required to 
deliver the proposed growth identified in the Joint Core Strategy up to 2026. It 
comprises of the proposed housing and employment allocations (SUEs) and 
provides information in respect of the major housing commitments within the plan 
area which will contribute to the overall housing provision required up to 2026.

It identifies the importance of new and upgraded items of infrastructure in delivering 
the level of growth identified, along with costs, responsibility for delivery, possible 
and established funding sources as well as the phasing that will be required to 
deliver a sustainable and robust housing trajectory.

This Schedule has been produced as part of the IDP Report produced by Halcrow 
and EC Harris and has been informed by extensive and ongoing consultation with 
service providers and partnering authorities.

Infrastructure provision will change as new funding programmes are developed and 
priorities rescheduled. To this end the attached Schedule provides a snapshot in 
time, which will be updated on a regular basis to reflect any changes to the delivery 
and funding of infrastructure.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

192



Appendix 4 - West Northamptonshire Infrastructure Schedule
R

ef
er

en
ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

Any infrastructure requirements in Northampton Town 
Centre

A Grosvenor Centre
 400,000 sq feet of retail, plus a hotel, residential and 

new bus interchange.

A1 Grosvenor Centre
New bus station 

interchange
Demolition of bus station and replacement with 20 bay 

facility
Secondary Physical

public
transport

Developer
Developer / bus 

company  (TIF or 
RGF)

2012 2 years £14m

A2 Grosvenor Centre Highway works Associated with redevelopment of the centre Primary Physical road works Developer Developer/LTP NK NK NK

B Castle Station Area New station and multi storey car park

B1 Castle Station Area
New station and 

transport interchange

New station and multi storey car park including 
associated modifications to highway junctions and public 

realm
Primary Physical

public
transport

Network Rail GAF / other 2012 3 years £44m

C
Northampton

Waterside
The regeneration of currently under-utilised and derelict 

land

C1
Northampton

Waterside

Waterside programme 
phase 1b: St Peters 

Way
Demolition of gasholders and remediation of site. Primary Physical public realm National Grid

Provider / 
developer

post 2014 2 years £11.54m

C2
Northampton

Waterside
Greenways and cycle 

routes
Greenways and cycle routes to be provided north of 

Nene
Tertiary Social

footway  / 
cycleway

NCC NCC NK NK NK

C3
Northampton

Waterside
Beckets Park General park improvements to include café / restaurant Tertiary Green open space NBC NBC 2011 2 years NK

D St John's Area
Mixed-use development  south of town centre, including 

public square and changes to transport system.

D1 St John's Area Telecoms
Improvements to broadband telecoms network for 

creative industries
Secondary Physical utilities Open Reach Provider 2011 NK NK

D2 St John's Area
Plough Junction 
Improvements

To improve circulation around existing gyratory Primary Physical road works WNDC NCC before 2016 4years £5.00m

E Other / General Other infrastructure 

E1 Other Castle Primary School 0.5 form of entry extension to Castle Primary School Secondary Social education NCC NCC Summer 2011 1 year £2.125m

E2 Other Public Realm Infrastructure related to town centre redevelopment sites Tertiary Social public art Developer Developer
Complete by 

2017
7 years NK

E3 Other St James Library Opportunity for refurbishment / relocation Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NCC NCC / Developer NK NK £0.355m

E4 Other Police 'One Stop Shop'
A shared, public sector, front desk service serving 

Northampton town centre.
Secondary Social

emergency
services

NCC/Police
Authority

Police - - NK

E5 Town Centre General
Wastewater and 

surface water 
infrastructure

Requirement for a strategic surface water and 
wastewater solution

Primary Physical Utilities
Developer / Anglian 

Water / EA

Developer / 
Anglian Water / 

EA
Not before 2016 NK £8.77m

E6 Town Centre General
Sustainable drainage 

infrastructure
SUDS to be provided for town centre developments Primary Physical Utilities Developer  Developer  

Linked to 
development

 Pre 
occupation

£1.07m

Northampton Town Centre

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

193



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

E7 Town Centre General
Highway, walking and 
cycling improvements

Improvements to networks to facilitate accessibility/meet 
development aspirations

Primary Physical road works NCC Developer
Linked to 

developments
NK NK

F
Avon, Nunn Mills &

Ransome Road

The reclamation and redevelopment of land to provide 
circa 200,000sq ft of office accommodation, 1750 

residential units (950 for Avon / Nunn Mills, 800 for 
Ransome Road), a primary school, hotel and associated 

retail provision 

Avon / Persimmon / 
HCA

F1 Avon / Nunn Mills New primary school 1 form of entry Primary School Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC
Linked to 

development
1 year £6.45m

F2 Avon / Nunn Mills Nunn Mills Substation
Upgrade needed to primary substation to enable Nunn 

Mills development
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Provider before 2016 NK £1.62m

F3 Avon / Nunn Mills
Footpath

enhancements
Provision of paths through Carlsberg / Avon Tertiary Social

footway / 
cycleway

NBC NCC/Sustrans before 2016 4years £0.39m

F4 Ransome Road
Nunn Mills / Ransome 

Road spine road

New access road between Nunn Mills and Ransome 
Road sites.  To include new rail and river bridges, 
resurfacing of Ransome Rd and new junction with 

Bedford Rd

Primary Physical road works WNDC
WNDC / 

developer

phase 1 - early 
2012,      phase 
2 - early 2014

each phase 1 
year

£17.64m

F5 Ransome Road
London Road / 
Ransome Road 

junction improvements

Improvements needed to accommodate flows generated 
by Ransome Road development

Primary Physical road works NCC WNDC / GAF January 2011 1 year £2.3m

F6 Ransome Road Community Centres
2 x new community centres to include space for 

emergency services and healthcare
Tertiary Social

community
facilities

NBC Developer
To follow 

development
Contribution

only
£0.768m

F7 Ransome Road
Equipped and non 

equipped Play Area
Contribution towards playspace Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£2.179m

F8 Ransome Road Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social
community

facilities
Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.170m

F9 Ransome Road Public Realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Social public realm Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.840m

F10 Ransome Road Sports pitches Contribution towards sports pitches Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to school 

development
Contribution

only
£1.325m

F11 Avon / Nunn Mills Leisure provision Contribution towards sports hall and swimming pool Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NBC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£1.286m

F12 Avon / Nunn Mills Health Centre
Contribution towards health centre (based upon 4GPs 

and dental practice)
Secondary Social healthcare PCT NHS/S106

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£1.824m

F13
Avon / Nunn Mills & 

Ransome Road
Electrical supply

Connections to 11kV grid and secondary substations 
only

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£2.24m

F14
Avon / Nunn Mills & 

Ransome Road
Gas supply Connections to low pressure regulator Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£1.78m

Infrastructure requirements to facilitate growth in 
Southern Northampton

G Northampton South SUE to include 1,000 houses

G1 Northampton South Bus routes New bus routes Secondary Social
public

transport
NCC S106/bus operator

To follow 
development

up to 9 years £1.4m

Sothern Northampton

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

194



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

G2 Northampton South Primary education 1x 2 form of entry Primary School Secondary Social education NCC S106
Linked to 

development
NK £6.45m

G3 Northampton South
Health and community 

services
Community centre and surgery to be provided in a new 

local centre.
Tertiary Social healthcare

NCC / PCT / 
Developer

S106
To follow 

development
1 year £1.481m

G4 Northampton South Park and Ride Facility Park and Ride facility to be provided near M1  j15 Secondary Physical
public

transport
NCC Developer/NCC

To follow 
development

NK TBC

G5 Northampton South Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social
community

facilities
Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.09m

G6 Northampton South Sports pitches Contribution towards sports pitches Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.757m

G7 Northampton South Green Infrastructure Contribution towards green infrastructure Secondary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.250m

G8 Northampton South
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Contribution towards playspace Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.245m

G9 Northampton South Leisure provision Contribution towards sports hall and swimming pool Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NBC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£0.735m

G10 Northampton South Public realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.480m

G11 Northampton South Electrical supply
 Development is likely to draw circa 2 MW and require 

between 4 to 6 distribution substations.
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£1.09m

G12 Northampton South
Electrical Network 

Reinforcement
New primary substation and reinforcement of 11kV grid Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £1.49m

G13 Northampton South Gas supply
 Annual gas consumption of 19,000 MWh with a peak 

instantaneous demand of circa 1,395 m³/h..
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£0.74m

G14 Northampton South
Gas Network 

Reinforcement
New medium or intermediate pressure gas main via a 

gas regulator.
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

TBC £1.00m

G15 Northampton South
Highway, walking and 
cycling improvements

Improvements to networks to facilitate accessibility Primary Physical road works NCC Developer
Linked to 

development
NK NK

H South of Brackmills SUE to include 1000 houses

H1 South of Brackmills Bus routes New bus routes Secondary Social
public

transport
NCC S106/bus operator

To follow 
development

Ongoing NK

H2 South of Brackmills Wootton Library Opportunity for refurbishment / relocation Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NCC NCC / Developer NK NK £0.237m

H3 South of Brackmills Primary education 1x 2 form of entry Primary School Secondary Social education NCC S106
Linked to 

development
TBC £6.45m

H4 South of Brackmills
Health and community 

services
Community centre and surgery to be provided in a new 

local centre.
Tertiary Social healthcare

NCC / PCT / 
Developer

S106
To follow 

development
1 year £1.481m

H5 South of Brackmills Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social
community

facilities
Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.097m

H6 South of Brackmills Sports pitches Contribution towards sports pitches Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.757m

H7 South of Brackmills Green Infrastructure Contribution towards green infrastructure Secondary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.250m

H8 South of Brackmills
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Contribution towards playspace Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.245m

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

195



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

H9 South of Brackmills Leisure provision Contribution towards sports hall and swimming pool Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NBC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£0.735m

H10 South of Brackmills Public realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.480m

H11 South of Brackmills Electrical supply
 Likely to draw circa 2 MW and requiring 4 to 6 

distribution substations.
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

TBC £1.09m

H12 South of Brackmills
Electrical Network 

Reinforcement
New primary substation and reinforcement only needed 

if not provided at Collingtree
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Substation
provided at 
Collingtree

18 months £1.49m

H13 South of Brackmills Gas supply
 Annual gas consumption of 19,000 MWh with a peak 

instantaneous demand of circa 1,395 m³/h..
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

TBC £0.74m

H14 South of Brackmills
Gas Network 

Reinforcement
New medium or intermediate pressure gas main via a 

gas regulator.
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

TBC £1.00m

GH
Northampton South 

General
Water infrastructure required to deliver both Collingtree 

and land South of Brackmills

GH1
Northampton South 

General
Wastewater network 

New sewer needed, linked to Pineham and Grange 
Park.

Primary Physical Utilities
Anglian Water / 

developer
Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £5.93m

GH2
Northampton South 

General
Flood attenuation 

measures
 Insufficient floodplain for effective flood storage Primary Physical

flood
attenuation

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
1 year £2.26m

GH3
Northampton South 

General
Water supply 
infrastructure

Approximately 2.23km of 280mm OD main from the 
450mm DI main in Newport Pagnell Road to the north 

east boundary of the site boundary, via Wooldale Road.
Primary Physical Utilities

Anglian Water / 
developer

Developer
Linked to 

development
2 years £0.71m

Infrastructure requirements to facilitate growth in 
Northampton North

I
Northampton North 

SUE
SUE comprising 2000 homes and 7 hectares of 

employment land 

I1
Northampton North 

SUE
Round Spinney 

Interchange
Improvements to roundabout to optimise traffic flow Primary Physical road works NCC S106 before 2016 NK £10m 

I2
Northampton North 

SUE
Primary schools 2x 2 form of entry primary schools Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC

Linked to 
development

£13m

I3
Northampton North 

SUE
Secondary School Contribution to secondary school Secondary Social education NCC S106

Linked to 
development

£11m

I4
Northampton North 

SUE

On- & off-site public 
transport

improvements

New and improved links to Northampton town centre, 
Weston Favell and other major employment and service 

locations,  bus priority measures and a new park and 
ride site.

Secondary Social
public

transport
NCC / Developer NCC / S106

To follow 
development

NK

I5
Northampton North 

SUE
Leisure and community 

services
To be provided in two local centres,includes new library Secondary Social

community
facilities

NCC / Developer S106
Linked to 

development
£1.59m

I6
Northampton North 

SUE

Landscape mitigation 
for Moulton and 

Overstone

Landscape buffering to maintain visual barrier between 
settlements.

Secondary Green Landscape Developer Developer
Linked to 

development

I7
Northampton North 

SUE
Health centre / dental 

practice
3 GP Health Centre Secondary Social healthcare PCT Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£2.325m

I8
Northampton North 

SUE
A43 Moulton bypass

Bypass of Moulton plus development of spine road to 
serve housing development

Secondary Physical road works NCC Developer
Linked to 

development
£5.38m

Northampton North

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

196



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

I9
Northampton North 

SUE
Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.242m

I10
Northampton North 

SUE
Wastewater
infrastructure

New sewer connecting SUE to network Primary Physical Utilities
Anglian Water / 

developer
Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £1.48m

I11
Northampton North 

SUE
Flood

storage/attenuation
Potential improvements to Overstone Park Primary Physical

flood
attenuation

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
1 year £2.26m

I12
Northampton North 

SUE
Water Supply 
infrastructure

 5km of 450mm ID main will need to be laid from 
Hannington WR to the development, alongside the A43.

Primary Physical Utilities AWS/developer Developer
Linked to 

development
18 months £1.82m

I13
Northampton North 

SUE
Sports pitches Contribution towards sports pitches Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£1.892m

I14
Northampton North 

SUE
Green Infrastructure Contribution towards green infrastructure Secondary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.625m

I15
Northampton North 

SUE
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Contribution towards playspace Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£3.113m

I16
Northampton North 

SUE
Public realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£1.200m

I17
Northampton North 

SUE
Electrical supply

 Likely to draw circa 5 MW and require between 12 to 16 
distribution substations.

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£2.73m

I18
Northampton North 

SUE
Electrical Network 

Reinforcement
Reinforcement of the local 11 kV network plus one 33/11 

kV Grid Substation.
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £5.75m

I19
Northampton North 

SUE
Gas supply

 Annual gas consumption of 47,500 MWh with a peak 
instantaneous demand of circa 3,488 m³/h.

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£0.21m

I20
Northampton North 

SUE
Gas Network 

Reinforcement
One medium pressure or intermediate pressure gas 

main via a gas regulator.
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

TBC £1.00m

Infrastructure requirements to support development of 
Dallington Grange 

J
Northampton King's 

Heath
SUE northwest of town providing 3500 houses and 10 

hectares of employment land
Persimmon / David 

Wilson Homes

J1
Northampton King's 

Heath
Northern Relief Road 

Phase One
New road link running from A 428 to A5199 Primary Physical road works NCC

S106 and other 
sources

0 - 3 yrs of first 
completions

£17.5m

J2
Northampton King's 

Heath
Harlestone Road 

Junction improvements
Improvements to Harlestone Road / Mill Lane junction Primary Physical road works NCC S106 NK NK £3.75m

J3
Northampton King's 

Heath
Community Centre within multi use building Tertiary Social

community
facilities

NBC S106
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.59m

J4
Northampton King's 

Heath
Sports Hall  shared facility with the school Tertiary Social

community
facilities

NCC S106 NK
Contribution

only
£2.765m

J5
Northampton King's 

Heath
Library Library within the multi use building Tertiary Social

community
facilities

NCC NCC
Linked to 

development
£0.768m

J6
Northampton King's 

Heath
Healthcare and 

emergency services
Facility to be provided within multi-use building Secondary Social healthcare Developer S106

To follow 
development

NK

J7
Northampton King's 

Heath
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Contribution towards playspace Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer S106
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£4.36m

J8
Northampton King's 

Heath
Playing  pitches Contribution towards sports pitches Secondary Green open space Developer S106

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£2.65m

Dallington Grange Area

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

197



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

J9
Northampton King's 

Heath
District Park

located within Dallington Grange but will also serve a 
wider area of north Northampton

Secondary Green open space Developer S106
Linked to 

development
£1.1m

J10
Northampton King's 

Heath
Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social

community
services

NBC S106 -
Contribution

only
£0.34m

J11
Northampton King's 

Heath
Green Infrastructure

Contribution towards green infrastructure to serve the 
development

Secondary Green open space Developer S106
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.875m

J12
Northampton King's 

Heath
Public Realm Waterside public space / river corridor enhancements Tertiary Social public realm Developer S106

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£1.68m

J13
Northampton King's 

Heath
Community

Gardens/Allotments
To be provided in accordance with NBC policy Tertiary Social

community
facilities

Developer S106
To follow 

development
NK

J14
Northampton King's 

Heath

 Dallington to Kings 
Heath road 

improvements
Provision of vehicular link through to Kings Heath Primary Physical road works NBC/NCC TBC 2015 NK £3.57m

J15
Northampton King's 

Heath
Primary schools 2 x 2 form of entry Primary Schools Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC

Linked to 
development

£13m

J16
Northampton King's 

Heath
Secondary School 1 x 8 form of entry secondary school Secondary Social education NCC Developers/NCC

Linked to 
development

£35 m 

J17
Northampton King's 

Heath
Kingsthorpe Library

Opportunity for refurbishment / relocation if funds 
available

Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NCC NCC NK NK £0.281m

J18
Northampton King's 

Heath

Police - Safer 
Community Team 

Facility

To meet the start up capital costs for the Safer 
communities Team

Tertiary Social
emergency

services
Developer Police

In line with 
development

In line with 
dev't

Maximum of 
£500,000

J19
Northampton King's 

Heath
Wastewater network 

capacity

New wastewater infrastructure required.  Anglian Water 
have agreed a local short term solution to providing 
capacity for this development with the developer.

Primary Physical Utilities AWS/developer Developer
Linked to 

development
18 months £0.35m

J20
Northampton King's 

Heath
Electrical supply

The housing development is likely to draw circa 7 MW 
and require circa 20 distribution substations.

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£3.82m

J21
Northampton King's 

Heath
Electrical Network 

Reinforcement

One new 33/11 kV Primary Substation plus 
reinforcement in the local 11kV grid.  Substation will 

also cover Buckton Fields
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £1.49m

J22
Northampton King's 

Heath
Gas supply

 Annual gas consumption of 66,500 MWh with a peak 
instantaneous demand of circa 4,883 m³/h.

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£2.61m

J23
Northampton King's 

Heath
Gas Network 

Reinforcement

One new a medium pressure or intermediate pressure 
gas main via a gas regulator, to supply both Dallington 

Grange and Buckton Fields.
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

TBC £1.00m

K
Northampton North 

of Whitehills
SUE comprising 1000 houses

K1
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
On- & off-site public 

transport
Links to Northampton town centre and other major 

employment and service locations
Secondary Social

public
transport

NCC NCC / Developer
Linked to 

development
TBC NK

K2
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Primary school

1 x 1form of entry Primary school once development 
reaches 500 homes

Secondary Physical education NCC Developer / NCC
Linked to 

development
£4.05m

K3
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Community facilities Community building to be provided in new local centre Tertiary Social

community
facilities

DDC Developer
To follow 

development
Contribution

only
£0.439m

K4
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Park and Ride Facility Park and Ride facility to be provided on A508 Secondary Physical

public
transport

NCC Developer/NCC TBC TBC £5.5m (est.)

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

198



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

K5
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.097m

K6
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Sports pitches Contribution towards sports pitches Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.757m

K7
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Green Infrastructure Contribution towards green infrastructure Secondary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.250m

K8
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Contribution towards playspace Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.245m

K9
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Leisure provision Contribution towards sports hall and swimming pool Tertiary Social

community
facilities

DDC Developer
To follow 

development
Contribution

only
£0.735m

K10
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Public realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.480m

K11
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Health Centre

Contribution towards health centre (based upon 4GPs 
and dental practice)

Secondary Social healthcare Developer NHS
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.042m

K12
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Electrical supply

The housing development is likely to draw circa 2 MW 
and require between 4 to 6 distribution substations.

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£3.82m

K13
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Electrical Network 

Reinforcement
Some local reinforcement may be needed.  Substation 

to be provided at Dallington Grange
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £1.49m

K14
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Gas supply

 Annual gas consumption of 19,000 MWh with a peak 
instantaneous demand of circa 1,395 m³/h.

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£2.61m

K15
Northampton North of 

Whitehills
Gas Network 

Reinforcement
Some local reinforcement may be needed.  Gas 
regulator to be provided at Dallington Grange.

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
TBC £1.00m

General infrastructure required to facilitate 6,463 
dwellings in the South West District

L
Northampton West 

General
General infrastructure for the Northampton West Area 

not included within specific development sites.

L1
Northampton West 

General
Electrical supply Reinforcement to Countess Rd Bulk Supply Sub station Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Provider before 2016 NK £1.40m

L2
Northampton West 

General
Health Centre

Facility to be provided at Sixfields, to serve whole of 
South West District

Secondary Social healthcare PCT NHS/S106 before 2016 4-5years £12.65m

L3
Northampton West 

General
St Crispin - Green 

spaces
Land transfer and remedial improvements works Secondary Green open space NBC/Taylor Young

S106 and 
Developer

before 2012 1 year NK

L4
Northampton West 

General

Northampton West 
132/11kV

reinforcement

Replace transformers with higher rated units or install 
132/11kV substation

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Provider beyond 2016 18 months £31.2m

L5
Northampton West 

General
Wastewater network

New wastewater drainage to serve Northampton West 
SUE and Upton lodge. 

Primary Physical Utilities
Anglian Water / 

developer
Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £59.63

L6
Northampton West 

general
Water Supply 
infrastructure

Harpole WT pumps to be upgraded and 1.5km of 
350mm ID reinforcement main to be laid from Harpole 

WT to the development.
Primary Physical Utilities

Anglian Water / 
developer

Developer
Linked to 

development
18 months £0.70m

M
Northampton West 

SUE
 SUE comprising 1500 houses

M1
Northampton West 

SUE
Community facilities Community building to be provided in new local centre Tertiary Social

community
facilities

DDC Developer
To follow 

development
Contribution

only
£0.658m

M2
Northampton West 

SUE
Sports pitches Contribution towards sports pitches Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£1.136m

Northampton West

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

199



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

M3
Northampton West 

SUE
Green Infrastructure Contribution towards green infrastructure Secondary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.375m

M4
Northampton West 

SUE
Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.145m

M5
Northampton West 

SUE
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Contribution towards playspace Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.868m

M6
Northampton West 

SUE
Leisure provision Contribution towards sports hall and swimming pool Tertiary Social

community
facilities

DDC Developer
To follow 

development
Contribution

only
£1.102m

M7
Northampton West 

SUE
Public realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.720m

M8
Northampton West 

SUE
Health Centre

Contribution towards health centre to serve development 
(based upon 4GPs and dental practice)

Secondary Social healthcare PCT Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.563m

M9
Northampton West 

SUE
Primary schools New 2fe primary school Secondary Social education NCC NCC / Developer

Linked to 
development

- £6.45m

M10
Northampton West 

SUE
Electrical supply

The housing development is likely to draw circa 3 MW 
and require between 4 to 6 distribution substations.

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£1.63m

M11
Northampton West 

SUE
Electrical Network 

Reinforcement

One new 33/11kV substation to be provided.  Major 
reinforcement of grid covered by provision of new 132kV 

substation under Northampton West General
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £5.75m

M12
Northampton West 

SUE
Gas supply

 Annual gas consumption of 28,500 MWh with a peak 
instantaneous demand of circa 2,093 m³/h.

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£1.12m

M13
Northampton West 

SUE
Gas Network 

Reinforcement

 New low pressure gas supply likely to be required, 
taken off a medium pressure gas main via a gas 

regulator.
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

TBC £1.00m

N Upton Park
Development to comprise 1000 homes and associated 

facilities
HCA 2012 10 years

N1 Upton Park Sports pitches
Pitches and sports facilities to south of Upton Phase 

One
Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
To follow 

development
Contribution

only
£0.74m

N2 Upton Park library As part of local centre next to school Secondary Social
community

facilities
NCC S106

Linked to 
development

TBC £0.796m

N3 Upton Park Open space River Nene Country Park Secondary Green open space
Land Restoration 

Trust
Developer before 2016 2years £1.68m

N4 Upton Park Primary schools 1x 2 form of entry Primary School Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC
Linked to 

development
NK £6.45m

N5 Upton Park Electrical supply
The development is likely to draw circa 1.7 MW and 

require circa 4 distribution substations.
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£0.93m

N6 Upton Park
Electrical Network 

Reinforcement

One new 33/11kV substation to be provided.  Major 
reinforcement of grid covered by provision of new 132kV 

substation under Northampton West General
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months 1.49m

N7 Upton Park Gas supply
 Annual gas consumption of 16,226 MWh with a peak 

instantaneous demand of circa 1,192 m³/h.
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£0.63m

N8 Upton Park
Gas Network 

Reinforcement

 New low pressure gas supplies to the development 
likely to be taken off one or more medium pressure or 
intermediate pressure gas mains via a gas regulator.

The new gas main(s) will need to serve the entire 
Northampton West area

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
TBC £1.00m

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

200



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

N9 Upton Park Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social
community

services
Developer S106 - - £0.082m

O
Upton Lodge / 
Norwood Farm

Up to 2,368 dwellings, to include employment land, 
community and education facilities, park & ride site and 

country park to east of Harpole
HCA / Redrow 2012 7 years

O1 Norwood Farm Harpole Country Park
New 37 hectare country park to serve residents of Upton 
Lodge and to form a buffer between the new community 

and Harpole
Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer 2012 2 years NK

O2 Norwood Farm
Sandy Lane Relief 

Road
New single carriageway road alongside Norwood Farm 
development - southern section already built by HCA.

Primary Physical road works Developer Developer 2012 1 year £5.42m

O3 Upton Lodge Community Centre
Provided in local centre and will also serve Norwood 

Farm
Tertiary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.59m

O4 Upton Lodge Primary schools 1x 2 form of entry Primary School Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC
Linked to 

development
£6.45m

O5 Upton Lodge Sports Hall Will most likely be provided as part of school Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NCC Developer/NCC

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.77

O6 Upton Lodge
Equipped and non 

equipped Play Area
To be provided throughout Upton Lodge / Norwood 

Farm development
Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer S106
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£2.765m

O7 Upton Lodge Playing  pitches At southern end of Harpole country park Secondary Green open space Developer Developer/S106 2012
Contribution

only
£1.2m

O8 Upton Lodge Green Infrastructure
Retention of footpaths, hedgerows and bridleways 

throughout Upton Lodge and Norwood Farm 
developments

Secondary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development

O9 Upton Lodge Health Centre/Dentist Surgery could be provided as part of local centre Secondary Social healthcare PCT S106
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.65m

O10 Upton Lodge Park and Ride On site provision of park and ride facility Secondary Physical
public

transport
Developer NCC/Developer 2012 1 year £5.5m

O11 Upton Lodge Public transport
Weedon Road bus lane - to use existing carriageway 

with some widening
Secondary Physical

public
transport

NCC S106 TBC NK NK

O12
Upton Lodge / 
Norwood Farm

Electrical supply
The housing development is likely to draw circa 3.2 MW 

and require between 4 to 6 distribution substations.
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£2.58m

O13
Upton Lodge / 
Norwood Farm

Electrical Network 
Reinforcement

One new 33/11kV substation to be provided.  Major 
reinforcement of grid covered by provision of new 132kV 

substation under Northampton West General
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £1.49m

O14
Upton Lodge / 
Norwood Farm

Gas supply
Annual gas consumption of 30,172 MWh with a peak 

instantaneous demand of circa 2,216 m³/h.
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£1.76m

O15
Upton Lodge / 
Norwood Farm

Gas Network 
Reinforcement

 New low pressure gas supplies to the development 
likely to be taken off one or more medium pressure or 
intermediate pressure gas mains via a gas regulator.

The new gas main(s) will need to serve the entire 
Northampton West area

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
TBC £1.00m

O16
Upton Lodge / 
Norwood Farm

Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social
community

services
Developer S106 -

Contribution
only

£0.256m

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

201



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

P Pineham
Employment land, designed to integrate with Swan 
Valley.  Also includes Pineham village: a 646-unit 
residential development plus small local centre

Pro Logis 2012 9 years

P1 Pineham Leisure provision Contribution towards sports hall and swimming pool Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NBC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£0.475m

P2 Pineham
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
provision of playspace to serve the development Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.804m

P3 Pineham Primary schools 1x 2 form of entry Primary School Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC
Linked to 

development
£6.45m

P4 Pineham
Community Resource 

Centre
provision of a community building or other community 

facilities
Tertiary Social

community
facilities

NBC Developer
To follow 

development
Contribution

only
£0.284m

P5 Pineham Sports pitches provision of sports pitches Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.489m

P6 Pineham Canal Bridge
Contribution towards new canal bridge in River Nene 

Country Park
Tertiary Social

footway / 
cycleway

TBC Developer
Dependant on 

delivery of 
RNCP

NK NK

P7 Pineham Bridleway Upgrade
Contribution towards upgrades of bridleways in and 

around River Nene Country Park
Tertiary Social

footway / 
cycleway

TBC Developer
Dependant on 

delivery of 
RNCP

NK NK

P8 Pineham Green Infrastructure Contribution towards green infrastructure Secondary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
0.162m

P9 Pineham Public realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.310m

P10 Pineham Electrical supply
 Likely to draw circa 1.3 MW and require circa 3 

distribution substations.
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£0.70m

P11 Pineham
Electrical Network 

Reinforcement

One new 33/11kV substation to be provided.  Major 
reinforcement of grid covered by provision of new 132kV 

substation under Northampton West General
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £1.49m

P12 Pineham Gas supply
Development requires annual gas consumption of 

12,274 MWh with a peak instantaneous demand of circa 
902 m³/h.

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£0.48m

P13 Pineham
Gas Network 

Reinforcement

 New low pressure gas supplies to the development will 
be taken off one or more medium pressure or 

intermediate pressure gas mains via a gas regulator.
The new gas main(s) will need to serve the entire 

Northampton West area

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
TBC £1.00m

P14 Pineham Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social
community

services
Developer S106 -

Contribution
only

£0.063m

Infrastructure requirements to facilitate growth in 
Wootton Fields & Grange Park for 750 dwellings

Q
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Development of up to 750 homes (300 for Wootton 

Fields and 450 for Grange Park (Saxon Ave))
2011 5/6 years

Q1
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Primary school

Contribution required towards primary school south of 
Brackmills (H3)

Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC
Linked to 

development
TBC See H3

Q2
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Health Centre

Contribution towards health centre to serve development 
(based upon 4GPs and dental practice)

Secondary Social healthcare PCT NHS
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.782m

Wootton Fields & Grange Park

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

202



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

Q3
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Community facilities

Contribution towards a community building or other 
community facilities 

Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NBC/SNC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£0.329m

Q4
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
A45 Brackmills 

interchange

Single carriageway spine road required to link into 
junction to serve new development at Brackmills and 

Wootton.
Primary Physical road works NCC NCC / Developer

0 - 2 yrs of start 
of development

£3.83m

Q5
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.073m

Q6
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park

Wastewater and 
surface water 
infrastructure

Requirement for new sewer to connect Northampton 
South East SUE direct to Sewage Treatment Works

Primary Physical utilities
Anglian Water / 

developer
Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £0.97m

Q7
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Sports pitches Contribution towards sports pitches Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.568m

Q8
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Green Infrastructure

Contribution towards green infrastructure to serve the 
development

Secondary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.188m

Q9
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Contribution towards playspace to serve the 

development
Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.934m

Q10
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Leisure provision Contribution towards sports hall and swimming pool Tertiary Social

community
facilities

NBC Developer
To follow 

development
Contribution

only
£0.551m

Q11
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Public realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.360m

Q12
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Electrical supply

The housing development is likely to draw circa 0.6 MW 
and require 1 or 2 distribution substations.

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£0.81m

Q13
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Gas supply

The local electrical network  may  require minor local 
reinforcement to cater for the new load.

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer
Linked to 

development
TBC £0.48m

Q14
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Electrical supply

The housing development is likely to draw circa 0.9 MW 
and require 1 or 2 distribution substations.

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£0.56m

Q15
Wootton Fields and 

Grange Park
Gas supply

The local gas network  may  require minor local 
reinforcement to cater for the new load.

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
TBC £0.42m

Any infrastructure outside the growth areas identified in 
A to P above, or applicable to more than growth area, 
which is required to deliver the growth outlined in the 

JCS

R
Northampton

General
Includes the development of up to 4254 dwellings within 

Northampton, which are outside areas A to P above
2010 - 2022

R1 Northampton General
A45 / M1 Access 

Management Strategy
Traffic Management Scheme to improve flow of traffic 

along the M1 and A45 
Primary Physical road works HA S106 Work ongoing c£14m

R2 Northampton General
Queen Eleanor 

Roundabout Widening
Widening of carriageway to ease congestion at junction.  Primary Physical road works NCC NCC NK NK £0.51

R3 Northampton General Harborough Road Bus Priority improvements Secondary Physical
public

transport
NCC NK before 2016 3years £7m

R4 Northampton General Bus services
Bus service route improvements, service operating time 
improvements, information, accessibility, journey time - 

corridor improvements
Secondary Physical

public
transport

NCC NCC/operator 2011 5 years £1.03m

R5 Northampton General Inter Urban services Improve services, connections ticketing and information Secondary Physical
public

transport
NCC NCC / Operator 2010 - 2015 5 years £0.22

Northampton General

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

203



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

R6 Northampton General Inter Urban services Improve information, services and shelters Secondary Physical
public

transport
NCC NCC / Operator 2015 - 2021 6 years £0.93

R7 Northampton General
Cycling routes and 

crossings
On- and off- new and existing carriageway cycling 

provision, crossings and traffic calming
Secondary Physical

public
transport

NCC
Developer / 

Sustrans / LTP
2012 20 years £13.89m

R8 Northampton General Central Library Opportunity for refurbishment / relocation Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NCC NCC / Developer NK NK NK

R9 Northampton General Hunsbury Library Opportunity for refurbishment / relocation Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NCC NCC / Developer NK NK £0.237m

R10 Northampton General Weston Favell Library Opportunity for refurbishment / relocation Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NCC NCC / Developer NK NK £0.222m

R11 Northampton General Education service 2 x special needs units Secondary Social education NCC NCC NK NK £2m

R12 Northampton General
HOV priority on A45 

and Bus Rapid Transit 
to Wellingborough

HOV priority on A45 and Bus Rapid Transit to 
Wellingborough

Primary Physical road works HA/NCC CIF NK £5.3m

R13 Northampton General
High voltage electrical 

reinforcement

Reinforcement of electrical infrastructure is likely to be 
needed when all developments across Northampton are 

taken into account.  This will include reinforcement to 
the Nene Valley Way bulk supply sub station, plus a 

possible new 132kV substation to serve areas outside 
the South West District.

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Central Networks beyond 2016 4 - 5 years £6.60m

R14 Northampton General
Weston Favell 

Occupational Health 
Centre

Potential to club together assets to provide a 'total place' 
style building on site

Secondary Social healthcare PCT NHS beyond 2012 NK

R15 Northampton General Waste Water Network
Longer term infrastructure improvements and demand 

management to serve all SUEs
Primary Physical utilities Anglian Water Provider 2015 TBC 4.72m

R16 Northampton General
Water Supply 
infrastructure

Longer term infrastructure requisition for all 
Northampton growth, with the exception of Northampton 

South East.
Primary Physical utilities Anglian Water Provider 2015 TBC £0.88m

R17 Northampton General
Wastewater Treatment 

Works

Demand management measures or additional 
infrastructure required to service development beyond 

the five year housing supply.  Covers all SUEs and 
growth within the town.

Primary Physical Utilities AWS  AWS 2015 18 months £18.00m

R18 Urban Capacity Sites Electrical supply
The overall load is likely to be circa 3 MW  spread over 

a number of different Urban sites.
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£1.63m

R19 Urban Capacity Sites Gas supply
  Annual gas consumption will be circa 28,500 MWh with 

a peak instantaneous demand of circa 2,093 m³/h.
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£1.12m

R20
Medium/Small
Commitments

Electrical supply
The overall electrical load is likely to be circa 5.5 MW

spread over a number of different sites.
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£3.00m

R21
Medium/Small
Commitments

Gas supply
  Annual gas consumption will be circa 52,326 MWh with 

a peak instantaneous demand of circa 3,842 m³/h.
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£2.05m

R22 Northampton General
132 kV High voltage 

electricity cable
new 132KV cable from Grendon to Nunn Mills Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Provider before 2016 NK £31.19m

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

204



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

R23 Northampton General
Northern Relief Road 

Phase Two
New road or online improvements running from A 5199 

Welford Road to A43 Kettering Road.
Primary Physical road works NCC NCC Not yet identified NK

£16.5m
Cost TBC in 

NMMS

R24 Northampton General
A45 Wootton Fields 

GSJ
Improvements to raise the capacity of the junction to 
complement the HA's Access Management Strategy.

Primary Physical road works NCC NCC / developer Not yet identified TBC £7.5m

S
Works to enhance Towcester town centre in light of the 
Towcester Urban Extension and Moat Lane proposals

S1
Towcester Town 

Centre
Police - Towcester 
'One Stop Shop'

A shared public sector front desk providing partnership 
to the community.

Secondary Social
emergency

services
SNC/Police

Authority
Police To be confirmed

To be 
confirmed

Nil

S2
Towcester Town 

Centre
Library

New library to be provided as part of Moat Lane 
development

Tertiary Social
community

facilities
NCC

WNDC/SNC/NCC/
Developers

2013 NK

S3 Towcester General
Cycling routes, 

crossings, strategy and 
parking

Links - on- and off- new and existing carriageway cycling 
provision - improvement of existing cycle routes, 

parking, signing, planning
Secondary Physical

public
transport

NCC / Developer
Developer / NCC / 

LTP/ Sustrans
2010 - 2030 20 years £2.12m

S4 Towcester General
Civic and community 

facilities

New facilities to be provided in town centre extension to 
north east of A5.  To include civic offices, tourist 
facilities, leisure services and cultural facilities.

Tertiary Social
community

facilities
SNC / Developer Developer 2013 5 years

T SUE comprising 1500 homes and 1500 jobs Persimmon, Bloor 2013 13 years

T1
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Health centre between 800sqm and 5000sqm Secondary Social healthcare PCT NHS / Developer before 2016 4 years £6.5m

T2
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Community facilities

Provision of a community building or other community 
facilities

Tertiary Social
community

facilities
SNC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£0.658m

T3
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Primary school 1 x 2 form of entry school, 1 x 1.5 form entry school Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC 2017 2 years £6.5m

T4
Towcester Urban 

Extension
A5 bypass

Bypass proposed from the A43 to the Whittlebury turn 
east of the town.

Primary Physical road works HA / NCC HA / NCC 2015 (est.) 2 years (est.) £29.60m

T5
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Secondary school

Secondary school of 7.7ha secured for 6 form entry with 
additional 3.4 reserved for 10 form entry 

Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC 2017 2 years (est.) £40m

T6
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Improvements to A5 / 

A43 junction
Linked to bypass project. Improvements would cover 

both the Tove and Abthorpe Roundabouts.
Primary Physical road works HA HA After 2015 (est.) 1 year (est.) £13.85m 

T7
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Town park New town park provided as part of structural greenspace Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer before 2016

T8
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Enhanced sport and 

leisure
To include new playing fields within the development Secondary Social open space SNC Developer before 2016 1 year £1.136m

T9
Towcester Urban 

Extension

Police - Safer 
Community Team 

Facility

To provide a place for the Safer Community Team  as 
part of a shared facility 

Secondary Social
emergency

services
Police Police 2012

In line with 
dev't

Maximum of 
£500,000

T10
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Wastewater Treatment 

Works
Extension required to Towcester wastewater treatment 

works.
Primary Physical Utilities AWS AWS 2015 5 years £5.14m

T11
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Waste Water Network

Infrastructure to deal with wastewater beyond the initial 
five-year housing supply

Primary Physical utilities Anglian Water Developer
Linked to 

development
12-18months £4.04m

T12
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Water Supply 
infrastructure

Additional water supply infrastructure required Primary Physical utilities Anglian Water Developer
Linked to 

development
1 - 2 years £1.82m

T13
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.145m

Towcester South

Towcester Town Centre & General

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

205



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

T14
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Contribution towards playspace Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.868m

T15
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Leisure provision Contribution towards sports hall and swimming pool Tertiary Social

community
facilities

SNC Developer
To follow 

development
Contribution

only
£1.102m

T16
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Public realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.720m

T17
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Electrical supply

 Likely to draw circa 3 MW and require circa 6 to 8 
distribution substations.

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£1.63m

T18
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Gas supply

 Annual gas consumption of 28,500 MWh with a peak 
instantaneous demand of circa 2,093 m³/h.

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£1.12m

T19
Towcester Urban 

Extension
Gas Network 

Reinforcement
Low pressure gas supply to be taken off a medium 

pressure gas main via a gas regulator. 
Primary P utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

TBC £1.00m

U
Improvements to racing circuit, plus 6 million square feet 

of high tech employment

U1 Silverstone Circuit Public transport
Improved public transport links needed to Towcester, 
Brackley and farther afield, both for events and new 

office development
Secondary Social

public
transport

NCC Silverstone
Linked to 

development
NK NK

U2 Silverstone Circuit Highway improvements
Considerable highway works required with potential 
improvements needed to the A43, A5 and at M1 and 

M40 junctions.
Primary Physical road works HA / NCC Unknown TBC TBC £10m

U3 Silverstone Circuit Electrical supply
A new primary substation and potentially major 

reinforcement of the existing grid
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks

Developer / 
Provider

TBC 4 - 5 years £1.36m

V
Masterplan being produced to invest in new 

employment, retail, leisure, community and enhance the 
key town gateways

V1
Brackley Town 

Centre
New Primary Care 

Centre

To include: two relocated GP surgeries, pharmacy, NHS 
dental facility and 60-bed care home, intermediate care 

bed facility
Secondary Social healthcare NHS NHS 2011 18 months

Not
available

V2 Brackley General
Cycling routes, 

crossings, strategy and 
parking

Links - on- and off- new and existing carriageway cycling 
provision - improvement of existing cycle routes

Secondary Physical
public

transport
NCC / Developer

Developer / NCC / 
LTP/ Sustrans

2010 - 2030 20 years £5.79m

V3 Brackley General Employment Training
Represents S106 contribution to training places for local 

people
Tertiary Social

community
services

SNC S106 TBC
Contribution

only
£0.158m

V4
Brackley Town 

Centre
PLACE community 

destination

a new mixed use community destination in the 
marketplace comprising: Library, Community Resource 
Centre, café, performance space, community rooms and 
a ‘Changing Place’ as part of new multiuse development 

Tertiary Social
community

services
SNC TBC TBC TBC NK

V5 Brackley General
Wastewater Treatment 

Works
Extension likely to be required to Brackley Wastewater 

Treatment Works.
Primary Physical utilities Anglian Water Provider 2016 5 years £4.93m

V6 Brackley General Wastewater network
New strategic sewerage solution may be required.

Could include a new sewer from the east of the town to 
the WwTW.

Primary Physical utilities Anglian Water Developer
Linked to 

development
1-2 years £3.87m

W SUE comprising 1380 homes 6 years

W1 Brackley North Primary schools 1 x 2 form of entry primary school Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC
Linked to 

development
£6.45m

Brackley North

Silverstone Circuit

Brackley Town Centre & General

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

206



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

W2 Brackley North Secondary school Consolidation of secondary school Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC
Linked to 

development
depends on 

option

W3 Brackley North Sports provision
Contributions towards enhanced sport and leisure 

provision, to include the redevelopment and expansion 
of the Brackley Leisure Centre

Tertiary Social
sport and 

leisure
SNC Developer/SNC Not supplied NK

W4 Brackley North Community facilities Contribution towards a community building Tertiary Social
community

facilities
SNC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£0.549m

W5 Brackley North
Halse Road - 

Northampton Road link
Provision of new through road to improve local access Primary Physical road works NCC NCC TBC £5.25m

W6 Brackley North
Water Supply 
infrastructure

Approximately 3.3km of 250mm OD main to be laid, and 
the strategic Deanshanger to Greatworth main to be 

completed.
Primary Physical utilities Anglian Water Developer

Linked to 
development

1 - 2 years £4.57m

W7 Brackley North Green Infrastructure Contribution towards green infrastructure Secondary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.312m

W8 Brackley North Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social
community

facilities
Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.121m

W9 Brackley North
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Contribution towards playspace Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.556m

W10 Brackley North Public realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.600m

W11 Brackley North Health Centre
Contribution towards health centre  (based upon 4GPs 

and dental practice)
Secondary Social healthcare PCT NHS

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£1.302m

W12 Brackley North Electrical supply
 Likely to draw circa 2.5 MW and require circa 4 to 6 

distribution substations.
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£1.36m

W13 Brackley North
Electrical Network 

Reinforcement
Local reinforcement in the event that the 11 kV network 

is over capacity
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

six months £0.17m

W14 Brackley North Gas supply
Development requires an annual gas consumption of 

23,750 MWh with a peak instantaneous demand of circa 
1,744m³/h.

Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer
Linked to 

development
In line with 

dev't
£0.93m

W15 Brackley North
Gas Network 

Reinforcement
Low pressure gas supply to be taken off a medium 

pressure gas main via a gas regulator. 
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

TBC £1.00m

X SUE comprising 380 homes and 1000 jobs 2016 2 years

X1 Brackley East
Primary and secondary 

schools

Consolidation of primary and secondary schools around 
Brackley, with increased capacity, where needed, to 

cater for Brackley East development.
Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC

Linked to 
development

See
Brackley

North

X2 Brackley East Public transport
Improvements needed to both town and intra urban 

services.
Secondary Physical

public
transport

NCC Developer/NCC TBC NK

X3 Brackley East
A43 Junction 
Infrastructure

Minor junction improvements Primary Physical road works HA HA
Linked to 

development
£0.65m

X4 Brackley East Traffic calming
Traffic calming and realignment required on Turweston 

Lane
Primary Physical road works NCC NCC NK NK £0.13m

X5 Brackley East
Flood attenuation 

measures
Package of measures to include surface water 

management and flood mitigation
Primary Physical

flood
attenuation

NCC / EA Developer NK NK £2.26m

X6 Brackley East Community facilities Contribution towards a community building Tertiary Social
community

facilities
SNC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£0.167m

Brackley East

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

207



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

X7 Brackley East Sports pitches Contribution towards sports pitches Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.288m

X8 Brackley East Green Infrastructure Contribution towards green infrastructure Secondary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.095m

X9 Brackley East Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social
community

facilities
Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.037m

X10 Brackley East
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Contribution towards playspace Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.473m

X11 Brackley East Leisure provision Contribution towards sports hall and swimming pool Tertiary Social
community

facilities
SNC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£0.279m

X12 Brackley East Public realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.182m

X13 Brackley East Health Centre
Contribution towards health centre  (based upon 4GPs 

and dental practice)
Secondary Social healthcare PCT NHS

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.396m

X14 Brackley East Electrical supply
The housing development is likely to draw circa 0.9 MW 

and require 1 or 2 distribution substations.
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

in line with 
dev't

£0.41m

X15 Brackley East Gas supply
 Likely to have an annual gas consumption of 7,220 

MWh with a peak instantaneous demand of circa 531 
m³/h.

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer
Linked to 

development
in line with 

dev't
£0.28m

Y
Any infrastructure requirements elsewhere in South 
Northamptonshire, some of which may be needed to 
enable development in the Towcester and Brackley 

Y1 SNC General
Walking and Cycling 

improvements
Districtwide walking and cycling improvements Secondary Green

footway / 
cycleway

NCC Unknown
Ongoing and 

long term
£0.072m

Y2 SNC General
Electrical Network 

Reinforcement
One new substation plus circuit reinforcement needed. Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £2.35m

Y3 SNC General Education service 2 x special needs units Secondary Social education NCC NCC NK NK £2m
Z Redevelopment of shopping facilities 

Z2
Daventry Town 

Centre
Learning Quarter 16+ (or 14+) educational provision. Secondary Social education

 Northampton 
college

Consortium 2011 NK

Z3
Daventry Town 

Centre
Town centre CCTV Extended camera network and 'back office' infrastructure Secondary Physical utilities Developer / DDC Developer TBC

Z4
Daventry Town 

Centre
Police - Daventry 'One 

Stop Shop'
A shared public sector front desk Tertiary Social

emergency
services

DDC / Police Police Authority TBC TBC Nil

Z5
Daventry Town 

Centre
Canal link Canal arm linking town centre to Grand Union Canal Tertiary Green open space DDC / Developer Not known NK NK c£12m

Z6
Daventry Town 

Centre
Re-locate and 

improved bus station 
Improved bus station Secondary Physical

public
transport

DDC GIF/Developer before 2016 3 years £5m

Z8
Daventry Town 

Centre

Requirement for 
enhancements to 

telecommunications
Requirement for enhancements to existing cables Primary Physical utilities Provider/DDC Provider TBC £1.11m

Z9
Daventry Town 

Centre
Library

New library to be provided on car park when old library 
site is redeveloped for retail. Larger facility to 

accommodate increased demand.
Secondary Social

community
facilities

WNDC / NCC / 
Developer

Developer TBC NK

Z10
Daventry Town 

Centre
Eastern Way Junctions Improvements needed Primary Physical road works NCC NK NK NK £1m

Daventry Town Centre

South Northamptonshire General

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

208



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

Z11
Daventry Town 

Centre

Stefan Way / 
Leamington Way 

Junction
Junction Improvements Primary Physical road works NCC NK NK NK £0.65m

Z12
Daventry Town 

Centre

Ashby Road / 
Henmans Road Bus 

Priority
 Bus priority improvements Primary Physical road works NCC NK NK NK £0.65m

AA SUE comprising 2500 houses 2012 14 years

AA1 Daventry North East Primary school 1 x 2 form of entry Primary Schools Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC
Linked to 

development
£6.5m

AA2 Daventry North East Secondary school 1x8 form of entry secondary school Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC
Linked to 

development
£35m

AA3 Daventry North East Community facilities Provision of a community building Tertiary Social
community

facilities
DDC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£0.878m

AA4 Daventry North East Sports pitches Provision of sports pitches Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.514m

AA5 Daventry North East Green Infrastructure Provision of green infrastructure Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.500m

AA6 Daventry North East Health Centre 3 GP health centre in proposed local centre. Secondary Social healthcare NHS Developer 2012+
Contribution

only
£1.550m

AA7 Daventry North East Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social
community

facilities
Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.194m

AA8 Daventry North East
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Provision of playspace to serve the development Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£2.490m

AA9 Daventry North East Norton Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures Primary Physical road works NCC NK
Linked to 

development
£0.9m

AA10 Daventry North East B4036 Realignment Secondary Physical NK NK
Linked to 

development
£0.35m

AA11 Daventry North East
Link from Northern 

Way/ Welton Road to 
B4036

Sustainable transport link Primary Physical road works NCC Developer
Linked to 

development
£3.38m

AA12 Daventry North East
Diversion of high 
voltage electricity 

supplies

Diversion / undergrounding of 132Kv overhead cables 
(from just north of GUC to Daventry BSP)

Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer
Linked to 

development
£17.31m

AA13 Daventry North East Oil pipelines Reinforcement / protection of BPA oil pipelines Primary Physical utilities Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
£0.59m

AA14 Daventry North East Public transport Expansion of bus services Secondary Physical
public

transport
Developer Developer / LTP 2015 NK

AA15 Daventry North East
Daventry Country Park 

expansion
Enlargement to Daventry Country Park Secondary Green open space DDC Developer before 2016 7years £3.45m

AA16 Daventry North East
Wastewater Treatment 

Works
Upgrading of the Whilton Sewage treatment works Primary Physical utilities Anglian Water Anglian Water 2013 3 years £4.93m

AA17 Daventry North East Wastewater network
Upgrade required to main sewer from Daventry to 

Whilton
Primary Physical utilities

Anglian Water / 
developer

Provider / 
Developer

Linked to 
development

1 - 2 years £6.98m

AA18 Daventry North East
Water Supply 
infrastructure

Various strategic upgrades required Primary Physical Utilities
Anglian

Water/developers
Provider/Develope

r
Linked to 

development
1 - 2 years £2.48m

AA19 Daventry North East Leisure provision Contribution towards sports hall and swimming pool Tertiary Social
community

facilities
DDC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£1.470m

Daventry North East

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

209



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

AA20 Daventry North East Public realm Contribution towards high quality public realm Tertiary Social open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.960m

AA21 Daventry North East Electrical supply
 Likely to draw circa 4 MW and require circa 6 to 8 

distribution substations.
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£2.18m

AA22 Daventry North East
Electrical Network 

Reinforcement
New primary substation to be provided. Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months £2.30m

AA23 Daventry North East Gas supply
 Annual gas consumption of 38,000 MWh with a peak 

instantaneous demand of circa 2,790 m³/h.
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

In line with 
dev't

£1.49m

AA24 Daventry North East
Gas Network 

Reinforcement
Low pressure gas supply to be taken off a medium 

pressure gas main via a gas regulator. 
Primary Physical utilities National Grid Developer

Linked to 
development

TBC £1.00m

AB
Infrastructure requirements to facilitate 1000 houses in 

Daventry North (Monksmoor)

AB1 Monksmoor Primary school 1 x 2 form of entry primary school Secondary Social education NCC Developer/NCC
Linked to 

development
£6.45m

AB2 Monksmoor
Buffering of 

development
Additional work to buffer the perimeter of the Country 

Park is identified in the WNIS / 130
secondary Green open space DDC Developer before 2016 4years £0.6m

AB3 Monksmoor Welton Lane pedestrian/cycle improvements needed Tertiary Social
footway / 
cycleway

NCC S106
Linked to 

development
NK

AB4 Monksmoor
Police - Safer 

Community Team 
Facility

To provide a place for the Safer Community Team to 
use (either drop in or base) as part of a shared facility 

with other partners
Secondary Social

emergency
services

Developer Developer Not supplied
In line with 

development
Maximum of 

£500,000

AB5 Monksmoor Public transport Expansion of bus services to reflect development Secondary Physical
public

transport
Developer Developer / LTP 2015 NK

AB6 Monksmoor
Water Supply 
infrastructure

1.7km of 355mm OD main to be laid along Western 
Avenue and London Road.

Primary Physical Utilities
Anglian

Water/developers
Provider/Develope

r
Linked to 

development
1 year £29.75m

AB7 Monksmoor Community facilities
Contribution towards a community building or other 

community facilities
Tertiary Social

community
facilities

DDC Developer
To follow 

development
Contribution

only
£0.439m

AB8 Monksmoor Sports pitches Contribution towards sports pitches Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.757m

AB9 Monksmoor Green Infrastructure Contribution towards green infrastructure Secondary Green open space Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£0.250m

AB10 Monksmoor Employment Training Contribution towards training places for local people Tertiary Social
community

facilities
Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.097m

AB11 Monksmoor
Equipped and non 

equipped  Play Area
Contribution towards playspace Secondary Social

community
facilities

Developer Developer
Linked to 

development
Contribution

only
£1.245m

AB12 Monksmoor Leisure provision Contribution towards sports hall and swimming pool Tertiary Social
community

facilities
DDC Developer

To follow 
development

Contribution
only

£0.735m

AB13 Monksmoor Public realm
Contribution towards high quality public realm within and 

around the development
Tertiary Green open space Developer Developer

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

£0.480m

AB14 Monksmoor Health Centre
Contribution towards health centre (based upon 4GPs 

and dental practice)
Secondary Social healthcare PCT NHS

Linked to 
development

Contribution
only

1.042m

AD
Any infrastructure required elsewhere in the Daventry 

District to deliver growth.

AD1 Daventry - other Public transport
High quality bus based public transport solution for local 

trips (within area) and connections to off-site public 
transport.

Secondary Physical
public

transport
Developer Developer / LTP 2010 - 2015 5 years £0.43

Daventry District General

Daventry North

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

210



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

AD2 Daventry - other

A45 corridor measures, 
including A45 

Northampton to 
Daventry Link Road

Major new road required to enable growth throughout 
Daventry. Includes public transport measures in corridor 

and traffic mitigation measures in Flore, Weedon and 
Upper Heyford

Primary Physical road works NCC Developer/NCC 2013 5years £30m 

AD3 Daventry - other A5 / A45 crossroads
Improvements to signal-controlled junction (independent 
of whether A45 Northampton to Daventry Link road goes 

ahead)
Primary Physical road works HA Developer TBC £0.7m

AD4 Daventry - other
A361 Daventry-M40 
traffic management

Downgrade to 'B' road and discourage through traffic 
(use A43-A5-A45)

Primary Physical road works NCC LTP/Developer NK £5m

AD5 Daventry - other

Borough Hill Country 
Park

Extension/enhancemen
t as formal CP

Upgrading of existing park Secondary Green open space DDC S106 TBC NK

AD6 Daventry - other A361 Improvements Improvements to A361 north of Daventry Tertiary Physical road works NCC LTP/Developer
Linked to 

development
£8m

AD7 Daventry - other
New high pressure gas 

main

New gas main may be required to supplement the 
existing Daventry to Long Buckby gas main. Either to be 

overlaid on existing or construct additional new main 
between Daventry and Long Buckby

Primary Physical utilities National Grid National Grid NK NK £1.78m

AD8 Daventry - other

Further enhancements 
to high pressure gas 
main beyond Long 

Buckby

Further enhancements beyond Long Buckby Primary Physical utilities National Grid NK NK NK £5.42m

AD9 Daventry - other A5 / B5385 junction Possible signalisation Primary Physical road works NCC NK TBC £0.68m

AD10 Daventry - other
Cycling routes, 

crossings, strategy and 
parking

Links - on- and off- new and existing carriageway cycling 
provision - improvement of existing cycle routes, 

parking, signing, planning
Secondary Physical

public
transport

NCC / Developer Developer /  LTP 2010 - 2030 20 years £2.35

AD11 Daventry - other New Cemetery New cemetery needed after 2020 Secondary Social
community

facilities
DDC NK 2020 NK

AD12 Daventry - other Employment Training
Represents S106 contribution to training places for local 

people
Tertiary Social

community
services

DDC Developer
Linked to 

development
- £0.291m

AD13 Daventry - other
Estate Management 

Company

Resident  controlled estate management company for 
housing estates around Daventry town: not specific to 

any one SUE
Tertiary Social

community
services

NK Developer TBC

AD14 Daventry - other Education service 2 x special needs units Secondary Social education NCC NCC NK NK £2m

AD15 Long Buckby Station Parking provision
multi-storey car park centre or park and ride at Long 

Buckby by station
secondary Physical

public
transport

NK NK TBC NK

AD16 Long Buckby Station Station facilities
Improvements to the station facilities plus enhanced 

interchange between modes
primary Physical

public
transport

Network Rail/NCC Provider TBC £1.2m 

AD17 Long Buckby Station
Long Buckby to 

Daventry bus route

 Dedicated service but could be incorporated into 
another bus route provided a high standard of service 

could be guaranteed.
secondary Physical

public
transport

NCC NK
TBC and 

dependant on 
development

£2m

AE
Planning consent has been granted for DIRFT 2, 
comprising 1.945 million sq feet of commercial 

development along the A428, plus a new rail hub.
Daventry International Railfreight Terminal

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

211



R
ef

er
en

ce

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

P
ro

je
ct

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

S
ta

tu
s

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 T
yp

e

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

C
at

eg
o

ry

R
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

S
o

u
rc

e 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g

S
ta

rt
 D

at
e

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

C
o

st

AE1 DIRFT expansion Highways M1 J18 minor works. A 5 works. Primary Physical road works HA Developer
Linked to 

development
£0.65m

AE2 DIRFT expansion Public transport Improvements needed but not yet quantified.  Secondary Physical
public

transport
NK Developer / LTP

Linked to 
development

NK

AE3 DIRFT expansion Electricity
Switch DIRFT to Rugby connection or connection 

between Bugbrooke and Weedon
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer TBC

Depends on 
layout

AE4 DIRFT expansion
Sustainable Heat 

Network

Means of delivering primary infrastructure needs and of 
meeting Code for Sustainable Buildings in a cost-

effective way
Primary Physical utilities NK Developer

Linked to 
development

£1.27m

AE5 DIRFT expansion Electricity supply
One new primary substation plus connections likely to 

be needed
Primary Physical utilities Central Networks Developer

Linked to 
development

18 months
Depends on 

layout

AF Former Royal Ordnance Depot

AF1 Weedon Depot New access New road access Primary Physical road works NCC NK TBC £0.05m

AF2 Weedon Depot Restoration 
Early 19th Century Barracks in need of restoration to 

ensure long term survival
Secondary Social landscape TBC NK TBC NK

Weedon Depot

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

212



Appendix 5 – Saved Local Plan Policies to be Replaced by Joint Core Strategy 
Policies

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provided for the saving of policies 
in adopted Local Plans which reflected the principles of the Local Development 
Framework and were consistent with national policy. In 2007 some Saved Adopted 
Local Plan policies ceased to be “saved”.  Eventually all the remaining Saved 
Adopted Local Plan policies will be replaced by the Development Plan Documents 
that make up the Local Development Framework.

Below are three lists, one for each of the Borough and District Councils, showing 
those Saved Adopted Local Plan policies to be replaced by the adopted Joint Core 
Strategy.

Until the Joint Core Strategy is adopted all Saved Local Plan Policies will 
continue to apply.  

The relevant Development Plans for Daventry District Council, Northampton Borough 
Council and South Northamptonshire Council, which form the basis of the Saved 
Policies, are:

Daventry District Local Plan (adopted June 1997)
Northampton Local Plan (adopted June 1997)

 South Northamptonshire Council Local Plan (adopted October 1997)

Daventry District
Saved Policies in the adopted 
Daventry District Local Plan 
1997

Replacement Policy Number and Title in 
the Joint Core Strategy

GN3 General INF1
INF2

Approach to Infrastructure Delivery
Contributions to Infrastructure 
Requirements

HS2 Housing related to the 
growth of Northampton

S4

S5
S6
BN8

Northampton Related Development 
Area
Sustainable Urban Extensions
Phasing of Housing Development
The River Nene Strategic River 
Corridor

HS10 New Settlements S1
S5

The Distribution of Development
Sustainable Urban Extensions

HS25 Affordable Housing H2 Affordable Housing
HS26 Affordable Housing H3 Rural Exception Sites
HS27 Affordable Housing H2 Affordable Housing
CM7 Public Transport 

Provisions
C2
S10

New Developments
Sustainable Development Principles

CM8 Cyclists and Pedestrians S10 Sustainable Development Principles

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

213



Northampton Borough
Saved Policies in the Adopted 
Northampton Local Plan 1997

Replacement Policy Number and Title in 
the Core Strategy

E1 Landscape and open space BN2 
BN5

Biodiversity
The Historic Environment

E2 Riverside landscape BN8 The River Nene Strategic River 
Corridor

E4 Water environment BN1
BN4

BN7
BN8

Green Infrastructure Connections
Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits 
Potential Special Protection Area
Flood Risk 
The River Nene Strategic River 
Corridor

E6 Green space BN1 
BN5
BN8

RC2

Green Infrastructure Connections
The Historic Environment
The River Nene Strategic River 
Corridor
Community Needs

E10 Hedges Trees and 
Woodland

BN3 Woodland Enhancement and 
Creation

E11 Hedges Trees and 
Woodland

BN3

BN5

Woodland Enhancement and 
Creation
The Historic Environment

E12 Hedges Trees and 
Woodland

BN3 Woodland Enhancement and 
Creation

E14 Corridors of travel BN1
C3

Green Infrastructure Connections 
Strategic Connections

E17 Nature conservation BN2 
BN3 

BN5

Biodiversity 
Woodland Enhancement and 
Creation
The Historic Environment

E18 Sites of acknowledged 
nature conservation value

BN2
BN4

Biodiversity
Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits 
Potential Special Protection Area

E19 Implementing development INF1

INF2

Approach to Infrastructure 
Delivery
Contributions to Infrastructure 
Requirements

E38 Historic landscapes: 
nationally important ancient 
monument/landscapes

BN5 The Historic Environment

E39 Renewable energy S10

S11

Sustainable Development 
Principles
Renewable Energy

E40 Crime and vandalism S10 Sustainable Development 
Principles

H1 Sites for major new 
residential development

S1
S5 
S10

The Distribution of Development 
Sustainable Urban Extensions 
Sustainable Development 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

214



N7
N9

Principles
Northampton King’s Heath SUE
Northampton Upton Park SUE

H4 Sites for major new 
residential development

S5
S10

N9

Sustainable Urban Extensions
Sustainable Development 
Principles
Northampton Upton Park SUE

H5 Sites for major new 
residential development

S1
S5
S10

N7

The Distribution of Development
Sustainable Urban Extensions  
Sustainable Development 
Principles
Northampton King’s Heath SUE

H6 Other housing 
development: within 
primarily residential area

H1 Housing Density and Mix and 
Type of Dwellings

H7 Other housing 
development: outside 
primarily residential area

H1 Housing Density and Mix and 
Type of Dwellings 

H8 Other housing 
development: list of sites

S1 The Distribution of Development

H32 Affordable housing H2 Affordable Housing
H34 Gypsy caravan sites H7 Gypsies, Travellers and 

Travelling Showpeople
B1 Land allocations for 

business and industry: 
proposed business areas

E1
E2
E3

N2

Existing Employment Areas 
New Office Floorspace 
Technology Realm, Northampton 
North 
Northampton Central Area

B2 Land allocations for 
business and industry: 
existing business areas

E1
E3

N2

Existing Employment Areas
Technology Realm, Northampton 
North
Northampton Central Area

B3 Land allocations for 
business and industry: 
business developments

E1 
E2

Existing Employment Areas
New Office Floorspace

B4 Land allocations for 
business and industry: sites 
less than 1 hectare

E1 
E2

Existing Employment Areas
New Office Floorspace

B13 Infrastructure related to 
business use 

INF1

INF2

Approach to Infrastructure 
Delivery 
Contributions to Infrastructure 
Requirements 

T4 impacts of major 
developments on highway 
infrastructure   

C2
INF1

INF2

New Developments
Approach to Infrastructure 
Delivery 
Contributions to Infrastructure 
Requirements

T5 Kings Heath development 
and requires on the local 

INF1 Approach to Infrastructure 
Delivery 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

215



road network  INF2

N7

Contributions to Infrastructure 
Requirements
Northampton King’s Heath SUE

T14 Public transport – rail 
corridors

C4 Connecting Urban Areas

L1 Existing recreational 
facilities

RC2 Community Needs

L3 Other existing local open 
space

RC2 Community Needs

L4 New local recreational land RC2 Community Needs
L6 Maintenance of open space RC2 Community Needs
L16 River Valley Policy Area BN8 The River Nene Strategic River 

Corridor
L17 Use of river and canal BN8 The River Nene Strategic River 

Corridor
L20 Managed countryside 

recreation: Upton Country 
Park

N9 Northampton Upton Park SUE

L29 River Valley Policy Area: 
provision of new facilities

E7 Tourism, Visitor and Cultural 
Facilities

D14 Pineham: business and 
housing

E1 Existing Employment Areas

South Northamptonshire District
Saved Policies in Existing Local 
Plan

Replacement Policy Number and Title in 
the Core Strategy

G2 General S1 The Distribution of Development 

H3 Brackley and Towcester S1
S3

The Distribution of Development 
Scale of and Distribution of 
Development

H7 Affordable Housing H2 Affordable Housing
H8 Affordable Housing H3 Rural Exception Sites
RC5 Towcester Racecourse T5 Towcester Racecourse
IMP1 Planning Obligations INF1

INF2
Approach to Infrastructure 
Delivery
Contributions to Infrastructure 
Requirements

TH2 Residential development 
within Towcester

T1 Spatial strategy for Towcester

TE2 North east of town centre, 
Towcester (office proposal)

T2 The Town Centre and Moat 
Lane Regeneration Area

TEV1 Bury mount Towcester 
(pedestrianised area)

T2 The Town Centre and Moat
Lane Regeneration Area

TT1 North East of the Town 
Centre, Towcester 
(Transport Proposal)

T2 The Town Centre and Moat 
Lane Regeneration Area

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

216



TT2 West of Northampton Road, 
Towcester (Car Park 
Proposal)

T2 The Town Centre and Moat 
Lane Regeneration Area

TR2 North East of the Town 
Centre, Towcester (Retail 
Proposal)

T2 The Town Centre and Moat 
Lane Regeneration Area

TRC2 North East of the Town 
Centre, Towcester 
(Riverside Walk Proposal)

T2 The Town Centre and Moat 
Lane Regeneration Area

WFH1 Wootton Fields (Housing 
Proposal)

S1
S3

The Distribution of Development 
Scale and Distribution of 
Housing Development

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

217



Appendix 6 – West Northamptonshire Monitoring Framework

Objective 1 - Climate Change

Objective: To minimise demand for resources and mitigate and adapt to climate change, by: 
• Promoting sustainable design and construction in all new development;
• Ensuring strategic development allocations are located and designed so as to be resilient to future climate change and risk of flooding;
• Encouraging renewable energy production in appropriate locations; and
• Ensuring new development promotes use of sustainable travel modes.

Policy Numbers: S10, S11, H5, BN7, BN8, BN9
Indicator (and 
type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies 
(for delivery)

Source (for monitoring 
data)

Minimum Code for 
Sustainable Homes 
Ratings for 
Residential 
Development 
(Unless clearly 
demonstrated to 
prevent 
development 
viability)

Based on JCS 
Policy S10: 
Detailed 
breakdown by 
settlement 
available in 
policy wording

S10 H5 SA Obj 12/13 Developers, 
WNDC, LPAs and 
RSLs

LPAs, Building Control,
WNDC and WNJPU 
monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

218



Indicator (and 
type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies 
(for delivery)

Source (for monitoring 
data)

BREEAM 
Standards for Non-
Residential 
Development 

Non-Residential 
Development 
over 500m2

S10

to 
achieve a rating 
of at least Very 
Good

SA Obj 24 Developers, LPAs, 
Commercial Users, 
WNDC

LPAs, Building Control, 
WNDC and WNJPU 
Monitoring

Sustainable Energy 
Generation within 
new development 
through 
decentralised and 
renewable or low 
carbon sources

10% target for 
sustainable 
energy 
generation on 
new 
development in 
Policy S10, 

S10 H5 SA Obj 15 Developers, 
WNDC, 
Environmental 
Services at 
Northamptonshire 
County Council 
and LPAs. 

WNDC, 
Northamptonshire 
County Council , LPA 
Application Monitoring 
and WNJPU Monitoring

Planning 
Permissions 
Granted Contrary to 
EA Advice on 
Water Quality or 
Flood Risk Grounds 
(as in Core Output 
Indicator E1) after 
failing the 
sequential and / or 
exceptions test

Based on JCS 
Policy BN7, No 
Applications
should be 
granted 
contrary to EA 
Advice

BN7 S10; BN4; 
BN8; BN9

SA Obj 
25/26/28

Environment 
Agency, NCC 
(through Water 
Management 
Plan), LPAs, 
Developers, 
WNDC

Environment Agency 
Response / Objections 
to Applications, WNDC, 
WNJPU Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

219



Indicator (and 
type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies 
(for delivery)

Source (for monitoring 
data)

NO2 Levels at 
existing designated 
AQMAs (LTP 
Indicator (LTP5))

No Specific 
Target in Policy 
BN9 - New 
development 
should address 
existing 
problems. 
Regular 
reporting of 
measurements

BN9 SA Obj 2/3 NCC Highways, LA 
Environmental 
Services, HA, LTA
(Will report LPT 
Indicator 5)

LAs, DEFRA Reporting

Percentage of River 
Lengths Assessed
as good biological / 
chemical quality

No Specific 
Target in Policy 
BN9 - New 
development 
should address 
existing 
problems. 
Regular 
reporting of 
measurements

BN9 S10; BN8 SA Obj 25/28 Environment 
Agency standards; 
WNDC; Water 
Companies

EA

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

220



Objective 2 - Infrastructure and development

Objective: To protect and enhance existing local services and to ensure social, physical and green infrastructure is adequately provided to 
meet the needs of people and business in a timely and sustainable manner in response to regeneration and new development in West 
Northamptonshire. 

Policy Numbers: INF1, INF2, S1, C1, C2, C3, C4; N3; N4; N5; N6; N7; N8; N9; N11; N12; D1; D3; D4; D5; T1; T2; T3; T4; B1; B2; B3; B4

Indicator (and 
type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies
(for delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Delivery of major 
Infrastructure 
priorities identified 
to facilitate 
development 
against IDP 
timescale (Local 
Indicator)

Table 1 in 
Infrastructure 
Chapter of the 
JCS.
Measurement 
against details
presented in West 
Northamptonshire 
Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan 

INF1 INF2; C1, 
C2, C3, C4, 
S1, N3, N4, 
N5, N6, N7, 
N8, N9, N11, 
N12, D1,D3, 
D4, D5, T1, 
T2, T3, T4, 
B1, B2, B3, 
B4

SA Obj 
1/2/10/11/19/24

LPAs, NCC, 
WNDC,  HA, 
Developers, 
Service Providers

IDP Monitoring and 
Review Process, 
WNDC, Feedback from 
Service Providers,
WNJPU Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

221



Indicator (and 
type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies 
(for delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

S106 / CIL funds 
allocated to IDP-
identified projects 
in each 
monitoring year 
(including 
provision into 
pooled 
contributions 
where combined 
impact of 
development is 
identified) 

Budgeting
developed as part 
of the 'Schedule of 
required 
infrastructure' 
presented in West 
Northamptonshire 
Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan 

INF2 INF1, C1, 
C3, S1; N3, 
N4, N5, N6, 
N7, N8, N9, 
N11, N12, 
D1,D3, D4, 
D5, T1, T2, 
T3, T4, B1, 
B2, B3, B4

SA Obj 10/19 LPAs, WNDC, 
RSLs, Developers, 
Service Providers

S106 / CIL / IDP 
Monitoring, WNDC, 
LPAs, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

222



Objective 3 - Connections
Objective: To reduce the need to travel, shorten travel distances and make sustainable travel a priority across West Northamptonshire by
maximising use alternative travel modes.  In so doing, combat congestion in our main towns and town centres, reduce carbon emissions and 
address social exclusion for those in both rural and urban areas who do not have access to a private car. 

Policy Numbers: C1, C2, C3, C4, C5, INF1, R2,R3; N3, N4, N5, N6, N7, N8, N9, N11, N12, D1,D3, D4, D5, T1, T2, T3, T4, B1, B2, B3, 
B4

Indicator (and 
type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies 
(for delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

NI 167 -
Congestion - 
Average Journey 
Time per mile 
during the 
morning peak 
(Local Transport 
Plan (LTP) 
Indicator)

See LTP Targets C1 C2, C3, C4,
C5, N3, N4, 
N5, N6, N7, 
N8, N9, N11, 
N12, D1,D3, 
D4, D5, T1, 
T2, T3, T4, 
B1, B2, B3, 
B4

SA Obj 1/2 LPAs, NCC 
Highways, HA, 
WNDC, 
Developers

DfT, HA, NCC
Highways, 

Delivery of 
relevant 
Transport 
Schemes to 
timescales set out 
in Local Transport 
Plan / 
Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan (as 
appropriate) (LTP 
Indicator)

Targets in LTP 
Delivery 
Programme and
IDP

C3 INF1, N3, 
N4, N5, N6, 
N7, N8, N9, 
N11, N12, 
D1, D3, D4, 
D5, T1, T3, 
T4, B1, B2, 
B3, B4

SA Obj 
1/2/11/21

Northamptonshire 
County Council 
Highways, HA

LTP Monitoring, LPAs, 
WNJPU Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

223



Objective 4 - Protecting and Building Urban Communities
Objective: To ensure new development in urban areas effectively supports and links new and existing communities physically and socially,
to achieve social cohesion and address the areas of deprivation identified in parts of Northampton and Daventry.  

Policy Numbers: S10, N1,N11, D1, D4, T2, B1, RC1, RC2
Indicator (and 
type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies 
(for delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Number of 
Planning 
Permissions
granted contrary 
to 
Northamptonshire 
Police Crime 
Prevention 
Design Advisor's 
advice (using 
Safer Places and 
Secured by 
Design Guidance

No applications to 
be granted contrary 
to advice without 
full and reasoned 
justification

S10 N1, N11, D1, 
D4, T2, RC1,
B1

SA Obj 9 Developers, LPAs, 
Northamptonshire 
Police

LPAs, 
Northamptonshire 
Police, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

224



Indicator (and 
type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies 
(for delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

% Planning 
Permissions for 
new residential 
and commercial 
development 
making adequate 
provision for 
community 
facilities and 
public open space

PPG17 Open 
Space Standards 
and those 
identified in West 
Northamptonshire 
Sports Facilities 
Strategy and 
Cultural Investment 
Plan as 
Referenced in 
Policy RC2 –
Achievement of 
facilities specified 
in SUE policies

RC2 RC1, S10,
N2, N3, N4, 
N5, N6, N7, 
N8, N9, N11, 
D3, T3, B2, 
B3

SA Obj 
16/19/21/22

Developers, 
WNDC, LPAs

LPAs, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

225



Objective 5 - Supporting Northampton Town Centre
To support the regeneration of Northampton’s town centre by making it the focus of high quality retail, employment, leisure and cultural 
development at the heart of Northamptonshire and to support the delivery of the Northampton Central Area Action Plan.
Policy Numbers: N1, N2, S2
Indicator (and 
Type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies 
(for delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Amount of new 
net retail
convenience 
floorspace 
created in 
Northampton 
Town Centre

3,000m² net 
convenience 
(Food) shopping 
floorspace for 
period 2010 - 2026 

N2 S2, N1 SA Obj 
1/2/17/22  

Northampton 
Borough Council,
WNDC, 
Developers

NBC, WNDC, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Amount of new 
net retail 
comparison 
floorspace 
created in 
Northampton 
Town Centre

45,000m² net 
comparison 
shopping 
floorspace for 
period 2010 - 2026 

N2 S2, N1 SA Obj 
1/2/17/22  

Northampton 
Borough Council, 
WNDC, 
Developers

NBC, WNDC, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

226



Objective 6 - Supporting Daventry Town Centre
To support the regeneration of Daventry town centre through planned growth and infrastructure delivery.  
Policy Numbers: D1, D2, S2, S3
Indicator (and 
Type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies 
(for delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Amount of new 
net convenience 
floorspace 
created in 
Daventry Town 
Centre

2,000m² net 
convenience 
(Food) floorspace 
for period 2010 - 
2026

D2 D1, S2 SA Obj 
1/2/17/22  

Daventry District 
Council, WNDC, 
Developers

DDC, WNDC, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Amount of new 
net comparison 
floorspace 
created in 
Daventry Town 
Centre

7,600m² net 
comparison 
shopping 
floorspace for 
period 2010 - 2026 

D2 D1, S3 SA Obj 
1/2/17/22  

Daventry District 
Council, WNDC, 
Developers

DDC, WNDC, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

227



Objective 7 - Supporting Towcester & Brackley Town Centre
To support Towcester and Brackley in their rural service centre roles to ensure their communities are self-sufficient sustainable places and 
the towns are the focus of services and facilities for surrounding villages.
Policy Numbers: T1, T2, B1, B2, S2, S9
Indicator (and 
Type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Amount of new 
convenience 
floorspace 
delivered in 
Towcester

750m² net 
convenience 
(Food) floorspace 
for period 2010 - 
2026

T2 S2, S9, T1 SA Obj 
1/2/17/22

South 
Northamptonshire 
Borough Council,
WNDC, Developers

SNC, WNDC, 
WNJPU Monitoring

Amount of new 
convenience 
floorspace 
delivered in 
Brackley

500m² net 
convenience 
(Food) floorspace 
for period 2010 - 
2026

B2 S2, S9, B1 SA Obj 
1/2/17/22

South 
Northamptonshire 
Borough Council,
Developers

SNC, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

228



Objective 8 - Economic Advantage 
  
  

To strengthen & diversify West Northamptonshire’s economy by taking advantage of our internationally well-placed location, strategic 
transport network and proximity to London and Birmingham.  
Policy Numbers: E1, E2, E3, E4, E5, E6, INF2, N1, N3, N5, N7; N8; N9; D3, T3, B1, B2, S7, S8
Indicator (and 
Type)

Target Main Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Employment land 
available - by type

Maintain 5 year 
supply of prime 
employment land

E1 E2;E3;E5;N3;
N7;N8;N9;D3
B1;B2;S7;S8

SA Obj 17 WNDC, Developers, 
LPA's

WNDC, LPAs, 
WNJPU Monitoring

Losses of 
employment land 
per year - by type

None, unless it can 
be demonstrated 
that site not viable 
for employment.

E1 N1;D1;T1;B1;
INF2;E5;D3;
N5;B1

SA Obj 17 WNDC, Developers, 
LPA's

WNDC, LPAs, 
WNJPU Monitoring

Net job growth to 
2026

16,000 additional 
jobs by 2026

S7 E2;B2;S7;S8;
N3;N7;N8;N9
;D3;T3;B2

SA Obj 17 WNDC, Developers, 
LPA's

WNDC, LPAs, 
ONS, WNJPU 
Monitoring

On track to 
deliver jobs at 
Towcester South 
SUE

3,000 Jobs (1,500 
should be delivered 
by 2026)

T3 S7;S8 SA Obj 17 WNDC, Developers, 
LPA's

WNDC, LPAs, 
WNJPU Monitoring

Office provision of 
100,000 sqm in 
Northampton 
Town Centre

100,000sqm over 
plan period

N2 S7;S8;N1 SA Obj 17

WNDC, Developers, 
LPA's

WNDC, LPAs, 
WNJPU Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

229



Objective 9 - Specialist Business Development
To support and develop opportunities for specialist employment clusters and business development focused on a low carbon economy. 
Policy Numbers: E3, S7, S8, N3, S10, S11
Indicator (and 
Type)

Target Main 
Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Percentage of 
new 
developments 
that generate a 
minimum of 10% 
of its energy 
needs from 
decentralised and 
renewable/ low 
carbon sources.  

10% S10 S11 SA Obj 14/15 National Grid, WNDC, 
Developers, NCC and 
LPA's

WNDC, LPAs, 
WNJPU Monitoring

Delivery of 
Technology 
Realm at 
Northampton 
North

7 hectares over the 
plan period

E3 S7;S8;N3 SA Obj 17 NBC, DDC, Developers WNDC, LPAs, 
WNJPU Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

230



Objective 10 - Educational Attainment
To raise educational achievement and the skills base of our communities through supporting the development of West Northamptonshire’s 
learning infrastructure and strengthening the link between local businesses and local schools, Moulton and Northampton Colleges and the 
University of Northampton.
Policy Numbers: E6, N3, N4, N5, N6, N7, N8, N9, D3, T3, B4
Indicator (and 
Type)

Target Main 
Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Number of new 
schools built

As specified in 
specific SUE policies

E6 N3, N4, N5, 
N6, N7, N8, 
N9, D3, T3, 
B4

SA Obj 10 LPA's, developers,
education authorities

S106 / CIL / IDP 
Monitoring, LPAs, 
WNJPU Monitoring

Investment 
secured for 
educational 
facilities through 
developer 
contributions

To be determined in 
Developer 
Contributions SPD

E6 N3, N4, N5, 
N6, N7, N8, 
N9, D3, T3, 
B4

SA Obj 10/11 LPA's, developers, 
education authorities

S106 / CIL / IDP 
Monitoring, LPAs, 
WNJPU Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

231



Objective 11 - Housing
Objective: To provide a range of housing in sustainable locations to ensure all residents have access to a home that they can afford and
that meets their needs.  Housing development will be focused at the most sustainable location of Northampton, supported by Daventry and 
Towcester and Brackley in their roles as rural service centres with limited development in the rural areas to provide for local needs and 
support local services.  

Policy Numbers: S1, S3, S4, S5, S6, H1, H2, H4, H5, H6, N3, N4, N5, N6, N7, N8, N9, D3, T3, B2, B3
Indicator (and type) Target Main 

Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Density of new dwellings 
with planning permission 
on Sustainable Urban 
Extension Sites (Local)

Minimum 
average 
density of 
35dph on SUE 
sites set out in 
Policy H1

H1 S1, H1, N3, 
N4, N5, N6, 
N7, N8, N9, 
D3, T3, B2, 
B3

SA Obj 20/21/22 WNDC, LPAs and 
Developers

LPAs, WNJPU
Monitoring 

Plan Period Housing 
Targets (following Core 
Output Indicator H1)

See JCS 
Trajectory and 
Table 1 in 
Spatial 
Strategy 
Section

S3 S1, S4, S5, 
S6

SA Obj 20/21/22 WNDC, LPAs and 
Developers

LPAs, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

232



Indicator (and type) Target Main 
Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Net Additional Dwellings 
per annum (including 
performance against 
SUE phasing) (following 
Core Output Indicator H2 
a-d)

Meet or 
exceed annual 
targets in 
Table 1 of 
Spatial 
Strategy 
Section and 
phasing for 
SUEs in Policy 
S6

S3 S1, H1, N3, 
N4, N5, N6, 
N7, N8, N9, 
D3, T3, B2, 
B3

SA Obj 20/21/22 WNDC, LPAs and 
Developers

LPAs, WNJPU 
Monitoring

New and Converted 
Dwellings on Previously 
Developed Land 
(following COI H3)

30% Target for 
completions on 
Previously 
Developed 
Land (from 
JCS Policy S1)

S1 S3, N1, D1, 
T1, B1, S4

SA Obj 20 WNDC, LPAs and 
Developers

LPAs, WNJPU
Monitoring

Net Additional Pitches -
Gypsy and Traveller 
(following COI H4)

Detailed 
breakdown on 
Transit / 
Residential / 
Travelling 
Showpeople 
pitch 
requirements 
in JCS Policy 
H7

H7 SA Obj 20/21/22 LPAs, Liaison with RSLs LPA Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

233



Indicator (and type) Target Main 
Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Gross Affordable 
Housing Completions 
(following COI H5)

JCS affordable
housing 
targets, based 
on SHMA in 
Policy H2:
31% in 
Daventry 
District
35% in 
Northampton 
Related 
Development 
Area
38% in South 
Northamptons
hire District

H2 SA Obj 20/21/22 LPAs, WNDC, 
Developers with RSLs 
and HCA input

LPA Monitoring, 
CLG Returns, 
HMA 
Consultants, 
WNJPU 
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

234



Objective 12 - Protecting and Supporting Rural Communities
Objective: To protect and support rural communities to ensure they thrive and remain vital. 

Policy Numbers: R1, R2, H1, H2
Indicator (and type) Target Main 

Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

% and type of 
commercial development 
delivered in rural areas 
(Local Indicator)

No specific 
target in JCS 
Policy R2

R2 R1, R3 SA Obj 17/22 LPAs, Developers LPAs, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Permissions and 
Completions granted for 
Rural Exception Sites 

No specific 
target in JCS 
Policy H3

H3 R1, R2 SA Obj 20/22 LPAs, RSLs, Developers LPAs, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

235



Objective 13 - Rural Diversification and Employment
To support rural diversification and rural employment opportunities, in particular those related to agriculture, horticulture and forestry
Policy Numbers: R1, R2, R3, E7
Indicator (and Type) Target Main 

Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Number and type of rural 
diversification schemes 
permitted

Count of No. of 
applications 
and No of jobs 
created 
outside 
settlements 
but not directly 
related to 
agriculture,
horticulture or 
forestry.

R1 R2,R3,E7 SA Obj 17/21/22 LPA's, Developers LPAs, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

236



Objective 14 - Green Infrastructure

Objective: To protect natural species present in West Northamptonshire and enhance the existing strategic green infrastructure network, 
including biodiversity corridors, by incorporating and designing these into Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs) at Northampton, Daventry, 
Towcester and Brackley. 
Policy Numbers: S10. BN1, BN2, BN4, BN10
Indicator (and type) Target Main 

Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Change in Areas of 
Biodiversity Importance 
(following Core Output 
Indicator E2)

No Specific 
Target in 
Policy BN2 – 
monitor 
change in 
numbers/area

BN2 BN1 SAObj 5/6/7/8 Northamptonshire 
Biodiversity 
Partnership, LPAs, 
Natural England

Northamptonshire 
BAP, LPAs, 
WNJPU 
Monitoring

Development delivering a 
net gain of residential 
units within 900m on 
Upper Nene Valley Gravel 
Pits pSPA Boundary

Policy BN4 -
No net gain of 
units to be 
permitted

BN4 SA Obj 5/6/7/8 LPAs, Developers,
Natural England

LPAs, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

237



Indicator (and type) Target Main 
Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Planning Permissions 
granted subject to 
presentation of 
satisfactory Ground 
Stability Report

Assessments 
consistent with 
the criteria in 
Policy BN10 – 
Count of 
consents with 
condition; 
Count of no of 
reports 
supplied and 
agreed

BN10 SA Obj 18/19/23 LPAs, Developers, 
British Geological 
Survey

LPAs, WNJPU 
Monitoring

Planning Permissions 
granted subject to 
presentation of 
satisfactory Ecological 
Assessment 

Assessments 
consistent with 
the criteria in 
Policy BN2- 
Count of 
consents with 
condition; 
Count of no of 
reports 
supplied and 
agreed

BN2 SAObj 5/6/7/8 LPAs, WNDC,   
Developers, Natural 
England

LPAs, WNJPU  
Monitoring

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

238



Objective 15 - High Quality Design
Objective: To achieve high quality design in both rural and urban areas that takes account of local character and heritage and provides a 
safe, healthy and attractive place for residents, visitors and businesses.

Policy Numbers: BN5, S10, R1
Indicator (and type) Target Main 

Policy 
Delivered

Additional 
Policies 
Delivered?

SA Objective 
Delivered?

Main Agencies (for 
delivery)

Source (for 
monitoring data)

Number of Conservation 
Areas, and Percentage 
of Conservation Areas 
with an up to date 
character appraisal

Each 
conservation 
area to be re-
appraised 
every 5 years  

BN5 S10, R1 SA Obj 4/18/19 LPAs LPA Monitoring

Percentage of Grade I 
and II* Listed Buildings 
At Risk

RSS Policy 26 
- Decrease 
from 2006 
levels.

BN5 S10, R1 SA Obj 4/18/19 English Heritage / 
LPAs

English Heritage 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

239



19.0 Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations

Disclaimer
The Glossary is neither a statement of law nor an interpretation of the law, and its 
status is only an introductory guide to planning terminology and should not be used 
as a source for statutory definitions.

A1 Shops: Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) 
includes shops, retail warehouses, hairdressers, undertakers, travel and ticket 
agencies, post offices (but not sorting offices), pet shops, sandwich bars, 
showrooms, domestic hire shops, dry cleaners, funeral directors and internet cafés.  

A2 Financial and professional services: Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) includes financial services such as banks and 
building societies, professional services (other than health and medical services) 
including estate and employment agencies and betting offices. 

A3 Restaurants and cafés: Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
(as amended) includes the sale of food and drink for consumption on the premises - 
restaurants, snack bars and cafés.  

A4 Drinking establishments: Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended) includes Public houses, wine bars or other drinking 
establishments (but not night clubs). 

A5 Hot food takeaways:

Accessibility: The extent to which employment, goods and services are made 
easily available to people, either through close proximity, or through providing the 
required physical links to enable people to go to locations where they are available.

Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended) includes the sale of hot food for consumption off the premises. 

Affordable Housing: Housing that is provided to eligible households at a price/ rent 
below the market rate, whose housing needs are not met by the market. It includes 
both socially rented and intermediate housing. 

Ancient Woodlands are defined as areas where there is believed to have been 
continuous woodland cover since at least 1600 AD. It can include both ancient semi-
natural and ancient replanted woodlands. They are irreplaceable habitats.  

Application Approved in Principle (AIP):- This is a term used to describe an 
occasion when a planning application has been considered and generally approved 
by a Local Planning Authority, providing that the applicant agrees to certain 
conditions such as providing planning contributions or submitting further information 
to support their application. 

Appropriate Assessment (AA): Under the Habitat Regulations Assessment,
stakeholders such as developers/ Local Authorities are required to undertake this 
assessment when a plan or project is likely to have a impact on any European 
Environmental conservation designations (i.e. Natura 2000 sites consisting of 
Special Protected Areas of Conservation, Special Protected Areas, etc). The overall 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

240



aim of this assessment is to demonstrate that the plan/ project will not have an
adverse impact on the integrity of the environmental designation. Alternatively, the 
AA will need to demonstrate why the proposed project/ plan is in the overriding 
public interest and the compensatory measures that will be taken to ensure the 
overall coherence of the Natura 2000 sites is protected.   

B1 Employment Use: Offices, research and development, light industry (in the 
Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 and its subsequent 
amendments).

B2 Employment Use: General Industrial (in the Town and Country Planning Use 
Classes Order 1987 and its subsequent amendments).

B8 Employment Use: Storage and distribution (in the Town and Country Planning 
Use Classes Order 1987 and its subsequent amendments).

Biodiversity: The variety of plants, animals and other living things in a particular 
area or region. It encompasses habitat diversity, species diversity and genetic 
diversity.

Brownfield Land: See definition for Previously Developed Land.

Carbon Footprint: The amount of greenhouse gas produced in daily life through the 
burning fossil fuels.   

Central Area Action Plan (CAAP): Northampton Borough Council is preparing an
Area Action Plan to direct the redevelopment of Northampton central area. 

Comparison Retailing: The provision of items not obtained on a frequent basis.
These include clothing, footwear, household and recreational goods

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL): This allows Local Authorities to raise funds 
from developers undertaking new building projects in their area. This is used to fund 
a wide range of infrastructure (i.e. transport schemes, schools, etc) that are needed 
to support the development of their area. 

Connectivity: The linkages that exist between key locations.  

Convenience Retailing: The provision of everyday essential items, including food, 
drinks, newspapers/ magazines and confectionary.  

D1 Non-Residential Institutions: Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended) includes Clinics, health centres, crèches, day nurseries, day 
centres, schools, art galleries (other than for sale or hire), museums, libraries, halls, 
places of worship, church halls, law court and non residential education and training 
centres. 

D2 Assembly and leisure: Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
(as amended) includes Cinemas, music and concert halls, bingo and dance halls 
(but not night clubs), swimming baths, skating rinks, gymnasiums or area for indoor 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

241



or outdoor sports and recreations (except for motor sports, or where firearms are 
used). 

Dam Break Area: An area of a site that is safeguarded from development and 
allowed to flood when the Dam is at risk of overflowing/breaking. It also protects the 
developed areas from flooding.

Daventry International Rail Freight Terminal (DIRFT): An intermodal (changing
from one mode of transport to another) rail port and logistics centre located near 
Crick, Northamptonshire.

Developer Contributions: Contributions made by a developer to remedy the impact 
of development, either by paying money for work to be carried out or by directly 
providing facilities or works either on or off-site.

Development Plan Document (DPD): These are planning documents forming part 
of the Local Development Framework (LDF) and which have a status of being part of 
the development plan. In order to acquire this status they will be subject to 
independent scrutiny through a public examination. Certain documents within the 
LDF must be DPDs, for example a Core Strategy, Site Specific Allocations of land 
and Area Action Plan where produced. There must also be an adopted Proposals 
Map which may be varied as successive DPDs are adopted.   

District Centre: A centre that provides a number of facilities to serve the community, 
such as a group of shops including a supermarket or superstore and a range of non-
retail services such as banks, building societies, and restaurants as well as local 
public facilities such as a library as defined in PPS4.

Dwelling: A self-contained building or part of a building used as a residential 
accommodation, and usually housing a single household. A dwelling may be a 
house, bungalow, flat, maisonette or residentially converted farm building.

East Midlands Regional Plan (

Environment Agency is a Public Body that is responsible for protecting and 
improving the environment of England and Wales, and for protecting communities 
from the risk of flooding and managing water resources. They are consulted 
throughout the plan making and decision making process in order to promote 
sustainable development.  

EMRP): The EMPR comprises the Regional Spatial 
Strategy for the period up to 2026 under the provisions of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The main role of the Regional Plan is to provide a 
strategy within which local authorities planning documents and Local Transport 
Plans can be prepared. It is also material to decisions on individual planning 
applications and appeals.  It is the Government’s intention to revoke Regional Spatial 
Strategies. 

Evidence Base: The information and data gathered by local authorities to justify the 
“soundness” of the policy approach set out in Local Development Documents, 
including physical, economic, and social characteristics of an area. It consists of 
consultation responses and the finding of technical studies.  

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

242



Flood Risk Attenuation: Measures such as tanks and surface ponds that are 
designed to reduce or prevent water entering an area, sewers and rivers during 
periods of heavy rainfall with the potential to prevent flooding.  

Flood Zone 1: An area with low risk of flooding. This zone comprises land assessed 
as having a less than 1 in 1000 annual probability of river or sea flooding.

Flood Zone 2: An area with a low to medium risk of flooding. This zone comprises 
land assessed as having between a 1 in 100 and 1 in 1000 annual probability of river 
flooding or between a 1 in 200 and 1 in 1000 annual probability of sea flooding.

Flood Zone 3a: An area with a high probability of flooding. This zone comprises land 
assessed as having a 1 in 100 or greater annual probability of river flooding or a 1 in 
200 or greater annual probability of flooding from the sea.  

Flood Zone 3b: This is an area within a functional floodplain. This zone comprises 
land where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood. 

Greenfield Land: Land which has not previously been developed, including land in 
agriculture or forestry and land in built up areas used for outdoor sport and 
recreation (including public and private open space and allotments).

Green Infrastructure: A strategically planned and delivered network of high quality 
green spaces and other environmental features. It is designed and managed as a 
multifunctional resource capable of delivering a wide range of environmental and 
quality of life benefits for local communities. Green Infrastructure includes parks, 
open spaces, playing fields, woodlands, allotments and private gardens. 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA): The Housing Act
2004 requires local authorities to undertake an assessment of the accommodation 
needs of gypsies and travellers. This assessment is used to inform the amount of 
land that should be identified by the planning system to meet the needs of gypsies 
and travellers.

High Speed 2 (HS2): A fast rail route between London and Birmingham, with the 
possibility of extension to Glasgow of the East Midlands.

Indices of Multiple Deprivation: This measures the level of deprivation within a 
specific geographic area (i.e. council wards). It assesses the level of deprivation 
from a whole range of sources such as income employment; health and disability; 
education; skills and training; housing and services; living environment and crime. It 
can useful for identifying areas in need of regeneration. 

In-migration: The movement of persons into a community/ population who originate 
from elsewhere.   

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

243



Information and Communications Technology (ICT): The study, design, 
development, implementation, support or management of information systems. 
Information technology is a general term that describes any technology that helps to 
produce, manipulate, store, communicate, and/ or disseminate information.

Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP): The IDP identifies the necessary social, 
physical and green infrastructure required to support the new development proposed 
in the Joint Core Strategy for West Northamptonshire up to 2026. The document will 
be subject to monitoring and regular review.

Interchanges: Place where passengers or goods are exchanged/transported 
between tow (or more) different types of transport.   

Lifetime Homes: The Lifetime Homes standard is a set of 16 design criteria that 
provide a model for building accessible and adaptable homes. This standard is 
widely used in planning policies and forms part of the Code for Sustainable Homes.

Local Centre: A centre that includes a range of small shops of a local nature, 
serving a small catchment.  They might typically include a small supermarket, a 
newsagent, a sub-post office, a pharmacy, take-away and laundrette as defined in 
PPS4.

Local Development Framework (LDF): The name for the portfolio of Local 
Development Documents. It consists of Development Plan Documents, 
Supplementary Planning Documents, a Statement of Community Involvement, the 
Local Development Scheme and Annual Monitoring Reports. Together these 
documents will provide the framework for delivering the spatial planning strategy for 
a local authority area and may also include local development orders and simplified 
planning zones.
  
Local Development Scheme: This sets out a programme for preparing local 
development documents. 

Local Strategic Partnership: This a is a partnership that brings together 
organizations from public, private, community and voluntary sector in a local 
authority area, so that different initiatives and services support each other and work 
together. The partnership is responsible for producing a Sustainable Community 
Strategy/Vision, setting out their local priorities and the key actions that may need to 
be taken to achieve these, in order to enhance the social, economic and 
environmental well being of their area.  

Mixed Use (or Mixed Use Development): Provision of a mix of complementary 
uses, such as residential, community and leisure uses, on a site or within a particular 
area.

Modal Shift: The result of a change from one mode of transport to another, for 
example  private car use to bus use.   

Modal Split: The number of journeys being made by each different transport type.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

244



Mode: The type of transport being used for a journey. 

Non B Employment Uses: A use commonly defined as including retail, tourism, 
leisure education, and health as set out by the Town and Country Planning Use 
Classes Order 1987 and its subsequent amendments.  

Northamptonshire Enterprise Limited (NEL): A partnership between the public, 
private and voluntary sectors. Its purpose is to develop the Northamptonshire 
economy and support job creation. 

Northamptonshire Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP): Lists the most threatened 
habitats and species in the county, and sets out targets for action to aid their 
recovery.  

Open Book Approach: This is a term used to describe the process by which a 
Local Planning Authority can expect a developer to further submit evidence (i.e. 
Viability Assessment), when negotiating planning contributions such as Affordable 
Housing, Infrastructure, etc, in order to demonstrate that the development will be 
unviable if the contributions are provided. 

Out-Commuting: Those who are employed outside of the settlement in which they 
live whom travel between the two locations.   

Parish Plans: Are prepared by Parish Councils and other local community groups 
and set out a vision for their local area and usually include an action plan of how to 
achieve the vision. Parish Plans can be used to inform the development of planning 
policy at the local level.

Park and Ride: A series of car parks located around the edge of a town or city with 
a dedicated bus service to take passengers to the centre (or other location, such as 
a football stadium) to help relieve car congestion.

Physical Infrastructure: Includes existing and future development required to 
support utilities, transport and waste management. 

Planning Policy Guidance Notes (PPGs): Prepared by the government after public 
consultation to provide guidance to local authorities on planning policy. These are 
gradually being replaced by Planning Policy Statements.   

Planning Policy Statements (PPS): National planning policy produced by 
Government, gradually replacing Planning Policy Guidance Notes (PPGs).

Potential Special Protection Area (pSPA): A pSPA is a designation under the 
European Union Directive on the Conservation of Wild Birds. Under the Directive, 
Member States of the European Union (EU) have a duty to safeguard the habitats of 
migratory birds and certain threatened birds.  

Previously Developed Land (PDL): Land which is or was occupied by a permanent
structure (excluding agricultural and forestry buildings) and associated fixed surface 
infrastructure, including the curtilage of (land attached to) buildings. It includes 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

245



defence buildings and land used for mineral or waste extraction when there is no 
requirement for subsequent restoration. Land in built up areas such as private 
residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments are not considered as 
PDL. PDL is still commonly referred to as brownfield land. 
  
Principal Urban Areas (PUAs): Settlement conurbations that can develop into 
sustainable urban communities where people will wish to live and work.

Public Realm: Areas available for everyone to use, including streets, squares and 
parks. 

Regional Spatial Strategies (RSS): A planning strategy prepared for the region, by 
a Regional Planning Body. It sets out the broad locations where strategic levels of 
growth can occur, including details of scale, type, and distribution, and the policies 
that may apply to encourage the sustainable growth of the region. A development 
plan consists of the RSS at a regional level and the Local Development Frameworks 
at a local level. However, it should be emphasised that the Government has
signalled an intention to abolish the RSS, through the Localism Bill.

Retail Leakage: The amount of money that is spent by people outside of their local
retail catchment area. 

River Nene Regional Park (RNRP): An independent community interest company 
creating a green infrastructure network of environmental projects along the River 
Nene. 

Section 106 Agreement / Contribution: Refers to Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and is a legally-binding agreement or planning obligation 
with a landowner in association with the granting of planning permission.  These 
agreements are a way of delivering or addressing matters that are necessary to 
make a development acceptable in planning terms. They are increasingly used to 
support the provision of services and infrastructure, such as highways, recreational 
facilities, education, health and affordable housing. 

Site of Specific Scientific Interest (SSSI): A site or area designated as being 
important due to its wildlife plants or flowers and/ or unusual or typical geological 
features. SSSIs are identified by Natural England and have protected status under 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

Social Infrastructure: Includes education, healthcare, sports facilities, cultural and 
community facilities. 

Standard Assessment Procedure Energy Ratings (SAP): The SAP is the 
Government's recommended system for energy rating of dwellings.

Strategic Environment Assessment: A generic term used to describe 
environmental assessment as applied to policies, plans and programmes. The 
European 'SEA Directive' (2001/42/EC) requires a formal 'environmental assessment 
of certain plans and programmes, including those in the field of planning and land 
use. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

246



South East Midlands Local Economic Partnership (SEMLEP): This is a locally 
owned partnership between the Local Authorities and businesses. They are 
responsible for determining their local economic priorities and undertaking activities 
to drive economic growth and create local jobs. 

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA): Assessment of all forms of flood risk 
from groundwater, surface water, impounded water bodies, sewer, river and tidal 
sources, taking into account future climate change predictions. This allows Councils 
to use this information to locate future development primarily in low flood risk areas
(Level 1 SFRA).

For areas that have a higher risk of flooding, the SFRA examines the capacity of the 
existing flood prevention infrastructure (i.e. drainage) and identifies all the measures 
that any potential development may need to take to ensure that it will be safe and will 
not increase flood risk to third parties. (Level 2 SFRA)

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA): A technical document 
which assesses the amount and nature of land which could be made available for 
housing development.  It is part of the evidence base that will inform the plan making 
process. 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA): A technical study which assesses 
housing need and demand across a defined market area and which is used to inform 
housing and planning policies.

Sub-Regional Centres (SRC): Centres of economic or retail significance/ size that 
are of lower significance than the main regional centre.

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD): Provides additional guidance on 
matters covered by a DPD. They form part of the Local Development Framework 
and will be an important consideration in determining planning applications.  

Sustainability Appraisal (SA): This examines the impacts of the JCS strategies/
policies against a large number of economic, social and environmental sustainability 
objectives. It also provides an indication of what measures may need to be taken to 
minimise/eliminate any adverse impacts and promote sustainable development. The 
Planning Compulsory Purchase Act requires an SA to be undertaken for all 
Development Plan Documents throughout the plan making process. 

Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS): This sets the overall strategic direction 
and long-term vision for the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of a local 
area – typically 10 to 20 years – in a way that contributes to sustainable 
development in the UK. It is prepared by a Local Strategic Partnerships which is 
made up of public, private and voluntary sector organisations. It identifies the key 
long terms priorities for the area (i.e. Affordable housing, creating employment, 
tackling causes of social deprivations, etc) and how the LSP could work together to 
address these.  

Sustainable Development: Development which meets the needs of the present, 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

247



Topography: The gradient and variations in height within a landscape.  

Urban Capacity Study (UCS): A study to identify the potential to accommodate 
housing development using previously developed land within existing urban areas. 
Urban Capacity Studies have now been superseded by Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessments (SHLAA).

Viability Appraisal: An assessment of a proposed development to ensure all 
elements for the development, including required infrastructure and any required 
financial contributions can be successfully delivered in an economic context.

West Northamptonshire Development Corporation (WNDC): This organisation
was set up by the government in December 2004. Their mission is to promote and 
deliver sustainable housing growth and regeneration in Northampton, Daventry and 
Towcester.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

248



20.0 Maps and Key Diagram Index

Figure Number

Figure 1 – West Northamptonshire Context Map

Figure 2 – West Northamptonshire Key Diagram and Legend

Figure 3 – West Northamptonshire Key Diagram Enlargement

Figure 4 – Northampton Related Development Area Map

Figure 5 – West Northamptonshire Proposals Map and Insets

Figure 6 – West Northamptonshire Green Infrastructure Networks Map

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

249



This page is intentionally left blank.

Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy, Committee Version, 31st January 2011

250















































West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation 
July – September 2009

Officer Responses to Representations  

for the 

Joint Strategic Planning Committee 

31 January 2011

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

1



1. Introduction to the Emergent Joint Core Strategy

1.1 The Emergent Joint Core Strategy was published on 31 July 2009 for a consultation 
period which ended on 30 September 2009. The content of the Emergent Joint Core 
Strategy was informed by the Joint Core Strategy Issues and Options (September 
2007) and Regulation 25 (January 2009) consultations, the collection of a wide 
ranging evidence base and on-going work with technical bodies such as the 
Environment Agency.  

1.2 The Emergent Joint Core Strategy marked a fundamental step towards the 
submission and adoption of the Joint Core Strategy.  The Emergent Joint Core 
Strategy set out thinking at the time of its publication with respect to the policy 
approach that should be taken in West Northamptonshire and was based on the 
evidence collected to date.  It was not a draft plan or final strategy; it did not set out 
policies but it did set out the policy approach and the preferred options and rejected 
options for the locations of growth at each town in West Northamptonshire.  

1.3 The Emergent Joint Core Strategy sought to explain the thinking of the Joint 
Strategic Planning Committee at the time of its publication and offered a chance to 
make comment.  It included a questionnaire containing 54 questions on which 
responses were sought. 

1.4 As a result of the Emergent Joint Core Strategy consultation 4,781 individuals and 
organisations submitted 6,355 responses containing a total of 120,668 individual 
comments, also known as representations

2. The Purpose of This Document

2.1 This document sets out the response to the representations received to the 
Emergent Joint Core Strategy. For each question the document summarises the 
number of representations received, and breaks these down in terms of 
representations of support, objections and general comments. It then presents a 
summary of the key issues raised in objections and general comments which 
generate the need for a response. The issues raised in supporting representations 
are not included in this document. A full summary of all the issues raised in 
representations was reported to the Joint Strategic Planning Committee on 26 July 
2010 and is available on the Joint Planning Unit’s website: 
www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org. 

2.2 For each question a ‘Joint Planning Unit Response’ is provided which outlines how 
the representations have been considered and have informed the development of the 
policies which now appear in the proposed Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy. For 
each question a recommended action is included indicating how the particular topic 
covered by the question should be addressed in the Pre-Submission Joint Core 
Strategy.

3. Frequently Used Abbreviations 

3.1 The following abbreviations are commonly used within the document:

AMR – Annual Monitoring Report 
AA – Appropriate Assessment 
CIL – Community Infrastructure Levy

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

2



CIP – Cultural Investment Plan 
DPD – Development Plan Document 
EJCS – Emergent Joint Core Strategy
GI – Green Infrastructure 
IDP – Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
LDF – Local Development Framework
LDS – Local Development Scheme
NCAAP – Northampton Central Area Action Plan  
PSJCS – Pre Submission Joint Core Strategy
RSS – Regional Spatial Strategy 
SA – Sustainability Appraisal  
SCI – Statement of Community Involvement 
SELA – Strategic Employment Land Assessment
SFRA – Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
SHLAA – Strategic Housing Land Availability Study
SHMA – Strategic Housing Market Assessment    
SNEAP – Sustainable Northamptonshire Economic Action Plan
SPD – Supplementary Planning Guidance 
SuDS – Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems 
SUE – Sustainable Urban Area
WNJPU - West Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit 
WNELS - West Northamptonshire Employment Land Survey  

  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

3



Question 1

Question - Do you support the vision?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
2562 123 2416 23

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
This is a long-range vision and will need to alter in the subsequent years.
Does not cover the whole area and contains factual inaccuracies.
Northampton does not need to be called a city to be great. 
Too general and lacking in specific details for future generations. It will lead to 
a reduction of living standards for both existing and new residents
Not distinctive, does not relate to local areas and cannot be achieved by the 
strategy within the document.

 Too parochial and lacks vitality with big ideas being missed and does not see 
the area in its broader context, its relationship with North Northamptonshire 
and the area beyond. 

 Too urban focused and weak on the role of rural areas. It does not recognise 
that the villages are capable of supporting growth to help support rural 
services 
This is little more than a vehicle for the development industry and their profit 
driven agenda and would promote Northampton’s expansion into a city which 
would engulf surrounding villages is not accepted.

 Needs to focus on how to make places work better and should tell a story and
should make reference to the successful delivery of SUEs as the key to its 
delivery. 

 Fails to effectively relate to the existing characteristics of the area and the key 
challenges set out in the Spatial Portrait and it is not consistent with the 
strategy i.e. Climate Change and the construction of a new road. The vision 
should refer to wildlife and biodiversity.
The vision should include reference to revitalising historic assets.

 Does not include a substantive community plan for safety, social capital, 
community cohesion and spiritual as well as physical well-being, voluntary 
and community sectors and thriving faith communities,.
This is more of a statement of the current position as opposed to a vision for 
the future. 
Ensure the vision statements are not in conflict. Diverse employment
opportunities” might impact on the “green spaces network”, and the outward 
growth of settlements will impact on “beautiful tranquil villages and rolling 
landscapes”.
Clearer links between the West Northamptonshire JCS spatial vision and the 
vision within the NCAAP is needed and the vision should be more closely 
aligned to the objectives of the Sustainable Communities Strategies.
The vision should be more realistic and explicit about the problems faced, e.g. 
parking issues, loss of environment, and housing conditions that are the most 
cramped in Europe

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

4



The vision should refer to the orbital routes around the town [Northampton] 
allowing people to access employment and facilities otherwise people in the 
north will be cut off from employment in the south
The vision should contain less jargon and the tense should be conditional.

Suggestions
They contend that we must examine where Northampton is failing to provide in 
general terms, and what people find attractive elsewhere in order to achieve the 
vision. It is insufficient to think that by expanding the population so that it may be 
called a city is a ready-made solution. The present proposal does nothing to answer 
the questions of how other towns have made the transition to a city. It was 
suggested that the vision should promote an attractive riverside town, with niche 
shops and small businesses and the following alternatives visions were put forward

“To regenerate and reinvigorate Northampton as a vibrant riverside market town with 
a distinctive local character linked to a wide and attractive rural hinterland, a diverse 
range of housing and communities, an interesting and distinctive cultural offer”.

“That Northampton becomes a regenerated and reinvigorated vibrant riverside 
market town with a really distinctive character of its own with good quality housing 
and infrastructure catering for all members of a diverse but integrated community, 
linked to a wide and attractive rural hinterland. The Town Centre of Northampton 
would have a number of suitably sized and varied retail outlets and cultural 
attractions accessible to all who wanted them. Communities will be genuinely 
sustainable.”

“Northampton Town centre will be the focus for mixed used development but well 
located edge of urban centre sites and adjacent areas also has a role in 
accommodating future development needs to maximise the regeneration benefits of 
development and enhance the district’s overall urban environment.”

Joint Planning Unit Response
Vision is about taking the present as a baseline for preparing the ground rules for the 
future. The JCS is for a 15 year period and there is scope for regular review of the 
vision and the objectives set out in the plan. 

There was no intention of factual inaccuracies and the use of the word city is 
statement of aspiration and should not be misconstrued.  The prospect of 
Northampton becoming a city by 2026 cannot be ruled out.

The vision evolved through due process of consultation and engagement and has 
considerable support.  

The vision does not conflict with the objective of Sustainable Community Strategy 
and there is a clear link between the West Northamptonshire JCS spatial vision and 
the vision within the NCAAP. The two Plans complement each other and their 
objectives are closely aligned and have been prepared in accordance to government 
guideline.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

5



The overall spatial approach of the JCS is to concentrate development in the main 
settlements where there are relatively adequate levels of services and infrastructure 
to support development. The policy approach is supported by national policy. 
However there is no presumption against appropriate development in the rural areas. 
The balance of consideration in determining how much development should be 
allowed in the rural area is the level of local need and the ability of the area to 
accommodate development in a way that does not undermine the overall strategy for 
the area and the need to protect its rural nature.

The JCS seeks to protect historic environment and through the promotion of high 
design standards ensure safety, community cohesion and as well as physical well-
being. Detailed strategy for implementing matters of social capital, spiritual well and 
thriving faith communities are not a matter for the JCS.

The issue of using plain English is recognised and is being addressed in an ongoing 
manner. 

The suggested alternatives are noted but these are not considered to offer better 
solution. 

Recommended Action
No fundamental change to the vision is required.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

6



Question 2  

Question – Do you support Objective 1? ‘To deliver the planned growth in West 
Northamptonshire as required through the East Midlands Regional Plan and Milton 
Keynes and South Midlands Sub Regional Strategy, through the provision of 
managed growth and necessary  infrastructure principally focused on Northampton, 
but also Daventry, Towcester and Brackley   

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1376 135 1610 15

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The objective should be more spatially specific and the aspirations of each of 
the towns further defined.
The planned growth is unsustainable and takes insufficient account of 
sustainable development (the urban area of Northampton needs rejuvenation 
first). 
Planned growth should be delivered within the key settlement areas, however 
further planned growth should be provided for within the smaller rural 
settlements, such as West Haddon and Passenham. 
The amount of development required by the plan will destroy the ancient 
market town of Northampton, the countryside and communities and allow 
development to extend into the greenbelt and have negative effects on a 
number of villages and is too dramatic in one bit hit. 
Growth will require sensitive management in terms of locations for new 
development and management of town centres which need to be based on an 
understanding of the historic environment.
Northampton has not managed to integrate the development in the 80s and 
90s, let alone anything more. The town already received more than its burden 
of population growth in the past 40 years, totally out of keeping with the area’s 
ability to sustain the population in terms of commercial and industrial activity. 
Regeneration of Northampton will never occur and people are much more 
likely to commute to enhance the growth of other places like Milton Keynes. 
Further development should only be permitted if it is appropriate in scale and 
does not impact on the character. Explore the scope for development linked to 
farm diversification and small rural shopping and craft developments.  
The balance of growth between Northampton and the smaller towns of 
Daventry, Towcester and Brackley is questioned. Too much is being 
focussed on Northampton. They should have equal shares in the growth.
The proposed development can never be integral to Daventry as it is 
separated by Borough Hill on one side and the Reservoir on the other. The 
development proposed in the Parish of Norton will result on the destruction of 
productive farmland, wildlife habitats and historical sites.
Existing infrastructure is inadequate even for the present population before an 
increase in dwellings and no clear guide that the highway infrastructure will be 
built to make growth sustainable.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

7



Concerned that in the past growth and commensurate infrastructure have 
never been efficiently managed and doubt the ability to deliver and fund the 
amount of new infrastructure required. 
Infrastructure (roads, public transport, recreational, retail) must be in place 
combat existing and future problems associated with traffic growth before or 
at the beginning of the development process. These issues should be 
addressed in advance.
The requirement for housing growth is overstated and the provision identified 
within the Plan appears to be in line with the population increase and housing 
requirements detailed in the Milton Keynes and South Midlands Sub Region 
Health and Social Care Services Provision for the Future. It is considered that 
Swan Valley can assist in delivering the employment requirements as it is an 
important strategic location. 
The large numbers of empty homes and brownfield sites should be filled first 
and new housing should be on brownfield sites in the north of England where 
the jobs are needed. Provision should also be made for low cost and selective 
starter homes on a limited scale for the younger generation in their own 
locality and should be provided in towns and villages and rural settlements 
where the infrastructure is already in place. This would reduce the need to 
commute and create a more social environment for new and existing 
residents prevent rural settlements from stagnation.  
Concern about flood dangers and management of pollution. 
This will only bring about gigantic boxes amongst office blocks. 
There are no employment prospects in Northampton unless it is to do with 
‘sheds’ (warehousing) which thrive in Northampton. Towcester and Brackley 
have little labour requirements. 
The unique characteristics of Silverstone should be recognised as well as its 
strategic role in delivering balanced sustainable employment and housing 
growth alongside infrastructure. 
The growth targets contained within the East Midlands Regional Plan are not 
being met. The strategy should not constrain employment growth in the area, 
consider the findings of Strategic Employment Land Assessment (SELA) and 
Strategic Northamptonshire Economic Action Plan (SNEAP) in terms of jobs 
growth and should not align with the East Midlands Regional Plan. 
The suggested growth in the Emergent JCS is no longer required due to the 
economic downturn. The Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) growth 
requirements and population predications are inaccurate. It is too high and 
should be reduced through the RSS review.
Brackley and its links to rail, health and shopping are more related to 
Oxfordshire than to Northampton.
The objective does not acknowledge Daventry’s role as a sub-regional centre. 
The figures for the Northampton Implementation Area should be amended to 
coincide with the RSS figures. Change the figures from 43,000 to 40,375. The 
core strategy must be in conformity with the RSS.  
The JCS should set out realistic and deliverable local figures which can be 
fully explored and debated at the public examination.
Milton Keynes should not be used as a model for development and 
Northampton should not be linked with Milton Keynes, Luton and Daventry.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

8



There is insufficient land identified to meet the RSS employment figures, the 
inclusion of Silverstone would help to rectify this inconsistency.   The absence 
of a Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment creates some uncertainty 
about the availability and deliverability of the estimated housing yield within 
the existing built up area.
Make reference to all strategic employment sites and show all growth options 
on the Key Diagram. 
Reappraise the goals set by central government and identify sites that are 
more suitable for easy and less costly redevelopment.
Sustainability Appraisal which is considered to be fundamental did not form 
part of the Consultation.

Suggestion
A new town was suggested as a much better solution. 

Joint Planning Unit Response
The strategy for planned growth reflects Government policy and accords with the 
requirement to accommodate further development in a sustainable manner. The 
obligation is to meet the identified need within West Northampton which means that 
sufficient land has to be made available.  

The strategy will encourage the reuse of empty homes and give priority to the re-use 
of brownfield land, but the need for development is such that a portfolio of sites is 
required. This means that greenfield land will have to be released alongside 
brownfield sites.  

The overall spatial approach of the JCS is to concentrate development in the main 
settlements where there are relatively adequate levels of services and infrastructure 
to support development. The policy approach is supported by national policy. 
However there is no presumption against appropriate development in the rural areas. 
The balance of consideration in determining how much development should be
allowed in the rural area is the level of local need and the ability of the area to 
accommodate development in a way that does not undermine the overall strategy for 
the area and the need to protect its rural nature.

Housing provision figures take account of needs and the amount of projected 
numbers of jobs to be created over the plan period. It is essential to provide the mix 
of units and good quality housing and the approach is to promote housing growth 
across the whole area. Amongst other things the aim is to ensure a thriving economy 
and reduce homelessness in West Northamptonshire, for both present and future 
generations.

The JCS seeks to protect historic environment and through the promotion of 
development in the most sustainable location and maximising the use of brownfield 
land and by taking advantage of existing services and infrastructure. The Core 
Strategy identifies and establishes a settlement hierarchy using a methodology that 
accords with government advice. This enhances the ability to programme 
development in a way that takes account of the character of the rural area. It is 
therefore case the Core Strategy enhances rather than detract from the amenity of 
the rural areas.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

9



The growth figure in the RSS area derived from assumptions made prior to the 
current economic recession. It is therefore necessary to reassess the growth options. 
In deciding the level of growth and the amount of housing required The Core 
Strategy takes account of the implementation and delivery of infrastructure and the 
likely actions of the developers who are the main providers. Our best estimate is that 
the market is unlikely to recover sooner and the performance of the housing market 
does not support the level of growth at the level contained in the RSS.  The reduced 
level of housing in the Core Strategy is justified by evidence form SHLAA and 
housing need assessment.

The Key Diagram is an important part of the final Core Strategy document. It will 
diagrammatically illustrate the spatial strategy set out within the document. As much 
as possible it represents a composite view of development opportunities and the 
broad location of where major development will occur. There is no reason to suggest 
that it should identify every proposal of policy.

The JCS recognises the role of strategic employment sites including Silverstone. 
Sufficient land is being allocated for variety of employment and this will enhance the 
necessary economic growth. 

The JCS has been informed by Sustainability Appraisal at every important stage off 
its preparation and the process being followed accords with Government advice and 
guidance.

The suggested new town as an alternative solution noted but this is not consistent 
with Central Government policy and it is also considered to be less sustainable
compared to proposed policy options in the JCS.

Recommended Action
The objective should be revised to make it more spatially specific and to reflect the 
aspirations of each of the towns as suggested. Amend objective 1 as in: objectives 5, 
6, 7, 8 & 11 of the PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

10



Question 3

Question – Do you support Objective 2?  To exploit West Northamptonshire’s 
position internationally for economic advantage by facilitating significant employment 
growth and opportunities for knowledge based industries and environmental 
technologies. 

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
2157 811 1327 19

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The objective is unclear and completely unrealistic and it does not set out a 
clear investment strategy, policy or initiative for knowledge based or 
environmental industries and no detail on how this can be achieved without 
public funding. 
Warehouse development must be resisted.  Employment growth will not be in 
the Transport and Logistics industry which will not provide the sufficient 
salaries to support home ownership.

 The significance of West Northamptonshire’s position internationally as 
opposed to other regions and technology development envisaged are not 
clear. Northampton cannot exploit its position internationally as it has no 
status or link internationally.
Growth should be contained and revitalisation of the area needs to be 
considered before growth. Many towns within the area are already 
overcrowded.
Employment growth in Northampton declining over the past ten years and
specialist knowledge based industries in the area have recently declined. This 
situation could worsen following the cessation of (Formula One) F1 at 
Silverstone.
Growth should be organic it should not force unnatural demands or be to the 
detriment of the current farming and agriculture land.
Policy should be focused on sustainability and employment growth is reliant 
on huge housing growth which is unsustainable and will encourage a large 
uptake of greenfield land.
Development must not be at the detriment of the County’s assets, particularly 
the rural areas and settlements.
The Objective is just an excuse for pointless international trips by WNJPU 
executives.
Creative industries should be included in the Objective.
There are more appropriate areas within the UK and internationally where 
knowledge based industries and environmental technologies would be more 
suited. 
Distribution requires a good road system although very little new road building 
is proposed. 
Storage and Distribution (B8) development should be restricted and 
diversification away from this would be beneficial to the local economy and 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

11



likely to have less impact on the landscape and reference should be made to 
increasing value-added (higher salaried) jobs. 
Leisure and culture businesses must be included.
Invest in skills and technologies that already exist and increase the knowledge 
base – motor sport industries, Daventry International Rail Freight Terminal 
(DIRFT) and credit card offerings.
Knowledge based industries and environmental technologies is far too 
restrictive and potentially damaging to future economic growth. The JCS must 
remain flexible and encourage employment development across all uses.
Provision a variety of suitable and viable employment sites and opportunities 
which include both B Class, non B mixed-use regeneration scheme should be 
considered favourably to encourage competition and stimulate economic 
activity.
Improved transport links within West Northamptonshire and to areas beyond 
its boundaries must be sought. No detail has been provided to explain how 
this will be achieved.
Guaranteed funding for infrastructure is needed. Developer finance should not 
be relied upon.
Brackley should exploit its location and become a high quality cultural 
environment for people in the 21st

Any employment initiatives should ensure crime prevention measures are 
considered at the outset so that areas are safe places where businesses want 
to locate. Northamptonshire Police should be involved. 

 century. The capacity of Brackley as a 
future science centre has been underestimated.

Suggestion
The Objective is too biased toward knowledge based industries and environmental 
technologies. A more balanced approach should be taken which accounts for 
existing and potential warehouse and distribution industry and the large numbers of 
people within the local area working within this sector (including the associated 
managerial and skilled support staff).

Policy restricting warehouse development is required. Failure to succeed in this area 
will result in a reduction in living standards and employment will not be guaranteed.

The Objective should be delivered through SUEs on greenfield sites and the 
recognition in the Strategy of the role of these sites to attract inward investment.

It was contended that the word ‘exploit’ does not fit within the context of the 
document. The words ‘take advantage of West Northamptonshire’s position’ are 
preferred.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The intention of the Objective is to place West Northamptonshire on the map in a 
global economy. However there is scope for making the Objective clearer. The JCS 
will ensure that development takes place in sustainable manner by maximising the
use of brownfield and only using greenfield sites where appropriate. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

12



There is no need for a dichotomy between growth and regeneration as is being 
implied. The JCS tries to balance the need for regeneration against the strategy for
growth in the area. It is not a case of one or the other, both are important for the 
future of West Northamptonshire.  

Whilst acknowledging the low job density provided in warehousing, it nevertheless 
serves a vital purpose to the overall economy. Its location is important and the JCS 
will ensure that all developments are appropriately located in the line with 
Sustainable Principles that underpin the Plan. 

The plan is for a 15 year period and it is not envisaged that the recession will 
continue indefinitely. Even if that were to be the case the plan will be monitored and 
past trend is by no means a reliable yard stick for judging future performance. 
Specialist knowledge based industry has made significant contribution to the local 
economy. It is appropriate for the JCS to make provision for its growth. 

Whilst acknowledging that there areas within the UK and internationally where 
knowledge based industries and environmental technologies abound these do not 
preclude us from tapping the potential offered by West Northamptonshire.

Recommended Action
The Objective should be made clear by articulating the different aspects under 
different headings. Objective 2 in Emergent JCS should therefore be replaced by two 
new objectives 8 and 9 in the PSJCS which address most of the concerns.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

13



Question 4

Question- Do you support Objective 3? ‘To support existing and new communities 
through the provision of education, health, community, leisure, cultural and social 
facilities, linking new and existing communities physically and socially’

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1486 163 1308 15

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Proposals in the Plan do not meet the objective and lacks evidence to back it 
up. The document gives no detail of what will be required, how much it will 
cost or how it will be funded. 
There are serious doubts about the provision of essential infrastructure 
including cultural, healthcare and education facilities 
Planning obligations to provide health, education, leisure facilities to serve 
new developments must accord with the tests set out in Circular 05/2005.
Listing infrastructure needs by type (such as education and health) gives the 
impression that other types seem less important and there is nothing in the 
strategy that allows for new hospital facilities for Northampton
The proposed developments are in conflict with Objective 3 as the engulfment 
of outlying villages would destroy their essential spirit and community identity 
which makes them what they are. 
Linking existing communities physically means destroying ancient and 
distinctive villages – this is vandalism on a massive scale. Communities are 
strongest when they have a clear identity. 
It is essential that services are in place at the earliest opportunities.  
The linkages between new and existing communities should be maximised 
through the provision of joint facilities where possible. 
Specific reference to sport should be included. The use of the terminology 
Planning Policy Guidance Note 17: Open Space, Sport and Recreation
throughout the document would be of use as would an indication of what is 
envisaged by community facilities.
Provision for young people needs to be more that just play areas.  
Smaller developments within villages would bring facilities closer to their 
customers, reducing the need to travel and helping the environment.
The loss of school playing fields and sports facilities has been ongoing and a 
backward step.
The existing social facilities are not provided to all communities like the 
Somali community who have no community centre or mosque.

Suggestion
The word ‘training’ should be added.  

Joint Planning Unit Response

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

14



The development of the JCS is ongoing and the proposals and policies included are 
designed to lead to the attainment of the overall vision and agreed objective.

Policy advice and government guidance provide the basis for this Objective and 
there is clear evidence of a shortfall in the provision of infrastructure in the area. An 
Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP) is being prepared as part of the JCS and this 
will provide the mechanism for policy implementation. There is no evidence that this 
objective is out step with the spirit of Circular 05/2005.

The IDP informs the infrastructure requirements related to delivering the growth 
strategy identified in the Plan and links the delivery of infrastructure to the phasing of 
development. The overall approach is consistent with Government advice and best 
practice and the policy direction is appropriate and logical.

The list of infrastructure in the Objective is not intended to be definitive but may be 
misconstrued as indicated by objectors. This point is well made and the Objective
will be modified accordingly.

The JCS incorporates the principle of good design as outlined in PPS1 and seeks to 
minimise the impact of development on local character. The proposed development 
strategy is based on a framework settlement hierarchy which allows different areas 
to accommodate development in a sustainable manner. There is no evidence that 
this Objective will encourage development that will harm outlying villages or destroy 
their essential spirit and community identity.

The JCS will contain policies that will ensure adequate provision of essential 
community facilities including those meeting the needs of young people and the IDP 
will ensure their delivery and funding. There is no need to add the word training to 
the Objective but the wording could benefit from slight modification.

Recommended Action
Modify Objective by removing the list of specific types of infrastructure. The revised 
objective is now included as objective 2 in the draft PSJCS.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

15



Question 5

Question - Do you support Objective 4? ‘To direct retail development to the most 
appropriate locations that support regeneration of the town centres’

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1498 502 979 17

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
National planning policies already provide a strong ‘town centre first’ focus 
without precluding non-town centre development.
Locating shopping facilities in the town centre and district centres creates an 
imbalanced society as local people have to travel into an already congested
town to buy their essentials.
Sustainable modes of transport are entirely unsuitable for people who wish to 
carry home a week’s groceries from the town.
Given the scale of growth proposed it is inevitable that new out of town 
shopping centres will be required when homes are being built on the 
periphery. This raises the possibility of future District Centres.
Traditional town centre sites cannot provide the retail facilities suitable for a 
wide range of traders.
Profit led development cannot be directed to where it doesn’t want to go.  
Retailers should be free to find their own market place.
Some retail development, such as garden centres, builder’s merchants and 
DIY stores, are not suited to town centres.
This policy places unjustified restrictions on A2 uses (e.g. banks, estate 
agents).
Northampton Town Centre is physically incapable of coping with large 
numbers of people because of its old market town design. 
Town centres and villages outside Northampton may suffer due to a focus on 
development within Northampton.
Priority needs to be given to making the centre attractive and Town Centre 
regeneration should not be at the expense of helping villages to be more 
sustainable.
Needs a balance between retail, leisure and living spaces in town centres. 

Suggestion
It was suggested that the objective is too inflexible and should be amended to 
recognise that “in some instances, retail development may be appropriately 
located in non-town centre locations”. Planning Policy Statement 6: Planning for 
Town Centres emphasises the importance of local shopping centres to meet 
people’s day-to-day needs and should be the focus for more accessible local 
services, such as health centres and other small scale community facilities.  The 
words ‘most appropriate’ were also considered to be too vague. The Objective 
according some could be rephrased to ensure the existing areas of non-town centre 
retail such as Sixfields are not being disadvantaged.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

16



Joint Planning Unit Response
The need to direct and concentrate growth and retail activities in the main 
settlements and town centre is supported by government policy as well as 
sustainable development principles. The objective reflects this without prejudice to 
the need for appropriate scale of development in the lower ranking settlements. The 
scale of growth proposed has been tested through the planning process and the 
requirements for additional facilities and services are part of the consideration. There 
is however no evidence that a new District Centre is required as being suggested.

The JCS incorporates the principles of sustainable development and the level of 
development apportioned to different areas is based on the needs of local 
communities and future potential for growth. There is no evidence that Northampton 
Town Centre is physically incapable of coping with the proposed growth.

Whilst acknowledging the need for services to be close to residents, unrestrained 
market forces are likely to create further imbalance. Individual aspiration or the 
dictate of the market is not an ideal mechanism for dealing with community needs. 
The proposal that retailers should be free to find their own market place is a recipe 
for waste and inefficiency which the free market cannot put right.

There is nothing in this Objective or the JCS in general that could but an area such 
as Sixfields at a disadvantage.  On balance it is felt that the Objective would benefit 
from major redrafting in order to meet the concerns expressed and to reflect new 
evidence from further studies, partners and the representations. The JCS 
incorporates the principles of sustainable development and the level of development 
apportioned to different areas is based on the needs of local communities and future 
potential for growth. There is no evidence that Northampton Town Centre is 
physically incapable of coping with the proposed growth.

Recommended Action
Amend Objective 4 - The objective has now been redrafted as appears in the PSJCS
draft, objective 5, 6 & 7.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

17



Question 6

Question – Do you support Objective 5?  ‘To complete, enhance and safeguard the 
connections in the existing strategic Green Infrastructure Network, extending these 
into new urban extensions and creating connections between neighbourhoods’

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1889 140 1725 24

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The term “strategic green infrastructure” is planning jargon and uses of the 
words ‘green infrastructure network’ which "dumbs down" the terms 
‘countryside’ and ‘landscape’. 
The Objective is not specific enough and does not provide enough detail on 
the mechanisms to achieve
It only supports a green infrastructure network to allow for urban sprawl to 
subsume 15 villages.
Requires a clearer definition of sustainable development principles 
The Objective is contradictory as building on greenfield land will not safeguard 
the green infrastructure network. It is difficult to understand how any green 
infrastructure can be safeguarded and enhanced by concreting over the 
countryside in order to build 18,000 new houses and the required 
infrastructure.
Green infrastructure does not work, even in rural areas as the use of public or 
green transport is based on economic viability. It is costly, largely 
unnecessary and managed green corridors do not make up for a loss of 
natural countryside 
Villages should be independent and connections with neighbours encourage 
crime and antisocial behaviour and do not want formal concrete cycling lanes 
as they attract crime 
There is already a network of bridleways and footpaths used for recreational 
activities and funds should be deployed in greening existing infrastructure 
rather than creating more unnecessary infrastructure. 
Concern that the recession will affect the ability to deliver the infrastructure 
needed to make good communities and there is a high land requirement of 
housing which may impinge on the provision of green networks.

Suggestion
It was suggested that Infrastructure Delivery Plan will need to set out what green 
infrastructure will be delivered, when it will be delivered and by whom. It was also 
suggested that major consideration needs to be given to safe, secure cycle networks 
linking villages to Brackley. Green infrastructure should include the restoration of the 
Grand Union Canal which connects Buckingham, Thornborough, Deanshanger, Old 
Stratford and Cosgrove to Milton Keynes. Care must be taken to ensure that new 
‘green’ connections are sensitive to the areas in which they are located

Joint Planning Unit Response

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

18



Green infrastructure is important particularly in an urban area as the quality of the 
surrounding environment can contribute significantly towards the creation of 
sustainable communities and improve quality of life.  High quality and well connected 
green infrastructure has the potential to make an area a more attractive and healthier 
place to live, work and play, with multiple benefits for the economy, the environment 
and people.

The term sustainable development has been used for more than two decades and is 
recognised internationally as a pattern of resource use that aims to meet human 
needs while preserving the environment so that these needs can be met not only in 
the present, but also for generations to come. The JCS will provide a definition in the 
glossary. 

Evidence has suggested that West Northamptonshire’s towns and rural areas are 
connected by a network of green spaces and this is what is regarded as ‘strategic 
green infrastructure’. There is no reason why more traditional terms such as 
countryside and landscape could not be used in the JCS, but ‘Green Infrastructure’ is 
a term recognised in national planning policy. The use of plain English is 
acknowledged and as far as possible the document will be simplified to make it user-
friendly.

There is no evidence that connecting places through network of open spaces, 
bridleways and footpaths would lead to increase in crime. The impact of the 
recession is important but should not lead to a do nothing option. The plan is for a 15 
year period and it is not envisaged that the recession will continue indefinitely. Even 
if that were to be the case the plan will be monitored and the objective can be 
changed if there is need to do so.

The JCS will provide a definition of sustainable development as part of the glossary 
of terms and the objective is being revised to take account of comments and new 
evidence.

Recommended Action
Amend Objective 5. - The objective has now been redrafted as appears in the Pre-
Submission draft, objective 2 & 14.  

The glossary has been extended and the language in the plan simplified.  The user-
friendliness of the JCS has been enhanced and can be developed further in terms of
its presentation as it progresses to a submission stage document. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

19



Question 7

Question – Do you support Objective 6?  ‘To encourage key rural communities to 
become more sustainable places to live and work’.

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1123 821 291 11

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Filling in spaces between communities will undermine sustainability, result in 
loss of village identity, enforced urbanisation of village communities, social 
stress and congested roads.
Large scale development at villages would be inconsistent with the Regional 
Spatial Strategy (RSS). 
The objective is unclear and could be better defined by stating what is meant 
by ‘key rural community’. 
This objective should not differentiate between rural communities, it must be 
the choice’ of rural communities where they want to grow 
The sustainable policy approach should not result in a destruction of local 
character and community spirit 
People do not need to be encouraged to live and work in rural areas.

Suggestion
It was suggested that rural communities are best sustained through the 
redevelopment of brownfield sites within village confines and by adding small to 
medium sized extensions to include affordable housing., this will revitalise schools, 
post offices, churches and social clubs and strategic infrastructure will not be 
required as this type of expansion will be distributed across the whole area.  They 
should have a defined minimum threshold of facilities to qualify. Rather than 
encouraging rural communities to be more sustainable places the words ‘and 
facilitate’ should be added after ‘encourage’.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The aim of this Objective and the overall approach to development in the JCS is to 
concentrate new development in the most sustainable locations. This increases the 
scope to maximise brownfield site and the reuse of land for development. It is 
believed that this approach will allow scope for the protection of local character.  

The JCS incorporates the principle of good design as outlined in PPS1 and seeks to 
minimise the impact of development on local character. The proposed development 
strategy is based on a framework settlement hierarchy which allows different areas 
to accommodate development in a sustainable manner. There is no evidence that 
the approach adopted is inconsistent with the Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS).

Whilst acknowledging the choice and right of individual community to have a say in 
the planning and development of an area, it is reckless to consign rural communities 
to unrestrained market forces. Individual aspiration or the dictate of the market is not 
an ideal mechanism for dealing with community needs.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

20



The JCS will provide a framework for development in rural areas to ensure that the 
type and scale of development is consistent with local needs and the character of the 
area.  This approach will allow scope for local communities to bring forward schemes 
to meet their needs in a sustainable manner whilst at the same time maintaining the 
essential local and rural character of the area. The framework for the rural settlement 
hierarchy has been defined in the draft PSJCS and this should help clarify any 
ambiguity. 

Recommended Action
Amend Objective 6 – The issue about the clarity of the Objective is noted and it 
should be redrafted. Consequently the objective has now been redrafted as appears
in the PSJCS draft objective 12. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

21



Question 8

Question – Do you support Objective 7?   ‘To ensure future development is based 
upon sustainable development principles’.

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
2451 186 2246 19

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The term ‘sustainable’ is ill-defined and maligned and there is no such thing 
as sustainable development and there is a need to understand what a 
sustainable community should contain
Development should be constrained so that it will not have an adverse impact 
on existing communities.
Sustainable development principles have not been financially quantified and 
reducing the use of the car would result in constraining development.
It is more sustainable to develop brownfield sites rather than the countryside 
and sustainable means infrastructure first.
Need to make existing buildings more sustainable should mean control of 
development and working with the existing conditions, population and physical 
features of an area. 
This can only be achieved by concentrating development close to the centre 
of Northampton.
This is too expensive and developers can not afford it and so the housing will 
cost more.
This objective is not locally specific and there is no proof that the “vision” is 
sustainable and building new roads is contradictory to this Objective.
Don’t believe developers’ claims that their development is sustainable and 
how can building houses without garages be sustainable?
Protection and enhancement of historic environment is integral to sustainable 
development. 

Suggestion
It was suggested that all communities should be sustainable, not just rural areas.
The pattern of land-use is paramount to achieving a sustainable plan and 
employment should be located where it will help contribute towards sustainable 
development.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The difficulty of a clear definition of what is meant by sustainable development is 
acknowledged. However the term has been used for more than two decades and is 
internationally recognised as a pattern of resource use that aims to meet human 
needs while preserving the environment so that these needs can be met not only in 
the present, but also for generations to come. Further clarification will form part of 
the Glossary of Terms in the Appendix.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

22



At the heart of sustainable development is the need to conserve energy and mitigate 
the effect of climate change by lowering CO2 emission. This can best be achieved 
by ensuring that new development takes advantage of existing services and facilities 
thereby reducing the need to travel. It is proper and appropriate for the JCS to 
include an objective that supports the principle of a settlement hierarchy. This does 
not preclude development in smaller settlements but ensures that this would be 
modest and geared towards meeting local needs and supporting existing 
communities and services.

The Objective enables and promotes Northampton as the main focus for 
development and promotes development that takes account of infrastructure such as 
public transport and road improvement where necessary. 

The requirement to embrace sustainable development principles is imperative and 
the benefits far outweigh the cost in terms of social, economic and environmental 
gains. It enables resources to be deployed in a reasonable manner and allows the 
location of appropriate development.

The JCS reflects the key objectives and priorities of sustainable development with a 
clear agenda to concentrate the majority of the development in existing built-up
areas. Sensitivity to the protection and enhancement of historic environment can be 
achieved whilst providing much needed new development. 

The development of major sites require associated infrastructure including road 
improvements are as important as control of development and working with the 
existing conditions, population and physical features of an area. There is no merit in 
treating the urban and rural areas as museum items which should be kept in the 
same condition at all cost. Policies should recognise the need to protect or enhance 
built and natural assets and the need for additional development of high quality of 
design.

The issue of housing with or without garages is not strategic and is not be a matter 
for the JCS.

Recommended Action
Amend Objective 7 - The objective has now been redrafted as appears in the PSJCS
draft, Objective1. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

23



Question 9

Question – Do you support Objective 8?  To protect and enhance the built and 
cultural assets of West Northamptonshire, the character of its towns and settlements 
and foster the development of West Northamptonshire as a destination for heritage
and cultural tourism’.

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1903 1109 788 6

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Surrounding towns and villages with “urban sprawl” will not achieve the 
protection and enhancement of the built and cultural assets of 
Northamptonshire.
The plans contained within the Emergent Joint Core Strategy will destroy the 
area’s heritage.
The track record of the Council and West Northamptonshire Development 
Corporation has been appalling and respondent has no confidence in their 
ability to put this objective into practice.
Tourism is not sustainable or needed and this is not a priority and that money 
could be better spent elsewhere
No detailed plans, costing or evidence have been provided to support this 
objective.
Churches are key built and cultural assets, and church yards are also an 
important quiet space and wildlife resource.

Suggestion 
It was suggested that this Objective should be carried out in a sensible way, with 
affordable housing tying in with the buildings of the area.  This can be done with 
great thought and agreement with all communities involved for generations to come.
It was also argued that where cultural and built assets are identified in close 
proximity to potential development sites, the degree to which these assets would 
require protection should be considered in conjunction with the importance of the 
proposed development.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The JCS through its vision, objectives and policies, is intended to provide clear 
messages about the commitment to environmental and cultural assets. The 
approach being adopted is not intended to promote urban sprawl but to manage 
growth in an orderly and sustainable manner. Whilst acknowledging other priorities, 
the built and cultural assets should be effectively managed. There is nothing in this 
Objective to suggest that it would have a detrimental effect and no evidence has 
been provided to link the objective the diminution of existing heritage. Past failures 
should not be an excuse for doing nothing. Whilst tourism cannot solve all problems
it is an essential part of the overall strategy for regeneration and economic growth. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

24



Past achievement or failure should not be an excuse for doing nothing. There is no 
evidence to support the allusion to past failures. Even if that was to be the case it 
should be a challenge for trying hard and should not be a deterrent.

The JCS recognises the roles of different community groups including Churches and 
provides an overarching framework within which these groups can fully participate in 
planning and development of the area. Policies in the Plan will assist the realisation 
of community assets including church yards.

PPS4 acknowledges the role contributions of tourism and endorses this as an 
appropriate employment generating use. Its contribution to local economy should be 
acknowledged and the development of appropriate policies in the JCS will ensure 
tourism is fully encouraged and represented in line with Central Government 
sustainable objectives.

The cost of an objective, for the most part, is difficult to quantify. However the 
objective embraces sustainable development principles and this is imperative and ill 
lead to social, economic and environmental gains. No attempt has been made to 
cost each and every object and there appears to be no requirement to do so.

Recommendation
Amend Objective 8 and change it to Objective 15 in the PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

25



Question 10

Question – Do you support Objective 9?  ‘To contribute towards raising education 
achievement and the skills base of our communities through supporting schools, 
colleges and the University in their provision and development’.

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1376 844 525 7

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
 This Objective lacks evidence and it is not clear how the plan will achieve this 

and the plan gives no indication of how this investment will be made.  
Growth agenda will not lead to higher educational achievement and skills 
base can be fulfilled without this objective.
Objective is superfluous or subordinate to others and funding stream for 
education is outside the Council’s control and it is not supported in plan or any 
part of the development proposals and lack of infrastructure will deter 
students.
Education provision at secondary and further education level needs further 
consideration in the light of development proposals in Brackley and have a 
stronger focus for West Northamptonshire and be more locally specific.
Good schools are already over-subscribed. 
Not sure how with the JCS can assist to attract inward investment particularly 
in the current economic downturn. 
Educational achievement is already catered for in Weedon Bec Parish 
through the expansion and provision of existing establishments and their 
ability to adapt to increasing needs, as they have done over the last 40/ 50 
years.
Skills base must be improved before realising this objective and there is a 
shortage of teachers to teach skills.
University of Northampton and Moulton College are growing and popular and 
education is already well funded but monies are not well spent.
Objective cannot be achieved without increasing the population and ruining 
the environment. 

Suggestion
It was suggested that transport links around existing educational facilities should be 
improved and skills training should be offered to those who are not academic and 
more must be done to encourage young people. 

Joint Planning Unit Response
The Objective is clear and the intention is to enable further contributions to be made 
towards the provision educational facilities. The achievements of high standards by 
existing schools provide a strong magnet for attracting more students and the 
increase in potential capacity requires additional resources. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

26



The objective is supported by clear policies a further detail on specific requirements
is provided in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) and a future Supplementary 
Planning Documents (SPD) will provide guidance on how the Objective will be 
translated into action. 

The plan is for a 15 year period and it is therefore unreasonable to expect the current 
state of the economy to continue throughout the Plan period. The projected growth 
and the assumptions made are based on a reasonable prospect of economic 
recovery but strike a balance and reducing the level of growth when compared to 
RSS requirements. It is also acknowledged that the approach and the assumptions 
made will be reviewed from time to time through the Annual Monitoring Report 
(AMR). 

The JCS is based on sound evidence and the policy approaches reflect the key 
objectives and priorities of sustainable development. The modest increase in 
population arising as a result of this objective can be absorbed without any detriment 
to the amenity of the area or the environment. 

Recommended Action
Amend Objective 9 and change it to Objective 10 in the PSJCS. 
. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

27



Question 11

Question – Do you support Objective 10?  ‘To protect the environment by minimising 
the risk of flooding and the effects of climate change and facilitating improvements in 
air quality’.

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
2788 1748 1037 3

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Objective is unachievable with the proposed growth and climate change is 
natural and unpreventable. Flood risk and air pollution will increase. 
Objective needs explicit reference to mitigating climate change, minimising 
use of non-renewable resources, and waste reduction and be better 
articulated.  A more overt approach is required based on minimising 
greenhouse gasses and an adaption strategy- especially in respect of how 
flora and fauna can be assisted to adapt.
Floodplains are not obstacles to overcome but are natural areas of land that 
serve a specific purpose and there should be presumption against 
development in flood plains.
Incorrect data is being used for flood risk modelling and have no faith in the 
flood risk assessments and zoning that have been carried out in the area. 
Flood prevention has not been sufficiently considered in the plan and new 
development will worsen air pollution.
Should include explicit reference to: mitigating Climate Change, Minimising 
use of non-renewable resources, minimising waste creation and developing 
economically valuable skills in the above.
The Exception Test should be applied to allow necessary development to 
occur within Flood Zones 2 or 3.
Flood prevention schemes need not only to be built but also maintained and 
SuDS (Sustainable urban Drainage Systems) are not the panacea and are 
only useful to decrease surface water run-off 
Consideration should also be given to noise and light pollution.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The apprehension about the risk of flooding is noted and the importance of avoiding
development in areas at risk from flooding cannot be over emphasised. This 
objective is a powerful statement that reinforces the commitment to ensuring that 
future development does increase the risk of flooding. 

Work undertaken with respect to flood risk assessment was carried out by 
independent professional consultants and there is no evidence of factual error in the 
data used.
Policies in the JCS will make reference to Climate Change mitigation and other 
sustainable development measures including: minimising the use of non-renewable 
resources, and minimising waste creation. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

28



Due consideration has been given to flood prevention and minimisation of climate
change and different policies in the plan cover the various aspect of the concerns 
being raised.  SUDs are not a total solution but it does help to reduce the risk of 
flooding and the JCS will address the issue of ongoing maintenance.

Recommended Action
Amend Objective 10 and change it to Objective 1 in the PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

29



Question 12

Question – Do you support Objective 11?  ‘To involve the community in the decisions 
about the future planning of West Northamptonshire so they can influence and shape 
such decisions’.

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
2546 1775 768 3

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The process of consultation has been such a failure as to be contemptible and 
present attempts are insufficient.
The JPU failed to engage with the general public and young people were 
excluded and community is not consulted before making judgements.
The plan is a poor basis for consultation and many of the methods used are 
inadequate. The questionnaire daunting for the lay person to complete
Participation was a sham, the public is not listened to and too emphasis has 
been placed on electronic means of consultation that are inaccessible to 
many people.  The workshops and exhibitions that were organised to explain 
the plans to the public were not made fully accessible to those most affected
Concerned that community consultation has been too confined in the 6 week 
consultation period and over the holiday period.  The views of many people 
including the Parish Council were not considered and not enough was being 
done to reach the silent components of the communities such as young 
people.  
All voices, no matter how large or small, need to be given equal weight and 
the views of the Parish Council are seldom considered and more needs to be 
done to reach the ‘silent components’ of the communities
More needs to be done to engage with younger people in the future planning 
of West Northamptonshire.
The document is produced by professionals and written in planning jargon 
and difficult for the layperson to fully understand.

Suggestions
It was suggested that too much consultation can slow the plan-making process. 
Modern media should be utilised, such as television debate, extensive presentations, 
blanket and frequent mailings, electronic, postal and phone voting. It was further 
stated that although public participation is worthwhile, it must be recognised that it is 
not possible to please all members of a community all of the time. A suggestion was 
made to add the words “help to” after “can” in the last line of the objective. 

Joint Planning Unit Response
The approach and methods of consultation followed Government advice and the 
response to the public engagement exercise speak for itself. As a result of the 
Emergent JCS consultation 4,781 individuals and organisations submitted 6,355 
responses containing a total of 120,668 individual comments. This is comparable 
with the level achievement of the best performing local authorities. A variety of 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

30



methods were used and the publicity gave opportunity to everyone interested to be 
involved. 

Whilst acknowledging that more could be done it must be recognised in the words of 
one of the objector’s that: “it is not possible to please all members of a community all 
of the time”. Effort was made to avoid technical jargon as far as possible and 
document continues to be improved to make it user friendly. However it must be 
recognised that the circumstances surrounding the JCSy make it almost impossible 
to avoid the use of technical language. However the Glossary of terms which is 
being prepared as part of the plan will provide further detail of the terms used.

There is no evidence that the consultation was a sham. However, the issue of using 
plain English is recognised and is being addressed in an ongoing manner. 

The issue of community involvement is dealt with in the Statements of Community 
Involvement (SCI) adopted by the partner Councils. In the light of this it is not 
necessary for the Core Strategy to include an objective regarding community 
involvement as this is already an inherent part of the plan making process. 

Recommendation
That the Objective be deleted, as this is covered by the adopted Statements of 
Community Involvement.  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

31



Question 13

Question – Do you support Objective 12? ‘To provide quality housing to meet current 
and future needs of all sectors of our communities’.  

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
2013 1461 540 12

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The scale of housing being proposed is unacceptable. The figure is over-
inflated, unsustainable, unachievable and out of date.
Little, if any, information is provided on the elderly persons housing needs. 
This should be reviewed before the proposals are advanced.
Definition of needs must be clarified.
There is enough quality housing already available in West Northamptonshire. 
Supply currently outstrips demand
Housing should be provided in the right location not just positioned to meet 
government targets.
Quality housing must be proportionate. At present it is decided at the district 
level, is developer led and local opinion is ignored or dismissed.
Quality housing is generally unaffordable housing, yet poor quality affordable
housing is unacceptable.
Affordable housing should not be prioritised, rather, provision should be made 
available for a mix of rented and sale properties. The principles of equity and 
affordability must be followed and Eastern District’s poor housing stock should 
be addressed.

Suggestion
It was suggested that brownfield land must be developed prior to greenfield, the 
sequential approach should be used for all developments. Policies should be more 
robust to encourage this. The words “our community” should be emphasised and
exclude overspill from London and the South East.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The level of housing provision figures take account of needs and the growth in the 
number of jobs to be created over the plan period. The overall aim is to provide 
appropriate amount, mix and good quality housing for all. The approach is to 
promote housing growth across the whole area and to reduce homelessness and 
ensuring a thriving economy. 

Further evidence and research carried out following the publication of the RSS
underpins the new housing figures to be included in the PSJCS. The objective 
recognises the role of all forms of housing including affordable housing and the
implementation of the JCS will ensure an appropriate mix of homes including high 
quality affordable homes.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

32



The suggestion regarding the use of brownfield land is well acknowledged. The JCS 
is underpinned by the principle of sustainable development and the need to 
maximise the use of brownfield land. A great deal of care and attention is being paid 
to the location and development of housing that will ensure that housing provision 
meets needs rather than reflects the wishes of developers. 

Recommended Action
No fundamental change in approach is required. However the objective has been 
substantially revised to take account of comments made and in the light of new 
evidence. The revised objective now appears as objective 11 in the draft PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

33



Question 14

Question – Do you support Objective 13?  ‘To foster the regeneration of 
Northampton to enable it to fulfil a greater role within West Northampton and the 
Region’.

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
2896 524 2357 15

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The Objective and plan are unclear and do not provide clear policies on how 
regeneration will be achieved. It will not be achieved as access to the town 
centre is poor and people will go elsewhere
The plan does not support or make regeneration possible as existing 
infrastructure does not support this and realising this Objective will require 
additional money that the Council can only be raise through Council Tax 
increase.
Regeneration will lead to over-population and proposing the construction of 
40,000 unwanted homes in Northampton 1800 on the outskirts of 
Northampton will exacerbate existing problems rather than stimulate 
regeneration.
Northampton should not take a greater role in West Northamptonshire or the 
region.  
Regeneration should focus on vibrancy not size and key priorities for 
regeneration and specific areas for intervention should be set out. Ensure that 
existing brownfield and urban sites are used before greenfield sites, but this 
should not occur at the expense of other parts of West Northamptonshire.
Market demand is for out of town shopping centres and taxes raised from the 
development of out of town centres should be directed toward restoring 
Northampton’s historic and market town appeal.
Policy needs to clarify the treatment of retail and other supporting services, 
including banks and regeneration should also include provision and support 
for cultural, educational and creative industries.

Suggestion
Whilst the need to regenerate Northampton Town Centre is recognised, the extent of 
development required to change the character from a rural market town to ‘city’ is not 
feasible without very careful and sympathetic planning (and hopefully retaining a 
‘rural’ emphasis). The deliverability of key regeneration sites in Northampton is 
critical to realising the overall vision for the area.  Existing infrastructure will need to 
be improved as part of regeneration of Northampton.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The Objective reinforces the commitment to improving and enhancing the quality life 
of the people of Northampton and West Northamptonshire by seeking regeneration 
that could lead to economic, environmental and social wellbeing of the residents. 
Relevant policies and strategies are being developed to assist this process.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

34



In line with sustainable development principles, existing larger settlements offer 
greater opportunity for using brownfield sites. The amount of development proposed 
and the specific sites has been tested through Sustainability Appraisal (SA). The 
scale of growth proposed in the Emergent JCS reflects the level of growth set out in 
the adopted RSS. In preparing the Pre submission document to Joint Planning Unit 
has undertaken further work including revised household and population forecasting 
which supports a lower target than that originally proposed in the RSS.

The JCS is unequivocal about its commitment to the promotion of access for all and 
improving alternative modes of transport. The town centre provides the most 
accessible location for development.

Whilst preference for out of centre shopping facilities may be an historical reality, it 
would not be appropriate for the JCS to perpetrate this. Seeking a more sustainable 
pattern of development, by directing retail development to the town centre, accords 
with Government policy.   

The JCS will adequately address the issue of retail and make provision for other 
services in line with PPS4. It establishes a hierarchy of centres and promotes 
Northampton Central Area as the main focus for major retail activities whilst allowing 
other smaller centres to accommodate growth, commensurate to their sizes. Policies 
in the JCS affirm retailing as the prime function of the key frontages, but these do not 
preclude other supporting services such as banking, education or cultural facilities.

The suggestion is well made and there is no doubt that delivery is a key objective of 
the plan.

Recommended Action
No fundamental change in approach required. However, the objective has been 
substantially revised to take account of comments made and in the light of new 
evidence. The revised Objective now appears as Objective 5 in the draft PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

35



Question 15

Question – Do you support Objective 14?  ‘To foster the regeneration of Daventry, 
Towcester and Brackley’.

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
864 451 23 390

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Not clear what is meant by regeneration and these towns do not need to be 
regenerated. Daventry, Towcester and Brackley are not in need of 
regeneration. What are the implications of ‘regeneration’ for Brackley or 
Towcester’s? Corby, Kettering and Wellingborough have more to offer. 
Concern that this will require more building and each town may lose its 
individuality and clear guidance is needed on how these towns can profit from 
an urban renaissance
Regeneration should occur in small clusters and be mindful of existing 
infrastructure. Limited residential development should be encouraged to 
ensure satisfactory levels of rural service provision.  
There should be a separate objective for regeneration at Daventry with 
Towcester and Brackley combined with rural areas and historic assets and 
regeneration of Brackley will only occur when combined with growth of the 
town
Separate objective is required for regeneration of rural areas and historic 
assets, including Weedon Depot, where this is needed. 
Regeneration should not focus solely on retail but should also include uses 
such as banking, which have a valuable contribution to the vitality and viability 
of town centres.  
Regeneration will only be achieved if a range of sites for housing, 
employment, retail and other uses can come forward throughout the entire 
plan period.  

Suggestion
It was suggested that the word “foster” should be replaced with “support”.

Joint Planning Unit Response
Regeneration does not always result in additional housing or physical development. 
It is appropriate to give consideration to and support a policy objective that is specific 
and locally focused. Evidence suggests that there are a number of areas within 
these towns that require investment and renewal and the JCS provides appropriate 
vehicle for initiating action that would ensure economic, social and environmental 
benefits.

It is appropriate to have an overarching objective in a strategic document of this 
nature. The JCS policies will explain the meaning and purpose of regeneration. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

36



The JCS is the overarching vision and the broad objective allows the implementation 
of regeneration programmes in the different areas and there is no merit in having 
separate local objective in a plan that covers strategic issues. 

The suggestion that regeneration should be in clusters taking account of existing 
infrastructure is well made. However there is nothing in the objective to suggest a 
‘one size fit all’ approach. Any regeneration initiative will reflect the overall 
development strategy, local circumstances and the hierarchy of settlement 
articulated elsewhere in the plan. Demonstrable evidence indicates that there are
enough sites to deliver the regeneration objective. 

Recommended Action
No fundamental change in approach is required. However the objective has been 
substantially revised to take account of comments made and in the light of new 
evidence. The revised objective now appears as Object 4 in the draft PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

37



Question 16

Question Do you support Objective 15?  ‘To enable and support the delivery of co-
ordinated transport improvements with an emphasis on non-car modes; improving 
connections within and around West Northamptonshire including links to the wider 
network’.

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1914 155 1744 15

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Modal shift has not worked elsewhere in the country, with different elements 
of policies which impact on transport being in conflict.  The emphasis on 
change to non-car modes will create gridlock, noise and pollution and the 
achievement of this objective is a colossal challenge. 
Public transport is too expensive and its provision is largely dependent on 
private commercial operators and it is unlikely to meet user’s requirements 
and does not work in sparsely populated areas. It is realistic only for localised 
areas of community and certain centre to centre journeys
Promoting non-car modes and public transport should be tried first, before 
committing major investment. People should be able to choose both the mode 
of transport and a shift toward public transport will reduce this choice. 
This will lead to inadequate infrastructure to cope with “pollution free” 
transport and refusal to consider out of town shopping close to residents will 
make transport less green.
Major new road infrastructure may impact the historic environment.
The strategy does not give any details as to what these improvements would 
entail, how they would be delivered, how much they would cost and who will 
pay for them. The only detailed transport improvements proposed here is a 
new dual carriageway and other road developments, which are completely at 
odds with an ‘emphasis on non-car modes’ and travel by car is essential and 
here to stay and you cannot un-invent it and provision for it is therefore 
essential. Life is unpleasant without cars especially for disabled person who 
rely on these
Rural areas cannot be provided with frequent, timely and cost effective public 
transport and car is essential to successful longer term development of 
villages.
New road links are unnecessary. They cost money and would move 
population and workforce away from West Northamptonshire 
Car use will increase given the lack of employment opportunities around 
Northampton and people will not walk any further than 500-1000 metres, and 
less if carrying large objects like weekly shopping which cannot be carried 
comfortably on public transport.  Furthermore, over 50% of the population will 
not be able to walk long distances by the end of the plan period due to old 
age.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

38



Improve rail links, re-open the Northampton to Bedford rail line, add a new 
railway station to the west rail line in Northampton and introduce an out-of-
town rail way station such as East Midlands Parkway.
Improve rural inter village roads to bring them up to modern standards.
More roads need to be built; urgent need for the Flore-Weedon bypass and 
Northampton Ring Road needs to be completed.

Suggestions 
It was suggested that walking to and from school should be encouraged and 
facilitated for health reasons and to reduce car use. A truly integrated transport 
policy must be adopted that recognises the car as the primary mode of transport in 
the region.  Necessary transport infrastructure investment including Central 
Government funding will need to be made in advance of development. Consult with 
key users of cycle tracks and Rights of Way to establish a linked up approach to co-
ordinated transport improvements. Subsidise public transport and bring back the 
vehicle road fund license which had to be spent on improving roads and providing 
transport should be considered. Additional wording is suggested to include “rural 
connectivity”. 

Joint Planning Unit Response
Government advice and the concern about climate change require adequate 
measures to reduce CO2 emissions and other environmental impacts of car use. The 
promotion of other modes of transport through the JCS is a legitimate planning 
objective and there is no evidence that its application will lead to further 
environmental social or economic deterioration or harm.

The capital intensive nature of public transport is acknowledged, but it is a 
worthwhile investment. Neither the Objective nor the JCS is likely to increase
pollution as claimed. 

The Objective acknowledges the role of the car and does not preclude its use as a 
mode of transport. The intension is to reduce the frequency, the number of car 
journeys and the length of travel by car. It also seeks to encourage other more 
sustainable transport modes such as bus, trail, cycling and walking.

The difficulties of access in the rural areas and the case made for further, better and 
improved transport links is legitimate and there is scope for meeting this need in the 
JCS.

Recommended Action
No fundamental change in approach is required. However the Objective has been 
substantially revised to take account of comments made and in the light of new 
evidence. The revised objective now appears as Object 3 in the draft PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

39



Question 17

Question Do you support Objective 16?  ‘To achieve high quality design that takes 
account of character and local distinctiveness, enables access and promotes 
community safety’.  

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1123 843 268 12

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
 The objective is too unrealistic, ambiguous, lack details, and is unachievable 

based on past experience. 
Concern about funding and the risk of flooding and major development 
proposals which follow a similar ‘design layout format’ regardless of the 
specific location.
Concern about recent housing developments, infrastructure and the impact 
upon surrounding areas particularly ‘affordable’ housing which do not 
enhance the environment. 
Local character and distinctiveness, which is set out in village design 
statements should be taken into account and Towcester Vale development 
proposals take full account of this objective and the unique character, identity 
and the existing pattern of Towcester.
Towcester and Brackley should retain their market towns’ character. 
Avoid high density developments and ensure larger gardens and improved 
parking.
Safety of development should be ensured but this should not be to the 
detriment of exciting design and individuality.
Townscape character appraisals, similar to Landscape Character Appraisals 
should be carried out and local people and artists should be involved in the 
development of design codes. 

Suggestion
It was suggested that design would be improved if smaller developments could be 
influenced by local knowledge and more weight is given to Parish Plans, local 
character and distinctiveness. 

Joint Planning Unit Response
The JCS is based on sound evidence and the policy approaches reflect the key 
objectives and priorities of sustainable development. Policies in the Plan will ensure 
that only development designed to a high standard will be promoted or encouraged. 

High quality design is at the heart of sustainable development and it is appropriate 
for this to the one of the centre pieces of the JCS. Good design does not equate to 
additional cost and past failure should not hinder future attainment. It is important to 
give a clear message and set down the parameters for future development. The 
Councils, developers and the public have a part to play and corporate commitment 
should ensure success. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

40



Issues regarding Townscapes character appraisals are important but can best be 
dealt with by specific proposals. There is scope within the overall framework of the 
JCS to prepare other DPDs and SPDs.

The Objective would lead to greater protection of local character and identity and 
within this framework the Councils will strive to maintain a high standard of design.

Recommended Action
No fundamental change in approach is required. However, the objective has been 
substantially revised to take account of comments made and in the light of new 
evidence. The revised objective now appears as Objective 15 in the draft PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

41



Question 18

Question – Do you support Objective 17?  ‘To provide a mechanism for the delivery 
of infrastructure (including health, education, transport, community, leisure and 
recreational facilities) in tandem with development’.

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1401 156 1231 14

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
No confidence in the proposals to secure the delivery and lack of detail on 
infrastructure requirements and sources of funding. 
Infrastructure is more than ‘hard’ infrastructure and the provision should 
include social, water, waste water and green infrastructure which is required 
to support the development.
Infrastructure should be delivered prior or, in parallel development taking 
place based on past experience suggests that developer contributions have 
not provided adequate and timely infrastructure
Current infrastructure deficits require public funding and need to be addressed 
before contemplating future needs.  Development alone should not be the 
only way of funding infrastructure, is also required
Concerned about capacity of existing services and facilities, cost lack of 
funding given the current state of the economy
Detailed infrastructure plan needs to be provided and development should not 
be stifled whilst funding is sought from developers and/or infrastructure is 
secured beforehand.  
This includes flood alleviation mechanisms and green infrastructure.

 Set out the role of all agencies required to  deliver infrastructure and measure 
how they perform 
Developers should only be required to provide infrastructure that relates to 
their own development.  
Infrastructure needs to be near housing as it is inconvenient to travel long 
distance.  
The scale of development must suit the infrastructure provided.  

Suggestion
It was suggested that Roof Taxes and S106 legal agreements will not deliver timely 
infrastructure. Central government funding should be provided upfront for vital 
services, such as roads, sewerage, flood defences, flooding and schools.

Joint Planning Unit Response
An Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) is being prepared which underpins the JCS.
The list contained in the objective is by no means exhaustive but provides examples 
of the type of infrastructure that would be required. This will be defined in detail in the 
IDP and the relevant policies of the Strategy.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

42



National policy advice provides the parameters for infrastructure delivery and funding 
and this is being followed in the development of the IDP. The responsibility for the 
provision of infrastructure does not rest entirely on developers, but it is fair and 
appropriate that contribution from major development should form an essential part 
of the funding regime. 

The purpose of the IDP is to identify the infrastructure that is required, when it is 
needed and how it will be delivered and funded.

Recommended Action
No fundamental change in approach is required. However the Objective has been 
substantially revised to take account of comments made and in the light of new 
evidence. The revised Objective now appears as objective 2 in the draft PSJCS 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

43



Question 19

Question – Do you consider the Objectives to be specific to local circumstances?  

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1895 87 1768 40

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The objectives are too generic, lacking detail and cannot be considered locally 
specific. 
The objectives follow national guidance but are not considered within a local 
context. They are neither location specific nor related to key specific issues, 
as required by Planning Policy Statement 12: Local Spatial Planning (PPS12). 
They are not measurable and therefore cannot be monitored.
West Northamptonshire area is too large to be considered as local in terms of 
the objectives. Individual towns have differing needs.
Local circumstances and local issues in rural areas have not been considered 
or addressed and there is lack of consideration for local circumstances in 
Northampton South East.  
There is insufficient consideration of the infrastructure needs and this will
engineer the decline of the area overall.
Development is not considered in terms of local circumstances and growth is 
disproportionate to local needs. 
Objectives centred on large scale urban extensions, it is unlikely this reflects 
local desires.
Definition of local circumstances is required.
More detailed assessment of sites is required to ensure objectives are 
delivered and guided by local circumstances.

Suggestion
It was suggested that more detailed assessment of sites is required to ensure that 
objectives are delivered and guided by local circumstances.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The emphasis and orientation of the objectives are guided by the broad vision and 
the guideline policy advice. They reflect the aspirations of the local people as 
articulated through discussion and considerable debate with Councillors, 
stakeholders and the wider community. 

The overall approach to the JCS is to formulate policies that reflect and address local 
issues hence the need to highlight in the plan specific policies dealing with different 
parts West Northamptonshire. This is evident in PSJCS.

In preparing the PSJCS all of the objectives have been reconsidered to ensure that 
they are clear, deliverable and relevant to local circumstances.

Recommended Action

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

44



Review the objectives to ensure that they are clear, deliverable and reflect local 
circumstances. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

45



Question 20 - Do you support the overall principle of Option B – focusing growth in a 
small number of larger development areas?  

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
2343 105 2206 32

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Option B will support growth of new towns that are not fully integrated with 
existing communities, contrary to objectives of sustainable urban extensions.
Constraints of size, revenue, connections and proximity to locations more 
suited to transformation will inhibit the elevation of Northampton from a town 
to a city.
Development should be accommodated on existing brownfield sites. Based 
on previous work undertaken by Northampton Borough Council, there is 
reason to believe that up to 70% of the proposed growth can be 
accommodated on brownfield sites. Furthermore, Planning Policy Statement 
3: Housing requires 60% of housing development on brownfield sites. The 
remaining 30% could be accommodated around smaller communities or in a 
small new town. 
Development should be accommodated around existing transport routes, 
close to employment areas and/or in small extensions to villages.
The large extensions proposed will result in a loss of rural identity, character, 
historic and landscape value. Substantial green belts need to be established 
around these towns.

 No evidence to suggest that mixed developments of the nature proposed are 
attractive places for people to live, successful in terms of employment or in 
the provision of necessary public services. Accordingly, they are not 
sustainable.  
The levels of future housing provision in Daventry beyond 2026 are 
underestimated and need to be revisited against the criteria in Planning Policy 
Statement 3: Housing and associated advice produced by the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (CLG).   
There is no guarantee that people living in these urban extensions will choose 
to work in them as well. As such, this aspect of the proposal is not 
sustainable.  
The proposed urban extensions are developer led, as it is easier to develop 
greenfield sites rather than brownfield.
This option provides no contingency, should sites not come forward as 
planned.
The JPU prefer Option B as the development of green field sites as proposed 
is the most cost effective for developers, thus yielding the highest possible 
section 106 contributions.  
This option is not consistent with the Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS), as no 
evidence has been provided to indicate that these urban extensions are the 
most sustainable. This option does not meet Policies 1, 3 and 4 of the RSS.
A definition of ‘large development area’ has not been provided.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

46



This Option bears no resemblance to the options deemed most suitable by 
the public after the preferred options consultation, namely development 
around North Northampton and the M1.
This Option is flawed as it does not take into account the proposals of the 
East Northamptonshire JPU and the Milton Keynes South Midlands Growth 
Area.  
Due to the current review of the RSS, it is premature to consider housing 
provision beyond 2026.  Accordingly, the total housing provision should be 
40,375 homes not 43,000. The basis for these large urban extensions is 
therefore flawed.
Some small scale development can occur that makes efficient use of 
infrastructure and environmental capacity. As such, it is incorrect to assume 
that this efficiency should be the basis for selection of Option B.  
Development needs to occur on both urban and greenfield sites in tandem to 
ensure growth is delivered in a timely manner. As such, the priority given to 
urban sites in this option is flawed. 
Option B is a massive over-response to an excessive regional requirement. 
The residual requirement for development in Northampton is 11,442 of which 
around 9,400 should be on brownfield sites and 2,000 on greenfield sites.

General Comments 
Developer contributions must be paid into a fund controlled by an accountable 
body to ensure funding is directed is retained for specific purposes. 
More explanation is needed on the type of employment arising from the
development. For example, will it be short term associated with the 
construction of all the homes or new employment areas providing long term 
employment. 

Joint Planning Unit Response

Option B will not encourage the growth of new towns. The Sustainable Urban 
Extensions (SUE’s) are on the edge of existing settlements and as such will be 
integrated with the existing settlements and will not form new towns. Policy S5 of the 
PSJCS clarifies that this is the case and states that, “Outside the existing urban
areas development will be focused on sustainable urban extensions to the urban 
areas”. Each SUE will also provides an integrated transport with the urban area that 
they are connected to.

There is no evidence to suggest that the SUE’s will prevent Northampton from 
becoming a city. It has been determined that the SUE locations are the most suitable
and sustainable through the Sustainability Appraisal (SA). In addition, each SUE 
specified in the PSJCS is expected to provide an, “integrated Transport Network 
focused on sustainable transport modes, walking and cycling with strong links to the 
town centre and adjoining neighbourhoods and employment areas”. This integration 
will help to expand Northampton and help promote its elevation from town to city 
status. 

It is not specified as to why there is ‘reason to believe’ that 70% of growth could be 
accommodated on brownfield land. There is not enough brownfield land within West 
Northamptonshire to accommodate the amount of housing proposed. However, 
Policy S1 outlines that, “Priority will be given to the reuse of suitable previously 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

47



developed land”; therefore brownfield land will be developed as a priority over 
Greenfield land. A target of 30% has been set through this policy.  

The majority of the SUE’s will be located around existing transport routes. It is 
outlined in the pretext of Policy S5 that, “Dispersing significant development to the 
rural areas would not be appropriate as it would increase pressure on the rural 
environment overall and particularly as a result of the increased need to travel, 
usually by car, without addressing the needs of the towns themselves”. This will help 
prevent the loss of rural identity.

All of the SUE’s detailed in the PSJCS are expected to provide an integrated 
transport network, “focused on sustainable transport modes, walking and cycling with 
strong links to the town centre and adjoining neighbourhoods and employment 
areas”. Finally, some of the SUE proposed will contain new employment areas, such 
as the Northampton North SUE for example. 

The historic and landscape value of rural areas will be protected through Policy BN5,
which outlines that all new development will, “Sustain and enhance the features 
which contribute to the distinctive character of the area including Significant 
Historical Landscapes and the skyline and settings of towns and villages”. In regards 
to Green Belts, there are no designated greenbelts in West Northamptonshire. 
However, the countryside around rural towns and villages is protected through 
existing policy. Where an SUE is proposed, substantial areas of green space are 
proposed as part of the SUE development.

All of the SUE’s will be expected to contribute towards the necessary public services, 
including the required infrastructure and public transport services. More information 
has been provided in the PSJCS on the infrastructure that will be invested at each of 
the SUE’s. For some of the SUE’s it has also been specified as to the level of new 
educational investment and in some cases the number of school places that will be 
created. Where new employment facilities are proposed at some of the SUE’s, either 
the number of jobs that will be created or the size of the employment park have been 
outlined. 

It has also been specified in the majority of the SUE’s the amount of retail floorspace 
that will be provided at the local centres that are proposed, as well as other facilities 
that are to be provided. The information provided demonstrates that the mixed use 
development proposed at each SUE will make them attractive places to live.

The PSJCS does not make any reference to the levels of future housing provision in 
Daventry beyond 2026.

It cannot be guaranteed that every person living in the SUE’s will work in the local 
area. Employment facilities are proposed at some of the SUE’s that will encourage 
people living in the SUE’s to work at the local employment site. For example, the 
Northampton North SUE (Policy N3) proposes a seven hectare employment 
development in the form of a technology park. The Daventry North East SUE (Policy 
D3) will also make provision for “local employment opportunities”. Each SUE is also 
expected to provide an integrated transport network that will provide strong links to 
employment areas, which will help encourage residents to work in the local area.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

48



These proposals are not developer led, they have been determined through careful 
analysis and responses received during previous consultation periods. In addition, it 
is not necessarily easier to develop greenfield sites compared to brownfield sites, nor 
is it more cost effective, as brownfield sites are more likely to have the necessary 
infrastructure and utilities in place, whereas these will have to be built from scratch 
on greenfield sites. Policy S1 also outlines that priority will be given to the 
redevelopment of brownfield land; encouraging developers to only develop 
greenfield if no brownfield sites are available. There is also no evidence to suggest 
that greenfield development will yield higher section 106 agreements. 

Development at other sites will be considered, as the total level of housing proposed 
at the SUE’s would not accommodate the total amount of housing allocation of the 
PSJCS. The SHLAA has identified a number of sites that would be available to 
accommodate the development. The sites that have been retained or considered to 
have potential by the SHLAA could deliver some 148,247 homes, almost three times 
the requirement of the PSJCS. Therefore there are contingency sites available for 
development, as well as those sites saved in Local Plans.  

It is not specified as to why the SUE’s do not meet Policies 1, 3 and 11 of the RSS.
The objectives in the RSS apply to the whole plan as well as the SUE’s. Evidence 
has been provided that these options are the most sustainable through the 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA). 

Policy 1 of the RSS discusses the regional core objectives for the area. It is felt that 
the proposed development options meet the eleven core objectives. Policy 3 focuses 
on the distribution of new development. The majority of development is located 
around the Principal Urban Areas (Northampton), with seven of the eleven located 
around the town. 

Policy 3 also outlines a number of criteria that development in other settlements and 
rural areas will need to contribute towards. It is felt that the three SUE’s in Towcester 
and Brackley meet these criteria. For example, one of the criteria that development 
needs to meet is to “maintain the distinctive character and vitality of rural 
communities”. Each of these SUE’s is expected to contribute towards high quality 
design and layout which respects the character of the landscape in question. In 
addition, Policy R1 outlines that a rural settlement hierarchy will be in place which 
will guide development in rural areas. The rural hierarchy will, “Protect and enhance 
the character and quality of the rural area’s historic buildings and areas of historic or 
environmental importance”. 

Policy 11 discusses development in the Southern Sub-area i.e. Northamptonshire. It 
is felt that the PSJCS meets the spatial priorities set out in this policy. For example, 
one of the key objectives sets out that, “the quality of villages should not be 
degraded by inappropriate growth”. The rural hierarchy (Policy R1) ensures that this 
is the case.

A ‘large development area’ is essentially a Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE). An 
explanation and justification of the SUE is provided in Policy S5 of the PSJCS.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

49



Out of the four options proposed in the Issues and Options Paper (South Eastern 
Extension, South Eastern/ Western Extension, North Eastern Extension, Southern/ 
South of M1), the North Eastern Extension (i.e. North Northampton) and the option 
South of the M1 were least supported out of the four options, as outlined in the 
‘Responses to the Short Questionnaire”.

Option B does take into account the proposals of the North Northamptonshire JPU 
and Milton Keynes. Numerous references are made to Milton Keynes in the PSJCS. 
Discussions have been held with the North Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit as 
well as Milton Keynes Council, as well as these parties being consulted with during 
previous consultation stages of the Joint Core Strategy. North Northamptonshire’s 
JCS also refers to West Northamptonshire, albeit briefly. Paragraph 2.2 of the North 
Northamptonshire JCS outlines that “Adjoining districts in West Northamptonshire 
and Bedfordshire are also planning for major growth as part of the MKSM Growth 
area”; therefore a brief reference could be made in the West Northamptonshire JCS
regarding growth in neighbouring areas.   

It is not specified as to why the provision should be 40,375. The 43,000 is for a 
period between 2001and 2026. Since the publication of the EJCS, it has since been 
determined that the figures specified in the RSS are not deliverable in light of the 
recent recession. As a result, the level of housing proposed for Northampton in the 
PSJCS has been revised downwards to 26,220. 

The SUE’s will deliver the majority of the housing growth but will not accommodate 
all of the proposed housing development; therefore development of some small 
scale sites will be encouraged. If small scale development were to be pursued 
instead of SUE’s, this would lead to a greater strain on the existing transport network 
and utilities infrastructure. Such incremental development is more difficult to serve 
with the range of community facilities needed to support the increase in population.
The Rural Settlement Hierarchy (Policy R1) will, “enable small scale housing and 
employment where this meets local needs and/ or supports local services”.
Therefore some small scale development will be encouraged in rural areas.

Policy S6 details the phasing of each of the SUE and will ensure that development is 
delivered in a timely manner. There is no evidence to suggest that the delivery of 
development on greenfield land in tandem with urban development will ensure that 
development will be delivered in a timely manner. This would also contradict Policy 
S1, which outlines that priority will be given to the redevelopment of brownfield over 
greenfield within West Northamptonshire.

Option B is not a massive over-response: the options have been thoroughly 
analysed based on a robust evidence base and previous consultation periods. Since 
the EJCS the housing trajectory has been reduced in light of the current economic 
situation. In regards to how much development should occur on brownfield and 
greenfield land, it is again not specified as to why this level of development should 
occur on brownfield and greenfield land. Policy S1 specifies that a target of 30% of 
new residential development and conversions will occur on brownfield land.

General Comments 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

50



Section 106 contributions will always go towards what is specified in the planning 
application. It is unreasonable to expect a developer to pay for an infrastructure 
requirements, for example, to which their development does not affect.  

Where employment provision is discussed in an SUE policy, it is usually highlighted 
the type of employment that is proposed. For example, at the Northampton North 
SUE, it is detailed that the employment will occur in the form of a Technology Realm. 
More detail could however be provided for some of the SUE’s. For example the 
Northampton North of Whitehills and Northampton Upton Park SUE’s for example it
is only specifies that “Local Employment Opportunities” will be provided.  

Recommended Action
The overall approach of focusing growth in a small number of larger development 
areas remains valid, but the scale of development required and the locations should 
be reduced to reflect the latest evidence used to prepare the PSJCS.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

51



Question 21 - Do you support the combined Choice of Urban Extensions?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1648 87 1532 29

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The options to the south and west of the M1 should not be ruled out they can 
provide sustainable extensions to Northampton.
If new houses are to be built in Northamptonshire they should be kept in line 
with the natural population growth of the County. 
There is no relationship between the Emergent JCS and the Northampton 
Central Area Action Plan (NCAAP).

 Preferred locations do not provide good access to central area of 
Northampton. Residents will be inclined to travel to Milton Keynes for 
shopping/ retail needs.
No as I live in a parish destined to be over run by development.
As a resident of the town, I do not want to see the rural outskirts of the town 
destroyed by ill thought out development when we could be designing 
excellent settlements with a little more short-term effort. 
The east of Daventry could be improved by the replacement and relocation of 
the ‘tin sheds’ near the town centre with housing.
It is unclear how the housing options have been influenced by the 
Northampton, Towcester and Brackley, and Daventry Landscape Sensitivity 
Studies. 
The options are contrary to Government policy to protect green belts. 
Development with direct/easy access to M1 is not sustainable. It will 
encourage people to travel to Milton Keynes and discourage the regeneration 
of Northampton Town Centre.
The options are not supported. Land at Arm Farm, south of Milton Malsor, has 
been inappropriately assessed in the Strategic Employment Land Assessment 
(SELA) and provides a deliverable option for significant growth in the area.
Object to growth at Daventry until the Inspectors report from the 2009 
Planning Inquiry has been issued. 
The northern, western and south-eastern expansions of Northampton are 
predicated on major road improvements. This approach is not sustainable and 
contradicts the shift to non-car transportation modes.
The growth projection informing level of housing growth is inaccurate and the 
JPU estimates of the housing requirement and past completions are incorrect. 
The urban extensions are therefore unjustified.
The Emergent JCS does not reflect the development options consulted upon 
as part of Issues and Options stage.
The proposal for Junction 16, M1 is not supported and would result in 
coalescence of Northampton and Kislingbury. 
There is no evidence base to suggest Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs) 
would be successful. SUEs were rejected as part of the County Structure 
Plan. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

52



Requiring more affordable housing in rural areas will reduce attraction of 
these areas and restrict urban to rural travel resulting in demise of rural 
communities. 
The Emergent JCS appears developer and land owner led. Proposed urban 
extension will be designed to maximise profitability and will not give adequate 
weight to environmental and social considerations.  
Concerns that the Emergent JCS plan period is beyond that of the RSS, this 
will have implications in terms of the existing evidence base, in particular the 
application of the emerging water cycle study.
Northwest Northampton has not been considered in the plan preparation 
process and there must be significant opportunities in this area.
Development is too focused toward the south of Northampton, resulting in 
unsustainable and uneven development pressure in this area – particularly in 
terms of infrastructure and the existing road networks.
These proposals should be locally and democratically decided.

 Enveloping surrounding local villages with SUE’s is not supported.
Concern over inclusion of Daventry North as a potential direction of growth. 
The limited studies regarding the suitability of the site, particularly early in the 
plan period, indicate that the inclusion of this site is illogical.

 Communities occupying recent development to west & south of Northampton 
are lacking the proposed infrastructure / un-adopted roads. Also a substantial 
amount of development that has been permitted but is not yet constructed. 
These sites must be completed with adequate infrastructure before new 
development in considered.  
Flooding occurs west of Northampton and valuable countryside would be 
destroyed to the south-east. Development to north & east would be 
preferable.

General Comments
If expansion is unavoidable, would the land to the north of Northampton, 
towards Kettering, be a better option? Kettering is fast expanding with new rail 
links and infrastructure and would possibly benefit from new housing.
The areas that have been spoilt, such as the M1 corridor to the West of 
Northampton and the towns to the east, such as Wellingborough, Kettering 
and Corby could be considered for development.
Those who commute into Northampton town to work encounter as much 
traffic leaving the town centre as those entering it, indicating that if housing is 
placed in the town centre people will commute outward to business or other 
areas.
Modal shift in transportation in unrealistic as demonstrated by up-to-date 
traffic modelling statistics and projections. 
The quantum of housing at each urban extension must be explained.
Identification of employment land within the extensions should not prejudice 
the potential that can be offered within existing built up areas.
The Emergent JCS lacks detail in explaining how the housing targets of the 
Northampton Implementation Area (NIA) will be met. The housing trajectory 
that was purported to inform the JCS would be useful in determining the 
achievability of the JCS in meeting these objectives. 
The extent of the Northampton Implementation Area (NIA) must be defined in 
adopted version of the JCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

53



The Housing Technical Paper is not available to support housing figures.
There is no explanation as to how the residual housing figures have been 
arrived at.
Dallington Grange allocation not been given sufficient recognition in the 
Emergent JCS. 
The opportunities in North Northampton to create a ‘knowledge corridor’ and 
the ‘University Arc’ associated with the Northampton University, Moulton 
College and Northampton College have been missed. Limited growth here will 
limit the potential to provide the infrastructure to open up this area to 
development.  
Junction 16, M1 is integral to the delivery of the employment targets within the 
strategy. To caveat its allocation with a requirement for further study 
prejudices the allocation of this site. 

Joint Planning Unit Response
The option to the south and west of the M1 was the second most unpopular SUE out 
of those proposed at the Issues and Options stage. One reason growth to the south 
and west of the M1 was ruled out was that the option “is not based on sustainable 
development principles compared to the other options around Northampton”. This 
development would also prevent good linkages between existing and new 
communities and would also not encourage modal shift to non-car transport due to 
the role of the M1 being a definite physical barrier.  

The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) also specifies that development to the south and 
west of Northampton is one of the least sustainable options. For example, in regards 
to health and well being, it is the only extension that “is not within the maximum 
proximity (GP 5km, hospital 10km), to which key local health services should be 
located.” (Appendix D, pg 22).  

The population growth highlighted in the PSJCS is based on net-nil migration i.e. the 
natural population growth. However, other factors have been taken into account
when determining the level of housing within the area. More and more people are 
living on their own, as well as an ageing population. 

Throughout the PSJCS references are made to the role of the Northampton Central 
Area Action Plan (NCAAP) and its relationship with the JCS. For example, it is 
outlined on page 100 of the PSJCS that “The Central Area Action Plan will define the 
Town Centre Boundary and the Primary Shopping Area for Northampton and will set 
out a clear vision for the future of the Central Area, in line with the vision for West 
Northamptonshire set out within the JCS”. 

The proposed SUE’s include proposals for public transport and road improvements
and will provide good access to the centre of Northampton. It is detailed in the 
PSJCS that for each SUE it will be expected that the development will provide “An 
Integrated Transport Network focused on sustainable transport modes, walking and 
cycling with strong links to the town centre and adjoining neighbourhoods and 
employment areas”.

The required housing growth cannot be accommodated within existing urban areas 
and will need to take place within some parishes. None of the three authority areas 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

54



have designated green belts. Instead each authority has their own policy on the 
protection of environmental and countryside areas. However, all new development 
will need to abide to Policy BN5, which outlines that all new development will 
“Protect and enhance the features which contribute to the distinctive character of the
area”. The SUE’s will also include Green Infrastructure and wildlife corridors, as well 
as large areas of greenspace, which will help reduce the impact upon the parish.  

The SUE’s are not ill thought out development proposals. They have been assessed 
based on a robust evidence base that has been refined through consultation stages. 
To build new towns is less sustainable; new infrastructure would have to be 
constructed instead of extending existing infrastructure at the SUE’s. The building of 
new settlements would also increase the load to the current road infrastructure.

It is unclear what the respondent is referring to in regards to the “tin sheds”, nor their 
precise location. A new SUE at Daventry North East is proposed which will provide 
4,000 dwellings. This SUE will also be expected to create Local Employment 
opportunities for 1,000 jobs, as well as an integrated transport network. The 
development will be expected to be of a high quality standard.

Figures 20 and 21 of the Daventry Infrastructure Plan (Jan 2009) show how the 
housing options have been assessed against relative landscape areas. Maps 12 and 
13 assess the housing growth areas against the Landscape Sensitivity and Green 
Infrastructure of Towcester and Brackley. The Northampton Landscape Sensitivity 
and Green Infrastructure study was published in February 2009, before the JCS was 
published for consultation in July 2009. The Northampton study therefore does not 
take into account the housing growth options, but does cover the areas in which the 
housing growth is to take place.    

Appendix D of the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) has considered the Northampton
sensitivity study. Appendix D outlines that “comments are made with reference to the 
Northampton Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Study”.

It cannot be guaranteed that people living in the SUE’s would not travel down to 
Milton Keynes. Some of the SUE’s contain employment proposals which will 
encourage people to work in Northampton rather than commuting elsewhere. Policy 
N2 also discuss the regeneration of Northampton town centre which will further 
encourage people to work in the town. Policy N2 states that “Major retail, office, 
leisure and cultural development will take place in the Northampton Central Area”. 

It is not specified as to why Land at Arm Farm has been ‘inappropriately assessed’ in 
the SELA. The SELA was prepared by Northamptonshire Enterprise Ltd in 
conjunction with the local authorities in Northamptonshire. The SELA went through 
an extensive consultation process; any comments regarding this site should have 
been made during the SELA consultation and not during consultation on the PSJCS. 

The Daventry Inspectors report has now been published. Some of the appeal sites 
were approved (Monksmoor), whereas others (Church Fields (accepted in principle 
but would require the delivery of the Flore/ Weedon Bypass) and Danetree) were
dismissed. Although the Monksmoor approval gives a degree of relief to the housing 
supply shortfall, it is very much a stop gap (less than 2 years supply). Daventry still 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

55



falls short of providing a deliverable five year supply. The Daventry North East SUE 
is required to help accommodate the required population growth in the town.

The Northampton SUE’s need good access arrangements to be viable. Each SUE is 
expected to provide “An integrated transport network focused on sustainable 
transport modes, walking and cycling, with strong links to the relevant town centre”. If 
the SUE’s were located away from major transport routes it would be more difficult to
access to public transport; therefore people would be more inclined to travel by car. 

The growth projection informing levels of housing growth are not incorrect. The 
growth projection are based on net nil migration growth and have been revised 
downwards to take into account the recent recession and resulting reduction in 
house building. The level of past completions is monitored on a regular basis, as this 
is a key indicator in the production of AMR’s. Therefore the estimates of past 
completions are not incorrect and the urban extensions are not unjustified.

The Emergent JCS does reflect the development options consulted upon during the 
Issues and Options stage. The rejected options in the Emergent JCS are those 
which proved to be the least popular, as outlined in the analysis of responses to the 
short and long questionnaire, as well as being the least sustainable.

Although an SUE (Northampton West) is proposed in the vicinity of Kislingbury, it 
does not extend to the actual village. The SUE proposed at Northampton West is 
located a significant distance from existing settlements such as Kislingbury and 
Harpole and will not lead to coalescence.  

The County Structure Plan has now been superseded RSS. SUE’s were not rejected 
as part of the County Structure Plan; they were not the highest priority search 
strategy contained in Policy GS4 of the Northamptonshire Structure Plan 
(Development Strategy). Policy GS4 outlines that “When identifying sites for new 
development local planning authorities will follow a search sequence, starting with 
the re-use of previously-developed land and buildings and other land within urban 
areas identified by urban capacity studies, then identified urban extensions termed 
strategic development areas (see Policy SDA1)”.

Policy GS4 has not been saved; Policy SDA1 is the only policy to be saved from the 
structure plan. Policy SDA1 outlines that; “Provision will be made for mixed-use 
urban extensions, termed strategic development areas”, including Daventry and 
Towcester. These “Strategic Development Areas” were essentially a pretext for 
SUE’s and formed part of the evidence base to suggest SUE’s would be successful. 
The PSJCS has specified that SUE’s will be the most successful options as, 
“Dispersing significant development to the rural areas would also not be appropriate 
as it would increase pressure on the rural environment overall and particularly as a 
result of the increased need to travel”. Regarding the evidence base, a study was 
commissioned before the Issues and Options to undertake a study to identify the
longer-term growth options for Northampton. The purpose of this study was to 
undertake a strategic analysis of potential sustainable growth options to inform the 
preparation of the JCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

56



Policy H2 details that affordable housing on rural exception sites will have to meet 
strict criteria before permission will be granted. The development will need to 
demonstrate that it, “is sympathetic to the form, character and setting of the 
settlement and accords with normal policy requirements relating to design, access, 
parking, landscape and highway safety”. It is detailed in the pretext of SUE policy 
that, “Dispersing significant development to the rural areas would also not be 
appropriate as it would increase pressure on the rural environment overall and 
particularly as a result of the increased need to travel, usually by car, without 
addressing the needs for the towns themselves”.  

The Emergent JCS has not been developer and land owner led. The SUE’s are an 
essential requirement, as the housing provision cannot be accommodated within 
existing urban areas. The proposals also give adequate weight to environmental and 
social considerations. Priority will be given to the redevelopment of brownfield over
greenfield land under Policy S1. Policy BN5 also ensures that all new development 
will, “Protect and enhance the features which contribute to the distinctive character of 
the area”. Each SUE will also be expected to provide some form of green 
infrastructure and wildlife corridor, as well as integrating with existing communities.

The RSS period runs up to 2026, the same time frame as the Joint Core Strategy.
The evidence base is also updated on a regular basis to ensure the Joint Core 
Strategy is based on robust and up to date documentation.

Three SUE’s are located to the North West of Northampton. These are Northampton 
North of Whitehills, Northampton West and Northampton Kings Heath.

Development is not focused to the south of Northampton. Only two of the seven 
SUE’s are located to the south of the town and will only deliver a combined total of 
2,000 dwellings. The SUE’s are also of a relatively small scale. Northampton North 
for example will deliver 2,500 dwellings for example. The two SUE’s will also deliver 
a number of infrastructure improvements, including a contribution towards two new 
primary schools of 420 places each, an integrated transport network and a financial 
contribution towards the North Western bypass. 

These proposals will be determined by either by the local planning authority or 
WNDC. Large scale proposals will be determined by committee, where it will be 
democratically decided between councillors whether to approve or refuse the 
scheme. 

Enveloping surrounding villages is not supported in the PSJCS, as the document
outlines that, “Dispersing significant development to the rural areas would not be 
appropriate as it would increase pressure on the rural environment overall and 
particularly as a result of the increased need to travel, usually by car, without 
addressing the needs of the towns themselves”.

The Daventry North option has not been carried forward into the PSJCS as a 
reduction in housing figures has meant that this proposal is no longer deliverable.

Three of the four proposed SUE’s are located to the west and south of Northampton.
Each of these SUE’s specifies the level of infrastructure that will be delivered, 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

57



including new education provision as well as, “an integrated transport network 
focused on sustainable transport modes, walking and cycling with strong links to the 
town centre and adjoin neighbourhoods and employment areas”. The Infrastructure 
Development Plan (IDP) will outline when this infrastructure will be built. It is likely 
that with the phasing of development the infrastructure will be expected to be 
delivered before the development can be occupied.

Flooding also occurs to the north of Northampton along the Brampton Arm. Any SUE 
that is in a flood risk area will be expected to provide a flood mitigation measures.
Although flooding does occur west of Northampton, the Northampton West SUE 
does not fall within a flood risk area. In regards to the loss of valuable countryside, 
not all of the development can be built on brownfield land and some countryside/ 
greenfield areas will have to be developed. Policy S1 sets a target of 30% of all new 
residential development and conversion to be built on previously developed land. 

General Comments

It is the responsibility of the North Northamptonshire to determine the growth around 
Kettering as it is in their area. However, of the seven SUE’s proposed around 
Northampton, three are proposed to the North of the town. These developments are 
also of a larger scale.

The North Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit will determine the level of growth at 
Wellingborough, Kettering and Corby through their JCS. It has also not been 
specified which area of the M1 corridor that is referred to. The growth option south of 
M1 and south west has been rejected on the grounds that it is one of the least 
sustainable options. The option would be “unlikely to foster the regeneration of 
Northampton to enable it to fulfil a greater role within West Northamptonshire and the 
Region.”

There is no evidence to support the claim that those commuting into Northampton 
Town Centre to work encounter as much traffic as those leaving the town centre. It 
cannot therefore be demonstrated that if housing is placed in the town centre people 
will commute outwards. The NCAAP produced by Northampton Borough Council
determines where housing as well as other land uses, such as employment land for 
example, will be allocated. Out-commuting may occur from the town centre as the 
type of employment that a town centre resident works at may not be suited to town 
centre uses. There are also no SUE’s proposed in the town centre, therefore this 
comment has little to do with the question.

It has not been detailed what the up-to-date traffic modelling statistics and 
projections are. Each SUE is expected to provide an “Integrated Transport Network 
with Sustainable Transport Modes”. In addition the JCS makes reference to the 
transport strategy for each of the four main towns in West Northamptonshire. 

No reference is made within the PSJCS as to how the quantum of housing at each 
SUE has been determined. Whilst it is the housing evidence base that justifies the 
quantum of housing at each SUE, it has not been highlighted in the JCS that this is 
the case. To provide an explanation in the pretext of each urban extension on how 
the quantum of housing for that particular SUE would become repetitive, nor is it the 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

58



responsibility of the JCS to explain this. Instead, a paragraph in the pretext of the 
description of the SUE’s in general could be provided that sets out how the quantum 
of housing was determined, which evidence base documents were used and where 
further information can be found.

The employment land identified within the SUE’s would not prejudice that which can 
be offered within existing built up areas. Policy E1 details that “Existing and allocated 
employment sites and industrial estates across West Northamptonshire will be 
retained for uses within use classes B1, B2 and non strategic B8”. In addition, all 
new office development will be subject to a sequential test in the criteria specified in 
Policy E2, rather than being preferably developed on employment land within the 
extensions. Finally, Policy S2 encourages the use of previously developed land over 
greenfield sites. There is more brownfield land within existing built up areas, 
therefore it is likely more development within existing built up areas will occur.

The housing trajectory that was purported to inform the JCS (i.e. the figures detailed 
in the RSS) is no longer deliverable in light of the recent recession. In response to 
this the West Northamptonshire JPU has revised the housing targets downwards, as 
described in paragraph 5.16 of the PSJCS. It has also been outlined in paragraph 
5.17 what steps were taken in order to establish an achievable and reasonable level 
of housing provision.  

Policy S6 details the phasing of development that will take place over the plan period 
to demonstrate how the housing targets are achievable over the plan period. This 
phasing takes into account the recent recession, as the housing targets are 
significantly reduced for the period 2011 – 2016 compared to later periods of housing 
growth. 

A Northampton Related Development Area will be shown on the proposals map.

An explanation has been given in the PSJCS of why the housing provision has been 
reduced. The relevant housing technical papers are also already in place, with the 
most recent SHMA being published in June 2010 and the most recent SHLAA 
published in November 2009, with an updated SHLAA to be published in February 
2011. The consultees response is however understandable as this evidence base 
was not in place when the EJCS was published for consultation in August 2009.

The SUE at Dallington Grange is a strategic allocation identified in Saved Local Plan 
policies that does not have planning consent.  The JCS does not replace the Saved 
Adopted Local Plan policies that allocated the site. This means that planning 
applications in relation to the site should be determined in accordance with those 
policies as well as the policies contained within the JCS.

As part of the Northampton North SUE, a 7ha “Technology Realm” is proposed. This 
is located close to the University of Northampton as well as other key Higher and 
Further education partners. It is outlined in pretext of Policy N8 that “The concept of 
the Technology Realm in this location is to provide, through collaboration with 
learning and skills partners, a highly skilled and knowledge based workforce that is 
capable of meeting the needs of targeted employers”.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

59



In addition, Policy E6 supports the University of Northampton and states that, “The 
role of the University of Northampton, Moulton College, Northampton College and 
other educational institutions will be supported. Where new facilities are necessary 
these should be developed at sites which are accessible by sustainable transport 
modes or where sustainable transport modes can be effectively provided”. Therefore 
the opportunities to promote Northampton University have not been overlooked.

As the housing target has been revised downward the level of employment 
development is no longer required. This employment proposal has not been carried 
forward into the PSJCS. A number of highways objection were received during the 
consultation period of the EJCS to the inclusion of this employment allocation. 
Therefore the allocation at Junction 16, M1 was not the most sustainable option.

Recommended Action
The combined choice of urban extensions has been thoroughly reviewed in the light 
of the response received to the EJCS and the new evidence that has informed the 
PSJCS. This is reflected in the revised SUE proposals in the PSJCS.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

60



Question 22 - Do you support the policy approach for Affordable Housing and 
particularly the provisions suggested in Table 6.1 ‘Levels of Affordable Housing –
from Affordable Housing SPD sites of 15 or more dwellings’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1458 80 1335 43

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The threshold and/or levels of affordable housing sought are too low and will 
not meet market demand.
The threshold and/or levels of affordable housing sought are too high and will 
make many developments unviable. 
The affordable housing requirements should be reassessed in light of 
changes in the financial and housing environments. 
An additional policy is needed to prevent developers artificially submitting 
multiple planning applications for schemes of fewer than 14 units.
Viability testing should apply to development under 50 units and at trigger 
points in larger schemes to allow for changing market conditions.   
Viability testing delays developers’ responses to provision.   
Affordable housing levels should be set by Local Councils as they can identify 
which villages can support additional housing and address local need, with 
the support of the existing residents and the local Parish Councils. 
Blanket approach to affordable housing should not be used given variations in 
local circumstance and the differences in viability between rural and urban 
sites. 
No evidence has been provided for how the figures were determined or their 
viability. Many schemes will become less viable in the future due to higher
S106 contributions, the recession and the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL).  
Table 6.1 is unclear as no explanation is given for the asterisk in the ‘Level of 
Affordable Housing’ column. The sums equal more than 100%. What 
percentage will apply to ‘SUE’s’, which are intended to function as extensions 
to urban areas but are currently rural?
Mixing affordable and private market housing creates problems.  
More detail needs to be provided in the Emergent JCS, rather than a 
subsequent SPD as the latter cannot be legally tested.
Figures are premature in light of the forthcoming Developer Contributions 
DPD. 
Affordable housing will reduce house market house prices in areas it is 
located. 

 Levels of affordable housing proposed are higher than targets set by
Government.  

 Focus should be on ‘intermediate’ housing as ‘social rented’ housing is not 
valued by its occupants.

General Comments 
Is the ‘Development Control Authority’ referring to WNDC or Local Councils?
What does ‘open book basis’ mean?. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

61



Clarification is required whether policy approach refers to the number of 
dwellings or the percentage of affordable housing that will be required.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The level of affordable housing has been carefully assessed by the JPU in light of 
the recent economic circumstances. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) has carefully considered the affordable housing requirement and has been 
updated since the Emergent JCS for the Pre-Submission JCS.  

The PSJCS affordable housing figures have, as a whole, been reassessed in the 
light of the level of housing now proposed and take viability into account. The EJCS 
sets out a target of 35% and 40% for Daventry Town and Daventry Rural 
respectively, whilst the target for South Northamptonshire Urban and South 
Northamptonshire Rural were 40% and 50%. The target is now 31% for Daventry 
District and 38% for South Northamptonshire.

The levels of affordable housing have been reassessed in light of the financial and 
housing environment. The reduced overall target for housing development also 
means a reduced requirement for affordable housing.

In South Northamptonshire where the need is greater, an affordable housing 
contribution will be expected from all sites. In Northampton less than 5% of
development occurs on sites of less than 15 units, therefore only a small number of 
sites will be exempt from providing affordable housing. In those exceptional 
circumstances where on site provision cannot be provided, Policy H2 outlines that, 
“Off Site Provision and/or commuted payments in lieu of on-site provision may be 
supported where this would offer an equivalent or enhanced provision of affordable 
housing”.

Viability testing shall apply to all sites, as specified in Policy H2 of the PSJCS. H2 
states that, “In all cases the percentage requirements identified above are subject to 
the assessment of viability on a site by site basis”. In addition, a percentage of 
affordable housing is required on all sites in Daventry and South Northamptonshire. 
In cases where affordable housing cannot be accommodated on sites, “off site 
provision and/or commuted payments in lieu of on site provision may be supported 
where this would offer an equivalent or enhanced provision of affordable housing”.
Therefore viability testing does apply to all sites within West Northamptonshire.  

There is no evidence to suggest that viability testing delays developers’ responses. 
Viability testing is in place to assess the capacity of each site for affordable housing. 
Policy H2 outlines that, “in exceptional circumstances, off site provision and/or 
commuted payments in lieu of on-site provision may be supported where this would 
offer an equivalent or enhanced provision of affordable housing”. Therefore viability 
testing will not delay developers’ response to provision.

Affordable housing targets have been set in conjunction with local council’s through 
meetings and consultation periods. In regards to determining which villages can 
support additional housing and address local need, the Rural Exceptions site section 
of Policy H2 outlines that affordable housing development will have to meet a 
number of strict criteria before planning permission will be granted on site. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

62



A blanket approach has not been used. Policy H2 outlines that the affordable 
housing target varies region by region depending on the level of need. In addition, 
affordable housing is required on all sites in South Northamptonshire and Daventry 
and not just on developments of fifteen units or more. Policy H2 also states that in all 
cases the percentage requirements identified for each district will be subject to the 
assessment of viability on a site by site basis. Finally, a rural exceptions policy has 
been included, where affordable housing will be approved on small exception sites in 
rural areas provided the criteria specified in the policy can be met. 

It has been specified in the pretext of policy H2 that the policy will, “set out the 
percentage requirements and site size thresholds for affordable housing based on 
the findings of the SHMA and the Viability appraisal”. There is no evidence to 
suggest that S106 levels will increase and it is too early to assess the impact of the 
CIL on affordable housing viability. The Developer Contributions requirement for 
affordable housing will be set out in the Developer Contributions SPD. Viability 
assessments will also assess whether affordable housing can be provided on or off 
site or whether a commuted sum will be sought.

No reason was given to the asterisk; this has now been removed. It is unclear what 
‘sum’ the respondent is referring to. It is the level of affordable housing that is 
proposed in the district. Adding these values together does not exhibit that affordable 
housing provision is greater than 100%. The socially rented and intermediate 
housing are a percentage of the level of affordable housing. The socially rented and 
intermediate always add up to 100% and do not exceed the figure.  

There is no evidence provided as to why mixing affordable and private market 
housing will create problems. Objective 4 of the PSJCS sets out that the JPU wishes 
to, “Ensure new development in urban areas effectively supports and links new and 
existing communities physically and socially, to achieve social cohesion and address 
the areas of deprivation”. Creating separate affordable housing and market housing 
areas will not lead to integrated communities and increase social tensions. In 
addition, all new development will be expected to abide to the Sustainable 
Development Principles set out in Policy S10 as well as abide to the ‘Lifetime 
Homes’ standards discussed in Policy H5. 

Greater detail on affordable housing has been provided in the PSJCS when 
compared to the EJCS. The Affordable Housing SPD will provide further guidance on 
the operation of the Affordable Housing policy. This SPD will be subject to a period 
of consultation. In addition, PPS 12 sets out that, “SPD’s should not be prepared with 
the aim of avoiding the need for the examination of policy which should be 
examined”. The policy on affordable housing will be examined as part of the JCS 
preparation process; the SPD simply provides more guidance on this. 

It has not been made clear as to why the affordable housing figures are premature in 
light of the pending Developer Contributions DPD. The Developer Contributions DPD 
will set out the level of contributions that are sought for a form of development and 
will have no impact upon the affordable housing provision. In addition, the Developer 
Contributions DPD will be adopted after the adoption of the Core Strategy. The 
figures in the JCS cannot therefore be affected by the Developer Contributions DPD.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

63



It has not been specified as to how affordable housing will reduce house market 
prices. If no affordable homes are built then this would drive house prices higher, 
making it increasingly difficult for first-time buyers to get onto the property ladder.  

Central Government does not set out affordable housing targets. The RSS sets out 
the level of affordable housing that is sought. The RSS specifies a target of 17,900 
for the area, whereas the PSJCS only seeks a total of 11,800 units; therefore the 
levels of affordable housing are lower than those proposed by central government.

No evidence has been provided to suggest that ‘social rented’ housing is less valued 
by its occupants compared to ‘intermediate’ housing. 

General Comments 
Which body is the ‘Development Control Authority’ depends on the location of the 
proposal. If the proposal is located within the West Northamptonshire Development
Corporation boundary and is above 50 dwellings, then the West Northamptonshire 
Development Corporation will assess the application. If the proposal is outside the 
boundary, then the relevant local authority will determine the application.

The reference to ‘open book’ analysis has been removed from the affordable 
housing section of the PSJCS. However, ‘open book’ analysis is referred to 
elsewhere in the PSJCS. An explanation of what open book analysis is will be 
included in the Glossary.

Policy H2 of the PSJCS sets a percentage target for affordable housing to be 
delivered on qualifying sites.

Recommended Action

That the policy approach for Affordable Housing as set out in Policy H2 of the 
PSJCS be confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

64



Question 23 – Do you support the policy approach for Gypsies and Travellers 
accommodation?  In particular do you support the criteria defined?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
226 59 87 80

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
 Plan should commit to the provision of the pitch numbers identified in the 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) up to 2017 and
estimate the likely additional numbers that would be required up to 2026.

 Criteria specified should apply to applications for sites to meet unexpected 
demand and not just to site allocations.

 Criterion relating to ‘accessibility to services’ is unduly restrictive and should 
be amended to read ‘the site is reasonably accessible to local services’.

 Questioned why permanent sites are needed if the gypsy lifestyle is nomadic. 
If a settled existence is required then they could occupy housing. Greater 
emphasis should be given to transit sites rather than permanent ones
Concern that sites provided will not be adequately maintained and that the 
local authorities will fail to deal with associated problems.
Priority should be given to local communities and sites should be subject to 
their agreement.
Sites should be removed from existing or planned housing. Locating sites 
within housing estates will not work.
Neither community has any desire to integrate because lifestyles are 
fundamentally different. This should be recognised in the policy. 
Insufficient information is provided as to where sites would be located, why 
the accommodation is needed or the impact it would have on local 
communities.
What is proposed will not solve problem. Government owns vast areas of land 
which could be considered for proper sites for genuine traveller communities. 
No reference made for the need for sites to be notified and reviewed under 
normal planning controls. Why should gypsies and travellers be given 
planning opportunities that are denied to others?
The document should be clear on how the locations will be identified and 
published for public comment.

General Comments 
If sites are not transient but catering for fixed communities is their status 
residential as all services should be in place?
The Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) is currently reviewing this 
matter and will comment.
Great Oxenden is meeting Daventry District’s 2007-2012 requirements with 
sites at Justin Park and Braybrooke Road. Taking into account provision 
elsewhere no more sites are needed.

Joint Planning Unit Response

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

65



The Draft PSJCS does commit to the provision of numbers contained within the 
GTAA. In terms of estimating the likely numbers by 2026, it has been outlined in the 
PSJCS that this will be determined through future revisions of the GTAA.

The document also outlines that the site selection criteria will be applied for, “the 
consideration of planning applications for sites to meet unexpected demand”.

The PSJCS has been amended to be less restrictive in terms of accessibility. It now 
reads, “The site is reasonably accessible to a range of services set out in national 
policy”

Ten transit pitches are required up to 2017. If greater emphasis were to be put on 
the provision of transit sites, these sites would not be of as good a quality as 
permanent sites. Circular 01/2006 details that research has been undertaken which 
demonstrates that there is a link between lack of good quality sites and poor health 
and education. Gypsies and Travelling People are by their very nature nomadic so 
would unlikely to be interested in occupying housing units.

Policy H6 of the PSJCS states, “the site will be capable of providing adequate on site 
services for water supply, power, drainage, sewage disposal and waste disposal 
facilities”. Therefore it will be expected that the sites will provide adequate 
infrastructure facilities. 

It is the responsibility of the relevant local planning authority, not the public, to 
determine the planning application. The local community and relevant stakeholders 
will of course be informed of an application and be invited to comment on the 
application during the statutory consultation period of the planning application.

Policy H6 of the draft PSJCS outlines that, “the scale and location of the site will not 
have an unacceptable impact on existing communities”. In addition it is expected 
that, “The site will provide an acceptable standard of amenity for the proposed 
residents”. Circular 01/2006 also outlines that, “Local authorities should seek to 
promote a peaceful/ integrated co existence between the site and local community”.
Therefore whilst the site and existing housing will be located away from each other to 
protect the amenity of local residents and occupiers of the site, it will still be expected 
that the two communities will be integrated through reasonable access to services 
for example.

On the other hand, Circular 01/2006 specifies that sites should have reasonable 
access to local services such as education and healthcare. There is a link between a 
lack of good quality sites and poor health and education facilities. Therefore existing 
communities and gypsy and travelling Showpeople sites need to be reasonably 
integrated to ensure that Gypsies and Travelling Showpeople have decent access to 
these services, but also that the amenity of both existing communities and proposed 
occupiers of the sites needs to be protected.

The Site Allocations DPD will determine where the sites are to be located as well as 
why they are more suited to this location. The draft PSJCS also explains why these 
sites are required as it states that, “The LDF is required by national planning policy 
(ODPM Circular 01/2006 and CLG Circular 04/2007) to provide sufficient sites to 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

66



meet identified accommodation needs for gypsies, travellers and travelling 
Showpeople”. The circular also states that, “Authorities should also consider making 
full use of the registers of unused and under-used land owned by public bodies as an 
aid to identifying suitable locations. Vacant land or under-used local authority land 
may be appropriate”. Therefore public-owned land will be considered when 
determining which sites to develop.

No preferential treatment is given to any community groups when determining a 
planning application. The draft PSJCS also details a number of criteria that any site 
allocation or planning application for a gypsy and travelling showpeople site will have 
to meet in order to be considered.

Recommended Action
The policy approach set out in Policy H6 of the PSJCS has had full regard to the 
issues raised in representations. A number of changes have been made in response 
to these representations and no further changes are required.

  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

67



Question 24

Question – Do you support the policy approach to employment demand and supply?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1976 104 1811 61

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The geographic location of Northampton makes it ideal for industrial/warehouse 
related employment activities rather than IT/high skilled jobs. 

 The JCS area will be unable to compete with neighbouring areas like Oxford in 
attracting high skilled employment sectors because of the poor skill levels of the local 
labour force, therefore, the role of other B uses for the area could be strengthened.
There is and inadequate level of infrastructure that will adversely impact on the level 
of employment growth in the JCS area. 

 The existing evidence base on job growth requirements and sector type is unreliable. 
 The Sustainable Northamptonshire Economic Action Plan (SNEAP) employment 

projection figures should be included as targets within the policy to monitor progress. 
The provision for employment land should be higher than the Strategic Employment 
Land Assessment (SELA) projections because the sites may not realistically come
forward which may result in undersupply of employment land.  

 The jobs to floor space ratio has been underestimated and needs to be clarified. 
The policy approach needs to be more specific in regards to the different places and 
their economic roles (i.e. types/scale of employment) that they may need to play in 
the JCS area. For example Daventry and Northampton could promote B8 uses, 
Towcester and Brackley could promote small B8 elements with a mix of B1/B2 uses. 

 A number of developers have put forward a number of sites that could accommodate 
employment growth (i.e. Towcester Vale, Swan Valley, Northampton). 

 The level of employment growth is not required because housing growth has been 
overestimated and due to the impact of the recession. 
The ratio of jobs to housing is too low. 

  
Joint Planning Unit Response
The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) and transport strategy will ensure that the necessary 
infrastructure that is required is delivered to support any proposed growth. 

The EJCS advises that at the time of publication the evidence base for employment 
demand and supply was still being developed.  This element of the evidence base has now 
been delivered in the form of a report entitled West Northamptonshire Employment Land 
Study, July 2010 (WNELS). 

During the course of plan preparation it has become evident that the scale of development 
as required by the RSS cannot be delivered within the plan period to 2026 due largely to 
the economic down turn. Consequently, the scale of development as required by the RSS
has been reduced for the JCS in line with a deliverable projection and reflecting local 
needs. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

68



The reduction in the housing delivery reflecting local needs has a consequent implication 
for employment growth and job requirements.  The population modelling has determined 
that fewer jobs will be required to support an appropriate balance of homes and jobs.  The 
employment modelling based on lower housing growth levels will be explained within a 
technical paper.   

The WNELS, other employment land assessments such as SELA and SNEAP together 
with new job requirements will inform the policy development in the next stage of the JCS.   

The PSJCS document/supporting evidence base papers demonstrates how the level of 
employment growth was calculated and how it is justified.  It is also more specific in regards 
to the scale, type and location of the proposed employment development.

The IDP will ensure that the necessary infrastructure is delivered to support any 
employment growth. 
  
Recommended Action

That the policy approach to employment demand and supply as set out in the Economic 
Advantage section of the PSJCS be confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

69



Question 25

Question – Do you support the policy approach for locations of employment growth?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
2482 116 2322 44

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
 Opposed to the potential allocation of employments sites for B8 uses 

(Distribution and Storage) as it may result in high levels of congestion, low 
employment densities, inefficient use of resources and the potential
displacement of high technology/skilled employment.
B8 uses should be situated away from urban centres and residential areas. 

 Infrastructure must be improved to support any employment growth.  
 Further clarification is required in regards to the high level of demand 

employment space for B8, which may only exist in Daventry and 
Northampton. Hence, the policy approach needs to explain the role of 
Towcester, Brackley and wider rural hinterland, and the types of employment 
uses that may be encouraged (i.e. B1, B2). 

 Concern that the policy approach of trying to attract high technology and
knowledge industries into the JCS areas will not be successful because 
Northampton doesn’t have the education sector and (to some extent) the 
infrastructure to support them. A more local and specific approach should be 
pursued to develop the local economy through measures like marketing the 
JCS area, promoting cultural, creative and tourism industries. 
DRIFT should it be strengthened due to its sub regional and cross regional 
importance (i.e. West Midlands). 

 It is premature for the JCS document to place a high level of focus on DIRFT 
because the Route Utilisation and Fright Strategy are still being developed. 
The policy approach will need to acknowledge the impact of the recession in 
terms of how it may have resulted in a high level of vacant employment 
premises and how this may reduce the amount of employment space that 
may be need to be allocated. 
The allocation of employment land at M1 junction 16 will impact adversely on 
the regeneration and development of Daventry town. 
Employment land at M1 junction 16 will be suitable for employment 
development due to the potential of a new railway station, potential to 
encourage businesses to relocate from London and its location within close 
proximity to South and West of Northampton.  
Disagree with the location of the Technology Realm at Northampton North 
SUE as the location of business clusters is no longer dependent on physical 
proximity of the hub due to advances in communication technology.
Northampton North should accommodate a higher level of jobs because it is 
more sustainable than Northampton South and South East

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

70



Daventry South East SUE should be allocated 10 hectares of employment 
space at the expense of Daventry North East which should be deleted. A 
number of studies (i.e. SELA, Commercial Property and Employment Land
Study) have supported this view.  

 The policy approach should be enhanced by specifying a breakdown of the 
current employment sectors by district and how they are expected to change 
in the future. While, others have suggested that the policy approach could 
make a greater reference to strategic employment sites like Wedon Depot, 
Silverstone Circuit, etc.  

Joint Planning Unit Response
A sustainability appraisal will be undertaken to ensure that any employment 
allocations are situated in suitable locations and measures are incorporated into the 
JCS polices to minimise/eliminate any potential adverse impacts (i.e. transport). Also 
the IDP and JCS Transport strategy will ensure that employment uses are located in 
locations where the infrastructure is able to support any employment growth, or 
ensure that the necessary infrastructure is delivered to support the sustainable 
delivery of the strategic site.

Evidence base like the West Northamptonshire Employment Land Study (WNELS), 
Sustainability Assessment (SA), other employment evidence base such as SELA 
and SNEAP and transport studies, etc will help determine the location, scale and 
type of employment for the allocation of strategic sites.

DIRFT has a valid planning consent for expansion as a phase 2 comprising a further 
180,00sqm of additional rail linked distribution and manufacturing buildings. The site 
has a strategic significance. The RSS requires further rail service sites to be 
provided within West Northamptonshire and there is a continuing demand for storage 
and distribution premises within the area.  Network Rail is fully supporting of rail 
connected freight at this location. The Route Utilisation Strategy (RUS) consultation 
document published in December 2010 indicates that there is sufficient capacity 
within the network for additional rail freight.  The final RUS will be published in 
Summer 2011.                 
  
Silverstone Circuit is a site of international importance for the motor sport industry.  
Its further development to support the motorsport industry is strongly supported by 
both South Northamptonshire Council and Aylesbury Vale District Council.  The 
Sliverstone Circuit site straddles the boundary between these local authority areas 
and contributes positively to their economies.       

High technology and knowledge based industries are strongly promoted the West 
Northamptonshire area and an allocation for this type of use will help to broaden the 
employment diversity and opportunity within the plan area.  A site at Northampton
North is available achievable and deliverable.  

During the course of plan preparation it has become evident that the scale of 
development as required by the RSS cannot be delivered within the plan period to 
2026 due largely to the economic down turn. Consequently, the scale of 
development as required by the RSS has been reduced for the JCS in line with a 
deliverable projection and reflecting local needs. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

71



The reduction in the housing delivery reflecting local needs has a consequent 
implication for employment growth and job requirements.  The population modelling 
has determined that fewer jobs will be required to support an appropriate balance of 
homes and jobs.  Consequently, strategic allocations of the scale suggested at 
Junction 16 are unlikely to be required to support the plan objectives or maintain an 
appropriate balance between homes and jobs.  

The WNELS (July 2010) has been published and is an available evidence base.  It 
advises on the extent of employment land available, the role of different employment 
sectors across West Northamptonshire and describes the impact the recession may 
have on different employment sectors.  The WNELS is part of the extensive 
evidence base that will form policy development for the next stage of the JCS.

Recommended Action
As important employment generation sites for specific uses DIRFT and Silverstone 
Circuit should continue to be supported through the JCS. A strategic allocation for 
high technology, business enterprise is supported in a number of employment 
evidence base documents and links strongly with improving and supporting our 
education offer.  A strategic allocation for Technology Realm should continue to be 
progressed within the PSJCS.

Given the overall reduction in job requirement to support housing growth in the West 
Northamptonshire the large strategic employment allocation at J16 has been 
reassessed as part of a sustainable strategy for an appropriate balance of homes 
and jobs and is not continued as an allocation in the PSJCS.

A technical paper will be produced to support the provision of the PSJCS and to 
identify the jobs requirement calculation based on reduced housing delivery.  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

72



Question 26

Question – Do you support the policy approach towards Sustainable Transport?  

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1664 130 1496 38

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
 The policy approach should place a higher level of emphasis on maximising 

the use/ improvements of the existing road network and concentrate on 
encouraging a modal shift to more sustainable modes of transport, prior 
considering the need to build new roads. 

 The existing road infrastructure will not have the capacity for the additional 
traffic, created by the proposed growth. 
There is a lack of funding for the sustainable transport measures that have 
been noted in the policy (i.e. new/improvements to walkways/cycle lanes). 

 Developers will not be able to support the funding of infrastructure 
improvements. More evidence is required in regards to this. 
The policy needs to acknowledge that some users will still need to rely on car 
use, particularly in rural areas where the provision of realistic alternatives is 
not possible. Otherwise, there may be a risk that policy may undermine the 
development of rural areas. Transport links between the rural areas need to 
be improved. 

 In urban areas, the policy could promote more innovative measures to reduce 
car use, such as car-pools, car-sharing, out-of-town park and ride schemes. 

 The rapid transit route to Northampton should not share space with road 
traffic and designed in a way that it can be converted into a tramway as well 
as extended to other areas like Grange Park. 

 The cost of public transport (i.e. rail bus) is too high and too inefficient in 
terms of time. Hence, public transport needs to be re-evaluated and the costs 
need to be reduced. 

 Public transport links to and from Northampton could be improved, particularly 
rail links. For example, the Northampton-Bedford line should be reopened (or 
safeguarded from development) with stations at Nun Mills Road and Great 
Houghton, which would serve the development area.    
The policy needs to emphasise that the location of new development should 
aim to achieve a balance between housing, employment, community facilities 
and located within close proximity to public transport/walking networks. This 
will help reduce the need to travel by car and encourage more sustainable 
uses.  
Further studies need to be undertaken to assess the impact that any growth 
options will have on transport corridors and the place specific sustainable 
transport measures that could be incorporated to address the adverse 
impacts. This would also help address objectors concerns in relation to 
specific strategic transport routes, such as the A43/A508 and the Kingsthorpe 
area (Northampton North), the A45 and Flore/Weedon bypass (Daventry), as 
well as measures being proposed (i.e. A45-M1 link road).

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

73



The policy could be enhanced by incorporating clear targets for modal shift 
based upon the County Council’s Transport Strategy for Growth (i.e. a 20% 
reduction in the modal share of car use in new developments, 5 % overall 
over a 10 year period).

 Work undertaken to support the Preston Green Development have suggested 
that a new A45/M1 link road is not required to support the delivery of this 
area. Improvement to the local road network and the links to the town centre 
would be sufficient (and preferable) to support the Northampton South East 
development. 
The A45/M1link road will have an adverse environmental impact, increase 
pollution and only serve to relocate congestion rather than solving it.  It is 
contrary to the objective of encouraging a modal shift, etc. 

 The policy approach is unrealistic in terms of trying to deliver sustainable 
modes of transport and altering travel behaviours. This policy has failed in 
large parts of the country.     
A National Express coach station should be provided on the edge of Grange 
Park as coaches pass Northampton on the M1 every few minutes. This would 
make it easier to travel to London, without relying on trains.       
Dedicated school transport could prevent congestion and parking issues 
associated with the school run. 

Joint Planning Unit Response
The transport strategy will evaluate the existing infrastructure and improve it, where 
necessary and take all the necessary measures to encourage more sustainable 
modes of transport. The provision of any new road infrastructure will be considered 
as a last resort for combating congestion and promoting more sustainable modes of 
transport.
  
Evidence bases such as the SA and transport studies will help assess the impact of 
the growth options on the capacity of the existing transport infrastructure, how the 
options compare against each other and the measures that may need to be taken to 
eliminate/minimise any adverse impacts. Whilst the IDP will identify all the 
investment that may need to be taken to improve the transport infrastructure, the 
sources of funding and the implications of the options and ensure that funding is 
likely to be available. This will ensure that the required transport infrastructure will be 
delivered to support any growth and be phased with the delivery of that growth.        

The JCS will need to acknowledge that the transport strategy pursued will differ 
between urban and rural areas, as well as provide a greater level of detail in relation 
to the measures that will be promoted in strategic locations, to encourage more 
sustainable modes of transport.
  
The efficiency and cost of public transport is currently being explored in the evidence 
base that is being collected. The final transport strategy for the JCS will include 
details of addressing these issues. 
The SA process will try to ensure that all the policies in the JCS document are 
aiming to achieve a right balance between jobs/homes and other facilities in different 
places in the JCS area. This will help reduce the need to travel by car.

Recommended Action

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

74



Based upon the evidence base that has completed, the PSJCS identifies a clear 
transport strategy that clarifies what actions are needed, where and when, in order to 
ensure that locations for growth will not result in an unsustainable increase in 
congestion and promote more sustainable modes of transport.   

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

75



Question 27

Question – Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Northampton 
North’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
852 82 717 53

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The proposals will result in the coalescence of the villages of Moulton, 
Boughton and Overstone-Sywell. Maintenance of a strategic gap between 
Northampton and these villages would address this issue. 
The case for locating employment in close proximity to the University is not 
convincing.  Furthermore, the university has little land to expand.  Although, 
Moulton College has a large amount of land, this is largely inaccessible.  
Growth should be focussed on brownfield sites, not urban extensions into 
green field sites.
Infrastructure provision associated with this extension is uncertain and 
theoretical.  Road conditions are already beyond capacity and unsafe.  In 
particular, Billing Road, and its intersections; the roundabouts at Round 
Spinney, Lumbertubs Pub and St Gregory Road; the main road through 
existing villages; Boughton Green Road; the Cock Hotel Junction and A43.  
Public and private transportation links; utilities (including broadband), schools, 
doctors, dentists, hospitals, green space, leisure facilities and policing all need 
to be provided and/or investigated further before this level of development is 
committed to.  
Concern that developers will not put adequate infrastructure in place to 
accommodate this development. 
There is much wildlife in this area that would be adversely impacted on by the 
proposed development. Similarly, the development would reduce biodiversity
This proposed growth will adversely impact on existing communities, be 
detrimental to an identified attractive landscape in this area, for both local and 
future residents.  This landscape has been designated medium to high value 
in studies commissioned by the Joint Planning Unit and should not be 
developed
It would be desirable to keep the urban development of Northampton to the 
Northampton side of the M1 and it is not clear how the Northampton North 
Option will deliver reduced levels of deprivation and aid in regeneration.  
The Option proposes development in a floodplain and development will 
exacerbate existing flooding and there is no evidence that the potential for 
flood risk can be mitigated by Sustainable urban Drainage Systems (SuDS).
The proposal will build over good arable farmland that that could be used for 
food production should be protected.  
The proposed development will result in increased traffic high level of noise, 
dust, lighting and traffic that will adversely affect the amenity of persons living 
in this area and new realignment of roads associated with the development, 
such as the A43, will result in noise and traffic that would adversely affect the 
amenity of existing residential areas.  Noise from new industrial units will have 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

76



a similar effect.  The proposed development would result levels on already 
substandard and congested roads. These traffic levels would also 
compromise safety for pedestrians and property.
There are already more than 5000 unoccupied homes in Northampton.  There 
is no need to construct more.
Not enough jobs will be provided within this extension.  
This development is completely foreign to the neighbourhood. 
Realignment of the A43 would be an inefficient use of land. Furthermore, the 
A43 would need to be made into a dual carriageway to provide capacity for 
existing development, let alone that proposed.
The cost of this development is huge and cannot be afforded by the 
Government in its present fiscal state.  Furthermore, it would be unfair to 
saddle future generations with the tax burden of this development.  
The projections this urban extension is based on are outdated and inaccurate.  
The Barker review has been discredited.  Similarly, the RSS figures are under 
review.  As such, the presumption behind this urban extension is flawed. 
Past experience indicates that insufficient infrastructure will be built and the 
homes constructed will be of a poor quality. 
Development will spoil the setting and character of villages in this locality.  
There are high voltage power lines and large gas pipelines located in this area 
that would conflict with housing development. 
Development of two extensions to the villages of Moulton and Overstone, 
rather than a ribbon development as proposed, would be more suitable. 
Given this area’s proximity to the university, student accommodation appears 
to have been overlooked. 
The level of development proposed in this locality would reduce the price of 
existing houses. 
The ground in this area consists of clay overlaying sand and is therefore 
unstable. As such, it is not suitable for development.
The fields in these areas have been used in a recreational capacity for several 
decades by local residents.  This could not occur if this area is covered in 
development. 
The scheme is lacking in clarity and detail. In particular, the maps provided 
are too vague and the exact area affected cannot be accurately gauged.  
More employment land is needed rather than new homes, as there is a lack of 
jobs in Northampton. 
The new housing, particularly affordable housing, will increase crime rates in 
this locality. 
The evidence base for this option is incomplete, particularly with regard to 
infrastructure provision.
A new settlement between Northampton and Wellingborough is more suitable.  
These homes will house more immigrants, which the country does not need. 
The housing proposed will put pressure on the redevelopment of Sywell 
airport.  In particular, there is potential for air accidents and noise to adversely 
impact the new homes.
The proposal will not create jobs and there is a glut of unoccupied industrial 
units in this area. This development will only serve to increase traffic and 
warehousing close to Sywell airport and paid for out of the public purse. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

77



The proposal is developer led and they will only construct high density, small 
units for sale
The suggestion that this area can be brought forward for development early in 
the plan period is worrying as it indicates pre-judgement of this site.  
Development of land north of Round Spinney, Pine Ridge and the Brittons 
Drive developments would be precluded by the Daventry Local Plan as this 
land is designated a Rural Access Area.  Similarly, Overstone Park is 
designated a green wedge in the Daventry Local Plan and development is 
therefore precluded.
Dallington Grange should be allocated as a strategic site given its large 
contribution to housing numbers.  Development at Buckton Fields and 
Dallington Heath/Grange has been previously refused by Northampton 
Borough Council due to traffic issues.  As such, this allocation should be 
removed from the plan. More housing and jobs need to be allocated to this 
Option to achieve the critical mass needed for infrastructure and transport
Development to the north of Northampton should be expanded to include infill 
areas at Moulton and Boughton to link with allocated land at Buckton Fields.
Does not support park and ride facilities. This Option is not sustainable as it 
has poor links to the M1 and rail routes. Specific reference should be made to 
pedestrian, cycling and public transport linkages with the Weston Favell 
District Centre. 
This development will result in part of Daventry District being administered by 
Northampton District Council
Key criteria for the selection of these urban extensions should be; sufficient 
critical mass to justify substantial investment in related infrastructure, existing
or improved public transport accessibility, scope for high quality 
complementary land development which would be attractive to the market; 
flood risk; minimising environmental impact; and effects on any designated 
sites, important landscapes and biodiversity.
Consideration should be given to the effect on listed buildings, Overstone 
Park, undesignated archaeology, Boughton Conservation Area, Holly Lodge 
(Grade II), scheduled ancient monument and Roman and Medieval 
archaeology.
A suitable buffer zone should be provided around the Pitsford Reservoir Site 
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 

Joint Planning Unit Response
The JCS is based on sound evidence and the policy approaches reflect the key 
objectives and priorities of sustainable development. It was appropriate to give 
consideration to all potential sites. 

PPS4 encourages networks of knowledge driven or high technology industries. The 
JCS in line with Government advice and its evidence base on employment provision 
identifies a Technology Realm. The proposed location is close to a number of higher 
education institutions including the University of Northampton, Northampton College 
and Moulton College and within a proposed knowledge based corridor within the 
Oxford to Cambridge University Arc.  The site is deliverable for Technology Realm 
purpose within the plan period.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

78



The JCS incorporates the principles of good design as outlined in PPS1 and seeks 
to minimise the impact of development on local character and national heritage. 
Policies will ensure environmental protection and enhancement of important 
landscape and sites of biodiversity importance.

The provision of essential facilities as part of development is at the centre of the 
sustainable development agenda and the number of jobs to be created will be 
balanced against housing development and infrastructure.

A Sustainability Appraisal(SA) is being completed to assess all the options against 
the SA framework. This will ensure that measures are incorporated into policies 
which aim to minimise/eliminate any adverse economic, social and environmental 
impacts of the options, in order to promote the sustainable development of the JCS 
area. 

An Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) is currently being completed. This will examine 
the capacity of the existing infrastructure, determine when and where new provisions 
will be required, and adequate funding is available in order to support the level of 
growth being proposed. Additionally, it should be emphasised that the IDP will be 
supported by the collection of other evidence bases such as the Water Cycle 
Study(WCS), transport study etc.  

The JCS reflects the key objectives and priorities of the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
and the development proposals have to be screened against these objectives. All the 
sites are subject to SA and a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) undertaken.  
These should provide appropriate framework for guiding the development on the 
site.

During the course of plan preparation it has become evident that the scale of 
development as required by the RSS cannot be delivered within the plan period to 
2026 due largely to the economic down turn. Consequently the scale of development 
as required by the RSS has been reduced for the JCS in line with a deliverable 
projection and reflecting local needs.  

The plan is for a 15 year period and it is therefore unreasonable to expect the current 
state of the economy to continue throughout the Plan period. The projected growth 
and the assumptions made are based on reasonable prospect of economic recovery 
but striking a balance and reducing the level of growth in this location is considered
appropriate.  It is also acknowledged that the approach and the assumptions made 
will be reviewed from time to time through the AMR.

The JCS should only bring forward sites that enable development to make maximum 
benefit to the communities in a sustainable manner. In the light of the reduced 
housing delivery for West Northamptonshire it is suggested that the SUEs proposed 
in the EJCS should be reassessed to ensure that the development that is brought 
forward through the next stage of the JCS is the most sustainable and deliverable 
option set against a reduced housing delivery. 

Recommended Action

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

79



No Change in policy direction – However the number of the housing units in the 
PSJCS have been reassessed to align with the reduced housing delivery within the 
plan period. Consequently the SUE at Northampton North has been reduced to 
2,000 dwellings and associated development as presented in the PSJCS.   

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

80



Question 28

Question – Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Northampton 
South East’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
5958 89 5789 80

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
This Option is unsustainable, too vague and meaningless and fails to meet 
the objectives of the strategy.
The area is remote from Northampton and other significant centres. It lacks 
adequate provision for employment land. Unsure what sustainability means 
and no detail provided on how carbon footprint will be reduced.
Level of affordable housing is unacceptable, as it will encourage anti-social 
behaviour and crime.
Rapid Transit System will take a considerable length of time to complete. 
Concern about the ability of new developments to deliver infrastructure, roads 
and services and waste disposal in the area will worsen.  Rail services will not 
cope with growth.  Danger of approval without any agreed infrastructure.
Houses will be built prior to this, which will encourage people to Milton 
Keynes.
Concern about adequate water supply in the area and further growth in an 
area with infrastructure deficit. The green infrastructure value of the 
Houghton land and the hillside villages’ landscape on the ridge above the 
flood plain provide strong reasons not to develop this area.
Increase air, noise and light pollution. A45 improvement and the planned new 
roads would increase pollution. 
Loss of landscape value particularly the sensitive ridge land along the A428 
and Bradfield has numerous constraints including a ‘significant’ conservation 
area, Biodiversity Action Plans (BAP) sites and historic buildings.
The proposed would destroy an area that contains the habitats of many forms 
of wildlife, disrupt and threaten an area that is rich in history, listed buildings 
and a registered historic park and garden and several archaeological sites 
such as Neolithic, Bronze Age, Roman ruins as well as Scheduled 
Monuments. 
Flood risk has not been properly assessed and this option will further 
exacerbate flood risk in this area due to increased run-off and reduced 
infiltration. 
This Option will envelop and destroy several villages and blight the landscape. 
In particular, Great and Little Houghton should be protected and Preston 
Deanery should remain as a separate settlement. All growth should be 
accommodated on brownfield sites, rather than the greenfield sites as 
proposed. 
The evidence base for this option is incomplete and unjustified.  As such, this 
Option is not sound in terms of Planning Policy Statement 12: Local Spatial 
Planning. The Option appeared ‘out of the blue’ when 90% of the area 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

81



covered by the Preferred Option was not included in the options for 
Northampton’s expansion identified by consultants in 2007 and subsequently 
put out for consultation in the ‘Issues and Options’ document. It is hard to 
avoid the conclusion that the decision to add the Northampton South-East 
Option has either been taken arbitrarily, as a desperate measure to provide 
the required housing numbers, or is in response to developers’ plans already 
in existence. The housing requirement figures are over inflated, outdated and 
unrealistic and there is no evidence that a proper assessment of the 
implications of the option.
Loss of prime agricultural land at a time when the Government is encouraging 
domestic food growth and local employment.
Land allocated for low density, low paying, B8 (Storage and Distribution) 
warehousing employment should instead be used for houses.  The job per 
dwelling ratio is incorrect and unachievable, particularly in light of the current 
recession.  Development near M1 will encourage B8 employment uses
The draft strategy precludes the investment in road infrastructure to the north 
that would release land for the “University Arc” between the University, 
Moulton College and Northampton College. The opportunity to generate a 
“knowledge corridor” to the north of the new city centre will be undermined by 
this Option.  
This Option appears to have been conceived to support an aspiration for 
Northampton to become a city against the wishes of local people.  
This Option will cause house prices in this locality to fall and will produce a 
dormitory area. 
This Option represents an undesirable elongation rather than compaction of 
the urban form.  Large dense development like that proposed will become 
future slums.  
Loss of rural recreation and leisure space. 
The land in this area is unstable being underlain by a bed of clay then sand. 
Much of this land is criss-crossed by public rights of way that may be 
obscured by development. 
The planners are supporting development of greenfield sites to raise more 
money for infrastructure.
Plan does not address climate change and contains insufficient detail to 
indicate how it will be achieved.  In particular, no infrastructure or funding 
plans are presented and the Highways Agency has not been consulted.  
The proposal M1/ A45 road link and associated junctions would affect and 
disrupt existing traffic flows and the new A45 to M1 trunk road will not be able 
to accommodate traffic from this growth. The proposed road and public 
transport links to Northampton are inadequate and will become clogged with 
this level of development. The new roads will increase the number of cars and 
contribute to greenhouse gas emissions and are therefore contrary to national 
policy. 
Rapid transport link following the old railway route is ill conceived as it will 
require two level crossings and will exacerbate traffic problems for the south 
approach to Northampton. 
What is a Rapid Transport Link? A Tram? This needs to be made clearer. 
The agricultural land is required to meet sustainable food targets and 
encourage the growth of the bio fuel industry

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

82



The empty properties in Northampton must be sold or redeveloped before 
new development takes place.
Limited growth could be directed toward the villages.
Proposals will have adverse impacts upon the resident’s quality of life in rural 
areas affected by this extension
Developer contributions will be insufficient to fund the infrastructure proposals.
The development of brownfield land should be prioritised above greenfield 
sites. 
Existing employment or proposed employment growth is insufficient to meet 
the need of the proposed extension.
The Emergent JCS does not adequately reflect the proposals in the Issues 
and Options stage or the consultation representations. 
Insufficient evidence base to justify the preferred options within the EJCS. 
This Option, together with previous extensions, has done nothing to 
encourage the regeneration of Northampton.
Consultation has been insufficient, unclear and hurried. The process has 
lacked transparency.
Proposal will discourage high tech industry to be located in this area.
Improvements to the M1/A45 link will cause increased congestion to the M1.
To develop the transport capacity at corridor between Wellingborough and 
Milton Keynes/Junction 14, M1 where capacity is available, would be 
preferable. The country cannot afford to invest large sums of money into dual 
carriageway construction. 
Improvements to existing infrastructure and new infrastructure would be 
required before any new houses are built. This is unlikely to occur.
Vehicular access to the site in insufficient and no indication of an 
implementation plan or cost projections of providing infrastructure.
New road and moving Junction 15, M1 south would create huge difficulties in 
reaching Brackmills and Grange Park industrial estates.
Development would be suitable on land either side of the M1 where 
landscape has already been disturbed.
Villages within the development area would need substantial green belts. 
Will impact on visitors to the villages and tourism to the area.
Flooding impacts at Billing have not been considered – damaging implication 
for tourism in the area. Drainage for Northampton area is already unable to 
cope and development is contrary to the requirements of Planning Policy 
Statement 25:  Development and Flood Risk.
Proposed link road would isolate rural areas to the east from Northampton.
Option is unacceptable Little Houghton Conservation Area and numerous 
listed buildings will be significantly affected.
Affordable housing percentage is unacceptable. Intermediate housing is 
unlikely to be filled by key workers and will be used for social rented 
accommodation.
Lack of assessment of South East Option in terms of Social Impact 
Assessment / Traffic Assessment / Air Quality Assessment / Biodiversity 
Impact Assessment / Environmental Impact Assessment / Flood Risk 
Assessment / Geological Survey.
No information provided on location of employment elements.
Identity and social fabric of self-sustainable villages will be lost. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

83



No support for either of the extension options.
Development at the South West must not continue there is already unused 
allocated land in this area. 
The South East extension does not appear in its current form in the Issues 
and Options consultation document.
Plan will not create a distinctive character to the area and may lead to loss of 
green rural land to development, which will result in the engineering of 
unnatural open space on the same land is nonsensical.
Historically, modal shift does not occur. If people have cars they will use it. 
This is a fantasy. 
Plans appear to be developer led.
Rather than providing a rapid bus transit along the old railway route, the 
Bedford/Northampton railway line should be reinstated.
The West Coast Mainline is already at capacity and will not be able to cope 
with further development.
Distribution of housing in West Northants should be more evenly distributed 
across the area.
The provision of services and facilities should be a given in any large 
development and should not be used to justify the extension at Northampton 
South East. 
This option is contrary to the Vision and Objectives within the Emergent JCS. 
Document is contrary to the Planning Policy Statement 12: Local Spatial 
Planning tests of soundness as it is neither justified nor effective.
Detachment due to A45 will not encourage sustainable modes of transport, 
walking cycling, into Northampton Town Centre. 
Insufficient sewerage capacity to accommodate South Eastern extension.
Development will be a repeat of past mistakes 
Existing transport and infrastructure need of the area must be addressed and 
no evidence to suggest the Highways Authority supports the new link road.
The new A45/M1 link road will obliterate Quinton and the provision of a 
second junction to the M1 at such close proximity to other junctions would be 
rejected.
Construction of this option and supporting infrastructure would cause 
significant disruption.
Phased finance and/or roof tax should not be used to finance infrastructure.  
No/insufficient evidence of alternative sites has been provided to indicate that 
this site is the only reasonable alternative.
It is possible to place high-density appropriate housing in areas where 
infrastructure already exists, minimising urban sprawl and construction costs.  
The new A45-M1 link will form a physical barrier between the villages and 
Northampton.  
Development will result in adverse impacts upon Great and Houghton and 
extensions to Little Houghton Primary School will ruin its appeal and character 
as small village school.
The proposed road runs in close proximity to the Yardley Chase Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), a major breeding ground for a number of 
rare and threatened species.
The Plan is focussed towards directing traffic away from Northampton.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

84



Plans cannot preserve the existing green infrastructure by developing the 
area.
There is no local need for this scale of housing.
Loss of public rights of way.
Funding for the required level of services and facilities cannot be guaranteed.       
House prices in the villages will substantially decrease.
Will result in loss of village community and a decline in the quality of life 
enjoyed by exiting residents.

 No consistencies exist within the Plan (job figures) and the document, in 
places, is difficult to understand. The consultation has been insufficient and 
the Brafield exhibition only occurred after the close of the consultation period.
Northampton General Hospital is at capacity and will not cope with extra 
demand from new residents at south-east Northampton. Other local 
medical/dental facilities are also at capacity.
Northampton South East will affect the Upper Nene Gravel Pits potential 
Special Protection Area.
Extending to envelop villages at the rural periphery of Northampton is contrary 
to a number of the objectives proposed in the Emergent Joint Core Strategy 
(objectives, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 16).
Concern regarding the level of policing that will be available.
No commitment to provide a secondary school. 
Difficulties of estimating industrial/commercial growth implies labour demand 
will be equally as difficult to gauge over next 25 years.
Insufficient parking available in town centre and at railway station.
Schools are oversubscribed, especially Caroline Chisolm – development of 
Northampton South East will increase the pressures on school places.
High-rise accommodation on brownfield sites would reduce need to build on 
greenfield sites.
Undeveloped allocations must be delivered before new housing sites are 
allocated.
Northampton has accepted disproportionate levels of growth against the 
national average. The extent of growth could damage its heritage
This option may have an adverse impact on the Upper Nene Valley SSSI and 
potential Special Protection Area (pSPA). 
The relationship between this area and Grange Park, Wootton Fields and 
Brackmills needs careful consideration to ensure this area is enhanced rather 
than adversely affected by development.
This should not be the only option with an improved and direct link to Castle 
Station when there are poor links from all over the town. The respondent 
wants to see a new commuter station (West Coast Main Line) with modern 
facilities, safe and easily accessible parking and safe cycle routes because 
Castle Station is no longer fit for purpose.
Growth to the North of Northampton would be closer to the University and 
would be capable of expanding current industrial areas it would also be close 
to Kettering and Wellingborough which would encourage movement to 
Northampton and benefit regeneration.
The diagram in eth EJCS is blurred.  The Issues and Options document was 
significantly clear to provide an effective basis on which to provide comments.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

85



Additional rail stations should be built at Milton Malsor, Roade, Castlethorpe, 
Althorpe and Daventry International Rail Freight Terminal (DIRFT).
Rather than build a new M1/A45 link, the existing A509 from Wellingborough 
to Milton Keynes should be upgraded.  This would follow a more direct route 
and land exists along its length to allow widening. 
The proposed housing numbers should be aligned with natural population 
growth.
Questioned the justification for continued development to North of 
Rothersthorpe.  

Suggestion
It was suggested that development would be more sustainable if spread evenly 
around Northampton. It was also suggested that cross referencing settlement growth 
options to key transport requirements and phasing delivery identified the RSS would 
be beneficial.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The JCS is based on sound evidence and the policy approaches reflect the key 
objectives and priorities of sustainable development. It was appropriate to give 
consideration to all potential sites.

Planning for growth and accepting increased development should bring benefits 
and/or improvement to Northampton in terms of new infrastructure and community 
facilities. The provision of essential facilities as part of development is at the centre 
of sustainable development agenda and the number of jobs to be created will be 
balanced against housing development and infrastructure.

The option supports the Vision and Objectives in the Emergent JCS and accords with
the spirit of Planning Policy Statement 12. Policies will ensure environmental 
protection and enhancement of important landscape and sites of biodiversity 
importance and there is no evidence that proposal will lead to diminution of the 
character of the local area. Policies and proposals in the JCS will respect local 
character and protect open spaces 

There is no evidence that development in this location will have an adverse impact 
on the Upper Nene Valley SSSI and potential Special Protection Area (pSPA) or 
undermine the integrity of the area’s amenity.

The suggested change in terms of the distribution of housing development runs 
counter to Government advice.  ‘Pepper potting’ or spreading development in 
clusters will increase cost of infrastructure and introduce development in areas 
where this may not be appropriate. The IDP will demonstrate the phasing and 
delivery mechanisms of the proposals. 

The JCS reflects the key objectives and priorities of the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
and the development proposals have to be screened against these objectives. All the 
sites are subject to SA and the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SDFRA.  These 
studies provide an appropriate framework for guiding the development on the site.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

86



During the course of plan preparation it has become evident that the scale of 
development as required by the RSS cannot be delivered within the plan period to
2026 due largely to the economic down turn. Consequently the scale of development 
as required by the RSS has been reduced for the PSJCS in line with a deliverable 
projection and reflecting local needs.  

The plan is for a 15 year period and it is therefore unreasonable to expect the current 
state of the economy to continue throughout the period. The projected growth and 
the assumptions made are based on reasonable prospect of economic recovery. It is 
also acknowledged that the approach and the assumptions made will be reviewed 
from time to time through the AMR.

The JCS should only bring forward sites that enable development to make maximum 
benefit to the communities in a sustainable manner. In the light of the reduced 
housing delivery for West Northamptonshire it is suggested that the SUEs proposed 
in the EJCS should be reassessed to ensure that the development that is brought 
forward through the next stage of the JCS is the most sustainable and deliverable 
option set against a reduced housing delivery. 

Recommended Action
In the light of the reduced housing delivery for the JCS to 2026 the Northampton 
South East SUE as a significantly large allocation is not progressed forward to the 
Pre-Submission version.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

87



Question 29

Question – Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Northampton 
Junction 16’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
509 73 356 80

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The proposal is unclear with insufficient information. It does not appear to 
relate to the urban area or integrated into the town and would not help the 
town centre. It conflicts with the objective of the Northampton Central Area 
Action Plan (NCAAP) which aims to ‘bring employers back to the centre’ and 
contravenes national policy in Planning Policy Statement 4, which seeks to 
accommodate employment uses in urban areas.
Doubt the suitability of this site for employment and the development at 
Junction 16, M1 will result in a disconnected and unsustainable business 
park, which would threaten Northampton’s regeneration objectives. 
Unsustainable location and poor access with no rail connection, 5 miles from 
Northampton and remote from existing and proposed housing areas. No 
evidence that this will be sustainable in the future and will be a car dependent 
development contrary to principles stated elsewhere in the Plan.
Sufficient empty sites exist without creating new blots on the landscape. 
Economic and growth should be accommodated on brownfield land first and 
within walking and cycling distance of residential areas. 
The impact of development on Kislingbury, including traffic impact, visual 
intrusion, increased noise levels, air pollution, and smell from sewage 
treatment works. This will substantially reduce the quality of life in the village. 
Impact on the road network particularly M1/Junction 16 which is already too 
congested. Consideration could be given to the widening of M1 to 4 lanes, but 
this would not solve the problem and the scale of the development would 
likely compromise its safe and efficient operation. 
Avoid ribbon development and coalescence with the village of Harpole and 
restrict development to the immediate proximity of Junction 16, M1. 
The southern part of the Sandy Lane Relief Road at Junction 15 and 15A, M1 
/ A43, should be development with a new commuter rail station. 
For the Junction 16, M1 proposal to be accepted, proposal for Northampton 
should shift along the A4500, away from the south east.  
Concerned about infrastructure inadequacy and the increased demand on 
water supply and the adequacy of sewers.  The ongoing maintenance of 
Sustainable urban Drainage System (SuDs) systems and the example of 
Church Lane, Bugbrooke which requires massive investment in the drainage 
system was cited. 
Proposed bypass at Flore-Weedon south of Nether Heyford and between 
Bugbrooke and Pattishall linking to the proposed southeast bypass would 
create development opportunity in this location without affecting existing 
communities.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

88



Proposed out-of-town location site is not sustainable as it performs poorly 
against Sustainability Appraisal (SA) criteria and its proximity to the M1 will 
make people travel to Milton Keynes rather than try to access the town centre. 
It will encourage greater car use which conflicts with environmental and health 
related priorities.
It is in an area of unstable glacial valley floor and in the vicinity of floodpain 
and will increase flood risk downstream to Kislingbury and Northampton.
The impact on rural setting, loss of valuable agricultural land and countryside, 
unacceptable loss of landscape, partially excavated Roman settlement, 
verdant water meadows, ridge and furrow field impacts and lessening of the 
separation between Northampton and settlements to the west. 
Failure to recognise the importance of the village life of everyone living in 
Harpole. The proximity to the Bugbrooke Meadows Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI) and the visual impact on sensitive area and the potential 
destruction of sites of significant heritage and archaeological interest, the 
landscape, the countryside heritage, character and community of the village 
or Harpole. It will open up an unspoilt part of a beautiful village.
The evidence for employment development in this location is inaccurate and 
based out of date growth projections set out in the RSS not robust or credible. 
It is not supported by robust evidence such as the draft Strategic Employment 
Land Assessment (SELA) report and as such is contrary to the requirements 
of Planning Policy Statement 12. Further evidence base is therefore needed. 
The area shown (176ha) is much higher than the area shown in the SELA 
report (40.4ha) and projects growth beyond the designated West 
Northamptonshire Development Corporation (WNDC) boundaries. The higher 
figure needs to be justified and tested through Sustainability Appraisal.
Reduced the requirement for development by distributing development in 
villages and the centre of town.
There is a danger that if this development proceeds then there would be 
future backfilling of development along the A4500 to Northampton.
New industrial units are not needed when there are many vacant units such 
as warehouses in Grange Park, Pineham and Swan Valley and empty 
development sites at Brackmills, Moulton Park, Round Spinney and Lodge 
Farm, which should be developed first  Do the people of Northampton want all 
the gateways to their town to be guarded by distribution centres? 
With some 5 million square feet of available industrial warehouse no further 
warehousing is needed.
The town has already expanded far enough to the west.
The site will become a potential target for criminals at night.
Low density development that is impossible to serve by public transport in this 
location may detract from Daventry, undermine its regeneration and 
compromise the investment and job growth at DIRFT.
The development will produce jobs mainly in the logistics industry and 
warehousing, which generate few jobs. It is unclear how the job figure was 
calculated and there is doubt about the deliverability of the 11,500 jobs. 

Suggestion

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

89



It was suggested that better sites exist which could accommodate this type of 
development such as Daventry International Rail Freight Terminal (DIRFT) and the 
Northampton South East Option, which could provide a mixed use urban extension. 

Joint Planning Unit Response
The JCS is based on sound evidence and the policy approaches reflect the key 
objectives and priorities of sustainable development. It was appropriate to give 
consideration to all potential sites. The site is indicated in the Strategic Employment 
Land Assessment (SELA) as a development opportunity to support the economic 
growth of the area.   

The JCS reflects the key objectives and priorities of the Sustainability Appraisal (SA)
and the development proposals have to be screened against these objectives. All the 
sites are subject to SA and the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA).  These 
should provide appropriate framework for guiding the development on the site.

The Emergent JCS advises that at the time of publication that the evidence base for 
employment demand and supply was still being developed.  This element of the 
evidence base has now been delivered in the form of a report entitled West 
Northamptonshire Employment Land Study (WNELS), July 2010. 

During the course of plan preparation it has become evident that the scale of 
development as required by the RSS cannot be delivered within the plan period to 
2026 due largely to the economic down turn. Consequently, the scale of 
development as required by the RSS has been reduced for the JCS in line with a 
deliverable projection and reflecting local needs. 

The reduction in the housing delivery reflecting local needs has a consequent 
implication for employment growth and job requirements.  The population modelling 
has determined that fewer jobs will be required to support an appropriate balance of 
homes and jobs. Consequently, strategic allocations of the scale suggested at 
Junction 16 are unlikely to be required to support the plan objectives or maintain an 
appropriate balance between homes and jobs.  

Recommended Action
Following is reassessment as part of a sustainable strategy for an appropriate 
balance of homes and jobs based on reduced housing growth a strategic 
employment allocation at Junction 16 is not progressed forward to the PSJCS. 
  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

90



Question 30

Question – Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Northampton 
West’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
834 73 698 63

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The Option is too vague, short on details and the plan is too blurred and 
difficult to read.
Concerned about Northampton as the focus for development
Not sure if Upton Lodge is part of the overall expectation of 6900 dwellings
The housing requirement figures are based on the East Midlands Regional 
Assembly estimate and this is no longer accurate and in need of a full review.
There are sufficient empty, abandoned disused buildings and brownfield sites 
to supply 70% of a reasonable growth capacity for the town. 
Given the state of the economy and the number of vacant and unsold 
properties around it is doubtful whether there is demand to justify the level of 
housing growth this level of development and the funding required.
Concerned about concreting over the countryside and no evidence to 
demonstrate that this is sustainable and beneficial in Northampton 
Concern that the area is probably too big and on a scale (5 miles long and 2 
miles wide) that no other area of Britain has proposed over the last 5 years
The proposed development is in prime agricultural area, highly visible, 
sensitive and a prominent landform. It is in an area of unstable glacial valley 
floor, prone to flooding and will result in greater downstream flood risk to 
Kislingbury and Northampton and will not assist in improving air-quality. It will 
deny local people access to land of a high recreational value
Proposal extends development into an area that is of high priority for the 
restoration of acid grassland and heath land habitat and will destroy sites of 
significant heritage and archaeological interest such as Harpole’s Roman 
Villas, iron age round houses, monastic fishpond, a field and hedgerow 
system established by an Enclosure Award of 1778, ancient charities, 
woodlands, Georgian parkland, manorial mill and sandstone farmers houses 
with historic occupation back to the civil war and significant Romano-British 
villa site at SP 684599.
Growth should be contained within existing designated area and save our 
village from destruction and countryside buffer between Northampton and 
Harpole/ Kislingbury should be maintained. 
Concerned about to high levels of air pollution that will impact Harpole and the 
visual impact of development on Pineham is unacceptable already and 
Harpole should be safeguarded and the area from Nobottle Road to 
Dallington Grange is less critical and could be linked through to Welford Road.
The proposal will destroy greenbelt and the character of the area and 
concerned that many villages and areas such as St. Crispin’s hospital site and 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

91



Kislingbury which already suffer light pollution from existing industrial 
development and the proposals will be worse off.
Development should be limited at the ring road and not sprawl. The realistic 
alternative is Northampton North, South and North East. 
Building relief road is an excuse for a massive land-grab and the present road 
systems including: Northampton to Weedon Road (A4500), Harlestone Road 
(A428); Sandy Lane; Duston Road and Bants Lane are congested and 
inadequate.  
Identification of a town centre, without specifying the scale, location and form 
of such a centre is in conflict with PPS12 and raises the question of 
soundness.
The proposed jobs will take up a large land area involves low skill levels and 
low occupancy rates and the number of jobs will not support housing growth. 
Develop the local area with the local community in mind first. Concerned 
development is there to solely to facilitate funding to complete the North-West 
Link (Sandy Lane Ring Road).
Place high-density housing in areas where infrastructure already exists. 
The proposed approach to infrastructure is too light and the sewerage system 
is already at capacity.

Suggestion
It was suggested that the distribution of housing should be in clusters across the 
county keeping small communities and with infrastructure that can realistically be 
funded. It was also suggested that the requirement for a new local centre would be 
better met by designating Sixfields a District Centre, given its links with Northampton 
west and the existing community. 

Joint Planning Unit Response
The choice of sites and location of housing development in the Emerging JCS were 
influenced by Government policy and the desire to reflect the principle of sustainable 
development. 

Planned growth and targets set for housing and other developments are justified by 
sound evidence and the scale of development proposed will ensure the delivery of 
appropriate and overall development requirements by 2026. There is no evidence 
that available empty premises and underused land will be sufficient to meet the 
needs of West Northamptonshire over the planned period.

The scale of development is based on projected population and the designation of 
the area as one of growth points in the UK. The general review of the region’s 
population and employment assumptions underpin the need to plan ahead.

The JCS reflects the key objectives and priorities of the Sustainability Appraisal and 
the development proposals have to be screened against these objectives. All the 
sites are subject to SA and a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA).  These 
should provide appropriate framework for guiding the development on the site.

The JCS incorporates the principle of good design as outlined in PPS1 and seeks to 
minimise the impact of development on local character. Commitment to EU 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

92



regulations and environmental protection means that important landscape and sites 
of importance and biodiversity are carefully considered at every stage of the process.

The provision of local shops and essential facilities as part of development is at the 
heart of sustainable development agenda and the number of jobs to be created will 
be balanced against housing development and infrastructure.

Although the JCS does promote housing growth across West Northamptonshire, the
suggested change which appears to seek an even distribution of housing 
development throughout the area runs counter to government advice.  ‘Pepper 
potting’ or spreading development in clusters will increase cost of infrastructure and 
introduce development in areas where this may not be appropriate.

During the course of plan preparation it has become evident that the scale of 
development as required by the RSS cannot be delivered within the plan period to 
2026 due largely to the economic down turn. Consequently the scale of development 
as required by the RSS has been reduced for the JCS in line with a deliverable 
projection and reflecting local needs. 

The plan is for a 15 year period and it is therefore unreasonable to expect the current 
state of the economy to continue throughout the period. The projected growth and 
the assumptions made are based on reasonable prospect of economic recovery but 
striking a balance and reducing the level of growth. It is also acknowledged that the 
approach and the assumptions made will be reviewed from time to time through the 
AMR.

The JCS should only bring forward sites that enable development to make maximum 
benefit to the communities in a sustainable manner. In the light of the reduced 
housing delivery for West Northamptonshire it is suggested that the SUEs proposed 
in the EJCS should be reassessed to ensure that the development that is brought 
forward through the next stage of the JCS is the most sustainable and deliverable 
Option set against a reduced housing delivery. 

Recommended Action
No Change in policy direction – However the size site and number of the housing 
units should be reassessed to align with reduced housing delivery within the plan 
period.  Northampton West SUE is reduced to a housing delivery of 1,500 dwellings 
as proposed in Policy N4 of the PSJCS.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

93



Question 31

Question – Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Northampton 
South’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1253 86 1094 73

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
As a market town, Northampton was not designed to accommodate this level 
of growth. The proposed growth is designed to enable Northampton to acquire 
city status and will promote commuting and contribute to Northampton 
eventually becoming part of Milton Keynes.  The plans showing this option are 
very blurred and difficult to read
This appears to be a developer led option and will depreciate homes in this 
area. Home buyers/families who want to live in this area will not buy these 
homes, given its proximity to noise and pollution from the M1 and will only be 
bought by investors.
Development should not go beyond the Development Corporation’s 
boundaries. The proposed housing would mean more immigrants and 
overpopulation of the area.
The strategy will need to set aside a number of hectares of land for burials.
Adopt sustainable approach to development under the revised RSS.  
The housing requirements are no longer accurate and the housing growth 
figures set out in Table 6.4 lack supporting evidence, and are therefore 
unrealistic.
Employment uses will comprise largely warehousing and distribution.  These 
uses have a low employment ratio and employ largely unskilled workers.  
The employment land area will be insufficient given the number of homes 
proposed.  This will exacerbate out-commuting and traffic congestion on 
surrounding roads.  
The previous Urban Capacity Study undertaken by Northampton Borough 
Council indicates that 70% of the proposed housing growth could be 
accommodated on brownfield sites.  Furthermore, there are many empty and 
derelict sites that should be developed before the greenfield land in this area 
is developed. 
The evidence base is incomplete, particularly with respect to flooding and 
infrastructure. This site regularly floods and this cannot be overcome by 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS).
Concerned about existing physical infrastructure (potable, waste and storm 
water; roads) and social (e.g. children school placements, hospitals, GP 
surgeries, emergency services, police, Churches, open space) to support the 
level of development. Infrastructure is insufficient for recently established 
communities in West and South Northampton.  Furthermore, the funding for 
this development is questionable, given the current recession and the need to 
reduce Government deficit. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

94



This option is unsustainable and this level of development would give rise to 
air, noise and light pollution and further decrease traffic safety. The proposed 
development may give rise to land slippage as this area is underlain with a 
bed of clay then sand
New development should seek to maintain the villages as separate 
settlements through the use of green infrastructure.
This area is prime agricultural land that will be occupied by development at a 
time when, due to global warming and import restrictions, more food needs to 
be grown in the UK. 
This extension will be detrimental to the character, amenity and way of life 
found in the surrounding villages and it would lead to loss of local recreation 
ground, threaten archaeological sites, wildlife habitat, and restrict the 
continued viability of the golf course.
Collingtree should be maintained as a separate village, through the use of 
green infrastructure.  This village has 10 listed building entries include a
Grade II* church.
This option will increase vandalism and anti-social behaviour due to the 
component of affordable housing proposed and the congregation of young 
people in this area
Maximise high-density development where infrastructure already exists to 
minimise urban sprawl and construction costs.
This location would be better suited to industries requiring heavy goods 
movements to maximise the benefits of its location near the M1 and A43.
House designs will not be sympathetic to existing structures. The level of 
development proposed will result in years of disruption to existing 
communities, during construction.

Suggestion
A reservoir should be built for storm water to drain into. The area around this can be 
used as a wildlife sanctuary. The area to the rear of Upton Grange should be 
developed and this site should be developed as a woodland or wetland area to 
promote tourism given the flood risk in this area. A rail link at Blisworth on the main 
line could enhance Northampton South’s accessibility. 

Joint Planning Unit Response
The scale of development of in the Emergent JCS is based on projected population 
and the designation of the area as one of growth points in the UK. The general 
review of the region’s population and employment assumptions underpin the need to 
plan ahead.

The JCS evolved from Central Government planning agenda and the scope and 
contents are guided by policies and procedures set out in PPS12. There is therefore 
no evidence that the plan is developer-led. 

The JCS incorporates the principle of good design as outlined in PPS1 and seeks to 
minimise the impact of development on local character. Sustainable development 
can be implemented in this location in a way that reduces the impact on the 
environment and minimises any harmful effect. The JCS objectives and emerging 
policies will ensure the suitability of the development. High design standards will be 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

95



achieved and the implementation of the policies and strategies will reduce crime and
minimise the fear of crime.

All identified sites included in the JCS have been the subject of rigorous testing
against the key objectives and priorities of the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) carried 
out by independent consultants. The development proposals have also been tested 
in the light of evidence from Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) and 
Appropriate Assessment (AA) reports and comments received during the various 
consultation stages.  Cumulatively these inform and provide appropriate framework 
for guiding the choice, scale and appropriateness of development sites taken 
forward.

It is acknowledged that the provision of addition infrastructure would be required and 
the JCS is proactive about this through the preparation of Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan (IDP) as part of the Plan. A schedule of infrastructure and how this will be 
delivered will be provided as part of the JCS. 

The Emergent JCS cautions that at the time of its publication this Option was 
insufficiently developed in terms of effective flood mitigation and physical vehicular 
access to the site.  The flood mitigation investigation has now been completed and it 
is advised that the reconfiguration of the golf course as proposed will provide a 
positive environmental impact to flood alleviation from the Wootton Brook.   

The growth Option and the scale of development are based on sound evidence and 
influenced by Government policy and the desire to reflect the principle of sustainable 
development.

During the course of plan preparation it has become evident that the scale of
development as required by the RSS cannot be delivered within the plan period to 
2026 due largely to the economic down turn. Consequently, the scale of 
development as required by the RSS has been reduced for the PSJCS in line with a 
deliverable projection and reflecting local needs. 

The plan is for a 15 year period and it is therefore unreasonable to expect the current 
state of the economy to continue throughout the period. The projected growth and 
the assumptions made are based on reasonable prospect of economic recovery but 
striking a balance and reducing the level of growth. It is also acknowledged that the 
approach and the assumptions made will be reviewed from time to time through the 
AMR.

The JCS should only bring forward sites that enable development to make maximum 
benefit to the communities in a sustainable manner. In the light of the reduced 
housing delivery for West Northamptonshire it is suggested that the SUEs proposed 
in the EJCS should be reassessed to ensure that the development that is brought 
forward through the next stage of the JCS is the most sustainable and deliverable 
option set against a reduced housing delivery. 

Recommended Action

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

96



No change in policy direction – However the size site and number of the housing 
units should be reassessed to align with reduced housing delivery within the plan 
period as proposed in Policy N5 of the PSJCS.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

97



Question 32

Question – Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Daventry South 
East’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
834 58 333 443

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
 The town will not be able to successfully attract high tech employment due to 

a shortage of skilled labour and no evidence of the private sector buy in. 
 The development of this option is likely to adversely impact the regeneration 

of West Northamptonshire.  
 The scale of this growth option is not justified by any evidence because 

population forecasts have been overestimated. 
 The level of growth required has been underestimated because housing 

windfall projections in rural areas have been taken into account (contrary to 
PPS3) and housing units delivered beyond 2026 should not be considered as 
part of the plan’s housing targets. 
The Daventry SE growth option area will be poorly connected to the existing 
urban area (partly due to the existing industrial estate) and will therefore result 
in unsustainable levels of commuting (i.e. A45 /A5).

 The road infrastructure is already over-capacity which will raise safety issues. 
 The proposed A45 bypass is not grounded in policy and is contrary to the 

local objective of promoting more sustainable modes of transport. 
Brownfield sites and the reuse of vacant buildings should be prioritised above 
this option. 

 Development of this option will have an adverse impact on the environment in 
terms of a loss of biodiversity (i.e. loss of badger habitats), the two protected 
forested areas, and increasing the risk of flooding along Nene Valley to 
Northampton and beyond.   
It will result in an unacceptable impact on the landscape and the 
historic/archaeological assets (i.e. Borough Hill, Burnt Walls). 

Joint Planning Unit Response
The scale of development in the Emergent JCS is based on projected population and 
the designation of the area as one of the growth points in the UK. The general review 
of the region’s population and employment assumptions underpin the need to plan 
ahead.

The JCS incorporates the principle of good design as outlined in PPS1 and seeks to 
minimise the impact of development on local character. Sustainable development 
can be implemented in this location in a way that reduces the impact on the 
environment and minimises any harmful effect. The JCS objectives and emerging 
policies will ensure the suitability of the development. High design standards will be 
achieved and the implementation of the policies and strategies.  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

98



Additional evidence base in relation to the transport implications is being finalised,
the capacity of the infrastructure are currently being completed. This will clarify all 
the sustainable transport measures that may need to be incorporated into the policy 
framework and help justify all the infrastructure improvements that may be required. 

The JCS population projections and housing requirements takes into account reuse 
of brownfield land and reuse of vacant buildings as is required by national guidance.  
Greenfield development is required to provide for housing needs.

Studies have been undertaken including Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and 
Appropriate Assessment (AA) as part of the plan making process, which will ensure 
measures (i.e. Green Infrastructure, design measures, sensitive location of 
development) are incorporated into the policy framework to eliminate/minimise any 
adverse environmental impacts. 

During the course of plan preparation it has become evident that the scale of
development as required by the RSS cannot be delivered within the plan period to 
2026 due largely to the economic down turn. Consequently, the scale of 
development as required by the RSS has been reduced for the JCS in line with a 
deliverable projection and reflecting local needs. 

The plan is for a 15 year period and it is therefore unreasonable to expect the current 
state of the economy to continue throughout the period. The projected growth and 
the assumptions made are based on reasonable prospect of economic recovery but 
striking a balance and reducing the level of growth. It is also acknowledged that the 
approach and the assumptions made will be reviewed from time to time through the 
AMR.

The JCS should only bring forward sites that enable development to make maximum 
benefit to the communities in a sustainable manner. In the light of the reduced 
housing delivery for West Northamptonshire it is suggested that the SUEs proposed 
in the EJCS should be reassessed to ensure that the development that is brought 
forward through the next stage of the JCS is the most sustainable and deliverable 
option set against a reduced housing delivery.

Recommended Action
In the light of the reduced housing delivery for the JCS to 2026 the Daventry South 
East SUE has been reassessed and excluded from progression forward to the 
PSJCS.  
.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

99



Question 33

Question – Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Daventry 
North’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
824 52 331 441

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
 The plan is based upon an out of date population projections and cannot be 

supported.  The RSS housing target can be met without the allocation of land 
at Daventry. 

 Lack of employment provisions means that the option cannot be supported.
Information in relation to the level of out commuting from the town should 
have been included. 
The proposed/current infrastructure is insufficient to support the proposed 
level of growth. For example, there is a lack of capacity at the Whilton 
Sewage Treatment Works and lack of secondary school places.
There is a need to develop the Weedon-Flore bypass. 

 New sustainable links to Long Buckby will be problematic because it will 
require longer travel times in comparison with alternative options and access 
around Drayton Reservoir is poor. 
Daventry North was condemned by an inspector at a Local Plan Inquiry. 
These views are still relevant. 
Development at Crick is a preferable location for growth. 
The option will adversely impact on the village of Welton (as well as contrary 
to the Parish Plan) and Grand Union Canal conservation area. 
Development of brownfield sites and the reuse of empty properties should be 
prioritised over greenfield development. 

 The option will have an adverse impact on the environment, in terms of a loss 
of wildlife habitat and biodiversity, and increase flood risk downstream    
The topography of this option will cause it to be highly intrusive on the 
landscape, particularly the area between Welton and Daventry. There are 
concerns about the coalescence of the latter two locations and other villages.
This performs less well in sustainability terms due to distance from the town 
centre and employment locations. Also it was noted that this option is weak in 
terms of character and accessibility.   

Joint Planning Unit Response
The scale of development in the Emergent JCS is based on projected population and 
the designation of the area as one of the growth points in the UK. The general review 
of the region’s population and employment assumptions underpin the need to plan 
ahead.

The JCS incorporates the principle of good design as outlined in PPS1 and seeks to 
minimise the impact of development on local character. Sustainable development 
can be implemented in this location in a way that reduces the impact on the 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

100



environment and minimises any harmful effect. The JCS objectives and emerging 
policies will ensure the suitability of the development. High design standards will be 
achieved and the implementation of the policies and strategies.  

A Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is being completed to assess all the options against 
the SA framework. This will ensure that measures are incorporated into policies 
which aim to minimise/eliminate any adverse economic, social and environmental 
impacts of the options, in order to promote the sustainable development of the JCS 
area. 

An Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) is currently being completed. This will examine 
the capacity of the existing infrastructure, determine when and where new provisions 
will be required, and adequate funding is available in order to support the level of 
growth being proposed. Additionally, it should be emphasised that the IDP will be 
supported by the collection of other evidence bases such as the Water Cycle Study
(WCS), transport study etc.  

The inspector’s comments in relation for the adoption of the Local Plan (i.e. 1997)
relate to the circumstances at that time, the level of growth being considered, other 
development site opportunities and the provisions under which the Local Plan was
being produced. 

Although Crick is located within close proximity to a strategic employment site 
(DIRFT), the development of this location will be contrary to JCS vision that aims to 
focus strategic growth close to the main urban areas of Northampton, Daventry, 
Towcester, Brackley and Daventry. 

During the course of plan preparation it has become evident that the scale of
development as required by the RSS cannot be delivered within the plan period to 
2026 due largely to the economic down turn. Consequently, the scale of 
development as required by the RSS has been reduced for the JCS in line with a 
deliverable projection and reflecting local needs. 

The plan is for a 15 year period and it is therefore unreasonable to expect the current 
state of the economy to continue throughout the period. The projected growth and 
the assumptions made are based on reasonable prospect of economic recovery but 
striking a balance and reducing the level of growth. It is also acknowledged that the 
approach and the assumptions made will be reviewed from time to time through the
AMR.

The JCS should only bring forward sites that enable development to make maximum 
benefit to the communities in a sustainable manner. Further assessment and a 
review of the representations and in the light of the reduced delivery for West 
Northamptonshire, and compared to other potential development sites at Daventry 
there is evidence that Daventry North may be less sustainable than other options. 

Recommended Action
In the light of the reduced housing delivery for the JCS to 2026 the Daventry North 
SUE has been reassessed and excluded from progression forward to the PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

101



Question 34

Question – Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Daventry North 
East’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
882 58 324 440

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
 Too many dwellings are being proposed which are based upon out of date 

and inaccurate household projections.  
 Housing trajectories that were produced at a recent public enquiry in to this 

and other sites indicated that the housing numbers stated underestimate the 
housing potential of the area. 

 The area cannot accommodate 2000 jobs. 
 There is an unbalanced jobs/dwellings ratio and the level of out commuting 

figures should have been included (like Northampton). 
The scale of this development will create its own shopping/community centre 
which will undermine the regeneration of the town.
The economy of the town should be restructured towards knowledge 
industries of the future.  

 This option will have an adverse impact on the Grand Union Canal, as well as 
the number of boaters and tourists to the area.
The development of this option will have a negative effect on the environment 
because it will result in displacing various fauna and flora habitat, increase 
flood risk due to its location on a flood plain from Daventry and Drayton
reservoirs and surface water flooding/problems in the upper Nene, loss of 
valuable agricultural land, as well impact the wildlife in the county park. 

 Growth should be accommodated on brownfield sites rather than greenfield
sites.
This option is located further away from the centre of Daventry in comparison 
to the alternatives which is likely to create congestion because the transport 
infrastructure is inadequate for the level of growth that has been proposed. 
There is a need to upgrade the road network (i.e. Flore/Weedon bypass)

 The safety of cyclists on the national cycle-ways will be compromised. 
 This option will have an adverse impact on traffic using country roads and the 

tranquil setting of the villages.  
 The option is heavily reliant on Long Bucky Station.   

Joint Planning Unit Response
The scale of development in the Emergent JCS is based on projected population and 
the designation of the area as one of the growth points in the UK. The general review 
of the region’s population and employment assumptions underpin the need to plan 
ahead.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

102



The JCS incorporates the principle of good design as outlined in PPS1 and seeks to 
minimise the impact of development on local character. Sustainable development 
can be implemented in this location in a way that reduces the impact on the 
environment and minimises any harmful effect. The JCS objectives and emerging 
policies will ensure the suitability of the development. High design standards will be 
achieved and the implementation of the policies and strategies.  

A Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is being completed to assess all the options against 
the SA framework. This will ensure that measures are incorporated into policies 
which aim to minimise/eliminate any adverse economic, social and environmental 
impacts of the options, in order to promote the sustainable development of the JCS 
area. 

An Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) is currently being completed. This will examine 
the capacity of the existing infrastructure, determine when and where new provisions 
will be required, and adequate funding is available in order to support the level of 
growth being proposed. Additionally, it should be emphasised that the IDP will be 
supported by the collection of other evidence bases such as the Water Cycle 
Study(WCS), transport study etc.   

A Retail Assessment has been commissioned to provide an evidence base to inform 
the retail policy approach in the JCS. The policy approach can define the scale, 
phasing, location and type of retail development appropriate to the scale of housing 
development and to which locations new retail development should be directed. The 
regeneration of Daventry Town Centre is an important objective of the plan.

Measures such as sensitive design, location and green infrastructure will be 
incorporated into the policy framework to ensure that and development proposals for 
the area will enhance/preserve the historic built and natural environment, rather than 
have an adverse impact on it. 

Transport modelling and studies have taken place to assess the capacity of the
infrastructure and how new development proposed in the Emergent JCS may impact
on the highway network and the mitigation required. Detailed studies are continuing.  
Any highway requirements identified will be referred within the policy content of 
SUEs and within the transport section of the next stage of the JCS. In addition the 
EJCS has strong emphasis on the need to reduce congestion and promote more 
sustainable modes of transport.  This will continue to be reflected in the Pre 
Submission JCS.

During the course of plan preparation it has become evident that the scale of
development as required by the RSS cannot be delivered within the plan period to 
2026 due largely to the economic down turn. Consequently the scale of development 
as required by the RSS has been reduced for the JCS in line with a deliverable 
projection and reflecting local needs. 

The plan is for a 15 year period and it is therefore unreasonable to expect the current 
state of the economy to continue throughout the period. The projected growth and 
the assumptions made are based on reasonable prospect of economic recovery but 
striking a balance and reducing the level of growth. It is also acknowledged that the 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

103



approach and the assumptions made will be reviewed from time to time through the
AMR.

The JCS should only bring forward sites that enable development to make maximum 
benefit to the communities in a sustainable manner. In the light of the reduced 
housing delivery for West Northamptonshire it is suggested that the SUEs proposed 
in the EJCS should be reassessed to ensure that the development that is brought 
forward through the next stage of the JCS is the most sustainable and deliverable 
option set against a reduced housing delivery. 

Recommended Action
In the light of the reduced housing delivery for the JCS to 2026 the Daventry North 
East SUE will be reassessed for progression forward to the Pre-Submission version 
as set out in Policy D3 of the PSJCS.  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

104



Question 35 - Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Towcester 
South’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
439 75 321 432

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Brownfield sites/ disused properties must be developed prior to greenfield 
sites; 
Infrastructure proposals are too lightweight to support this level of growth;
Concern regarding flood risk; 
Site is not sustainable and is more than 5km from a train station; 
This option will destroy the character of Towcester; 

Representation from the Wood Burcote Residents Association is summarised 
below:

Concern regarding the scale and form of the extension;
 Submitted planning application should be postponed as it pre-empts the 

EJCS;  
Road proposals do not meet the requirements to improve Towcester. A 
40mph limit, single carriage way and multiple roundabouts will not encourage 
use of road. Will increase accident rate and not divert traffic from Towcester 
Centre;  

 Proposed highway will not accommodate growth of Towcester, current traffic 
and increased traffic due to growth at neighbouring locations. It is not 
sufficient to be a trunk road and the Highways Agency will be reluctant to de-
trunk A5 through Towcester centre;  
The bypass will increase noise and pollution and increase congestion onto 
A43, which is unacceptable for current and future residents at Wood Burcote; 

 No policy/requirement for developers to provide appropriate future pledge to 
job creation in Towcester prior to the development of houses commencing; 
Wood Burcote lane should be restricted to residents only and use should not 
be permitted for development/construction traffic; 
Construction operation time restrictions should be applied;
A green buffer of no less than 30m should be imposed around Wood Burcote; 
The local bat population should be preserved;  
The extension appears to be led by developers rather than planners;
Loss and severance of public rights way;
No extra street lighting in Wood Burcote and no floodlights on sports pitches
The playing field clubhouse should be located away from housing;
Will envelop Wood Burcote resulting in the loss of village character. This is 
contrary to the law requiring the protection of distinct villages;
Insufficient detail about “essential strategic improvements to the A43 junction”.
Essential implies the absolute minimum; 
Development must not be on agricultural land; 
Extension is excessive, unjustified and unsustainable. Growth not considered 
consistent with RSS guidance relating to development at Rural Service 
Centres. Explanation as to why the growth is appropriate or deliverable is 
inadequate;  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

105



Growth should be at Brackley where the employment base is located;  
 Scale of growth at Brackley and Towcester exceeds residual housing 

trajectory for South Northamptonshire. Would mean there is no scope to allow 
development in rural areas and is contrary to Council’s Interim Housing 
Policy;
Support for Towcester South, but not in its current form. Support for 
development near Shacks Barn. This will allow for the existing bridge to be 
used for a by-pass and would be a suitable option for employment 
development. Not prudent to rely on knowledge base industry – this option 
plans for industrial uses that are still required.

General Comments
The feasibility of creating a green infrastructure route to Banbury, Towcester 
and Milton Keynes is questioned;

 Regeneration of Towcester requires radical improvement in public transport 
e.g. transport from villages into Northampton in the evening which is currently 
poor;  
Maps relating to Towcester South and rejected options for Towcester are 
insufficiently clear and do not show all core development options e.g. is the 
Towcester South area consistent with Towcester Vale development proposal?
The highway improvements will produce longer travel times from A43/A5. As 
a result motorists will use existing routes through Towcester as it would be 
easier to access, therefore the highways improvements will not alleviate 
congestion;
More detail required on proposals for the Town Centre and the Moat Lane 
area;
Greater emphasis must be placed on design quality in the urban extensions, 
particularly for Towcester Vale;
Government funding should be used for bypass not developer contributions. 
The A5 is increasingly used for diverted traffic on M1. This would allow 
developer funds to be better utilised elsewhere;
Concern that the Tove Roundabout (A5/A43) will not have capacity to
accommodate additional traffic;
Development must not create out-of-town retail parks that will detract from 
Towcester town centre;
School facilities must be improved prior to development to encourage families 
to move to the area and provide for the first new residents;
Towcester strategy does not adequately recognise the role of the University in 
providing training and skills to meet the aspirations of knowledge based 
industry and the links with Silverstone to provide state-of-the art educational 
campus; 
Consideration should be given to a park and ride at the A45/A5 junction; 
Concern expressed regarding the impact of growth at Towcester on traffic 
flows along the A5 and the capacity of the A5/A508/A422/Old Stratford 
interchange. This junction will need to be improved and grade separated; 
Development must be undertaken in conjunction with Towcester Masterplan.

Joint Planning Unit Response

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

106



Policy S1 of the PSJCS specifies that development of brownfield land will be the 
priority. Some greenfield development is however unavoidable as all of the 
brownfield land cannot accommodate the proposed development.

It has not been specified as to why the infrastructure proposals are “lightweight”. 
More information has been provided in the PSJCS on what infrastructure is to be 
provided at the Towcester South SUE. Policy T3 outlines that two new primary 
schools and a secondary school will be provided. It is also stated what roads will be 
improved and that of safe routes for walkers and pedestrians will be created. A new 
town park will also be provided, as well as structural greenspace and wildlife 
corridors.

Flood risk is addressed through Policy T3 which outlines that the Towcester South 
SUE will provide “Surface water management and flood attenuation schemes” and 
“Flood mitigation from all sources”. 

Towcester itself is more than 5km from a railway station but an ‘Integrated Transport 
Network with Sustainable Transport Modes’ is proposed as part of the SUE. In
addition to the Transport Strategy supports ‘improvements to the connectivity of 
Towcester with the wider A43 network including enhanced public transport 
connections with Silverstone”.

It has not been detailed what the concerns are, regarding the scale and form of the 
SUE. Towcester South has been determined to be the most sustainable and suitable 
location for development. In regards to the scale of development, the level of 
housing growth to be delivered in the plan period has been reduced to reflect what is 
deliverable and also accords with the needs of South Northamptonshire’s existing 
population.
  
Improvements are to take place at the A43 junction to help alleviate traffic 
congestion in and around Towcester. No decision has yet been made on the speed 
limit of the bypass, how many roundabouts it will have or whether it will be a single 
lane or dual carriageway. No evidence has been provided to demonstrate that the 
proposed highway cannot accommodate the growth proposed at Towcester. As the 
speed limit, route and layout of the bypass has yet to be confirmed, it cannot be 
determined what impact the bypass will have on local residents. These are detailed 
design issues that cannot be specified in the Core Strategy. Essential strategic 
junction improvements are also planned along the A43 to help improve traffic flows 
along this road.

The Towcester South SUE will create an additional 3,000 jobs over the plan period. 
Of these 3,000 jobs, there is a commitment to create 1,500 jobs before the end of 
the plan period (2026). 

Whether a road should be accessed by local residents only and whether it will be 
used by construction traffic is a development management matter and not the 
responsibility of the Joint Core Strategy, but will be considered as part of the 
planning application process.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

107



The SUE will respect the landscape setting and nearby conservation areas and will 
also safeguard and enhance Towcester’s Green Infrastructure Network. The local 
bat population will be protected as the development will provide structural green 
space and wildlife corridors, as well as respecting the landscape setting and nearby 
conservation areas. Specific reference has been included in the PSJCS of the need 
to protect the setting of Wood Burcote.
  
The SUE locations have been determined based on a sound and robust evidence 
base and through the previous consultation periods. Including SUEs that were not 
being promoted by developers or in which developers had no interest would not be 
sound as it is important for the Core Strategy to demonstrate that sites are 
deliverable.

The development will provide safe routes for pedestrians and cyclists and provide 
new access to Towcester Town Centre. The impact on public rights of way will be 
fully considered as part of the planning application process, but the footpaths will
either be retained, diverted or new routes provided.

The sport pitches will need floodlights during the winter months to be able to operate. 
It is however likely that these sport pitches will be located away from residential 
areas. The location of the playing field club house is a matter that will be considered 
at the planning application stage, it is not an issue that the Joint Core Strategy needs 
to address.

Although Towcester is in a predominantly rural area, Towcester itself is classed as 
an ‘other settlement’ in Policy 3 of the RSS. Therefore the SUE will need to abide by 
the criteria set out in this Policy. For example, development in other settlements 
should contribute to ‘”shortening journeys and facilitating access to jobs and 
services”. The Towcester South SUE will provide an integrated transport network 
with strong transport links”, which will help reduce the journey times to the Town 
Centre. It is felt that the SUE meets the objectives set out in this policy.
   
It would be more unsustainable to locate more growth around Brackley. A number of 
urban extensions have already been ruled out at Brackley (Brackley North West, 
Brackley South). To locate all of the growth in South Northamptonshire in Brackley 
would be unsustainable as more car journeys would be made to Brackley which 
would lead to increased congestion on surrounding roads. In addition, the Towcester 
South SUE proposed to create 3,000 jobs. Therefore some employment growth will 
be taking place in Towcester, therefore there will need to be residential development 
at Towcester south to support this employment growth.

   
The residual requirement for housing is clearly specified in the PSJCS and the scale 
of growth in the SUEs reflects this requirement. The residual requirement for South 
Northamptonshire is 6,013. The proposed SUE’s propose a total of 4,930 dwellings, 
which again does not exceed the residual requirement.

Shacks Barn falls within the East of Silverstone Lung extension. This option was 
rejected on the grounds that it would not support the regeneration of Towcester and 
by virtue of its location, this option would not necessarily enable and support the 
delivery if co-ordinated transport improvements with an emphasis on non-car modes.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

108



Response to General Comments
Green Infrastructure is “an asset that enables the environment to support and 
maintain ecological processes whilst sustaining land, air and water resources and is 
important within, and beyond urban areas”.  

As part of the development proposal at the Towcester South SUE an integrated 
transport network with Sustainable Transport Modes, including access to Towcester 
Town Centre is proposed. Essential Strategic improvements to the A43 Junctions 
and the Construction of the A5 bypass will also form part of the Towcester South 
SUE development.

As the options were only the council’s rejected choices, to go into great detail would 
be an unnecessary use of the JPUs resources. The Towcester Vale development 
proposal is consistent with Towcester South. More detailed plans will be provided in 
the PSJCS as part of the key diagram and proposals map.

No evidence has been provided to support the claim that highway improvements will 
produce longer travel times form the A43/A5. The construction of the A5 bypass and 
the improvements to the A43 junctions will help reduce journey times. In addition, the 
Towcester South SUE will be expected to provide sustainable access to the town 
centre. These factors will help reduce journey times from the A43/A5 and will help to 
alleviate congestion in the area.

Paragraphs 4.45 and 4.46 of the PSJCS discuss the design within West 
Northamptonshire and how the “valued historic character must be protected without 
stifling new and innovative design”. Objective 4 also deals with High Quality Design 
and states that it the PSJCS objective to “achieve high quality design in both rural 
and urban areas that takes account of local character and heritage and provides a 
safe, healthy and attractive place for residents, visitors and businesses”. Therefore 
great emphasis has been placed in the Joint Core Strategy on the issue of high 
quality design.

Given the current recession and Government spending cuts obtaining government 
funds for various infrastructure development programs has become more difficult. 
Developer contributions can be more easily sought and negotiated through Section 
106 agreements and potentially the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in future. 
The development at Towcester South will provide “essential strategic improvements 
to the A43 Junctions”. This will include the Tove Roundabout. In addition, the 
Towcester South SUE development will include the construction of an A5 bypass.
The development only proposes small scale retail development (up to 500sqm net) 
and does not propose large scale out-of-centre retail parks. Out of centre 
development is also the least sequentially preferable.

The development at Towcester South will provide two new primary schools and a 
secondary school. The Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP) will set out when 
these schools are to be built. A new education campus will be provided at 
Silverstone Circuit. Policy E4 outlines that “To support Silverstone Circuit as an 
International Venue for Motorsport further employment, tourism, education and 
leisure development at Silverstone Circuit will make provision for: 14Ha Education 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

109



Campus”. The Policy also outlines that “All Proposals will need to demonstrate 
functional links to Towcester and Brackley in particular by strengthening sustainable 
transport links between the circuit and the towns”. Therefore links will be provided 
between Silverstone Circuit and Towcester to encourage Towcester Residents to 
consider employment at Silverstone Circuit.

It has not been outlined as to why a park and ride scheme should be considered at 
the A45/A5 junction. The Transport Strategy for Towcester specifies that public 
transport connections will be enhanced with Silverstone, as well as a review of 
parking provision across the town. The Towcester South SUE also proposes the 
construction of an A5 bypass, essential strategic improvements to the A43 junctions 
and an integrated transport network with sustainable transport modes, including 
access to Towcester Town Centre.

The Towcester South SUE does propose the construction of an A5 bypass which will 
help reduce traffic flows along the A5. In addition, the Towcester South SUE 
proposes essential strategic improvements to the A43, as well as an integrated 
transport network. This will also help reduce traffic flows along the A5. The 
development will be prepared in conjunction with the Towcester Masterplan. The 
Towcester Masterplan is discussed in detail in the PSJCS, with the key objectives of 
the Masterplan highlighted in the PSJCS. It is felt that the key objectives discussed 
in the Towcester Masterplan are in conformity with the policies highlighted in the 
Towcester chapter of the PSJCS. 

Recommended Action
That the preferred Option ‘Towcester South’ be retained as specified in Policy T3 of 
the PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

110



Question 36 - Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Towcester 
Moat Lane’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
819 360 29 430

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
This option would destroy a green area of heritage value;  
This option is unsustainable;
Insufficient information has been provided to form an opinion on this site; and  
The strategy for Towcester fails to translate the importance of the University 
as a major contributor to economic growth. 

General Comments 
This is a small area that could easily be developed privately; 
The A5 Bypass is fundamental to this and other growth options in Towcester;
Attention needs to be given to integrating the old and new communities 
created by the scheme;
There should be a bus interchange near Bury Mount
Should be done in conjunction with the Towcester Masterplan.

Joint Planning Unit Response
Policy T2 details that the proposed Town Centre and Moat Lane Regeneration area 
will provide “The preservation and enhancement of Bury Mount, which is a 
scheduled ancient monument”. Therefore the green area of heritage value will not be 
destroyed, as the majority of brownfield land will be used as part of the development 
proposals. 

More information has been provided in the PSJCS on the proposed types of 
development at the Towcester Town Centre and Moat Lane regeneration area. The 
Joint Planning Unit is not aware of any specific proposals by the University relating to 
Towcester. If proposals did emerge then there is nothing in the strategy that would 
prevent their consideration indeed Policy E6 of the PSJCS would encourage this.

Policy T4 outlines that “To support accessibility and sustainable transport within 
Towcester the Local Authorities will: Secure the construction of an A5 bypass to the 
south of Towcester and the management of through traffic to the Town Centre”.
Therefore the construction of the A5 bypass is of high priority as it is required to 
support the redevelopment of the growth options in Towcester, which the PSJCS 
seeks. In terms of a bus interchange, it is not specified why a bus interchange is 
required. There will be enhancements to the inter-urban bus services along the A5 
and A43 corridors.

Policy T2 outlines that new residential, employment, retail and food and drink 
premises will need to enhance the vitality of the town centre. Careful consideration 
will therefore be given to proposed schemes to ensure that it will be integrated with 
the existing town centre.  

The Towcester Masterplan is discussed in the PSJCS. The key objectives 
highlighted in the Masterplan are also discussed and are broadly followed in the 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

111



development proposals at the Towcester Town Centre and Moat Lane Regeneration 
area.

Policy T2 of the PSJCS details the regeneration of Moat Lane Regeneration area, 
including new Civic and Community facilities, including the preservation and 
enhancement of Bury Mount, which is a scheduled ancient monument. The 
Towcester Transport Strategy outlines that the A5 bypass is a crucial element to the 
regeneration of Towcester, which will be required to support the town’s regeneration.

Recommended Action
That the preferred option ‘Towcester Moat Lane’ is retained as set out in Policy T2 of 
the PSJCS.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

112



Question 37 - Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Brackley 
North’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
824 55 325 444

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Development to the north will accentuate the imbalance of housing to the 
north of Brackley and will increase the distance required to travel to the town 
centre; 
The growth projections on which the Plan is founded are out dated. The
extension cannot be supported;
There is no ‘network into the town centre’. The road network and parking 
provision in town centre is insufficient to cope; 
This is not a brownfield site and cannot be supported. Development of 
brownfield sites must be prioritised above greenfield sites; 
Rural lanes (Halse / Radstone Rd) will not be able to support level of growth; 
No contingency options are specified for development if the current 
extensions at Brackley are not delivered within the Plan period; 
Option B, which has not been fully appraised predetermines the selection of 
Brackley sites. Reappraisal of the preferred choices and rejected sites should 
be considered e.g. the site to North West of Brackley; 
Development at Silverstone would be preferable with direct links to circuit that 
generates employment and therefore housing; 
Brackley East will provide for local need. Other extensions i.e. Northampton 5 
(South) could accommodate growth; 
Archaeological resources must be protected; 
No implementation/action plan is provided to support proposals; 

General Comments
Will need to address the problem of low water pressure;  
Lack of secondary school provision is a concern and will need to be 
considered; 
Extension must ensure cohesion of the entire town; 
Sewage problems exist at Burwell Hill Garage / Jarvis Court; 
Brackley North within close proximity to the Helmdon disused railway SSSI, 
which should be enhanced through development of this site. Wildlife Trust 
should be involved in this respect. Pre-submission draft should require 
ecological enhancement and green infrastructure contribution as an integral 
part of each urban extension; 
Core Strategy must align with the draft Brackley Masterplan once completed; 
The inclusion of opportunity sites in town centre would be welcomed; 
Concern that the ‘minor improvements to A43/A422’ underplays the need for 
investment around the A43 at the Sawmills site; 
Development should follow a sequential approach to development which be 
ordered thus; Sawmills site, Turweston Road, Extension to Magdalen College, 
Brackley Pool Site, Brackley Leisure Centre Site.

Joint Planning Unit Response

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

113



The Brackley North West and Brackley South West options have been rejected in 
the EJCS as they are the least sustainable options of the four proposed.

As part of the Brackley North SUE, it is expected that it will provide “an integrated
transport network with Sustainable Transport modes”, as well as “Direct road access 
to Northampton Road”. This will contribute towards easy access to the Town Centre. 

In regards to an imbalance of housing, it is has been determined that Brackley North 
is the most sustainable location for housing growth. Development at Brackley South 
has been rejected as part of the site is within the River Ouse Flood Zone, would 
have adverse landscape impacts and has poor connectivity to Brackley Town 
Centre.

The growth projections used for the PSJCS are not out of date. The most recent 
figures have taken into account the recent recession and are based on what is 
deliverable and meets the needs of the local population. The scale of growth at 
Brackley including the Brackley North SUE reflects these up to date projections.  

Both SUE’s in Brackley will be expected to provide integrated transport networks 
with access both to the town centre and to Brackley Business District. The Brackley 
Transport Strategy will also ensure that parking provision meets the needs of the 
town and support improvements to the connectivity of Brackley to the wider A43 
network, including enhanced public transport connections with Silverstone Circuit.

The prioritisation of brownfield sites over greenfield is outlined in Policy S1. Not all of 
the development can be accommodated on existing brownfield sites. Therefore 
some greenfield development will need to take place. The fact that the proposed 
SUE is not a brownfield site is not a justification for not supporting the scheme.  

A new access road will be provided at the SUE that will have direct access to 
Northampton Road. The majority of residents will use this road when accessing the 
SUE and the town centre, which will reduce the pressure on Halse and Radstone 
Roads.  

There is no reason why the Brackley North SUE cannot be delivered in the plan-
period. The JCS will be subject to continuous monitoring through the Annual 
Monitoring Report (AMR) and could be reviewed if there is evidence that sites are 
not coming forward. 

Brackley North West has been rejected as it would lead to an increase in traffic and 
not be in line with the JCS sustainable transport principles. Option B has been fully 
appraised and does not predetermine the selection of Brackley Sites. Each site has 
been assessed in detail through consultation processes and Sustainability Appraisal
(SA) which have determined that Brackley North and Brackley East SUE’s offer the 
most sustainable options.   

Silverstone is a smaller settlement than Brackley. To build the required scale of 
development at Silverstone rather than at Brackley would require a notably higher 
level of infrastructure investment, which in turn would be far less sustainable. As part 
of the Brackley Transport Strategy, local authorities will “Support Improvements to 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

114



connectivity of Brackley to the wider A43 Network including enhanced public 
transport connections with Silverstone Circuit”. Therefore Brackley will have 
enhanced links to the employment opportunities that Silverstone Circuit provides.

No evidence has been provided for the Brackley East SUE alone to accommodate 
the level of growth proposed. South Northamptonshire has a housing requirement of 
over 12,000 dwellings over the plan period. As one of the two main towns in South 
Northamptonshire, Brackley will be one of the main locations to accommodate this 
growth. Northampton South has been rejected as an extension as it would severely 
impact upon the character of Northampton as well as in effect forming a new town 
which would require a greater amount of infrastructure investment.

Archaeological resources will be protected through Policy BN5. New development 
will “Protect and enhance the features which contribute to the distinctive character of 
the area including sites of known or potential historical significance”.  

Policy S6 details the likely phasing of the development at each of the proposed 
SUE’s. In addition, the IDP will specify when the proposed infrastructure 
development will take place at each site. 

The new development will deliver the appropriate water pressure.   

The future plans for secondary school provision in Brackley have not been finalised 
and there are a number of options including the possibility of consolidating the 
existing school onto one site. The Core Strategy will ensure that the new 
development makes the necessary contributions to support required improvements 
to secondary school provision once these are agreed.

An integrated transport network is proposed as part of this development proposal, 
with sustainable transport modes including access to Brackley Business District, as 
well as direct access to Northampton Road.

Burwell Hill Garage/Jarvis Court are not on the SUE site and it is therefore not the 
responsibility of the SUE to address the sewage problems at these roads. However, 
adequate sewage facilities will be provided on the SUE site.

The former railway corridor has been referred to in the pretext of the Brackley North 
SUE policy. It outlines that the “design and layout of the development will need to 
maintain the integrity of the SSSI”. It is expected that the design and layout will 
“respect the character of the Old Glebe Landscape Character area, the
enhancement of local green infrastructure networks and provide structural 
greenspace and wildlife corridors”.

The Brackley Masterplan is discussed in the PSJCS. The objectives have been 
taken into account when developing the SUE’s. For example, one objective in the
Masterplan is a proposal for a “Strengthened ‘Brackley Business District’ that
combines the Town Centre and adjoining industrial estate”. Part of the development 
that the Brackley North SUE will deliver is “An Integrated Transport Network with 
Sustainable Transport Modes including access to Brackley Business District”.
Therefore the Core Strategy will align with the Brackley Masterplan once adopted.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

115



It is the responsibility of the Site Specific Allocations document to determine 
opportunity sites in the town centre. However, the Brackley Spatial Strategy supports 
the housing development within the existing urban area.

It has not been outlined as to why this sequential approach should be followed. The 
sustainability of the SUE’s have been assessed in detail and the SUE’s contained 
within the SUE have been judged to be the most sustainable. In addition, the role of 
education facilities is recognised through Policy E6 of the PSJCS. It outlines that the 
“role of the University of Northampton, Moulton College, Northampton College and 
other Educational Institutions will be supported”.  

Recommended Action

That the preferred option ‘Brackley North’ be retained as set out in Policy B3 of the 
PSJCS.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

116



Question 38 – Do you support the development of the Preferred Option ‘Brackley 
East’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
823 357 26 440

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Opposes the use of this area solely for employment use; 

 Area contains wildlife that would be endangered by development. In 
particular, the railway embankment is the last known site for the small blue 
butterfly;
This is not a brownfield site;
Major improvements will be needed to the High Street, Northampton Road, 
A43 and A422 to support the increase in commercial traffic;  
Growth should only occur at the rate of natural population growth; 
Limiting the SUE to purely employment undermines ability of the plan to 
respond to the changing needs of the community.  As such, this area should 
be designated for mixed use;

 Separation of employment and housing may lead to these areas being 
unoccupied at night and day. Would lead to an increase in fear of crime;  
Development at Silverstone is more appropriate as it directly links to the race 
circuit, which is a major generator of employment and therefore housing;
Development should be spread evenly across West Northamptonshire, rather 
than in the urban extensions specified; and

 Industrial requirement could be met on Sawmills site rather than using 
greenfield land.

General Comments
Brackley needs a bypass before development can proceed;
This section should set out a sequential approach to site development;
Are the jobs proposed short term construction ones or long term employment?
A means must be established to discourage retail enterprises from 
establishing in industrial zones to avoid high rental costs;  
Substantial structural landscaping should be an essential part of this option  

 Area could include a large clothing/household retail store, which might keep 
shoppers within the town. This would help regenerate smaller town shops;
and
A lorry park should be provided and lorries restricted from using the High 
Street.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The site is not being developed solely for employment use, as suggested in the 
EJCS. Policy B2 outlines that the Brackley East SUE will also include 380 dwellings, 
as well as various transport and landscape improvements around the SUE. An 
ecological assessment of the site will be conducted prior to any development 
occurring on site. Where any habitats are identified, the required mitigation 
measures will be in place before any development occurs on site.
The level of growth proposed cannot be accommodated on all the brownfield land in
West Northamptonshire. Some greenfield development will need to occur. However, 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

117



Policy S1 outlines that “Priority will be given to the reuse of suitable previously 
developed land and buildings within the urban areas”.  

Each SUE will provide an integrated transport network with sustainable transport 
modes. The Brackley East SUE also incorporates the realignment of and traffic 
calming to Turweston Road. The Brackley Transport Strategy will also ensure 
parking provision meets the needs of the town.

The population growth figures are based on net-nil migration growth and as such the 
level of growth now proposed in the PSJCS is consistent with the natural growth of 
the existing population.

This development is no longer being solely developed for employment purposes, 380 
dwellings are now proposed at the Brackley East SUE, therefore the SUE is now a 
mixed use scheme. This would ensure that the site is occupied throughout the day 
thus reducing the fear of crime. 

Silverstone is a much smaller settlement than Brackley. To locate more growth at 
Silverstone would be unsustainable as a greater level of infrastructure would need to 
be constructed to sustain the level of growth proposed. The Brackley Transport 
Strategy outlines that the local authorities will “Support improvements to connectivity 
of Brackley to the wider A43 network including enhanced public transport connection 
with Silverstone Circuit”. Therefore the SUE’s will be well connected to the major 
employment centre of Silverstone Circuit.

The spreading of development is option A that was discussed earlier in the EJCS. 
The reasons why this option was rejected are specified in chapter six of the EJCS.
An application has been submitted on the Sawmills site for residential development
and has been approved subject to S106 agreement being signed. The site does not 
fall within the Brackley East SUE allocation, but is now included as part of the 
Brackley North SUE.

No evidence has been provided as to why Brackley needs a bypass. Policy B4
outlines a number of schemes that will help reduce the amount of traffic on the roads 
around Brackley and negate the building of a bypass in the town. 

It has not been specified as to why a sequential approach to site development is 
required. The preferable SUE’s have been assessed through previous consultation 
periods and through Sustainability Appraisal.

Policy E1 outlines that “Change of use to other uses will be resisted unless it can be 
demonstrated that the site is no longer economically viable for employment 
purposes, there is a clear conflict with adjoining uses, or its release would offer 
significant benefits to the local area”. This will help discourage retail enterprises from 
building on existing industrial areas.  

The PSJCS outlines that the proposed Brackley East SUE will contain “Landscape 
Buffer / noise mitigation to the A43, High Quality Design and Layout which respects 
the character of the Great Ouse Landscape Character Area and the Enhancement of 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

118



Local Green Infrastructure Networks”. These key elements of the Brackley East SUE 
will ensure substantial structural landscaping is delivered. 

The inclusion of comparison retail development on a site outside the town centre 
would be inconsistent with national and Core Strategy policies and could undermine 
the viability of the town centre.

The issue regarding lorries is a detailed matter which can be considered through the 
Brackley Masterplan rather than the Core Strategy.

Recommended Action
That the preferred option ‘Brackley East’ be retained as set out in Policy B2 of the 
PSJCS.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

119



Question 39 – Do you support the policy approach for the hierarchy of centres?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
847 107 343 397

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Social and retail centres should be provided from the outset and new 
communities developed around them. The respondent is not convinced that 
the satellite retail areas are damaging town centres and unless there is 
substantial and imaginative development of the town centres, the existing 
retail parks may have to be developed further or even added to;
The notion of Northampton as a desirable centre is pure fantasy. Traffic 
improvements cannot be made without demolishing parts of the old town and 
basing the alternatives upon modal shift is a foolish plan that cannot be 
substantiated by any expert in the country;
Out of town retail succeeds by virtue of the extensive provision of car parking 
and that town centre locations cannot always provide this. This is a contrast 
with town centre retail development and improved public transport will not 
provide the same level of convenience;
This section is too vague and more information is needed;  
It is questionable whether Daventry Town Centre is a principal centre for 
retail, employment and housing development given there are a number of 
housing and employment areas outside Daventry’s centre;

 Policy approach is self-contradictory as on one hand it deters out of town 
retail and on the other it states that retail is a key aspect of Northampton 
South East;  
How will this be funded?
Northampton could become a major retail attraction if out of town shopping 
centre were built around a junction of the M1 motorway;
District centres are an excuse for suburbia. One supermarket will not satisfy 
consumer demand and is monopolistic. What is needed is good, 
environmentally sound public transportation to a good town centre;
The proposed policy approach effectively places a moratorium on edge of 
centre retail development. This is contrary to PPS 6: Town Centres and PPS 
4: Economic Growth, which allows such development where it meets certain 
tests (e.g. retail need, the sequential approach and development impact);
Daventry was chosen as a sub-regional centre in RSS8. However, it is 
severely limited by its infrastructure and pales in comparison to the 
competition from other towns like Milton Keynes. Therefore contingency 
planning is needed;
Sixfields is an important shopping & leisure centre but is totally ignored by the 
JCS. Designating it a District Centre would allow it to secure more sustainable 
patterns of travel in meeting local shopping needs and would provide the 
Council with the greatest scope to influence and control future development;

 Proposed hierarchy ignores smaller centres such as Link Road and St Davids. 
The hierarchy does not allow for the development of Neighbourhood Centres 
in areas such as East and West Hunsbury and Grange Park;
No reference is made to the fact that new development may necessitate a 
need for new retail centres. Policy “Milton Keynes South Midlands South 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

120



Midlands Sub Regional Strategy Northamptonshire 2” within the East 
Midlands Plan indicates that these new centres may be needed;
Brackley needs further retail and employment facilities, contrary to the 
conclusions reached in Appendix E and the West Northamptonshire Retail 
Study. Given the paucity of land in the town centre however, this can only be 
provided in an out of town centre location;
The CACI [Retail] Study used to support this policy approach is flawed.  
Specifically, it is predicated on the assumption that all out-of-centre retail-offer 
is bad and ignores other important factors, such as competition from centres 
like Milton Keynes; 
Resisting new retail development across Northampton until post 2016 will 
have a negative effect on the ability of the town centre to claw back trade from 
other centres, such as Milton Keynes;  
There is an overreliance in the hierarchy on the Grosvenor Centre extension 
providing the bulk of retail provision. In particular, it is unlikely the Grosvenor 
Centre will be opened by 2016. This is also the date indicated in the 
Northampton Central Area Action Plan (NCAAP), which is therefore 
inconsistent with the Core Strategy;
This approach ignores rural areas;
Mereway District Centre should be retained as a District Centre as it is
consistent with the definition in PPS6: Town Centres. Significant investment 
has been made in the centre and it may decline if not designated;  
Facilities need to be decentralised ready for coming decline in personal travel;
The terminology used in Tables 6.5 and 6.6 is inconsistent with that used in 
PPS6. In particular, the definitions used appear more closely related to the 
urban fabric, rather than their retail role. As such, all centres listed in Table 
6.6 should be redefined as local centres;
A stronger policy framework is needed for the delivery of a new centre to 
serve Northampton West given the existing evidence base. Otherwise, the 
framework may be found unsound; and  
More recognition needs to be given to the ability of local centres to meet local 
need and their ability to support a rural renaissance.  

General Comments
Daventry should have clear retail role to highlight its sub-regional centre 
status; 

 Do these designations take into account what may happen as a result of 
future development?
Further work is required in relation to Northampton. This would include the 
location of the High Street and neighbourhood locations which are unclear. 
The hierarchy should assist with sustainable transport movements through 
enabling people to meet their local shopping and service needs within close 
proximity of their homes. The EJCS should set out what uses would be 
acceptable at a local, district and city centre scale;  
A major reason why Northampton Town Centre is not competitive with out of 
town retail is convenience. Shoppers can park free, relatively close to where 
they buy goods and have the free use of trolleys at out of town retail centres.  
This contrasts with the situation in town centres;  

 Hierarchy of centres set out in Table 6.5 should include a ranking column and 
ranking of each centre so readers are in no doubt of the purpose of the table;

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

121



Retail centres tend to form their own size and ranking depending mainly on 
the number and habit of their customers. As such, a policy on hierarchy 
should not be too rigid;
Should other areas (e.g. Abington, St Catherine’s Hospice) be considered?
Town centres in rural areas must have adequate long and short term parking 
facilities given the relative paucity of public transport;
Northampton centre needs a redesign. The bus station should be demolished 
and more housing built, rather than more shopping for the Grosvenor Centre;  
Traffic congestion and the absence of free parking need to be addressed to 
make Northampton a desirable shopping area.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The need to reverse the presumption in favour of out of town centre is underpinned 
by the need to promote sustainable development and government advice in PPS4. 
Evidence from the retail study demonstrates that out-of-centre retail is damaging 
town centres. The JCS has identified the town centres for a large amount of new 
retail floorspace and this will help regenerate the areas by bringing new investment 
into the town centre. This does not equate to a moratorium as existing local centres 
will continue to serve the community and new retail centres are proposed at some of 
the SUE’s.

Northampton is the main town in West Northamptonshire and it is appropriate for the 
Core Strategy to seek further retail provision to serve the community.  The majority 
of new retail development in Northampton over the plan period will occur in the town 
centre. Policy N2 outlines the amount of comparison and convenience floorspace 
that will be developed in the town centre. Policy N10 also states that “No further 
comparison goods floorspace is required outside Northampton Central Area other 
than to support the vitality and viability of local centres”. Therefore no further out-of-
centre comparison will be allowed.

Improved public transport provision will be made through the transport strategy for 
Northampton (Policy N12), which outlines that the transport strategy shall provide
“Improved Connectivity to the town centre from all parts of the town by public 
transport, walking and cycling”. This will help improve the connectivity of the town 
centre to the outer suburbs and encourage more people to visit the town centre.

The JCS and background information on the hierarchy of centres and the sequential 
approach to site selection for town centre uses will be in the public domain. The
hierarchy has been assessed against the criteria in PPS4. Daventry town centre is 
the primary location for retail development within the town; therefore it is a principal 
centre for retail.

The Northampton South East SUE is no longer proposed as part of the PSJCS. The 
smaller SUEs that are now proposed at Northampton South and South of Brackmills 
(Polices N5 and N6) do not include a district centre, but include local centres where 
retail floorspace will not exceed 500sqm net in size. The IDP will set out the costs of 
providing the non commercial facilities within local centres and seek to identify 
potential funding sources.

It is not the intention of the JCS to discourage people from using existing facilities. 
The aim is to provide good quality facilities in the most accessible location and there 
is no proposal to build an out of centre retail shopping centre next to the M1 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

122



motorway. The choice of retail destination is a matter for the individual. However the 
JCS seeks to make the main centres attractive in order to encourage their usage by 
as many people as possible. 

PPS4 outlines that District centres “usually comprise groups of shops often 
containing at least one supermarket or superstore and a range of non-retail services, 
such as banks, building societies and restaurants, as well as local public facilities 
such as a library”. The two district centres within Northampton (Weston Favell and 
Kingsthorpe) provide these facilities and are not part of “suburbia”.

As the retail capacity for West Northamptonshire in the plan period is 23,102sqm net 
over the plan period, it is recognised that one supermarket will not meet this 
demand. New small scale supermarkets are proposed within some of the Local 
Centres over the plan period which will help meet consumer demand, as well as 
potential extensions to existing stores that maybe overtrading.

The role of Daventry town centre has been acknowledged in the Core Strategy. It is
classed as a Sub-Regional Centre in Policy S2 (Hierarchy of Centres) and identified
as an area for further growth. Major retail, office and leisure development will also 
take place within the area. In addition, the Daventry North and Daventry East SUE 
will provide integrated transport networks which will provide strong links to the town 
centre. This will help enhance the role that Daventry Town Centre plays in West 
Northamptonshire.

The role and function of existing centres is recognised by the JCS. Policies in the 
Plan seek to protect existing facilities while promoting the development of new ones.  

The hierarchy contained within the PSJCS is for the whole of West 
Northamptonshire. It therefore only focuses on those centres which are of a large 
enough scale. In regards to focusing on smaller centres such as Link Road and St 
Davids for example, this will be the responsibility of various Development Plan 
Documents, such as the Site Allocations DPD. Paragraph 5.14 states that “Within 
the West Northamptonshire area there is already a clear hierarchy of centres at the 
upper tiers with Northampton Town Centre as the largest, followed by Daventry 
Town Centre, and then Towcester and Brackley as smaller town centres”.  

Any proposal for further development of out of new out of centre retail does not 
accord with PPS4 and there is no evidence to support further retail and employment 
facilities above what is currently being proposed in the PSJCS.  

Proposed development at the Grovesnor Centre is central to the provision of new 
retail within Northampton town centre. This will make the best use of existing 
facilities rather than seeking to build an entirely new centre. The detailed planning 
and development of Grosvenor Centre are best dealt with in the NCAAP and at 
planning application stage.

The Northampton Transport Strategy will deliver “Improved Connectivity to the Town 
Centre from all parts of the Town by Public Transport, Walking and Cycling”, as well 
as “Improved connectivity between existing areas of Northampton to essential 
services and facilities such as retail, education and healthcare”. This will help 
improve the connectivity to existing facilities and remove the requirement for the 
coming reduction in travel. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

123



The PSJCS recognises the role of local centres and shops in rural areas and seeks 
to protect these. 

PPS6 has been superseded by PPS4. PPS4 discusses in detail the role of district 
and local centres and what facilities they provide. The table contained within Policy 
S2 now refers to the criteria specified in PPS4 and is consistent with this document.

Daventry is the only Sub-Regional Town Centre within the Sub-Regional hierarchy.
No evidence has been provided as to why Daventry should have a distinct role to 
recognise its Sub-Regional Centre status. Policy D2 states that “The town centre 
boundary and Primary Shopping area for Daventry will be identified on the Daventry
Town DPD Proposals Map. Major retail, office and leisure development will also take 
place within and adjoining the town centre”. This will help encourage the growth of 
Daventry Town Centre as a distinct sub-regional centre.

Policy N2 outlines that “The Northampton Town Centre Boundary and Primary 
Shopping Area will be identified on the Northampton Central Area Action Plan 
Proposals Map”. Policy N12 outlines that as part of Northampton’s Transport 
Network Improvements, “Improved connectivity to the town centre from all parts of 
the town by public transport, walking and cycling”. 

Each SUE will also provide “integrated transport networks which focus on 
sustainable transport nodes with strong links to the town centre”. Each SUE will also 
be expected to provide a local centre, which will provide varying levels of local retail 
provision, whilst in some cases other community and leisure facilities. This will 
enable people to meet their local shopping and service needs in close proximity to 
their homes.   

The Northampton Transport Strategy will provide “Improved Connectivity to the town 
centre from all parts of the town by public transport, walking and cycling”. This will 
improve the connectivity of the town centre to the outer suburbs and encourage 
more people to visit the town centre. In addition, revised parking standards across 
the whole of Northampton will be delivered. Policy N10 states that “No further 
comparison goods floorspace is required outside Northampton Central Area other 
than to support the vitality and viability of local centres”. This will help the town 
centre become more competitive, under the provisions of PPS4.

It is felt that the hierarchy specified in Policy S2 is not too rigid and will enable 
development at these centres. For example, the Policy outlines that “The Vitality and 
Viability of these Centres should be maintained and enhanced commensurate with 
their role and function”, which will encourage the development of these centres. The 
development of these centres however must not “put at risk future investment in 
Northampton Town Centre or the Implementation of the Northampton CAAP”. The 
Abington and St Catherine’s Hospice is too small a centre to be added to the retail 
hierarchy.

The Transport Strategies for Brackley and Towcester outline that the parking 
provision for Towcester and Brackley will be reviewed. The strategies also promote 
walking and cycling within the town as an alternative to car journeys. In addition, 
each SUE will deliver an integrated transport network with sustainable transport 
modes. The Transport Strategies also promote enhancements to the inter-urban bus 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

124



services. These measures will help improve the public transport within the towns and 
ensure an adequate supply of long and short term car parking.

The bus station is to be relocated as part of the NCAAP proposals. No evidence has 
been provided as to why housing should be built instead of extending the Grosvenor 
Centre. More housing is proposed in the town centre through the NCAAP. However, 
Northampton town centre needs to remain competitive and the redevelopment of the 
Grosvenor Centre will help achieve this goal. If the Grosvenor Centre were not 
redeveloped this could lead to the centre becoming more deprived which could lead 
to an increase in the deprivation of the whole town.  

It is accepted that out-of-centre retail development has harmed the town centre. The 
Transport Strategy will deliver improved connectivity to the town centre from all parts 
of the town by public transport, walking & cycling and revised parking standards 
across the whole of the town. No further comparison goods floorspace is needed
outside Northampton town centre, with most of the new comparison and 
convenience shopping growth occurring in the town centre. This will help reduce the 
leakage of comparison and convenience expenditure to out of centre retail parks. 

Recommended Action
The policy approach to the Hierarchy of Centres is set out in Policy S2 of the PSJCS 
and has had full regard to the representations received. It is recommended that this 
policy approach is confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

125



Question 40

Question – Do you support the policy approach for the existing and future 
neighbourhoods?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1115 112 607 396

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
This is just a list of words it does not form a cohesive policy description and 
unsure whether this policy can be implemented or achievable
Require clarification as to whether this is to be applied to new developments.
It takes people to create communities not policies and forced growth will not 
produce the community spirit that is sought
These proposals and growth levels will create dormitory settlements and 
seeks to destroy communities and make community spirit disappear 
An assessment of what make a good neighbourhood work is required to 
ensure that the proposals provide functional and well-balanced 
neighbourhoods when completed.
Existing neighbourhoods should be improved before new ones are built. 
Village communities must be protected; they are the only real communities 
left.
Areas must develop naturally. 
No information provided pertaining to villages / rural areas.
Existing development sites at Northampton must be completed and adequate 
services provided before bringing other development forward and there is 
concern about change in mix and tenure of existing quality residential areas.
Define settlement hierarchy and make it part of a Development Plan 
Document (DPD).
Towcester and Brackley is one neighbourhood.
Provide a church-come-community centre to encourage a sense of 
community identity.
Unclear what ‘legible pattern of streets’ means.

Joint Planning Unit Response
A neighbourhood focused strategy sits well with current thinking in terms of setting 
priorities and providing a framework for services delivery.  Policies in the JCS will
enhance the ability of existing neighbourhoods to thrive through programmed 
regeneration and the implementation of the Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs) will 
assist the creation of new communities. 

The key objective of the approach is to promote community cohesion, safe liveable 
environment in all of West Northamptonshire. Although it is recognised that there is no 
exact definition of what makes a neighbourhood, the JCS seeks to develop local areas 
with distinct identities and recognisable sense of place.
Local perceptions of neighbourhoods may be defined by natural dividing lines such as 
roads and rivers, changes in housing design or tenure, or the sense of community 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

126



generated around centres such as schools, shops or transport links. The JCS makes no 
attempt to provide a universal definition but considers that different areas within West 
Northamptonshire have their own particular needs which can best be met locally. The 
JCS will assist the preparation lower order plans and these would serve as the vehicle
for the implementation of community development at the neighbourhood level. 

The JCS will provide the framework to deliver the necessary physical, social and green 
infrastructure to support both new and existing neighbourhoods and communities.

The JCS defines a hierarchy of settlement this strategy more intensive integration of 
public services can be achieved within the context of their area or their street. 
Neighbourhoods will enable us to be more responsive, efficient and effective particularly 
with regard to our use of resources.

The JCS recognises the role of existing settlement but planned rather than forced 
growth underpins the policies in the plan, based on realistic assumptions and 
objectives. It is important that the residents of West Northamptonshire continue to have 
the opportunity to participate in a wide range of methods to help drive improvements in 
local services.

Recommended Action
A specific policy on neighbourhoods is no longer included in the PSJCS. Support for 
existing and new neighbourhoods will be provided by a range of policies in the PSJCS 
such as the regeneration polices and the individual policies on SUEs.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

127



Question 41

Question – Do you support the policy approach for the rural settlement pattern for 
West Northamptonshire?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
842 100 711 31

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Given the fact that rural areas make up a large part of JCS area and support a 
range of communities; the strategy for delivering sustainable levels of growth 
in key rural settlements needs to be more robust. 
The policy approach should not leave the identification of the rural areas and 
definition of key rural service area to a later site allocation DPD, which is poor 
planning and confusing. Objectors have emphasised that the policy approach 
could be enhanced by providing a definition for a settlement hierarchy/robust 
criteria for determining which villages are key rural service centres, clarify the 
level of provision that will be made for housing/employment growth within the 
villages and urban/rural areas. 
A number of recommendations have made in relation the settlements that 
could be classified as Key Rural Service Areas. The following 
villages/locations have been put forward: Passenham, Old Stratford, Long
Buckby, Silverstone, Kilsby and Crick. 
There is a concern that the policy approach is too restrictive and needs to be 
widened to bring forward proposals to support in a proactive manner, a vibrant 
and diverse rural economy. Further emphasis has been made on the need for 
policy to allow some residential development and some services in
reasonably sustainable villages (i.e. located close to major employment
areas) and not just Key Rural Centres. In addition, the policy should also try to 
promote regeneration, rural employment and tourism.

 The Policy does not go far enough. It should not just settle for development at 
the most sustainable locations but should seek to make all locations more 
sustainable. Also reference has been made of the need for policy to 
emphasise the importance of providing good transport/communication links to 
support the provision of rural services in larger centres. 
Detailed consideration should be given to the particular circumstances of the 
rural settlement in terms of their function and their environmental qualities. 
The policy needs to address the decline of smaller villages due to the 
development of larger villages.
Criticisms has been raised in regards to Para 6.91, which has failed to note
that a large proportion of the population of Daventry and South 
Northamptonshire live in rural areas. 

Joint Planning Unit Response

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

128



The rural strategy needs to support the sustainable development of rural 
settlements. The PSJCS sets out a clear framework for identifying the rural 
settlement hierarchy, but does not specify which settlements should be included. 
This will be done in Development Plan Documents (DPDs) prepared for the rural 
areas of Daventry and South Northamptonshire Districts. Issues regarding specific 
villages will be addressed in these documents.
. 
The policy approach in the PSJCS is more flexible and promote a limited level for 
development in villages outside the key rural service centres, and also promotes 
rural employment, the diversification of the rural economy, regeneration, sustainable 
communities (i.e. affordable housing for rural workers), and tourism.

The policy approach in the PSJCS also addresses wider sustainability factors i.e.
access to public transport, employment, housing and the need to protect the 
character of rural areas/environment.
  
The PSJCS policy indicates that development will be guided by a settlement 
hierarchy but the approach provides scope to meet local needs for housing and other 
development across a wide range of settlements. This policy approach will be 
developed in more detail in DPDs for the rural areas. This will provide the opportunity 
to address the decline of smaller villages, particularly where this is supported by the 
local community.

The PSJCS, at Para 16.1, notes that a high percentage of the population of Daventry 
and South Northamptonshire Districts live in rural areas. 
  
Recommended Action
That the policy approach to the rural settlement pattern of West Northamptonshire as 
set out in Policy R1 of the PSJCS be confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

129



Question 42

Question – Do you support the policy approach for the regeneration of communities 
across West Northamptonshire?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1092 107 586 399

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Policy approach is merely a list of words that cannot form a cohesive policy. 
The strategy only identifies areas and lacks detail on how regeneration is to 
be achieved. No action / implementation plan is proposed.
Investment should be directed to improving facilities and infrastructure and 
improving Northampton Town Centre. Brownfield land in the centre can be 
regenerated and contribute to housing targets.
Policy approach is not clearly stated and this policy is not required.
Inequality is not the same as deprivation. Deprivation may arise from building 
at high densities. Poor areas need to be addressed specifically not equated 
with ‘taking from the rich’
Policy is doomed to failure unless behaviour patterns can be changed. 
Paragraph 6.10.1.2 smacks of social engineering. Lack of detail and cohesive 
policy implies the areas are not considered to be important in the overall 
scheme of the plan.
Concern, that the scope of the JCS is too limited to achieve this aim. In order 
for this perceived inequality to be addressed, 
External interference is not necessary. Brackley and Towcester are thriving; 
there is no requirement for regeneration at these towns.
Must regenerate area between Castle Station and Kingsthorpe along the 
railway line
Policy approach fails to recognise new regeneration instead focussing on the 
renewal of existing communities.
Further explanation required on how the communities affected will be 
engaged as part of the regeneration proposals.
Development at Overstone Leys will assist the regeneration of deprived areas 
of Northampton north by providing employment opportunities and facilities and 
services. 
Housing in rural countryside will destroy the attractive villages. 
Some deprived areas are a result of previous planning failures. The policy 
should address how physical alterations can improve the environment and 
neighbourhoods.
Distinction must be made between ‘old areas’ which have historically been 
less affluent and poor quality areas as a result of poor planning.
The town and its centre must be regenerated to encourage people to visit.
Rectory Farm and Ecton Brook require regeneration.
The building of the A45/M1road will not assist the regeneration of 
Northampton but will rather increase southern flow of employment, retail, and 
leisure.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

130



Architectural regeneration of buildings in failing wards must be considered.
Regeneration outside the priorities areas must be considered and priority 
areas could change over the plan period. 
NCAAP is in direct conflict with the EJCS. 

Suggestion
It has been suggested that public sector as well as the private sector funds should 
be directed at assisting existing communities funds to assist in facilitating and 
developing the new communities. It was also suggested that the terms ‘renewal,
redevelopment or clearance’ should be clarified.

Joint Planning Unit Response
Government policy requires adequate measures to be taken to support regeneration.
The JCS recognises this as an issue that should be addressed. The policy approach
in the PSJCS provides more detail including an overall strategic policy on delivering 
community regeneration as well as policies relating to specific regeneration areas in 
Northampton and Daventry

The Monitoring Framework will include specific indicators and targets to monitor the 
implementation of policies and highlight where policy is not working as intended. The 
policy approach is flexible and will enable the identification of different priority areas 
over time.

There is nothing in the policy approach to suggest a narrow pursuit of one aspect of 
regeneration or the other. A balanced approach demands that priority should be 
given to the area of greatest need and it is the case that the community will shape 
and influence the implementation programmes at every stage through the ongoing 
public engagement process. Detailed regeneration proposals for the areas specified 
in the JCS will be developed through community engagement.
  
Sustainable development principles underpin the strategy and policy approach to the 
plan. By carefully selecting the location of development and ensuring high quality 
design future development should enhance rather than diminish the attractiveness of 
rural country side or villages. 

There is a requirement for Councils to consider the chain of conformity in preparing 
their JCS. Other development plan documents to be included in the LDF folder 
should conform to the JCS. Accordingly, and as prescribed by paragraph 5.1 of 
PPS12, it is the case that the NCAAP is in conformity to the JCS.   

Recommended Action
That the policy approach to delivering community regeneration as set out in Policy 
RC1 of the PSJCS be confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

131



Question 43 - Do you support the policy approach for Designing in Quality into new 
and existing developments?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
837 795 23 19

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Who decides quality and standards? It can vary by area.  
Only public money will provide quality and this is not provided for in the plan.  
This policy approach does not go far enough in setting energy efficient 
standards and carbon neutral build quality.  
Whilst the principle of good design is supported, policies and guides cannot 
control this. Only good designers can create good designs.  

General Comments
The JPU needs to do research into building forms to inform future 
development.
Consider the use of Northamptonshire stone wherever possible. 
Does quality refer to layout, bricks or both?
What is quality and how will it be measured?
Design must consider local designs, needs, knowledge and experience. 
Design quality needs to be judged by locals as well as professionals. The 
locals have to live with it. 
Bring back Parker Morris Standard.  
The design approach should highlight the need for an understanding of the 
character of an area, including its historic and landscape/townscape 
character. 
This policy needs to be cross-referenced to sustainable construction/climate 
change issues. 
Each town should have a separate and unique identity.
Quality needs to include buildings of the highest environmental standard, 
including heat recovery systems, solar panels, water recovery systems and 
wind turbines.  The relationship to public transport needs to be considered. 
The use of tools like master plans and design codes are essential to ensuring 
high standards are achieved.  
Need to stress quality over quantity. 
There should be no coalescence of villages, so as to ensure rural character is 
maintained. 
Concerned that Daventry has two sets of master plans/visions. This is 
wasteful. 
Secured by Design and the contribution that design can make to crime 
prevention needs to be addressed in this policy approach. 
High quality design can be encouraged through competitions, focus groups 
and local architects’ societies.
Local distinctiveness and enhancement of built character in new 
developments is essential to good design.

Joint Planning Unit Response

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

132



PPS1: Delivering Sustainable Development extols the virtue of good design and 
encourages planning authorities to deliver attractive usable, durable and adaptable 
places. Good design is central to good planning.  The JCS will ensure high quality 
and good design in all development. Both public and private bodies have 
responsibility to ensure high standard and quality of development. It is not always the 
case that quality equates higher cost.

It is important for both private and public bodies to continue to play their parts in the 
effort to promote sustainable development. Policy S10 of the PSJCS sets out the 
sustainable development criteria that all new development should meet. The IDP 
being prepared as part of the JCS gives clear indications of the funding regime. This 
will allow greater coordination of all funding.

Extensive research and evidence form part of the process of JCS preparation. If and 
when gaps have been identified further research may be commissioned in an 
addition to existing and ongoing studies. 

Detailed guidance on design and technologies devices such as solar energy are not 
appropriate issues for the JCS, but could be addressed in supplementary guidance.
Policy BN5 outlines that all new development will “Protect and enhance the features
which contribute to the distinctive character of the area including Conservation 
areas, significant historical landscapes, the skyline and settings of towns and 
villages, sites of known or potential historical significance and locally and nationally 
significant buildings and structures”. This policy will ensure that development 
considers local design, needs, knowledge and experience, respects the historic 
landscape/townscape and maintains the local distinctiveness of an area.

Local People will be consulted when a planning application is submitted and will be 
given the opportunity to comment on the design of the proposed development 
through this process.  

The JCS provides a broad framework for directing and managing development in a 
sustainable manner and it is not an appropriate vehicle for promoting prescriptive 
standards as being suggested. The Parker Morris standard was produced in the 
1960’s and “provided typical dimensions for the typical items of furniture for which 
the dwelling designer should allow space”. All new residential developments have to 
adhere to the Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 and Lifetime Homes Standard as 
this is more appropriate. 

Within the broad framework of the JCS there is opportunity to prepare other
Development Plan Documents (DPDs) including masterplans. The adopted Local 
Development Scheme (LDS) contains a list of other plans to be prepared by partner 
authorities. The JCS together with these plans will ensure that each town will 
maintain its own unique identity.

In regards to the relationship with public transport, Policy S10 also outlines that all 
new development will “Be located where services and facilities can be easily 
accessible on foot, bicycle and by public transport”. All of these principles will ensure 
that buildings are to the highest environmental standard.  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

133



There is no requirement for West Northamptonshire JCS to mimic North 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. If considered appropriate reference may be 
made to the issue of coalescence. 

Although Daventry does have a separate master plan and vision, these have been 
produced by Daventry District Council and not the JPU. The proposals contained 
within the PSJCS for Daventry reflect the vision and master plan for Daventry.   

The JCS will contain sufficient guidelines on community safety and policies in the 
plan will ensure that that crime reduction form part of the design consideration. The 
relevant local authority will then determine whether the design does indeed meet the 
strict criteria that they have set. 

Recommended Action
The policy approach on designing in quality is now included principally in Policy S10, 
Sustainable Development Principles in the PSJCS and is also reflected in individual 
policies relating to the SUES and within the Built and Natural Environment Section. It 
is recommended that this approach is confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

134



Question 44

Question – Do you support the policy approach in relation to Green Infrastructure?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1232 132 1201 18

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The countryside should be preserved from development, Brownfield sites 
should be developed first. Also the protection of villages and their rural 
hinterland will secure green infrastructure.  
There is a concern that the development of the option will have an adverse 
impact on the environment. Also it was indicated that no mitigation measures 
will  reverse the damage if greenfield sites are developed and the arable land 
is required to make the UK  self sufficient in food production
Developer contributions are unlikely to secure Green Infrastructure (GI) 
requirements. The policy approach states it expects developers to contribute 
to GI and the provision of off site should be an option, if it cannot be provided 
on site. This will not be sufficient to secure funding as section 106 funding is
not always provided. Further, it has noted that it is unclear how the 
enhancement of GI will be achieved in areas away from the development 
areas. 
The JCS should seek an overall net gain in GI.
The JCS must consider the implications of the GI Study and Landscape 
Sensitivity studies more fully, to ensure that development is directed away 
from sensitive areas and to identify opportunities for enhancements. Further,
the criticism has been raised that there is no evidence of creative thinking as 
to how the general concept of GI might be translated into principles that have 
guided the selection of the development options. The danger is that GI will be 
seen as another charge on development and not a key feature in determining 
the development form. Insufficient detail has been provided to comment on 
this approach and the encouragement of development proposals that improve 
the quality, quantity and accessibility to green space must be sought.
GI must not be confused with a network of streets and cycle ways that provide 
connections between and within areas. 
Like North Northamptonshire JCS, the West Northamptonshire JCS should 
identify Nene Valley Corridor as a sub regional corridor which should be 
reflected throughout the document.   

Joint Planning Unit Response
To promote the sustainable growth of the plan area and address the causes/impacts 
of climate change, a certain level of development will have to take place on 
greenfield sites to meet the partner Council’s social, environmental and economic 
needs. The PSJCS will be supported by a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) which
assesses the proposals against sustainability objectives and ensure measures are 
incorporated to minimise/eliminate any adverse economic, social and environmental 
impacts. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

135



A policy to encourage the development of brownfield sites has been included in 
PSJCS and the careful phasing of the development of strategic growth sites will
encourage the regeneration of brownfield sites. 

The grade of farming land will be one of the sustainability considerations that will be 
taken into consideration when determining the scale, type and location of 
development and the master planning of schemes. Where possible, the development 
of high grade farming sites will be avoided, unless other sustainability considerations 
override the perceived benefits of preserving the site for farming use.   

An IDP is being completed to support the content of the JCS. This will identify the 
entire infrastructure that is required to support the sustainable growth of the JCS 
areas, the funding sources/gaps and potential strategies for addressing gaps. This 
will also be supported by viability studies which will ensure viability of the growth 
options is not undermined by developer contributions. Finally, based upon the latter 
studies a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is expected to be adopted to support 
the provision of GI and other infrastructure across the JCS area.

The strategy will seek to enhance, restore and create new GI networks, but an 
overall net gain in Green Infrastructure may not be deliverable.

Based upon the evidence base that has been collected, the PSJCS now identifies 
the corridors which are of sub-regional and local importance and includes measures
for enhancement (i.e. quality/quantity), the creation of new/ networks and the 
improvement access to green infrastructure. 

The policy approach included in the PSJCS recognises the importance of GI for 
biodiversity and Policy BN1 includes provision for wildlife habitats, the planting of 
native species, and protection of natural features.

In respect of the classification of Nene Valley a specific Policy BN8 is included in the 
PSJCS in recognition of its importance as a strategic corridor, including its value for 
biodiversity.

Recommended Action
That the policy approach to GI, as set out in Policy BN1 of the PSJCS, is confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

136



Question 45 - Do you support the policy approach in relation to Culture and Cultural 
Heritage?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
838 139 681 18

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
No support or adequate facilities are provided for inter-faith, inter-cultural and 
inter-community initiatives;  

 No evidence that charitable organisations have been consulted on this policy 
approach; 

 Policy approach only supports culture in certain places; it should be 
encouraged everywhere;
This policy does not specify sites to be protected;
The huge metropolis that this plan will create will not preserve the heritage 
and conservation areas or the individuality of towns;
Present “cultural policies” have resulted in the deplorable, unsafe weekend 
evening binge drinking culture; this policy will only encourage this further;

 Policy doesn’t cover personal safety issues as a result of current evening 
culture;  
A clearer definition of what the policy actually means is required; 
Culture & Heritage are two distinct issues and should be addressed 
separately;
Supporting the evening economy will give rise to more alcohol related injury, 
thereby further straining the already stretched Accident and Emergency 
department at Northampton General Hospital;  

 Church buildings, church history and church communities need to be 
mentioned, as does the role of church buildings as tourist attractions;  
Instead of promoting diverse culture, we should recognise the rights of the 
indigenous people of this country;
Notion that a village hall or pub is focus of rural culture is untested & incorrect;
This policy needs to also protect landscapes; and  

 Policy approach is too restrictive, and will discourage regeneration of 
Brackley. 

General Comments
 Policy needs to include provision for people to exercise their religious beliefs 

and/or meet as faith communities. Government guidance in ‘Face to Face and 
Side by Side’ and ‘Cambridgeshire Horizons’ are good practice guides;
A new Village Hall that will benefit Overstone Village is envisaged;  
Weedon Depot needs to be protected and recognition given to its national 
importance.  To achieve this, viable uses must be encouraged on-site;  
The green environment also needs to be protected in this policy approach;  
The Northampton South East area is unusually rich in archaeological heritage 
and this must be protected;  
More places for Christian worship are needed;  
Given Northampton’s historic importance for the shoe manufacturing industry, 
creation of a high quality, handmade shoe manufacturing and marketing 
centre is needed;  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

137



 As Boudicca’s last stand was in this locality, it would be an ideal subject for a 
museum exhibition; 
We are still waiting for a museum at Cogenhoe;  
Brackley wishes to have an exhibition gallery and performing arts centre;  
A clear distinction needs to be made between the provision of cultural facilities 
and the strategy for managing the historic environment; 
Key areas for action need to be set out in the Core Strategy;  
Daventry needs to benefit from this policy approach. In particular, leisure 
outlets need to be put forward speedily and matching the needs of Daventry’s 
dwellers;  
Glossary should contain definition of what “A4, A3, D2 and D1” uses are;

 Is a need to consolidate strength and build for future, not protect fossilisation;
 Policy should include an ambition to greatly improve tourist information 

services; 
The Culture and Heritage policy should be moved to a position between 
‘Designing in Quality’ (6.10.2) and ‘Green Infrastructure’ (6.10.3);
If Northampton is to become a city, make it distinctive and build upon the 
existing heritage; 
Daventry Water Space should be added to the bullet point relating to Daventry 
Town Centre;
A dedicated department is needed to ensure archaeological sites are 
respected;  
This policy needs to apply to villages too, not just the towns;
Implications of management, maintenance costs & means of funding need to 
be addressed (e.g. establish trust with asset base as Milton Keynes Parks 
Trust);
More mention needs to be made of the provision and protection of cultural 
facilities in Daventry, particularly Daventry Town Museum; 
With regards to the evening economy, it should be specified that some uses 
would not be appropriate in certain locations;  
Theatre provision and public art needs to be addressed here.  
This section needs to refer to preferred proposals within other DPD’s;
This section could benefit from reference to a new archaeological archive; and
The West Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit needs to ensure that this 
plan, and particularly this policy, is in accordance with the revised PPS 15.

Joint Planning Unit Response
Policy RC2 outlines that new residential and commercial development will be 
required to make provision for community facilities and public open space in 
accordance with the standards set out in the PPG17 studies and identified within the 
West Northamptonshire Sports Facility Strategy and the Cultural Investment Plan.
This will ensure that adequate facilities are provided for inter-faith, inter-cultural and 
inter-community initiatives.

The Charitable Organisations are statutory consultees and were therefore consulted 
with during previous consultation stages. 

Policy BN5 protects within the whole of West Northamptonshire. It outlines that 
“Heritage assets and their settings will be conserved and enhanced in recognition of 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

138



their contribution to West Northamptonshire’s sense of place”. Therefore culture is 
supported throughout West Northamptonshire.  

The Site Specific Allocations DPD will specify those areas that are to be protected. It 
is not the responsibility of the JCS to list every site that is to be protected. More 
information on specific areas where more investment will be made can be found in 
the Cultural Investment Plan and IDP.  

Conservation areas and the individuality of towns will be protected through Policy 
BN5, which specifies that all new development will “sustain and enhance the 
features which contribute to the character of the area including: Conservation Areas
and the skyline and settings of towns and villages”;

The reference to the JCS supporting the evening economy in regards to bars and 
restaurants has now been removed from the PSJCS. However, it is recognised in 
paragraph 7.26 that public houses and restaurant are important cultural and heritage 
assets in West Northamptonshire that will be retained.

Policy S10 outlines that in order to achieve the overarching goals of sustainability 
development will: achieve the highest standards of design including in relation to 
safety and security. This will help improve safety issues associated with the evening 
economy and any new development that supports it.

No explanation has been given to what a ‘clearer definition’ is. More information on 
how new development will protect existing heritage assets is provided through Policy 
BN5. In addition, information on how cultural assets will be protected and managed 
has been provided in the Cultural Investment Plan, as well as the IDP detailing how 
this will be funded.

Culture and Heritage are addressed separately to an extent by the PSJCS. Cultural 
Assets for example are discussed in paragraphs 7.25 – 7.27, whereas Heritage is 
discussed throughout the PSJCS, particularly Policy BN5 (The Historic 
Environment). 

However, Culture and Heritage are also intrinsically linked. For example, paragraph 
7.26 outlines that “West Northamptonshire provides a distinctive cultural offer, which 
ranges from its archaeological heritage, extensive canal and inland waterway 
network and heritage assets”. Heritage assets are also one of the typologies that 
have been mapped when producing the Cultural Mapping Report.  

Specific support for bars is not highlighted in the PSJCS. The only reference to the 
evening economy in the PSJCS is in the “Arts and Entertainment Section”, which 
outlines that “the current level of provision does not reflect the active arts community 
and the desire for additional, diverse entertainment facilities, particularly as part of 
developing the evening economy”. This is a detailed matter for DPDs dealing with 
development management issues.

The value of church buildings has been recognised through Policy BN5, which 
ensures that all new development will expected to maintain and enhance the 
historical assets of West Northamptonshire.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

139



To recognise the rights of the ‘indigenous people’ of the country over any other 
ethnic group is unethical and does not create equal opportunities that the PSJCS 
seeks. This is not supported in the JCS.  

The reference to the village hall or pub being the focus of rural culture has been 
removed from the PSJCS. It is however recognised in the assessment of rural 
hierarchy section (paragraph 16.10) that the Village Hall/ Community Centre is a 
“Most Important Service and Facility”  

Policy BN5 does include the protection of landscapes. It outlines that all new 
development will “Protect and enhance the features which contribute to the 
distinctive character of the area including: Significant Historical Landscapes”.

No evidence has been provided as to why the Policy Approach is too restrictive and 
discourages the regeneration of Brackley. The Spatial Strategy for Brackley (Policy 
B1) sets out a wide range of new developments that will be provided, including 
health provision including a new primary healthcare centre and a 60 bed unit for 
elderly care. However, the new development proposed in Brackley will be expected 
to sustain and enhance the features that contribute to an area through Policy BN5.

As highlighted earlier, Policy RC2 ensures that new development will make provision 
for community facilities. In addition, paragraph 7.30 states that “the provision of 
social and community infrastructure, including the provision of facilities for worship, is 
fundamental to the creation of strong neighbourhoods and local identity”. Therefore 
the JCS does include provision for people to exercise their religious beliefs. 

The Site Allocations DPD will outline the redevelopment of Overstone Village Hall. It 
is recognised in the rural hierarchy section of the PSJCS that a Village Hall is one of 
the most important facilities in a village; however it is unclear how this 
redevelopment will be funded.   

Policy BN6 recognises the value of Weedon Depot and specifies what viable uses 
would be encouraged on site. This would include a Museum (Class D1), 
Employment (Class B1), Retail (Class A1), Restaurant/Cafe/Drinking Establishment 
(Class A3, A4 and A5), other Leisure, Tourism and Recreation Uses or Residential. 
Any proposal on site would “need to preserve and enhance the cultural and heritage 
value of the site by ensuring that the re-use of existing buildings and any new 
building is undertaken in accordance with an agreed conservation plan”.

The green environment is protected through Policy BN1. This outlines that new GI
will “reflect local character through the planting of native species and consideration 
of natural and cultural heritage features”.

The archaeological heritage of Northampton South East will be protected through 
Policy BN5. It states that “Heritage Assets and their settings will be conserved and 
enhanced in recognition of their contribution to West Northamptonshire’s sense of 
place”.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

140



The community facilities provided within SUE proposals will include new places of 
worship where needs are identified.  

The previous role of Northampton as the major centre for shoe manufacturing is 
highlighted in paragraph 12.1. It will however be the role of either the Site Specific 
Allocations DPD or more local documents to identify and propose a marketing 
centre.  

The suggestion regarding a museum related to Boudicca’s last stand is too detailed 
for inclusion in the JCS, but could be considered in lower order plans.

The overall strategy for Brackley would support the provision of an exhibition gallery 
and performing arts centre in Brackley. This could be promoted through the Brackely 
Masterplan.

A clear distinction has been made between the provision of cultural facilities and the 
management of the historic environment. The provision and maintenance of cultural 
facilities is discussed in paragraphs 7.25 – 7.27, as well as the Cultural Mapping and 
Cultural Management reports. The Management of West Northamptonshire’s 
Cultural Facilities is discussed throughout the PSJCS, but specifically Policy BN5.  

It has not been made clear as to why the JCS should set out key areas for action. 
This is the responsibility of the Site Allocations and other Development Plan 
Documents. The JCS does however make reference to the fact that the cultural 
assets have been mapped onto the Cultural Mapping Report (CMR). This in turn has 
informed the CMR, which has set out a number of investment areas. The level of 
investment will be discussed in the IDP.  

Policy D1 (Regeneration of Daventry Town) highlights that to support the vision of 
Daventry becoming a sustainable town with 40,000 residents, the “provision of 
leisure and tourism development within the town centre via redevelopment and 
including an extension to Daventry Country Park”. 

In addition Policy D2 sets out that new leisure development will occur within and 
adjoining Daventry Town Centre. The Daventry North East SUE will also provide 
“enhanced sport and leisure provision”. The location of these new leisure outlets will 
be highlighted in the Site Allocations DPD.

A definition of the use class order shall be added to the Glossary.

Whilst there is a need to build for the future, this should not be done at the expense 
of the county’s heritage assets. Policy BN5 ensures that new development will 
protect the county’s existing heritage assets.

Policy E7 discusses tourism, visitor and cultural industries. It outlines that “Tourism, 
Visitor and Cultural development will be supported where they contribute to the 
achievement of regeneration aims and objectives, strengthen the overall tourism 
offer, benefit local communities and businesses and development is of a use, form 
and scale which does not harm the quality of the natural or built environment”. This 
will ensure that tourism service provision will improve over the plan period.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

141



No explanation has been given as to why the Culture and Heritage Policy should be 
located between Designing in Quality and Green Infrastructure. Policy BN5 is located 
in the Built and Natural Environment Section, which deals with Green Infrastructure 
Connections and Flood Risk for example.

Policy E7 supports the new tourism, visitor and cultural development proposals. New 
development will also be expected to protect and enhance existing heritage assets 
through policy BN5. This will help Northampton build upon its existing heritage.  

No reason has been given to including Daventry Water Space within the Daventry 
section. Any development here would be discussed in the Site Allocations DPD.

The Northamptonshire County Archaeological unit ensures the protection of all the 
archaeological sites within Northamptonshire.

Paragraphs 7.25-7.27 discusses in detail the management of cultural assets. The 
CMP has mapped the heritage assets within West Northamptonshire. This document 
has informed the preparation of a CIP, which has identified a number of areas for 
investment. This identifies how some of the area’s cultural and heritage assets will 
be managed. The key elements of this Investment Plan have been included in the 
IDP, which sets out how and when the financial investment in some of the areas 
cultural assets will be made.

No specific reference is made to the protection of Daventry Town Museum. 
However, all new development will be expected to protect and enhance existing 
cultural and heritage facilities through Policy BN5.

The evening economy reference has been removed from the PSJCS. The only 
reference to the evening economy is in the Arts and Entertainment section, which 
outlines that “the current level of provision does not reflect the active arts community 
and the desire for additional, diverse entertainment facilities, particularly as part of 
developing the evening economy”. The relevant Development Control Authority will
determine whether a development proposal is suitable to that particular location.  

Arts and Entertainment have been discussed in paragraphs 7.28 and 7.29. It is 
outlined that “the NCAAP contains proposals for an enhanced cultural offer within 
Northampton’s town centre. There are additional plans prepared by each of the local 
authorities, Northamptonshire County Council and Northamptonshire Enterprise, 
which aim to develop new facilities and to enhance existing facilities, for arts and 
entertainment in order to diversify the existing offer”. It has not been specified what 
these ‘additional plans’ are, reference to which could be made in the footer. 

It has not been specified what the ‘other DPD’s’ are, nor as to why specific 
references to ‘preferred proposal’ need to be made. It is not the JCS’s responsibility 
to specify specific allocations; this will be dealt with through the Site Specific 
Allocations DPD. The majority of DPD’s have not yet been prepared and work will 
only commence on the documents once the JCS is close to adoption.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

142



The County already has an archaeological record. This is known as the Sites and 
Monument Record and is available to view for free by the public.

PPS 15 has been taken into account when preparing the JCS. This is discussed in 
Appendix 1 of the PSJCS, which discusses what plans and other strategies were 
taken into account in the preparation of the JCS. 

Recommended Action
The policy approach to Culture and Cultural Heritage is spread across a number and 
policies and sections within the PSJCS as outlined in the JPUs response above. This 
approach reflects the responses received and it is recommended that it be 
confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

143



Question 46

Question – Do you support the policy approach in relation to Landscape and 
Biodiversity?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
622 121 478 23

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The Nene Valley should be protected (i.e. Nene recreation area, Upper Nene 
Gravel Pits potential SPA). The proposed expansion sites, particularly in the 
Northampton SE, impinge on these natural areas and raises questions 
whether alternatives options were more appropriate.
In relation to the Northampton SE option, it has been argued that the JCS has 
disregarded the results of the combined landscape and biodiversity sensitivity 
results as they apply to Great Houghton. It has also been noted, this option is 
located on prime agricultural land and ancient hedgerows.
It is questioned why Para 6.10.5.3 only refers to the creation of woodlands 
and tree planting and not other habitats of significance such as acid grassland 
and heathlands as identified in the Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP). Also the
Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure (GI) studies should have been 
used to identify opportunities for enhancement. 
The policy will need to clarify how negative impacts of development will be 
mitigated against (i.e. the compensatory measures for the loss of biodiversity). 
The policy approach must indicate an understanding of the landscape and 
townscape. This needs to be taken into account in the design and 
implementation of all new developments. Also there is lack of 
acknowledgement of landscape protection and the needs to restore and 
tackle current neglect. 
The policy approach should take into account Natural England’s standards for 
green space and Woodland Trust’s woodland access standards should form 
part of the strategy. 
The growth being proposed by the JCS, particularly Greenfield sites will not 
achieve a significant net gain in biodiversity. Also small areas of GI or the 
relocation of habitats can not mitigate, compensate for the loss of loss of 
biodiversity, landscape and habitats.    

Joint Planning Unit Response
The Northampton South East proposal has not been included in the PSJCS. The 
smaller SUEs proposed at Northampton South and South of Brackmills do not affect 
the natural areas referred to by the objectors and will have a reduced impact on
landscape and biodiversity. These proposals will be supported by an Appropriate
Assessment, where necessary, to assess their impact on the Upper Nene Gravel 
Pits potential Special Protection Area (pSPA) and any other European Union
protected sites, and identify any mitigation measures that are required.
It is agreed that the creation of other habitats such as grassland/wetlands, to support 
biodiversity could be explored. Also it would be useful for the policy approach to 
highlight any measures that may need to be taken to mitigate against the negative 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

144



impacts of any growth proposals. Policy BN2 of the PSJCS addresses both of these 
issues. 

It is accepted that the policy approach focuses on biodiversity, the proposed PSJCS 
also includes consideration of the landscape, for example there is a specific section 
on the Historic Environment and Landscape. The SUE proposals have been 
identified having regard to the evidence contained in the Landscape Sensitivity 
studies for the four main towns. The SUE policies include specific provisions relating 
to landscape protection and enhancement.

The JCS does not include specific reference to Natural England’s access to natural 
green space and the Woodland Trust access standards. These have been 
considered but the open space standards are based on up to date local studies 
rather than generic national standards.

The JCS is underpinned by a comprehensive evidence base, such as Landscape 
Sensitivity and GI studies which will inform the content of the document. Based upon
this evidence base and other studies, a Sustainability Appraisal (and where 
necessary and Appropriate Assessment) is also being undertaken. This assesses
the JCS proposals against environmental (as well as economic, social) sustainability 
objectives and will help determine what measures need to be incorporated into the 
policy framework to minimise/eliminate any adverse impacts on the environment, 
biodiversity, landscape and habitats.   
   
Recommended Action
That the policy approach to Landscape and Biodiversity as set out principally in 
Policies BN2 and BN5 of the PSJCS be confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

145



Question 47

Question – Do you support the policy approach in relation to Climate Change?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
2076 113 1945 18

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Climate change is a key issue that should be reflected more widely throughout 
the document. It should be a more prominent policy within the West 
Northamptonshire Emergent JCS and not just appearing as Question 47. 
The strategy must be more ambitious. Other low carbon renewable energy 
generation options must be explored (such as wind development, combined 
heat and power, local district heating systems, sustainable waste 
management, solar energy, small scale hydro projects) and implemented 
(both within and outside SUE), in order to promote sustainable development 
and address climate change. The policy approach for renewable energy 
should include measures to protect the natural environment and the amenity it 
affords. 
Further, it has been noted that cement production is one of the largest Carbon 
Dioxide sources.
It requires clarification of the impacts of climate change on biodiversity, within 
the list of principle impacts (i.e. Para 6.10.6.3). 
This approach is not precise. Performance of housing must be related to 
existing national standards such as the Building Research Establishment’s 
Environmental Assessment Method and the Code for Sustainable Homes.
Imposing standards above those that are nationally required would be 
resisted.  
Criticism was raised that no significant measures are proposed to tackle 
climate change. More innovation is required in the design and implementation 
of new development now. Evidence of plans, standards and guiding principles 
needed to demonstrate commitment to this policy.
There is a concern that the growth proposed by the JCS will have an adverse 
impact on the climate change. In particular, reference has been made to the
reduction in agricultural yields through loss of farmland and increase flooding, 
water shortages, traffic, congestion and an increase in CO2 emissions/air 
pollution due to the four lane link road from M1 J15 to Northampton SE option.
Northampton Sustainable Urban Extensions (South and South east) are to be 
built on a known floodplain. This will increase run off, and put pressure on 
inadequate drainage systems. The Plans do not account for this risk and must 
be re-evaluated. Also criticism has been raised to the unreasonable level of 
confidence placed on using Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDs) to
mitigate the impact of climate change/flood risk.
Failure to provide sufficient local employment/housing, retail shops, and public 
transport can only lead to increased vehicular movements. This approach 
cannot be supported.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

146



The strategy does not account for the contribution that rail freight can make to 
reduce carbon dioxide emissions. The strategy must acknowledge other non-
road means of distribution.

Joint Planning Unit Response
It is accepted that climate change is a key issue which should be reflected 
throughout the document and that a more prominent policy could have been included 
in the earlier sections of the JCS because it can play a key role in promoting the 
overarching planning objective of promoting sustainable development. For this 
reason a section entitled ‘Climate Change and Sustainable Development Principles’
has been included in the Spatial Strategy section of the PSJCS and a strategic policy 
(Policy S10) has been included in the strategy.

It is accepted that the strategy could explore the role that low carbon renewable 
sources; sustainable waste management/construction could play in addressing 
climate change and these principles are reflected in Policy S10 of the PSJCS.

The links between climate change and biodiversity are recognised and have been 
included in the ‘Climate Change’ section of the PSJCS.

It is accepted that the policy approach could incorporate national standards such as 
Code for Sustainable Homes, BREAM to promote the sustainable design of buildings 
and assess the performance of them, in order to address climate change. For this 
reason appropriate standards have been included in Policy S10.

A Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is being undertaken to support the content of the 
JCS. This examines all the JCS proposals against a range of economic, social and 
environmental objectives and ensures all the necessary measures are incorporated 
into the policy framework, in order to minimise/eliminate any adverse impacts, as 
well as address climate change and promote sustainable development. Also, an 
Appropriate Assessment (AA) is being undertaken, where necessary, to ensure that 
that the JCS proposals will not adversely impact European designated environmental 
sites. 

A Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) has been undertaken. This will ensure 
that a sequential test has been applied to direct any proposed growth to areas that 
have a low risk of flooding (i.e. flood zones 1/2), as well as ensuring highly 
vulnerable land uses are directed away from areas at a high risk of flooding (i.e.
flood zone 3A/B). Also where it is not possible to locate developments in areas at low 
risk of flooding, the SFRA will also examine the existing flood defence infrastructure 
and determine what measures may be required to make the sites safe from flooding.    

The JCS will include measures to achieve a better balance between homes, jobs, 
services, retail/community facilities and sustainable transport measures, in order to 
reduce the need to travel and promote a greater self containment of urban/rural 
settlements. A large level of supporting evidence base for the JCS, such as the IDP, 
SA, etc will also help achieve a greater level of self containment in the area.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

147



It is accepted that the JCS should acknowledge the role that non-road means of 
distribution could play in reducing carbon emissions. For this reason Policy C3 of the 
PSJCS refers to rail freight and the use of the canal network for freight movements.   

Recommended Action
That the policy approach to ‘Climate Change’ as set out in Policy S10 of the PSJCS 
be confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

148



Question 48

Question – Do you support the policy approach in relation to Flood Risk?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
2957 119 2821 17

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
There is a concern that the evidence base that is required for this policy 
approach (particularly the SFRA) should have been completed before 
consulting on the location, scale and measures required to combat the risk of 
flooding. 
Also it has been indicated that a Surface Water Management Plan should also 
be commissioned as part of the evidence base. 
There is a major concern that the scale of the proposed growth will inevitably
increase the risk of flooding across the JCS area (i.e. Northampton SE SUE).
The main reasons given for this view are inadequate drainage; development 
will prevent water run off capacity of the surrounding areas, the inadequacy of 
SUDS to mitigate the flood risk, and the effects of past flooding events in 
places such as Collingtree and Upton. 
There are concerns in relation to whether adequate levels of funding will be 
available for the flood prevention infrastructure that is required to mitigate any
flood risk caused by growth. In particularly, questions are raised as to whether 
developers will be able to fund for the significant level of flood mitigation 
measures needed for the level of development proposed. 

Joint Planning Unit Response
A level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) was completed to support the 
content EMJCS. This collects/analyses information in relation to historic occurrences
of flooding events from all sources, the level flood risk in different places, etc. All the 
information collected from the SFRA 1 was taken into consideration in the EJCS to 
prevent locating vulnerable development in areas with a high risk of flooding. In 
addition, the Environment Agency has been consulted in the production of the EJCS.
The evidence base has been developed further to underpin the PSJCS. This 
includes a more detailed level 2 SFRA and a Water Cycle Strategy for the whole
area.

The SFRA identifies all the locations that are at a high risk of flooding, examines 
capacity of the flooding prevention infrastructure and identifies all the measures that 
strategic developments may need to take to make a development safe and ensure
that it does not increase the risk of flooding to third parties. The scale of 
development proposed in the PSJCS is significantly lower than that proposed in the 
EJCS and the proposed SUE at Northampton South East has been deleted.

An infrastructure delivery plan has been prepared to support the sustainable delivery 
of the JCS. This identifies what infrastructure will need to be delivered, where, when, 
by who, as well as how any potential gaps in funding will be addressed. 
  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

149



Recommended Action

That the policy approach to ‘Flood Risk’ as set out in Policy BN7 of the PSJCS be 
confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

150



Question 49 – Do you support the policy approach in relation to Health and 
Wellbeing and Leisure, Sport and Recreation?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
828 127 686 15

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Although the importance of social infrastructure is recognised in the policy, 
previous experience suggests that it will not be provided.  
No mention made of Hospitals, Police or Fire Services that are basic needs for 
health & wellbeing and need to be provided before leisure facilities.

 Section needs to be strengthened to consider how growth can be shaped to 
promote healthy lifestyles, tackle obesity, mental health conditions and give 
access to expanded leisure facilities, along with access to the countryside for 
walking, cycling and equestrian activities.  
This lacks sufficient detail.
The medical infrastructure for such high levels of development is neither 
available nor feasible. Northamptonshire is not an attractive destination for 
prospective doctors whilst existing practices cannot accommodate them. 
Financial pressures on NHS are not favourable to an expansion of provision.
Building a new road to the M1 will result in additional pollution that will not 
improve the health and well-being of residents within West Northamptonshire. 
Developer led development will not consider local needs and circumstances.  
Too much emphasis is placed on sport facilities.  

 Policy approach is unclear as there are major differences between the 
standards sought in Northampton, Daventry and South Northamptonshire. 
Detailed standards should not be included in the JCS, but rather in a 
subsequent allocations document. 

General Comments
More mention needs to be made of non-sporting clubs (e.g. church clubs, 
Scouts) as these have far more; “health giving/preserving” attributes than 
sports. 
Parks and Open Spaces are important but have little protection from 
development at present. 
This needs to be done for existing communities, let alone new ones. 
Why do Northamptonshire County Council wish to sell off disused playing 
fields when they could be used for recreation?
Local newsagents, post offices, public houses and local farm produce shops 
should also be included.
The network or rural pathways throughout West Northamptonshire are well 
used and already contribute to community well-being and health. 
In accordance with Planning Policy Guidance 17 : Planning for Open Space, 
Sport and Recreation, the quality of facility as well as the quantity of them must 
also be considered when determining recreation facility provision.
This policy should be linked to the Green Infrastructure (GI) policy to ensure 
multi-functional use and benefit. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

151



In accordance with Circular 05/05, developers should only be expected to 
provide facilities necessary to mitigate the effects of their development. 
Identified existing shortfalls should not be funded by new development. 
Central Government funding will be needed given the large existing deficit of 
health and leisure facilities. 
It should be made clearer that relocation of facilities is perfectly acceptable if 
an improvement in quality or quantity results. 
There should be an explicit statement about the importance of design in 
securing health, particularly through active travel.
Something should be done early to gain public confidence. 
Danes Camp Leisure Centre at Mereway District Centre can and should be 
upgraded to accommodate the leisure pursuits of local residents.  
New and upgraded facilities should only be used by local taxpayers, and not 
those from further afield. 
Development of the Bell Plantation Site would provide quality football facilities 
for the town and Towcester Town Football Club. 
Development at Northampton South would reconfigure, retain and enhance 
Collingtree Park Golf Course and provide sporting and recreational facilities. 
The Woodland Trusts “Access to Woodland” Standard should be mentioned.  
Sport/Leisure facilities need to be underpinned by a pool of trained staff and a 
strong network of clubs & associations to encourage Sport and Leisure 
activities. 
Reference should be made to Natural England’s; “Accessible Green Space 
Standards”.
The Primary Care Trust estimates that the cost for additional healthcare 
infrastructure for the proposed development is £110.5 million.  
This should also include access to wild and rural areas.  

Joint Planning Unit Response
The Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP) will set out what new infrastructure is to 
be provided as well as the timescale and specific infrastructure requirements are 
included in the proposed SUE policies.

The Fire, Health and Police authorities have been consulted during the preparation 
of the IDP. The local needs have been identified as part of this process and what 
new service provision is required to meet these needs. As part of this process, a 
timescale of when this new infrastructure is required has been specified. In some 
areas the provision of new leisure facilities maybe more pressing when compared 
with the emergency services, therefore the new leisure facilities maybe provided 
beforehand as a result.   

Each SUE is expected to provide an integrated transport network focused on 
sustainable transport modes, including public transport, walking and cycling links. 
New and enhanced leisure facilities will also be provided at some of the SUE’s, 
which will help promote healthier lifestyles and tackle obesity.

More information has been provided in each of the SUE’s in regards to the level of 
leisure and recreational investment. Information of when these facilities will be 
provided is highlighted in the IDP.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

152



As regards health provision the NHS and relevant PCT’s have been consulted with 
during the preparation of the IDP to identify local needs and future levels of provision 
required to meet these. The SUE policies include health provision where this is 
required.

The new road to the M1 to which the respondent is referring is not included within 
the PSJCS.

Developer led development will be expected to take into account local needs and 
circumstances. Policy INF1 outlines that where new development will provide new 
infrastructure, “it should seek to integrate with and complement adjoining 
communities”.  

Too much emphasis has not been placed on sport facilities. The IDP equally focuses 
on other key facilities such as health, community and education provision. 

No evidence has been provided to demonstrate standards in Northampton, Daventry 
and South Northamptonshire vary. In addition, it has not been highlighted what these 
‘standards’ are. The only difference between the three authorities is the level of 
provision sought, as some areas of West Northamptonshire are set to grow at a 
greater rate compared to others. Detailed standards are not included in the JCS, nor 
are any site specific allocations. This will be dealt with in the Site Specific Allocations
DPD.

It is less sustainable to build a new settlement with brand new facilities, instead of 
the proposed urban extension which can help improve existing facilities. The creation 
of a new town would also mean it would be challenging for a new community to 
make maximum use of services and facilities within existing settlements. People will 
have to travel further to this new town compared to Sustainable Urban Extensions. 

No evidence has been provided that non-sporting clubs have far more health giving/ 
preserving attributes than sports. These are more social and community 
infrastructure facilities. Some of the SUE’s proposed will provide new social and 
community facilities such as Scout groups. 

In addition, Policy RC2 outlines that “The loss of existing built sport facilities and 
areas of open space will be resisted unless it can be demonstrated that there is 
evidence that improvements can be made through the provision of a replacement 
facility of equal or better quality or the proposal will bring about significant community 
benefits that outweigh the loss of the facility”. Therefore open spaces are quite 
rigorously defended. 

Policy RC2 also outlines that “New Residential and Commercial Development will be 
required to make provision for community facilities and public open space in 
accordance with the standards set out in PPG17”. Therefore the provision of new 
open spaces in West Northamptonshire is also encouraged.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

153



New development will take into account existing as well as new communities. Policy 
INF1 outlines that where new development will provide new infrastructure, “it should 
seek to integrate with and complement adjoining communities” 

The development of playing fields is addressed in the provisions of Policy RC2 
above, the loss of open space will be resisted unless there is evidence that 
improvements can be made through the provision of a replacement facility of equal 
or better quality or the proposal will bring about significant community benefits that 
outweigh the loss of the facility.

The importance of local facilities such as local newsagents, post offices, public 
houses and local farm produce is specifically recognised in the Rural Areas section 
of the PSJCS.  

The existing rights of way shall continue to be in place. Any development on or near 
public rights of way will be expected to either relocate or retain existing rights of way. 
More information on footpaths within the SUE’s will be provided when detailed 
masterplans are drawn up.

The PSJCS is in accordance with PPG17, as outlined in Appendix 1. Paragraph 7.35
outlines that “each of the three Borough and District Councils in West 
Northamptonshire have produced Open Space, Sport and Recreational studies 
which are compliant with PPG17”. These studies also “provide detailed background 
information and recommendations for local standards of provision. These standards 
should be incorporated into all new development”, which will ensure that the quality 
is also considered when determining recreation facility provision.  

Policy INF1 outlines that “New Development will be supported by, and provide good 
access to, infrastructure, including physical, green and social elements”. Therefore 
all new development will provide good access to a range of new and existing 
infrastructure which will ensure multi-functional use and benefit.

INF1 also outlines how developers will only be expected to provide new facilities 
where the development generates the need. INF1 states that “Where development 
generates a need for new infrastructure developers will need to demonstrate that 
adequate capacity exists, or that provision will be made, to meet the necessary 
requirements arising from that development within an appropriate timescale”.   

The IDP identifies requirements, costs and funding streams and gaps. It is not the 
responsibility of new development to address any existing deficiencies in health and 
leisure provision.

Policy RC2 outlines that the “Loss of existing built sport facilities and areas of open 
space will be resisted unless it can be demonstrated that there is evidence that 
improvements can be made through the provision of a replacement facility or equal 
or better quality”. Therefore it has been made clear in this policy that the relocation of 
facilities is acceptable provided that it brings an improvement to the quality of 
provision.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

154



For each SUE an integrated transport network is proposed which supports the 
promoting of walking and cycling. The majority of SUE’s will also provide strong links 
to the town centre which will provide the opportunity of more people accessing town 
centres by walking and cycling.

It has not been outlined what should be done early to gain the public’s confidence. 
The IDP will set out when the relevant infrastructure will be delivered. The Open 
Space, Sport and Recreation studies also set out the standards that are sought by 
the relevant authorities.   

Proposals to upgrade Danes Camp Leisure Centre and the development of the Bell 
Plantation for football and other facilities are detailed matters beyond the scope of 
the Core Strategy. The new development could contribute to these facilities where 
this is justified.  

Collingtree Park Golf Course will be retained as discussed in the pretext of the 
Northampton South SUE. Paragraph 12.38 states that “The Allocated site includes 
the existing Collingtree Park Golf Club which will be reconfigured and retained as 
part of the proposal”. 

The JCS does not include specific reference to Natural England’ access to natural 
green space and the Woodland Trust access standards. These have been 
considered but the open space standards are based on up to date local studies 
rather than generic national standards.

The scale of development proposed in the PSJCS is much reduced and as such the 
requirements relating to new health provision are reduced. The IDP indentifies 
improvements to health provision where these are required and will secure 
developer funding.

It has not been specified as to why this policy should include access to wild and rural 
areas. However, Policy BN1 outlines that new green infrastructure will “Be designed 
to the highest quality in terms of appearance, access provision and wildlife 
provision”. This will therefore improve access to new Green Infrastructure.

Recommended Action
The policy approach in relation to Health and Wellbeing and Leisure, Sport and 
Recreation is covered in a number of policies and sections within the PSJCS as 
outlined in the Joint Planning Unit’s response above. This approach reflects the 
responses received and it is recommended that it be confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

155



Question 50

Question – Do you support the policy approach in relation to the phasing of growth 
across West Northamptonshire?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
3062 71 2959 32

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The proposed phasing is vague, presumptive and dependant on the 
availability of site and the building of essential infrastructure. More evidence 
base is required.
Provision of and funding for infrastructure must come first before development 
timescales are decided. With work still ongoing the infrastructure timing is 
indicative, highly subjective and building timescales too optimistic and the 
economic condition suggests that they should be rolled back.
The phasing excludes commercial uses, flood risk assessment, job provision 
and makes no reference to Green Infrastructure (GI) or enhancing biodiversity 
Should be more explicit with regards to achieving an integrated approach to 
sustainable development and communities and also provide indicative dates, 
dependencies and key triggers.
Proposing more growth towards Northampton North instead of Northampton 
South East is unrealistic.
Priority should be given to the regeneration of failing/deprived areas ahead of 
developing other areas, the use of all brownfield sites and the requirement for 
housing growth is overstated giving the large numbers of empty homes and 
sites in the north of England where the jobs are needed
Concerned that development of Arm Farm could be brought forward without 
major infrastructure investment or reliance upon public funding and too many 
developments and individual sites whose credentials have not been closely 
scrutinised before finalising the phasing will commence at the same time 
thereby placing unacceptable strain on the existing infrastructure.

 Significant employment growth at Silverstone should be phased within the first 
5 years and Avon / Nunn Mills sites should be incorporated into the 
first/second phase of plan.
Implement the A5 relief road as early as possible to facilitate planned growth 
in Daventry and increase development in Towcester South to ensure 
adequate critical mass to secure the necessary infrastructure.
Secure infrastructure and employment ahead of housing development.
Concerned that services such as hospitals, doctor’s surgeries, schools and 
local transport will be overloaded.
Concerned that presumptions and the number of development areas could 
potentially change.
Redevelopment of the Grosvenor Centre is unlikely to be completed before 
2016. There is a need for contingency in the event the Grosvenor 
redevelopment is not forthcoming.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

156



Redevelopment of the town centre should not be given preference over other 
development
Releasing Wootton southern development area in the short term would 
represent a sustainable development option requiring minimal major 
infrastructure.
Employment and housing delivery must proceed at least at a ratio of 1.05 per 
dwelling. 

Suggestion
It was suggested that phasing would be clearer if provided as a trajectory or timeline 
and contingency / action plan provided in the event of any of the growth options 
being undeliverable. It was suggested that sites should be prioritised to reduce 
pressure on infrastructure and reduce risk of vulnerability of incompletion during 
future recessions.

Joint Planning Unit Response
The concept of phasing as set out in the JCS accords with Government advice in 
PPS1. It seeks to outline and justify the programme of actions; the timing of each 
development and funding regime. This is a programmed the release of development 
land in a managed and orderly manner.

The basis of the phasing is to maximise the use of existing facilities so that 
significant infrastructure investment can be rationalised, as far as possible, without 
compromising orderly growth of the area. The objective is to minimise wastage and 
set priorities for development that enable the attainment of economic growth and 
community well-being. 

An overall phasing plan for future development is being prepared, as part of the JCS, 
to provide direction over long-term growth in a way that allows the delivery of 
infrastructure in a timely fashion. The misapprehension about the delivery of 
infrastructure is therefore misplaced. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) now 
being prepared as part of the JCS exemplifies the commitment to adequate 
infrastructure provision and there is demonstrable evidence that the policy direction 
has emanated from sound evidence base.

All developments including commercial uses are part of the phasing programme and 
there is reasonable flexibility to enable changes to be made in terms of sequence of 
development. Where new evidence suggests otherwise, either through monitoring or 
other reliable information sources, the phasing programme could be changed to 
reflect this. Factors which affect phasing include adequacy of infrastructure or the 
availability of other services. The PSJCS will ensure that if essential infrastructure is 
not provided then development will not be permitted.

All sites are subject to Sustainability Appraisals (SA) and the Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (SFRA). These will be undertaken to ensure that new development 
proposals will not compromise the presumption against development in the flood 
plain.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

157



The IDP is being prepared as part of the JCS links the delivery of infrastructure to
the phasing of development. The overall approach is consistent with government 
advice and best practice and the policy direction is appropriate and logical.

The PSJCS seeks to ensure that development is phased alongside the provision of 
infrastructure. The phasing of housing development is covered by Policy S6 and the 
housing trajectory in Appendix 3. The IDP identifies how and when infrastructure will 
be delivered in accordance with the phasing of development.

Recommended Action
The policy approach in relation to the phasing of growth across West 
Northamptonshire is covered in a number of policies and sections within the PSJCS 
as outlined in the JPUs response above..

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

158



Question 51

Question – Do you support the policy approach in relation to Funding and Delivery? 

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1366 73 1247 46

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
The policy approach is vague, lacks information and is uncertain that 
infrastructure will be delivered. 
Infrastructure is required to support communities and not ‘support 
development’ as the text suggests. Existing infrastructure is currently under 
great stress and insufficiently developed across the region. Bring existing 
infrastructure up to standard is required. 
Infrastructure is vital yet the Plan does not detail the location and type 
infrastructure required and no evidence to show that infrastructure delivery will 
precede housing development
No control over the delivery of highways, hospitals, emergency services and 
utilities and no provision for, education health facilities, new hospital or 
medical centres 
Needs to be much stronger in its approach to infrastructure and no indication 
of how essential infrastructure will be funded and the robustness of the 
funding delivery plan is unconvincing 
Services and facilities to support this high level of growth are not identified in 
the Plan and there is over reliance on developer contributions. 
The growth proposals in the JCS will not be sustainable and tenable without 
Government funding.
The JCS needs to provide its own mechanism to deliver infrastructure. 
Clear synergies between the West Northamptonshire Development 
Corporation’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan and the JCS are required.
Central Government should provide the funding to provide the necessary 
infrastructure to support the growth.
The growth agenda must not be stifled by placing unreasonable cost upon 
developers.
The JCS to make a distinction of where the provision is required on a site-by-
site basis and developers should be made to contribute to existing amenities.
There should be better and more engagement of infrastructure providers.
The Plan must highlight the trigger points where developer funds will be 
released and should identify how increased contributions from land value 
uplift will be secured when market conditions improve.
Development should make use of existing infrastructure and should not take 
the form of new compact developments.
Concerned about the medium and long term approach to infrastructure 
funding which relies heavily on West Northamptonshire as a priority for 
Government and agency support 
A detailed implementation plan must accompany the submitted strategy and 
failure to do so may result in the strategy being found unsound.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

159



Flexibility is vital to ensuring deliverability of new development as well as the 
maximum viable contribution towards infrastructure costs and to meet the test 
of soundness
Infrastructure led approach is key to guarantee to the Plan’s success and 
funding for infrastructure must be ring fenced
The Plan should include detail on how the development should be phased 
and the funding mechanisms that must be identified.
The JCS should list the numbers and type of infrastructure already been 
provided in Towcester and Brackley.  
The JCS should specifically require ecological enhancement and contribution 
to the green infrastructure network to be an integral part of urban extensions. 
Concern that major infrastructure requirements (i.e. Flore-Weedon bypass) 
may take precedence over ‘softer’ infrastructure elements which are equally 
as important.
Consideration must be given to the implications of the emerging Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and its relationship with development obligations.

Suggestion
It was suggested that consideration should be given to providing an entirely new 
town. This would allow infrastructure to be provided on site and provide an 
alternative focus and reduce the need to travel to Northampton.

Also, it was suggested that further guidance is required on the expected 
contributions from developers. This should state that developers do not have to 
contribute to pooled contributions when infrastructure / services are not relevant to a 
particular scheme. Mechanism should be included to enable developers to be 
reimbursed when they have funded the early delivery of infrastructure.

Joint Planning Unit Response
It is acknowledged that the aspirations and objectives of the JCS will be best realised 
if proper provision is made for meeting infrastructure requirements as an integral part 
of project delivery of new development The importance of infrastructure is 
recognised in the Plan and its provision is considered to be a key driver for future 
growth and development. Policy advice set the parameters for its delivery is a key 
part of the JCS.

An Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) is being prepared as part of the JCS. This 
informs the infrastructure requirements related to delivering the growth strategy
identified in the Plan.

The Government encourages local planning authorities to introduce a levy or tariff 
that will help fund certain strategic infrastructure projects.  The IDP being produced 
will set out the detail of developers’ contributions expected from development and 
will allow the Councils to determine the level of contribution that is commensurate 
and necessary to enable each development in the plan to be implemented. 

The approach being adopted is consistent with Government guidance.  The 
government expectation is that the majority of items are expected to be funded 
through development, either by S106 agreement or by direct provision. Where 
development is not expected to fund an item, it is assumed that the organisation 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

160



providing the infrastructure will pay, unless there is evidence to the contrary. Where 
there is evidence of an alternative funding source e.g. some form of Government 
grant, this will be recorded.

The need for the appropriate range and scale of accessible supporting social, 
community, economic, environmental and physical infrastructure is crucial to 
delivering healthy and sustainable communities.  There is concern over the ability of 
new developments, with appropriate associated infrastructure, assisting in providing 
balanced provision to overcome current deficiencies. Better management and making 
better use of existing provision will be essential in order to move towards adequate 
and balanced provision commensurate with a regenerated town centre.

The range of infrastructure required falls into three broad categories including 
transport and utilities, social and community infrastructure. On-ongoing research and 
consultation on this plan helped to assess and establish current infrastructure 
capacity and identify initial infrastructure needs associated with further growth in 
terms of transport, utility services and waste, education, health and social care, 
housing and emergency services, community facilities, green infrastructure, culture 
leisure and recreation provision. The types of infrastructure mentioned are examples 
and not intended to be a definitive list.   

The CIL came into force in April 2010. It allows local authorities in England and 
Wales to raise funds from developers undertaking new building projects in their area.
The JCS approach conforms to the spirit of the legislation. Major new developments 
will be required to meet their own infrastructure needs, whether for transport, utilities, 
education, community, social, health or recreational infrastructure. Developers will 
also need to demonstrate the capacity of existing services to contribute to enabling 
the development of the site as part of the consideration of levels of new provision 
required. Such approach is supported by Government policy.

By making provision for growth in and around existing settlements the JCS will take 
advantage of existing infrastructure and allow new ones to be provided where 
necessary. There is no evidence to suggest that infrastructure cost for new towns 
offer better value for money. The central Government has, in the past, offered new 
towns as a solution to growth and this led to huge financial burden. The JCS will 
ensure judicious appropriation of any levy or contributions made.

The PSJCS includes a specific section and policies on Infrastructure and Delivery 
and policies setting out the approach to delivery (Policy INF1) and funding (Policy 
INF). Together with the IDP this provides much more information than was available 
at the time the EJCS was produced. The underlying ethos of the PSJCS is that if 
infrastructure is not delivered to allow a development to go ahead the development 
will not be permitted.

Recommended Action
That the policy approach in relation to Funding and Delivery as set out in Policies 
INF1 and INF2 of the PSJCS be confirmed.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

161



Question 52 – Are there any other comments that you would like to make regarding 
the Emergent Joint Core Strategy.

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
1585 N/A N/A 1585

Summary of Matters Raised in Representations

The key issues raised in the objections and general comments are:

Consultation 

Insufficient time was given for the public to review and comment on the 
Emergent Joint Core Strategy (EJCS). This period should have been extended 
by two months as the Government requirement is for 12 weeks.  
The plan is written as if the reader has an assumed knowledge of planning.
Exhibitions were too few and held during working hours when many people 
would not be able to attend.
The questions are couched in such terms that responses to them are biased 
towards the affirmative. For example, “Do you support X”? People will tick either 
yes or no but qualify it in the comments section. However, it is likely that only the 
yes or no answers will be counted, rather than the comments.

 More inclusive consultation approach should have been adopted. For example, a 
simplified template summarising the main elements, with opportunities to 
indicate ‘for’ or ‘against’ would have enabled participation by the majority.
It would have been easier to answer the questions about location if a summary 
description of each location, as it is now, was followed by a summary description 
of what it would be in the future.
The on-line comments system could have been improved by ensuring that 
contributor’s names were anonymous. This could lead to privacy issues. 
Presentations in all affected villages have not taken place. Where they did take 
place, they were often inadequate being simply a few sheets of paper on a wall 
and/or being unattended by a representative of the JPU.
There is an over-reliance on web-based consultation. Many residents do not 
have Internet access and are therefore prejudiced by this approach.
A Word version of the questionnaire should have been provided online for 
comment.
Multiple consultations have been going on at the same time as the EJCS (e.g. 
Northampton CAAP). Makes it difficult for the public to tackle all of these.

 Consultation does not equate with scale of development proposed. For example, 
if one house were being constructed, letter would notify all neighbours. However, 
18,000 homes are proposed and not one household received a notification letter. 

Drafting

More detailed/precise plans should be used rather than inaccurate blobs.

Principle of Growth

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

162



 Levels of growth proposed should accord with natural population increase only.  
Rather than saying no to the principle of growth, should be feasible to say; “No 
for the moment, possibly yes in the future, if an economic upturn can reasonably 
be expected to provide the necessary jobs and mortgages to finance such 
massive growth”. 
The need for this level of housing is no longer justified. The buy to let 
phenomenon has receded, as many are trying to sell their properties before 
values rise again. In view of the strong and extended housing boom, the bust will 
take longer to be eradicated from the system.
Family units should be encouraged to stay together and not split up, thus 
reducing home ownership and giving a better quality of life.  

Impact of Growth

 Development will be located on prime agricultural land at a time when the 
Government is advocating growing more food and bio-fuel crops in the UK due 
to growth in the third world and climate change.  
The plan will simply create dormitory areas for persons working in Milton Keynes 
and further afield.

 Scheme will give rise to high levels of light, noise and air pollution.  

Alternatives 

All growth should be directed to a new town.
 Options proposed bear no resemblance to those proposed in the Issues and

Options consultation. The proper course of action would have been to prepare a 
revised issues and options report before this preferred options report.
Brownfield sites need to be developed before greenfield. Northampton Borough 
Council has indicated previously that up to 70% of new growth can be built on 
brown field sites. How come this is not being promoted actively in the EJCS?
Furthermore, government policy actively promotes use of brownfield sites ahead 
of greenfield. 
Development should be focussed on renewal of the south & west of the County 
where many half finished developments with insufficient infrastructure are found.
Incremental models of development are much more realistic, manageable and 
appropriate to suit the new and emerging economic circumstances, and indeed 
the likely scenario and local circumstances for years to come.
Smaller developments integrated into existing villages and communities led to 
the regeneration of several areas in the 1960’s, 1970’s and 1980’s, sustained 
existing schools, shops and village halls whilst also increasing the range of 
housing and maintaining balanced communities.
Growth should be directed to areas with the ability to generate power, with more 
than average rainfall and existing infrastructure, rather than West Northants. 

Evidence Base 

 Evidence base should include a central place study to see where people work
and shop.  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

163



The research required to back up the statements in the plan is out-of-date and 
incomplete.  As such, the options proposed are unjustified and the examination 
of alternatives hindered. As such, the plan is unjustified and ineffective and 
therefore fails to meet the tests of soundness in PPS12: Local Spatial Planning. 
In light of the current recession, combined with the cost of food, the Government 
has issued new directives on food production in the UK. These strategies are 
newer than the outdated mandates of the JPU.
A large part of the EJCS is based on the dated Rooker Report, written seven 
years ago. This is hardly tackling the current issues of housing and infrastructure 
within Northamptonshire.
The evidence base was produced during a period of economic growth. It needs 
to be revised to reflect the effect of the present recession.
No reference is made to the Daventry Environmental Sensitivity and Green 
Infrastructure Study which was included in the Daventry Infrastructure Strategy.
No evidence of the levels of infrastructure needed has been put forward.  This 
infrastructure also needs to be in place before any new development is built.
No SHLAA or Urban Capacity Study has been produced to support the EJCS.
The JCS should consider the implications for the area of the anticipated opening 
of High Speed 2, between London and Birmingham.

Legal/Policy Context

The EJCS is not aligned with the RSS and should not be worked on until the 
review of the RSS is complete. In particular, housing figures beyond 2026 should 
be removed from the EJCS, as these are most likely to change.
The EJCS should be supported by strategies already in place such as the 
Brackley Masterplan. 

 Growth beyond 2026 prejudges the outcome of the RSS.  Option 2 of RSS 
options specifies growth of the urban area of Northampton. This is identical to 
the option put forward for Northampton in the EJCS. As such, the EJCS pre-
empts consultation on RSS and pays little regard to public opinion.
The EJCS ignores the designated boundary constraints established for the West 
Northamptonshire Development Corporation (WNDC). This goes beyond its 
mandate and is therefore unlawful.
The PSJCS needs to show how it has taken account of planned growth in 
adjacent areas and the wider sub-regional and regional context.
More reference is needed throughout the document setting out how it meets 
PPS1 and PPS12. 

 Plan is deficient as it cannot meet the criteria for soundness set out in PPS12.

Partnership Working / Governance

The partnership is too narrow. There should be involvement of non-
governmental, non-political people to represent grass roots opinion.  

General Comments and Omissions

The future of the Flore-Weedon bypass has not been mentioned. 
No specific mention is made of “gateways” into Northampton.
Waste disposal has not been mentioned.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

164



JCS needs a policy specific to telecoms infrastructure. Telecoms play a vital role 
in both economic & social fabric of communities. This is recognised by Planning
Policy Guidance 8: Telecommunications (PPG8) which outlines that criteria 
based policies should be used.
There is no policy in the JCS dealing with the development needs of 
Northampton’s Central Area.
What happened to the Council’s infill only policy? 
A commercial reality check is needed for all parts of the plan i.e. “what is it for? 
When should it be done? Who wants it and where is the money coming from?  Is 
it efficient? Is it green? How will it pay for itself? Is it sustainable?” 
North Northamptonshire JPU has rejected “coalescence”. Why is this being 
promoted here?
Further clarification of environmental matters throughout the JCS should be 
encouraged, especially with regards to what would be achieved through climate 
change mitigation measures.
If this plan is about London overspill, then the results of the equally ill-conceived 
eastern part of Northampton and its attendant issues should be examined. 
Northampton has already grown by 89% whereas the national average is 11%. 

 Plan does not address fundamental issues facing the area, including climate 
change, flood & water management, sustaining quality of life, traffic congestion, 
health and lifestyle, food supply and developing the distinctiveness of the area.
How will this housing and associated infrastructure be funded? The Government 
does not have the money and previous experience indicates that developers will 
find a way not to pay. 
No mention has been made of faith groups, churches etc which contribute 
significantly to a sense of community. 

 Strategy does not deal with needs of retired population that is set to increase.
It is considered a conflict of interest that three Councillors who are on the Joint 
Strategic Planning Committee are also on the West Northamptonshire 
Development Corporation Committee.  
It is suspected that people in the committees that will decide the plan have a 
commercial interest in the plans success. All committee members should 
therefore declare their interests.
Effects on neighbouring regions have been ignored. In places such as 
Birmingham and Coventry, there is a crying need for new housing, with huge 
areas of brownfield land available. Concentration of scarce resources in 
Northants will reduce availability elsewhere.  
There is no monitoring framework set out anywhere in the EJCS. 

 Form and location of development should recognise the zones of influence from 
competing urban centres (i.e. Milton Keynes and Bedford) and seek to minimise 
potential out-commuting;. 
Overall, the document needs to explain why Northampton seeks city status and 
how this will be achieved, preferably through objectives.  
Northampton came second to bottom in performance table for local councils and 
its budget is likely to be cut over the next few years. As such, it shouldn’t be 
allowed to increase its area. 
No provision is made anywhere in the plan for crime prevention. 

Joint Planning Unit Response

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

165



Consultation

The EJCS was not a statutory stage and as such there is no statutory consultation 
period for this consultation. The consultation period was extended by two weeks to 
give sufficient time for members of the public the opportunity to comment on the 
EJCS.

The plan has not been written as if the reader has an assumed knowledge of 
planning. It has been prepared in a way to make it easily understandable to 
members of the public and is set out in a neat and concise manner.

Although most of the exhibitions were conducted during working hours, most of the 
exhibitions finished after workings hours i.e. after 5pm. An exhibition was also held in 
Northampton Market Square on Saturday 15th August 2009, which also gave working 
people the opportunity to view the plan outside of working hours. A total of 18 
exhibitions were held during the plan period over seventeen day period. Therefore 
the statement that there were too few exhibitions is unfounded.    

As part of the Government regulations it is the Joint Strategic Planning Committee’s
obligation to comment on the key issues raised during the EJCS consultation stage. 
This analysis of representations is the document which responds to the comments.
In addition, this section (any other comments) provides the opportunity for people to 
comment in detail on a particular aspect of the JCS. 

The questionnaire provides a ‘for or against’ type of response through a ‘yes or ‘no’ 
response. No evidence has been provided as to why a more inclusive consultation 
response should have been adopted. A number of workshops and exhibitions were 
held which gave the opportunity for local residents to discuss any issues or 
questions they had with members of staff. 

A summary of each settlement was provided by the EJCS, which was followed by 
the ‘Vision for West Northamptonshire’, which sets out the vision for each town in 
2026. The opportunity to comment on this vision is given in Question 1. 

Registration was required to ensure the integrity of the system and to prevent 
inappropriate comments from being published. All personal information was kept 
confidential and was not published alongside the publication of the representation.   

It would not have been possible to hold an exhibition in each local village over the 
consultation period. In addition, one has to take into account the finite resources the 
JPU has in holding exhibitions. Detailed information was also available from other 
sources, such as on the JPU’s website and also the JPU itself.  

The consultation period was advertised in the local media to inform residents. A
number of exhibitions were also held which gave residents the opportunity to study 
the EJCS in detail. Response forms were available on request both at these 
exhibitions and via telephoning the JPU. Members of the public could also discuss 
the EJCS with JPU staff at the staffed exhibitions.   

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

166



It is correct that due to an error a ‘word’ version of the questionnaire was not 
provided at the commencement of the consultation period. A ‘word questionnaire’ 
was however provided later on in the consultation period and the consultation period 
was extended accordingly.

The Northampton Central Area Action Plan (NCAAP) and JCS need to have the 
same timetable in order to be in greater conformity and also lead to a quicker 
adoption of the Local Development Framework (LDF).

One has to take into account the finite resources that the JPU has. To send a letter 
to every household affected by the proposed growth in housing would cost 
thousands of pounds and take up a significant amount of the JPU’s time. The JPU 
informed the public through other methods, for example through advertisements in 
the newspaper, leaflet distribution e.t.c.

Drafting

More detailed and precise plans are prepared at later stages of the JCS when the 
preferred locations have been defined after receiving consultation responses during 
earlier consultation stages. The representation of the proposed areas of growth was 
not intended to be precise and through the consultation responses received during 
the EJCS consultation process the JPU will be able to provide more detail and 
precise plans of the proposed SUE’s.   

Principle of Growth

The levels of growth now proposed in the PSJCS are consistent with natural 
population growth.  

The housing trajectory for West Northamptonshire has taken into account the 
potential economic upturn in the future. 

The amount of housing proposed over the plan period has been revised downward in 
light of the recent recession. The EJCS set a target of 62,125 homes over the plan 
period, whereas the target contained within the PSJCS is 50,153. 

The JCS cannot outline in detail the specific types of housing should be provided on 
each site, however Policy H5 of the PSJCS seeks to ensure that ‘new housing will 
provide a mix of house types, sizes and tenures to cater for different accommodation 
needs.’ Policy H5 (Sustainable Homes) also outlines that “all residential development 
must be designed to provide accommodation that meets the requirements of the 
Lifetime Homes standard”, which will help give residents of these new homes a 
better quality of life.

Impact of Growth

Not all of the development can be accommodated on brownfield land and therefore 
some greenfield land development is needed. However, Policy S1 outlines that 
“Priority will be given to making use of previously developed land and vacant and 
under-used buildings in urban or other sustainable locations”. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

167



The claim that the proposals will create dormitory areas for people working in Milton 
Keynes was principally directed at the Northampton South East SUE which is not 
included in the PSJCS. All of the SUE’s propose local employment opportunities 
which will encourage future residents of the SUE’s to work in the local area. In 
addition, all of the SUE’s will provide integrated transport networks which again will 
encourage people to work in the local area. Finally, the distribution of development 
also outlines that new development will be concentrated primarily in and adjoin the 
Principal Urban Area of Northampton. This again will encourage people to work in 
the local area.

Policy BN9 deals with Planning for Pollution and states that “Development that would 
result in a deterioration of environmental quality, either individually or cumulatively, 
will not be permitted”. Therefore the SUE’s will not lead to high levels of pollution. 

Alternatives

The creation of a new town is essentially Option A of the EJCS which was rejected 
on the grounds that “incremental development is more difficult to serve with the 
range of community facilities needed to support the increase in population. In 
addition, spreading the development around the edges of the urban areas would 
increase the load to the current road and utilities infrastructure, without bringing 
forward the economies of scale that would make the provision of further 
infrastructure cost effective and therefore deliverable”.   

This is a less sustainable option when compared to the SUE’s. Firstly, it is likely that 
more Greenfield land would be taken up by a new town compared to a Sustainable 
Urban Extension. In addition, more car journeys will be made from this new town 
compared to SUE’s. New infrastructure would also be built from scratch at these new 
towns, compared to either improving or extending existing infrastructure at the SUE’s

A revised Regulation 25 consultation period was prepared before the EJCS. This 
was available for all members of the public to comment on and was available on the
JPU’s website.

The use of brownfield land is encouraged in the PSJCS. Policy S1 states that 
“Priority will be given to the reuse of suitable previously developed land and buildings 
within the urban areas”. However, not all of this growth can be built on brownfield 
land; therefore some development will occur on greenfield land. 

Policy S1 of the PSJCS has set a target of 30% of additional dwellings to be built on 
previously developed land or through conversions, which is based on a realistic 
assessment of the brownfield sites that are available.

A precise location has not been specified as to where these, ‘half completed’ 
developments are. Two growth options are proposed to the south of Northampton as 
well as one to the south of Towcester.   

Development within the rural areas will be guided by a rural settlement hierarchy 
(Policy R1). This “will enable small scale housing and employment where this meets 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

168



local needs and/ or supports local services and supports the retention and provision 
of local services and facilities in rural communities”.

West Northamptonshire has been allocated a set housing target within the East 
Midlands RSS. Although the housing target has been reduced for West 
Northamptonshire in light of the recent recession, approximately 50,000 homes need 
to be accommodated in the area. Some of this housing will be accommodated at 
SUE’s, which build on existing infrastructure and have been determined to be the 
most sustainable locations for growth. 

In addition, all new developments will have to follow the Sustainable Development 
Principles outlined in Policy S10, which includes “Generating a minimum of 10% of 
its energy needs from decentralised and renewable or low carbon sources”.   

Evidence Base

A SHLAA was produced in November 2009 which is currently in the process of being 
updated. Urban Capacity studies have been produced for Northampton, Daventry, 
Towcester and Brackley.

The evidence base is updated on a regular basis and takes into consideration the 
present economic situation. The housing figures have also been revised downwards 
in the PSJCS to reflect the present economic situation. 

The evidence does include an analysis of where people work and shop. The West 
Northamptonshire Employment Land Study (WNELS) which was published in August 
2010 analyses people’s work patterns. The West Northamptonshire Retail Study also 
highlights residents shopping patterns. Both of these documents are currently being 
updated in light of the reduced housing numbers.   

The evidence base has since been updated since the EJCS. An updated SHLAA 
was published in November 2009, with an updated version due to be published in 
early 2011. An updated employment land study was also published in August 2010, 
whilst a new retail study is due to be published in early 2011. Therefore the PSJCS 
will be based on a sound and up to date evidence base. The JCS is based on a 
sound and robust evidence base that is updated on a frequent basis. Although 
agricultural land classification is a material consideration when determining a site 
allocation, it is not a basis to refuse permission. 

Reference has been made to the Daventry Infrastructure Study in paragraph 13.13 
and the environmental and visual features that this study discussed, including the 
ironstone villages within the countryside surrounding the town.

The HS2 rail link has been discussed in the PSJCS (pg 127), as it proposed to pass 
through West Northamptonshire near Brackley. It has been highlighted where the 
Government’s preferred route will be in location to Brackley. However, the PSJCS 
goes on to outline that the final route that HS2 will take has not yet been determined 
and is not likely to be determined until 2015, three years after the JCS has been 
adopted. Therefore the implications of High Speed 2 rail link cannot be fully 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

169



considered in this version of the JCS, but could be addressed in a future review of 
the JCS.  

Legal/Policy Context

A review of RRS8 will no longer take place as it is the coalition Government’s 
intention to abolish RSS through the localism bill. In addition, the PSJCS does not 
refer to housing figures beyond 2026. The majority of growth in West 
Northamptonshire will occur in Northampton, in line with the ‘Distribution of 
Development’ policy contained within Policy 3 of the RSS.   

The PSJCS takes into account the Brackley Masterplan as well as other Masterplans 
that are already in preparation, such as the Towcester Masterplan for example. The 
PSJCS lists the key objectives discussed in the Brackley Masterplan, as well as the 
priorities for improvements to services and facilities that new development will be 
expected to contribute towards. These objectives have been taken into account 
when preparing the SUE’s and the town centre proposals. For example, one of the 
key objectives of the Brackley Masterplan is improved pedestrian and cycle links 
between new development and the town centre. Policy B4 outlines that “To support 
accessibility and sustainable transport within Brackley the Local Authorities will 
Support Improvements to the Cycling Network within and around the town” and
“Promote walking and cycling within the town as an alternative to car journeys”.

The West Northamptonshire Development Corporation (WNDC) boundary does not 
set out the area of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. The boundary 
determines whether an application (above a defined size threshold) is to be 
determined by WNDC (when an application falls within this boundary) or by the 
relevant authority (an application outside the boundary). The boundary is not defined
on planning policy grounds and as such the EJCS can go beyond the development 
boundary and is therefore not unlawful.

A number of Regional and Sub-Regional Plans have been taken into account when 
preparing the West Northamptonshire JCS, as highlighted in Appendix 1of the 
PSJCS. This includes the Milton Keynes and South Midlands Sub-Regional Strategy 
and East Midlands Tourism Strategy for example.

Reference to how the JCS meets the criteria set out in PPS1 will be set out in the 
Sustainability Appraisal. Policy S10 also sets out the Sustainable Development 
Principles which has been prepared in conjunction with PPS1. Appendix 1 of the 
PSJCS also sets out what plans and other strategies have been taken into account 
when preparing the JCS. This includes PPS 1 and 12.  

No evidence has been provided as to how the plan does not meet the criteria of 
soundness set out in PPS12. Once pre-submission consultation has finished on the 
JCS it will be independently examined by an Inspector who will check if the JCS is 
sound. Therefore the JCS needs to be as sound as possible at this stage. The 
document is based on a sound, robust and up to date evidence base. It has also 
been prepared in accordance with PPS 12, which sets out the criteria for soundness. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

170



Partnership Working / Governance

The views of non-governmental, non-political people are taken into account when 
preparing the Joint Core Strategy. Briefing sessions were held before the general 
consultation process with various community groups to gauge their opinion of the 
EJCS and forthcoming PSJCS.

General Comments

The future of the Flore-Weedon Bypass is highlighted in the PSJCS, particularly in 
Policy D5.

It is the purpose of Northamptonshire County Council’s Waste and Minerals 
Framework to detail with waste disposal, not the West Northamptonshire JCS.

Policies N1 and N2 of the PSJCS detail the regeneration of Northampton Town 
Centre. It is the purpose of the Northampton Central Area Action Plan (NCAAP) to 
deal with the development needs of Northampton’s Central Area. This is specified in 
the PSJCS.  

Evidence of the levels of infrastructure has been highlighted in the PSJCS. More 
information on the infrastructure investment in West Northamptonshire will be 
provided in the IDP. 

Some references are made to a gateway into Northampton in the PSJCS. Policy E3 
outlines that the Technology Realm at the Northampton North SUE will provide “High 
Quality and Innovative design and landscaping including a gateway feature on the 
A43 frontage”. Development at Castle Railway Station will also “create an iconic new 
gateway to Northampton providing better facilities, capacity and service”. 

Telecoms are a very specific policy for the JCS to deal with. PPG8 was adopted in 
1992 and as such does not make reference to Core Strategies. Although the JCS
does not directly deal with telecommunications development, Policy C1 outlines that 
“Information Communication Networks, such as Superfast Broadband, will be 
supported across the whole of West Northamptonshire to reduce the need to travel”.
Therefore the general principle of communication networks is supported in the JCS.

In addition, other policies, such as INF1 (Approach to Infrastructure Delivery) and 
some of the environmental policies could be taken into consideration when 
determining a telecommunications application.   

There is not enough infill land to accommodate all of the growth proposed in the 
JCS. However, it is expected that 30% of all new residential development and 
conversion will occur on previously developed land, as specified in Policy S1.

The plan is supported by a Viability Assessment as well as the IDP which sets out 
how the development will be funded. A SA has also been undertaken for each 
version of the JCS to ensure that it is sustainable.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

171



Climate change is discussed on a frequent basis throughout the PSJCS. In addition, 
Policy S10 discusses sustainable development principles that all new development is 
expected to achieve. This includes making use of sustainably sourced materials and 
maximising water efficiency for example.  

This plan is not about London overspill. It focuses on the issues that are facing West 
Northamptonshire. No evidence has also been provided as to how the eastern part 
of Northampton has been ‘ill-conceived’. In addition, Policy N11 discusses the 
regeneration of wards within Northampton East. 

There is no evidence to support the claim that Northampton has grown by 89% over 
the plan period. It is also not specified as to what time period this growth covers. This 
is no reason as to prevent further growth of Northampton occurring.

The plan addresses the fundamental issues facing the area. All of the proposed 
SUE’s are expected to assess flood risk on site, as well as providing an integrated 
transport network focusing on sustainable transport modes, including walking and 
cycling.   

The IDP sets out the approximate cost of the development, as well as who shall fund 
the relevant infrastructure project. Policy INF2 also sets out the required contribution 
to infrastructure development and states that, “Where identified infrastructure is 
required provision will be achieved through contributions towards infrastructure from 
all residential and commercial development”.   

References are made to places of worship in the JCS and the value they have within
communities. It is recognised in paragraph 11.3 that community or social 
Infrastructure provides the, “essential support for communities to function effectively. 
It is wide ranging including all types of education, healthcare and cultural facilities 
such as places of worship, community centres, village halls, play facilities e.t.c.” 

It is recognised in the PSJCS through population projections that the proportion of 
elderly people within the West Northamptonshire population. In addition, the Spatial 
Strategy for Brackley (Policy B1) includes the provision of a new 60 bed unit for 
elderly care.   

Any Councillor who may have an interest in the JCS outside of their role as a 
committee member has to declare their interest and abstains from taking part in any
discussions associated with that committee item. No evidence has been provided to 
support the claim that members of the various committees have a commercial 
interest in the JCS’s success. 

In preparing the PSJCS consideration has been given to West Northamptonshire’s 
relationship to surrounding areas. Other places such as Birmingham and Coventry
are making provision to meet housing requirements. The level of growth now 
proposed in the PSJCS is consistent with the natural growth of the existing 
population.

A monitoring framework has been prepared for inclusion in the PSJCS.  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

172



The JCS does recognise the zones of influence of competing urban centres such as 
Milton Keynes and Bedford, such as when discussing transport links and 
connections between Northampton and these towns. The PSJCS discusses on 
numerous occasions that it seeks to minimise out-commuting to surrounding centres. 
For example, paragraph 6.4 states that, “creating more self contained communities, 
both rural and urban, with the right mix of housing and employment for example, is 
vital in order to discourage out-commuting”.

The PSJCS no longer refers to City status for Northampton within the vision, but 
would not preclude this if such a proposal were supported by Northampton Borough 
Council (NBC). The performance of NBC in league tables is not a relevant planning 
consideration for the JCS. 

Crime prevention is referred to on numerous occasions within the PSJCS. In 
community regeneration areas in Northampton for example, it will be expected that a
strategy for these areas will, “Create Safe and Sustainable Environments by 
designing out opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour”. Reference is also 
made to a number of sustainable documents. The PSJCS outlines that, “In order to 
maximise community safety there will also be the requirement to seek to adhere to 
the guidelines set out in the ‘Safer Places’ and ‘Secured by Design’ documents as 
well as the Planning out Crime in Northamptonshire Supplementary Planning 
Guidance”. 

Recommended Action

No further changes are required to the PSJCS.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

173



Question 53

Question – Do you support the rejection of ‘Northampton Option 2 (Northampton 
East)’ and ‘Northampton Option 5 (South of the M1 and South-West)’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
825 391 31 403

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
Both options have merit good transport infrastructure. In particular, 
Northampton Option 2 (Northampton East) can be easily accessed from the 
A45 and A4500. Northampton Option 5 (South of M1 and South-West) is 
close to the M1, rail infrastructure and the canal, which provide good links to 
London.
Growth should continue where logistics are already in place.
Northampton Option 5 (South of M1 and South-West) seems workable.
Although also somewhat removed from Northampton and therefore not having 
good linkages between the old and new communities, the Junction 16, M1 
option has been chosen.  However, this same rationale has been used to 
reject Northampton Option 5 (South of M1 and South-West).  
One of the reasons given for rejecting Northampton Option 5 (South of M1 
and South-West) is that development beyond the M1 would not be consistent 
with the character of Northampton; this is a subjective statement that depends 
on the scale of development proposed and mitigation put in place.  
The Draft Sustainability Appraisal Report identifies Northampton North, 
Northampton West and Northampton South-East all as areas with a medium 
to high landscape and visual sensitivity.  However, these are preferred options 
although effects on similar landscapes occur in Options 2 and 5.
Has a pure employment site, like that considered appropriate at Junction 16, 
M1 been considered for Northampton Option 5 (South of M1 and South-
West)?  If so, then the assessment for Northampton Option 5 (South of M1 
and South-West) is inconsistent with that undertaken for Junction 16, M1. 
Supporting the rejection of these options implies support for those options 
considered appropriate. 
Northampton Option 5 (South of M1 and South-West) has been rejected for 
political reasons.
The M1 is an artificial man-made barrier that could be overcome with an 
underpass.  Accordingly, Northampton Option 5 (South of M1 and South-
West) should not be rejected and development of Northampton Option 5 
(South of M1 and South-West) would be easy to attach to Northampton and 
would provide the least disturbance to the villages.
The reasons given for the rejection of Northampton Option 2 (Northampton 
East) and 5 are very brief and provide little explanation.  As such, the 
consideration of alternatives has not been carried out appropriately, is 
therefore not justified and the plan fails to meet one of the soundness tests in 
Planning Policy Statement 12: Local Spatial Planning (PPS12).  

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

174



The Northampton Highgate site, which is located within the Northampton 
Option 5 (South of M1 and South-West) area, would include a new rail link 
between Northampton and Milton Keynes.  This would deliver modal shift in a 
way that no other site can and is, therefore, most sustainable when mix of 
uses is also considered.  This rail link would also mean some reliance on 
Northampton and Milton Keynes for the provision of essential goods and 
services, thereby meaning these areas will not become towns in their own 
right. It is noted that Network Rail conditionally supports this new link and 
station. 
Although located beyond the M1, good linkages between Northampton Option 
5 (South of M1 and South-West) and Northampton can still be provided. 
Both rejected options would provide large population bases that could work 
within Northampton. As such, they will contribute to its regeneration. 
These options bear no resemblance to those considered in 2007’s issues and 
options. 
The argument that the M1 provides a strong physical barrier is laughable.  
The A45 is no less a barrier yet development beyond it is being considered.
Housing in these areas would destroy precious green belt.
Northampton Option 5 (South of M1 and South-West) should be re-
considered in light of the new high-speed rail link.
The reasons given for rejecting Northampton Option 2 (Northampton East) are 
interesting in that birds are considered more than people. 
Land between the M1/A508 branch line should be considered.
The reasons given for rejecting these options apply equally to the preferred 
options for Northampton.

Joint Planning Unit Response
Northampton Option 2 (Northampton East) evolved from the Northampton Longer 
Term Growth Options (the EDAW Study) and Issues and Options Consultation.  It is 
located directly to the east of Northampton and an area known as the Eastern 
District. This area falls primarily in the Borough of Wellingborough. There is no 
provision within the RSS to provide for the development needs of West 
Northamptonshire outside of the administrative area of the three Councils for whom 
the Plan is being prepared.

In terms of environmental sensitivity there are a variety of nature conservation 
designations including geological sites and Local Nature Reserves (primarily 
grasslands). The area has a high landscape sensitivity including the prominent Ecton 
Ridge.  Majority of medium sensitivity sites are small pockets of deciduous woodland 
especially those that occur around Ecton.

There is archaeological sensitivity associated with extensive areas of pre-historic 
and Romano-British occupation in the vicinity of Ecton Ridge. There is evidence of 
Saxon and medieval occupation in and surrounding Ecton village. 

The area forms an attractive rural landscape and is important for the separation 
between Northampton and smaller settlements in the neighbouring Borough of
Wellingborough. There are extensive areas of land safeguarded for Sand and Gravel 
Extraction 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

175



This area performs poorly in terms of the EJCS Vision and Objectives and the 
Northampton Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Study Living 
Landscapes 2009 NLSGI Study and Sustainability Appraisals (SA). 

Northampton Option 5 (South of M1 and South-West) option evolved from 
Northampton Longer Term Growth Options (the EDAW Study) and Issues and 
Options Consultation.  It is located entirely to the south of the M1.  It encompasses 
the villages of Blisworth, Gayton, Milton Malsor and Rothersthorpe. There are no 
SSSIs in the study area although Bugbrooke SSSI is just outside the area. There is a 
Local Nature Reserve at Storton Pits and Local and Potential Wildlife Sites. Towards 
Kislingbury there are extensive areas of grassland adjacent to the River Nene 
considered to be of medium sensitivity. 

The setting of this part of Northampton is less distinctive than other areas but it
nevertheless contributes to the character and setting of the higher parts of south-
west Northampton.  Beyond the ridge containing the villages of Blisworth and 
Gayton, the landscape is considered distant from Northampton and there is little 
visual connection with the town.

Watercourses pass to the west of Rothersthorpe and to the west of Milton Malsor. 
They both have Flood Zone 3 designations along their lengths. There is an extensive 
area of Safeguarded sites for Gravel and Sand Extraction. 

In relation to archaeology there are known assets in the area. There are Scheduled 
Monuments (SMs) along the canal as well as Ridge and Furrow.

The M1 provides a strong physical barrier of separation between this area and the 
town which places the inclusion of this area as an option for development against the 
vision of a compact urban form. 

In terms of the vision and objectives of the JCS this area performed poorly compared 
with other options and this was very much concerned with its location beyond the 
existing communities of Northampton. The original EDAW study which addressed 
the general issue of an SUE in this area stated: - ‘the considerable barrier of the M1 
makes it difficult to imagine the establishment of new communities south of the M1 
as settlements contiguous with Northampton, and additionally there would be 
challenges in terms of place making and environmental quality. The community 
would also be relatively remote from Northampton town centre and there may be 
limited benefits for community provision and social cohesion.” 

Although a bridging solution (separate vehicular and pedestrian bridges) has been 
suggested or junction improvement in order to allow access to and from 
Northampton, the actual and perceptual barrier may well act as a deterrent to using 
the town, and capturing the financial benefits of growth. All other SUE options are 
essentially ‘contiguous’ with the existing urban area of Northampton. By not 
displaying this essential pre-requisite required through the policies of the RSS in 
respect of the growth of Northampton it performs poorly as a location for a potential 
SUE and has therefore been rejected.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

176



Recommended Action
No change to the PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

177



Question 54

Question – Do you support the rejection of ‘Daventry Option 1 (Daventry East)’, 
‘Daventry Option 2 (Daventry West)’, ‘Daventry Option 3 (Daventry North West)’ and 
‘Daventry Option 7 (Daventry South)’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
816 370 19 427

Summary of issues raised by objectors 
 The Daventry North West site is a block of land that has already 

accommodated a large level of development and the reasons given to reject 
this site are politically motivated and are equally applicable to Daventry North 
Site.  
The reasons for rejecting the Daventry South Option could equally be applied 
to the Daventry North Site.

 The Daventry East option will not have a significant impact on Borough Hill, a 
well designed scheme can incorporate it without impacting its character, the 
option is not remote from the town and can be linked through high quality 
transport link, it is the best option and could accommodate more development 
because it is close to the M1, A5 and rail route to London.  It has been 
suggested that the Daventry East Option is similar to the Daventry North East 
and South East that have been supported.  
The Daventry South option will generate traffic flows away from the town 
along A45; it is unsustainable and will increase congestion along A45/A5 
junction.  
The reasons given for rejecting the Daventry West option could easily also 
apply to the South East option that has been supported.

 The reasons are weak and need to be strengthened, particularly with respect 
to infrastructure.  
The JCS omits to consider the potential for delivering housing in the existing 
urban areas.  

Joint Planning Unit Response
Urban capacity within the major urban areas of Northampton, Daventry, Towcester 
and Brackley has been considered as an integral part of determining the extent of 
greenfield land required. The Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment
(SHLAA) is the evidence base that supports this assessment.  
  
Daventry Option 1 (Daventry East) - Development to the east of Daventry will impact 
on the setting of Borough Hill Scheduled Monument (SM), which is a large and 
prominent feature within the landscape.  The area to the east of Borough Hill also 
lacks good connectivity with the town and hence would not enhance or facilitate the 
regeneration of the town centre.  Borough Hill acts as both a physical and 
psychological barrier. The remote location of this area would make it difficult to 
successfully integrate any new residential development in to the existing community. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

178



Daventry Option 2 (Daventry West) - The Option 2 area is physically separated from  
existing residential by the presence of a large industrial estate on the urban edge 
which will challenge the objective of creating high quality housing for future residents 
where they can feel a part of an existing community rather than a remote and 
disassociated estate.  In addition above there are topography challenges, poor 
opportunity for sustainable links to the town centre and reduced sustainable access 
to utilities infrastructure than in other options.  There areas of known archaeology 
and biodiversity resources in the form of potential wildlife sites and linear woodland. 
There is presently no developer interest in bringing forward a large site within area 2. 

Daventry Option 3 (Daventry North West) - The area is poorly located in respect of 
sustainable access options to the town centre and less well located as regards 
sustainable connection to water and utilities infrastructure.  As with the Option 2
Area, the presence of a large industrial estate on the urban edge will challenge the 
objective of creating high quality housing for future residents where they can feel a 
part of an existing community rather than a remote and disassociated estate.  No 
sites have been identified at present as available for development in this area.
   
Daventry Option 7 (Daventry South) - The A45 forms an effective physical barrier 
which disassociates this land from the urban area of Daventry and provides 
challenges for effective sustainable transport with the town centre.  The land also 
has known archaeology and wildlife sites as well as challenging topography.   It is 
less well located than other edge of urban areas for sustainable water and utilities 
infrastructure provision. 

The view that the reasons for rejecting the Daventry West could also apply to the 
preferred option in the South East do not necessarily hold. This is because the 
physical characteristics of the two options differ and also the SE option has greater 
potential of being connected to the existing residential areas and town centre and
promote sustainable modes of transport utilising the existing infrastructure.

Recommended Action
No change to the PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

179



Question 55 – Do you support the rejection of ‘Towcester Option 2 (Towcester 
West)’, ‘Towcester Option 3 (Towcester North-West)’, ‘Towcester Option 5 
(Towcester Racecourse)’, ‘Towcester Option 6 (Towcester North)’, ‘Towcester 
Option 7 (Towcester to Silverstone Lung)’ and ‘Towcester Option 8 (East of 
Silverstone Lung)’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
811 368 13 430

Summary of issues raised by objectors
Support Option 8 in comparison to others. Option 8 could be included in the 
preferred option to make it bigger as there are no landscape, cultural or 
environmental objections here.

General Comments
Option 3 – would be difficult to resist pressure to join Option 3 with Greens 
Norton;
Towcester North has all the disadvantages listed but does have the 
advantage of good access to A43 and Northampton; 
Option 7 and 8 would have good access to A43, but would join Towcester to 
Silverstone. May be considered in the distant future; 
Any further extension might be done by extending Towcester South to join up 
with Paulerspury which could be served by bus to Milton Keynes;
Reasons for rejecting Towcester Option 3 should include reference to 
significant archaeological remains; and
The Towcester Masterplan needs to be taken into account.

Joint Planning Unit Response
There are environmental issues associated with Option 8. Part of the option does fall 
within the flood plain. The Lordsfields Farm Moated Site Scheduled Ancient 
Monument (SAM) and a Grade II* Listed Building are also on the site, as well as 
being subject to potential ground instability. These constraints add to the justification 
for rejecting this option in the EJCS.

Towcester North West (option 3) has now been rejected on the grounds of the flood 
plain and the A43/A5 forming a barrier to Towcester Town Centre. There are 
archaeological remains on site which would hinder development on this site. 
Reference could have been made to this in the rejected options section of the EJCS, 
but as the rejection of options is not being described in the PSJCS, no change is 
required to the PSJCS.

Although Towcester North (option 6) does have good access to the A43, the majority 
of other rejected options also have good access to this arterial route; therefore this is 
not a justifiable reason to consider this option further.

Option 8 would lead to the coalescence of Towcester and Silverstone which is not 
supported in the JCS. 
The proposal to extend Towcester South to Paulerspury would lead to the 
coalescence of Paulerspury and Towcester which is not supported. This extension 
would also be further away from Towcester Town Centre. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

180



The Towcester South option will provide an integrated transport network, whilst the 
Towcester Transport Strategy will support “Enhanced Public Transport connections 
with Silverstone, Northampton and Milton Keynes”.

The Towcester Masterplan has been taken into account when preparing each of the 
Sustainable Urban Extension proposals. In addition, reference is made to the 
Towcester Masterplan in the PSJCS, as well as the Masterplans’ key objectives.

Recommended Action
No change to the Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

181



Question 56 - Do you support the rejection of ‘Brackley Option 1 (Brackley South)’ 
and ‘Brackley Option 2 (Brackley North West)’?

Summary of Representations
Total Support Object Gen. Comments
808 361 19 428

Summary of issues raised by objectors
This implies support for other options.
Support Option 1, which is a sustainable location. A bridge could give access 
to the town and there would be good access to the A43/A422. The area of 
Evenley Park should be avoided.
Option 2 should be preferred as all access routes could be on to the A422 and 
will not impact on existing narrow estate roads. 
Option 3 should be rejected because of poor access roads to and from the 
site.
The reasoning for rejecting options is weak, i.e. ‘will not enhance character’ 
and ‘won’t foster regeneration of the town centre’.
Disagree with the proposal to reject Option 2. The impacts on matters such as 
air quality, landscape and road access are no different to the preferred option 
of Option 3. A fuller report and assessment of options is required.

General Comments
Option 1 could be looked at again in the future as it is within walking distance 
of the town centre and close to the Tesco supermarket.
Insufficient information provided.
Option 2 could provide an orbital road from the A422 to Halse Road and 
should be kept in reserve.
These sites would have a greater impact on the historic environment, notably 
Evenley Hall and the setting of Steane Park. 
The rejection of Option 2 has not been fully justified. It could provide a 
contingency that meets the objectives of the JCS.

Joint Planning Unit Response
Brackley East and Brackley North SUE’s have been carried forward into the PSJCS 
as these are the most sustainable and preferable options.

Brackley South is not in a sustainable location. The physical connectivity into 
Brackley is poor and would not, therefore, enable or support the delivery of co-
ordinated transport improvements to the town centre with an emphasis on non-car 
modes. Evenley Park, even if this area was removed from the option, the 
development would still affect this asset due to the increase in traffic on the A43.

Brackley North West would lead to an increase in traffic on the A422 which would 
lead to congestion and a reduction in air quality. A major increase of traffic on the 
A422 would also increase the need for a bypass to Farthinghoe and improvements 
to the links between the villages on that route. This would require a greater take of 
Greenfield land and would prove a greater cost compared to other options.

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

182



The transport strategy for Brackley has determined that the existing roads can 
accommodate the level of growth proposed at Brackley North. In addition, the 
Brackley North development will also provide, “an integrated transport network with 
sustainable transport modes including access to Brackley Business District”.

The impacts are different for Brackley North and North West options. Brackley North 
is accessed via the A43, which is a dual carriageway, whereas Brackley North is 
accessed via the A422, which is only a single lane carriageway. Therefore the 
impact will be far greater on the A422, which would lead to a greater level of traffic 
on this road which in turn would lead to a reduction in air quality. It is highly likely that 
a new orbital route would have to be built as a result of Brackley North West, which 
would have a greater impact on the landscape compared to Brackley North.  

Although Brackley South is located near the Tesco store, the negative impacts of 
Brackley South outweigh the benefits it could provide. This includes part of the site 
lying within a flood risk zone, the impact on landscape sensitivity, and the physical 
barrier of the A43/A422.

The rejection of Brackley North West has been fully justified in the EJCS. A number 
of reasons have been given as to why this option should be rejected, including an 
unacceptable increase in traffic and development requiring a construction of a new 
orbital route which would cost more money, lead to a greater amount of greenfield 
land being developed and a reduction in the air quality of the area.   

Brackley South has been rejected due to the impact on Evenley Park. Although 
Steane Park is located some distance from the Brackley North West Option, this 
option has now been rejected; therefore there will be no impact on Steane Park.

More information on the Brackley East and Brackley North SUE’s has been provided 
in the PSJCS. 

Recommended Action
No change to the PSJCS. 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy Consultation, July - September 2009
 Officer Response to Representations for JSPC 31st January 2011

183



APPENDIX 3

West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy
Communication and Consultation Strategy for the Pre-Submission Document

1. Introduction

1.1 Following the revocation of Regional Spatial Strategies (RSS) by the Coalition 
Government the Joint Planning Unit are preparing the Pre-Submission Joint Core 
Strategy for consideration by the Joint Strategic Planning Committee on 31 
January 2011.

1.2 This paper sets out the proposed arrangements for communication and 
consultation with the local community and all other stakeholders in respect of the 
Pre-Submission Document. The proposals have regard to the legal requirements 
set out principally in the Town and Country Planning (Local Development) 
(England) Regulations 2004 and in subsequent amendments to these 
regulations. Consideration is also given to the Statements of Community 
Involvement (SCI) which have been adopted by the partner authorities.

1.3 In addition to the statutory requirements the proposals also seek to respond to 
the recent changes introduced by the Coalition Government. As a consequence 
of the revocation of the RSS there will be significant changes to the content of 
the Pre-submission Document in comparison with the Emergent Joint Core 
Strategy (EJCS). These changes prompt the need for further communication with 
local communities prior to the publication of the Pre-submission Document.

2. The Communication and Consultation Strategy

2.1 The primary purpose of the Pre-Submission stage is to publish the draft Core 
Strategy prior to its submission to the Secretary of State to enable formal 
representations to be made on the soundness and legality of the Plan. As such it 
is different from the earlier stages of plan preparation which allow for much wider 
public consultation and engagement. The Pre-submission stage is not the 
opportunity for consultees to make representations on the wording of the 
document, or the policy content other than in relation to the test of soundness 
and legal process. The approach to encouraging public and stakeholder 
engagement should reflect this constraint.

2.2 However, given the particular circumstances in West Northamptonshire there are 
strong arguments for the Consultation Strategy to do more than the minimum as 
follows:

- There will be a significant reduction in the housing numbers proposed in the 
EJCS. This will have implications for other aspects of the strategy such as job 
numbers and retail requirements;

- The number and nature of responses to the EJCS indicated substantial 
objections to the strategy being promoted at the time that document was 
consulted upon;

- There is a need to respond to criticisms of the consultation on the EJCS in
particular in terms of its timing and the accessibility of the document.

2.3 The Consultation Strategy proposes a three stage approach which is 
summarised below:



APPENDIX 3

1. Information and engagement – Area based engagement to seek ‘buy 
in’ and ownership for the revised strategy – involving the Local Strategic 
Partnerships, Town and Parish Councils, and other key stakeholder 
groups as specified in the SCIs.

2. Pre-submission publicity – Advanced publicity through press releases, 
articles in JPU and partner’s newsletters etc…, to ensure that as many 
people as possible are aware of the statutory consultation period on the 
Pre-submission Document, before this commences.

3. Pre-submission statutory period for representations – Ensuring 
compliance with the statutory requirements prescribed by Regulation 27 
of the 2004 Regulations (as amended).

2.4 The table below sets out this three stage approach in more detail.



APPENDIX 3

West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy – Communication and Consultation Strategy for the Pre-Submission Document

Stage Timing Actions

1. Information / 
Engagement

November  –
December  2010

1.1. A briefing note for all Councillors from the partner local authorities to explain 
the recent changes to the planning system, the implications for the Core 
Strategy and the next stages of the process.

1.2. Joint news release to be issued in accordance with the JPU Communication 
Strategy following the Joint Strategic Planning Committee on 26 October.

1.3. Three briefing meetings for Councillors from the partner local authorities and 
representatives from Town and Parish Councils. One meeting to be held in 
each local authority area

1.4. Meetings with each of the Local Strategic Partnerships

1.5. Briefing meeting for community and environmental interest groups as 
specified in the adopted   Statements of Community Involvement.

1.6. Letters/emails to all those on the JPU Consultation Database.

2. Pre-submission 
Publicity

January 2011 2.1   Leaflet / flyer produced explaining the Core Strategy process and giving 
advanced notice of the Pre-submission Document consultation period.

2.2      Articles to be included in JPU and partner authority newsletters.

2.3 Joint news release and press conference for local media. To be agreed by 
the Chair of the Joint Strategic Planning Committee and the Leaders of the 
partner Counci ls. 

2.4 Potential targeted briefings for Parish Counci ls and Community Groups who 
will be most affected by proposals in the Pre-Submission Document.



APPENDIX 3

3. Pre-submission 
– statutory period 
for representations

February 2011-
March 2011
( 6 week statutory 
period from Thursday 
17 February to 
Thursday 31 March 
2011) 

3.1     Statutory advert to be placed in local newspapers circulating across the West 
Northamptonshire area. All pre-submission related documents to be made 
available at the partner Councils offices, and in all the other ‘deposit venues’ 
specified in the adopted Statements of Community Involvement.

3.2    A short summary leaflet explaining the key proposals and the consultation 
process will be circulated to consultees, Town and Parish Councils and 
made available at all Council offices and other deposit venues.

3.3 Full ‘on-line’ consultation hosted on the JPU website with links from the 
partner authorities websites.

3.4 Detailed letters explaining the key changes to the Core Strategy sent to all     
the specific consultation bodies i

The Pre-submission Core Strategy;

and Town and Parish Councils, with a CD 
containing the pre-submission related documents and paper copies of the 
following documents: 

The statement of representation procedures;

The statement of arrangements (i.e. when and where the documents are 
available); and

A Representation Form and Guidance Note for Respondents.

3.5 Letters or emails to each of the general consultation bodiesii

The statement of representation procedures;

and all 
organisations and individuals on the JPU Consultation database containing 
the following:

The statement of arrangements; and



APPENDIX 3

A Representation Form and Guidance Note for Respondents.

3.6 News release for the local media.

3.7 Articles to be included in the JPU and partner authority newsletters.

3.8 Static exhibitions at each of the partner Council’s offices.

i The specific consultation bodies are listed in The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2004 (as amended) and 
relate to organisations responsible for services and utilities and infrastructure provision.

ii The general consultation bodies are also specified in the Regulations and comprise:

voluntary bodies some or all of whose activities benefit any part of the council's area 
bodies which represent the interests of: 

o different ethnic or national groups in the local authority's area 
o different religious groups in the local authority's area 
o disabled people in the local authority's area 
o people carrying on business in the local authority's area. 


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 West Northamptonshire Pre-Submission Joint Core Strategy
	WNJSPC 31.1.11 JCS Appendix 1
	Maps_combined_with_index
	WNJSPC 31.1.11 Responses to EJCS Appendix 2
	WNJSPC 31.1.11 Comms Strategy Appendix 3


